Environmental impact assessment of commercial aircraft operations in the United States by Stephen P. Lukachko S.M., Aeronautics and Astronautics, Massachusetts Institute of Technology, 1997 S.M., Technology and Policy, Massachusetts Institute of Technology, 1997 B.S.E., Aerospace Engineering, University of Michigan, 1992 ARCHIVES B.S.E., Mechanical Engineering, University of Michigan, 1992 Submitted to the Department of Aeronautics and Astronautics MASSACHUSETTS INSTITUTE OF TECHNOLOGY in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy in Aeronautics and Astronautics OCT 1 3 2009 at the Massachusetts Institute of Technology LIBRARIES September 2009 © 2009 Stephen P. Lukachko. All rights reserved. The author hereby grants to MIT permission to reproduce and to distribute publicly paper and electronic copies of this thesis document in whole or in part in any medium known or hereafter created. Λ -1 Signature of Author: Department of Aeronautics and Astronautics August 31, 2009 Certified by: lan A. Waitz Jerome C. Hunsaker Protessor of Aeronautics and Astronautics, Department Head **Thesis Supervisor** Certified by: ____ Edward M. Greitzer H.N. Slater Professor of Aeronautics and Astronautics **Thesis Committee** Certified by: Henry D. Jacoby Professor of Management Thesis Committee ٢ Certified by: ____ David H. Marks Morton '42 and Clair - Goulder Family Professor of Engineering Systems and Civil and Environmental Engineering ٨ **Thesis Committee** Accepted by: David L. Darmofal Associate Professor of Aeronautics and Astronautics, Associate Department Head Chair, Committee on Graduate Students

1



Environmental impact assessment of commercial aircraft operations in the United States

by

Stephen P. Lukachko

Submitted to the Department of Aeronautics and Astronautics on August 31, 2009 in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the Degree of Doctor of Philosophy in Aeronautics and Astronautics

Abstract

The objective of this thesis was to evaluate the environmental trade-offs inherent in multi-criteria objectives of an integrated environmental policy. A probabilistic multi-attribute impact pathway analysis (MAIPA) was formulated to assess the environmental damages of US commercial aircraft operations from 1991–2003. The initial contribution of this work was demonstrating the feasibility of, and identifying requirements for, the FAA Aviation-environmental Portfolio Management Tool (APMT), an integrated assessment capability for US regulatory decision-making.

Non-aircraft sources have been found to dictate marginal emissions costs. The implication is that aviation emissions reductions influence neither the magnitudes nor trends in per-unit marginal damages. In contrast, noise mitigation is the dominant influence on the value of per-unit marginal damages. Trends in sum damages were found to depend on the growth rates of air transport relative to other source emissions. Growth in air transport emissions outpaced non-aircraft sources from 1991–2003. Because growth in marginal costs is nonlinear over this period, aviation emissions damages grow faster than inventories. Applying methods similar to MAIPA to estimate damages for future scenarios suggests that stemming climate impacts is fast becoming the priority.

A reassessment of the environmental benefits derived from mandated phase-outs of noisy aircraft during the 1990's has been carried out. Previous studies estimated a \sim 80% reduction in population exposure. In contrast, the reassessment estimates a \sim 2% reduction, providing benefits 17–20 times lower than published estimates of abatement costs. The primary environmental benefit of the noise phase-outs was found to be related to reductions in particulate matter inventories. One way to avoid trade-off inefficiencies is to identify options that bundle benefits. This action provides such an example, where the phase-outs led to reductions in both noise and air quality emissions.

Other contributions in the thesis include the following: a treatment of air transport particulate matter emissions, environmental fate, and health impacts of particulate matter; identification that the major source of reducible uncertainty in emissions damages stems from the assumed extent of ozone and particulate matter production in the engine exhaust plume; and quantification of the environmental trade-offs in decisions specifying aircraft performance for the technology in the US commercial fleet from 1991–2003.

Thesis Supervisor: Professor Ian A. Waitz

Title: Jerome C. Hunsaker Professor of Aeronautics and Astronautics and Department Head

Acknowledgements

Many people and their organizations have supported this work. The idea was germinated and developed with the support of Rolls-Royce North America and Rolls-Royce IIc. through the Frank Whittle Fellowship, a NACME scholarship, and a NASA grant from the Glenn Research Center. The project matured as one of the inaugural projects of the Partnership for Air Transportation Emissions and Noise (PARTNER), a cooperative research organization and an FAA/ NASA/Transport Canada-sponsored Center of Excellence. Through PARTNER funding, the FAA Office of Environment and Energy has supported this effort to its completion.

I am immensely grateful to Professor Ian Waitz, my advisor and mentor during all of my years at MIT, for his generosity. patience, and support. Thank you to my committee members, Professor Ed Greitzer, Professor Jake Jacoby, Professor Dave Marks, Professor Karen Willcox, and Dr. Lourdes Maurice. Thanks also to my friends in PARTNER, the Gas Turbine Laboratory, and throughout the Department of Aeronautics and Astronautics. Completing this thesis has truly been the most challenging project I have ever undertaken—with all of your help over these years, I can finally call it finished.

Dedicated to Sarah.

Contents

.

Preface	17
Notation	20
1. Introduction	27
1.1. Motivation	27
1.2. Objective	27
1.3. Approach	27
1.3.1. Retrospective assessment of US commercial aircraft operations from 1991–2003	28
1.4. Context	28
1.4.1. Airline orders reduction in aircraft noise at expense of fuel efficiency	28
1.4.2. Increased noise exposure halts airline tests of fuel reduction procedures	29
1.5. Contributions	30
1.5.1. Integrated approach to air transport environmental impact assessment	30
1.5.2. Particulate matter impacts of aircraft emissions	30
1.5.3. Uncertainties in impact assessments	30
1.5.4. Environmental damages	31
1.5.5. Integrated approach to impact mitigation	31
1.5.6. Environmental trade-offs in aircraft technology	31
1.6. Chapters	32
2. Integrated air transport environmental impact assessment	33
2.1. Multi-attribute impact pathway analysis	34
Figure 2.1. Schematic of the multi-attribute impact pathway analysis	35
2.1.1. Developmental requirements	36
2.1.2. Scope and resolution limitations	37
2.1.3. End-user considerations	38
2.1.4. Procedure and component models	39
2.1.5. Evaluation for air transport environmental impact assessment	40

2.2.	MAIPA application toward improvement of APMT capabilities	40
	2.2.1. Probabilistic formulation	41
: .	2.2.2. Specification of parametric uncertainties and computation	42
	2.2.3. Identification of structural uncertainties	42
	2.2.4. Methodological limitations under an economic framework	43
2.3.	Evaluation of the damage function	47
	2.3.1. MAIPA calculation of damage estimates	47
	2.3.2. Form of damage function	50
3. (Characterization of commercial aircraft sources	53
3.1.	Evaluation of pollutant metrics	56
	3.1.1. National operations data	57
	3.1.2. Representative aircraft types	58
	Table 3.1. Representative aircraft type assignments for DOT aircraft model identifiers	59
	3.1.3. Airport-specific operational data	60
	3.1.4. Emissions metrics	61
	3.1.5. Fuel consumption metrics	62
	3.1.6. Flight performance	62
	3.1.7. Gaseous emissions indices	63
	3.1.8. Particulate matter emissions indices	64
	3.1.9. Noise metrics	65
3.2.	Capability evaluations	67
	3.2.1. Estimation error in per-flight fuel consumption	67
	Figure 3.1. Estimated per-flight fuel consumption for representative aircraft types with	
	comparisons to F41T2 reported data and results from higher-fidelity models	68
	Table 3.2. Estimated per-flight fuel consumption for representative aircraft types	70
	3.2.2. Estimation error in fuel consumption inventories	70
	Figure 3.2. Estimated fuel consumption inventory errors	71
	3.2.3. Difficulties with interpretation of F41T2 data between 2002q1 and 2003q4	71
	3.2.4. Estimation of parametric sensitivities in fuel consumption metrics	72
	3.2.5. Contributions to per-flight fuel consumption variance for representative aircraft types	73
	Figure 3.3. Parametric contributions to variance in estimated per-flight fuel consumptior	174

	3.2.6.	Sensitivities of mean per-flight fuel consumption to input parameters	.75
	3.2.7.	Consistency of fuel consumption inventories with higher-fidelity models	.76
		Table 3.3. Comparisons of estimated fuel consumption inventory with results higher-fidelit inventory models	V 77
	3.2.8.	Consistency of per-flight fuel consumption metrics with higher-fidelity models	.78
	3.2.9.	Estimated NOx, CO, and HC emissions metrics	.79
		Table 3.4. Estimated NOx, CO, and HC emissions indices for representative aircraft types	.80
		Table 3.5. Estimated per-flight NOx, CO, and HC emissions for representative aircraft type	∍s 81
	3.2.10	D.Consistency of NOx, CO, and HC emissions indices with higher-fidelity models	.82
		Figure 3.4. Comparisons of estimated NOx, CO, and HC emissions indices with results from high-fidelity estimation methods	эт 83
	3.2.11	1.Consistency of particulate matter emissions indices with measurement data	84
		Figure 3.5. Estimated nonvolatile and volatile particulate matter emissions indices	.85
	3.2.12	2.Resolution of EIPM performance dependencies	87
	3.2.13	3.Error propagated into emissions inventory from per-flight fuel consumption estimates	87
		Figure 3.6. Propagation of fuel consumption errors into emissions estimates	.88
	3.2.14	4.Estimation of parametric sensitivities in emissions metrics	88
		Figure 3.7. Parametric contributions to variance in estimated NOx, HC, and CO per-flight emissions	89
		Figure 3.8. Parametric contributions to variance in estimated nonvolatile and volatile particulate matter per-flight emissions	91
3.3.	Trends	in US air transport pollution 1991-2003	.91
	3.3.1.	Fuel consumption of US commercial aircraft 1991-2003	.92
		Figure 3.9. Estimated fuel consumption by US commercial aircraft 1991-2003	.93
	3.3.2.	Operational frequency and the distribution of air quality impacts	.93
		Figure 3.10. Estimated fuel consumption by US commercial aircraft 1991-2003 by service category	95
	3.3.3.	Influence of pollutant control on emissions above and below the mixing height	.95
		Figure 3.11. Estimated NOx, HC, and CO emissions indices of US commercial aircraft 1991-3003	96
	3.3.4.	Efficacy of emissions standards in controlling total emissions loads	97
		Figure 3.12. Estimated NOx, HC, and CO emissions from US commercial aircraft 1991-20	03 98

	3.3.5.	Crossover effect of noise regulation on emissions control	99
		Figure 3.13. Estimated nonvolatile and volatile particulate matter emissions indices of US commercial aircraft 1991-2003	3 99
		Figure 3.14. Estimated nonvolatile and volatile particulate matter emissions from US commercial aircraft 1991-2003	100
		Figure 3.15. Noise from US commercial aircraft 1991-2003	102
		Figure 3.16. Contributions to noise inventory by representative aircraft type 1991-2003	104
	3. 3.6 .	Inventory metrics as measures of environmental damage	104
4. D	amage	es from global climate change	_106
4.1.	Damag	es as a function of change in global surface temperature	108
	4.1.1.	Economic and equity impacts of climate change	108
	4.1.2.	Climate damage as a function of global surface temperature	109
	4.1.3.	Climate damages from US air transport emissions	110
	4.1.4.	Marginal climate damages from aircraft emissions	111
	4.1.5.	Estimation of change in global surface temperature	112
	4.1.6.	Air transport damages in the context of other source emissions	113
4.2.	Respor	nse of global surface temperature to CO2 emissions	113
	4.2.1.	Estimation of marginal change in atmospheric CO2 due to aviation CO2 emissions	114
	4.2.2.	Functional relationship between CO2 concentration and radiative forcing	115
	4.2.3.	Estimation of marginal temperature change due to aviation CO2 emissions	116
	4.2.4.	Effect scales of non-CO2 climate perturbations	116
	4.2.5.	Estimation of short-lived climate effects	117
	4.2.6.	Specification of reference parameters for short-lived effects	118
	4.2.7.	Estimation of NOx perturbation to the lifetime of atmospheric methane	119
4.3.	Econor	nic development, carbon damages, and uncertainty	119
	4.3.1	Normative context of the discount rate	120
	4.3.2	Relationship between growth and discount rate	122
	4.3.3	Estimated marginal climate damages 1991-2003	122
		Figure 4.1. Estimated marginal climate damages of US commercial aircraft emissions 1991-2003	123
	4.3.4	Uncertainty in damage function parameters	125

Figure 4.2. Estimated climate damages of US commercial aircraft emissions 1991-2003	.126
4.4. Comparative emissions contributions to climate damages	.126
4.4.1. Estimated climate damages 1991-2003	.126
Figure 4.3. Comparison of estimated 1992 CO2 versus non-CO2 climate damages	.128
Figure 4.4. Breakdown of estimated 1992 climate damages by source emissions	.129
4.4.2. Effect of discount rate	.129
Figure 4.5. Impact of discount rate on CO2 versus non-CO2 damage contributions	.130
4.4.3. Decision-making consequences of choice of climate impact metric	.131
Figure 4.6. Comparative metrics of climate impact	.133
Table 4.1. Estimated marginal climate damages per unit emissions and per unit fuel consumption	.134
4.5. Uncertainties in physical models	.134
4.5.1. Structural uncertainty in specification of climate models	.134
Table 4.2. Case specifications for evaluation of structural uncertainties	.135
Table 4.3. Climate response models for evaluation of structural uncertainties	.135
Figure 4.7. Structural uncertainties relating to climate response model formulation	.136
4.5.2. Uncertainty in specification of altitude NOx effects	.138
Table 4.4. Case specifications for evaluation of uncertainty in effects of air transport NOx	138
Figure 4.8. Alternative analyses of radiative forcing from aircraft NOx	.139
5. Damages from reduced air quality	140
5.1. Damages as a function of disease and mortality	.143
5.1.1. Metrics relevant to national air quality policies	.143
5.1.2. Estimation and valuation of changes in disease and mortality risks	.144
5.1.3. Estimates of willingness-to-pay for reduction of health risks	.147
Figure 5.1. Cumulative distribution function for the value of a statistical life	.148
5.2. Response of ambient pollutant concentrations to aircraft emissions	.149
5.2.1. Change in ambient concentrations due to NO2, SO2, HC, and CO emissions	.150
5.2.2. Parameterization of secondary ozone formation	.150
5.2.3. Parameterization of secondary particulate matter formation	.152
5.3. Characterization of air quality impacts of US commercial aircraft	.155

	Table 5.1. Estimated changes in all-source emissions inventories and pollutant levels a	cross
	airport-resident counties due to US commercial aircraft emissions 1991-2003	156
	5.3.1. Effects of changes in background ambient air quality	157
	Figure 5.2. Estimated trends in the air quality impacts of US commercial aircraft operati 1991-2003	ons 158
	5.3.2. Influence of computational resolution on estimated air quality change	159
	Figure 5.3. Estimated concentration change normalized by the ambient concentration	160
	5.3.3. Mortality estimates from linear versus complex air quality models	163
	Figure 5.4. Estimated mortality change with comparisons	164
	Table 5.2. Incidence of health effects and consequent air quality damages	165
5.4.	Comparative marginal benefits of emissions reductions	167
	5.4.1. Emissions damages from US commercial aircraft	168
	Figure 5.5. Air quality damages of US commercial aircraft operations	169
	Table 5.3. Annual air quality damages by health endpoint	170
	Table 5.4. Marginal damage costs of US commercial aircraft emissions	171
	5.4.2. Marginal damages of fuel consumption	172
	Figure 5.6. Marginal damage of fuel inefficiency	173
6. C	Damages from a noisy environment	_176
6.1.	Noise damages of US commercial aircraft operations	178
	6.1.1. Noise damages based on hedonic estimates of property depreciation	178
	6.1.2. Application of noise depreciation index	179
6.2.	Probabilistic model of exposure to aircraft noise	181
	Figure 6.1. Noise exposure area as a function of airport-specific noise inventory	181
	Figure 6.2. Data clustering using ratio of noise exposure areas and Gaussian mixed mo	odel fit 182
	Figure 6.3. Probabilistic description of 65 DNL exposure area	183
6.3.	Historical trends in exposure to noise from US commercial air transport	184
	Figure 6.4. Estimated noise exposure areas in the US 1991-2003	185
	Figure 6.5. Exposed populations in the US 1991-2003	186
	6.3.1. Comparison with historical estimates of population exposure trends	186
6.4.	Estimated noise damages and ANCA benefits	188

Figure 6.6 Noise damage costs in the US 1991-2003	189
Table 6.1. Marginal noise damage costs in the US 1991-2003	191
6.5. Comparison of noise and emissions damage estimates	192
Figure 6.7. Damages from U.S. commercial aircraft operations 1991-2003	193
6.6. Structural uncertainties in noise damage estimates	194
6.6.1. Caution on use of surrogates	195
6.6.2. Capturing noise damages through property values	196
6.6.3. Noise damages estimated using contingent valuation techniques	196
6.6.4. Presence of wage-rent trades	197
6.6.5. Developing a more accurate picture of endpoints of noise impact	198
7. Summary and conclusions	_199
7.1. Integrated approach to air transport environmental impact assessment	199
7.1.1. Developed an integrated assessment approach to prototype the FAA Aviation-environme Portfolio Management Tool (APMT).	ental 199
7.1.2. Fidelity	200
7.1.3. Inventories	200
7.1.4. Environmental models	200
7.2. Particulate matter impacts of aircraft emissions	201
7.2.1. Introduced a treatment of air transport particulate matter emissions, environmental fate, health impacts of particulate matter.	and 201
7.3. Uncertainties in impact assessments	201
7.3.1. Identified that the major source of reducible uncertainty in emissions damages stems fro the assumed extent of ozone and particulate matter production in the engine exhaust plume.	m t 201
7.3.2. Reducing uncertainties	202
7.4. Damages due to US aircraft operations from 1991–2003	202
7.4.1. Factors affecting changes in damages with time	203
7.4.2. Identified that the most important factor determining changes in damages over time is th dependence of impacts on the background environmental sensitivity.	e 203
7.4.3. Policy choices	204
7.5. Integrated approach to impact mitigation	205

7.5.1. Reassessed the environmental benefits of the aircraft retirements ma	ndated by the 1990
Aircraft Noise and Capacity Act	205
7.6. Trade-offs	205
7.6.1. Quantified the environmental trade-offs in decisions specifying aircraft	t performance for the
technology in the US commercial fleet from 1991–2003	205
7.6.2. Elasticities of performance	
Figure 7.1. Fuel-emissions and fuel-noise damage elasticities	206
7.7. Next steps	207

Appendix

1. C	computation and analysis conventions	209
1.1.	Specification of probability and distribution functions	209
1.2.	Simulation technique	210
1.3.	Assumptions of Monte Carlo simulation	211
1.4.	Choice of statistical descriptions of results	211
1.5.	Estimation of variance and mean-shift contributions	212
	1.5.1. Difficulties with conditional expectation approach	212
	1.5.2. Application of linear regression to identify important sources	212
1.6.	Conventions for estimating errors and differences	213
1.7.	Descriptions and analysis of trends	214

Appendix

2.	Benefit assessment in cost-benefit analysis	215
	Figure A2.1. Supply and demand for environmental resources	
	Figure A2.2. Roles of environmental decision-making and economic	feedback219

Appendix

3. Low complexity models of environmental performance		221
3.1.	Aircraft performance and the Breguet equation	221
3.2.	Breguet-based low complexity estimation of aircraft fuel consumption	223
3.3.	Importance of flight distance specifications in low complexity models	224

App 4. ⊦	endix listorical operations data and representative aircraft types	_225
4.1.	Operational statistics for US commercial air transportation	225
	Table A4.1. Operational statistics provided by DOT Forms 41-T2 and 298C-A1	226
4.2.	Representative aircraft types	227
4.3.	Construction of representative aircraft types	227
	Table A4.2. Representative aircraft type assignments for large DOT aircraft model ident with type certification and FESG equivalents	ifiers 229
	Table A4.3. Representative aircraft type assignments for regional DOT aircraft model identifiers with type certification and FESG equivalents	231
4.4.	Coverage of US commercial aircraft operations 1991-2003	231
	Table A4.4. Representative aircraft type coverage of US commercial aircraft activity 1991-2003	232
	Table A4.5. Detailed statistics for representative aircraft type coverage of US commercial aircraft activity 1991-2003	al 233
4.5.	Treatment of regional aircraft	236
4.6.	Aircraft categorizations by service application	236
	4.6.1. Basic types by flight distance	236
	4.6.2. Apportionment of operational activity to freight service	237
	Table A4.6. Estimated apportionment of US commercial operations to freight service 1991-2003	238
4.7.	Use of airport-specific operational data	239
	Table A4.7. Representative aircraft type assignments for MAGENTA aircraft model iden	tifiers 241
Арр 5. F	oendix Flight performance model	242
5.1.	Flight distance specification	242
	5.1.1. Corrections for deviations from great circle flight distance	242
5.2.	Flight profile segmentation for performance schedules	243

		Table A5.1. Representative aircraft type assignments for INM and BADA aircraft model identifiers	245
		Figure A5.1. MAIPA nominal flight profile definition	247
	5.2.3.	Specification of mixing height	247
5.3.	Flight p	erformance schedule within the atmospheric boundary layer	248
	5.3.1.	Departure performance	248
	5.3.2.	Specification of altitude triggers for changes in operational mode	249
	5.3.3.	Approach performance	249
	5.3.4.	Reconciliation of flight profile and SAE AIR 1845 performance schedule resolutions	249
	5.3.5.	Application of DOT ASQP ground time data	250
5.4.	Flight p	erformance schedule above the atmospheric boundary layer	250
	5.4.1.	Climb and descent performance	250
	5.4.2.	Cruise performance	251
	5.4.3.	Specification of flight altitude	251
5.5.	Perform	nance model uncertainties	252
	5.5.1.	Parametric uncertainties in flight performance schedule	252
	5.5.2.	Structural uncertainty in SAE 1845 performance specifications	253
	5.5.3.	Structural uncertainty in Eurocontrol BADA performance specifications	253
Арр 6. Е	endix stimati	on of fuel consumption rate	_255
6.1.	Repres	entative aircraft type assignments for engine types	255
		Table A6.1. Representative aircraft type assignments for ICAO engine model identifiers	256
6.2.	Specifi	cation of fuel consumption rate through performance schedules	259
	6.2.1.	Fuel consumption rates within the atmospheric boundary layer	259
	6.2.2.	Fuel consumption rates above the atmospheric boundary layer	260
	6.2.3.	Propagated variability from performance schedule selection	260
	6.2.4.	Correction to altitude conditions	260

Appendix 7. Estimation of gaseous emissions indices 263		
7.1.	Emissions indices for species emitted in simple ratio to fuel flow	263
	7.1.1. Carbon dioxide and water vapor	263
	7.1.2. Sulfur oxides	264
7.2.	Regulated gaseous emissions	265
	7.2.1. Data and modeling considerations	265
	7.2.2. Estimating NOx, HC, and CO emissions indices	270
	Table A7.1. Emissions certification compliance factors	271
	Table A7.2. Variability in the NOx emission index of new, post-checkout engines	272
Арр 8. Е	endix Estimation of particulate matter emissions indices	276
8.1.	Non-volatile particulate matter emissions indices	276
	Table A8.1 Cycle parameter specifications	280
8.2.	Near-field volatile particulate matter emissions indices	281
	Figure A8.1 Intra-engine and near-field plume conversion efficiencies	285
App 9. N	endix loise characterization	288
9.1.	Choice of a noise metric	289
Арр 10.I	endix _inear response models of the climate	292
Арр 11.l	bendix Jpper atmospheric effects of nitrogen oxide emissions	295
Арр 12./	pendix Aerosol and cloud effects of water, soot, and sulfur emissions	298
Арр 13.1	pendix Tropospheric ozone production	300
13.1	. Plume ozone production	301

¥

13.2.	Tropospheric and plume ozone production	303
	13.2.1. Indications of NOx processing age from precursor measurements	.305

Appendix 14.Concer	ntration-response functions	306
	Table A14.1 Selecting concentration-response functions for air quality benefits analys	ses307
	Table A14.2 Concentration-response functions for carbon monoxide morbidity	308
	Table A14.3 Concentration-response functions for nitrogen dioxide morbidity	309
	Table A14.4 Concentration-response functions for sulfur dioxide morbidity	309
	Table A14.5 Concentration-response functions for ozone mortality and morbidity	310

Bibliography _

Preface

Environmental impact assessments are contentious and this dissertation is not immune to the push and pull of critiques that frame the process—precautionary principle versus economic efficiency in decision-making, moral versus negotiated guidance of environmental goals, individual versus societal rights in policy design, or the overarching philosophical question of whether our technological constructions are part of the natural world. This thesis does not argue the correctness of any of these perspectives. It concerns the comparative benefits of pursuing mitigation of one agent of environmental impact versus another; it is an assessment of benefits, not a benefit-cost analysis. The assessment approach described in the following chapters is scientific, but its economic interpretation for decision-makers carries values to a larger extent. For some, the implied values are anathema to fair environmental policy.

This preface is here to recognize the importance of these discussions and to highlight the urgent need to communicate the science of environmental change, its uncertainties, and a measure of societal preferences for reducing impacts among the many vectors that stem from air transport. The only agenda in this research is to encourage a well-informed environmental practice, expanding opportunities to find solutions that help sustain air transport as a positive part the social fabric. Industry works to provide well-being to society (most directly to its customers and shareholders) primarily through an economic construct, so this effort interprets the social consequences of environmental change with preferences gleaned from observations of economic activity. This is an imperfect but rich medium through which to enhance the use of scientific understanding to set environmental goals in the context of the technological capabilities.¹ The discussions that follow adhere to the theoretical foundation of this approach, giving attention to both the advantages and limitations in the scientific understanding and economic interpretation of environmental change.

Over the final months of this thesis effort, the United States economy entered a recession amidst a series of global economic disruptions, prompting an intense and public reconsideration of our energy,

¹ Crucially, this integration connects the objectively incommensurate metrics currently used to determine benefits, e.g. reducing noise footprints or emissions per-unit of fuel used, to the mainstream language of environmental impact assessment, establishing a heretofore absent medium for communicating environmental objectives across society. This facility places aviation environmental impacts and those of other anthropogenic activities in the same contextual reference; it also provides an improved capacity to incorporate social health and well-being as factors similarly innate to design and operational decisions as safety and security.

environmental, and infrastructure priorities. The actions taken to mitigate the downturn entail a profound repositioning of both public and private investments likely to reach all sectors of the economy. Therein lies a hazard and an opportunity; it is essential that we ameliorate our ability to thoughtfully evaluate investments in the air transport system for their efficacy and resilience to uncertainty. This thesis applies a pragmatic and theoretically supportable technique to identify the uncertain environmental import of our options and better inform decision-making.

Yet, there is no intention to be dogmatic. Economic assessments are incomplete reflections of how societies make decisions about what is right or fair for two reasons. First, the welfare lens perceives these values through the way people and organizations participate in economies and second, our ability to interpret values from economic decisions is uncertain. Taking from an example described in the introduction, the economic perspective suggests that deciding to reduce an aircraft noise signature relieves an environmental burden from airport-local communities, but adds a burden on other communities in exacerbating air quality and climate impacts, with the effect of reducing their wealth. These distributional observations are valuable to decision-makers, but there is no intrinsic cultural or historical context in these observations that allows us to decide whether such effect is socially acceptable.² In short, wealth is an insufficient gauge of societal concerns.

In this sense, relying exclusively on an economic interpretation of environmental risks to the exclusion of other approaches, such as those rooted in justice or moral concerns, limits opportunities to reduce environmental stress. This thesis cannot attain the scope needed to address other lenses and it is particular to air transport in the United States. This does not imply lesser importance of these alternative perspectives, rather that the methods developed here offer a clear and immediately practicable means to make a much needed connection to the extensive and salient knowledge base of environmental science. At the same time, it is important not to interpret the findings discussed presently as the outline for a comprehensive resolution the attendant environmental impacts of air transport. The hazard in presenting

² Environmental damages are an inescapable consequence of providing mobility through air transport and are borne jointly by local airport communities, airlines, manufacturers, the flying public, and taxpayers, as well as global populations far away from airports or flight corridors. Committing to particular technological or operational changes requires some assurance of their effectiveness as remedies. Misguidance wastes valuable resources.

metrics in units germane to aircraft performance, as in this document, is the potential for a narrower discussion, perhaps one that is exclusively technical but presumptively comprehensive of the issues.

With these notes in mind, the thesis follows in seven chapters and seventeen (14) technical appendices.

Notation

Intervals, sets, and logic

[x, y]	interval between x and y including x and y
] <i>x</i> , <i>y</i> [interval between x and y not including x and y
$\{x_1,\ldots,x_n\}$	set of values x_1 to x_n
3	there exists
Α	for all
e	element of
U	union
٨	logical AND
V and the second	logical OR

Change, difference, and ratio

δx	marginal change in a <i>physical</i> parameter x
	usage. marginal economic parameters are denoted unrerentry, see <i>Furumeters</i>
Δx	change (non-marginal) in a physical or economic parameter x
$\Delta x \langle ref \rangle$	difference in parameter x against benchmark computations or data ref with the
	intent to demonstrate (or refute) consistency with the estimate of x where:
	ref = see abbreviations near the end of this chapter for ref identifications
$\varepsilon_x \langle ref \rangle$	error in parameter x in comparison to data or computations <i>ref</i> with the intent
	to demonstrate accuracy
$\varphi\langle x_1, x_2\rangle$	ratio of parameter x_1 to parameter x_2

Functions

$P(type; x1 \dots xn)$	probability function for variable x
$F(type; x1 \dots xn)$	distribution function for variable x where:
	type is the form of the distribution
	x1 xn are the parameters characterizing the distribution
	define: using P but specification is equivalent for F
P(norm; μ , σ)	normal with mean μ and standard deviation σ
P(logn; μ , σ)	lognormal with geometric mean μ and standard deviation σ
P(gmm; μ1, σ1, μ	12, 52)
	Gaussian Mixed Model composed of normal distributions defined by the parameters $\mu 1$, $\sigma 1$ and $\mu 2$, $\sigma 2$
P(expr; source)	experimental function using data from source
$P(unif; x_1, x_2)$	uniform with limits x1 and x2
$P(trig; x_1, x_m x_2)$	triangular with limits $x1$ and $x2$, and central value at x_m
g(x)	impulse response or Green's function of parameter x
f(x)	forcing function on the parameter x
PV(x)	present value

Statistics

x	parameter estimator, denoted by a caret
$\underline{\theta}\langle x,w\rangle$	an averaged statistic θ of x using the weighting variable w
$\mu\langle \mathbf{x} \rangle$	mean of x
$\sigma\langle x\rangle$	standard deviation of x
$CV\langle x\rangle$	coefficient of variation of $x = \sigma \langle x \rangle / \mu \langle x \rangle$
$\tilde{\mu}\langle x \rangle$	median of x, denoted by the tilde
pct-R $\langle y:[x_1,x_2]\rangle$	range of y from percentile x1 to x2 where x1 is the lower limit (e.g. $0.40 = 40\%$) and x2 the upper limit (e.g. $0.60 = 60\%$)
$IQR\langle y \rangle$	interquartile range = R -pct $\langle y: [0.25, 0.75] \rangle$
$\widetilde{\mathrm{CV}}\langle x\rangle = \mathrm{IQR}\langle x\rangle$	$/\tilde{\mu}\langle x \rangle$ the coefficient of variation defined relative to the median
$\operatorname{var}\langle y x_i \rangle$	variance contribution of xi to parameter y
$\Delta \mu \langle y x_i \rangle$	mean-shift of y with change in variable x
$\rho \langle y x_i \rangle$	correlation of y with xi
SE	standard error of the mean
SE-r	relative standard error of the mean = SE/CV
CI	confidence interval, presented as in (95% CI)

Parameters

 n_x number of a given quantity x

where $x = \{ ops, seats, psgr, ... \}$

define: ops = operations or flights (i.e. one landing + one takeoff) seats = seats

psgr = passengers

i species index where $n_i = 8$

where: $i = \{CO_2, H_2O, NO_x, SO_x, PM_{nv}, PM_v, HC, CO\}$

define:

 CO_2 = carbon dioxide

 $H_2O = water$

 $NO_x = nitrogen oxides = NO + NO_2 (nitric oxide + nitrogen dioxide)$

 $SO_x = sulfur oxides = SO_2 + SO_3 + H_2SO_4$ (sulfur dioxide + sulfur trioxide + sulfuric acid) usage note: parameters that reference sulfur emissions are typically computed in reference to S (sulfur) to emphasize their fuel origin

 PM_{nv} = nonvolatile particulate matter

 PM_v = volatile particulate matter

HC = hydrocarbons

usage note: HC transformed in the atmosphere subsequent to emission is referred to as VOC or volatile organic compounds; reactive organic gases or ROG refer to all reactive hydrocarbons in the atmosphere (e.g. VOC + biogenic organics + etc.)

CO = carbon monoxide

- *j* representative aircraft type
 - where: $n_j = 19$

define: designations are given in table 3.1

k flight profile segment index where $n_k = 9$

where: $k = \{ it, to, cl, ci, ca, cr, da, di, ap \}$ define: it = idle/taxi to take-off da = decent from flight altitude to = roll and takeoff di = decent from intermediate alt ci = climb to intermediate altitude ap = approach and landing ca = climb to flight altitude il = idle/taxi from landing cr = cruise at flight altitude see below for altitude definitions at h^y *l* airport index or index of an airport-resident U.S. county

where: $n_l = 96$

define: see section 3.3 and appendix 4 for discussion of airport specifications

t time

 $T[t_1, t_2]$ period of the interval from time t_1 to t_2

otherwise T = temperature as contextually appropriate, see below at T_x^y

d distance, always flight distance unless otherwise specified

r radius (otherwise economic rates of change as defined below at *r* et seq.)

 h^y altitude of reference height y

where: $y = \{mx, tr, in, fl\}$

define: mx = mixing height, the edge of the atmospheric boundary layer

tr transition altitude, the point of takeoff power cutback for transition into the flight performance specifications of the first climb mode (i.e. $k = to \rightarrow ci$) and similarly for descent ($k = di \rightarrow ap$)

in intermediate altitude, the point of performance transition from the first to the second climb mode (i.e. $k = ca \rightarrow ci$) and similarly for the descent ($k = da \rightarrow di$)

fl flight altitude

 T_x^y temperature at condition x at the reference location y

where:
$$x = \{k, t, f\}$$

 $y = \{a, h, s, 3, 4\}$

define: k and h are as defined above

t = a thermodynamic reference state, the total or stagnation condition f = a thermodynamic reference state, the adiabatic flame temperature a = ambient, usually specifically located by h_y or k as defined above s = surface, always the surface of the Earth

3 = denotes an engine gas path location, the inlet of the combustor

4 = denotes an engine gas path location, the exit of the combustor

- P_x^y pressure at condition x at the reference location y where: x and y are specified as for T_x^y above
- ρ_x^{y} density at condition x at the reference location y where: x and y are specified as for T_x^{y} above
- F thrust
- W weight
- u speed
- q_x^y per-unit quantity production (or destruction) of parameter x, sometimes further specified with location, time, or activity reference y usage: the per-unit specification for q is per-flight unless otherwise specified
- \dot{q}_x^y rate of quantity production (or destruction) indicated by over-dot
- Q_x^y inventory of parameter x, sometimes further specified with location, time, or activity reference y

define: for $\{q,Q\}$: $\mathbf{x} = \{f,i,n\}$ as indicated above at c_x $\mathbf{y} = \{>h_{mx}, < h_{mx}, k\}$

where: $>h_{mx} \equiv$ the free troposphere $>h_{mx} \equiv$ the lower troposphere k as defined above at k

η efficiency

EI $i\langle y \rangle$ emissions index of species *i* with reference to *y* where: *y* can be a location or time *y* can be an activity *y* can be a sourced reference

- *e* environmental quality
- p environmental pollution (p = -e)

DNL day-night noise level

LAmax is the maximum sound level over the duration of the noise event LA(t)

RF radiative forcing

RFi instantaneous forcings

 X_i concentration of species *i*

- ρ^l population density of airport-resident county l
- w welfare

 I_x incidence of condition x

 c_x marginal damage cost of parameter x

where: $\mathbf{x} = \{f, i, n\}$

define: f = fuel consumption

i = species as described above at i

 $n \equiv \text{noise}$

usage: 'marginal damage cost' sometimes abbreviated 'marginal damage' or referred to as 'marginal willingness-to-pay' or MWTP

- *ca* marginal abatement cost
- c_s marginal social cost related to the sum of private and external costs
- *C* total damage cost

usage: 'total damage cost' sometimes abbreviated 'damage' or referred to as in 'willingness-to-pay' or WTP)

- *r* discount rate or the real rate of capital return
 - r_g rate of consumption growth
 - r_t time discount rate
 - θ marginal utility of consumption

 $r_g \langle x, [t_1, t_2] \rangle$ compound annual growth rate or CAGR of parameter x over period $T = [t_1, t_2]$ where: T is as defined above

1. Introduction

Air transport development relies on the effectiveness of technology investments to stem the environmental impacts of aircraft operations (NSTC 1995; DfT 1998; EC 1999; NSTC 1999; EC 2001; DfT 2003; FAA 2004d, 2004e; ICAO 2004; JPDO 2004; PARTNER 2004; SASC 2005). Progress in understanding these impacts suggests a number of potentially important environmental objectives. However, their prioritization is uncertain and current resources do not offer a way to make the necessary comparisons.

1.1. Motivation

The potential risks for environmental investments is significant, particularly because the scale of technological change required to reduce impacts may encompass the entire air transportation system. Uncertainty in prioritization is one component of these risks. For decision-makers, this means not knowing the environmental consequences of choosing one mitigation option over another, or how to determine which among several performance specifications provides the most desirable reduction in impacts. The goal of this thesis is to establish assessment capabilities that direct decision-makers toward positive outcomes.

1.2. Objective

Specifically, we want to define the metrics and a means for their evaluation to quantify the environmental trade-offs inherent in design and policy choices.

The objectives of this thesis are to evaluate: (1) metrics to compare the influence of aircraft performance characteristics on environmental change; and (2) methods to incorporate integrated analysis in regulatory assessment tools.

1.3. Approach

To accomplish these objectives, this work uses the environmental costs, or damages, of emissions and noise to compare impacts of changes in climate, air quality, and community noise. To estimate damages, we develop a probabilistic multi-attribute impact pathway analysis (MAIPA) to model the environmental

27

costs of emissions and noise due to changes in climate, air quality, and community noise. These costs represent the economic choices people may make to avoid risks to their health and well-being from environmental change. This approach is methodologically consistent with regulatory norms established in the United States, Canada, and Europe.

1.3.1. Retrospective assessment of US commercial aircraft operations from 1991–2003

MAIPA is used to provide an historical assessment of the environmental impacts of commercial aircraft operations in the United States between 1991-2003.¹ These impacts are characterized by inventory, environmental, risk, and economic metrics, and, ultimately, estimates of environmental damages in terms of aircraft performance parameters. The resolution of results is national and yearly, with the exception of inventories, where results are quarterly.

1.4. Context

Two recent examples illustrate how environmental choices arise in aircraft design and operation and how the results of MAIPA-type assessments clarify decision consequences.

1.4.1. Airline orders reduction in aircraft noise at expense of fuel efficiency

The first Airbus A380, a new very-large commercial transport aircraft with primary application to long, heavily-traveled routes, entered service early in 2007. From the start, environmental performance was a key criterion for the new design, but one of several including operability, safety, security, efficiency, and market applicability. The launch customer, Singapore Airlines (SA) in this case, had an important role in setting requirements.

For SA, operation through London's Heathrow Airport was vital to the success of the A380 in their markets. Heathrow is one of several airports around the world that restrict aircraft operations based on their noise characteristics. These noise rules are in place to minimize impacts on communities close to the airport. SA requested that the A380 design meet restrictions typically applicable to any large commercial aircraft currently in-service, such as the A340 or Boeing B777.

¹ Other aviation environmental impacts exist: production and disposal of aircraft, flight services (food provision, etc.), and infrastructure (such as airside operations). Production impacts are expected to be small ref RCEP, but the author is not aware of any examination concerning disposal issues. Airside operations not associated with flight operations (e.g. fueling, baggage delivery, etc.) and ground-side activities have been assessed elsewhere.

When this request was made, the design process had progressed to a point where Airbus had limited options to respond. Its best option, given resource constraints, was to trade a 1–2% decrease in fuel economy to achieve a 1–2 dB noise reduction and thus a comfortable margin of compliance.² An SA A380, the second placed in service, made its first landing at Heathrow on March 18th of 2007.

1.4.2. Increased noise exposure halts airline tests of fuel reduction procedures

The A380 design choice reflects a competition among environmental goals that is replicated in operational choices. Pressure from local communities to mitigate airport impacts, particularly noise, has been an historically significant influence on operations. This is most directly felt by airlines, but as they respond to regional- and global-scale environmental issues, operational decisions that favor reductions in fuel and emissions will be increasingly commonplace.

Consider this recent news thread reported by the Cairns Post. Qantas is an Australian airline that serves domestic and global destinations. In a trial flight path adjustment to lower fuel consumption for southerly arrivals and departures, aircraft were diverted over the city of Cairns in Queensland, increasing noise for residents of the Esplanade district and the Mulgrave River Valley to the southeast (Irby 2007a, 2007b; Koch 2007; Murtagh 2007).

Local protest ended the experiment, returning the status quo. Is the status quo a more favorable balance among noise and emissions impacts? The Cairn's community is trading the hidden costs of noise for those of air quality. The results reported in chapters 5 and 6 of this thesis suggest that their position makes sense from a household perspective. For people exposed to aircraft noise, noise impacts from commercial aircraft operations in the United States between 1991–2003 is estimated to be ~80 times higher than costs resulting from their exposure to emissions impacts.

From a societal perspective, including all regional and global emissions impacts, this equation changes. Again based on results shown later in this thesis, the median annual noise cost for the United States between 1991-2003 accounts for \sim 1/8th of the estimated sum environmental costs of commercial aircraft operations. In the absence of a way to communicate a comprehensive account of health and welfare risks, there is no voice for the populace outside the region.

² Personal communication. 2004. A. Joselzon. Head of Engineering Environmental Strategy, Acoustics and Environment Department. Airbus France SAS.

1.5. Contributions

There are six primary contributions from this work. These contributions fall into three categories: expanding the capabilities and scope of air transport environmental impact assessment, understanding how environmental impacts are related physically and technologically, and identifying potential mitigation approaches. Additional contributions are stated in the introductions to chapters 2–6. The conclusion chapter 7 reviews these contributions with further discussion of implications.

1.5.1. Integrated approach to air transport environmental impact assessment

Conducted pathfinding research for development of the FAA Aviation-environmental Portfolio Management Tool (APMT).

An important contribution of this work was in demonstrating the feasibility of, and identifying requirements for, the Aviation-environmental Portfolio Management Tool (APMT). APMT is currently under development for application to regulatory decision-making in the United States.

1.5.2. Particulate matter impacts of aircraft emissions

Introduced a treatment of air transport particulate matter emissions, environmental fate, and health impacts of particulate matter.

This thesis extends the scope of impact assessment with a comprehensive treatment of particulate matter emissions. Estimated particulate emissions indices were applied to evaluate the first mass-based PM inventories specific to the operational performance of US commercial aircraft. Through these models, this work identifies precursor emissions as primary sources of environmental damages. Treatment of PM was a necessary basis for the contributions stated in sections 1.5.3, 1.5.5, and 1.5.6 below.

1.5.3. Uncertainties in impact assessments

Identified that the major source of reducible uncertainty in emissions damages stems from the assumed extent of ozone and particulate matter production in the engine exhaust plume.

This thesis evaluates the comparative importance of parametric, structural, and scenario uncertainties in estimated damages. Of these uncertainties, the role of the engine exhaust plume chemistry and microphysics is a primary uncertainty in estimating the change in ambient ozone and particulate matter concentrations due to aircraft operations. With the assumptions made in this thesis, estimated air quality

damages are approximately 60% higher than when using the assumptions of large-scale complex air quality models such as EPA CMAQ.

1.5.4. Environmental damages

Identified that the most important factor determining changes in damages over time is the dependence of emissions damages on the background environmental sensitivity.

Emissions impacts of US commercial aircraft are dictated by the progress in controlling emissions from other sources. The attribution of trends to parametric inputs shows that air transport emissions impacts are predominantly determined by the background environmental sensitivity, indicating that the growth of air transport emissions relative to other sources is the key factor that determines damage costs.

1.5.5. Integrated approach to impact mitigation

Reassessed the environmental benefits of the aircraft retirements mandated by the 1990 Aircraft Noise and Capacity Act.

From December 31, 1994 through December 31, 1999, FAA mandated a scheduled phase-out of portions of the commercial fleet identified by their failure to meet a limit on noise levels (14CFR91.801-877 Subpart I: Operating noise limits). Analysis of noise trends during these phase-outs finds reductions in noise exposure provided benefits approximately 10 times lower than estimates of the associated phase-out costs published during and after the final compliance date. Combining results from emissions and noise, it is further shown that, by a 2:1 margin, more of the benefit from the Stage 2 noise phase-out rule came through reductions in VOC and PMnv emissions than from noise reduction.

1.5.6. Environmental trade-offs in aircraft technology

Quantified the environmental trade-offs in decisions specifying aircraft performance for the technology in the US commercial fleet from 1991–2003.

The traditional objectives of design toward regulatory standards or the market are marked by minimum NOx, minimum fuel consumption or minimum noise. A more comprehensive perspective recognizes that different sets of environmental performance characteristics can provide equivalent levels of welfare. Trade-offs are estimated using environmental damages and presented as elasticities of performance, or percent change in one performance parameter equivalent to a percent change in another. A damage function describes the sensitivities to performance changes in the US commercial fleet from 1991–2003.

31

1.6. Chapters

The contents of chapters 2–7 are summarized below. Each incorporates uncertainty analyses into the discussion. Relevant appendices are referenced in each chapter where they appear as background to the material.

- Chapter 2 formulates the multi-attribute impact pathway analysis or MAIPA.
- Chapter 3 evaluates the historical environmental performance of the US commercial aircraft fleet, specifying the fuel, emissions, and noise inventory inputs for the 1991–2003 retrospective assessment.
- Chapter 4 formulates methodology to estimate impacts on the global climate that distinguishes the value of reducing CO2 emissions versus non-CO2 emissions, and estimates marginal and sum climate damages.
- Chapter 5 formulates a methodology to estimate impacts on air quality that distinguishes the value of reducing NOx, SOx, HC, PMnv, and CO emissions that accounts for the formation of ozone and particulate matter. Estimates of marginal and sum air quality damages are reported. In addition, an analysis of marginal emissions costs, including fuel consumption, is presented.
- Chapter 6 formulates a model to estimate trends in noise exposure as a function of a cumulative noise metric. Correlations among trends in air transport noise and emissions damages are discussed and a reassessment of the noise phase-outs mandated by the 1990 Airport Noise and Control Act is presented. In addition, chapter 6 provides a comparative analysis of sum climate, air quality, and noise damages.
- Chapter 7 summarizes the primary contributions of this thesis, including estimates for the environmental trade-offs in policy or design decisions made to specify aircraft performance for the technology in the US commercial fleet from 1991-2003. Chapter 7 also discusses implications and suggests next steps.

2. Integrated air transport environmental impact assessment

The first objective of this thesis is to develop metrics and a means for their evaluation to assess the comparative influence of aircraft performance characteristics on environmental change. This chapter formulates a probabilistic multi-attribute impact pathway analysis (MAIPA) for this purpose. Its goal is to improve the quality and content of decision information available through assessment tools and in doing so, to promote better decision-making for effective mitigation policy.

Contribution 2.1. Conducted pathfinding research for development of the FAA Aviationenvironmental Portfolio Management Tool (APMT)

MAIPA is unique as an integrated approach to air transport environmental impact assessment.¹An important contribution of this work was in demonstrating the feasibility of, and identifying requirements for the Aviation-environmental Portfolio Management Tool (APMT). APMT is currently under development for application to regulatory decision-making in the United States.

APMT represents a fundamental change in aviation-environmental assessment, moving from air transport environmental impact assessment based on quantity-based impact metrics, effect-by-effect analyses, and cost effectiveness decision-making, to one based on a comparative evaluation of multiple impacts — more directly responsive to risks to health and well-being, mindful of uncertainties, inclusive of a broader scientific knowledge base, and prepared to evaluate the synergies or incompatibilities among regulatory options.²

¹These systems are inherently complex. Commercial air transport consists of interdependent systems driven historically by safety and security requirements as well as economic motivation. The enormous intellectual and capital resources invested to establish this system compose a large technological inertia; change requires a similarly large impulse, carrying an expense and persistence that necessitates careful consideration of investment objectives. In turn, the environmental processes perturbed by air transport weave sources, transformations, and impacts into a latticework of physical and social change that resists decomposition. The geographic scales and persistence of these changes alter the livelihoods of individual communities through accumulative and acute impacts that last hours or days, as well as generations living centuries hence that will experience the lagging consequences of industrial activity today.

² The resolution of trade-off issues lies arguably within the scope of national or international policy; local situations are informative, but not a surrogate for decisions directing investment towards system-wide change. In the air transport context, formulating policies with this broad intent suffers from a limited and uncoordinated flow of scientific information useful for assessment, a situation which places local conflicts at the fore of decision-making. This thesis speaks to this broad perspective by clarifying the relationship between air transportation and the desires of society for environmental health as a part of their well-being. What is needed is a productive means to communicate a rich understanding of the scientific and technical knowledge that defines environmental in a form assimilable into present-day decision mechanisms.

Sections 2.1-2.4 describe MAIPA procedure, with supplemental discussion in Appendix A1. Section 2.5 describes the evaluation of trade-offs using information contained in the damage function. Appendix A2 supplements section 2.5.

2.1. Multi-attribute impact pathway analysis

The evaluation of an impact vector is commonly called an impact pathway analysis; this document uses MAIPA or multi-attribute impact pathway analysis to refer to the unified assessment of many impact vectors. MAIPA mechanistically traces multiple impact vectors that result in climate, air quality, and noise impacts. This is a bottom-up approach, following a chain of environmental effects initiated by the introduction of emissions and noise to their ultimate impact on people. Figure 2.1 sketches a simplified representation of MAIPA. The pathways are grouped by broad categories of impact with vectors pointing left to right.



Figure 2.1. Schematic of the multi-attribute impact pathway analysis

The viability of an assessment is both a technical problem and an issue of public accessibility.³ The common approach to impact pathway analysis is to treat each chain separately; this picture of environmental impacts, which follows the historically step-by-step discovery of their mechanisms, is the primary reason why regulatory structures are similarly divided in the United States. These are false boundaries, physically and socially; the integrated analysis here examines how impact vectors interact.

2.1.1. Developmental requirements

Assessment metrics need to directly tie actionable technological characteristics with socioeconomic characteristics. Requiring connectable metrics limits the assessment to a subset of theoretical effects and, further, those where the literature on these effects is sufficient to support their inclusion in policy analyses. For example, we use pecuniary environmental metrics, where an intermediary, such as property (e.g. noise) or health (e.g. air quality), as proxies to describe social preferences for environmental quality. A complete impact pathway model can thus be constructed only for certain risks as limited by our ability to evaluate effects in a manner germane to aircraft operations and specify uncertainties (cf. next section 2.2). Early economic assessments of aviation environmental impacts typically applied assessments of other sources to estimate the damages due to air transport.⁴

(4) Transparent: To the extent practicable, methods and outcome metrics are publicly accessible.

³ Note on metric characteristics: There is no reference approach to this task; in lieu, a set of guidelines were developed as part of the thesis effort. The guidelines identify desirable assessment metrics as those that are ordinal, quantitative, connectable, and transparent; these characteristics are common-sensical, but often ignored in making analyses accessible to decision-making.

⁽¹⁾ Ordinal: Metrics and related estimation methods are capable of ordering and specifying preferences for environmental quality as the basis for integrative decision-making. With technical metrics, such as total carbon emissions, this characteristic is typically innate, but not necessarily for socioeconomic metrics where their definition often includes assumptions about what is a preferable social order. Ordinality allows prioritization of environmental objectives and explicates mechanisms through which trade-offs among objectives are made.

⁽²⁾ Quantitative: Uses cardinal metrics and methods where magnitude is meaningful, but not necessarily exclusionary; that is we expect uncertainty. Ordinality does not state the extent to which one objective is preferred to another. For this, we need an account of magnitude. Thus, we employ when possible cardinal metrics and methods where magnitude is comparatively meaningful. There exists a set of mitigation options $X = \{x1, ..., xn\}$ where we can define a probability function where the set contains ΔC specified for each option x; ΔCx is the difference between a reference or baseline condition and one perturbed by implemented mitigations. This study uses a social welfare metric for comparative purposes to meet this guideline, but does not mean an assessment metric should be monetary.

⁽³⁾ Connectable (and calculable): Methods and outcome metrics directly tie actionable technological characteristics with socioeconomic characteristics.

⁴ Aircraft are mobile, but their origination from airports leads to point source impacts. Most aircraft emissions uniquely occur above the atmospheric boundary layer, and these emissions can be transported back into the surface mixing layer leading to distributed air quality impacts that are atypical of point or mobile sources. Emissions into the upper atmosphere lead to a host of short-lived radiative effects which add to the commonly appreciated effects of carbon dioxide. Noise is higher and not as localized as other mobile sources.
These methods balance the need to minimize the loss of decision-relevant information and maximize its quality. Computations are fully probabilistic, accounting endogenously for uncertainty and variability in input parameters. The first of these implies minimum complexity to the models in order to represent the path from source to damage and still provide useful assessment information. Effects are excluded most often by the availability of observational support, often due to immature measurement capabilities. For this analysis we need technological, operational, environmental, and socioeconomic data to specify required metrics. Admitting methods into assessment approach considers the availability of validation data and the potential for demonstration exercises.

Methods were required to maintain internal consistency in fidelity among the steps in the impact pathway analysis. Each impact pathway evaluated has a resolution-limiting input. Noise valuations, for example, involve meta-analyses that aggregate results from airports spanning the United States, Canada, Europe, and other regions to identify demographic dependencies. Valuing disease incidence is similarly conducted using nationally-averaged heath care costs. For climate, regionalized impact assessments are emerging, but underdeveloped for the assessment practice pursued by this thesis; globally-averaged metrics are the best understood gauges of impacts.

This analysis is specific to environmental impacts directly resulting from flight operations in the United States.⁵ Impact assessments are resolved only to the national scale and, where uncertainty allows, the finest time scale is yearly (the exceptions are inventory estimates where the resolution is quarterly). Since metrics are estimated using a retrospective analysis of activity occurring from 1991–2003. Thus, results are intended describe comparative environmental impacts as they exist today, focusing on understanding key uncertainties and identifying relationships that suggest mitigation opportunities.

2.1.2. Scope and resolution limitations

It is critically important to consider the validity of applying the results of the analysis or extrapolations thereof for prospective assessments in the context of the uncertainties and limitations described above. There are limitations on the scope and resolution of MAIPA as applied in this thesis: (1) results are specific to environmental impacts directly resulting from flight operations in the United States; (2) results

⁵ Aviation regulatory and design schedules suggest that exploration of decision spaces should be conductible within 3-6 months of initiation in order to allow detailed evaluations of identified options.

are based on a retrospective analysis of activity occurring from 1991–2003; (3) impact assessments are resolved only to the national scale and, where uncertainty allows, the finest time scale is yearly (the exceptions are inventory estimates where the resolution is quarterly); and, (4) include those modes of environmental change calculable along the entire impact pathway.

2.1.3. End-user considerations

An assessment metric needs context. A metric of risk or loss is a poor intermediary if its measure is opaque; this makes it difficult for people to express these preferences, and for decision-makers to obtain useful assessments. For example, the estimation of welfare metrics is theoretically complex, but their monetary expression is comprehensible. But it is helpful if the estimation method is as transparent as possible; methods are preferred that speak directly to stakeholder application (e.g. connecting aircraft performance parameters to risks) and rely upon public information to make transparent the interpretation of results.

Because the state of understanding of particular societal needs will continually change, metrics and methods are further useful if they are amenable to evolving interpretations of causes and effects. In this sense, metrics with invariant interpretations over geographic and historical scales best support the long-term viability of the analysis approach. For impact assessment technique in specific, assessments address air quality impacts at the scale of aggregate industries, particularly power generation and road transport (Small and Kazimi 1995; Mayeres et al. 1996; Levy et al. 1999; McCubbin and Delucchi 1999; Banfi et al. 2000; Matthews and Lave 2000), and assess the national impacts of specific emissions species and noise (Nelson 1978; Oates et al. 1989; Cifuentes and Lave 1993; Delucchi et al. 2002), often for the regulatory assessment of air quality programs (EPA 1997b, 1999c; EC 2003; Nash 2003; Zhang et al. 2004). MAIPA departs from this experience by integrating assessments of emissions and noise impact vectors, using a probabilistic formulation, and developing an assessment practice applicable to air transport.⁶

⁶ Other aviation environmental impacts exist: production and disposal of aircraft, flight services (food provision, etc.), and infrastructure (such as airside operations). Production impacts are expected to be small ref RCEP, but the author is not aware of any examination concerning disposal issues. Airside operations not associated with flight operations (e.g. fueling, baggage delivery, etc.) and ground-side activities have been assessed elsewhere.

2.1.4. Procedure and component models

The impact pathway analysis focuses on common stages of transformation: (1) defining sources and their activity to characterize pollutant inputs; (2) estimating affected changes in environmental quality; and then (3) estimating the decrease in social welfare expected in the presence of these risks. This perspective helps retain focus on consistency in inputs, model fidelity, analysis scope, and geographic and temporal resolution.

Reduced-order source characterization and environmental models were developed for MAIPA (cf. next section at 2.3 and chapter 4), capable of explicating first-order influences, but at a scope and resolution lower than current assessment tools used by FAA and others. Computational burden was also considered; estimation methods are practicable only if they can evaluate statistically significant results in the time frame of an assessment.⁷ Constituent models address aircraft performance, emissions chemistry and microphysics, atmospheric chemistry, transport, and radiative processes, disease incidence and mortality, and resource system stresses. Models use common operational data, technological parameterizations, and environmental and socioeconomic conditions. Chapters 3–6 describe the evaluation process in more detail.

Estimation of the pollution input to the environment as emissions and noise through a comprehensive source characterization of the aircraft fleet. Impacts on environmental quality are defined by three metrics: (1) changes in the global climate using surface temperature as the metric of environmental change; (2) changes in air quality measured by changes in atmospheric pollutant concentrations; and (3) changes in environmental noise measured by frequency-weighted sound exposure levels. Only in for air quality analysis are risks to the well-being of exposed populations explicitly determined, measured collectively by the incidence of disease, mortality, and other changes in livelihood. Comparative societal preferences for improvements in environmental quality use observations of societal economic behaviors expressed using the currency metrics conventional to economic analysis.

⁷ Previous studies often apply marginal valuations of impact (e.g. cost per unit emission or noise) estimated for other economic activities (e.g. automotive transport, electricity production, etc.) and assume they are applicable to aviation. However, the spatial distribution of aircraft effects (vertical as well as horizontal), and unique character of impacts (e.g. cloud interactions at altitude) make this benefit transfer practice questionable. This is a common practice, however, and marks most efforts to evaluate the environmental costs. Initial efforts undertaken by the ICAO CAEP to employ cost-benefit analysis in evaluating new proposals have used benefit transfers across industries. To reduce the social and economic distances made in executing such transfers, valuations of change in environmental variables in MAIPA are reserved until after assessing the impacts of commercial aviation.

2.1.5. Evaluation for air transport environmental impact assessment

Subsequent to a comprehensive review under the auspices of the Transportation Research Board (TRB) of the U.S. National Academies of Science and Engineering, the outcome of this three-year process was the definition of requirements, architecture, and a prototype work plan for development of the Aviationenvironmental Portfolio Management Tool (Waitz et al. 2006b, 2006c); the initial MAIPA formulation served as the APMT template for these definitions. The decision-making utility of APMT was formally recognized internationally at the 7th Meeting of the Committee on Aviation Environmental Protection (CAEP) of the International Civil Aviation Organization (ICAO) in 2007.

APMT represents a significant and timely change, led by the U.S. Federal Aviation Administration Office of Energy and Environment, in the way national air transport decision-makers approach aviationenvironmental issues. The incorporation of the necessary assessment capabilities for economic analysis within APMT has facilitated FAA engagement in shaping global air transport environmental policy. The repertoire of mitigation options that can be addressed using current air transport EIA practice has extended to include market-based approaches and the necessary assessment capabilities have also been built into APMT. These developments are crucially important toward addressing the significant challenge of reducing climate change.⁸

2.2. MAIPA application toward improvement of APMT capabilities

Initially MAIPA was a vehicle to demonstrate the feasibility of benefit estimation in the context of existing practices. MAIPA has also been valuable to investigate potential improvements in the methods and knowledge content of assessment practice, particularly as they inhabit APMT.

MAIPA and APMT today address the benefit estimation problem with different but complementary emphases; table 2.1 compares the methodological approaches and scope in their their current formulations. MAIPA, like APMT, is generally consistent with regulatory guidelines and benefit

⁸ APMT is one element in the first complete air transport EIA cost-benefit analysis (CBA) capability for use in national and international decision-making. APMT has been exercised to evaluate tightening NO_x engine emissions limits and the benefits of converting to low sulfur aviation fuels. Currently, APMT assessments include the climate benefits of infrastructure improvements and the value of CO2 engine emissions controls. APMT development continues to expand assessment capabilities. It is important to stress that couching a capability like APMT within the confines of standard-setting for noise and emissions, the historical norm, underestimates the transformative solutions that will be sought through its application. However, the need to pursue alternative sources of energy to power the future aircraft fleet and stem global change does not lessen the consequences of air quality and noise effects.

assessment practices in the United States, Canada, and Europe. Where MAIPA and APMT differ is primarily in resolution and scope; MAIPA trades scope and resolution in order to evaluate methodological choices and trade-offs, and to provide tentative benchmarks for APMT results, while reducing computational requirements.

assessment	MAIPA	АРМТ	typical aviation- environmental practice
geographic scope	national (U.S.)	global	route (Europe)
activity resolution	representative aircraft types to construct fleet inventories	specific aircraft models to construct location specific or fleet inventories	specific to aircraft type
impact coverage	integrated, activity base consistent across impacts assessed	integrated, activity base consistent across impacts assessed	not integrated; impacts assessed separately with different activity inputs
temporal resolution	quarterly for inventories; yearly for impacts	flight-by-flight for inventories; hourly-daily depending upon impact time-scale	yearly
current application	historical for developmental assessment	prospective for regulatory assessments	prospective for policy development but often for indeterminate point in time
treatment of uncertainty	probabilistic at computational level to assess parametric uncertainty; scenario analyses to assess impact of physical model construction and economic assumptions	probabilistic at computational level to assess parametric uncertainty; scenario analyses to assess impact of physical model construction and economic assumptions	deterministic; no probabilistic computation; individual application specific scenarios
air quality modeling	linearized measurement-based	3-D chemistry transport (CMAQ)	
climate modeling	impulse-response	impulse-response	use physical benefit transfers
noise modeling	probabilistic	INM	-

Table 2.1. MAIPA a	nd APMT	approaches	to air	transport	benefit	analy	sis
--------------------	---------	------------	--------	-----------	---------	-------	-----

2.2.1. Probabilistic formulation

The importance of communicating uncertainty in environmental analyses is extensively recognized (Iman and Helton 1988; Morgan and Herion 1990), particularly in application to climate change (Manne and Richels 1995; Morgan and Keith 1995; Allen et al. 2000; Webster et al. 2003). We are ultimately

interested in a probabilistic approach because the end-use problem is one of managing decision risk.⁹ Three aspects of fidelity require attention in the MAIPA: representing uncertainty in model form (structural), considering fidelity in the representation of actual processes; scenario uncertainty, referring to inestimable effect contributions; and specifying uncertainty or variability in input variables (parametric).

The analysis of results focuses on parametric and structural uncertainties. Since this thesis bases damage estimation on a retrospective analysis, scenario uncertainties are assessed only in cases where the lifetimes of physical effects or economic development persist beyond the study time period (i.e. climate change). In the face of uncertainty about the future, it can be attractive to use intermediate metrics, such as inventories, as surrogates for environmental quality. However, intermediate metrics often do not correlate with empirical societal risks (cf. chapters 3-4).

2.2.2. Specification of parametric uncertainties and computation

Practically, the propagation of parametric uncertainties places stricter limits on the resolution of trends and the spatial heterogeneity of impacts.

See Appendix A1 for additional discussion

• Appendix A1 (Computation and analysis conventions) details the approach to specifying parametric, scenario, and structural uncertainties, the computational implementation of uncertainty propagation, and the approach taken to validate results where measurements may or may not be available.

2.2.3. Identification of structural uncertainties

Structural issues are examined through comparison of model outputs with data and outputs from other models with similar functionality. Only certain elements of the impact pathway can be assessed directly using exogenous data sets (i.e. fuel use and particulate matter emissions measurements). A judicious use (i.e. evaluated against the fidelity guidelines) of measurement data is preferred over employing models to achieve the same output. This limits the extent to which structural issues affect error by confining such

⁹ Most people and organizations are risk averse, and there is often the opportunity to combine uncertain assets in such a manner as to maximize a risk-weighted expected return. Nonlinear models generally result in output distributions that are skewed, suggesting that risk may be differentially weighted above or below the mean. Even if outputs are not skewed, costs related to various outcomes may be uneven across the output distribution. Given uncertainty in cost estimates (as in a cost-benefit framework), the expected value of the net surplus may be assumed a measure of welfare (Freeman 1991). Risk preferences are not addressed by the analysis, but there is value in reducing uncertainty for a risk averse populace. In economic terms, for the distribution of environmental costs in particular, certainty equivalents for the benefit stream would be smaller than expected value.

considerations to questions of theoretical plausibility or, more commonly, temporal and geographic resolution.

The latter situation occurs in the context of estimating changes in environmental quality. Chapter 4 introduces these models and reviews the improvements in comparison to APMT results. Consistency between MAIPA outputs and modeling results from equivalent literature studies supplements for the lack of empirical data for comparison. For fuel use and emissions estimates, these comparisons only serve to define the extent to which structural uncertainties may affect output metrics. However, for other situations, comparisons identify structural uncertainties potentially important to the focus of policy efforts, such as the change in air quality impacts stemming from the effect of plume processing on ozone and secondary PM formation (cf. chapter 5).

In contrast, several results from later stages of MAIPA have no equivalents (economic outcomes in particular) and applied methods do not give us the benefit of experimental verification. These results stand on the merits of metric and method choice (thus the need for the guidelines above), specifically the robustness of the underlying theory and community experience with their practice. There are no empirical examples of policy application that might be used to confirm that the fidelity of this analysis is suitable for designing specific decision options, particularly those that are market-based, but this is not a unique problem among environmental assessments. The United States Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) has examined the national experience with economic incentives for other purposes (EPA 2001c), but there is no follow-up work to identify whether the underlying analyses enabled good policy design. Validity (which includes accuracy assessment) is ultimately judged by the success of policies ex post. This thesis does evaluate one previous regulatory effort, the mandated phase-out of noisy aircraft, to establish the beginnings of the type of evaluation that seeks to understand how policy design conforms with its intent (cf. chapters 3 and 6).

2.2.4. Methodological limitations under an economic framework

The economic framework through which trade-offs are identified is perhaps the most restrictive of the assessment steps. The damage function is a means to compare ways of addressing aviation environmental issues and in this sense, monetization bundles different goods so they may be juxtaposed against other bundles. The use of an economic framework is by definition limited to those impacts which can be

43

inferred through observations of transactions or which can be related to a reference transaction such that a given environmental impact has an economic correlate.¹⁰ Valuation methods are categorized broadly by the manner in which they seek to determine preferences for environmental amenities in the absence of a market. They are also differentiated in their ability to evaluate use-related and non-use impacts resulting from a change in environmental quality, and are often limited to evaluations of willingness-to-pay at the margin due to the restrictions of metrics for amenities such as clean air and quiet (i.e. a complete marginal damage curve is difficult to obtain). There are difficulties separating these non-market goods from bundling with other private and public goods.

This analysis relies primarily on the extensive basis of theoretical development and application experience with valuation techniques that use statistical inference or cost data directly to infer preferences for environmental quality. This restricts the detailed valuation of environmental impacts to using costs (i.e. physical damages and their resultant impacts) where surrogates for environmental effects are measured through changes in markets. Alternative methods are available for some impact endpoints to assess the valuation of non-use attributes, a particularly contentious issue in the case of climate change. Regardless, this is a situation where the economic lens may simply be at the limit of its field-of-view; other avenues of decision advice may be better options.

Tables 2.2 and 2.3 overview impacts that are and are not evaluated through MAIPA with an estimated magnitude of effect and quality of research available for decision making noted where possible. The absence of impact vectors biases marginal costs downward with the largest factor likely to be the multiplier effects of environmental damages. Unanticipated swings in future results are an unavoidable consequence of continued research in the relatively young endeavor to quantify the impacts of aviation on the environment.

¹⁰ Most people and organizations are risk averse, and there is often the opportunity to combine uncertain assets in such a manner as to maximize a risk-weighted expected return. Nonlinear models generally result in output distributions that are skewed, suggesting that risk may be differentially weighted above or below the mean. Even if outputs are not skewed, costs related to various outcomes may be uneven across the output distribution. Given uncertainty in cost estimates (as in a cost-benefit framework), the expected value of the net surplus may be assumed a measure of welfare (Freeman 1991). Risk preferences are not addressed by the analysis, but there is value in reducing uncertainty for a risk averse populace. In economic terms, for the distribution of environmental costs in particular, certainty equivalents for the benefit stream would be smaller than expected value.

Table 2.2. Evaluated impact vectors

restricts the detailed valuation of environmental impacts to use costs (i.e. physical damages and their resultant impacts) where surrogates for environmental effects are measured through changes in markets

impact	source	agent	environmental metric	valuation endpoint	economic metric	
annoyance	noise	noise	dBA SEL	exposure area	depreciation of owner-occupied housing values in 55+ and 65+ DNL exposure areas	
mortality	NOx, SOx, VOC	PMv	PM2.5 in μ/m^3	change in risk of mortality,	value of a statistical life	
	PMnv	PMnv	PM2.5 in μ/m^3	sudden and chronic		
	NOx	O3	O3 in ppm			
morbidity	NOx, SOx, VOC	PMv	PM2.5 in μ/m^3	change in risk of cardiovascular	out-of-pocket costs for health care	
	PMnv	PMnv	PM2.5 in μ/m^3	and respiratory disease and acute		
	NOx	O3	O3 in ppm			
	NOx	NO2	NO2 in ppm			
	SOx	SO2	SO2 in ppm			
	CO	CO	CO in ppm			
change in human	CO2	CO2	globally- averaged	 change in agricultural patterns sea level rise 	% change in global GNP	
support systems	NOx	O3 CH4	surface temperature Ts in K	 disease incidence shifts in ecosystems and human institutions as WTP to preserve 		
	H2O	clouds/ contrails		 changes in markets primarily as changes in forestry and operative 		
	SOx	PMv		production)		
	PMnv	PMnv		 non-market impacts based on time use for leisure 		

impact	agents	vector	state	key barrier to evaluation	magnitude
climate	CO2 H2O NOx	morbidity and mortality associated with change in surface temperature	emerging	epidemiological evidence	O(0.01) to O(0.1)
	SOx PMnv	ecosystem services	emerging	comparative metric (economic or otherwise)	O(1) to O(10)
ozone depletion	NOx	skin cancer risk from UV radiation	maturing	assessment appropriate method to evaluate aircraft impacts upper tropospheric / lower stratospheric ozone depletion	O(0.01) to O(0.1)
PMnv VOC metals PMnv NOx SOx		cancer risks from hazardous air pollutants	emerging	few data on composition of trace species in engine exhaust	unknown
		PM-related mutagenesis and neurological effects	nascent	epidemiological evidence	unknown
air quality NOx SOx CO2 H2O NOx SOx PMnv	со	mortality associated with change in atmospheric concentrations	emerging	epidemiological evidence	O(0.01) to O(0.1)
	NOx SOx	visibility, agricultural productivity, acidification of water bodies, likely apply only to a subset of airports near natural areas, farmland, or confined water bodies	nascent	characterization of regional effects of airport sources	unknown
	CO2 H2O NOx SOx PMnv	morbidity and mortality associated with of changes in air quality indirectly caused by change in surface temperature	nascent	epidemiological evidence	O(1e-01) to O(1)
	all emissions	macroeconomic impacts of changes in quality	emerging	analysis approach for air transport to determine multiplier effect	O(1) to O(10)
noise na	noise	noise health and welfare effects including disaggregation of annoyance metric	maturing	epidemiological evidence	O(1) to O(10)
		macroeconomic impacts of changes in noise	emerging	analysis approach for air transport to determine multiplier effect	unknown
		domestic animal and wildlife response	emerging	comparative metric, economic or otherwise, for evaluation against other impacts	unknown

1 .

Table 2.3. Impact vectors not considered in MAIPA applications

2.3. Evaluation of the damage function

The quantitative results of this analysis provide a comparative analysis of performance factors that effect changes in environmental impact. Given the relatively high cost of any technological or operational change in the air transportation system, this is essential to identifying investments that have the highest potential for environmental benefits. This section outlines the computational problem associated with estimating c(w) and the damage function.

2.3.1. MAIPA calculation of damage estimates

Referring back to figure 2.1, environmental costs depend upon environmental quality impacts (p) as a function of emissions and noise, $p(q_i,q_n)$. Emissions and noise, in turn, are functions of geography and time, $q_i(x,t)$ and $q_n(x,t)$, as dictated by operational activity and technology. For a design change, consequent changes in qi and qn are not necessarily independent; q_i and q_n are realized in discrete pairs related to the performance of an aircraft type. New aircraft types will offer a different balance of emissions and noise performance than those currently in the fleet. The functions p related to emissions (p_i) and noise (p_n) are typically non-linear and cannot necessarily be assumed independent for a given policy option intended to reduce impacts. As q_i and q_n exhibit dependency through technology, p_i and p_n exhibit dependency through operations.

Equation 2.1 shows a generalized damage function without income effects for a location X (e.g. communities around an airport). The equation integrates marginal damages (c) for a change in emissions and noise occurring over time following implementation of policy k at time t = 0. The result is the change in damage cost (C) associated with the policy k. The integration is made for the change in emissions i, ΔQ_i , and noise, ΔQ_n , against a background from all other sources, Q_{ref} . To this is added an error, ε , resulting from sources not quantified or unknown. Here the time horizon is infinite, but with a given discount rate, r, only a portion of this timeline will be of practical consequence and the stream of future changes is uncertain.

(2.1)
$$\Delta C^{k} = \left(\int_{0}^{\infty} \int_{(Q^{rd} + \Delta Q^{k})}^{Q^{rd}} c(Q) e^{-rt} dQ dt\right) + \varepsilon$$

To estimate total damage costs due to aircraft operations, MAIPA estimates c(Q) as the difference between two states: (1) a baseline where air traffic effects are as they stand presently; and (2) the state where these effects are hypothetically removed (so that ΔQ_i and ΔQ_n are equal to all emissions and noise from air transport). As a result, equation 2.1 can be recast approximately as shown in equation 2.2, where it is assumed that individual effects are additive and thus separable.

(2.2)
$$C \approx \underbrace{\sum_{i=1}^{l} \left(\int_{0}^{\infty} \int_{(Q_{i}^{ref} + \Delta Q_{i})}^{Q_{i}^{ref}} c_{i}(Q_{i}) e^{-rt} dQ_{i} dt \right)}_{\text{emissions contribution}} + \underbrace{\left(\int_{0}^{\infty} \int_{(Q_{n}^{ref} + \Delta Q_{n})}^{Q_{n}^{ref}} c_{n}(Q_{n}) e^{-rt} dQ_{n} dt \right)}_{\text{noise contribution}} + \varepsilon$$

In equation 2.2, we assume parameters reference air transport. The equation does not contain the feedbacks that would occur if policies implementing technology or operational change were carried out over a time scale similar to the fleet replacement cycle. For sequential policies, it may be necessary to revise the damage function to account for changes in the states of air transport, background sources, and environmental quality.¹¹

A simplified summary of inventory calculations is shown with equations 2.3, for an emitted species, *i*, at a particular location, *X*, for the time period, *T*. A similar formulation is used for noise. Inventories, Q_i , are the product of fleet operations, *n*, and the rate of emissions production, \dot{q}_i , integrated over time. The index, *j*, refers to a particular aircraft type and q_i is dependent on technological characteristics.

(2.3)
$$Q_i(X,T) = Q_i^{$$

Typically, inventories are calculated as the sum of regional inventories over airports *X*, as written in equation 2.3. MAIPA inventories are calculated directly from U.S. national activity statistics, essentially treating the United States as a single airport (cf. chapter 4). We book-keep two inventories, one including only portions of the flight below the atmospheric boundary layer, $< h_{bl}$ (equation 2.4), assumed to impact

¹¹ In cases where a technological system such as the aircraft is being designed, such interdependencies arise explicitly and a model is required to relate qi and qn directly. This case is not considered in this thesis but the framework is amenable to its inclusion. For example, an exogenous aircraft design model could be specified for this purpose.

air quality, and the other including all flight segments, impacting the entire atmosphere and leading to climate effects.

(2.4)
$$Q_{i}^{ emissions during landing under the mixing height $h_{bl}$$$

The emissions rate for species i and aircraft type j is the product of the fuel consumption rate (\dot{q}_f) and the emissions index (EI), a metric of technological emissions performance as in equation 2.5.

(2.5)
$$\dot{q}_i^j(t) = \dot{q}_f^j(t) \operatorname{EI}_i^j(t)$$

MAIPA calculates valuations of environmental quality *C* for discrete changes in environmental quality over a given time period (e.g. a quarter or year). For air quality, this is done assuming marginal costs equal average costs $c = \overline{c}$, implying that a linear change in total damages over Δp is locally a good approximation of p(Q). In this case, we use Q_i from equation 2.5 to obtain an estimate for *c* as in the equation 2.6. Where C(p) is nonlinear, as in the cases of noise and climate change, $c \neq \overline{c}$ and we instead use an approximation to the derivative as in equation 2.7.

(2.6)
$$c \approx \overline{c} = \Delta C / \Delta Q$$
 for linear $C = \beta_1 p + \beta_0$

(2.7)
$$c = dC/dQ$$
 for nonlinear $C = f(p(Q))$

With equations 2.6 and 2.7, equation 2.2 simplifies as in equation 2.8; the summation over aircraft types J is added because this is the base unit of technology constructed for MAIPA. The linear form implies separability of effects in estimating marginal damage costs; the roles of bundling and indivisibility are not investigated in this thesis.

(2.8)
$$\Delta C = \sum_{j=1}^{J} n_j \cdot \left[\sum_{i=1}^{I} c_i \Delta q_i + c_n \Delta q_n \right]_j + \varepsilon$$

This leads us to the form of the damage function estimated in this study shown in equation 2.9, where the summation over J in equation 2.8 for emission i has been pulled into the calculation of ΔQ_i and noise marginal damages are given on a per operation basis such that Δq_n in equation 2.7 is included in the calculation of c_n .

2.3.2. Form of damage function

The coefficients ($\hat{\mathbf{c}}$) are vectors of estimators of marginal damage costs, denoted in this document by the use of carets. These estimators are assumed unbiased (in the statistical sense, not in reference to error), and are uncertain, given as distributions of possible values (cf. next section 2.4). Practically, policies built around technology standards (as is the case in aircraft environmental regulation) should be congruent with aircraft performance. MAIPA accommodates this in selecting the parameter references for marginal damage costs. These are fuel composition (carbon, hydrogen, and sulfur); emission indices for nitrogen oxides (NO_x as NO₂), carbon monoxide (CO), hydrocarbons (HC as VOC), and non-volatile particulate matter (PM_{nv}, i.e. soot); and sound exposure level (dB SEL). Since the SEL is a time-integrated parameter, it makes sense to use a per-operation normalization as is done in equation 2.9. Fuel marginal damages are estimated from the EI-weighted summation of marginal damages for the constituent species.

The form of the damage function is most relevant to supply-side decision-making. It can be alternatively specified to stress consumption-oriented options, such as the evaluation of market-based abatement strategies, but the marginal damage units would more conveniently be presented using mass units (e.g. \$/t, cf. section 4 for tabulation of marginal damages in mass units). Assuming a linear form for the damage function implies separability, i.e. the marginal impacts of one species do not depend on another. This is a physical simplification appropriate to small perturbations in environmental quality Equation 2.9 does not tell us directly how much environmental quality we will get from an expenditure; for this, we need the marginal abatement cost estimator.

See Appendix A2 for additional discussion

• A comprehensive cost-benefit analysis (CBA) capability is envisioned as the next step air transport environmental impact assessment. Appendix A2 (Benefit assessment in cost-benefit analysis) looks at the application of benefit assessment to CBA in the context of the discussion in this chapter.

Equation 2.9. Form of the estimated damage function

$$\Delta C = \frac{\alpha \cdot \hat{c}_{per}}{(1) \text{ fuel}} + \frac{\beta \cdot \hat{c}_{-mer}}{(2) \text{ fuel}} + \frac{\Delta EI}{3 \text{ emissions}} + \frac{\Delta n' \cdot \hat{c}'_{1}}{(4) \text{ noise}} + \frac{\beta \cdot \hat{c}_{-mer}}{\text{ inestimable / unknown}} = \text{damage function}$$

$$\frac{\Delta C}{(1) \text{ fuel}} = \frac{\beta \cdot \hat{c}_{-mer}}{(2) \text{ fuel}} + \frac{\Delta EI}{3 \text{ emissions}} + \frac{\Delta n' \cdot \hat{c}'_{1}}{(4) \text{ noise}} + \frac{\beta \cdot \hat{c}_{-mer}}{\text{ inestimable / unknown}} = \frac{\beta}{\alpha}$$

$$\frac{\beta \cdot \hat{c}_{per}}{\hat{c}_{per}} = \left[\Delta Q_{per} + \Delta Q_{ner}^{(4)} \right] \left[\hat{c}_{per}^{(4)} \right] = \left[\hat{c}_{ner}^{(4)} + \hat{c}_{ner}^{(4)} + \hat{c}_{ner}^{(4)} + \hat{c}_{ner$$

 NO_x and PM_{nv} marginal damages are further resolved into components relevant to climate and air quality impact vectors, the latter indicated by superscript $< h_{bl}$ indicating that only the portion of a flight within the atmospheric boundary layer is accounted. For this study, all cloud-related climate effects (including

contrails) are attributed to hydrogen emissions since the thermodynamic and microphysical interactions of water vapor emissions are the mechanism for their creation. The parameter (ϕ) in equation 2.9 represents the reduction in cloud formation potential that may be achieved by, for example, route alterations to avoid humid air masses, a function of mesoscale and synoptic meteorology. In this study, $\phi = 1$ without specifying its dependence on these conditions. The damage function accommodates specifications of alternative fuel compositions via the parameters κ_1 and κ_2 , the latter of which is zero in the absence of cloud impacts ($\phi = 0$).

3. Characterization of commercial aircraft sources

This chapter evaluates the historical environmental performance of the US commercial aircraft fleet, specifying the fuel, emissions, and noise inventory inputs to MAIPA. This work, along with early versions of the environmental models discussed in Chapters 4-6, was the basis for defining requirements and a prototype for APMT. The goal of source characterization was to establish a standard description of the technological and operational features of the historical US commercial fleet. In particular, the objectives were: (1) to develop a probabilistic computation through the estimation of fuel, emissions, and noise inventories; (2) to demonstrate an accuracy in the estimated fuel consumption inventories comparable to higher-resolution modeling capabilities accepted by the assessment community as benchmark methods.; and, (3) to construct a mass-based particulate matter inventory.

Contribution 3.1. Treatment of particulate matter emissions

This thesis extends the scope of impact assessment with a comprehensive treatment of particulate matter emissions. Estimated particulate emissions indices were applied to evaluate the first mass-based PM inventories specific to the operational performance of US commercial aircraft. The analysis of PM trends made possible with these inventories reveals a decline in PM emissions from 1991-2003. These results are discussed subsequently in this chapter as well as in chapters 5 and 7.

Contribution 3.2. Historical and probabilistic emissions and noise inventories for US commercial operations 1991-2003

This thesis presents the first detailed historical emissions and noise inventories for US commercial aircraft operations. Quarterly estimates are provided for 10 inventories: fuel consumption; CO_2 , H_2O , SO_x , PM (nonvolatile and volatile), NO_x, HC (as VOC), and CO emissions; and noise (as SEL dBA). These inventories are based on performance characterizations of aircraft technology in historical fleet between 1991-2003 using parametric inputs defined by open-source data; a total of 19 representative aircraft types are specified.

Result 3.1. MAIPA estimated fuel consumption metrics compared to benchmark DOT data

The source characterization methods reproduce the historical fuel consumption trends described by airline-reported data compiled by the US Department of Transportation (DOT) for US commercial

53

operations. The following results summarize comparisons evaluated for per-flight and inventory fuel consumption metrics:

- Mean errors in estimated per-flight fuel consumption are in the range -27% to 19% across the set of all 19 representative aircraft types.
- Operations-weighted mean error over all quarterly estimates of fleet fuel consumption from 1991-2003 is -1.6% ± 0.12%.

Result 3.2. MAIPA estimated fuel consumption and emissions metrics compared to benchmark inventory evaluation tools

Estimates of annual national fuel consumption and emissions inventories have accuracy and precision comparable to current higher-fidelity inventory evaluation tools. Comparative per-flight and inventory metrics were obtained from: (1) the NASA/Boeing 1991 inventory developed for the IPCC Special Report on Aviation and the Atmosphere, and (2) inventories estimated for 2000-2002 using the System for Assessing Global Emissions, the tool currently employed to provide inputs for APMT. Comparisons of MAIPA and benchmark fuel consumption inventories show the following results:

model	MAIPA 91	NASA 91	MAIPA 00q3	SAGE Oct 00
error	+4%	-18%	-1.4% +/- 0.1%	-4.4% +/- 0.9%
basis	DOT reports	DOT reports	DOT reports	airline data

Comparisons of estimated EINO_x, EIHC, and EICO with EIs estimated using SAGE and NB in suggest consistency among methods for aircraft with a long history of operation. With the exception of aircraft types introduced towards the end of the MAIPA analysis period, SAGE and NB estimates are within a standard deviation of the equivalent MAIPA result.

Result 3.3. Impact of fidelity controls on analysis scope and resolution

The developmental guidelines discussed in chapter 2 were established in part to maintain consistency among data and procedures. These requirements provide for mutually-consistent emissions and noise inventories. Along with an historical focus, this thesis provides statistically-discernible trends in the

aviation-environmental impacts of US commercial operations. Exercising fidelity controls congruent with the methodological guidelines outlined in chapter 2 presented a challenging restriction on analysis resolution (i.e. time, geography, technology), reducing the informational content of the assessment. The extent of these restrictions evidenced by inventory results further recommended development of reduced-order correlates to the complex environmental models included in mainline assessment tools. As later chapters demonstrate, assessment results contain useful information for decision-making despite these resolution limitations.

Result 3.4. Challenges to future emissions mitigation efforts

Fuel consumption by regional operations is ~12% of total fuel consumption between 1991–2003; this is smaller than the short-haul component (~80%), but is higher than the long-haul component (~8%). While regional aircraft consume less fuel per flight, their operational frequency is higher than in the long-haul fleet, thus the larger fuel consumption. Only a few of the largest regional aircraft are subject to current technology standards.

Over all representative aircraft types, for NO_x , HC, PM_{nv} , and CO, the ratios of the emissions index averaged over the entire flight to the emissions index averaged only over the portion of the flight within the atmospheric boundary layer are generally less than one. With the influence of free tropospheric emissions on air quality noted by Barrett et al. (2009), results indicate that:

- Emissions controls that attend only to the landing-takeoff cycle, as current regulations are setup to accomplish, have lower efficacy by as much as 85% for CO and HC, and 50% for NO_x than assumed in the current framework.
- Correlations among trends in emissions between 1991-2003 suggest that technology standards have been more successful in limiting emissions within the atmospheric boundary layer than overall emissions, which has been their intention. They also reinforce the limited efficacy of EI controls in stemming emissions growth.

The nonvolatile PM emissions index declines at a rate of -1.56% between 1991-2003. These trends are strong enough to offset increases in fuel use. PM_{nv} emissions are nominally controlled by smoke regulations; however, these regulations were not changed between 1991-2003. Instead:

55

• Reductions in EIPM_{nv} stem from the retirement of aircraft through the phaseout of Stage 2 aircraft mandated by ANCA. This also underlies a negative correlation between fuel consumption and HC emissions trends. Noise trends suggest that as the oldest aircraft are retired, additional reductions in both noise as well as PM_{nv} and HC emissions may be realized.

Result 3.5. Resolving structural issues in evaluation of risk-based assessment metrics versus refinement of traditional quantity-based metrics

The current assessment analysis suggests damage estimates are influenced more by the structural uncertainties in assessment modeling than the errors in existing source characterization capabilities. For example, in source characterization, the importance of establishing a capability that allows particulate matter to be included in an assessment analysis has more influence on damage estimates than reducing errors in inventory estimates.

Section 3.2 provides a brief overview of the derivation and application of fuel consumption, emissions, and noise metrics in MAIPA. This section is supported with an extensive methodological discussion contained in appendices A1-A9. Section 3.3 reports the evaluation of error, uncertainty, and inter-model consistency of fuel consumption and emissions metrics. The discussion in this section focuses on method evaluation. Section 3.4 reports the an analysis of correlations among trends in fuel consumption, emissions, and noise metrics, highlighting insights made available by enabling comparative analyses

3.1. Evaluation of pollutant metrics

Aircraft technology in-service between 1991-2003 is described by aggregating aircraft models into 19 representative aircraft types. A set of probability functions for 11 estimators characterizes the environmental performance of a representative aircraft type.

(3.1) environmental performance =
$$f(t_x, \dot{q}_f, EI_i \dots I = 8, q_n)$$

In equation 3.1, \dot{q}_f is the fuel consumption rate, t_x is the time-in-mode, and EI_i is the emissions index of species *i*, and q_n is a metric of per-flight noise production. These estimators derive from operations, emissions, noise, and fuel consumption data extended to cover all flight conditions of a nominal flight discretized with a 9-segment performance schedule using physics-based models. This section provides a

brief overview of the derivation and application of these metrics in MAIPA. Much of the detail is contained in appendices as referenced in the discussion.

3.1.1. National operations data

For MAIPA, two parameters obtained from airline-reported operations data—revenue aircraft-kilometers flown and revenue aircraft departures performed—describe the input historical US air transport activity.¹ These data are collected by the US Department of Transportation (DOT) under Parts 241 and 298 of Title 14 (Aeronautics and Space) of the US Code of Federal Regulations (14 CFR 241 and 14 CFR 298), commonly known as Form 41 (F41) and Form 298C (F98) data respectively. Data availability limited the analysis period to 1991-2003.

The unit of activity for inventory calculations is a nominal aircraft flight; the unit of technology for inventory calculations is a representative aircraft type. A representative aircraft type consists of the aggregated technological and operational characteristics of several specific aircraft models to summarize the performance of a portion of the historical aircraft fleet. Nineteen (19) representative aircraft types form the constituent technological components of the fuel, emissions, and noise inventories presented later in this section.

Probability functions for flight distance for all representative aircraft types are specified by quarterly F41T2 statistics from 1991-2003. Deriving the flight distance probability function from longitudinal data in this way implicitly assumes that market applications of an aircraft type are temporally consistent (e.g. the distribution as applied does not change over the period of the analysis).

See Appendix A3 for additional discussion:

• Appendix A3 (Low complexity models of environmental performance) looks at the application of low complexity parametric models of flight performance in the context of assessment practice. A performance model based on the Breguet equation highlights the importance of flight distance specification to model error.

¹ Air transport activity is a service supplying mobility. In the market, mobility supply decisions are based on forecasts of future demand for air transportation and are ultimately communicated as service schedules (e.g. Official Airline Guide) and equipment choice for city-pair markets. Since these decisions determine departures and kilometers-traveled, they are the primary economic input.

3.1.2. Representative aircraft types

Flight distance is the largest parametric influence on error and variance in estimates for per-flight fuel consumption and emissions; similar market application among representative aircraft types tends to minimize this influence; section 3.4 shows how flight distance factors into inventory error. Representative aircraft types were selected using similarity in nominal flight distance calculated from F41 data.

Like the distribution for flight distance, representative aircraft type performance specifications are also static. These performance specifications determine operations over a canonical flight profile scaled to fit a given flight distance (cf. next section 3.3). Analysis of errors and variance contributions in fuel consumption results suggests that a more-narrowly defined representative aircraft type tends to improve the accuracy of inventory estimates. To minimize spread in technology performance for a given representative aircraft type, further divisions within the candidate aircraft model groupings (initially made based on flight distance) were made to increase resolution of technology performance within the constraints of model fidelity (i.e. the scope and resolution of inputs and computation). Table 3.1 summarizes the set of 19 representative aircraft type aggregates identified using this process.

Table 3.1. Representative aircraft type assignments for DOT aircraft model identifiers

- Assignments categorized into long-haul, short-haul, and regional fleet segments.
- Aircraft models are listed by their DOT Form 41 identifiers.
- Gray-shaded entries indicate out-of-production models.

Long >2400 km F41 codes	Equiv REPACT	Short 720-2400 km F41 codes	Equiv REPACT	Regional <720 km F41 codes	Equiv REPACT
816 B747-100	b747o	715 B727-200/231a	b727	608 E145	e145
817 B747-200/300	b747o	710 B727-100	b727		
822 B747sp	b747o	711 B727-100c/Qc	b727	629 CRJ-200ER	tfan
				603 F100	tfan
819 B747-400	b747	619 B737-300	b737	674 E135	tfan
820 B747f	b747	616 B737-500	b737	868 BAE146-100	tfan
		617 B737-400	b737	628 CRJ-100/100ER	tfan
626 B767-300/300er	b767	618 B737-300lr	b737	835 AvroRJ85	tfan
625 B767-200/200er	b767			602 F28-4000/6000	tfan
624 B767-400	b767	655 MD80	md80	867 BAE146-200	tfan
		654 MD87	md80	601 F28-1000	tfan
730 DC10-10	dc10			866 BAE146-300	tfan
732 DC10-30	dc10	622 B757-200	b757		
733 DC10-40	dc10	623 B757-300	b757	456 SF340/B	tprp
				461 E120	tprp
760 L1011-1/100/200	11011	640 DC9-30	dc9	441 ATR-42	tprp
765 L1011-500	11011	650 DC9-50	dc9	416 C208	tprp
		630 DC9-10	dc9	483 DHC8-100	tprp
740 MD11	md11	645 DC9-40	dc9	442 ATR-72	tprp
				469 BA Jetstream31	tprp
627 B777	b777	620 B737-100/200	b737o	445 CV-660	tprp
		621 B737-200c	b737o	405 Beech 1900A/B/C	tprp
				467 Swearingen Metro III	tprp
		694 A320-100/200	a320	471 BA Jetstream 41	tprp
		698 A319	a320	449 Dornier 328	tprp
		699 A321	a320	489 S360	tprp
				484 DHC8-300	tprp
		614 B737-800	b737n	408 BAE-ATP	tprp
		615 B737-700/700lr	b737n	450 F27/A/B/F/J	tprp
Young and the second		634 B737-900	b737n	550 L188A/C	tprp
				430 CV-580	tprp
		675 B717-200	b717	435 CV-600	tprp

3.1.3. Airport-specific operational data

MAIPA was designed for a national scale. To represent geographic variability in the assessment analysis of local and regional effects, airport-specific operational and demographic data are aggregated as probability functions.² To do this, DOT operations were first attributed to major airports using data assembled for use in the FAA Model for Assessing Global Exposure to the Noise of Transport Aircraft or MAGENTA (CAEP 2001b, 2001a).³

The MAGENTA database contains operational frequencies categorized by aircraft model and noise exposure metrics for 96 airports in the US (out of 1724 civil airports worldwide); these airports were selected based on availability of detailed operational and route data. To construct distributions for demographic and environmental metrics, MAGENTA aircraft models were first matched to representative aircraft types using the list of assignments in appendix table A4.7. These assignments apportion operations reported via F41T2 and F98A1 to the 96 MAGENTA airports.

MAGENTA airports are anonymous by government agreement, designated by index; county-specific demographic and environmental data could not be explicitly associated with a MAGENTA airports. A likelihood indicator — the root mean square of population density and number of operations — was used to attach an index to an airport name, and thus county demographics and environmental data. Likely matches were identified by comparing indicator values calculated using MAGENTA operations and population density data with indicator values calculated using equivalent data for airport-counties obtained from the US Census (population density) and the FAA Terminal Area Forecast (operations). County environmental and demographic data for the top three matches to a MAGENTA airport were averaged to specify the distributions of housing statistics (house price, number of units), ambient air quality statistics, population, and non-aviation emissions inventories that are input to the air quality and noise models presented later in chapters 5 and 6.

² While not a topic in this thesis, variance and mean-shift associated with this uncertainty are tied to the necessity for policy regionalization in efforts to improve economic efficiency.

³At the time of this analysis, a unified source of airport-specific operations data does not exist for the US that differentiates by aircraft. These data are necessary for the consistent evaluation of local effects, both air quality and noise-related. Total historical airport operations since 1976 are available from issues of the FAA Terminal Area Forecast (TAF), but not at the aircraft type resolution. Since then, a database has been constructed that expands the MAGENTA data and ties it to ETMS.

See Appendix A4 for additional discussion:

 Appendix A4 (Historical operations data and representative aircraft types) describes the activity data available through DOT Form 41 and Form 298C and its use as a source characterization input to the MAIPA. It also details the approach to aggregating certificated aircraft types into representative aircraft type groupings to characterize fleet technology operating in the historical aircraft fleet.

3.1.4. Emissions metrics

MAIPA pollutant inputs consist of emissions inventories estimated for eight (8) species: carbon dioxide (CO₂), water vapor (H₂O), sulfur oxides (SO_x as SO₂); nitrogen oxides (NO_x as NO₂); hydrocarbons (HC as VOC); carbon monoxide (CO); and 2 categories of particulate matter (PM), volatile particulate matter (PM_v) composed of precipitate or volatile mass formed through oxidation of SO_x, NO_x, and VOCs, and nonvolatile particulate matter (PM_{nv}) composed of carbonaceous mass (i.e. soot).⁴ These inventories are estimated using methods consistent with current practice and guidance from the US EPA and FAA (EPA 1985, 1992) (FAA 1997, 1998; EPA 2001a, 2003c),⁵ and the European Union (EC-ECAC 1998; IPCC 1999; Carlier and Smith 2004; Jalinek et al. 2004).

Emissions inventories (Q_i) are the sum over all representative aircraft types (J=19) of MAIPA per-flight emissions estimates for species i multiplied by DOT-reported number of operations (n_{ops}^{j}) (equation 3.2). Historical inventories are computed for each quarter from 1991-2003.

$$(3.2) Q_i = \sum_J n_{ops}^j q_i^j$$

Probability distributions for representative aircraft type per-flight emissions (q_i) are estimated using a 9segment performance schedule as the discrete sum of products in equation 3.3. Each segment (x) is

⁴ The step of transforming emitted hydrocarbons to an equivalent amount of VOCs establishes consistency with current inventory metrics used for other industries. Organic chemicals emitted into the atmosphere are typically described as VOCs (or 'hydrocarbons', (c.f. Code of Federal Regulations, Title 40 part 5/Section 100 for complete definition). HC emissions as measured do not compositionally correspond exactly to the volatile organic compound (VOC) definition used for air quality assessments. EPA (1992) suggests a conversion from HC to VOC for commercial aircraft by multiplying HC by a factor of 1.0947.

⁵ MAIPA inventory evaluations are consistent with the methods incorporated within the FAA Emissions Dispersion Modeling System (EDMS), a legacy estimation tool for emissions inventories within the atmospheric boundary layer that has been incorporated into SAGE. EDMS remains the inventory evaluation model required by EPA regulations for inventory development toward reporting and air quality compliance demonstrations.

specified using a set of probability functions for 10 estimators $\{t_x, \dot{q}_f, EI_i \dots I = 8\}$ where \dot{q}_f is the fuel consumption rate, t_x is the time-in-mode, and EI_i is the emissions index of species *i*.

(3.3)
$$\int_0^{t_{fl}} \dot{q}_i(t) dt = \int_0^{t_{fl}} \dot{q}_f \cdot \operatorname{EI}_i(t) dt = \sum_X \dot{q}_{f_x} \cdot \operatorname{EI}_i^x \cdot t_x$$

3.1.5. Fuel consumption metrics

Parsing equation 3.3, the discrete summation of the products $\dot{q}_f \cdot t_x$ gives an estimate of per-flight fuel consumption specific to each representative aircraft type (equation 3.4).

(3.4)
$$q_f = \int_{t=0}^{t_{fu}} \dot{q}_f(t) \ dt \approx \sum_X \dot{q}_{f_x} \cdot t_x$$

The fuel consumption inventory (Q_f) is the sum over all representative aircraft types (J=19) of per-flight fuel consumption multiplied by the DOT-reported number of operations (n_{ops}^{j}) (equation 3.5).

$$(3.5) Q_f = \sum_{i} n_{ops}^j q_f$$

3.1.6. Flight performance

A set of operational rules was developed to provide a common specification of flight procedures and operational conventions for all representative aircraft types. Flight traffic and safety regulations specify one set of rules which restrict aircraft performance; within these restrictions an optimization objective determines the schedule aircraft inputs for the desired operational point. This flight management problem underlies the standard flight performance models applied in MAIPA to specify times-in-mode. Additional measurement data obtained at engine certification specify fuel consumption rates as a function of the engine thrust. Together, time-in-mode and fuel consumption rate provide the parametric description of flight performance.

The Society of Automotive Engineers (SAE) Aerospace Information Report 1845 (AIR, see SAE 1986) specifies flight performance during departure takeoff and climb, and approach descent and landing, from ground to an intermediate altitude where operational rules become less restrictive. MAIPA employs the

SAE-1845 flight parameterizations specific to individual aircraft models developed for use with the FAA Integrated Noise Model (INM, see Bishop and Mills 1992; FAA 1999). En route profile and performance follow Eurocontrol Base of Aircraft Data (BADA) performance schedules (cf. Eurocontrol 2003).

Estimators of times-in-mode inherit the performance variability among the aircraft models within a representative aircraft type, parametric uncertainties associated with input parameters, and operational variances in specifications based on aircraft condition (e.g. weight) and pilot discretion. The most important of these inputs is the flight distance distribution; differences in flight distance and, to a lesser extent, cruise altitude largely determine representative aircraft type TIM estimates. Section 3.6 examines these influences quantitatively.

See appendices A5 and A6 for additional discussion:

- Appendix A5 (Flight performance model) elaborates the methods used to specify representative aircraft type flight performance, including the parametric implementation of activity data, standard flight procedures, and aircraft performance models to define representative aircraft type flight operations and times-in-modes estimators.
- Appendix A6 (Estimation of fuel consumption rate) details the application of engine measurement data to estimate fuel consumption rates based on representative aircraft type performance parameters.

3.1.7. Gaseous emissions indices

For species emitted in a simple ratio to fuel flow — carbon dioxide (CO₂), water vapor (H₂O), and sulfur oxides (SO_x) — EIs were specified using fuel composition standards with corrections for engine performance, accounting for uncertainties in fuel specifications. EICO₂ and EIH₂O derive from typical fuel hydrogen/carbon (H/C) ratios with adjustments for combustion inefficiencies. Estimates of total sulfur emissions, EISO_x as SO₂, are determined from typical fuel sulfur levels.

For the regulated gaseous emissions—nitrogen oxides (NO_x), unburned hydrocarbons (HC), and carbon monoxide (CO)—EIs are estimated from public certification data reported as a function of engine ground power setting. Engine models are assigned to representative aircraft types based on certification data. Boeing Method 2 (BM2), introduced in appendix 7, corrects these data to altitude conditions. Emissions data are specific to an engine model randomly selected for each simulation iteration. The estimation of

Els accounts for certification measurement uncertainty and uncertainties in interpolating and extrapolating data to flight conditions different from the original emissions measurements.

See Appendix A7 for additional discussion:

• Appendix A7 (Estimation of gaseous emissions indices) reviews the MAIPA specification of gaseous emissions indices (EI) as a function of flight performance.

3.1.8. Particulate matter emissions indices

The results of this thesis indicate significant environmental damages from aircraft particulate matter due to air quality effects and resultant mortality risks. As reported in chapter 5, MAIPA estimates show secondary PM sourced to aircraft exhaust emissions is the largest component of annual damages.

To credibly estimate emissions impacts, it was crucial to address the absence data or methods to construct PM inventories in mass units, the basis for epidemiological correlations with disease and mortality incidence as well as climate model estimates of radiative forcing. To fill this gap, a comprehensive, probabilistic treatment of the initial quantities and subsequent atmospheric evolution of PM emissions was built to enable mass-based inventory estimates, the first particulate emissions inventories relevant to commercial aircraft.

Four types of particulate matter result from aircraft emissions—nonvolatile carbonaceous, and volatile particulate matter components, sulfate, nitrates, and organics. Non-volatile particulate matter (PM_{nv}) and sulfate volatile particulate matter (PM_v) are detectable within the exhaust plume near the engine exit.⁶ Aircraft PM_{nv} is established over millisecond time-scales within the combustor (Dakhel et al. 2007), while sulfates are formed in the near-field plume (< 1s downstream of the engine exit). These are referred to as primary PM in this thesis (cf. Lukachko *et al.* 2008).

Secondary PM refers to the sum of volatile PM produced in the atmospheric oxidation of gaseous NO_x to nitrate and related ammonium salts, continuing oxidation of SO_x to sulfate and related ammonium salts, and oxidation of HC to volatile organics. Current sampling programs are now examining volatile organic particulates in the exhaust plume. Measurements indicating their presence were reported several years ago (Yu et al. 1999, Schumann et al. 2002). Recent ground measurements confirm that condensible organics

⁶ PM_v composed solely of black carbon soot and volatile organics estimated using methane (CH4) as the EI mass basis

are present in aircraft engine exhaust and that a portion of PM_v is attributable to organics (Wey et al. 2006; Knighton et al. 2007; Lobo et al. 2007; Yelvington et al. 2007). Given the emerging nature of measurements that resolve organic speciation in the gaseous and condensed phases, empirical data does not currently provide a basis to define a parametric specification for organic PM_v emissions.

See Appendix A8 for additional discussion:

• Appendix A8 (Estimation of particulate matter emissions indices) describes the algorithmic development and assessment of representative aircraft type EI estimators for nonvolatile and volatile particulate matter.

3.1.9. Noise metrics

It is impractical to propose a simplified representation of noise generation and subsequent transmission through the atmosphere for MAIPA; this would require attention to flight-scale operational characteristics and a focus on individual airport circumstances, a resolution incompatible with the fidelity of the underlying temporal and geographic data. Consistency with the use of DNL in regulatory procedure and economic analyses recommends the use of A-weighted event metrics; MAIPA uses the sound exposure level (SEL) in dBA units to define representative aircraft type contributions to DNL exposure.⁷

Per-flight noise characteristics are based on INM version 6.0c noise-power-distance (NPD) curves. NPD curves present SEL for an overflight at prescribed minimum slant distances.⁸ To specify a per-flight noise metric, two values for SEL are selected from the INM NPD specification, one using the power setting closest to the time-weighted thrust over the LTO departure take-off and climb segments, and the other similarly chosen for the LTO approach segment.

Distance is set to an altitude of ~315 m, for which departure and approach values are closest to take-off and approach certification data (cf. FAA Advisory Circulars AC 36-1H and AC 36-3H). These values are

⁷ The FAA Integrated Noise Model (INM) is the mandated regulatory method for determining DNL levels near airports (FAA Order 1050.1D, Policies and Procedures for Considering Environmental Impacts; Order 5050.4A, Airport Environmental Handbook; and Federal Aviation Regulations (FAR) Part 150, Airport Noise Compatibility Planning.) The FAA INM estimates annual average noise levels based on an nominal day using the procedures outlined in SAE AIR 1845, consistent with the MAIPA estimation of fuel and emissions production over the LTO-cycle (cf. appendix 1). Two additional guidance documents also underly the INM, SAE AIR 1751 and SAE Aerospace Recommended Practice 866A, which present methods for calculating lateral noise attenuation and handling atmospheric absorption as a function of temperature and humidity.

⁸ No lateral attenuation corrections or duration adjustments (assume overflight directly overhead is useful basis for comparison), and no speed adjustment (certification in contrast has these adjustments for the certification profile). INM NPD curves use the atmospheric absorption coefficients in SAE AIR 1845. NPD reference speed is 160 knots

logarithmically-averaged as an estimator for the mean per-flight noise level, on average 10% higher than certified take-off noise with a range [0, 23]%. Based on certification requirements, per-flight noise levels are specified with a lognormal distribution with a geometric standard deviation of 1.5 dBA around the mean per-flight noise level estimator.⁹

Noise inventories Qn are built using the logarithmic or energy summation over all representative aircraft types of per-flight noise in SEL dBA (q_n^j) weighted by the DOT-reported number of operations (n_{ops}^j) in equation 3.6.

(3.6)
$$\hat{Q}_n = 10 \cdot \log_{10} \left[\sum_J n_{ops}^j \cdot 10^{\left(\hat{q}_n^j / 10 \right)} \right]$$

Chapter 6 develops the relationship between DNL exposure and SEL-based airport-specific noise inventories using the MAGENTA operations data described in earlier in this section; this means that we treat geographic variability as an uncertain parameter in the context of estimating noise impact. The contribution of an individual operation is estimated for each representative aircraft type relative to this baseline; at the margin, this is assumed to be proportional to a change in DNL.

No surrogate will perform this function perfectly; DNL contours are multi-dimensional and published aircraft noise data typically reference a single point (thus the single reference distance for per-flight noise), and the flight profile and atmospheric conditions strongly influence noise levels. Noise signatures LA(t) establish DNL noise contours as a summation over several flights; the airport-specific noise inventory developed in this thesis implicitly includes this summation, but not its geographic footprint. Chapter 4 discusses the joint probability functions used to correlate noise exposure areas for the 55-65 DNL and 65+ DNL noise contours to the airport noise inventories used in this thesis (as evaluated in equation 3.6).

⁹ SAE AIR 1845 indicates that if measurements are the source of SEL levels, they should capture at least LAmax - LA(t) ≤ 10 dBA, where LAmax [define L here] is the maximum sound level over the duration of the noise event LA(t), to yield exposure levels that will be biased by < 0.5 dB. However, not all NPD data is based on measurements and noise values may be derived using analytical correction procedures as specified in SAE AIR 1845. For operations in a study at Seattle-Tacoma International Airport, Flathers (1982 FAA-EE-82-19 Nov 1982) finds the overall mean difference between measured and calculated SEL is < 3 dBA when actual engine power settings are available.

See Appendix A9 for additional discussion:

 Appendix A9 (Noise characterization) contains the algorithmic development and analysis of peroperation noise estimates and inventories, preceded by a consideration of noise metric selection in the context of MAIPA objectives.

3.2. Capability evaluations

This section reports the evaluation of error, uncertainty, and inter-model consistency for fuel and emissions metrics. The evaluations are based on Monte Carlo simulations of 1000 samples obtained for each representative aircraft type for per-flight gaseous emissions $\hat{q}_i = f(\hat{q}_i, \widehat{EI}_i)$. Simulation convergence is assessed using median RPK-weighted standard errors $\underline{SE}|_{N_{ops}}^{N_{ops}}$.

$$\left. \underline{\widetilde{SE}} \right|^{\mathsf{RPK}} \left\{ \hat{q}_{\mathsf{CO}_2} \land \hat{q}_{\mathsf{H}_2\mathsf{O}} \right\} = 0.026 \ (95\% \ \mathsf{CI})$$

$$\underline{\widetilde{SE}}\Big|^{\mathsf{RPK}} \left\{ \hat{q}_{\mathrm{SO}_{x}}, \hat{q}_{\mathrm{NO}_{x}}, \hat{q}_{\mathrm{CO}}, \hat{q}_{\mathrm{VOC}} \right\} = [0.028, 0.031, 0.034, 0.024] \ (95\% \ \mathrm{CI})$$

$$\underline{\widetilde{SE}}\Big|^{\text{RPK}} \left[\hat{q}_{\text{PM}_{\text{nv}}}, \hat{q}_{\text{PM}_{\text{v}}} \right] = [0.029, 0.026]$$

3.2.1. Estimation error in per-flight fuel consumption

The accuracy and precision of fuel consumption rates and inventories were assessed against two sets of fuel consumption estimates, the first reported fuel consumption from F41T2 data, and the second from higher fidelity models. To summarize these results, the average of quarter-by-quarter errors is calculated for each representative aircraft type for the historical period 1991-2003. For the set of 19 representative aircraft types, these mean errors fall in the range $\varepsilon \langle \hat{q}_f \rangle = [-0.27 + 0.19]$.

Figure 3.1 plots representative aircraft type per flight fuel consumption results using a format that emphasizes the magnitudes of uncertainty, relative to error, that result from probabilistic parameters as well as variability in the performance parameters describing representative aircraft types. The notes and legend attached to figure 3.1 describe the plot in more detail. Using this normalization, estimation errors for the 19 representative aircraft types are read directly on the x-axis as the difference compared to the per-flight fuel consumption calculated directly using F41T2 reported data; specifically, the error is equal

to the x-axis value at the vertical black line. The numerical value above the mean line is the absolute value of the estimated per-flight fuel consumption in kilotons; the value to the right is the mean plus 1 standard deviation. The coefficient of variation is different for each representative aircraft type, thus the different widths for each bounding box. Uncertainties indicated by the coefficient of variation range from [0.22 0.61]. Table 3.2 provides detailed statistics.

Figure 3.1. Estimated per-flight fuel consumption for representative aircraft types with comparisons to F41T2 reported data and results from higher-fidelity models

• Per-flight fuel consumption calculated using F41T2 reported data:

Results in figure 3.1 are plotted using a normalized x-coordinate that marks distance in fractions of the mean of all quarterly for per-flight fuel consumption calculated using F41T2 data. Thus, x=0 is mapped to this mean and is denoted by a black dot. The horizontal line spanning from black dot shows the range of the set of all F41T2 values from 1991-2003. These ranges extend asymmetrically from x=0 since they are relative to the mean, not median, value of the set.

- MAIPA estimated per-flight fuel consumption results: The one standard deviation range of the estimated per-flight fuel consumption for a representative aircraft type is plotted as an horizontal box with a black border; within the box, the mean per-flight fuel consumption is plotted with a vertical black line and the median qf with a vertical orange line.
- Absolute values of MAIPA per-flight fuel consumption results: The numerical values above the mean line are the absolute value of the per-flight fuel consumption in metric kilotons (kt). The value to the right at the end of the box is the mean plus standard deviation per-flight fuel consumption.
- Per-flight fuel consumption estimates from benchmark higher-fidelity inventory models: The colored marks plotted in figure 3.1 are the per-flight fuel consumption estimates calculated using the SAGE and NASA-Boeing inventory models. Section 3.5 discusses comparisons with these data in the context of overall inventory errors.



Percent difference from F41 mean

representative	per-flight	error	
aircraft type	mean (t)	CV	F41T2
b727	8.1	0.23	-11
b737	3.5	0.29	13
dc9md80	5.5	0.22	8.4
b757	8.7	0.21	4.8
b767	20	0.22	6.2
dc10	28	0.46	9.1
b747o	52	0.31	19
dc9	4.2	0.26	-17
b747	92	0.33	-15
b737o	3.3	0.29	6.3
a320	6.3	0.22	2.7
11011	29	0.43	-4.5
md11	52	0.24	-15
b777	40	0.25	5.5
b737n	7.0	0.40	-11
b717	2.6	0.26	8.4
e145	1.5	0.23	2.2
tfan	1.9	0.50	12
tprp	0.53	0.51	-27

Table 3.2. Estimated per-flight fuel consumption for representative aircraft types

3.2.2. Estimation error in fuel consumption inventories

The importance of errors in per-flight fuel consumption estimates is ultimately judged in the context of their propagated influence on downstream metrics. To estimate errors in the MAIPA fuel consumption inventory, an truncated inventory for the years 1991 through 2003 was constructed using only F41T2 operations and accounting for operations covered only by the 19 representative aircraft type. The operations-weighted average of representative aircraft type errors are propagated to provide an estimate of inventory error.

The unweighted average of quarterly errors over the historical period 1991-2003 summarizes the quality of the fuel consumption estimate. The 19 representative aircraft types (plus generic specification for operations not categorized) reconstruct historical fuel consumption with the mean errors $\underline{\varepsilon} \langle \hat{Q}_f \rangle = -1.6\% \pm 0.12\%$. Quarterly errors are plotted in figure 3.2. The interquartile range of the fuel consumption

inventory error is $R - \varepsilon \langle \hat{Q}_f \rangle = [-9.8 + 12]\%$ from 1991-2003q3. For 2003q4, the error increases to $\varepsilon \langle \hat{Q}_f \rangle = +24\%$ for 2003q4.¹⁰



Figure 3.2. Estimated fuel consumption inventory errors

Representative aircraft type performance models are most accurate for a limited interval of flight distance due to the normative nature of the underlying performance description. A strong correlation between error and flight distance (> 0.8) is exhibited for most representative aircraft types, suggesting that over the historical period considered, errors are associated with variation in market application of aircraft types relative to the performance specification of the MAIPA model.

3.2.3. Difficulties with interpretation of F41T2 data between 2002q1 and 2003q4

Between 2002q1 and 2003q4, the F41T2 reported fuel consumption data for several representative aircraft types are inconsistent with fuel efficiencies and load factors calculated using other F41T2 operations data. These inconsistencies affect the estimated inventory errors presented in the previous section, tending to place an upward bias on the error in estimated fuel consumption metrics.

The anomalies appear in data for representative aircraft types that exhibit lower correlation between error and flight distance—the b727, dc10, b747o, and regional types. For these types, data quality issues are observed in the F41T2 data; in particular per-flight fuel consumption is anomalous when utilization is low

 $^{^{10}}$ Aggregating representative aircraft types into the national inventory shows a reduction in the range of error compared with the per-flight fuel consumption errors presented previously; errors are less than 5% against the cumulative fuel consumption from 1991-2003 with an operations weighted average between [0.34, 0.46] over the 52 analysis quarters (convergence errors are O(10) smaller). The tendency towards centrality is characteristic of large, well-defined systems.

(upward bias on fuel economy) and when a representative aircraft type is used largely for freighter purposes (downward bias on fuel economy). These anomalies increase the absolute value of the estimated error in per-flight fuel consumption for the types affected. Thus, the fuel consumption inventory error also increases. Footnote 11 presents further elaboration. The cause of these data discrepancies remains unresolved. They are also a primary uncertainty in apportionments to freighter service estimated using public DOT data; it is for this reason that fuel consumption and emissions metrics for freighter service are not isolated in this thesis. Passenger and freighter services are combined to estimate fuel consumption and emission metrics for representative aircraft types.

3.2.4. Estimation of parametric sensitivities in fuel consumption metrics

Estimating per-flight fuel consumption through MAIPA introduces parameters at several points in the process of deriving fuel consumption rates and time-in-modes. Appendix A1 provides a more detailed discussion of the linear method used here to estimate variance and mean-shift contributions.

In order to better elucidate these inherited dependencies and assign contributions to uncertainties

introduced at successive steps in the calculation of per-flight fuel consumption, a similarly staged

approach was exercised to determine parametric sensitivities. In this application, three linear models are

A closer look at the aircraft types that do not have a strong $\hat{\varepsilon}_{q_f}$ - d_{sl} correlation revealed two additional sources of error. Illustration (b) shows a systematic deviation over time away from baseline values for the b727. Several other types disappearing from the fleet, the b7470 and dc10, also exhibit this trend. Note the decline in the average number of seats and passengers per aircraft. This suggests an emerging predominance of freighter usage for the type. This is not a problem in itself, but the trend is inexplicably linked with a large, systematic increase in fuel efficiency. Changes in dSL do not appear to explain this trend. The result is akin to the effect of a large dSL range over the historical period, where there is a resulting large range in reported EU.

The MAIPA model, since it is limited in the extent to which it can react to changing historical usage, has problems in representing this operational space due to its normative performance description (which is oriented towards passenger service). There is currently a limited provision to simulate freight service within the confines of using F41 and F98; the division of passenger and freight utilization must be inferred from the base input data based on declines in N_{seat} and N_{psgr} . For the b727, consistency in load factor for the historical period indicates that freight utilization occurs primarily using separate flights rather than a mixed freight/passenger mode. In sum, increasing freight utilization biases $\hat{\varepsilon}_{q_f}$ increasingly upward for later quarters in the historical period where the deviation is greatest.

Erratic reporting also impacts variance. Newer type introductions also show this aspect, including the *b737n*, and *e145*. A link can be speculated to recent introductions and relatively small fleet numbers during the historical period, but more specifically, the example of the *l1011* suggests that reporting anomalies might be associated with low overall utilization. For the regional types, reporting methods suggest two additional contributions to variance. Illustration (c) shows the impact for the *tfan* type. First, air carriers operating these aircraft may or may not be required to report on F41. Second, the frequent entry and exit of regional carriers adds variance, particularly for the *tfan* and *tprp* representative aircraft types for which characteristics result from the agglomeration of many aircraft models. The e145 and *b717* fuel use estimates could suffer from any of the above sources of erratic parameter behavior.

¹¹ Additional notes on inconsistencies in reported operations data: Examples of problems with the reported data are shown in figure E3.1. Illustration (a) plots 110ll data showing apparent underreporting of fuels issued in 2003q4; t this type of error causes fuel efficiency (EU) to improve precipitously for the dc10, dc9, a320, and 1101; summing their contributions to $\hat{\varepsilon}_{q_f}$ suggests that approximately 40% of error in the last quarter of 2003 is spurious.
estimated as shown in equation 3.3, each using a parameter set successively closer to the final output values (and each matched to a point of input in the estimation process), to estimate contributions to variance and mean-shift coefficients ($\delta_y = \beta_{x_i} \cdot \mu_{x_i} / \mu_y$ mean-shift coefficients are essentially linear sensitivities.).

$$\hat{q}_{f} = \beta_{\hat{d}_{SL}} \hat{d}_{SL} + \beta_{\hat{h}_{alt}} \hat{h}_{alt} + \beta_{\hat{h}_{trht}} \hat{h}_{trht} + \beta_{\hat{h}_{grnd}} \hat{h}_{grnd} + \beta_{\hat{f}_{amb}} \hat{T}_{amb} + \beta_{\hat{p}_{amb}} \hat{P}_{amb} + q_{fo}$$

$$\hat{q}_{f} = \beta_{W_{ap}} W_{ap} + \beta_{W_{to}} W_{to} + \beta_{F_{ap}} F_{ap} + \beta_{F_{cl}} F_{cl} + \beta_{F_{to}} F_{to} + q_{fo}$$

$$\hat{q}_{f} = \sum_{N_{seg}=1}^{9} \beta_{\hat{m}_{f}} \hat{m}_{f}^{n} + \sum_{n=1}^{N_{seg}=9(s+5)} \beta_{i_{n}} f_{n} + \beta_{S_{cru}} S_{cru} + q_{fo}$$

The results of each regression are assumed to explain variance as measured by the coefficient of determination as it increases with uncertainties introduced at each calculation step matched by an equivalent regression model. For example, using the first model, the coefficient of determination may equal 0.21, the second may equal 0.43, and the third 0.89; the portion of the variance attributed to the parameters whose uncertainties are introduced at step 1 of the calculation would equal 0.21, at step 2 0.43-0.21=0.22, and at step 3 0.89-0.43=0.46. The remainder (0.11) is unexplained by the analysis.

3.2.5. Contributions to per-flight fuel consumption variance for representative aircraft types

The uncertainty analysis highlights the effect of input data fidelity, specifically in restricting the achievable resolution of technological performance (e.g. number of aircraft models aggregated in a representative aircraft type) in representing the aircraft fleet. These restrictions affect both accuracy and precision in \hat{q}_f and are expressed primarily through the performance models used for non-LTO segments of the nominal representative aircraft type flight.

To make clear the structural sources of variance, figure 3.3 shows the results of the linear variance analysis, plotting for each representative aircraft type the fraction of variance accounted by parameters grouped under headings that relate to particular modeling elements of the MAIPA.

Figure 3.3. Parametric contributions to variance in estimated per-flight fuel consumption

Effects broken down by aircraft performance model (BADA, SAE 1845, and Bishop weight selection), standard atmosphere parameters (STDATM), ground time data (ASQP), flight distance and weight data (F41/FAA), fuel consumption data (ICAO), and airport location data (FAA and GIS).



Effects are broken down by aircraft performance model (BADA, SAE 1845, and Bishop weight selection), standard atmosphere parameters (STDATM), ground time data (ASQP), flight distance and weight data (F41/FAA), fuel consumption data (ICAO), and airport location data (FAA and GIS). Only significant variables are included and note the linear models are not comprehensive. The coefficient of determination (i.e. height of the bars) is less than one in to the absence of higher-order terms in the estimation models. A primary component of this unaccounted variance is in apportionment of operations among component aircraft models for each representative aircraft type. This can result in a modal perflight fuel consumption distribution when there are aircraft models with sufficiently different performance characteristics.

The *tfan* and *tprp* types manifest this most significantly and thus the low \mathbb{R}^2 ; two factors account for this: (1) these representative aircraft types aggregate a large number of types that cover a wide range of operational characteristics and (2) each component model occupies a small portion of the operational service in any one year. Other representative aircraft types are also influenced by these factors, specifically the *b747*, *b737n*, *l1011*, *dc10* types. This is a resolvable uncertainty, but only if enough information were available to characterize the more narrowly defined types. See appendix 2 for further discussion of representative aircraft type construction methods.

Of the portion of explained variance, figure 3.3 shows that the largest structural contributor to variance in per-flight fuel consumption is the specification of non-LTO flight performance. More specifically, these uncertainties are located in a few parameters; in order of importance these are: (1) flight distance, (2) ambient temperature, and (3) in the flight performance (i.e. fuel consumption rate and time-in-mode) estimated for climb and cruise segments. For each of these parameters, variance is primarily a product of the performance diversity of component aircraft models for each representative aircraft type: (1) flight distance is related to the range of market usage among models, (2) ambient temperature is an amplification of the differences among component model service altitude specification, and (3) fuel consumption rate inherits variability in the randomized choice among engine types assigned to a given model. Low power idle and taxi segments are increasingly significant as flight distance decreases, specifically pointing to the ASQP database that specifies time-in-mode.

3.2.6. Sensitivities of mean per-flight fuel consumption to input parameters

Sensitivities indicated by mean shift parameters suggest a similar conclusion. As an example representative of all representative aircraft types, we step through the results for the *b757* type. The first model in equation 3.3—regressing 6 parameters of which only flight distance and flight altitude are significant—exhibits the positive influence of distance on fuel use and the negative influence of altitude. Mean shift coefficients are $\delta_{\hat{q}_f}^{d_{st}} = 1.0$ and $\delta_{\hat{q}_f}^{h_{ab}} = -0.26$ respectively, each expected considering the performance equations. The intercept q_{fo} is statistically zero, suggesting this first model is a relevant description of error propagation.

For the second and third models—regressing 5 and 18 parameters respectively— $q_{fo} \neq 0$ statistically, a result of differences in performance across the aircraft models aggregated as representative aircraft types.

75

The second model indicates the importance of take-off thrust (F_{to}) and take-off weight (W_{to})—mean-shift coefficients are $\delta_{\hat{q}_f}^{F_{to}} = 0.43$ and $\delta_{\hat{q}_f}^{W_{to}} = 0.62$ respectively. These parameters determine the normative performance specifications above and below the reference mixing height,

In the third model, cruise speed (S_{cru}) is the most influential parameter on propagated error—mean-shift coefficient $\delta_{\hat{q}_f}^{S_{cru}}$ =-0.95. While $\delta_{\hat{q}_f}^{S_{cru}}$ indicates that increasing cruise speed (S_{cru}) tends to decrease fuel flow, note the cruise speed in MAIPA is really a stand-in for time-in-mode. The remaining significant fuel consumption rate and time-in-mode parameters in the third model are positive in their effect on $\delta_{\hat{q}_f}$ as any increase in these parameters leads to an increase in fuel use.

These sensitivities are essentially structural uncertainties associated with the use of a low complexity approach for MAIPA, imposed in maintaining consistency with the resolution of input data. Representative aircraft types are defined systems and work best as models for the aircraft they represent if input data are consistent. MAIPA uses a parametric specification that works best over the range of flight distance closest to the operating condition expressed in the nominal performance specification. For performance above the mixing height, this is a static specification; thus, in cases that require estimates over a particular city-pair or similarly finer operational resolution, dynamic models would be recommended. However, as the next section discusses, there is no clear indication of improvements from application of higher-fidelity simulation at the level of national inventories.

3.2.7. Consistency of fuel consumption inventories with higher-fidelity models

This is a somewhat loose requirement. MAIPA errors are compared to those reported for inventories estimated by two structurally-different higher-fidelity models: (1) the NASA/Boeing 1991 global inventory (NB) (Baughcum et al. 1996); and (2) the FAA System for Assessing Global Emissions global 2000-2002 inventories (SAGE) (FAA 2003b; Lee 2005).

There are similarities among the MAIPA, NB, SAGE approaches to inventory estimation. But the primary differences with finer resolution of operational activity and higher-fidelity specification of aircraft performance.¹²

- SAGE employs radar data and aircraft performance correlations to estimate inventories by
 aggregating estimated fuel burn and emissions on a flight-by-flight basis.¹³ Computed inventories are
 deterministic and regionally-differentiated; only the US component is used for comparison.¹⁴
- The NB method is also deterministic, employing proprietary performance models to estimate fuel use and emissions based upon an idealized, rule-based flight procedure applied to scheduled flights for a selection of representative aircraft types

Comparisons to available results for the NB and SAGE inventory models are shown in table 3.3. These comparisons indicate that when aggregated to the coarser geographic and temporal resolution of MAIPA, MAIPA inventory evaluations have a fidelity similar to those reported previously for higher-fidelity models.

Table 3.3. Comparisons of estimated fuel consumption inventory with results higher-fidelity inventory models

model	MAIPA 91	NASA 91	MAIPA 00q3	SAGE Oct 00	
error	+4%	-18%	-1.4% +/- 0.1%	-4.4% +/- 0.9%	
basis	DOT reports	DOT reports	DOT reports	airline data	

¹² The technological resolution of the NB approach is similar to MAIPA, differing primarily in the choice of models aggregated into a representative aircraft type, source of activity data (reported versus scheduled), and performance model. Conversely, MAIPA uses the same performance characterizations to the SAGE approach, but the implementation in MAIPA is nominal, parametric, and static as opposed to the dynamic, functional, flight-by-flight implementation for SAGE. Given overlaps in data and modeling, it is important comparisons between MAIPA and these more sophisticated inventory estimates show consistency.

¹³ These radar data measure the actual flight profile, typically above a nominal mixing height. The U.S. Federal Aviation Administration (FAA) Enhanced Traffic Management System (ETMS) records flight position using a flight-identifier, encoded radar position reports, and filed flight plans. Flight data can provide similar information, but is often unavailable due to its proprietary nature.

¹⁴ In figure 3.1, the comparison is made using fuel efficiency (EU as defined in appendix A2.). This was the consistent measure obtainable from all sources plotted.

The first comparison, between NB and MAIPA, is indicated by the gray columns. Daggett et al. (1999) estimates an error of 18% in a NASA-Boeing inventory against the same DOT fuel consumption reports benchmarking MAIPA errors; for 1991, the MAIPA mean inventory error is 4.0%. There is no equivalent direct comparison with the SAGE results. Errors reported by the FAA are for specific comparisons with proprietary data. The last two columns make a comparison to SAGE inventory results with airline data on fuel consumption flights during October 2000. This comparison finds mean error of -4.4% \pm 0.9%; the MAIPA inventory shows an error for the third quarter 2000 of -1.4% \pm 0.1%.¹⁵ These values are consistent, but not definitive reflections of error; the F41 error benchmark is not equivalent to the activity data underlying SAGE results.

3.2.8. Consistency of per-flight fuel consumption metrics with higher-fidelity models

There is relatively more information available through comparisons of per-flight fuel consumption for a more concrete evaluation of consistency. These comparisons are shown in figure 3.1 introduced previously; on figure 3.1, the colored marks indicate the values of comparable estimates of per-flight fuel consumption evaluated using the NB and SAGE higher fidelity performance models. As a point of reference, proprietary, detailed models of airframe-engine parameters developed by manufacturers for a particular aircraft provide estimates of fuel flow to within absolute error bounds of $\pm 2\%$ for any operating point over a given mission, provided that the state of the aircraft is well-known.¹⁶

Except for SAGE results for the b717 and N/B results for the dc9, SAGE and NB results fall within the standard deviation of MAIPA distributions for per-flight fuel consumption.

- In comparison to NB, fractional differences are within the range [0.02 0.32] for representative aircraft types other than the *dc9*. MAIPA estimates are consistently higher for the aircraft where the representative aircraft type aggregations are similar (i.e. types *except for* the *tfan* and *tprp*). This is an expected result sourced to the comparison of a probabilistic approach, which accounts for extremities, and a deterministic approach which does not.
- While the per-flight fuel consumption estimated by SAGE is single-valued, its evaluation accounts for flight performance variability and the comparison is less biased. In comparison to SAGE, MAIPA

¹⁵ The MAIPA coefficient of variation is expectedly lower than for SAGE; this stems from the finer flight-by-flight resolution of fuel consumption estimates aggregated to for the SAGE inventory.

¹⁶ M. Schofield, Rolls-Royce, plc., personal communication.

mean fuel consumption over all representative aircraft type is within the range -0.14 to +0.21 for a three-year period results, 2000-2002, with the exception of the b717 for which the mean difference is $\mu_{q_t}^{\text{SAGE}} = 1.8\hat{\mu}_{q_t}$; a cause for this difference has not been identified.

A more specific comparison, based on comparisons with flight data provided by NASA for a B757-200 research aircraft, the SAGE method predicts actual fuel burn over a single operation to within a mean 0.36% with a coefficient of variation of 0.29 (FAA 2003b). The MAIPA b757 estimate has a higher error of -4.8% but a lower coefficient of variation = 0.24.¹⁷

This is another instance highlighting the importance of structural uncertainty. This analysis suggests structural uncertainties are similar among fuel use estimation approaches; a higher-fidelity approach provides relatively low value in improving trade-off assessments. Structural uncertainties in resolution are reducible, but is refining the analysis in this way most important? While are indications that heterogeneity plays a role in determining environmental impact, it remains that much of the information offered by detailed assessments is incommunicable as decision material in the context of national policy.

3.2.9. Estimated NO_x, CO, and HC emissions metrics

Tables 3.4 and 3.5 enumerate statistics for estimated $EINO_x$, EICO, and EIHC (as VOC) in g-emissions per kg-fuel for each representative aircraft type averaged over the entire flight profile and also averaged over only the portions of the flight within the atmospheric boundary layer.

¹⁷ Additional benchmarks are available from fuel use errors reported for the Eurocontrol Advanced Emission Model (AEM3) (Carlier and Smith 2004; Jalinek et al. 2004). AEM3 estimates fuel use based on performance inputs derived from either a flight deck recorder (FDR) or flight plan data. FDR data constitute a parametric history of a particular flight where the flight plan is an expectation of how the flight will proceed. The MAIPA fuel use estimation is akin to the latter methodology while the SAGE approach is similar to the former. Using FDR data, AEM3 errors for the b733, b737, a319, a320, and a321 fall within a range of [-2: +9]%. Average errors calculated on the AEM3 flight plan basis for the b733, b735, b742, b744, a319, a320, and a321 were within the range [12: 45]%, which is similar in magnitude but biased upward compared to the range of error estimated for MAIPA. Information was not available to identify the origin of this difference.

Table 3.4. Estimated NO_x , CO, and HC emissions indices for representative aircraft types

Statistics tabulated: (1) emissions index for all flight activity. (2) emissions index only for flight activity within the atmospheric boundary layer.

	N	0x	C	;0	HC (as VOC)		
	emissions index	g-N0x/kg-fuel)	emissions index	(g-CO/kg-fuel)	emissions index (g-HC/kg-fuel)		
REPACT	all flight activity	only flight activity within atmospheric boundary layer	all flight activity	only flight activity within atmospheric boundary layer	all flight activity	only flight activity within atmospheric boundary layer	
b727	10	15	0.94	2.2	3.0	10	
b737	10	16	0.32	1.4	4.6	21	
dc9md80	10	15	0.0002	0.001	3.6	9.2	
b757	13	24	0.16	0.78	2.2	11	
b767	13	21	0.28	1.3	2.1	13	
dc10	14	26	1.1	9.2	4.9	27	
b747o	12	25	1.2	12	3.8	30	
dc9md80	11	14	1.0	3.3	2.8	11	
b747	14	22	0.24	1.3	1.0	11	
b737o	9.7	15	1.3	3.4	3.3	11	
a320	12	19	0.44	1.7	2.4	14	
11011	14	27	5.1	29	15	48	
md11	13	22	0.19	1.7	1.7	15	
b777	17	32	0.084	0.65	1.0	9.6	
b737n	10	16	0.7	3.2	6.4	23	
b717	13	18	0.028	0.083	4.0	11	
e145	11	15	0.65	2.5	4.2	18	
tfan	7.3	10	0.81	2.6	6.0	24	
tprp	10	10	0.25	0.27	4.5	4.5	

Table 3.5. Estimated per-flight NO_x, CO, and HC emissions for representative aircraft types

Statistics tabulated: (1)	median	per-flight	emissions.	(2)	coefficient of	variation	for r	per-flight	emissions
	_ /			, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,	· ·				<u> </u>	

NOx				CO	HC (as VOC)		
REPACT	per-flight emissions (kg)	coefficient of variation (as fraction)	per-flight emissions (kg)	coefficient of variation (as fraction)	per-flight emissions (kg)	coefficient of variation (as fraction)	
b727	83	0.47	7.6	1.4	24	1.1	
b737	35	0.47	1.0	1.0	16	0.62	
dc9md80	57	0.40	0.00089	12000	19	0.56	
b757	110	0.46	1.3	1.9	18	0.87	
b767	250	0.51	5.5	1,4	43	0.82	
dc10	360	0.75	22	1.5	120	0.53	
b747o	600	0.68	61	2.6	190	1.9	
dc9md80	43	0.38	4.2	1.2	11	1.6	
b747	1300	0.73	20	1.7	91	1.1	
b7370	30	0.37	4.2	1.5	10	1.9	
a320	72	0.56	2,6	1.5	14	3.8	
11011	350	0.76	140	1.4	380	1.3	
md11	670	0.53	9.9	1.2	88	0.57	
b777	640	0.57	3.2	2.7	40	0.95	
b737n	68	0.68	4.4	3.6	38	3.9	
b717	34	0.45	0.071	0.74	10	0.39	
e145	16	0.42	0.91	0.78	5.8	0.80	
fan	12	0.74	1.2	1.2	9.6	0.92	
tprp	4.8	0.66	0.12	0.66	2.1	0.67	

 \widetilde{CV}_{q_i} values range from [0.37 0.76], [0.39 3.9], and [0.66 3.6] for EINO_x, EICO, and EIHC, respectively. Compared to per-flight fuel consumption, these ranges reflect the additional uncertainties associated with estimating EIs.

As an additional benchmark, using standard, single-valued time-in-mode estimates defined in EPA (1992), the ICAO EEED reports emissions estimates below the reference mixing height of ~915 m for each engine with propagated measurement uncertainty. The ranges of $CV\langle EI \rangle = \sigma \langle EI \rangle / \mu \langle EI \rangle$ are [0.001 0.25], [0.005 0.38], and [0.02 0.54] for NO_x, CO, and HC, respectively. The equivalent statistics from MAIPA are [0.01 0.32], [0.12 0.82], and [0.20 1.9], which reflects the additional uncertainties in time-in-mode and throttle setting, and the variability due to the random selection of engines within a single representative aircraft type.

3.2.10. Consistency of NOx, CO, and HC emissions indices with higher-fidelity models

Figure 3.4 plots the distributional statistics for estimated EINO_x, EICO, and EIHC listed in table 3.5 with comparisons to estimates calculated using the NB and SAGE inventory methods for the same quantities. To emphasize that MAIPA results are probabilistic estimators, output parameters are denoted with a caret, e.g. \widehat{EINO}_x . The presentation is the same as in figure 3.1 but here, normalized \widehat{EINO}_x \widehat{EICO} , and \widehat{EIHC} are shown simultaneously for each representative aircraft type as indicated in the key.

Figure 3.4. Comparisons of estimated NO_x, CO, and HC emissions indices with results from highfidelity estimation methods



The SAGE and NB approaches to EI estimation are essentially the same for NO_x , CO, and HC as in MAIPA, using the same measurement data and method of relating EI to aircraft performance. Parametric uncertainties in EIHC are greater than EICO which is greater than EINO_x; conversely, distribution skew increases with higher EI, thus skew in EINO_x is greater than EICO which is greater than EIHC. Corresponding to the chemical processes that lead to pollutant formation, which are mathematically multiplicative, distributions for EIs are specified using lognormal distributions. Thus, both the magnitude and form of the distributional specifications tend to increase the mean (and median) for MAIPA relative to SAGE and NB, more so for CO than NO_x , and again for VOC over CO.

Using the same measure $|\hat{\mu} - \mu^{ref}| \leq \hat{\sigma}$ to examine structural differences in emissions estimation, comparisons among \widehat{El}_i and EIs estimated using SAGE and NB in figure 3.5 suggest consistency among methods for aircraft with a long history of operation. In contrast, systematic differences among MAIPA and SAGE methods are evidenced in the comparison of EINO_x results in figure 3.1 for more recently introduced aircraft (between 1991 and 2003). One source of this discrepancy is that there is relatively more data applied in SAGE estimates (flight-by-flight) as opposed to MAIPA (quarterly averages). These differences also appear to be affected by bias in the estimated power setting over a flight, with MAIPA having overall lower values than SAGE or NB. Widely different estimates for the *tfan* and *tprp* types are due to the differences among their performance descriptions.

Overall, these influences result in $\widehat{EINO}_x < (EINO_x \langle SAGE \rangle \vee EINO_x \langle NB \rangle)$, $\widehat{EICO} > (EICO \langle SAGE \rangle \vee EICO \langle NB \rangle)$, and $\widehat{EIHC} > (EIHC \langle SAGE \rangle \vee EIHC \langle NB \rangle)$. The consequence is that MAIPA, for an equivalent activity basis, reports lower NO_x inventories, but higher CO and HC inventories.

3.2.11. Consistency of particulate matter emissions indices with measurement data

Figure 3.5 compares the medians and interquartile ranges of cruise \widehat{EIPM}_{nv} and \widehat{EIPM}_{v} for each representative aircraft type with comparisons to probability distributions for $EIPM_{nv}$ and $EIPM_{v}$ estimated using published measurements. MAIPA estimates are higher than the fleet average published in the IPCC Special Report on Aviation and the Atmosphere (1999). At the end of 2003, $\tilde{\mu}_{EIPM_{nv}} = 0.07$ g/kg-fuel and $\tilde{\mu}_{EIPM_{nv}}^{bl} = 0.13$ g/kg-fuel; IPCC (1999) suggests $\tilde{\mu}_{EIPM_{nv}}^{PCC} = 0.04$ g/kg-fuel characterizes the global

aviation fleet. This is not a comparison of equivalents however; the IPCC values were based on the few engine measurements available at the time and extrapolated to European air traffic.

Figure 3.5. Estimated nonvolatile and volatile particulate matter emissions indices

Comparison of estimated particulate matter emissions indices (green) with in situ measurement data at cruise (orange and gray).





ttan



indices, Êl_{PMnv} or Êl_{PMv}

ŝ

7080 080

interquartile range

median

Few measurements of emitted particulate properties exist for in-service commercial aircraft engines. This database is growing, but it remains difficult to apply as a basis for EI estimation due to relative paucity of measurements, lack of performance information attached to these measurements, and uncertainty in combining measurements taken with different techniques. The measurements plotted are from in situ sampling of primarily older in-service aircraft at cruise and are appropriate to the near-field plume (< 1s downstream of the engine exit). See footnote 18 for a summary of these data.

Measured data imprecisely specify nonvolatile particulate matter emissions indices with the range [0.002, 2] g/kg-fuel and a median value of ~0.2 g/kg-fuel. The upper and lower bounds account for the 95% CI. In comparison, at the end of 2003, MAIPA estimates a mean fleet EIPM_{nv} of 0.07 g/kg-fuel in the free troposphere and 0.13 g/kg-fuel within the atmospheric boundary layer. Soot emission uncertainties are higher than for the regulated pollutants; the range of $\widetilde{CV}\langle\widehat{EIPM}_{nv}\rangle$ =[0.70 4.2]. In comparison, the range of $\widetilde{CV}\langle\widehat{EIPM}_v\rangle$ = [0.13 0.24], is relatively lower due to the deterministic treatment of representative engine cycles in the estimation of EI (see appendix 8 for further detail on EIPM estimation methods).

However, it is apparent that the spread of EIs inferred from measurements is O(10)-O(100) larger than MAIPA distributions. Thus, while these comparisons indicate consistency with measurement data, they cannot be considered definitive. The comparatively high uncertainties in measurement data indicate physical phenomena affecting PM_{nv} and PM_v in the early plume are not yet identified; this is a structural deficiency in the EIPM estimation methods.

¹⁸ Aircraft emit non-volatile carbonaceous particles (soot) with a size and charge distribution established over millisecond timescales within the combustor (Dakhel et al. 2007). In situ sampling of older in-service aircraft at altitude suggests soot emissions at cruise are characterized by a lognormal distribution with a geometric mean diameter in the range of 10-60 nm and a geometric standard deviation on the order of 1.5-1.75 nm.

Probability distributions for $\widehat{El}_{PM_{av}}^{ref}$ were estimated for published number EI (nEI) measurements using Monte Carlo simulations over the above distributions for diameter and distributional parameters ($\hat{\mu}_{g,PM} = P_{unif} [10,60]$ and $\hat{\sigma}_{g,PM} = P_{unif} [1.5,1.75]$), accounting for measurement uncertainty and assuming soot density as $\hat{\mu}_{\rho_{PM}} = P_{unif} [1500,1800]$ in kg/m3. Altitude measurements report number EIs (nEI) in the range 0.1E15 - 6E15 particles/kg-fuel (Konopka et al. 1997; Anderson et al. 1998a; Anderson et al. 1998b; Hagen et al. 1998; Miake-Lye et al. 1998; Pueschel et al. 1998; Brock et al. 2000; Schumann et al. 2000b). Simulating over uncertainties, these data imprecisely specify $\widehat{El}_{PM_{av}}^{ref}$ with the range [0.002, 2] g/kg-fuel and a median value of ~0.2 g/kgfuel. The upper and lower bounds account for the 95% CI in $\widehat{El}_{PM_{av}}^{ref}$.

In situ measurements at altitude indicate that volatile particles are smaller than non-volatiles, but similarly described by a lognormal distribution, with diameters in the range 1-15 nm, standard deviation on the order of 1.5, and nEIs 10-100 times greater than for soot (Konopka et al. 1997; Anderson et al. 1998a, 1998b; Hagen et al. 1998; Miake-Lye et al. 1998; Brock et al. 2000; Schumann et al. 2000). Fuel sulfur levels for these measurements are in the range 200-700 ppm, consistent with reported kerosene composition. Using a similar Monte Carlo procedure to propagate uncertainties, calculations specify $\widehat{El}_{PM_{\psi}}$ (as H₂SO₄) with a range [0.0007, 0.7] g/kg-fuel and median of ~0.07 g/kg-fuel. References for altitude in situ data were initially compiled in reports by Miake-Lye (2002a, 2002b, 2004), subsequently extended.

3.2.12. Resolution of EIPM performance dependencies

The analytical scaling of soot chemistry with altitude suggests ground measurements should report higher emissions indices for similar combustor inlet conditions. There are few ground measurements to reference, none of which provide direct comparisons to equivalent altitude measurements, but those that exist do indicate the trend. Recent programs report ground EIPM_{nv} = 0.02-0.35 g/kg-fuel for a wide range of turbofan engines operating in the fleet, with the lower end relevant to low power conditions and vice versa. MAIPA estimated EIPM_{nv} shows a similar range with medians 0.0008-0.36 g/kg-fuel among representative aircraft types.

The MAIPA does not resolve the power dependence exhibited by measurements. This is due to the constrained use of sparse SN data as described in appendix 2. Rules used to select SN from available data tend to result in EIs upward biased over lower powers since these data are typically reported as maximums rather than populating the four certification power settings (e.g. PW engines). However, note that some engines exhibit opposite trends to those observed through engine measurements (e.g. CFM56-5B series and GE-90 series engines), tempering any power trend for a representative aircraft type. Also, the MAIPA employs altitude corrections for all segments; these preferentially reduce calculated EI for higher power modes, further weakening the trend.

3.2.13. Error propagated into emissions inventory from per-flight fuel consumption estimates

As described by equation 3.6, we can use mean-shift coefficients estimated for per-flight fuel consumption to propagate the per-flight fuel consumption error, $\hat{\varepsilon}_{q_f}$, and obtain a lower-bound estimate for the errors in per-flight emissions metrics (equation 3.6); the results are shown in figure 3.6.

(3.6)
$$\hat{\varepsilon}_{q_i} = \delta_{q_f} \cdot \hat{\varepsilon}_{q_f}$$
$$\hat{\varepsilon}_{Q_i} = \sum_{N_{ope}=1}^{19} \left(\hat{\varepsilon}_{q_i} \cdot N_{ops}^i \right) / N_{ops}$$

The salient point of this exercise is to show that per-flight emissions errors, $\hat{\varepsilon}_{q_i}$, are accentuated for all representative aircraft relative to all $\hat{\varepsilon}_{q_f}$, but that these errors fall within \widetilde{CV}_{q_i} . In figure 3.6, $\hat{\varepsilon}_{q_{voc}}$ is not shown for lack of significant $\delta_{\hat{q}_f}$, but it is likely that $\hat{\varepsilon}_{q_{voc}} < \hat{\varepsilon}_{q_{co}}$ judging from the ratios of significant $\delta_{\hat{q}_f}$ over all representative aircraft types.

Figure 3.6. Propagation of fuel consumption errors into emissions estimates

(1) propagated errors as fraction and (2) comparison to coefficient of variation computed relative to median



3.2.14. Estimation of parametric sensitivities in emissions metrics

Figure 3.7 shows the results of a linear variance analysis calculated using equation 3.7 for NO_x, CO, and HC per-flight emissions.¹⁹ Effects are broken down by estimated fuel consumption rate (fuel), standard atmosphere parameters (STDATM), ICAO emissions data (ICAO), and Boeing Method 2 corrections to altitude (BM2).

¹⁹ The fleet median \widehat{El}_{SO_x} calculated through MAIPA is 0.95 g/kg-fuel as SO2, Since \widehat{El}_{CO_2} , \widehat{El}_{H_2O} , and \widehat{El}_{SO_x} multiply \hat{q}_f by a factor chosen over a narrow probability function (i.e. $\widehat{El} = P_{unif} [\min(EI_i), \max(EI_i)]$ for $i = CO_2 \vee H_2O \vee SO_x$), $\underline{\widetilde{CV}}_{V}^{|_{N_{pri}}}$ for these species are $\cong \underline{\widetilde{CV}}_{V}^{|_{N_{pri}}}(\hat{q}_f)$.

(3.7)
$$\hat{q}_{i} = \sum_{N_{og}=1}^{9} \beta_{\text{El}'_{f}} \text{El}''_{f} + \beta_{\hat{q}_{f}} \hat{q}_{f} + q_{io}$$

Figure 3.7. Parametric contributions to variance in estimated NO_x, HC, and CO per-flight emissions

Effects broken down by estimated fuel consumption rate (fuel), standard atmosphere parameters (STDATM), ICAO emissions data (ICAO), and Boeing Method 2 corrections to altitude (BM2).



For the regulated pollutants, variance in \widehat{EI}_i becomes significant (i.e. parametric uncertainties in certification data and altitude corrections and variability in engine assignment). Representative aircraft type with the longest nominal flight distance show consistent influence from the cruise specification of the

emissions index.²⁰As flight distance decreases, trends in the estimated emissions index with engine power become statistically significant for species with the most uncertain \widehat{El}_i ; approach segments become significant for CO and HC.

Again using equation 3.7, figure 3.8 shows variance analysis results for PM_{nv} and PM_v per-flight emissions. Effects are broken down by estimated fuel consumption rate (fuel), standard atmosphere parameters (STDATM), and estimated particulate matter indices (MAIPA). Variance in estimated EIPM_{nv} is the most important contributor to variance in nonvolatile PM for representative aircraft types with the longest nominal flight distance. As flight distance decreases, uncertainties in emissions indices at cruise become significant, contributing to $\hat{\sigma}_{PM_{nv}}$ similarly to $\hat{\sigma}_{q_f}^2$. For the shortest range representative aircraft type, uncertainties in \widehat{EI}_i at idle are additionally significant. For PM_v, $\hat{\sigma}_{q_f}^2$ is the only significant contributor over all representative aircraft type.

 $^{^{20}}$ As a check on the variance analysis, for emissions that scale directly with fuel burn, results expectedly shows that the most important contributor to $\hat{\sigma}_{\rm CO_2}^2$, $\hat{\sigma}_{\rm H_2O}^2$, and $\hat{\sigma}_{\rm SO_2}^2$ is $\hat{\sigma}_{q_f}^2$.

Figure 3.8. Parametric contributions to variance in estimated nonvolatile and volatile particulate matter per-flight emissions

Effects broken down by estimated fuel consumption rate (fuel), standard atmosphere parameters (STDATM), and estimated particulate matter indices (MAIPA).



3.3. Trends in US air transport pollution 1991-2003

Trends in fuel, emissions, and noise inventories are statistically-discernible, despite uncertainties; nonparametric K-W hypothesis tests are significant (p=0.05) indicating a cross-sectional resolution that allows us determine trends over the historical period. This section presents a selective analysis of correlations among fuel, emissions, and noise metrics.

Three observations are discussed; analyses examine the impacts of shifts in service preferences, the effectiveness of emissions standards, and the relationship of noise and PM trends. Each of these examples speak to how developmental trends change the character of air transport environmental impacts. Most

importantly, these results suggest shortcomings in current regulatory approaches toward source control that may be usefully addressed in future revisions of technology standards or by alternative regulatory methods.

3.3.1. Fuel consumption of US commercial aircraft 1991-2003

Figure 3.9 plots the fuel consumption by US commercial aircraft from 1991-2003. Propagated uncertainties are similar from quarter-to-quarter and the median trend moves proportionally within the uncertainty bands illustrated. From 1991 to 2003, mean fuel use increases with a compound quarterly growth rate of 0.29%; this includes the relatively sharp decline in fuel consumption from 2001-2002 that essentially negates the net growth over the previous decade.







3.3.2. Operational frequency and the distribution of air quality impacts

A second trend plotted in figure 3.9 runs from the third quarter of 1993 through 2003; this inventory includes the fuel consumption estimated for regional operations reported to the US DOT through Form 298A1.²¹ With F98A1 operations included, the ratio of growth rate to the growth rate for F41T2

²¹ For F98A1 operations, which are not reported with aircraft type information, a split between type types and tfan types is assumed in order to assign fuel flow factors. For the purposes of the plot, the split is set to the value realized from F41T2 operations.

operations only is $r_g^{+198}/r_g = 0.005$, essentially showing static fleet fuel consumption. The contribution of F98A1 operations declines with time, from 18% to 9% compared to the F41T2 inventory.

For the purpose of calculating inventories for air quality assessments, a variable mixing height based on radiosonde measurements across the United States is used to define the relevant estimators for fuel consumption and emissions inventories within the atmospheric boundary layer. Note that the mixing layer height estimated by measurements is higher than the nominal mixing height used to define the landing-takeoff cycle. The median fraction of the inventory that is expended within the atmospheric boundary layer is estimated at 10-14% for 1991-2003.

Figure 3.10 provides a further breakdown by service category (short-haul, long-haul, and regional). As shown in figure 3.10(b), fuel consumption by the regional fleet within the atmospheric boundary layer increases at $r_g^{rg} = 3.5\%$, moving from 2% to 10% of the fuel consumption inventory, largely due to shifts from the short-haul inventory; growth rates from 1991-2003 are $r_g^{sh} = 0.09\%$ and $r_g^{th} = 0.22\%$ for the short-haul and long-haul fleets respectively. Regional operations are a relatively small portion of the fuel consumption inventory, but they account for a fraction statistically-equivalent to the long-haul fleet. Only a few of the largest regional aircraft are subject to current technology standards currently.

Figure 3.10. Estimated fuel consumption by US commercial aircraft 1991-2003 by service category

Emissions broken down by service category (short-haul, long-haul, and) regional service).



3.3.3. Influence of pollutant control on emissions above and below the mixing height

Between 1991-2003, the growth rate in the fuel consumption inventory within the atmospheric boundary layer is ~17% of the growth rate of total fuel inventory. It might be inferred that this relieves air quality burdens, but the picture cannot be fully appreciated using this statistic. Recent analyses have indicated that a portion of emissions above the mixing height are mixed down into the boundary layer, leading to a factor 2-3 increase in ground-level pollutant concentration. While emissions below the mixing height retain a regional influence on pollutant concentrations, predominantly within distances of ~100 km, those mixed from the upper troposphere influence air quality on the continental scale. Thus, the comparative trends in fuel inventories within and without the atmospheric boundary layer represent a transfer of environmental damages from airport-local populations to the general population of the United States. This

also suggests a lower efficacy of landing-takeoff fuel efficiency improvements in reducing air quality impacts.

Historical trends in fuel consumption are reflected in emissions inventories, mediated by trends in emissions indices as plotted in figures 3.11-3.14 following. Trends in CO₂, H₂O, and SO_x are not shown, but they are directly proportional to fuel consumption. Consider first a comparison of trends for the regulated pollutant emissions of NO_x, HC, and CO. Figure 3.11 shows trends in EINO_x, EIHC, and EICO.

Figure 3.11. Estimated NO_x, HC, and CO emissions indices of US commercial aircraft 1991-3003

Emissions indices for (1) all flight activity and (2) only flight activity within the atmospheric boundary layer.



Emissions indices for NO_x, CO, and HC are influenced differently by power setting. The NO_x emissions index has an opposite trend to EICO and EIHC as a function of power setting, increasing as engine output increases rather than decreasing in a nonlinear fashion. Since proportionally more time is spent at high power below the mixing height than above, and because EINO_x decreases with altitude for the same power condition, EINO_x within the atmospheric boundary layer is on average higher than EINO_x averaged over the entire flight profile. Over all representative aircraft type (except for *tprp* for which EIs have the same value over all flight segments by MAIPA definition), $\widehat{EI}_{NO_x} / \widehat{EI}_{NO_x}^{bl} = [0.49 \ 0.74]$.

The same result is obtained for EICO and EIHC despite an increase in both of these parameters with altitude for a similar power condition. The comparison of EIHC and EICO trends by altitude exhibits the influence of idle and taxi at the airport. Over all representative aircraft types, the ratio of emissions indices without to within the atmospheric boundary layer are generally less than one; for CO, $\widehat{El_{co}}/\widehat{El_{co}}^{bl}$ = [0.12 0.57] and for HC, $\widehat{El_{voc}}/\widehat{El_{voc}}^{bl}$ = [0.13 1.8] with the *a320* and *dc9md80* accounting for $\widehat{El_{voc}}/\widehat{El_{voc}}^{bl} > 1$. Since the change in EICO with altitude is stronger than for EIHC – $(dEl_{co}/dP_{eng}) > (dEl_{voc}/dP_{eng})$ – there is a larger relative difference between $\widehat{El_{co}}$ and $\widehat{El_{voc}}$ than between $\widehat{El_{voc}}$ and $\widehat{El_{voc}}$.

For aircraft emissions, the legal framework provides specific guidance to base regulatory action on the state of technology, both with regards to safety and developmental capability. Regulatory actions have focused on NO_x reduction through EI standards over the landing-takeoff cycle. With the influence of free tropospheric emissions on air quality noted in the previous section, the consequence is that emissions controls that attend only to the landing-takeoff cycle, as current regulations are setup to accomplish, have a lower efficacy by as much as 85% for CO and HC, and 50% for NO_x .

3.3.4. Efficacy of emissions standards in controlling total emissions loads

The inefficiency of LTO controls can be seen from a different angle looking at emissions inventory trends. Figure 3.12 plots trends in NO_x , CO, and HC emissions inventories.

Figure 3.12. Estimated NO_x, HC, and CO emissions from US commercial aircraft 1991-2003

Emissions for (1) all flight activity and (2) only flight activity within the atmospheric boundary layer.



Correlation coefficients (ρ_{corr}) indicate that growth in fuel consumption within the atmospheric boundary layer is responsible for the increase in NO_x emissions between 1991-2003; correlation coefficients of the NOx boundary layer inventory with EINO_x-bl and Qf-bl are $\rho_{corr} \left(\hat{Q}_{NO_x}^{bl} \middle| \widehat{El}_{NO_x}^{bl}, \hat{Q}_f^{bl} \right) = \{0.35, 0.98\}$ respectively. However, without the boundary layer, EINO_x and Qf are similarly influential on the NO_x emissions inventory; $\rho_{corr} \left(\hat{Q}_{NO_x}^{bl} \middle| \widehat{El}_{NO_x}, \hat{Q}_f^{bl} \right) = \{0.89, 0.99\}$. Similar results are found for CO; $\rho_{corr} \left(\hat{Q}_{CO}^{bl} \middle| \widehat{El}_{CO}^{bl}, \hat{Q}_f^{bl} \right) = \{0.24, 0.78\}$ and $\rho_{corr} \left(\hat{Q}_{CO} \middle| \widehat{El}_{CO}, \hat{Q}_f^{bl} \right) = \{0.66, 0.70\}$.

These correlations suggest that technology standards have been more successful in limiting emissions within the atmospheric boundary layer than overall emissions, which has been their intention. They also

reinforce the limited efficacy of EI controls in stemming emissions growth. The exception may be HC emissions; for HC emissions El is the primary influence, $\rho_{corr} \left(\hat{Q}_{VOC}^{bl} \middle| \widehat{EI}_{VOC}^{bl}, \hat{Q}_{f}^{bl} \right) = (0.97, 0.14)$ and $\rho_{corr} \left(\hat{Q}_{VOC} \middle| \widehat{EI}_{VOC}, \hat{Q}_{f} \right) = (0.94, -0.56)$. However the striking result is the negative correlation of fuel consumption and HC emissions. To understand this, we need to take a wider view of pollutant trends in US commercial air transport.

3.3.5. Crossover effect of noise regulation on emissions control

The influence of improved engine efficiency has the opposite effect on $\widehat{EI}_{NO_x}^{bl}$ and \widehat{EI}_{NO_x} ; as peak engine temperatures increase, the tendency to produce NO_x increases.

The PM inventories estimated in this thesis permit an important addition to this picture. Figure 3.13 illustrates trends in $\widehat{EI}_{PM_{mv}}$ and $\widehat{EI}_{PM_{mv}}^{bl}$, showing fleet $\widehat{EI}_{PM_{mv}} > \widehat{EI}_{PM_{mv}}^{bl}$ and declines both above and below the mixing height.

Figure 3.13. Estimated nonvolatile and volatile particulate matter emissions indices of US commercial aircraft 1991-2003

Emissions indices for (1) all flight activity and (2) only flight activity within the atmospheric boundary layer.



The rate of growth in the nonvolatile PM emissions index is negative at -1.56%. These trends are strong enough to offset increases in fuel use to produce reductions in the nonvolatile PM inventory between 1991-2003 as shown in figure 3.14.

Figure 3.14. Estimated nonvolatile and volatile particulate matter emissions from US commercial aircraft 1991-2003

Emissions for (1) all flight activity and (2) only flight activity within the atmospheric boundary layer.



The 1991-2003 noise inventory is plotted in figure 3.15 for all fleet operations. The orange-shaded area is the interquartile range of Qn, plotted quarterly, around the median shown in the darker orange for F41T2 activity only; the orange dashed line adds F98A1 and F41T2 activity.

To understand the effect of scaling operations as described in section 3.2, compare this to the noise inventory denoted with a green line, which is constructed using only the scaled 96 airport MAGENTA

operations sample (\hat{Q}_n^{apri}) and plotted yearly. The important observation for the purposes of this analysis is that trends are similar over the historical period, but comparatively, $\hat{Q}_n > \hat{Q}_n^{apri}$. This difference is due the relative division of operations among representative aircraft type in the two sets of baseline activity data (explained previously) as well as a finer attribution of per-flight noise characteristics possible for MAGENTA operations, where aircraft types are specified by individual models (e.g. by specific airframeengine combination – q_n^{INM} – rather than the aggregated representative aircraft type q_n used to calculate of Q_n).

Figure 3.15. Noise from US commercial aircraft 1991-2003

Noise for (1) all flight activity and (2) breakout of noise contributions by service category (short-haul, long-haul, and regional service)



Over the period 1991-1999, fleet dBA SEL declined by 34% as the Stage 2 phase-out progressed. However, this was not the primary source of noise reduction between 1991-2003. An economic shock led to a larger decline; during the period 1999-2003, a much more significant noise reduction occurred during 2001q3, resulting in a further decline of 48%. These two events dominate the overall retirement of 4.6 SEL dBA, equivalent to 65% of the noise inventory in 1991; over 90% of this decline resulted from technology turnover in the short-haul fleet.

Of interest from a policy standpoint is the strong correlation between: (1) noise and nonvolatile PM trends with correlations showing $\rho_{corr} \left(\hat{Q}_n(t) : \hat{Q}_{PMnv}(t) \right) = 0.98$; and (2) noise and HC emissions where $\rho_{corr} \left(\hat{Q}_n(t) : \hat{Q}_{VOC}(t) \right) = 0.89$. Reductions the PM_{nv} emissions inventory from 1991-2003 came almost exclusively from reductions in EIPM_{nv} as indicated by correlations $\rho_{corr} \left(\hat{Q}_{PM_nv} \right) = (0.90, 0.20).^{22}$ PM_{nv} emissions are nominally controlled by smoke regulations; however, these regulations were not changed between 1991-2003; the reason for this reduction was the retirement of aircraft through the Stage 2 phaseout. This also underlies the negative correlation of fuel consumption and HC emissions discussed earlier. Reductions in EIHC-bl achieved their highest reductions through the retirement of 1960s and 1970s era aircraft spurred by noise phaseout rules.

Figure 3.16 illustrates the retirement of these aircraft and suggests that as the oldest aircraft are retired, additional gains will be realized. Highlighted are those representative aircraft types that contain Stage 2 aircraft models retired from the fleet—b727, b737o, dc9, and 747o—which are denoted by dashed lines. Representative aircraft types that at some point in the 1991-2003 period exceed 5% of the noise inventory are denoted by colored lines, a group accounting for 80% of the noise burden in 2003 that includes the b727, b737o, b737o, b737n, dc9, and dc9md80. Reflecting the operational frequency influence on emissions mentioned earlier. the *tfan* is also in this group, the first regional type to acquire this distinction.

²² Technological improvements are the root of this trend, but operational changes have an undetermined influence. MAIPA EIPM_{nv} values are a factor 2-3 higher than estimates made for the global commercial fleet (~0.04 g/kg-fuel). The difference in MAIPA U.S. and the global value reported in IPCC (1999) may reflect the on average shorter flight distances flown globally as compared to the United States. Similarly, the increases in service frequency and routes served since deregulation may have contributed to the trend. The time resolution of MAIPA is inadequate to quantify this operational contribution.

Figure 3.16. Contributions to noise inventory by representative aircraft type 1991-2003

Noise for all flight activity broken down by representative aircraft type highlighting only major contributions with other contributions undifferentiated in gray.



3.3.6. Inventory metrics as measures of environmental damage

The trends estimated for PM_{nv} from 1991-2003 are favorable with respect to aggregate health impacts, but the picture is complicated by the morphological characteristics of PM, for which a trend cannot yet be established. Regulation controls smoke number, a PM-related visibility metric. The historical effect of this incentive may have been to reduce the mean size of soot particulates emitted from the emissions along with total mass.

It has been suggested that this is how smoke reductions were accomplished in the development of lowsmoke combustors in the 1970's. From a health perspective, migration to smaller size particulates may constitute an increase in risk, even though regulations do not resolve the gradation below the 2.5 mm size. Furthermore, because the aerodynamic diameter is reduced, these smaller particulates are more likely to persist in the atmosphere, providing more opportunities for exposure.

It is also important to recognize that any approach to reducing the effects of PM2.5 will require a joint plan addressing PM_{nv} as well as the secondary formation of nitrates, sulfates, and organics from NO_x , SO_x , and HC processing in the atmosphere. Total NO_x and SO_x inventories increased from 1991-2003

with $r_g = (0.28, \sim 0.01) r_g^{bl} / r_g = (0.11, 0.17)\%$ —both of which strongly influence atmospheric concentrations of PM2.5. However, inventories do not provide a complete measure of impact; air quality and climate effects are multiples of emissions so any observations here will be accentuated.²³ We will return to this point in chapter 5.

²³ A comparison of the NO_x, HC, and CO emissions inventories to reported EPA inventories for all sources (National Emissions Inventory) indicates that \hat{Q}_i^{k}/Q_i^{EPA} range from [0.44, 0.59]% for NO_x, [0.078, 0.11]% for CO, and [0.13, 0.15]% for VOC. These comparisons are for reference and are not appropriates measure of impact since the management of an externality is not a function of emissions contribution relative to other industries.

4. Damages from global climate change

Aircraft emissions have a role in several chemical and microphysical mechanisms that change the radiative properties of the atmosphere, leading to changes in temperature at the planetary surface and at altitude, and through subsequent physical mechanisms, changes in other climate variables such as sea level and precipitation. The goal in developing a climate impact model was to develop a methodology to estimate impacts on the global climate from US commercial air transport and to assess the factors that determine climate damages. Specifically, the objectives were: (1) to establish and demonstrate an approach that distinguishes the value of reducing CO₂ emissions versus non-CO₂ emissions using a metric that can be correlated with damages; and, (2) to understand the influence of different model parameters and components on uncertainty in estimated damages and relate policy implications.

The efficacy of policy options for mitigating or abating the impact of aviation emissions on environmental quality depends on the ability to compare the value of reducing CO_2 emissions versus non- CO_2 emissions in the context of climate change. To fulfill this requirement, the assessment needs to account for different timescales (and thus geographical scales) among types of perturbation to the atmosphere. This is necessary to distinguish between the longer-lived direct impacts of CO_2 emissions and the indirect impacts of other short-lived microphysical and chemical processes, such as the production of ozone or decrease in methane residence time associated with the emission of NO_x .¹ The approach implemented here provides these capabilities.

Contribution 4.1. An impulse response model of changes in surface temperature inclusive of radiatively-active species with different atmospheric lifetimes

Instead of a detailed atmosphere-ocean general circulation model, MAIPA employs an impulse-response approach to calculate probabilistic estimates of marginal, present-value climate change metrics inclusive of radiatively-active species with different atmospheric lifetimes (cf. Joos et al. 1996). The model has been evaluated and implemented in APMT.

Subsequent to the methodological development and results reviewed in this thesis, the analysis was refined and published in Marais et al. (2008) with different operational inputs that extend the analysis

¹ These differences in timescale portend differences in how effects can influence climate by virtue of the extent to which emissions are mixed in the atmosphere before their impact on radiative properties is felt.

beyond the United States and focus on aviation growth scenarios. A procedural review of the approach was prepared as a description of the APMT prototype (cf. Mahashabde et al. 2006 and FAA 2007).

The metric of climate change used to assess this effect needs to be valuable in the sense that damages can be correlated to changes in the metric. For this study, global surface temperature (T_s) is the metric of climate change. Based on analyses of damages resulting from the estimated changes in surface temperature caused by aircraft emissions, the following characterizations of air transport climate impacts emerge:

Contribution 4.2. Identified that the most important factor determining changes in damages over time is the dependence of emissions damages on the background environmental sensitivity.

Emissions impacts of US commercial aircraft are dictated by the progress in controlling emissions from other sources. The attribution of trends to parametric inputs shows that air transport emissions impacts are predominantly determined by the background environmental sensitivity, indicating that the growth of air transport emissions relative to other sources is the key factor that determines damage costs. The trend in the whole of anthropogenic carbon emissions is the primary determinant of air transport damage trends; these background trends are more influential than the course of the commercial aircraft carbon inventories cataloged previously in chapter 3.

Result 4.1. Short-lived versus long-lived climate effects

Air transport environmental decision-making is often differentiated in the context of non-CO₂ effects; however, the analysis suggests that non-CO₂ effects are a relatively small component of climate damages. From an economic perspective, only at high discount rates do cloud formation and interactions become a distinguishing focus.

Result 4.2. Influence of parametric versus scenario versus structural uncertainties

Parametric, scenario, and structural uncertainties contribute similarly to uncertainty in cost estimates. Managing the climate risks of aviation emissions is as much dependent upon (a) normative decisions underlying the specification of intergenerational wealth distribution as on (b) scientific questions of carbon-cycle and climate processes as on (c) propagated parametric uncertainties.

Result 4.3. Choice of climate impact metric

Using physical quantities as decision metrics gives significantly more weight to mitigating short-lived effects than would be recommended by an economic analysis. Measured by the ratio of non-CO₂ to CO₂ impact metrics—commonly used to describe the impact of air transport relative to other sources—is approximately 3 using instantaneous radiative forcing, while the same ratio is approximately 1.1 using a marginal cost metric. Whereas instantaneous radiative forcing is a useful measure of climate influence, marginal costs are a closer measure of risks to well-being of people exposed to climate change.

Section 4.2 discusses the models and caveats in estimating damages as a function of global surface temperature. Appendix 10 supplements the discussion with further methodological detail and background context. Section 4.3 details the relationships that compose the impulse-response approach to estimating climate impact including: the response of atmospheric CO₂ concentrations X_{CO2} to CO₂ emissions; the response of global surface temperature T_s to X_{CO2} ; and the response of T_s to non-CO₂ emissions. Appendices 11-13 supplement with further methodological detail and background context. Sections 4.4-4.6 apply the model developed in Section 4.3 to assess important dynamics that characterize the impact of US commercial air transport through changes in the global climate, drawing policy implications from results.

4.1. Damages as a function of change in global surface temperature

In the case of climate, changes in environmental variables are valued directly such that estimating welfare change is not explicit; instead, damages are estimated directly as a function of a metric of environmental change (T_s) where global surface temperature change is a function of emissions. This section discusses the content and form of the damage- T_s relationship; section 4.3 then addresses the environmental modeling component.

4.1.1. Economic and equity impacts of climate change

The development of environmental damage assessments relevant to climate change lags progress in both scientific understanding as well as policy design. Climate damage estimates are highly speculative and the research literature provides no consensus on the appropriate integration of component social cost assessments. These studies integrate a number of individual reports that address different, overlapping
subsets of the types of market and non-market damages that may result from climate change, primarily a combination of welfare effects resulting from changes in agricultural output, sea level, migration, water supply, and resulting shifts in the macroeconomy.

There is significant controversy over how to aggregate damages across regions. In the developed countries (e.g. the US and EU), estimated climate damages are smaller relative to the national economy than in the developing countries where estimated climate damages are a larger percentage of GNP, most of which results from the historical carbon emissions of the global regions that experienced earlier industrialization.

A second difficulty arises from the application of damage assessments conducted for the developed countries; to a developing country, where incomes are lower, the use of willingness-to-pay measures such as the value of a statistical life depress damage estimates relative to a country with a higher per capita income. Climate damages estimated in this chapter include both the portion endemic to the US as well as the global impacts associated with US national emissions, but do not further address these issues. The aggregation of regional estimates with adjustments for national income or wealth (which may be done for equity reasons) leads to an increase in the valuations relative to those presented here.

4.1.2. Climate damage as a function of global surface temperature

To relate climate damages to changes in surface temperature, Cline (1992) initially surmised (based on his own analysis) a nonlinear relationship as $C \propto \Delta \hat{T}_s^{1.3}$ relevant to long-term warming (i.e. multiple centuries). MAIPA utilizes a damage function estimated by Nordhaus and Boyer (2000), subsequently updated by Nordhaus (2008), which reflects the limited number of studies completed that assess the environmental costs of climate change. Equation 4.1 defines the climate damage function.

	$\hat{C} = \beta_0 + \beta_1$	$\cdot \Delta \hat{T}_s + \beta_2 \cdot \Delta \hat{T}_s^{\alpha}$ = climate damage damage function				
	units	\hat{C} as $\langle \%$ global GDP $\rangle = \Delta \hat{T}_x$ in °C or K				
(4.1)	1) define $\Delta \hat{T}_s$ = change in surface temperature relative to an historical reference					
	specify	reference year: \hat{T}_s^{ref} = surface temperature in 1990 coefficients: $\beta_0 = 0$ $\beta_1 = 0$ $\beta_2 = P_{morm} (\mu = 0.0028, \sigma = 0.0013)$ exponent: $\alpha = 2$				
	source	Nordhaus and Boyer (2000) and Nordhaus (2008)				

The estimated fit to these results derived in the Nordhaus studies expresses a more severe dependence on surface temperature as $C \propto \Delta \hat{T}_s^2$ and generally parallels the direction of the climate science (cf. IPCC SAR, TAR, FAR), but it is by no means definitive. Equation 4.1 fits the summation of sector-specific damages in six impact categories: agricultural patterns (cf. Darwin et al. 1995, Shimmelphennig 1996), sea level rise (cf. Yohe and Schlesinger 1998), disease incidence (cf. Murray and Lopez 1996), shifting ecosystems and human institutions (endogenous to the authors focusing on WTP to preserve associated capital), changes in markets (endogenous to the authors, primarily as related to forestry and energy production), and non-market impacts (endogenous to the authors based on time use for leisure).

Nordhaus and Boyer also attempt to account for climate dynamics that stray from a smooth transition model, such as catastrophes or surprise climate events. To add this component, they estimate a probability of climate catastrophe using a survey conducted among experts to elicit likelihood. To derive equation 4.1, a ~1% random chance of catastrophe is specified for a 2.5° C warming, and a ~7% random chance for a 6 K warming. The expected loss for the catastrophic scenario is 30% of global GDP.

4.1.3. Climate damages from US air transport emissions

To calculate climate damages, we take the difference between: (a) damages in response to the temperature change resulting from all anthropogenic emissions; and, (b) damages in response to the temperature change resulting from all anthropogenic emissions minus US aircraft fleet emissions (equation 4.2). Damage streams are then summed to net present value using the discretization in equation 4.3.

(4.2)

$$\begin{aligned}
\hat{C}_{i}(t) &= \hat{C}^{all}(t) - \hat{C}^{all-av}(t) = \text{stream of climate damages} \\
\hat{C}^{all}(t) &= \text{damages due to the sum forcing of global carbon emissions inventory } \langle Q_{c}^{all} \rangle \\
\hat{C}^{all-av}(t) &= \text{damages when US aircraft emissions are removed from global, } \hat{T}_{s}(t) &= f \langle Q_{c}^{all} - \hat{Q}_{i} \rangle \\
\hat{Q}_{i} &= \text{emissions inventory of species } \langle i \rangle \text{ for year } \langle t_{0} \rangle \\
\\
procedure \begin{bmatrix} \hat{C}(t) &= f \langle \Delta \hat{T}_{s}(t) \rangle \\ \hat{C}_{i}(t) \text{ calculated for each year in the computational period } \langle t_{0} - t_{f} \rangle \end{aligned}$$

 \hat{C}_i = present value (PV) of a stream of estimated climate damages

(4.3)
$$procedure \begin{cases} \hat{C}_{i} \equiv \hat{C}_{i}(t_{o}) = PV[\hat{C}_{i}(t)] = \sum_{i=t_{o}}^{t_{f}} \frac{\hat{C}_{i}(t-t_{o})}{(1+r)^{(t-t_{o})}} \\ damage stream \langle \hat{C}_{i}(t) \rangle \text{ estimated as in equation A.9.3} \end{cases}$$

$$specify \qquad \overline{r = \text{discount rate} \in \{3,5,7\}\%}$$

4.1.4. Marginal climate damages from aircraft emissions

The marginal damage \hat{c} is estimated by the derivative of equation 4.1 converted to \$/t as in equations 4.4a and 4.4b. Marginal damages for non-CO₂ emissions are pegged to the ratio of marginal to average carbon costs (equation 4.5), using the assumption that the damage function for the non-CO₂ emissions is functionally similar to equation 4.1. The marginal damage of a unit fuel consumption described by equation 4.6 is the weighted sum of the marginal emissions damages estimated by equations 4.4 and 4.5.

$$\hat{c}_{C}^{all} = \text{marginal climate damage of a unit emission of carbon}$$

$$\hat{c}_{C}^{all} = \gamma \cdot \frac{d\hat{C}}{d\Delta \hat{T}_{s}} = \gamma \cdot \left(\beta_{k} + \alpha \cdot \beta_{2} \cdot \Delta \hat{T}_{s}\right) \text{ for } \hat{C} \text{ as in equation A.9.1}$$

$$\hat{c}_{C}^{all} = \gamma \cdot \frac{d\hat{C}}{d\Delta \hat{T}_{s}} = \gamma \cdot \left(\beta_{k} + \alpha \cdot \beta_{2} \cdot \Delta \hat{T}_{s}\right) \text{ for } \hat{C} \text{ as in equation A.9.1}$$

$$\hat{c}_{C}^{all} = \langle \mathcal{T}_{s} \rangle \langle \mathcal{T}_{s} \rangle |_{\gamma} = \text{conversion factor to mass units } \langle \cdots \rangle / K \rightarrow \langle \cdots \rangle / kg$$

$$\mu \text{ note: conversion } \langle \cdots \rangle / kg - C \rightarrow \langle \cdots \rangle / EI(C) \text{ as in equation A.9.6}$$

 $\hat{c}_{\rm C}^{av}$ = marginal climate damage of unit USCAO carbon emission $\approx \hat{c}_{\rm C}^{all}$

(4.4b)

assumes

small climate perturbation from USCAO carbon $\langle \hat{Q}_{C}^{av} \rangle$ relative to global $\langle \hat{Q}_{C}^{all} \rangle$ criterion $\langle \Delta T_{s}^{av} \ll \Delta T_{s}^{all} \rangle$

 $\hat{c}_i =$ marginal climate damage due to unit emissions of species $\langle i \neq C \rangle$

$$\hat{c}_{i} = \gamma \cdot \hat{c}_{C} \cdot \left(\frac{\hat{c}_{i}^{avg}}{\hat{c}_{C}^{avg}}\right)$$

$$define \begin{cases} \hat{c}_{i}^{avg} = \frac{\hat{C}_{i}}{\hat{Q}_{i}} = \text{average climate damage of species } \langle i \neq C \rangle \\ \hat{c}_{i}^{avg} = \frac{\hat{C}_{C}}{\hat{Q}_{C}} = \text{average climate damage of carbon} \\ \hat{c}_{C}^{avg} = \frac{\hat{C}_{C}}{\hat{Q}_{C}} = \text{average climate damage of carbon} \\ y = \text{conversion factor } \langle \cdots \rangle / \text{kg-}i \rightarrow \langle \cdots \rangle / \text{EI}(i) \\ \gamma = 1000 \cdot \hat{Q}_{f} \text{ for EI}(i) \text{ in } \langle \text{g-}i/\text{kg-fuel} \rangle \end{cases}$$

 \hat{c}_f = marginal climate damage due to a unit mass of fuel consumption

(4.5)

(4.6)

 $\hat{c}_{f} = 0.001 \cdot \sum_{i}^{l} \hat{c}_{i} \cdot \widehat{\text{El}i}$ *units* $\left[\text{EI}i \left\langle \text{g-}i/\text{kg-fuel} \right\rangle \quad \hat{c}_{i} \left\langle \$/\text{kg-}i \right\rangle \right]$ $\hat{c}_{\text{C}}^{eqv} = \gamma \cdot \hat{c}_{f} = \text{marginal climate damage of carbon equivalent}$ *units* $\left[\begin{array}{c} \gamma = \text{conversion factor} \left\langle \cdots \right\rangle/\text{kg-fuel} \rightarrow \left\langle \cdots \right\rangle/\text{kg-C} \right] \\ \gamma = 1000/\widehat{\text{ElC}} \Rightarrow \gamma \left(\hat{\mu}_{\text{EIC}} \right) \approx 1.2 \end{array}$

4.1.5. Estimation of change in global surface temperature

To estimate $\Delta \hat{T}_s$ we first determine how the atmospheric composition of radiatively active species responds to aircraft emissions, then estimate the change in radiative balance, and finally the impact on T_s (although the process is applicable to any output variable that measures change in the climate system). The work of (Sausen and Schumann 2000) first introduced the basic approach outlined in section 4.3 toward estimating T_s effects associated with commercial aircraft operations. Instead of a detailed atmosphere-ocean general circulation model, MAIPA employs an impulse-response approach to calculate probabilistic estimates of marginal, present-value climate change metrics inclusive of radiatively-active species with different atmospheric lifetimes (cf. Joos et al. 1996). The model has been evaluated and implemented in APMT.

4.1.6. Air transport damages in the context of other source emissions

The observed trend in aviation damages is intimately tied to activity in the rest of the economy where emissions grew exponentially from 1991-2003. With CO₂ RF a logarithmic function of its atmospheric concentration, a temperature response linear with CO₂ RF, and costs quadratic in T_s , damage costs from the whole of anthropogenic emissions rise less than the emissions trend where there is a less than an exponential exp(x) growth in emissions. Because $RF_{CO_2} \propto ln(X_{CO_2}/X_{CO_2}^{ref})$, $\lim_{t\to\infty} (dRF_{CO_2}/dt) = 0$ and only for exponential growth will RF_{CO_2} grow linearly. In contrast, for declines in carbon emissions, costs decline at a faster rate. However, this is not the primary factor determining trends in damages from air transport.

The perturbation of the aircraft emissions impulse (equal annual emissions for a given year) to background emissions resolves mathematically as climate damages proportional $C \propto (T_2^2 - T_1^2)$ where T_2 is the temperature response to all source emissions and T_1 is the response subtracting aviation. This proportionality indicates two characteristics governing how air transport damages change over time. First, climate damages respond more than proportionally to year-to-year increases in aircraft emissions with positive RF, but less so for declines (the reverse applies to cooling effects). Of the contributing species, only PMnv emissions decline over the 1991-2003 period. Second, and more importantly, because the effect of air transport is relatively small, the trend in the rest of anthropogenic carbon emissions is more influential on the air transport damage trends than the course of the commercial aircraft carbon inventories presented in chapter 3.

4.2. Response of global surface temperature to CO₂ emissions

Carbon dioxide mixes in the atmosphere on a timescale that is small compared to the duration of its radiative effect. To develop the response model, a linear, time-invariant representation of a carbon-cycle model—the impulse response or Green's function, g(t)—is convolved with a forcing, f(t), as carbon emissions, to obtain an output, atmospheric CO₂ concentrations in this case. This is shown generally in

equation 4.7. In the following discussion, we will use X_{CO2} to indicate the atmospheric CO₂ concentration.

(4.7)
$$\phi(t) = f * g = \int_{t_0}^{t} f(\tau) g(t - \tau) d\tau$$

The impulse response is determined by harmonic analysis, solving the system identification problem with a known input function and decomposing the model response with the Fourier series as given in equation 4.8.

(4.8)
$$g(t) = \sum_{j}^{J} \alpha_{j} e^{u_{j}t}$$
$$u_{j} = \lambda_{j} + i\omega_{j}$$

More complex transfer functions can be generated by other forcings, so while the impulse response is shown here as a single parameter model in time, which is appropriate to well-mixed CO_2 , we could represent spatial dimensions with additional parameters.

4.2.1. Estimation of marginal change in atmospheric CO₂ due to aviation CO₂ emissions

Executing the convolution gives, for any particular year emissions \hat{Q}_{CO2} as the forcing, a response X_{CO2} . Few complex models of the carbon-cycle have been projected in a linear form for use in response analyses. To assess variability associated with different carbon cycle model constructions, this study examines results from five linear carbon-cycle response models derived from two different base inorganic general circulation carbon-cycle models. The response models differ in the carbon-cycle pathways included in the base model for their derivation. Table 4.3 in section 4.6 summarizes the differences.

See Appendix A10 for additional discussion:

• Appendix A10 (Linear response models of the climate) describes the linear response models of the carbon cycle used in the analysis, including a brief history of their development.

The change in atmospheric CO₂ concentration ($\Delta \hat{X}_{CO2}$) due to air transport emissions is estimated by the difference between the baseline (all anthropogenic emissions) and the perturbed baseline (all

anthropogenic emissions minus US aircraft fleet carbon emissions) as given by equation 4.9. Note that in contrast to equation 4.8, a constant has been added to g(t) in equation 4.9 to better represent long-term finite atmospheric CO₂ uptake.

(4.9)

$$\Delta \hat{X}_{CO2} = \left(X_{CO2} - \hat{X}'_{CO2} \right) = \text{ change in atmospheric CO}_2 \text{ due to USCAO emissions}$$

$$definitions \begin{bmatrix} X_{CO2} \\ \hat{X}'_{CO2} \end{bmatrix}$$

$$procedure \begin{bmatrix} X_{CO2} = g(t) \cdot Q_{CO2}^{ref} \\ \hat{X}'_{CO2} = g(t) \cdot \left(Q_{CO2}^{ref} - \hat{Q}_{CO2} \right) \end{bmatrix}$$

$$specify \qquad g(t) = \alpha_1 + \sum_{j=2}^{J} \alpha_j e^{-i/\tau_j}$$

4.2.2. Functional relationship between CO₂ concentration and radiative forcing

Observations find radiative forcing to be proportional to the logarithm of current X_{CO2} relative to an unperturbed state; the unperturbed state is defined as the pre-industrial X_{CO2} taken here to be the year 1750 (equation 4.10).² This relationship results from the the infrared CO₂ absorption bands being close to saturation (Myhre et al. 1998).

(4.10)
$$\operatorname{RF}_{\operatorname{CO2}} \propto \ln \left(X_{\operatorname{CO2}} / X_{\operatorname{CO2}}^{ref} \right)$$

The temperature response to CO₂ radiative forcing is estimated using a normalized index of radiative forcing (RF*) referencing the doubling of atmospheric CO₂ concentrations $(2 \cdot X_{CO2})$ relative to the preindustrial X_{CO2}. This is a convenience facilitating the incorporation of a common benchmark of atmospheric-ocean general circulation model (AOGCM) prediction, the radiative forcing estimated for a $2 \cdot X_{CO2}$ calculation. In 4.11, RF* equals 1 at the doubling level.

² Radiative forcing measures the thermodynamic imbalance in the system defined by the Earth's land mass, oceans, and atmosphere as the result of compositional changes in the atmosphere which alter its opacity to either incoming or outgoing solar radiation.

(4.11)
$$RF^{*}(t) = \frac{\ln(X_{CO_{2}}(t) / X_{CO_{2}}^{te_{1}})}{\ln(2)}$$
$$RF(t) = RF_{ref} \times RF^{*}(t)$$

4.2.3. Estimation of marginal temperature change due to aviation CO₂ emissions

As with the atmospheric carbon dioxide concentration, MAIPA uses impulse response functions, derived from AOGCM simulations, to estimate changes in global surface temperature. For a given year, the radiative forcing index RF* is specified as the forcing f(t) to derive the surface temperature response using the convolution in equation 4.7. The estimated impulse response that results gives the model in equation 4.12 for change in global surface temperature.

$$T_{s}^{ref}(t) = \mathrm{RF}^{*} \cdot \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} \alpha_{j} e^{-t/\tau_{j}}$$
$$\hat{T}_{s}^{ref'}(t) = \mathrm{RF}^{*} - \left(\mathrm{RF}^{*}\right)' \cdot \sum_{j=1}^{J} \alpha_{j} e^{-t/\tau_{j}}$$
$$\delta \hat{T}_{s} = T_{s}^{ref} - \hat{T}_{s}^{ref'}$$

MAIPA employs three linear surface temperature response models to construct scenarios. For the scenarios treated later in this section, each of the five linear carbon-cycle response models are paired with an era-consistent model for temperature response. Jointly, these cases are termed hereafter linear climate response models (CRM). These CRMs represent the evolution in climate model construction over a 15-year period that includes the historical MAIPA analysis for the years 1991-2003.

See Appendix A10 for further discussion:

(4.12)

• Appendix A10 (Linear response models of the climate) describes the linear response models for global surface temperature used in the analysis, including a brief history of their development.

4.2.4. Effect scales of non-CO₂ climate perturbations

Radiative forcing from aircraft operations results from perturbations to both well-mixed gases such as CO_2 , for which the primary sinks occur through centurial processes, and perturbations to radiatively active species and particles that occur over timescales of hours to days as the result of faster chemical or

microphysical processing towards their eventual sinks. This latter category of perturbations results in regional scale change that may cause locally different climate impacts.

However, the summation of globally-averaged RF from both regional and non-regional effects tracks globally-averaged surface warming to first-order (Cox et al. 1995; Ramaswamy and Chen 1997) Ramswamy 2001, cf. IPCC 2007 FAR WG1). Thus, long-lived and short-lived perturbations are typically compared using an instantaneous RF metric.³ This would be fine if regional and global RF perturbations lead to the same climate sensitivity, but they do not. This section discusses how MAIPA accounts for these differences.

4.2.5. Estimation of short-lived climate effects

Following (Sausen and Schumann 2000) and (Lee and Sausen 2003), we represent aviation short-lived effects through a scaling of RF* for a different climate response relative to CO_2 —related to spatial heterogeneity—and proportionally account for changes in emissions indices from a reference year. In this formulation, shown in equation 4.13, each subsequent unit of short-lived emissions or effect causes the same change in radiative forcing; for exponential growth, ΔRF_{short} grows exponentially, and similarly, for linear growth, ΔRF_{short} grows linearly. Thus, for longer and longer periods of time over which the emissions accumulate, the marginal radiative effects of aviation CO_2 are reduced relative to those for short-lived emissions and effects.

³ The present day cumulative impact of aviation emissions suggests that today, the mixture of exhaust species discharged from aircraft perturbs RF 2 to 3 times more than if the exhaust was CO_2 alone. In contrast, the overall radiative forcing from the sum of all anthropogenic activities is estimated to be a factor of 1.5 times CO_2 alone.

Enhanced forcing due to aircraft compared with ground-based sources originates in different physical (*e.g.* contrails and impacts on clouds) and chemical (*e.g.* ozone formation/destruction) effects resulting from altered concentrations of participating chemical species and different atmospheric conditions (IPCC 1999; Schumann 2003).

Total RF from aircraft for 1992 is ~4% of the direct RF from other anthropogenic sources combined. RF from additional CO₂, CH4, N2O, CFCs / methyl chloroform/carbon tetrachloride, and HCFCs / HFCs are estimated to be, respectively in W/m2, 1.46, 0.48, 0.15, 0.32, and 0.09 (IPCC 2001 TAR, cf. IPCC 2007 FAR for 2005 values).

$$RF_{short}^{*}(t_{k}) = \lambda^{*} \cdot \alpha \cdot \frac{RF_{short}^{ref}}{RF_{2:X_{CO_{2}}}} \cdot \frac{Q_{i}(t_{k})}{Q_{i}^{ref}}$$
$$\lambda^{*} = \frac{\lambda_{short}}{\lambda_{CO_{2}}}$$
$$\alpha = \frac{Q_{CO_{2}}(t_{k})}{Q_{CO_{2}}^{aviation}}$$

(4.13)

As with CO_2 , short-lived effects do not grow instantaneously over time, but have a timescale of increase followed by decay (Prather 2002). Since the unit reference for an emissions impulse in MAIPA is a year, dictated by the resolution of the activity data, the rise is not simulated.

In equation 4.13, $RF_{2X_{CO_2}}$ is the equilibrium radiative forcing for a doubling of atmospheric CO₂, t_k refers year k, λ_{CO_2} is the climate sensitivity to CO₂ or other well-mixed perturbations, and λ_{short} refers to the climate sensitivity for short-lived effects; λ and τ are closely related.

4.2.6. Specification of reference parameters for short-lived effects

Reference RF, EI, yearly fuel consumption, and yearly emissions (RF^{ref}, EI^{ref}, and Q^{ref}) correspond to the same reference year, here 1992. Applying the benchmark results reported in the IPCC third assessment report (IPCC), RF_{2-X_{co1}} in equation 4.13 is specified using a triangular probability function with endpoints at 3.5 and 4.1 W/m² and likely value at W/m², i.e. P(*trig*; 3.5, 3.7, 4.1) W/m²; we use the TAR results since the AOGCMs behind the impulse response functions for temperature change were built with this reference. Section 3.4 of chapter 3 discusses the evolution of EI_i over the period 1991 to 2003.

For the purposes of this study, we use the estimates for RF_{short}^{ref} in (Schumann 2003) (cf.(Sausen et al. 2005), which update the estimates published IPCC special report on aviation and the global atmosphere (1999) based on a review of recent literature. Climate sensitivities in equation 4.13 are specified as distributions based on a literature review detailed in appendices A12 and A13.

See Appendices A12 and A13 for additional discussion:

• Appendices A12 (Ozone and effects related to nitrogen oxide emissions) and A13 (Aerosol and cloud effects related to water, soot, and sulfur emissions) discuss the specification of climate sensitivity and instantaneous radiative forcing for short-lived effects.

4.2.7. Estimation of NOx perturbation to the lifetime of atmospheric methane

The production of ozone via NOx also leads to a decrease in the lifetime of atmospheric methane, a radiatively active greenhouse gas, as a result of hydroxy radical (OH) production mediated by CO. While the proper mechanistic representation would directly account for this change in lifetime as a perturbation to the methane cycle (Fung et al. 1991; Lelieveld et al. 1998), it is not in the scope of this analysis to develop a reduced-order representation suitable for MAIPA as we have for carbon dioxide.

Instead, $RF_{CH_1}^{ref}$ is derived by scaling the value of $RF_{O_3}^{ref}$ as summarized in equation 4.14. The approximation of the integral ratio assumes a lifetime << 1 yr for O3 (few days to a few weeks) and drops the upper limit of the integral for CH4 as a negligible contribution.

(4.14)
$$\frac{\int_{0}^{100} \mathrm{RF}_{\mathrm{CH}_{4}}(t_{0}) e^{-\mathrm{I}/(\tau_{CH_{4}})} dt}{\int_{0}^{100} \mathrm{RF}_{\mathrm{CH}_{4}}^{ref}(t_{0}) e^{-\mathrm{I}/(\tau_{CH_{4}})} dt} \approx \frac{\mathrm{RF}_{\mathrm{O}_{3}}^{ref}}{\tau_{\mathrm{CH}_{4}} \mathrm{RF}_{\mathrm{CH}_{4}}^{ref}} = \frac{\mathrm{RF}_{\mathrm{O}_{3}}^{yr}}{\mathrm{RF}_{\mathrm{CH}_{4}}^{yr}}$$
$$\mathrm{RF}_{\mathrm{CH}_{4}}^{ref} = \frac{\mathrm{RF}_{\mathrm{O}_{3}}^{ref}}{\tau_{\mathrm{CH}_{4}}} \frac{\mathrm{RF}_{\mathrm{O}_{3}}^{yr}}{\mathrm{RF}_{\mathrm{O}_{3}}^{yr}}$$

In MAIPA, RF effects due to methane destruction persist with an uncertain decay timescale of specified as a uniform probability function with endpoints at 10 and 14 years, i.e. P(*unif*; 10, 14), after the initial emission (cf. Prather 1996). Since methane is a well-mixed gas like CO₂, the climate sensitivity ratio $\lambda_{CH_4}^* \sim 1$; (Hansen et al. 2005) estimates $\lambda_{CH_4}^* = 1.1 \pm 0.02$. This value is implemented in MAIPA as $\lambda_{CH_4}^*$ = 1.1. Values for RF-yr are uncertain; section 4.5 examines three alternative specifications for RF₀₃^{yr}/ RF_{CH4}^{yr} as scenarios to represent different model formulations that have been proposed to estimate this ratio (Stevenson et al. 2004, Derwent et al., 2000 Wild et al. 2002) The values estimated by Stevenson et al. (2004) are used in the baseline case, but this does not represent a preference, only chronology (RF₀₃^{yr} = 0.0051 W/m2 and RF_{CH4}^{yr} = -0.0042 W/m2.

4.3. Economic development, carbon damages, and uncertainty

The initial published estimates for the marginal damage cost of carbon that emerged in the early 1990s reference a particular change in climate state, commonly an equilibrium $2 \cdot X_{CO_2}$ atmosphere (cf. SAR table 6.1 IPCC 1996). These state-change analyses calculate the marginal damage cost as total climate

damages, discounted over a projected evolution of the climate and then divided by total carbon emissions to derive a monetary value per unit mass emitted. These estimates imply that marginal damages are equivalent to average damages, $c \cong \overline{c} = C/Q$. More recent considerations move away from state-change analyses to explicitly consider damages as a function of a climate change metric. The damage function in equation 4.1 at the beginning of this chapter is of this generation.

4.3.1. Normative context of the discount rate

To assess the role of uncertainties related to preferences for mitigating climate change and the unpredictable course of global development, MAIPA exercises two sets of exogenously specified scenarios that influence damage costs (\hat{C}) via economic parameters: (a) two different assumptions for economic development, the IS92a and IS92e scenarios, and (b) three different specifications of the discount rate r = [3, 5, 7]%.

This thesis does not express an opinion as to the appropriate discount rate—this is pragmatically a political decision. Instead, a range of discount rates are evaluated—r = [3, 5, 7]%—via the computational scenarios described in the following section. Note that US EPA guidance has changed and now recommends evaluating r = [2, 3, 7]%; MAIPA damage results for a 3% discount rate are used as the baseline for the purposes of analysis comparisons.

See Footnote 4 for additional discussion:

• This note provides a brief description of the theoretical underpinnings in specifying the discount rate and relevant definitions.

There are two prototypical approaches to the (much debated) specification of the discount rate for climate economic analysis. One approach assumes that risk in climate assets is similar to existing assets. For example, Nordhaus (2008) employs observable returns on corporate capital to specify the discount rate directly (r = 6 - 4.5% where the arrow indicates the decline in expected real rates of return due to uncertainty). Assuming a time preference ($r_g = 1.5\%$) and making endogenous projections of consumption growth determines the consumption elasticity ($\theta \sim 2$); collectively, these parameters emphasize a more limited investment horizon.

A second approach places greater emphasis on distributional considerations. For example, the Stern report (2007) specifies the time discount rate ($r_g = 0.01\%$) and a consumption elasticity ($\theta = 1$) that incline towards increased income for the future economy, arriving at a lower discount rate ($r = 3.5 \div 1.5\%$) that implies mitigating climate change is a lower risk investment than traditional capital. The Stern report (2007) also presumes long-term consumption growth at ~1.5%. Thus, there is a difference in the assumed

⁴ Note on the discount rate: With the positive assumption that policies are designed to improve the living standards of both current and future generations, the equation $r = r_t + \theta \cdot r_g$ specifies the discount rate, or the real rate of capital return, as a function of the rate of consumption growth in the context of the welfare economic theory of intergenerational discounting developed by Ramsey (1928, cf. Groom et al., 2005).

In contrast to the capital depreciation (and thus lower return on capital) of housing associated with aircraft noise effects – observable in property markets—investment return as it pertains to mitigation of climate impacts includes a fundamentally normative decision about the distribution of welfare among generations. This component, incorporated in equation 6.22 as the time discount rate (r_t) , reflects our preference for welfare today versus welfare for future generations. Increasing r_t shifts welfare to the present generation.

The second normative parameter used to estimate capital return is the elasticity of the marginal utility of consumption θ —the rate of change, with respect to income, in the utility derived from a change in consumption. This parameter measures our aversion to leaving future generations poorer; as such, it measures the curvature of the utility function and specifies risk aversion (Guo et al., 2006). For $\theta = 1$, additional income for a future generation with twice the consumption will provide that generation with half the utility. Thus, increasing θ translates into less aversion. The consumption elasticity and time discount rate are distributional concepts. The rate of consumption growth (r_g) derives from assumptions about economic development and is historically positive as real incomes have increased over time.

There is a decline in expected real rates of return over time that results from uncertainty about the future evolution of the discount rate. For example, if a range of discount rates is equally plausible, the longer the time-horizon of a project, the more the expected return will deviate from the return calculated using the midpoint of the range (Newell and Pizer 2003, cf. Weitzman 2001, Ainslie 1991). In other words, because of the uncertainty of a return for long-term projects, such as climate investments, one is more likely to apply a lower discount rate, assuming risk aversion (i.e. certainty equivalents decline over time). This is sometimes used as an argument for applying a lower (constant) discount rate in benefit-cost analyses for intergenerational environmental issues as opposed to current goods rates. A declining discount rate has the effect of lengthening the tail of the value stream.

trajectory of discount rate decline with time, but the main contradiction exemplified by this comparison regards decisions about intergenerational welfare.

4.3.2. Relationship between growth and discount rate

Whereas differences in climate response affect the magnitude of damage costs, growth and the discount rate, which are related, additionally discriminate perturbations by their effect lifetimes. The use of IS92 scenarios is intended to qualitatively understand the impact of economic development uncertainty—that is, uncertainty in the baseline anthropogenic CO₂ emissions—and should not be interpreted as an investment in any particular projection of societal change. The IS92 economic assumptions reflect consumption growth at $r_g = [0.032 \div 0.019; 0.042 \div 0.027]$, respectively, decaying over a 100-year period 2000 to 2100. Carbon emissions over the last decade have tracked the IS92e scenario most closely.⁵ Climate analyses conducted for the IPCC TAR and FAR use a different set of scenarios to evaluate economic development uncertainties (see IPCC SRES 2000). These IPCC scenarios are used in current APMT climate assessments.

Decreasing r_g , represented by the IS92 scenarios, will conversely decrease the magnitude of the cost streams. Higher rates of consumption growth mean higher anthropogenic emission rates and thus higher temperature change. Different values for r represent a constrained set of specifications for r_i and θ , but pairs are not unique to any one specification $[r, r_g]$. The discount rate and growth rate are separated here to convey the difference in preference variability versus variability in economic projections. In application, only the IS92c scenario can be meaningfully associated with r=0.01 while the IS92a and IS92e scenarios cannot.

4.3.3. Estimated marginal climate damages 1991-2003

Figure 4.1 plots trends in MAIPA-estimated marginal climate damages from 1991 to 2003 for carbon, water vapor (as H), NO_x, sulfur, and PM_{nv} emissions in \$2003/kg. The baseline case ($r_g = 3\%$) plotted in figure 4.1a is consistent with published estimates of the social cost of carbon (without equity weighting)

⁵ Pepper, W.J., Xiaoshi Xing, Robert S. Chen, and Richard H. Moss (Eds.), Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC) Scenarios 1992 (IS92), A to F, Digital Version 1.1, 2005, Palisades, NY: CIESIN, Columbia University. Available at http://sedac.ciesin.columbia.edu/ddc/.

and shows similar statistics; from 1991-2003, the median in \$2003 increases from \$[19->30]/tC with a coefficient of variation = 0.53 (the 10:90 quartile range for $2003 = \frac{5140}{tC}$).



year



Nordhaus (2008) estimates marginal damage cost in the context of the Dynamic Integrated model of the Climate and the Economy (DICE). In DICE, the economy and climate are linked through emissions and carbon price feedbacks. DICE employs a simplified climate model which includes: (a) a linear three-reservoir (atmosphere, upper ocean, lower ocean) carbon-cycle model calibrated to match the Bern model; and (b) a three-reservoir heat transfer model to estimate temperature change following the construction in Schneider and Thompson (1981) with parameters calibrated to mimic results from the Model for the Assessment of Greenhouse Gas Induced Climate Change (MAGICC) as formulated for the TAR and FAR ($\lambda = 3.0$, ref MAGICC 2007).

DICE estimates the marginal benefit from abatement (shadow price of carbon) as the carbon tax necessary to keep emissions on an optimal trajectory, described by policy constraints. In the case of a Pigouvian tax, this optimization calculates a trajectory of carbon prices that efficiently reduces total social costs over a given period. In an optimization framework, the price of carbon will necessarily be less than marginal cost estimates.

Nordhaus (2008) exercises a number of policy scenarios that exhibit similar marginal damages in the initial years of the computation where the marginal damage cost of carbon— \sim \$30/tC for 2005 (2003 dollars)—is near the optimal carbon price, progressively diverging thereafter and differentiating policies by their total costs (cf. Tol 2002b, 2002a for a comparative proposal for dynamic representation using dynamic cost-benefit models). As shown in figure 4.1a, the social cost of carbon estimated using the impulse-response methodology is consistent with the Nordhaus computations.

Tol (2005) reviews a number of published estimates for the social cost of carbon, summarizing the literature with a frequency distribution for the marginal damage cost of carbon. This summary is most appropriately interpreted as an expert elicitation similar to the SAR range identified previously (cf. IPCC WG2 Report, 2001, Table 19-4). Figure 4.1 plots the 10:90 percentile range = \$[-2 125]/tC, mean = \$50/tC, and median \$14/tC of one presentation of this distribution, selecting only peer-reviewed studies that provide marginal estimates, but including a range of analyses that variously do and do not exercise equity weighting.

These studies use time discount rates ranging from ~0% to 3%. Higher marginal damage values are

associated with higher discount rates and the application of equity weighting. Most of the studies reviewed in Tol are deterministic; since variability among these results due to modeling differences is to some extent endogenous to the propagated parametric uncertainties in MAIPA, this similarity indicates that the uncertainties captured through MAIPA are broadly characteristic of the parametric choices made in these studies for economic and physical specifications.

For instance, for the marginal carbon damage in this study, higher discount rates (5% and 7% for the baseline case) result in a factor of ~4 decrease in the median marginal carbon damage, similar to the variation in the median of the Tol distribution as the time discount rate is increased from 0-3% (factor 5 decrease). Note that removing equity-weighted studies from the distribution essentially culls values that form the extreme upper tail, changing the risk profile, but not the central tendency. For MAIPA, structural uncertainties related to the specification of the climate response model have a smaller effect on marginal damages (linear versus quadratic dependence on T_s).

4.3.4. Uncertainty in damage function parameters

Managing climate risks requires a way to weigh the characteristics of these options to determine not just magnitude of benefit, but also how likely it is that we can attain that potential; the damage function estimated in this thesis inherits parametric uncertainty along the entire impact vector, from source through economic repercussions.

In contrast to the diminishing marginal damage functions underlying noise (cf. chapter 6) and air quality (cf. section 4.5) for commercial aviation, climate marginal damages are an increasing function of deterioration in environmental quality. However, the exacerbating tendencies in each one of these marginal damage functions corresponds to the 1991-2003 evolution of the source inventory component that dominates the annual damage estimate—i.e. dBA SEL, NO_x/SO_x, and CO₂/H₂O respectively. As a result, the marginal damages of emissions and noise also increase over this period. The marginal damages of fuel consumption quantify this trend directly; chapter 7 presents estimates of the marginal damage cost of fuel consumption and discusses implications for the realization of benefits through fuel efficiency efforts.

The coefficient error noted in equation 4.1 is not an equivalent to this chained evaluation; instead the error

expresses uncertainty in the statistical fit to the sector-specific damage assessments that constitute equation 4.1. As such, the coefficient error is the final parametric uncertainty applied for MAIPA climate damage assessment. Figure 4.2 plots annual damage costs as a function of time for the baseline scenario at r = 3% for each of these emissions. Figure 4.2 compares the portion of the interquartile range due only to uncertainty in the climate damage function error against the distributions for the carbon damage cost with all parametric uncertainties propagated. Over the period 1991-2003, the coefficient error alone generates a distribution with 30-50% of the damage cost IQR. This reinforces the highly uncertain quantifications of climate damages currently available and suggests that it is important to communicate a range of results using functional forms; updates to this literature are important to consider.



Figure 4.2. Estimated climate damages of US commercial aircraft emissions 1991-2003

4.4. Comparative emissions contributions to climate damages

4.4.1. Estimated climate damages 1991-2003

Figures 4.3 and 4.4 plot the uncertain damage costs (in 2003 dollars) resulting from 1992 US commercial aircraft emissions for the nominal baseline CRM at a 3% discount rate. The three distributions plotted in

figure 4.3 are the present value summations of the stream of future damages due to all emitted species and their breakdown into CO_2 effects and non- CO_2 effects for the baseline scenario.

There is a sharp distinction between CO_2 effects and non- CO_2 effects; climate perturbations with long lifetimes last O(10)-O(100) times longer than short-lived perturbations (see footnote 6 for an illustration of the damage streams). The ratio of non- CO_2 to CO_2 damages is 0.32 with an interquartile range of [0.15 0.67].

Figure F4.1b plots the stream of future damages due to all emitted species and their breakdown into CO_2 effects and non- CO_2 effects for the baseline scenario; the three distributions plotted in figure F4.1a in the main text are the present value summations of these damage streams respectively.



Figure F4.1

⁶ Note on damage cost streams: Figure F4.1a plots the uncertain stream of damage costs (in 2003 dollars) resulting from 1992 US commercial aircraft emissions for the nominal case. Although the figure illustrates just one year, the shapes of these functions are characteristic of all cases. To emphasize details, only the first 150 years of the calculation are plotted, although the calculation extends 380 years after the emissions impulse to cover the characteristic timescales of the sinks that control CO₂ atmospheric lifetime.

Figure F4.1b details the non-CO2 effects, showing damage streams for six perturbations: NO_x-related ozone production; NO_x-related reduction in CH4 lifetime; changes in cloud cover and properties, summing contrail and cirrus impacts; sulfate, a component of PMnv related to the release of fuel sulfur; non-volatile PM originating from incomplete combustion; and the increase in water concentrations due to H2O emissions.

Figure 4.3. Comparison of estimated 1992 CO₂ versus non-CO₂ climate damages

This figure summarizes climate damages for 1992 using the baseline scenario CRM with a 3% discount rate). The sum of all contributions to damage costs amounts to 2.0B with interquartile range $[1.3 \ 3.2]B$, CV = 0.92, and SE = 0.03.



The detail breakdown of damages among emissions for 1992 is plotted in figure 4.4. Component damage costs are organized by emitted species rather than effect. We do this primarily because decomposing NO_x or cloud-contrail effects obscures the fact that they cannot be decoupled by changes to an aircraft system.

Figure 4.4. Breakdown of estimated 1992 climate damages by source emissions

This figure details climate damages for 1992 using the baseline scenario CRM with a 3% discount rate. The breakdown is as follows:

species fractional contribution to annual sum climate damage cost

 CO_2 0.79 interquartile range (IQR) = [0.65 0.87]

H₂O 0.31 IQR = $[0.22 \ 0.39]$ NO_x -0.09 IQR = [-0.15 + 0.06]S -0.04 IQR = [-0.04 - 0.02]

 PM_{nv} 0.02 $IQR = [0.01 \ 0.03]$



4.4.2. Effect of discount rate

A decreasing discount rate disproportionately increases magnitude of the cost streams and the extent to which future costs impact present value by changing the decay as $e^{-t/\tau}$. Short-lived perturbations are a significant factor in annual damage costs only at high discount rates where water vapor (i.e. clouds) becomes a primary effect equivalent to CO₂. Referring to figure 4.5, increasing the discount rate to r = 0.07 reduces total damages by a factor of ~6 and shifts the balance of costs in favor of non-CO₂ effects —

non-CO₂/CO₂ = 1.1, but it is also the case that the sum annual damages declines by a factor of 3. The range in total costs across discount rates is similar to the range of parametric uncertainty for the baseline estimate, the latter of which accounts for propagated uncertainties in emissions inventories, radiative forcings, and climate sensitivity. Primary combustion products are the most significant source of climate damages. Non-CO₂ emissions are a less than 10% contribution to marginal and total costs at a 3% discount rate. This increases to ~60% at a 7% discount rate, but over 90% of the non-CO₂ contribution is attributed to cloud effects. Cloud effects in MAIPA are attributed to water vapor emissions.





Also observe that increases in economic growth are disproportionately more influential as the discount rate decreases; at r = 3%, the ratio of damages for the IS92a versus IS92e scenarios is 1.6 compared to 1.1 at r = 7%. In sum, estimates of annual climate damages strongly point to energy use and fuel choice as central to efforts to reduce impacts; the primary combustion products are the first-order instigators of climate change due to commercial aircraft operations.

4.4.3. Decision-making consequences of choice of climate impact metric

This is the context in which the marginal damage estimates of this study differ from existing reports intending to quantify aircraft climate damages (Pearce and Pearce 2000; Wit et al. 2003 other CE documents). These analyses apply directly the range of carbon valuations given in the IPCC SAR = 2003 [7 175]/tC (CPI inflated from \$1990) to calculate total damage costs. Although the SAR range for carbon marginal damage cost was never intended to suggest any distributional form but rather a statement of the state of research. Using the average of this range results in a marginal cost ~3 times the MAIPA estimate without the context of climate physics or economic development.

These prior reports then account for short-lived effects by multiplying carbon damage costs by the ratio of the source emission instantaneous radiative forcing to that of CO_2 . This is inappropriate; use of an instantaneous radiative forcing ratio as a comparative metric is analogous to basing decisions on sunk costs. Applying this technique determines that non- CO_2 impacts are overwhelmingly important. On the contrary, accounting for future effects emphasizes that CO_2 is a relatively more important influence on welfare.

Because first-order relationships have been established that connect radiative forcing (RF) with atmospheric concentrations of CO_2 and mean surface temperature change (through the climate sensitivity), RF has become a convenient comparative metric when considering historical anthropogenic influences on climate (Forster et al. 2000).⁷ Ratios of instantaneous radiative forcing (RFI = RFNOx/RF CO_2), for example, provide a comparative picture of how various effects have contributed to the current

⁷ In considering impacts on future welfare, changes in environmental variables at the surface are of primary importance. However, in order to assess the impact of radiative changes at the surface, large systems must be evaluated. Radiative models typically assess changes to the system consisting of the mixed layers of the ocean, land mass, and troposphere (which tends to be well-mixed) and report forcing values for the tropopause, adjusted for any changes in boundary conditions that result from alterations to stratospheric processes. This choice derives from the fact that models have determined a simple relationship between stratospherically-adjusted, tropopause RF and global mean equilibrium surface temperature

climate state. Published accounts of the estimated radiative impact associated with commercial aircraft operations, which are conventionally published as RF, communicate the cumulative role of emissions from the beginning of commercial activity about 50 years ago to the present (Brasseur et al. 1998; IPCC 1999; RCEP 2002; Schumann 2003).⁸

Integrating the marginal impact of a radiatively active gases over time, as in the global warming potential (GWP), provides a picture of comparative effects over a given time window (Lashof and Ahuja 1990). GWP is an incomplete comparative metric, especially where the effects of multiple gases are concerned (Reilly et al. 2003). One difficulty in this definition is the use of a uniform timescale of integration, typically defined for GWP at 100 years, for gases with variable lifetimes; if to address this issue the timescale were selected to be infinite, the questionable practice (and necessity) of physical discounting arises (Schmalensee 1993).

GWPs are also global averages, appropriate for well-mixed gases (i.e. long atmospheric lifetimes), but problematic in application to secondary or indirect emissions effects that may be regional in influence (i.e. short atmospheric lifetimes), delayed relative to the onset of long timescale direct effects, or generally unrelated to the radiative impact of the offending emission.

The GWP also lacks consideration of the opportunity costs of a change in RF associated with the emission or a change to atmospheric composition. In particular, such valuations will generally vary over time as economies change (Eckaus 1992). One essential fault is that RF is an indirect metric of the motivation for system change, not of the outcome of this change. This is a basic handicap in addressing questions of welfare impact (Hammitt et al. 1996).

Here, we are concerned with the impact of the next unit of emission; this is what we can influence with an increment of technological or operational change. It also requires a change in perspective from what has been cumulative, historical, and physical, to a marginal, future, and economic viewpoint. There have been several suggestions for alternative, welfare-based metrics of comparative impact (cf. Reilly and Richards 1993; Kandlikar 1996); this is also the goal of this study.

⁸ These references extensively review the mechanisms of climate impact associated with commercial aircraft operations; this section assumes this background material.

Figure 4.6 makes these points graphically. On the far left of the plot is a comparison of effects using the instantaneous RF metric normalized to CO₂. The group on the right is the same comparison, but using MAIPA annual damage results as the comparative normalization.





Whereas RF ratios suggest non-CO₂ effects are a factor of ~2.7 of that of CO₂ alone (non-CO₂/CO₂ ~ 2.7), under some assumptions total cost ratios show the opposite, with CO₂ effects a factor of 3-4 that of non-CO₂ effects (non-CO₂/CO₂ ~ 0.25-0.35).

It has been informally suggested that a discounted temperature ratio as a multiplier on equilibrium carbon costs can be employed, but there is a similar flaw in this compromise as shown in figure 4.6. The critical observation is that moving away from physical metrics towards metrics that account for risk preferences effect an important change in perspective as to choosing options that best reduce environmental risks of air transport. Taking this one step further, the ratio non-CO₂/CO₂ damages as a portion of the marginal damage cost of a unit fuel consumption is approximately 0.1 at the median. Marginal climate damages averaged over the entire analysis period 1991-2003 are summarized in Table 4.1.

climate impact vectors (\$/metric ton)				
species	median [interquartile range]			
fuel	21 [14 32]			
C	25 [16 37]			
Н	6.4 [3.9 11]			
SO2	120,000 [60,000 200,000]			
NO _x	(73) [(340 160]			
PM _{ov}	3,500 [2,000 7,000]			

Table 4.1. Estimated marginal climate damages per unit emissions and per unit fuel consumption

4.5. Uncertainties in physical models

The calculations presented previously consider the relative effects of three parametric influences on the location of the baseline median value; the discount rate (baseline) and changes in r_g as represented by two alternative IS92 scenarios, lower growth (IS92a) and higher growth (IS92e). To reiterate, the discount rate and growth rate are separated here to convey the difference in preference variability versus variability in economic projections.

Differences in the construction of climate response models (CRM) and the physical processes they represent (structural uncertainties) also affect the magnitude of damage costs. With the results discussed in this section, the MAIPA analysis of climate damages finds that parametric, scenario, and structural uncertainties contribute similarly to uncertainty in cost estimates. Managing the climate risks of aviation emissions is as much dependent upon (a) normative decisions underlying the specification of intergenerational wealth distribution as on (b) scientific questions of carbon-cycle and climate processes as on (c) propagated parametric uncertainties.

4.5.1. Structural uncertainty in specification of climate models

Table 4.2 summarizes calculation specifications to assess structural uncertainties; at the close of this section, we consider the comparative roles of parametric, scenario, and structural uncertainties in the estimation of climate damages from air transport.

	climate						
economic	CRM1	CRM2	СВМЗ	CRM4	CRM5	CRM6	
I S92a	S2 r=[0.03, 0.05, 0.07] 1992 only	S3 r=[0.03, 0.05, 0.07] 1992 only	S4 r=[0.03, 0.05, 0.07] 1992 only	S5 r=[0.03, 0.05, 0.07] 1992 only	baseline r=[0.03, 0.05, 0.07] 1991-2003	S6 r=[0.03, 0.05, 0.07] 1992 only	

Table 4.2. Case specifications for evaluation of structural uncertainties

The nominal case uses the economic development assumptions of IS92a and combines the CO_2 impulse response of equation A10.4 (cf. appendix 10) and the impulse response function in equation A11.3 (cf. appendix 10) for surface temperature using a 3% discount rate. Table 4.3 provides a comparison of the CRMs identified in table 4.2.

Table 4.3. Climate response models for evaluation of structural uncertainties

temperature	carbon cycle response model						
response model	C-MRH87a	C-MRH87b	C-MR93	C-Ho01	C-BernTAR		
T-Ha93	CRM 1	CRM 2	CRM 3				
T-Ha97			CRM 4				
T-Ho01				CRM 5	CRM 6		
designation	comments						
C-MRH87a	HAMMOC inorganic ocean-circulation carbon cycle model for 1.25xCO ₂ step input						
C-MRH87b	HAMMOC inorganic ocean-circulation carbon cycle model for 2xCO ₂ step input						
C-MR93	HAMMOC with addition of oceanic biota and sediment sinks						
C-Ho01	HAMMOC with addition of nonlinear uptake of carbon in surface waters, but no biota or sediment sinks						
C-BernTAR	HILDA inorganic ocean-circulation carbon cycle model with 4-pool terrestrial biota model as specified for the IPCC TAR						

The six cases outlined employ climate response models that represent two eras of development. (cf Appendices A10 and A11 for a more detailed account of these models). Figure 4.7 compares estimated annual damages for each of the cases described by tables 4.2 and 4.3. The baseline case is CRM5.





In the first set are CRMs 1-4 which reflect model development leading up to the second assessment report. CRMs 1-3 are differentiated by the extent to which they capture the various processes which control the carbon cycle, represented by the amplitudes and characteristic timescales of the constituent modes. In comparison to CRM3, CRM4 reflects a decomposition of the temperature response into three different modes (as opposed to one) with the same climate sensitivity, the primary difference being in the additional identification of a relatively lower amplitude, but longer timescale perturbation.

As in the comparison of CO_2 and non- CO_2 effects previously, the relative importance of these modes is a function of the discount rate. The difference in CRM1 and CRM2 is in the input used to identify the

impulse response. The key distinction is that the $2x CO_2$ input of CRM2 results in a slower long-term relaxation of CO_2 but with a smaller amplitude than identified for the $1.25x CO_2$ input of CRM1. Under discounting in the baseline case, these tendencies counteract, but essentially negate one another leading to approximately the same result (CRM1/CRM2 ~ 1.1).

The baseline case and scenario S6 reflect model development leading up to the IPCC Third Assessment Report. In the baseline case, the carbon-cycle representation does not account for key carbon sinks and accounts for nonlinear processes that reduce the inorganic solubility pump, resulting in a relatively higher X_{CO2} in a shorter timeframe than in CRM1-CRM4. The additional terrestrial and biospheric sinks in the Bern model counter this bias. However, the primary influence is the difference in surface temperature response which reflects a lower median climate sensitivity and while dominated by a long-term component in aggregate, is consequently a lower amplitude. Note that the Bern CCM – ECHAM case (CRM6) is the closest to the specification used by Nordhaus (2008).

Higher discount rates would further accentuate the amplitude differences; with additional carbon sinks accounted in scenario S3, the timescales of carbon uptake are shorter across all modes, but the amplitude of longest wavelength mode is higher, leading to relatively higher damages under discounting (CRM1/ CRM3 ~ 0.7). In absolute terms, the range damage costs due to these differences in carbon cycle representation $X_{CO_2}^{ref}$ are ~0.5 of the annual damage interquartile range for 3% discount rate. In comparison to scenario CRM3, CRM4 reflects a decomposition of the temperature response into three different modes (as opposed to one) with the same climate sensitivity, the primary difference being in the additional identification of a relatively lower amplitude, but longer timescale perturbation. Under discounting, the change in amplitude of the dominant mode again determines the change in response, here a decline relative to CRM1.

Discounted, the damages are weighted towards a relatively small (~4%) short-term component resulting in a factor ~4 smaller damage than in CRM1-4; in absolute, the difference between set 1 (CRM1-4) and set 2 (CRM5-baseline and CRM6) is ~2 times the baseline interquartile range at 3%. It is important to highlight that the difference between the comparisons among physical scenario and the account of propagated uncertainties is that the scenarios reflect changes in the structure of the response while the

uncertainties in climate sensitivity control magnitude; the point is that with discounting, the former is at least as influential as the latter.

4.5.2. Uncertainty in specification of altitude NO_x effects

Competition among short-lived and long-lived perturbations leads to an ambiguous conclusion as to the effect of NOx emissions, with different estimates of regional versus global perturbations making it uncertain whether net damages are positive or negative. The net damages are the sum of two components — short-lived ozone production and methane destruction occurring over a longer timescale—each of which are O(10) larger than the net effect.

Table 4.4. Case specifications for evaluation of uncertainty in effects of air transport NOx emissions

economic	IS92a	IS92a Wild	IS92a Derw
CRM5	baseline r=[0.03, 0.05, 0.07]	S7 r=[0.03]	S8 r=[0.03]
	1991-2003	1991-2003	1991-2003

For the baseline case, the analysis estimates a median net cooling effect from NOx emissions, but its magnitude is on the order of the computational resolution and thus our ability to differentiate from zero is tenuous. Relative to the median climate damage, ozone production is ~0.25•C while the methane effect is -0.34•C, leading to a net -0.09 times the median climate damage cost. Because of the difference in the perturbation lifetimes of these components, the balance of effects depends on the discount rate, the rate of economic growth, and more influentially on different specifications for the climate response. Any of these factors can determine whether NOx emissions lead to net cooling or warming.

Two alternative analyses of radiative forcing from aircraft NOx at altitude (Derwent et al. 2000, Wild et al. 2002) were also evaluated as shown in figure 4.8 compared to baseline results at r = 3%. These analyses differ from Stevenson et al. (2004) primarily in the warming estimated to occur as a result of ozone production—in Wild et al., $RF_{O_3}^{yr} = 0.0079$ W/m2 and $RF_{CH_4}^{yr} = 0.0046$ W/m2 and in Derwent et al., $RF_{O_3}^{yr} = 0.0046$ W/m2 and $RF_{CH_4}^{yr} = 0.0046$ W/m2 and RF_{CH_4}^{yr} = 0.0046 W/m2 and RF_{CH_4}^{yr}





The outcome is a net warming with a higher confidence of being distinct from zero than in the baseline case analysis (reject at p=0.1) but only for the period 2000-2003; relative to propagated uncertainties, this variability does not significantly resolve the ambiguity of effect observed for the baseline case. Uncertainties associated with economic parameters (discount rate and consumption growth) or the construction of climate models have an O(10)-O(100) larger effect on outcome in the baseline analysis. More fundamentally, NO_x damages are an absolute O(10)-O(100) less than primary pollutant (i.e. CO_2 and H_2O) damages regardless of the specifications for economic parameters. The same conclusion is evidenced for sulfur and PM_{nv} emissions.

5. Damages from reduced air quality

In the regulatory context, complex models of the chemistry and fluid dynamics of the lower troposphere are exercised to make detailed assessments of air quality to determine nonconformity and demonstrate attainment (cf. EPA 07). These models have a spatial resolution appropriate to the transport scales of urban plumes and point sources in keeping with the NAAQS. These models are designed to capture temporal scales ranging from minutes to days, focusing primarily on the analysis of episodic conditions (e.g. summertime high ozone events related to stagnated air masses, lasting on the order of a week). Regulatory assessments typically report yearly results.

Our interest, however, lies in using models to determine how efficient it is to alter the emissions characteristics of the aircraft fleet. In contrast to models of aircraft noise exposure, there is less assessment experience in direct evaluation of exposure to the major criteria pollutants affected by aircraft emissions, ozone and PM2.5. The atmospheric processing of aircraft emissions is typically not addressed in an assessment, relying instead on comparative inventory metrics.

The goal in developing an air quality impact model was to develop a methodology to estimate air quality impacts from US commercial air transport and to assess the factors that determine air quality damages. Specifically, the objectives were: (1) to develop an approach that distinguishes the value of reducing NO_x , SO_x , HC, PM_{nv} , and CO emissions that accounts for the formation of ozone and particulate matter; and, (2) to understand the influence of different model parameters and components on uncertainty in estimated damages and relate policy implications.

Contribution 5.1. A measurement-based estimation methodology to model changes in atmospheric pollutant concentrations

As opposed to a detailed chemistry and transport model, a parametric approach estimates changes in the atmospheric concentrations of the criteria pollutants (NO₂, CO, SO₂, O₃, and PM2.5). The central challenge in developing the air quality model is the representation of the nonlinear chemistries and microphysics that control ozone and secondary particulate matter production. For ozone and PM2.5, observational data are used to specify additional linear transformations salient to the chemistry and transport controlling formation processes. Changes to pollutant exposure patterns are established using

scaling arguments that draw on measurement data to represent geographic patterns as locational variability.

Contribution 5.2. Identified that the major source of reducible uncertainty in emissions damages stems from the assumed extent of ozone and particulate matter production in the engine exhaust plume.

In the context of MAIPA, variance in VSL controls precision estimated damages, but choices as to how to construct the air quality analysis are equally if not more influential: specifically, homogeneous element of scale (timescale comparisons), heterogeneous element of population and meteorology, source accounting, and decisions about benefit transfers

The most significant uncertainties are tied to our understanding of how exhaust plumes evolve in the lower troposphere and interact with other emissions sources, specifically the extent to which photochemistry and particulate formation in the exhausted air mass are distinct from the physics and chemistry of the surrounding atmosphere.¹ Currently, large scale complex air quality models such as the EPA CMAQ are applied to estimate aircraft air quality impacts with the assumption that plume processes are not significant.

Comparisons of MAIPA results with recent air quality assessments, including results from an study of US commercial aircraft effects mandated by the Energy Policy Act of 2007, suggest the an O(2) impact on estimated damages from secondary particulates. The impact is more significant on ozone; the estimated impacts of NO_x emissions are divided 70:30 among ozone and PM2.5 impacts. If photochemistry is not influential as suggested by CMAQ calculations, the average median annual damage for 1991-2003 would fall from \$4.5B to approximately \$2B.

Result 5.1. Air quality impacts of US commercial aircraft emissions between 1991-2003

Marginal damage estimates suggest that SO_x , HC, PM_{nv} emissions play a role in air quality as important as NO_x, and instead of ozone, impacts on ambient PM2.5 emerge as the predominant air quality concern. The average median annual damage for 1991-2003 is estimated to be \$4.5B (CV= 58% and rSE = 2.9%). Emissions of SO_x, NO_x, and VOC constitute 99% of the annual damage costs with the remainder due to

¹ The evolution occurs on the scale of kilometers and is uniquely distributed; a vertically-oriented, linear, buoyant air mass mixing into the atmospheric mesoscale. The smaller photochemical and microphysical time scales are relative to mixing and transport, the higher the estimated damages.

CO and PM_{nv} Of PM2.5, 55% of annual damages is attributable to SO_x , 30% to NO_x , and 15% to VOC. These results suggest that considering PM2.5 as an equivalent air quality source control priority to ozone, specifically evaluating options for SOx, HC, and PM_{nv} emissions controls along with NO_x , would be a positive step toward improved decision-making.

Result 5.2. Comparative benefits from reductions in fuel and emissions

Emissions impacts of US commercial aircraft are dictated by the progress in controlling emissions from other sources.² An important distinction is that where a change in air quality can be affected immediately through a change in emissions, climate change lags emissions. The consequence is that it is almost certain that the marginal climate damages will increase year-to-year for the foreseeable future (at least over the lifetime of an aircraft generation in the commercial fleet). However, efforts to improve air quality can relatively quickly affect marginal air quality damages and change the conclusions of an assessment.

Without the ability to control the growth of marginal emissions damage costs (since they are chiefly dependent on the larger pool of sources that contribute to background emissions), it is important to make sure that the most effective mitigation approaches are taken. The following results provide some comparative guidance based on the air quality and climate analyses in this thesis.

- On average, reducing a kilogram of emitted sulfur gives approximately the same reduction in health damages as reducing ~2 kilograms of NOx or VOC, and ~5 kg of PM_{nv}.
- Reducing EI(S) provides an expected net reduction in damages with greater than 95% confidence.
- Reducing EI(NO_x) above the mixing height has an ambiguous benefit, statistically indistinguishable from zero. The magnitude of this uncertainty is O(10) smaller than marginal damages from air quality impacts.
- Marginal reductions in fuel consumption below the mixing height (e.g. the landing-takeoff cycle) have an O(10) larger benefit than in the free troposphere (e.g. cruise)—see figures 1.3(a), 1.3(b) and 1.3(c).
- Finally, reducing EI(PM_{nv}) consistently over the entire flight profile increases per-unit benefits by a factor of 2.

² In contrast, noise marginal damages (discussed in the next chapter 6) decline as total noise energy increases and are determined solely by aircraft noise.

5.1. Damages as a function of disease and mortality

Health-based ambient concentration limits established by the Clean Air Act (CAA) of 1970—the National Ambient Air Quality Standards (NAAQS)—organize national air quality policies. Attaining these standards is the province of state planning, with EPA oversight and additional regulatory measures to control certain source categories, with an emphasis on ozone and particulate matter. Aircraft are one of the sources over which specific regulations have been instituted to control emissions. The CAA provides the legal framework for establishing and enforcing national emissions standards for aircraft engines (42 USC 1857), prohibiting supersession by state or local regulations (42 USC 1859), and giving specific guidance to base regulatory action on the state of technology with regards to safety and developmental capability.

5.1.1. Metrics relevant to national air quality policies

Initial regulations promulgated in 1973 (38 FR 136) to limit fuel venting, smoke, HC, CO, and NO_x emissions were founded on an EPA determination that airports would be major contributors to emissions inventories and that attaining the NAAQS (at that time addressing photochemical oxidants and smoke) would require controls on aircraft engines. Controls are based on a landing-takeoff (LTO) cycle that extends to an altitude of ~915 m (3000 ft). Emissions above 915 m, where an aircraft spends most of its time in flight, are not controlled (40 CFR 87).³ These regulations extended to foreign civil aircraft, provided no other obligations with foreign states were affected.

Inventories are the primary assessment metric used to evaluate environmental impacts. CAA conformity requirements require federal actions, like the construction of airport infrastructure, to be consistent with state implementation plans for the control of air quality. Significant contributions to regional air quality, those that require general conformity determinations, are defined against area emissions inventories, with action required for projects adding >10% regardless of whether the sum total contribution is below *de minimus* levels (FAA and EPA 2002). Conformity determinations consider NO_2 , CO, SO_2 , VOC, and

³ In compliance with the process set up by the CAA, the FAA promulgated in 1974 Special Federal Aviation Regulation (SFAR) 27 implementing certification requirements for aircraft engines (38 FR 211). Following reanalyses of local air quality problems around airports prompted by requirements in the 1977 CAA amendments, questions of technological feasibility, major new economic studies, and development delays for new combustor technology, emissions regulations saw major revisions in 1978 and several postponements of compliance dates through the late 1970s and early 1980s. In 1990, certification requirements were codified as 14 CFR 34.

primary PMnv as inventory contributions.⁴ In the case of air transport operations, changes to area inventories as a result of infrastructure investments rarely result in a conformity determination.⁵ The air quality analysis developed in this section shows how these metrics can be a poor indicator of the relative contributions of aircraft emissions to air quality change.

5.1.2. Estimation and valuation of changes in disease and mortality risks

In contrast to climate and noise impacts, where damages are estimated as a function of changes in environmental metrics, risks are explicitly estimated to determine damages due to emissions impacts on air quality. The approach is to estimate changes in mortality and disease incidence and then annual damages as a function of these risks. With the linear assumptions of air-quality analysis developed subsequently, statistical restrictions force us to consider the marginal air quality damages of aircraft emissions equivalent to average damage costs.

Equation 5.1 outlines the computation. In equation 5.1, n_m is the change in the incidence of a health effect m. The damage from health effect m due to emissions of species i is the product of I and the marginal damage cost c of one incident. The sum of these damages over all health effects M gives the annual air quality damage cost C. Marginal costs are then estimated by dividing annual air quality damage cost by the emissions inventory Q for species i.

$$\hat{C} = \sum_{i=1}^{I} \hat{C}_{i}$$
$$\hat{C}_{i} = \sum_{m=1}^{M} \Delta \hat{n}_{m} \cdot \hat{c}_{m}$$
$$\hat{c}_{i} = \hat{C}_{i} / \hat{Q}_{i}$$

(5.1)

⁴ The first formal air quality analysis of aircraft as emissions sources was conducted in 1959 by the Los Angeles County Air Pollution Control District. UBA (2004) reports the subsequent history of airport air quality model development in the United States and Europe (cf. Platt et al., 1971, LAAPCD 1971, EPA, 1972, Rote et al, 1973, Norco et al. (1973), Whitten and Hogo (1976) Kitagawa (1977), Duewer and Walton (1978) Yamartino et al. 1980b, Stern and Scherer (1982), and Timm and Lühring (1988). The EPA currently evaluates air quality using the Community Multiscale Air Quality model (CMAQ) (ref 40CFR pt51 appW, CMAQ v4.6 operational guidance doc).

⁵ For these regulatory purposes, the FAA Emissions Dispersion Modeling System (EDMS) is the currently sanctioned method estimating airport emissions inventories (16FAR18068) (Segal and Hamilton, 1988; Segal, 1991; Moss and Segal, 1994 + add a recent reference, Hall et al., 2003).
Impacts considered in the air quality model include premature and sudden mortality, chronic respiratory illness (e.g. chronic bronchitis), hospital admissions and emergency room visits for respiratory (e.g. asthma, pneumonia) and cardiovascular diseases (e.g. chronic obstructive pulmonary disease, congestive heart failure, dysrhythmia, ischemic heart disease), and minor symptomatic illness as well as reduced activity that may be associated with illness. From a scientific standpoint, mortality studies are overwhelmingly important in the evaluation of health effects.

Estimating the occurrence of morbidity and mortality associated with changes in air quality entails the selection of epidemiological studies that statistically evaluate the relationship between pollutant exposure and health effects in human populations (controlling for the potential effects of and synergies among other pollutants, spatial and temporal exposure patterns, and confounding factors that may influence risk).⁶

Changes in health effect risks are estimated from calculated perturbations in the ambient concentrations of the criteria pollutants using one of several possible regression models, or concentration-response (C-R) functions. Equations 5.2 show the linear, log-linear, or logistic formulations typical of the regressions selected for use in the air quality analysis. In equations 5.2, the change in ambient concentration is denoted by ΔX_i ; Δr_m is the change in incidence for health effect *m* and is a function of ΔX_i given the regression type. The number of expected cases of health effect *m*, n_m as in equation 5.1 above, is the product of Δr_m and the population vulnerable to the air quality change $n_{pop}m$. Also in equations 5.2, beta is a risk rate, or the number of cases expected per change in ambient concentration. For the log-linear and logistic models, r_{m0} is a baseline incidence specific to health effect *m*.

 $\hat{n}_{m} = n_{pop}^{m} \cdot \Delta \hat{r}_{m}$ linear $\Delta \hat{r}_{m} = \beta \cdot \Delta \hat{X}_{i}$ log-linear $\Delta \hat{r}_{m} = r_{0}^{m} e^{-\beta \cdot \Delta \hat{X}_{i}} - 1$ logistic $\Delta \hat{r}_{m} = \frac{r_{0}^{m}}{(1 - r_{0}^{m})e^{-\beta \cdot \Delta \hat{X}_{i}} + r_{0}^{m}} - r_{0}^{m}$

(5.2)

⁶ Toxicologic assessments of disease burdens are impractical in application to large populations. A toxicological approach requires detailed information about pollutant composition, mechanism of biological effect, and specific exposure patterns. Toxicological studies do provide important information for epidemiological investigations such as which health outcomes to investigate, potential confounding factors, and populations at increased risk. factors to control.

Congruent with current regulatory practice and the recommendations the National Academy of Engineering review and critique of health effects analysis and its application in EPA decision-making (NAE 2002, cf. GAO 2006).⁷ Recent EPA impact assessments are the basis for selection of the epidemiological studies used in this analysis. Concentration-response functions used in the Section 182 (§182) benefits analysis of the Clean Air Act and Amendments (CAA and CAAA, and EPA 1997, 1999) are the basis for evaluating morbidity endpoints.

The §182 study employs a clear set of selection criteria that mirror NAE recommendations, and the scope of the §182 study is consistent with the geographic and temporal boundaries of MAIPA (cf. chapter 2). Adhering to these criteria, modifications are made to update the assessment of mortality using more recent epidemiological studies of premature mortality associated with PM2.5 that are consistent with the EPA Environmental Benefits Mapping and Analysis Program (BenMAP). The air quality analysis also examines the impact of sudden mortality associated with O₃ as a source of structural uncertainty; these C-R functions are also consistent with BenMAP.

Parametric uncertainties, pooling, and data sources. Statistical errors in the C-R relationships are propagated through MAIPA to derive uncertainties in incidence of health and welfare impacts. No effect thresholds are assumed and mortality lags are set to zero.⁸ A fixed effects model for weightings (1/var) pools studies with the same endpoint, thus assuming reported risk rates estimate the same effect value. Variance-weighting reduces the overall uncertainties in the incidence of health effects, by emphasizing, where averaging is required, studies where parametric uncertainties are smaller. C-R functions are pooled by individual population strata according to the categorization used in the 2000 U.S. Census, then pooled for species-specific effects, and finally aggregated across species to calculate endpoint-specific incidences. The stratification of population data from the Census is sometimes different from the subject population in the original study, particularly for those focusing on children; equivalencies are specified in tables A14.2-A14.6 (cf. appendix 14). Similarly, available air quality indicators are applied where a study measure is not available.

⁷ Other important sources that broadly treat air quality issues include the criteria documents and related staff papers, which form the technical basis for NAAQS development.

⁸ This results in an overestimate of the cost since all incidences of death will occur in the year associated with the reference pollution level.

See Appendix 14 for additional discussion:

Table A14.1 in Appendix 14 (Concentration-response functions) reproduces the §182 criteria for selecting studies to specify concentration-response functions. In sum, forty-two studies published between 1980 and 2003 are employed to address the health effects of NO₂, CO, SO₂, O₃, and PM2.5. Tables A14.2-A14.6 in Appendix 14 summarize their functional forms, statistical parameters, population applicability, pooling categorization, and their sources.

5.1.3. Estimates of willingness-to-pay for reduction of health risks

The estimates of air quality damages in this thesis account for the microeconomic impacts of changes in the incidence of the mortality and morbidity endpoints described in the previous section. Marginal willingness-to-pay (MWTP)—given as the marginal damage cost c in equation 5.1—is specified differently for mortality and chronic respiratory disease as opposed to other morbidity impacts. In the case of mortality, we use estimates of the value of small changes in mortality risk, commonly known as the value of a statistical life or VSL. Such valuations are not intended to measure the worth of a life per se, but rather societal preferences for the economic compensation required to offset the increased risk; it is a marginal estimate.

A Weibull probability function fit to the mean estimates of VSL from twenty-six studies is used to characterize the variability in VSL estimates derived from two methods of estimating WTP: the hedonic price and contingent valuation methods. Figure 5.1 plots the cumulative distribution and the Weibull fit.



Figure 5.1. Cumulative distribution function for the value of a statistical life

The value of a statistical life is controversial, but it is an assessment of societal preferences that responds to the objective of this thesis to weigh options to reduce environmental impacts. It is not the intent of this study to address the more fundamental equity, and to some extent philosophical, issues that arise in the application of VSL and similar estimates of WTP for reductions in mortality risk. However, these are important questions to consider within the broader decision-making process. While it is common practice to present these risks as a number of deaths, we can as easily present these valuations on a per unit risk basis; both statistics are given in the results of this chapter.

For increased morbidity other than chronic respiratory disease, we rely on cost-of-illness (COI) estimates — a measure of out-of-pocket expenditures—instead of one of the more appropriate economic accounts derived from WTP approaches. COI aggregates observed expenditures for medical treatment and loss of wages. Since these expenditures occur after the impact of air pollution has been realized, they do not express preferences. As such, they are not welfare measures and although we can say they are underestimating surrogates for WTP—they do not account for suffering and the like—their relationship to the actual valuation is not known in the instance of their use. One estimate places medical care expenditures for ozone-related morbidity at 50% of the estimated welfare impact Gerking (1991). Despite these potentially large underestimates, they are of relatively minor consequence to damage cost estimates

-damages associated with changes in mortality risk are O(100) larger than morbidity impacts. Distributions for morbidity valuations—including chronic and symptomatic morbidity associated with respiratory and cardiac conditions, as well as the welfare effects of restricted activity that can result—are taken directly from EPA section 182 benefit analysis as summarized in table A17.8 (EPA 1999).

Benefit transfer problems exist in virtually all applications of C-R relationships. In MAIPA, as with similar studies, C-R relationships are assumed to apply for populations different from the subject population studied. Since the underlying epidemiological studies often focus on a particular region (in some cases over time, e.g. cross-sectional data), evidence for an upward or downward bias on disease incidence due to benefit transfers is not clear.

5.2. Response of ambient pollutant concentrations to aircraft emissions

Consistent with the geographic resolution of the available air quality data, MAIPA uses a box estimate (i.e. a well-mixed volume of the atmosphere bounded by the county boundaries and the mixing height) of the perturbations relative to the ambient baseline concentration measured for a county. Physically, this implies that the timescale of secondary pollutant formation (O₃ and PM2.5) is much less than the mixing and transport timescales referencing the primary dimension of the typical county.

As described in the previous section, the estimator ΔX_i determines changes in disease incidence and mortality risk. To estimate the extent to which emissions and their atmospheric derivatives affect populations, we construct a distribution for perturbations to baseline ambient concentrations that result from airport emissions inventories. Equation 5.3 shows this probability distribution for ΔX_i as the union of distributions calculated for each airport location *l*. Chapter 3 discussed the application of aircraft operations for 96 airports used with the MAGENTA model in MAIPA; these 96 airports are the sample *L* in equation 5.3, each of which is associated with a set of distributions of demographic and environmental data to estimate ΔX_i with the methodology developed in this section.⁹

(5.3)
$$P(\Delta X_i) = \bigcup_{l=1}^{L=96} P(\Delta X_i^l)$$

⁹ More detailed considerations appropriate to higher resolution modeling efforts can be found in Seinfeld (1986, 1989, 2004) and EPA criteria documents (ref criteria documents).

5.2.1. Change in ambient concentrations due to NO₂, SO₂, HC, and CO emissions

Changes in ambient concentrations of criteria pollutants are estimated with the assumption that the sum of chemical and microphysical processes linearly scale with small changes in initial conditions. With this assumption, changes in the ambient concentrations of NO₂, SO₂, HC, and CO are estimated proportionally to the ratio of aircraft emissions inventories (NO_x as NO₂, CO, HC as VOC, and SO_x as SO₂) to area emissions inventories, e.g. equation 5.4. This is a standard approach in EPA air quality analyses that assumes the chemical lifetimes of NO₂, SO₂, HC, and CO are large relative to the time scales of transport and diffusion over the reference geographic area.

(5.4)
$$\Delta \hat{X}_{i} = X_{i}^{amb} \left(\frac{\hat{Q}_{i}}{Q_{i}^{l}} \right) \text{ for } i = \left(\text{NO}_{x} \land \text{SO}_{2} \land \text{VOC} \land \text{CO} \right)$$

Monitor data and emissions inventories are resolved to county geographic areas; congruently, airports are treated as additional county sources. EPA National Emissions Inventory (NEI, ref NEI and EPA 1997, 1999b) specify county emissions Qil, accounting for all emissions sources. Baseline ambient concentrations Xiref are taken from the EPA AirData information system. These data summarize monitor measurements input to the EPA Air Quality System. The first year for which data for all criteria pollutants are available is 1997; PM2.5 was not reported prior and it is assumed that baseline ambient concentrations during 1991-1996 were the same as in 1997. Also, the EPA AirData database does not record VOC measurements as it does for the criteria pollutants. In lieu, ambient VOC concentrations are specified as P(unif: 0.32, 3.4) ppm based on the data reported in EPA (1986).

The central challenge in developing the air quality model is the representation of the nonlinear chemistries and microphysics that control ozone and secondary particulate matter production. For ozone and PM2.5, observational data are used to specify additional linear transformations salient to the chemistry and transport controlling formation processes. The next two sections describe the approach taken in MAIPA.

5.2.2. Parameterization of secondary ozone formation

Ozone kinetics depend directly on absolute and relative precursor concentrations as well as meteorology, thus varying with geography. To parameterize these dynamics, the analysis draws from the substantial

150

literature that considers measurement indicators of ozone sensitivity. The ozone model references *in situ* measurements to specify an ozone production efficiency (OPE) as defined in equation 5.5 (Liu et al 1987, Zaveri et al. 2003). When OPE is mentioned in this section, note that it is an integrated measure encompassing the history of photochemistry in the aircraft plume through mixing at the atmospheric mesoscale.

(5.5)
$$\Delta X_{03} \simeq \text{OPE} \cdot \Delta X_{\text{NOx}} \text{ where OPE} = \frac{dX_{03}}{dX_{\text{NOx}}}$$

As with the underlying ozone chemistry described previously, the OPE is nonlinear, inversely proportional to NO_x and dependent on the ratio of reactive organic gases to NO_x (ROG/NO_x); in the case where ozone is limited by the availability of NO_x , the relationship is essentially linear. Regulatory analyses of national air quality programs completed over the last decade indicate values for OPE between 1-2 are estimated by air quality analyses using EPA models. Analyses using measured air quality data appear to support this range of OPE estimates. Kasibhatla et al. (1998) estimate the regional accumulation and removal of ozone using monitor data that track ozone chemistry at the resolution of EPA air quality models; they find OPE = 1-3 over the eastern US, consistent with the OPE calculated in regulatory applications of air quality models.

However, these conclusions may not be apropos of ozone formation sourced to aircraft emissions. Photochemistry may be substantial in the exhaust plume before the emissions are mixed to the atmospheric mesoscale resolution of regulatory air quality models. Observational evidence suggests that in pollutant emissions flows well-defined against the atmospheric background (such as an aircraft engine exhaust plume), ozone production may be substantially more vigorous than suggested by regional analyses using air quality models.¹⁰ The measurement literature, accounting only studies that include evaluation of loss rates, reports OPE in the range 1-7.¹¹

There is no quantitative understanding of ozone production in aircraft exhaust plumes and the scope of the present analysis cannot include the research required to understand photochemistry in this complex

¹⁰ For plumes, initial compositional and fluid dynamical conditions affect the course of the photochemistry.

¹¹ This range excludes OPE estimates for the Houston area (cf. Reyerson et al., 2002; Berkowitz et al. 2004) that exceed this range; these values are due to uniquely high VOC emissions (petrochemical industries) relative to other urban locations.

reacting flow. An examination of two literatures published over the last two decades—(1) studies of ozone precursor chemistry in aircraft exhaust plumes, and (2) studies of ozone formation in plumes generated by non-aircraft emissions sources—suggests that ozone production likely occurs within the plume before precursors are dispersed to the atmospheric mesoscale.

Based on these evaluations, the existing data is applied to specify a distribution for OPE in equation 5.5. Uncertainty in ozone production as it relates to aircraft plumes—a function of both geographic variability and parametric uncertainty—is incorporated using a triangular probability function Ptrig[1:2:7] that encompasses reported summertime measurements in urban and rural areas with the likely value biased to peak at OPE = 2. The selected likely value is is intended to reflect current regulatory assessments.

As a preliminary check on the validity of this distribution, Aerodyne Research agreed to conduct computations of the passive photochemistry in an aircraft plume flow to get a sense of the possible values for OPE. The results suggest instantaneous OPE \sim 4-6. This is only suggestive of a possible downward bias in the OPE probability function as specified for MAIPA. However, it points to a significant structural uncertainty that is not currently addressed in air quality modeling of aircraft impacts on ozone air quality.

See Appendix for additional discussion:

- Appendix 13 (Tropospheric ozone production) reviews the substantial literature that considers measurement indicators of ozone sensitivity and the role of NO_x and VOC precursors in ozone formation.
- Appendix 13 also reviews the available measurement studies of ozone production in non-aircraft plumes; these studies cover a range of environmental conditions and the spectrum of ozone sensitivity to NO_x and VOC precursors.

5.2.3. Parameterization of secondary particulate matter formation

The activity of precursor chemistry in the plume also has an impact on secondary particulate matter formation. A reduced-order, bottom-up assessment of change in PM2.5 due to secondary PM is difficult. Unlike ozone chemistry, the primary factor governing PM2.5 contributions is the ratio of the chemical time scale of precursor production to the physical timescale of deposition. If this ratio is >>1, then oxidation is faster than removal and an addition close to a proportional contribution to area inventories is realized. However, this assumption is reasonable only for primary PM emissions; for SOx emissions, the

152

ratio is O(10), for NO_x and VOC it is O(1). Interactions among precursors further complicate the evaluation of secondary PM, primary of which is the competition between NO_x and SO_x oxidants for atmospheric ammonia; a brief summary of the relevant chemistry and microphysics is given in footnote 12.

As we did for ozone, we look to measurements to estimate an parameter to represent the local atmospheric chemistry, here the conversion of emissions to secondary PM. Detailed measurements of PM2.5 concentrations at 13 sites across the United States are used to define the composition of ambient PM2.5.¹³ The total change in PM2.5 is the sum of sulfate, nitrate, organic PM_v, and PM_{nv} resulting from aircraft emissions as well as any mass that may be added by reactions with ambient ammonia to form ammonium sulfate and ammonium nitrate.¹⁴ Equation 5.6 describes the first part of a procedure to estimate the change in ambient PM2.5, estimating sulfate, nitrate, and organic PM_v; the second step is to account for the additional PM2.5 mass resulting from sulfate and nitrate reactions with ambient ammonia as given by equation 5.7.

¹² The ultimate fate of NO₂ in the atmosphere is irreversible conversion to nitric acid (HNO₃) via OH and, during the night, via hydrolysis of dinitrogen pentaoxide (N₂O₅). The formation of HNO₃ continues over several hours at the surface. Nitric acid has a high vapor pressure and does not readily nucleate or condense. The primary particulate sourced to NO_x emissions is ammonium nitrate (NH₄NO₃), a salt formed in the reaction of HNO₃ and ammonia (NH₃) in the atmosphere.

 SO_x -related contributions to particulate matter can be in the form of acids or salts. Sulfate precursors have low saturation vapor pressures that result in near-field nucleation and condensation in the presence of water vapor and soot particulates. Sulfuric acid also competes effectively with HNO₃ for ammonia so that if sulfur emissions are present, NH₃ preferentially binds with H₂SO₄ to form ammonium sulfate (NH₄HSO₄) or ammonium bisulfate ((NH₄)₂HSO₄) to the point of stealing ammonium from NH₄NO₃.

The formation of organic aerosol from VOC emissions is comparatively less well understood than for inorganics. Condensation of high carbon number organic products of ozone photochemistry, uptake of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs) on soot or other solid particles, and dissolution of soluble hydrocarbons are the three primary pathways.

¹³ This data is specific for $\sim 10\%$ of the counties where airports exist.

¹⁴ This procedure is similar to the Speciated Model Attainment Test (SMAT) used by the EPA to determine concentration changes for PM2.5 that result from area emissions. Whereas the SMAT uses air quality models to determine a change in measured concentrations, MAIPA assumes that the addition of aircraft emissions is small enough to perturb the existing atmospheric chemistry linearly.

$$\Delta \hat{X}_{PM2.5}^{\text{no-NH3}} = \Delta \hat{X}_{\text{prim-PM}} + \sum_{j=1}^{3} \Delta \hat{X}_{j}$$
(5.6)
$$specify: \qquad \begin{vmatrix} j = \{\text{sulfate, nitrate, organic PM}_{v} \} \\ i = j: i = \{\text{SO}_{x}, \text{NO}_{x}, \text{HC} \} \end{vmatrix}$$

$$\Delta \hat{X}_{j} = \frac{\alpha_{j} \cdot \hat{X}_{j}^{l}}{Q_{i}^{l}} \cdot \hat{Q}_{i}$$

$$define: \qquad where: \qquad \alpha_{j} = \frac{\hat{X}_{j}}{\hat{X}_{PM2.5}} \Big|_{k}$$

k = references apportioned PM2.5 measurements from 1 of 13 US sites randomly selected

In equation 5.6, alpha is the fraction of the local PM2.5 constituted by species *i*, either sulfate, nitrate, organic PM_v. Similar to OPE, the ratio $(\alpha_j \cdot X'_j)/Q'_i$ is a linear representation of the local chemistry and microphysics of secondary PM formation, a particulate production efficiency or PPE given in units of ppm / tonne. As with the treatment of ozone production described in the previous section, in employing these data we assume that the addition of aircraft emissions would not change the manner in which area source emissions result in PM2.5 mass nor its speciation.

PM2.5 compositional data is specified with a random selection of one of the 13 sites measurement sites at each iteration of the Monte Carlo simulation. This specifies the ratio alpha in equation $5.6.^{15}$ To estimate the increase in ambient PM2.5, the ratio of apportioned mass to source inventory is considered constant, and it is assumed that SO_x emissions affect the sulfate component of PM2.5, NO_x emissions affect nitrate, and HC emissions affect organic carbon, and PM_{nv} emissions perturb elemental carbon. Thus, for each of NO_x, SO_x, VOC, and soot, the percentage increase in area inventory due to aircraft emissions is as a multiplier on the apportioned mass of sulfate, nitrate, and organic PMv.

Recent work to develop a response surface model (RSM) for the effects of aircraft operations on air quality in the US supports the linear assumptions underlying equation 5.6. Drawing from a regulatory impact assessment in support of revisions to the PM2.5 NAAQS, Masek (2008) develops an RSM using air quality computations conducted with the Community Model of Air Quality (CMAQ). CMAQ is a three-dimensional Eulerian model of atmospheric chemistry and transport and is the EPA's preferred

¹⁵ This overestimates the variability in fractional contributions, but to an unknown extent.

regulatory analysis tool for attainment demonstrations and regulatory analyses. Masek (2008) finds that a linear surface fit correlates to PM2.5 perturbations estimated using CMAQ with a coefficient of determination equal to 0.99.

Sulfate and nitrate and compete for ambient ammonia in forming ammonium sulfate and ammonium nitrate. The formation of ammonium sulfate is thermodynamically favored over ammonium nitrate when sulfate and nitrate are both present (footnote 12 provides more detail on the relevant chemistry). The air quality model uses this characteristic of the formation chemistry to partition ammonia between sulfate and nitrate. Equation 5.7 shows the calculation.

$$\Delta \hat{X}_{PM} = \Delta \hat{X}_{PM2.5}^{\text{no-NH3}} + \sum_{j=1}^{2} \Delta \hat{X}_{j}$$
(5.7)
$$specify: \qquad \begin{aligned} j &= \{\text{ammonium sulfate, ammonium nitrate}\}\\ i &= j: i = \{\text{sulfate, nitrate}\} \end{aligned}$$

$$\Delta \hat{X}_{j} &= \kappa_{i} \cdot \Delta \hat{X}_{i}$$

$$where: \qquad \kappa_{j} &= \frac{\left(1 - \alpha_{\text{NH}_{3}}\right)}{1 - \alpha_{\text{NH}_{3}} \cdot \left(\frac{\text{MW}_{i(\text{NH}_{3})}}{\text{MW}_{i}} - 1\right)} \end{aligned}$$

$$define: \qquad \alpha_{NH3} &= \frac{X_{\text{NH3}}}{X_{j}} \bigg|_{k}$$

$$k \text{ references apportioned PM2.5 measurements} \text{ from 1 of 13 US sites randomly selected}$$

Ammonia is first partitioned to sulfate until it is either depleted or until the sulfate is completely converted to ammonium sulfate. If ammonia is left over, the remaining ammonia is assumed to further combine with nitrate to form ammonium nitrate until either the ammonium or nitrate are consumed. Any remaining ammonium does not contribute to the PM2.5 concentration estimate.

5.3. Characterization of air quality impacts of US commercial aircraft

Table 5.1 shows the estimated ambient concentration perturbations using the model described above in section 5.3 and the change in the county all-source emissions inventories accounted by commercial aircraft emissions. The values tabulated are straight averages for the period 1991-2003. For each of these

parameters, table 5.1 enumerates three distributional statistics—median, coefficient of variation relative to the median, and the relative standard error—to summarize estimated changes in air quality due to US commercial aircraft emissions.

Table 5.1. Estimated changes in all-source emissions inventories and pollutant levels across airport-resident counties due to US commercial aircraft emissions 1991-2003

Statistical summary of changes in all-source inventories and background ambient concentrations due to commercial aircraft emissions in airport-resident counties 1991-2003

	change in all-source county inventory (average 1991–2003)			change in concentration of criteria pollutant		
ambient species	median	coefficient of variation = IQR/median	relative standard error = SE/CV	median	coefficient of variation = IQR/median	relative standard error = SE/CV
NO2	1.8%	1.5	0.043	0.28	2.0	0.048
SO2	0.24%	1.9	0.061	8.8	2.0	0.057
VOC	0.28%	1.9	0.075	4.5	2.2	0.078
CO	0.24%	1.7	0.049	0.047	2.4	0.072
03	0.56%	2.2	0.092	0.61	2.1	0.052
primary PM2.5	0.093%	1.8	0.057	0.0020	1.9	0.056
secondary PM2.5	0.38%	1.9	0.055	0.052	2.0	0.056

Consider the change in NO₂ air quality resulting from NO_x emissions as an example interpretation of these statistics. Reading from the table, the air quality model estimates that commercial aircraft operations account for a median 1.8% increase in county inventories over the period 1991-2003, with a coefficient of variation (CV) of 1.5 or 150% (equal to the interquartile range divided by the median) and a relative standard error of 0.043 or 4.3% (equal to CV divided by the standard error). In the air quality analysis, changes in precursor concentrations are proportional to changes in emissions inventories. Thus, the estimated inventory change leads to the same fractional increase in ambient NO₂ concentrations. An increase of 0.28 ppb (CV = 2.0 and rSE = 0.048) in ambient NO₂ concentrations is estimated.

The largest sources of uncertainty in the estimated ambient concentration changes are the variability in air quality data across the 96 airport-resident counties and, in the case of PM2.5, the randomized application of apportionment data from the 13 sites across the US. Part of this uncertainty is reducible by implementing geographic specificity, i.e. removing the blind attribution of operations to airports. For the primary pollutants, the major component of variance in the ambient concentration changes of NO₂, SO₂,

CO, and PM_{nv} is the variance in the ratio of Q_i/Q_i^+ (see equation 5.6). In MAIPA, Q_i/Q_i^+ is a function of both county and airport inventories, but its variance is almost completely dictated by variance in all-source emissions across the airport-resident counties used for the analysis.

For the change in PM2.5 concentrations, the primary source of variance is similar, related to uncertainty in apportionment among nitrates, sulfates, organics, and carbonaceous particulates. Variance in ozone concentration change is additionally influenced by OPE, but while the variance in OPE has a significant effect on uncertainty, it is an O(10) smaller influence than variance in the ratio Q_{NOx}/Q_{NOx}^{l} . However, as would be expected from the linear analysis, OPE, the change in NO₂ concentration, and Q_{NOx}/Q_{NOx}^{l} have equivalent mean-shift coefficients.

Note that the change in the county all-source inventory is the metric relevant to conformity determinations; these determinations address only the inventoried precursors NO_x , SO_x , HC, PMn_v , and CO. Using the inventory metric, the results in table 5.1 suggest NO_x to be relatively more consequential to air quality than other species, with SO_x , HC, and CO having a similar but secondary impact, and PMn_v to be a distant tertiary contribution. This ordering is similar to the attention given by technological standards controlling aircraft engine emissions. Marginal air quality damages suggest a different comparative picture of source control priorities where SO_x , PM_{nv} , and HC emissions play a role equally important or more so compared to NO_x . Section 5.5 returns to this comparison

5.3.1. Effects of changes in background ambient air quality

Figure 5.2 plots the ambient concentration change due to US commercial aircraft emissions from 1991-2003 for the major sources of air quality damages, O_3 and PM2.5, as well as their gaseous precursors NO₂, SO₂, and VOC (summary statistics for PM_nv and CO can be found in table 5.2).

Figure 5.2. Estimated trends in the air quality impacts of US commercial aircraft operations 1991-2003

Concentrations in the units of the concentration-response functions used to estimate changes in mortality risk, the predominant source of damage costs.



The trend lines in figure 5.2 track the median perturbation to ambient concentrations from 1991-2003; the yearly evolution results from interactions among rates of change in aircraft inventories, county inventories, ambient pollutant levels, and uncertainty in these quantities.¹⁶

¹⁶ Nonparametric K-W hypothesis tests indicate that only the net over an interval (different for each pollutant) between a year from the period 1991-2000 and a downturn year 2001, 2002, or 2003 is significant (p = 0.05), implying a resolution that allows us only to state that there is a decline in the air quality impact of aircraft emissions from the period before 2001 to the period after.

Despite the linear approximations of the air quality analysis, the trends plotted in figure 5.2 reveal a nonlinear change in the response of air quality to emissions inputs. Chapter 3 reported the median trends in aircraft NO_x, SO_x, and VOC emissions within the atmospheric boundary layer were constant or decreased, with inventories changing between 1991 and 2003 at compound annual rates of {~0, ~0, -0.63}%, respectively. Trends in the median fraction of county all-source inventories accounted by commercial aircraft emissions mirror these trends, with annual rates of {~0, ~0, - 5.2}% for NO_x, SO_x, and VOCs, respectively. In contrast, the annual rates of atmospheric concentration change due to aircraft emissions are {-1.1,-1.5, ~0}%, respectively.

Importantly, these trends indicate that the impact of aircraft emissions on air quality is a function of the progress in controlling emissions from other sources. A similar conclusion was reached by the climate analysis in chapter 4. This comparison indicates that the sensitivity of atmospheric concentrations to NO_x and SO_x emissions declines from 1991-2003, leading to the net declines in $\Delta \hat{X}_i$ plotted in figures 5.2(a) and 5.2(b) for NO₂ and SO₂ respectively. In the model, the changes in sensitivity appears as changes in the relationship between the source inventories and the background ambient pollutant concentrations; in other words, the PPE parameter in equation 5.6 changes over time. In the air quality model, ozone and particulate matter are multiplicative of precursor trends. The annual compound rate of change in the ozone due to aircraft emissions is -1.8% from 1991-2003; for PM2.5, the rate is also negative at -1.4%.¹⁷

Together, the results indicate an increasing marginal damage curve for air quality, i.e. willingness-to-pay (WTP) increases as the level of pollution increases (as measured by the concentration of criteria pollutants). Thus, WTP increases with an increase in all-source emissions, most of which are from sources other than commercial aircraft as evidenced by table 5.1. Similarly, as discussed in chapter 4, climate marginal damages increase as total emissions increase, again most of which are from non-aircraft sources.

5.3.2. Influence of computational resolution on estimated air quality change

It takes on the order of a day to distribute species from the scale of the exhaust plume to the large scales of atmospheric motion. Ozone lifetimes are of the same order. In contrast, PM can survive in the atmosphere for days to weeks after formation and can travel hundreds of kilometers on prevailing winds.

¹⁷ Note that parametric uncertainties have an upward bias on the statistics in table 5.1, which accentuate upward trends and deemphasize declines; however, this is an O(10) smaller effect than the median trend itself.

Wet and dry deposition processes remove PM and a portion of its precursors. MAIPA does not account for the loss of primary emissions, and assumes that secondary pollutant formation is confined to county boundaries with homogenous exposure to changes in ozone and PM2.5 concentrations.

Comparisons of MAIPA results with recent air quality assessments for the continental US suggest that differences in analysis resolution constitute a fundamental structural uncertainty in the context of modeling aircraft impacts. Figure 5.5(a) plots the estimated concentration changes normalized by the background ambient concentration listed in table 5.1 with a comparison to a recent air quality assessment based on computations performed for a report mandated by the Energy Policy Act of 2007 using the EPA CMAQ (EPACT CMAQ TSD 2007).

These comparisons are used to estimate a magnitude for the uncertainty associated with assuming O_3 and PM2.5 precursor emissions are effectively processed early in the exhaust lifetime (i.e. starting in the exhaust plume) as is assumed by MAIPA versus the assumption that precursor emissions are mixed to the atmospheric mesoscale prior to processing as in CMAQ. Based on the comparisons presented below, different physical assumptions are an O(2) impact on estimated damages from secondary particulates. For ozone, this uncertainty essentially determines whether aircraft NO_x has a role in ozone production.



Figure 5.3. Estimated concentration change normalized by the ambient concentration

The second bar in Figure 5.3a compares the change in ozone concentration estimated by the MAIPA air quality model (gray bar) and using CMAQ for the EPAct study; the MAIPA estimate (0.61 ppb or 0.56%) is 7.6 times larger than through CMAQ (0.08 ppb or 0.12%). We can explain this difference by accounting for differences in inventories, background ambient concentrations, population exposure, and treatment of chemistry.¹⁸

- As plotted in figure 5.3a, the MAIPA estimated change in NO₂ (0.28 ppb or 1.8%) is a factor of 4.1 larger than the EPAct analysis estimate (0.07 ppb or 0.4%).
- MAIPA uses a larger inventory (factor 1.2) and higher baseline ambient concentration (factor 1.1), but these do not fully account for this difference.
- Factored together, these differences suggest that the effective area of exposure in the EPAct analysis is approximately 2 times the sum of county areas in MAIPA.

In this respect, the CMAQ computations are more diffuse, estimating a longer NO₂ lifetime. These factors account for approximately one-half of the difference in ozone concentrations between the EPAct CMAQ and MAIPA ozone. Measurements of ozone chemistry in plumes of different sizes suggest an earlier onset of ozone production in aircraft engine plumes than for power plant or urban plumes. These studies suggest a more localized formation of O₃ than that associated with the regional scale ozone events that arise episodically downwind of large area emission sources. Footnote 19 provides a brief review of these studies. The remainder is due to the factor 1.5 times lower effective ozone production efficiency of the EPAct analysis (OPE = 1.1), at the very low end of the MAIPA OPE distribution.

MAIPA and the EPAct CMAQ also differ in their estimates of the change in ambient PM2.5 concentrations. The EPAct analysis shows an increase of 0.01 ug/m³ (0.08%) compared to the 0.04 ug/m³

¹⁸ Apart from scenario analyses, rigorous accounts of uncertainty in these computational analyses have not been reported (cf. Fine et al. 2003 for additional discussion of uncertainty assessment in air quality modeling); comparisons in figure 5.3 are made against point estimates.

¹⁹ Nunnermaker et al. (1998) note that for the power plant plumes measured in Tennessee, photochemical lifetimes and meteorological conditions imply ozone production continues 30-100 km downstream, with longer distances related to higher emission rates (Nunnermacker et al. 2000; cf. Nunnermacker et al. 1998, Gillani et al. 1998, and St. John et al. 1998). In the urban plumes measured by Ryerson et al. (2001), maximum $[O_3]$ was observed at larger distances between 50-170 km downstream with NO titration found early in the plume. If we consider that the aircraft source is small relative to a regional or stack plume (scale of the urban plume = 0(100) scale of urban plume and 0(10) stack plume), we may infer the same order reduction in mixing time such that aircraft plume ozone chemistry would move more rapidly towards a NO_x-limited condition. The implication is a more localized formation of O3 than that associated with the regional scale ozone events that arise episodically downwind of large area emission sources.

(0.32%) increase estimated through MAIPA, a factor 4 larger. EPAct CMAQ results did not contain information necessary to systematically isolate the sources of this difference. The primary contribution of variance in apportionment data to uncertainty in the estimated change in PM2.5 suggests a primary root of this difference lies in chemical and microphysical assumptions of the two models.

The apportionment of the MAIPA estimated change in PM2.5 among precursor contributions is indicated in Figure 5.3(b) by the stacked bar. The bar is divided to show the component contributions from NO_x (nitrate or ammonium nitrate), SO_x (as sulfate or ammonium sulfate), HC (as volatile organic PM), and PMnv emissions. Year-to-year fractional conversions are not statistically discernible; they are ratios and uncertainty is higher compared to the estimated absolute change in concentration. Thus figure 5.3(b) contains only summary figures for the entire 1991-2003. MAIPA analysis estimates median conversion percentages, averaged over the period 1991-2003, of 6%, 50%, 20%, and 4% for NO_x, SO_x, VOC, and PMnv emissions, respectively. Sulfates constitute the majority PM2.5 component, accounting for approximately 65% by mass, nitrates and organics constitute ~15-20%,²⁰ and carbonaceous particulate accounts for 1%.

Removing the differences in inventories and environmental data, we assume the EPAct estimates of changes in PM2.5 precursors and estimate the PM2.5 concentration change applying the MAIPA median apportionment shown in figure 5.3(b). This makes up less than 50% of the difference in estimated PM2.5 concentration change. Taking the further step of artificially altering the MAIPA apportionment to minimize the estimated change in PM2.5—essentially removing any ammonium contribution—does not make up the remainder. There are two potential explanations: first, the SMAT procedure use to determine apportionment in CMAQ may account differently for water mass; second, precursor loss mechanisms are not accounted in MAIPA. Both of these explanations again return to the question of how to treat aircraft

 $^{^{20}}$ A K-W test indicate no difference in medians at p=0.05.

plumes in the context an air quality analysis. Footnote 21 provides a brief summary of current understanding of particulate matter near airports.

5.3.3. Mortality estimates from linear versus complex air quality models

At the geographic scale over which primary emissions travel prior to the onset of photochemistry and microphysics, health effects decline at a greater rate than concentration perturbations. This suggests that damage estimates using the box approximations of MAIPA may in fact be a maximum at the limiting county resolution. In MAIPA, the population exposed equals the sum of populations over the sample counties, $N_{pop} = A^{ref} \rho_{pop}^{ref} \approx \sum_{l=1}^{L} A' \rho'_{pop}$.

Population data is stratified by age, sex, and race for each of the 96 counties included in the analysis. Since ambient concentration changes are for all counties together, population in equation 5.2 is the sum of these population strata over all counties. However, MAIPA does not account for the impact of population heterogeneity. Total population in this study increases from 108 to 128 million people (r = 1.3%). In comparison, there are 135 small, medium, and large hub airports in counties designated nonattainment zones by the EPA against one or more of the NAAQS. A comparison with the most recently published nonattainment status reports for O₃, PM₁₀, SO₂, CO, and NO₂, as well as proposed nonattainment status for the more recent PM_{2.5} NAAQS shows that approximately 75 million people live in these counties (EPA 2004).

Since airports typically lie in high population density counties compared to those surrounding, total exposure increases in a manner at most proportional to the area of emissions influence. In the opposite sense, considering the volume bounded by a constant hmix and the county boundaries in a well-mixed limit (and that the additional area emissions from the expanded area dilute the aircraft contributions), concentration perturbations decrease in the same manner.

²¹ There is relatively more understood about particle formation in the plume than about ozone production; for example, it has been observed that fine sulfate and organic particles are in abundance in the near-field plume (cf. appendix 2 for discussion of plume particle formation). Three-dimensional air quality models indicate that there are identifiable exposures in local communities attributable to airport emissions, but do not differentiate aircraft versus other sources. Using a nested-grid computation with the tightest resolution at 4 km resolution grid, nested within a larger scale 12 km resolution grid for the Atlanta area, and further nested within a 32 km grid for the eastern US, Unal et al. 2005 estimate positive ozone and PM2.5 exposures in communities surrounding Atlanta-Hartsfield airport; similar European analyses have found comparable conclusions (cf. Moussiopoulos et al. 1997 for Athens, Pison and Menut 2004 for Paris, and Yu et al. 2004). Measurement studies of airport PM2.5 emissions are similarly suggestive of localized exposure (Barbossa 1999, Westerdahl et al. 2007, Herndon et al. papers).

Associated disease incidence diminishes at least linearly with changes in concentration but more likely at a faster rate, specifically since equation 5.6(b) is the basis of mortality incidence estimates, where $N_{pop}^{m} = \alpha^{m} \cdot N_{pop}$. By this scaling, confining ozone and PM2.5 effects to the county in which the airport resides may contribute to an upward bias in health effects per unit emissions, the quantity important to the marginal damage estimate. As comparison, estimates reported in Greco et al. suggest an increase in total health effects at a rate smaller than proportional to distance by two orders of magnitude, as ~1/x with >80% of total population exposure within 50 km.

Figure 5.4 plots the estimated increase in mortality risk as the percent increase in the national nonaccidental mortality rate for 2003, associated with NO_x, SO_x, VOC, and PMnv emissions. Results are compared to estimates from three recent air quality assessments for the continental US. The first assessment is the EPAct analysis introduced previously; the second uses a response surface model fit to similar computations using CMAQ but with different emissions inputs (Masek 2008); and the third applies a source-receptor methodology (Masek 2008).





Table 5.2. Incidence of health effects and consequent air quality damages

Statistical summary of changes in the incidence of health effects and consequent air quality damages to commercial aircraft emissions in airport-resident counties 1991-2003

	health effect incidence				
health endpoint	median	coefficient of variation = IQR/median	relative standard error = SE/CV		
premature mortality	400	0.22	0.0047		
sudden mortality	200	0.090	0.0020		
chronic respiratory disease	460	0.19	0.0045		
respiratory hospitalizations	10	0.15	0.0033		
cardiovascular hospitalizations	6.3	0.15	0.0032		
respiratory illness	16,000	0.59	0.0073		
restricted activity	11,000	0.26	0.0052		

The average median change in mortality risk rate for the period 1991-2003 is 0.026% (CV = 0.38 and rSE = 0.0003). This is equivalent to an average of 400 deaths based on mortality rates for 2003^{22} This is significantly higher than the risk of death due to aircraft accidents over the same period; safety-related mortality for aircraft accidents is 0.65% of the mortality rate due to PM2.5 air quality impacts.²³ Similar findings have been calculated for road transport (cf. Kunzli et al. 2000).

Figure 5.4 also plots comparative results for PM2.5 premature mortality reported in Masek (2008) and the EPAct report to congress (2009). Two models were evaluated by Masek; an RSM developed from CMAQ computations (see previous section) and a source-receptor model (see Rojo 2007). The latter, which applies an intake fraction method to estimate exposure, reflects observations of ambient concentrations correlated to power plant plumes and, as discussed later in this section, reflects similar timescale

²² A 0.0041% increase in the mortality rate equates to 100 deaths.

²³ National Transportation Statistics. Internet Edition. BTS, DoT. Table 2-9: U.S. Air Carrier Safety Data. http://www.bts.gov/ publications/national_transportation_statistics/html/table_02_09.html; accessed 10.08.08. Sources of data: 1960: National Transportation Safety Board, Annual Review of Aircraft Accident Data: U.S. Air Carrier Operations, Calendar Year 1967 (Washington, DC: December 1968).

1965-70: Ibid., Calendar Year 1975, NTSB/ARC-77/1 (Washington, DC: January 1977).

1975 (all categories except miles): Ibid., Calendar Year 1983, NTSB/ARC-87/01 (Washington, DC: February 1987), table 18.

1975 (miles): Ibid., Calendar Year 1975, NTSB/ARC-77/1 (Washington, DC: January 1977).

1980: Ibid., Calendar Year 1981, NTSB/ARC-85/01 (Washington, DC: February 1985), tables 2 and 16.

1985-2006: Ibid., National Transportation Safety Board, Internet site www.ntsb.gov/aviation/Table5.htm as of September 2007.

assumptions to MAIPA. However, because the source receptor model is based on spatially-resolved fits to monitor measurements, it accounts for primary emissions loss. MAIPA assumes precursor chemistry initiates within the aircraft engine exhaust plume, and thus precursor loss is not accounted. In CMAQ computations, precursors are well-mixed to a 36 km² grid resolution prior to the onset of photochemistry or particulate formation, an assumption that no chemistry or loss occurs in diffusion to a regional scale. This results in a relatively larger exposure area compared to MAIPA.

MAIPA mortality estimates are 60-150% larger than CMAQ estimates. This is a factor of 1.6-2.5 lower than the difference in the estimated change in ambient PM2.5 concentrations reported previously. A similar result is noted in Masek (2008); mortality results from the application of the intake fraction method are 2.5 times lower than those obtained using the CMAQ RSM, similar to the comparison between MAIPA and EPAct. These differences are related to different estimates of population exposure and the use of different concentration response curves to calculate changes in mortality risk. We will consider the latter of these first.

There is essentially no difference in the mortality rate estimated in Masek and EPAct, and MAIPA estimates. Whereas the EPAct and Masek use the original Pope (2002) study to estimate mortality risk, MAIPA uses the Krewski (2000) reanalyses of the Pope studies. However, risk rates are similar among MAIPA, EPAct, and Masek.

Overlay of pollution and population distributions appear to act contrary and enhance the impact of aircraft-sourced PM2.5. From the scaling arguments discussed in the previous section, we would expect an upward bias in estimated health impacts in MAIPA. However, rather than exacerbating the differences between MAIPA and CMAQ analyses, the overlay of pollution and population distributions in MAIPA instead appears to increase the impact of aircraft-sourced PM2.5. We must conclude that the CMAQ results derive from a higher population-weighted exposure to delPM2.5.

Comparison of ozone mortality between MAIPA and EPAct leads to a contradictory conclusion. EPAct reports a small ozone mortality (~1), giving errE-mort >> errE-[03], opposite to the comparison of PM2.5 results. There are two differences of note. First, the EPAct analysis is based on the premature mortality risk rate reported in Bell et al. whereas MAIPA considers sudden mortality with a factor 1.5 higher risk

rate. Second, analysis indicates ozone destruction (e.g. NO titration near the point of emission) does not account for low EPAct mortality.

In conclusion, we are left with a lower population-weighted exposure to ozone change. We can deduce from these comparisons that geographic exposure heterogeneity is an important structural uncertainty, one that appears to act to lower exposure to delozone, but raise exposure to delPM. There are additional structural uncertainties that have a similar magnitude. Figure 5.4 divides the total mortality increase into its three components: sudden mortality due to $\Delta \hat{Y}_{O_3}$; sudden mortality due to the $\Delta \hat{Y}_{PM_{25}}$; and the largest component, premature mortality due to $\Delta \hat{Y}_{PM_{25}}$, accounting for 54% of $\tilde{\mu} \{\hat{I}_m\}$. With the addition of PM2.5 sudden mortality, the total PM2.5 component is 72%. The remaining 18% is associated with O3 sudden mortality. A K-W hypothesis test indicates that the sum $\Delta \hat{I}_m$ trend is significant (p=0.05).

Propagated uncertainties in estimated mortality are similar to the magnitude of these structural uncertainties individually. Variances in concentration perturbation, $Var \left\{ \Delta \hat{Y}_{PM_{2}s} \right\}$ and $Var \left\{ \Delta \hat{Y}_{O_3} \right\}$, are O(10) larger contributions to $Var \left\{ \Delta \hat{I}_m \right\}$ than uncertainty in the effect sizes β of the concentration-response functions used to calculate mortality incidence; these C-R functions are of the log-linear form as in equation 5.2(b). The pooling process favors the incidence estimates calculated using the concentration-response functions with the lowest Var(β).

Propagated uncertainties in $\underline{\tilde{\mu}}\left\{\Delta \hat{I}_{m}\right\}$ are attenuated due to the logarithmic transformation and are thus lower than the uncertainties in $\underline{\tilde{\mu}}\left\{\Delta \hat{Y}_{PM_{2.5}}\right\}$ and $\underline{\tilde{\mu}}\left\{\Delta \hat{Y}_{O_{3}}\right\}$ reported in table 5.1. However, this transformation skews $P(\Delta \hat{I}_{m})$ such that the influence of propagated uncertainty on the rate of change in mortality $r_{g}\left\{\Delta \hat{I}_{m}\right\}$ is similar to the mean contribution $-r_{g}^{\tilde{\mu}}\left\{\Delta \hat{I}_{m}\right\} = -0.066$ versus the residual $r_{g}^{Var}\left\{\Delta \hat{I}_{m}\right\}$ = -0.052.

5.4. Comparative marginal benefits of emissions reductions

Comparative assessments using damage metrics suggest a different source control perspective than implied by current engine emissions regulations; the traditional regulatory approach is largely based on assessment of inventory metrics. Engine emissions standards were established primarily to address ozone with NO_x the focus. Based on results for marginal air quality damages, MAIPA analysis presents a different perspective, suggesting that SOx, HC, PMnv emissions play a role in air quality as important as NO_x. Instead of ozone, impacts on ambient PM2.5 emerge as the predominant air quality concern. The first part of this section takes a closer look at estimated air quality damages and describes these results in further detail.

This shift in emphasis is an important result drawn from the historical air quality analysis. No specific policies are proposed in this thesis; its emphasis is on what information is needed to develop effective mitigation policies. In this context, altering air quality source control priorities from O3 to PM2.5 and evaluating options for SOx, HC, and PMnv emissions along with NO_x would be first steps toward improved decision-making.

We then broaden the assessment scope to examine the extent to which decisions need to consider the multiple impact vectors initiated by several aircraft emissions (e.g. SOx and NO_x) emissions involved in multiple impacts vectors have both climate and air quality effects, such as NO_x and SOx. These comparisons are useful in understanding whether emissions controls need to extend above the atmospheric boundary layer.

The last part of this section looks at this same comparison in the context of fuel consumption; specifically, we look at the benefits of encouraging better fuel efficiency. More specifically, we are interested in how such an approach to reducing emissions impacts bundles the mitigation of climate and air quality impacts.

5.4.1. Emissions damages from US commercial aircraft

Figure 5.5 plots results summarizing the air quality damages from US commercial aircraft from 1991-2003 estimated through the MAIPA air quality model. Figures 5.5(a)-5.5(c) summarize annual air quality damages. Figure 5.5(a) plots total annual damages by criterion pollutant in billions of 2003 dollars for each impact vector evaluated in the air quality model, with the apportionment of particulate matter precursor contributions indicated for PM2.5. Figure 5.5(b) plots the same results as 5.5(a), but on a fractional scale to show relative contributions.



Figure 5.5. Air quality damages of US commercial aircraft operations

The average median annual damage for 1991-2003 is estimated to be \$4.5B (CV= 58% and rSE = 2.9%). Emissions of SO_x, NO_x, and VOC constitute 99% of the annual damage costs with the remainder due to CO and PM_{nv}. For PM2.5, 55% of annual damages is attributable to SO_x, 30% to NO_x, and 15% to VOC. The impacts of NO_x emissions are divided 70:30 among ozone and PM_{2.5} impacts. Figure 5.3(b) explicitly shows the importance of determining the extent of plume emissions processing. If photochemistry is not influential as suggested by CMAQ calculations, the average median annual damage for 1991-2003 would fall from \$4.5B to approximately \$2B.

As shown in table 5.3, virtually all annual air quality damages occur as a result of increased mortality risks, approximately 60% through premature mortality for PM2.5 and 40% through sudden mortality for ozone. For both annual and marginal air quality damages, the variance of the distribution assumed for VSL is the key primary component of variance in damages, the influence of variance in VSL is a factor of 2-10 stronger than variance in mortality incidence (wherein the range is dependent on which component

of mortality risk is considered). In the context of MAIPA, our ability to reduce uncertainty associated with VSL much of this question focuses on valuation methodology.

One important difficulty in use of VSL is in the application of hedonic studies is the transfer of benefits from employees in high risk industries, who tend to be young, to the broader population affected by air quality, the most vulnerable of which are the elderly and people with predispositions due to existing health conditions. Relying solely on contingent valuation studies reduces the median VSL, and consequently damages, by a factor of 5 as compared to figure 5.5(a). This is a consideration for regulatory negotiations for air transport environmental issues; European organizations are moving away from the use of hedonic wage studies and, as a result, would tend to estimate lower air quality damages.

Table 5.3. Annual air quality damages by health endpoint

Statistical summary of changes in the incidence of health effects and consequent air quality damages to commercial aircraft emissions in airport-resident counties 1991-2003.

Morbidity costs are adjusted to \$2003 with a factor λ based on CPI considering only historical appreciation for health care costs (ref); VSL estimates are inflated using the full CPI.

	annual damage cost			
health endpoint	median	coefficient of variation = IQR/median	relative standard error = SE/CV	
premature mortality	2.2	0.41	0.0076	
sudden mortality	3.7	0.29	0.0062	
chronic respiratory disease	0.14	0.20	0.0045	
respiratory hospitalizations	0.0002	0.11	0.0025	
cardiovascular hospitalizations	0.0002	0.15	0.0033	
respiratory illness	0.001	0.31	0.0055	
restricted activity	0.002	0.27	0.0057	

As with comparative inventories, annual damages can also be a misleading indicator of the comparative worth of environmental investments. Figure 5.5(c) plots marginal air quality damages in \$2003 per kilogram. While NO_x and SO_x are the major contributors to annual damages, air quality marginal damages indicate that VOC and PMnv have similar per unit impacts. The comparison in figure 5.3(c) shows SO_x marginal damages are \sim 3 times larger than NO_x or HC, and approximately 5 times larger than PM_{nv}. Note in particular that although PM_{nv} is a O(100) smaller component of annual damages, its

marginal impact is on the same order as NO_x and HC; thus in the context of a cost-benefit analysis, there may be PM2.5 mitigation options that achieve net benefits, but the overall potential for reducing damages is much smaller than for NO_x , SO_x , or HC.

Figures 5.5(a)-(c) indicate that damages from carbon monoxide emissions are 3-4 orders of magnitude less than NO_x, SO_x, HC, or PM_{nv}. Where design approaches to reducing HC and CO emissions are similar, raising the priority of PM_{nv} management adds a different set of chemical and microphysical mechanisms that may complicate the combustor design process. Similarly, the primary challenge to removing fuel sulfur is a trade-off with fuel consumption resulting from changes in fuel composition. While the oxidation of fuel sulfur stands physically independent of NO_x, HC, and PM_{nv} formation, all of these emissions originate with combustion; for this reason, we are interested in their potential mitigation through reducing fuel consumption, a sure way to achieve reductions across NO_x, HC, and PM_{nv} emissions (with the notable exception of some NO_x-fuel efficiency engine design trade-offs). This is subject of the last part of this section.

Table 5.4 summarizes the marginal damage costs estimated in this study; the median, interquartiles, coefficients of variation, and standard errors are averaged statistics intended to summarize the entire period 1991-2003.

air quality impact vectors (\$/metric ton) climate impact vectors (\$/metric ton)			
species	median [interquartile range]	median [interquartile range]	
fuel	6,300 [3,800 9,400]	21 [14 32]	
NOx	47,000 [29,000 73,000]	-73 [-340 160]	
PMnv	24,000 [6,400 73,000]	3,500 [2,000 7,000]	
VOC	19,000 [7,400 41,000]	N/A	
со	230 [140 350]	N/A	
С	25 [16 37]	25 [16 37]	
н	6.4 [3.9 11]	6.4 [3.9 11]	
SO2	120,000 [65,000 200,000]	-930 [-1,640 -510]	

Table 5.4. Marginal damage costs of US commercial aircraft emissions

As table 5.4 indicates, the conclusions drawn from the air quality analysis are robust to the inclusion of climate effects and thus can be said of emissions from US commercial air transport in general. The benefits of reducing fuel sulfur are tempered by the removal of sulfate in the upper atmosphere, but the effect is a hundredth the magnitude of the health effects associated with sulfate contributions to PM2.5. Reducing EI(S) provides an expected net reduction in damages with greater than 95% confidence.

With the current understanding of NO_x -induced ozone production and methane removal, the climate impact analysis in chapter 4 discussed the uncertainty in concluding whether NO_x emissions at altitude result in a net warming or cooling. However, the estimated benefit from reducing NO_x within the atmospheric boundary layer is O(10) stronger than the scenario or propagated uncertainties in the estimated climate impact of NO_x assessed in this study. Only in the case of soot is there a similar benefit to reductions at altitude and at ground; reducing nonvolatile particulate emissions consistently over the entire flight profile (rather than focusing solely on landing-takeoff cycles) increases the marginal benefits of PMnv mitigation by a factor of 2.

Recent analyses suggest an additional O(2) influence on air quality that originates with the intermittent entrainment of free tropospheric aircraft emissions. Aircraft fly horizontal distances of ~15 km before crossing h_{mix} . Using air quality models, unpublished results from Barrett et al. (2009 forthcoming) and Tarrason et al. (2004) estimate that aircraft emissions above h_{mix} are a factor 2-3 larger source of PMnv and NO_x than aircraft emissions within the atmospheric boundary layer.

However, this perturbation is distributed continentally, over an area ~17 times the sum of airport county areas with a population ~4 times the sum of those in airport counties. With a linear scaling, transfer across h_{mix} may result in a ~12-18% increase in health effects per unit emissions in airport counties, and ~50-70% additional damages for the US as a whole. Yet there is an additional question of how this transfer changes our current estimates of the climate effects from NO_x and SO_x; whether this alters the benefit comparisons in this study remains a question.

5.4.2. Marginal damages of fuel consumption

As mentioned in the previous section, we are interested in how fuel efficiency acts as a mitigation approach. Figure 5.6 plots estimates for the marginal damage of fuel consumption in units of efficiency as

172

\$/%eta; 5.8a considers only those portions of the flight profile within the atmospheric boundary layer and 5.8b considers only those portions of the flight profile above the mixing height.





Marginal reductions in fuel consumption below the mixing height have an O(10) larger benefit than in the free troposphere. Reducing fuel consumption is an aggregate reduction in both primary (CO₂ and H₂O) and secondary combustion products. However, the constituent damages from primary versus secondary products weight differently depending on the location of emission. As shown in table 5.4, at altitude, the marginal damage of fuel consumption is essentially equivalent to the marginal damage cost of CO₂.

In the lower troposphere, additional damages due to the impact of secondary combustion products on air quality effects result in an O(10) larger fuel marginal damage cost. Figure 5.6a shows constituent contributions, whose magnitudes are determined by EI-weighted emissions marginal damage costs. Comparatively, the benefits of fuel savings at low altitudes derive primarily from reductions in NO_x emissions whereas in the upper atmosphere, benefits derive from reductions in CO₂ emissions. Choosing a higher discount rate to estimate present value climate damages gives greater emphasis to short-lifetime perturbations, resulting in a proportionally higher contribution from cloud effects and a distinctly positive radiative influence from NO_x emissions. At the same time, marginal damages decline by a factor of 2, leading to the same comparative conclusion. Over the period 1991-2003, the median inventory-weighted marginal damage of fuel consumption is between 20-40% of the average fuel price in 2003.

Figures 5.8a and 5.8b show a jump in marginal damages during 2000; statistically, hypothesis tests indicate the most we can comment is that there is a significant difference between marginal damages before 2000 and those after. This may appear at odds with the stark reversal in fuel consumption trends in 2001; however, with the caveat that we are drawing evidence from a cross-sectional analysis, these trends are consistent with the shapes of the air quality and climate marginal damage curves.

Marginal climate damages are linear with declines in environmental quality (measured in this thesis by surface temperature), but asymptotic with emissions (due to radiative saturation in the CO₂ spectrum). However, these damages occur against a background changing under the influence of other sources. Prior to 2001, fuel consumption kept pace with or exceeded the exponential growth in CO₂ emissions in the rest of the economy; these growth rates were high enough to establish the marginal damage cost of CO₂—to which the marginal climate costs of aircraft non-CO₂ emissions are pegged—as an increasing function of anthropogenic emissions. The downturn after 2001 tempered the growth of marginal damages by changing the relative rate of fuel consumption growth against other sources.

Similarly, the relative rates of growth between air transport and other emissions sources determine temporal trends in air quality; relative to air quality impacts, emissions are an increasing fraction of declining source inventories. Regulations under the Clean Air Act and its amendments have reduced ambient concentrations of the most damaging pollutant PM2.5. The chemistry and microphysics of secondary particulate formation is asymptotic with precursor concentrations; thus, as background

174

concentrations decline, the marginal damage of a unit precursor emission increases. A growing fractional contribution augments this tendency and the steady increase in the marginal damage of fuel consumption below the mixing height results.

6. Damages from a noisy environment

Methods for estimating noise exposure are well established. There has been less focus, however, on the explicit connection between change in these noise levels and the evolution of US fleet noise performance. More important in the context of this thesis, trends in noise impacts have not been considered in relationship to accompanying changes in emissions impacts. The first objective was to establish and demonstrate a model to estimate trends in noise exposure as a function of a cumulative noise metric. (Chapter 3 presented noise inventories in SEL dBA; the choice of this metric was not independent of the methods developed in this chapter.) The second objective was to evaluate correlations among trends in air transport noise and emissions damages; in particular, reexamine the benefits of the ANCA from the perspective of joint noise and emissions control. (Analysis of inventory trends in chapter 3 suggests opportunities exist for joint control strategies that target both emissions and noise.)

Using a probabilistic relationship between inventoried noise (cf. chapter 3) and population exposure, this chapter reports estimates of population noise exposure and consequent damage costs.

Contribution 6.1. A probabilistic model of national aircraft noise exposure

As opposed to a detailed radiative model to determine ground noise exposure for each US airport, MAIPA uses a physics-based statistical model to estimate noise-exposed populations that is built upon a coherent relationship between exposure areas (DNL contours) estimated by complex models and airport noise inventories (cf. chapter 3).

Result 6.1. Reassessed the environmental benefits of the aircraft retirements mandated by the 1990 Aircraft Noise and Capacity Act.

From December 31, 1994 through December 31, 1999, FAA mandated a scheduled phase-out of portions of the commercial fleet identified by their failure to meet a limit on noise levels (14CFR91.801-877 Subpart I: Operating noise limits). This rule, known as Stage 2 phase-out, is part of an ongoing strategy of progressive stringency to reduce noise in airport-local communities. This chapter presents results from a retrospective analysis of noise trends in the context of the Stage 2 phase-out mandated by the ANCA, the major noise regulatory action implemented within the timeframe of the MAIPA analysis 1991-2003.

176

Analysis results suggests that the Stage 2 phaseout was significantly less efficient in reducing noise exposure than a priori evaluations of the regulation. This reassessment finds differences are sourced to methodological issues. The resulting trends give a different picture of historical impacts than previously understood, highlighting mitigation of air quality impacts as the primary source of benefits from the ANCA. They also suggest reported reductions in noise exposure to be significantly overestimated for the period 1991-2003. Against literature estimates of the costs of the phase-out rule, this analysis suggests a positive cost-benefit ratio, i.e. a net cost. By a ratio 2:1, more of the benefit from the Stage 2 noise phase-out rule came through reductions in VOC and PMnv emissions than from noise reduction. These results point to the value of ex post assessments of aviation environmental policies toward improving mitigation efficacy, particularly in the context of providing options that obtain benefits through an appropriately bundled set of noise and emissions reductions.

Result 6.2. Noise mitigation challenges in the context of emissions impacts

Considering that: (1) an estimated \$10 in damages are sourced to emissions for every \$1 sourced to noise from commercial operations in the US; (2) damages from both climate and air quality impacts are driven primarily by the activities of sources outside the air transport industry; (3) further reductions in noise are expected through retirement of Stage 3 aircraft, through both economic and regulatory incentives; and (4) noise and air quality continue to be addressed through regulatory standards while an approach to controlling climate impacts has not been established, the historical analysis suggests that a realignment in resources toward emissions mitigation has merit and should be evaluated. With this in mind, the results in this chapter recommend a thoughtful reconsideration of the steps best suited to reduce noise impacts while attending to growing environmental stress from emissions.

In particular, these findings suggest the importance of a reexamination of the fundamental mechanisms of how people value reductions in environmental noise, with the goal of expanding opportunities to address aircraft noise impacts. Uncertainty analyses show the range of term/rate scenarios is greater than the parametric uncertainties propagated through the noise model, indicating that the most important factors in determining annual cost are the rate and term of the depreciation. There is, however, a fundamental question as to whether noise damages are sufficiently expressed through property values to justify the application of hedonic valuation methods.

6.1. Noise damages of US commercial aircraft operations

As in the approach to estimating climate damages, changes in noise levels are valued directly such that estimating welfare change is not explicit; instead, damages are estimated directly as a function of a metric of environmental change (DNL) where the noise exposure level is a function of fleet noise. This section discusses the content and form of the relationship used to evaluate damages as a function of DNL; section 6.3 then addresses the environmental modeling component.

6.1.1. Noise damages based on hedonic estimates of property depreciation

Noise impacts can be measured in a microeconomic sense by declines in utility, due to which people adjust their consumption patterns. The corollary to this is that there is some amount people would be willing to pay to return to the original level of utility. For this study, current progress in the development of economic methods to evaluate noise damages limits accounts of the value people place on reducing noise effects to observations of market transactions for which assumptions must be made as to how well willingness-to-pay is captured by a surrogate good.

This thesis estimates noise damages based on studies using hedonic pricing methods to estimate property depreciation via housing markets. Hedonic methods observe that certain goods and factors, such as housing, can be treated as heterogeneous, composed of at least weakly separable characteristics relating to structure and location. One of these characteristics can be environmental quality, which for noise is most often measured by DNL (or a close equivalent).

MAIPA evaluates noise damages using a meta-analysis reported by Nelson (2004), who considers explanations for such differences among 33 hedonic estimates of NDI for cities in the United States and Canada. Salient to this thesis is the regression shown in equation 6.1 where the significance of the dichotomous variables representing location and functional form— β_3 and β_4 in equation 6.1—suggests that including Canadian studies and those using linear forms lead to higher NDI estimates.

178

	NDI (%) = $\beta_0 + \beta_1 \cdot X_1 + \beta_2 \cdot X_2 + \beta_3 \cdot X_3 + \beta_3 \cdot X_3 + \varepsilon_1 \dots \varepsilon$	4
	$R^2 = 0.773$	
(6.1)	F - test : p = 0.001	
		ar

X	β	$SE_{\hat{\beta}}$
0: constant = baseline effect size	0.5069	0.1425*
1: mean real property value (× 0.001)	-0.0001	0.0013
2: log(sample size)	-0.0140	0.0261
3: model form (linear = 1 , log-linear = 0)	0.3340	0.1544 *
4: country (Canada = 1, U.S. = 0)	0.3357	0.0805 *
$^{*} = (\alpha < 0.05)$		

Some hedonic analyses take specific account of proximity to an airport as a benefit since it represents work and shorter commuting times.¹ There is, additionally, a difference in the time periods over which transactions are considered; some hedonic studies date to the 1960s. Nelson finds, through additional regression trials, that neither of these characteristics significantly contribute to variation in NDI. Since this thesis considers the United States and we desire NDI to reflect dependence on house price across the widest set of airport locales, both β_3 and β_4 in equation 6.1 are set to zero and we are left with β_0 as the only significant variable.

If marginal damage can be assumed constant over a sufficiently broad range of noise levels, these prices can be employed to calculate total costs relative to the noise effect threshold. The regression in equation 6.1 controls for the extent to which the hedonic estimates account for noise levels (correlated with sample size) and finds an insignificant impact, consistent with previous analyses (cf. Walters, Palmquist).

6.1.2. Application of noise depreciation index

For this study, NDI (and thus marginal damage with respect to DNL) is assumed constant over the noise levels evaluated (50-70 DNL), specified as $\widehat{\text{NDI}} = P_{norm}^{\text{NDI}} (\hat{\mu}_{\text{NDI}} = 0.5069 : \hat{\sigma}_{\text{NDI}} = 0.1425)$. Equations 6.2-6.5 summarize the MAIPA computation of annual noise damages. The total present-value noise damages (\hat{C}_{dc}^{nois}) (equation 6.2) are the sum of noise damages estimated for each airport locale $(\hat{C}_{dc}^{nois}|^l)$ for both the 55-65 DNL and 65-70 DNL exposure areas (equation 6.3).

¹ The economic model of a city can be basically represented as a downtown surrounded by rings whose main characteristic is equivalent commuting time (Kolstad 2000). Land prices decrease as commuting time increases until, at some point, agricultural uses become more productive than housing. A similar idea applies to the airport. This is relevant only insofar as people in the near airport communities actually derive benefit from the proximity.

(6.2)
$$\hat{C}_{dc}^{nois}\Big|_{T} = \hat{C}_{dc}^{nois} \cdot \frac{r}{1 - (1 + r)^{-\alpha}}$$

(6.3)
$$\hat{C}_{dc}^{nois} = \sum_{l=1}^{L} \hat{C}_{dc}^{nois} \Big|_{55-65}^{l} + \sum_{l=1}^{L} \hat{C}_{dc}^{nois} \Big|_{65-70}^{l}$$

House price represents a present-day valuation of the expected stream of use benefits that accrue over the lifetime of investment in the house. To calculate annual damages $(\hat{C}_{dc}^{nois}|_T)$, total property depreciation is annualized such that a change in noise levels would return an economic profit within a term α discounted at interest rate r. A range of scenarios are evaluated with $\alpha = [15:30]$ years, equivalent to typical mortgage terms, and rates r = [0.06:0.1], which spans the mortgage rates offered between 1991-2003 and includes the FAA recommended r = 0.07 for infrastructure project benefit-cost assessments.

Damages at a particular airport locale are the product of average noise exposure ($\overline{\theta}$), NDI, and the total affected housing capital (equation 6.4). For the calculations here, it is assumed that the average noise exposure ($\overline{\theta}$) for residents between the 55 and 65 DNL contours is the logarithmic average 62 DNL of the noise level boundaries, and for the 65-70 DNL area, the logarithmic average 68 DNL of the boundaries. The noise threshold $\hat{\theta}_x$ is specified as ggg DNL.

(6.4)
$$\hat{C}_{dc}^{nois}\Big|^{l} = \left(\overline{\theta} - \hat{\theta}_{x}\right) \cdot \widehat{\text{NDI}} \cdot \left(\lambda \cdot \hat{C}_{cap}^{house}\right)\Big|_{i}^{l}$$

The total housing capital affected (\hat{C}_{cap}^{house}) is based on the area ratio $\hat{A}_{i}^{l}/A_{county}^{l}$ where i = 55-65 or 65-70 DNL. Intercensal demographic data specify county average housing prices (\overline{P}_{house}^{l}) and quantity N_{house}^{l} (equation 6.5).

(6.5)
$$\hat{C}_{cap}^{house}\Big|_{i}^{l} = \overline{P}_{house}^{l} \cdot N_{house}^{l} \cdot \hat{A}_{i}^{l} / A_{county}^{l}$$

Prices are adjusted to \$2003 with a factor λ based on regionally-specific historical appreciation for census statistical areas measured by the House Price Index published by the Office of Federal Housing Enterprise Oversight, an arm of the Department of Housing and Urban Development (cf. Federal Housing Enterprises Financial Safety and Soundness Act of 1992, 12 USC. 4501 et seq.).
6.2. Probabilistic model of exposure to aircraft noise

The noise model is built on a probabilistic representation of population exposure based on a coherent relationship between exposure areas — DNL contours calculated using INM (via MAGENTA)—and airport noise inventories. Figure 6.1 shows the MAGENTA DNL contour areas A_{65} and A_{55} , respectively referring to the 65-70 DNL and 55-65 DNL contours estimated for 2002, and their functional dependence on airport inventories \hat{Q}_n^l where *l* is the airport index (*L* = 96). Chapter 2 and appendix A3 discuss the application of the MAGENTA airport-specific operational data.

Figure 6.1. Noise exposure area as a function of airport-specific noise inventory

Relationship between MAIPA airport noise inventories and 2002 INM-MAGENTA 55-65 DNL and 65-70 DNL noise exposure areas.



A probabilistic relationship between noise exposures and airport-specific noise inventories is established using a clustering parameter. Abstracting contour areas (A) to a circle defined by an effective radius r, the clustering parameter is $\widehat{\Delta r_n} = \sqrt{\widehat{A_2}} / \sqrt{\widehat{A_1}}$, where A1 and A2 are contour areas and A2 > A1; figure 6.2 shows data cluster (orange dots) formed by $\widehat{\Delta r_n} = f(\widehat{Q}_n^l)$.



Figure 6.2. Data clustering using ratio of noise exposure areas and Gaussian mixed model fit

A Gaussian mixed model (GMM) is used to estimate a probabilistic function from the clustered data (with zero values censured) to define the relationship $\widehat{\Delta r_n}$ versus \hat{Q}_n^l : $P(\hat{Q}_n, \widehat{\Delta r_n}) = P_{GMM} \left[\left(\mu_{\hat{Q}_n}, \mu_{\Delta r_n} \right) : \left(\sigma_{\hat{Q}_n}, \sigma_{\Delta r_n} \right) \right]$. Figure 6.2 illustrates the contours of the probability and distribution functions $P_{GMM}^{\widehat{\Delta r_n}}$ and $F_{GMM}^{\widehat{\Delta r_n}}$; of interest, over a factor of 16 in noise level, the ratio of effective radii is 1.1 with the 10-90 percentile ranges for \hat{Q}_n^l and $\widehat{\Delta r_n}$ equal to [132 144] SEL dBA and = [2.2 2.5] respectively.

The GMM as applied here is a Bayesian relationship between total noise levels and noise exposure area (capturing variability among locales) that might otherwise be estimated using a regression model. Regressions might provide a clearer picture of the area-inventory relationship, however the aim here is not to uncover trends or explanations therefor, but to estimate marginal costs given a limited sample of airport activity. Also, practically, the inclusion of uncertainties in INM area estimates effectively obscures a regression. Thus, we take a different approach. The value of its application here is two-fold; the explanatory burden is low and we can improve upon the model as additional airport noise data emerges.

The FAA Integrated Noise Model (INM) resolves contour areas with a maximum accuracy of ±5 dBA for the 65+ DNL contour, dropping to ±3dB for levels 75+ DNL provided the statistical sample of days is large enough such that standard errors are relatively small (FAA 1985, and FAA 1983=AC150-5020-1). In MAIPA, this defines DNL = P(norm : μ_A , $\sigma_A = 5/3$ dBA), carried through the radius ratio Δr_n as uncertainties in A_{65} and A_{55} . To clarify the effect of contour and inventory uncertainties, compare the fit in figure 6.2a with figure 6.2b, the latter of which plots the GMM fit used for MAIPA based on a Monte Carlo simulation of 1000 samples for each of the 96 airport set. Here, the 10-90 percentile range for the radius ratio increases to $\widehat{\Delta r_n} = [1.8 \ 2.8]$ with the 10-90 percentile range for the airport-local noise inventories remaining at $\hat{Q}_n^{\prime} = [131 \ 147]$ SEL dBA. With the addition of the contour uncertainty, the effective radii increases to 1.6, while there remains a factor of 16 in noise level.

To apply the GMM to estimate noise exposure as a function of airport noise inventory, we specify an estimate for the 65-70 DNL area (A65) and then derive the 55-65 DNL area (A55).² In order to provide this baseline reference area (and to facilitate future improvement in precision), a nonparametric probability function is constructed for \hat{A}_{65} . The probability and distribution functions $P(\hat{A}_{65})$ and $F(\hat{A}_{65})$ are plotted in figure 6.3a, again censuring zeros; zeros are accounted separately as random switch based on the fraction of zeros in the data.





Since both the reference area $\hat{A}_{65} = f(\hat{Q}_n^l)$ and the median airport noise inventory $\tilde{\mu}_{\hat{Q}_n^l}$ decline over time, as plotted in figure 6.3b, we need to adjust the probability function to account for the historical change.

² It would be preferred to map A65 against a reference area such as 75 DNL contour, which is unlikely to extend beyond the airport boundary (e.g. $\hat{\Delta r_n} = \sqrt{\hat{A_2}} / \sqrt{\hat{A_1}}$ versus \hat{Q}'_n where $A_2 = \hat{A}_{65}$ and $A_1 = \hat{A}_{ref}$). This information is currently unavailable.

This is done by shifting the median of the probability distribution, approximating a yearly shift in $\tilde{\mu}_{\hat{A}_{65}}$ using the power law regression $\hat{A}_{65} = \alpha \cdot (\hat{Q}_n^l)^{\beta}$ plotted in figure 6.1b where $\alpha = 1.9e-43$ and $\beta = 20.3$ ($R_{adj}^2 = 0.60$).

As implemented, the noise model is exercised as follows. For each year in the study period 1991-2003, a regression is performed on the GMM to determine the conditional distribution $P\left(\widehat{\Delta r_n}\middle| \hat{Q}_n^l\right)$. Where a zero is sampled for the 65-70 DNL reference area, \hat{A}_{65} is specified as $P_{unif}^{\rho_{65}^{ref}} = [0.05:0.1]$ km² to reflect the statistical uncertainty in estimating a zero exposure area.

Intercensal county statistics determine population exposure (\hat{N}_{nois}) based on the ratio of areas determined by \hat{A}_{65} and \hat{A}_{55} to county area as in equation 6.6 where *l* refers to the demographic data relevant to the sample airport and ρ_{pop} is population density.³

(6.6)
$$\hat{N}_{pop}^{nois} = \left(\rho_{pop}^{ref} / \rho_{pop}^{l}\right) \cdot \sum_{l=1}^{L} \left[N_{pop}^{l} \cdot \left(\hat{A} / A^{l}\right)\right]$$

Noise exposure areas are a small fraction of total county area. Comparison of MAIPA estimated population densities to the MAGENTA 2002 exposure estimates show similar DNL 55+ population densities ($\rho^{ref}/\rho^l \approx 1$), but a substantially smaller population density within the 65+ DNL contour in the MAGENTA case ($\rho^{ref}/\rho^l \approx 0.37$). However, this bias is attenuated by a factor of ~4.5 in the total population estimate.

6.3. Historical trends in exposure to noise from US commercial air transport

Figure 6.4 plots distributions for the sum exposure areas $\hat{A}_{65} = \sum_{l=1}^{L} \hat{A}_{65}^{l}$ and $\hat{A}_{55} = \sum_{l=1}^{L} \hat{A}_{55}^{l}$. The coefficient of variation relative to the median and the standard error for these area estimates are $\widetilde{CV} \{\hat{A}_{55}\} = [0.12 \ 0.14]$, $SE\{\hat{A}_{55}\} = 0.003$, $\widetilde{CV}_{\hat{A}_{65}} = [0.11 \ 0.12]$, $SE\{\hat{A}_{65}\} = 0.0026$.

³ References: Population Estimates Branch of the US Census Bureau intercensal state and county characteristics, population estimates with 1990-base race groups, files for internet display 6.23.03, see http:// www.census.gov/ popest/ archives/ EST90INTERCENSAL/ STCH-Intercensal.html; see also http:// www.census.gov/ popest/ archives/ methodology/ 90s-st-cometh.txt and /90s-co-meth.txt for methodology) & Annual County Resident Population Estimates by Age, Sex, Race and Hispanic Origin: April 1, 2000 to July 1, 2006 File:7/1/2006 County Characteristics Resident Population Estimates File Source: Population Division, U. S. Census Bureau Release Date: August 9, 2007. Notes on pop data; data for Nebraska unavailable due to error on Census site (NE same as NV) thus held same at 99 levels through 00-03; 00-03 data no longer has <1 and 1-4 categories only 0-4 so infants assumed to be same proportion of 0-4 as (<1/c>

Figure 6.4. Estimated noise exposure areas in the US 1991-2003



55-65 DNL and 65-70 DNL contours

Because MAIPA propagates uncertainty through the calculation as DNL, area (and population exposure) distributions are skewed due to the squared radius dependence. Median noise exposure areas decline by $\Delta \hat{A}_{65} = \Delta \hat{A}_{55} = 0.3$ from 1991-2003, 27% of which occurred from 1991-1999 ($\Delta \hat{A}_{65}^{99+} = \Delta \hat{A}_{55}^{99+} = 0.08$). The median area values plotted in figure 6.4 are equivalent to a decline in the ratio of total exposure area to total county area $\tilde{\mu}_{\hat{A}_{55}} / A^{cnty}$ from 3.7% to 2.5% for 55-65 DNL, and from 0.8% to 0.6% for the 65-70 DNL contour.

Figure 6.5 plots population exposure, $\hat{N}_{65}(t)$, $\hat{N}_{55}(t)$, with comparison to MAGENTA INM-derived estimates for 2002 (orange dot). The coefficient of variation relative to the median and the standard error for these population estimates are $\widetilde{CV}\left\{\hat{N}_{nois}^{55}\right\} = [0.19 \ 0.21]$, $SE\left\{\hat{N}_{nois}^{55}\right\} = [0.0048 \ 0.0054]$, $\widetilde{CV}\left\{\hat{N}_{nois}^{65}\right\} = [0.16 \ 0.17]$, $SE\left\{\hat{N}_{nois}^{65}\right\} = [0.0040 \ 0.0046]$.



Figure 6.5. Exposed populations in the US 1991-2003

Trends in population exposure mimic exposure area trends, but are mitigated by population growth; over the period 1991-1999, the compound annual population growth rate is 1.6%, in contrast to the decline in exposure area at a rate of -0.6% per year; population exposure increases by $\Delta \hat{N}_{55}^{phase} = 3.9\%$ and $\Delta \hat{N}_{65}^{phase} =$ 4.2% from 1991-2003. For population exposure as a whole, the contributions of mean trends in \hat{A}_{nois} and \hat{N}_{nois} account for $\bar{\Delta}\hat{N}_{nois}^{phase} = 12\%$, leaving a residual $\Delta'\hat{N}_{nois}^{phase} = -8.0\%$ that accounts for the influence of propagated uncertainty. The sign of the residual depends on the relative directions of trends in contributing parameters and the skew in their probability functions. In contrast, from 1999-2003, a larger decline is estimated with $\Delta \hat{N}_{65} \approx \Delta \hat{N}_{55} = -22\%$; uncertainty has a smaller effect on the realized trend with $\bar{\Delta}\hat{N}_{nois}^{phase} = 25\%$ and $\Delta'\hat{N}_{nois}^{phase} = -2.7\%$.

6.3.1. Comparison with historical estimates of population exposure trends

These trends are at odds with FAA estimates of exposed population change from 1991-1999; these estimates report a decline from 2.5 million to 0.4 million people ($\Delta N_{65}^{FAA} = -84\%$) (ref CAEP5 MAGENTA discussion and Connor calculations). In comparison, MAIPA estimates a slight increase from

0.50 million to 0.53 million people. To understand this difference, we parse a comparison of the estimated DNL 65-70 populations.

FAA results do not estimate population exposure directly for the DNL 55-65 exposure area, instead using a derived factor of 10 to calculate N_{55}^{FAA} based on a ratio of populations derived from the 2002 INM-based estimates $N_{55}^{MAG}/N_{65}^{MAG}$. As shown in figure 6.5, MAGENTA results for 2002 are similar to the MAIPAestimated population exposure with $\varepsilon_{N_{55}^{MAG}} = -8.7\%$. Further, deriving a population ratio from MAIPA results gives a similar population ratio of $\hat{N}_{55}/\hat{N}_{65} = 13$ for 2002. Referencing the regression plotted in figure 6.1b and extrapolating from a nominal median airport noise inventory of $\tilde{\mu}_{\hat{Q}_n^{I}} = 143$ SEL dBA at the beginning of the historical survey period, in order to arrive at the 84% decrease suggested by FAA (which does not include change in population density) requires the median airport noise inventory to be $\tilde{\mu}_{\hat{Q}_n^{I}} = 156$ dBA SEL for 1991, a difference of 13 SEL dBA or a factor 20 decrease in SEL.

In comparison, figure 6.1b shows the median MAIPA airport noise inventory declines by 1.8 dBA SEL from 1991-1999. This is consistent with (i.e. smaller than) the change in noise stringency associated with the Stage 2 phase-out rule $-\Delta Q_n < \Delta q_j = 6$ EPNdB. Note that this stringency change is the maximum possible reduction in the noise inventory; the realized noise inventory includes replacement and increases in the number of operations while the technology standard does not (~30% of aircraft were affected by phase-out). Removing the effect of population change from MAIPA results reduces the difference by 13% and does not account for the discrepancy with the FAA estimates.

The reason for the discrepancy in MAIPA trends versus FAA estimates can be traced to the modeling approach used to calculate the latter. The FAA estimates for noise contour change related to the phase-out rule, upon which population estimates are based, were calculated using the Area Equivalent Method (AEM), an FAA legacy tool used for the screening of federally-funded infrastructure improvements for the requirement of a detailed noise analysis using INM.

AEM estimates noise exposure areas using a summation of area contributions calculated for specific aircraft models. These contributions are derived from an INM calculation of the 65 DNL exposure area resulting from 100 operations at a canonical one-runway airport. Based on this estimate, a regression is obtained between operations and 65 DNL exposure area with the assumption that areas associated with other operational levels are equivalent to the logarithmic ratio of DNL levels (e.g. 106.5/105.5 = 10, thus

187

1000 flights is assumed to establish a 65 DNL exposure area equivalent to the 55 DNL exposure area calculated by the INM for the 100 flight calculation). The AEM sums these area contributions for a baseline and project-altered scenario to estimate a change in exposure area; if over 17%, FAA policy indicates that a more detailed noise analysis is required.

The FAA AEM analysis of the phase-out rule indicates a 72% decline in the 65+ DNL exposure area. We can account for the difference between AEM and MAIPA estimates of exposure area change with a comparative AEM calculation using MAIPA aircraft operations data. The result shows that, using AEM, exposure area declines by 35% while the MAIPA result reported above shows an 8% increase. This difference added to the effect of including population change accounts for the discrepancy between FAA and MAIPA population exposure estimates, a result principally due to the linear summation of exposure areas in AEM. This procedure estimates a larger change than using the MAIPA approach which is based on logarithmic summations correlated to exposure areas. Indeed, if noise exposure area was proportional to SEL rather than log(SEL), the latter referencing the regression in figure 6.1b, we would arrive at a revised change in exposure area of -34%, similar to the AEM result.

6.4. Estimated noise damages and ANCA benefits

Estimates for total and annual valuations are illustrated in figure 6.6 ($\widetilde{CV}c_{de}^{ss} \approx \widetilde{CV}c_{de}^{ss} = [0.19:0.21]$, $SE_{\hat{c}_{de}^{ss}} = [0.05:0.07]$, and $SE_{\hat{c}_{de}^{ss}} \approx 0.02$). The central estimate annuity in figure 6.6 is for a 30-year term at a 7% rate. Note that with respect to annual costs ($\tilde{\mu}_{\hat{c}_{de}^{nois}} \approx \$1.3B$ through 2000, falling to \$1B by 2003), the range of term/rate scenarios is greater than the 10-90 percentile range of the distribution function for annual costs, indicating that the most important factor in determining annual cost is, expectedly, the rate and term of the depreciation.





These estimates refer only to owner-occupied residential houses; direct impacts on renters or commercial property are not accounted. This suggests a downward bias in the damage estimates. In general, since renters have a shorter time horizon, valuation of noise changes are likely less than for owners of residential property. For renters under the case of no movement costs, the impact of noise change is zero, but if there are relocation costs, tenants are damaged. Similarly, quality of life issues may not matter so much for a commercial property and, thus, depreciation would be expected to be less than for owner-occupied residential housing. In a study of global aviation noise damages, Kish (2008) estimates that if rent depreciation is similar to the NDIs estimated for owner-occupied housing, and this depreciation is equivalent to capital loss for landlords, total noise damages would be a factor of ~1.4 higher than for owner-occupied housing alone.

Trends in capital loss (similar for total and annual valuations) mimic exposure area trends, but are mitigated by growth in housing units and changing house prices, more so over the period 1999-2003 than 1991-1999. This is evidenced by the comparison of correlations of capital loss and housing unit trends for these two periods, i.e. $\rho_{corr} \left(\hat{C}_{dc}^{nois}(t) : N_{house}^{l}(t) \right) = 0.97$ versus -0.003 and $\rho_{corr} \left(\hat{C}_{dc}^{nois}(t) : \bar{P}_{house}^{l}(t) \right) = 0.95$ versus -0.03. There is an estimated decrease in capital loss of \$0.23B from 1991-1999, all exposure areas summed, a change of -1.3%. The contributions of mean trends in \hat{A}_{nois} , \bar{P}_{house}^{l} , N_{house}^{l} account for $\bar{\delta}_{cant}^{ont} =$ -6.6%, leaving a residual $\delta'_{cant} = -5.2\%$ that accounts for the influence of propagated uncertainty. For the subsequent period 2000-2004, capital loss decreases by \$3.3B ($\delta_{cant} = -21\%$, $\bar{\delta}_{cant} = -18\%$, $\delta'_{cant} =$ -3.4%). The US General Administration Office (GAO 2001) estimates abatement costs associated with the ANCA in the range \$4.0-5.2B, outweighing apparent benefits estimated in this study by a ratio of 17-23. With the generous assumption that capital gains over the period 2000-2004 can also be attributed to the phase-out of Stage 2 aircraft, the cost-benefit ratio remains positive at 1.2-1.6 (cf. Morrison et al. 1999).

In light of these results, further consideration of the ex post assessment of the Stage 2 noise phase-out rule provides an example of how a unified treatment of environmental impacts, as in MAIPA, can recommend a different set of regulatory goals. The noise analysis suggests that a \$0.23B benefit was derived from the retirement of older aircraft. As mentioned in chapter 3, correlations among trends in noise, VOC, and PMnv are high, suggesting that the phase-out reduced aircraft with lower combustion efficiency as well as noisy aircraft. If we include the air quality benefits of reducing VOC and PMnv, the phase-out benefit almost triples to \$0.64B, indicating that the majority of environmental quality improvement was from reductions in air pollution by a ratio of 2:1.

Distributions of marginal damage costs $(F(\hat{c}_{mdc}^{nois}|_{T}^{j}))$ and average damage costs $(F(\hat{c}_{adc}^{nois}|_{T}^{j}))$ are estimated using equation 6.7 for each representative aircraft type j in each year T on a per-operation basis as the set of evaluations for airports L for a change φ_{j} in the airport noise inventory. For \hat{c}_{mdc}^{nois} , this change is calculated as the fraction $(\hat{q}_{n}^{j}/\hat{Q}_{n})|_{T}^{l}$ and for \hat{c}_{adc}^{nois} , $\varphi_{j} = (\hat{Q}_{n}^{j}/\hat{Q}_{n})|_{T}^{l}$, equivalent to the logarithmic representative aircraft type contribution to the airport noise inventory.

(6.7)

$$F\left(\hat{c}_{adc}^{nois}\Big|_{T}^{j}\right) = \bigcup_{l=1}^{L} \left(\varphi_{j} \cdot \hat{C}_{dc}^{nois}\Big|_{T}^{l}\right) \text{ where: } \varphi_{j} = \left(\hat{q}_{n}^{j}/\hat{Q}_{n}\right)\Big|_{T}^{l}$$

$$F\left(\hat{c}_{adc}^{nois}\Big|_{T}^{j}\right) = \bigcup_{l=1}^{L} \left(\left(\varphi_{j} \cdot \hat{C}_{dc}^{nois}/N_{ops}^{j}\right)\Big|_{T}^{l}\right) \text{ where: } \varphi_{j} = \left(\hat{Q}_{n}^{j}/\hat{Q}_{n}\right)\Big|_{T}^{l}$$

Table 6.1 provides tabulated statistics ($SE_{c_{mdc}^{nois}} \approx SE_{c_{adc}^{nois}} < 0.001$). Marginal costs are O(100) smaller than average costs.

Table 6.1. Marginal noise damage costs in the US 1991-2003

US commercial aircraft during the period 1991-2003 in 2003 \$/operation. Values are averaged statistics summarizing an historical analysis of US commercial air transport activity during the period 1991 to 2003

REPACT	noise marginal damages \$2003 / operation (55+)		noise marginal damages \$2003 / operation (65+)	
	median [inter	rquartile range]	median [inter	rquartile range]
b727	97	[56 190]	39	[23 77]
b737	4.5	[3.0 6.5]	1.8	[1.2 2.6]
dc9md80	12	[7.4 23]	4.7	[3.0 9.2]
b757	3.7	[2.3 5.4]	1.5	[0.9 2.2]
b767	11	[6.8 16]	4.3	[2.7 6.4]
dc10	18	[12 24]	7.0	[4.8 9.6]
b747o	35	[19 74]	14	[7.5 29]
dc9	28	[14 67]	11	[5.5 28]
b747	21	[14 35]	8.4	[5.7 14]
b737o	47	[25 99]	19	[10 40]
a320	4.3	[3.0 6.0]	1.7	[1.2 2.4]
l1011	17	[12 25]	6.9	[4.9 9.9]
md11	8.5	[6.2 12]	3.4	[2.4 4.7]
b777	6.7	[4.7 10]	2.7	[1.9 4.1]
b737n	5.4	[3.9 7.9]	2.2	[1.6 3.2]
b717	2.6	[1.8 3.7]	1.0	[0.71 1.5]
e145	0.78	[0.56 1.1]	0.31	[0.23 0.42]
tfan	2.0	[1.0 3.3]	0.80	[0.42 1.3]
tprp	0.56	[0.30 1.4]	0.22	[0.12 0.56]

Because of the shape of the damage curve, concave towards the x-axis as inferred from the logarithmic dependence, average costs overstate the value of a reduction in operations. Note that while marginal damage costs and housing capital are strongly correlated among airports ($\rho_{corr} \approx 1$), there is low correlation between total operations and housing capital ($\tilde{\rho}_{corr} \approx 0.15$); marginal costs are dependent on where the aircraft is flown and have little to do with the size of the origin or destination airports. Marginal costs rise from 1991-2003. This is because the marginal addition of a single flight to the base noise level is a function of the magnitude of the noise inventory, so changes have more impact as damages decline. This has to do with the shape of the damage curve where there is a declining marginal impact as noise level increases.

Uncertainty in marginal and average damage costs is two-dimensional. The variance sourced to the distribution across airports around the median shows coefficients $\widetilde{CV}_{\tilde{c}_{mdc}} \approx \widetilde{CV}_{\tilde{c}_{ndc}} = [1.7 \ 1.9]$ over all

representative aircraft type. Variance due to propagated uncertainties show coefficients $\widetilde{CV}_{\widetilde{c}_{mat}} \approx \widetilde{CV}_{\widetilde{c}_{mat}} = [0.69 \ 2.2]$ dominated by uncertainties in noise exposure area with an insignificant contribution from the estimated airport noise inventory (see comparison in figure 6.2). Thus, it is apparent from the analysis that uncertainty associated with noise contours controls the value of improved precision in marginal noise damages. Variance in marginal noise damages is additionally affected by uncertainty in the fraction of an airport's noise inventory attributable to the representative aircraft type; its magnitude relative to the contribution of variance in noise exposure area is thus a function of location, generally accounting for about half of the coefficient of variation.

6.5. Comparison of noise and emissions damage estimates

To close this chapter, we consider the place of noise mitigation efforts in the context of reducing air transport environmental impacts. Figure 6.7 plots historical trends in annual damage costs, decomposed by impact agent (e.g. NO_x versus SO_x) and grouped by impact vector (air quality, climate, and noise). In figure 6.7, climate damages reference a discount rate of 3%, and for noise a discount rate of 7% annualizes capital losses over a 30-year term. Figure 6.7 shows estimated annual damages of ~\$12-15B per year, increasing from 1991-2003; in perspective, this social cost equates to ~0.025% of US GDP, or ~13% of mean annual operating revenues, and exceeds the sum industry profit over the period 1991-2003.

Figure 6.7. Damages from U.S. commercial aircraft operations 1991-2003

All monetary values are given in 2003 dollars. The nominal scenario reports: (1) climate damages assuming a 3% discount rate and IS92 growth; and (2) annualized noise damages at a 7% rate over 30 years, 1991-2003.



The historical analysis outlines a challenge in obtaining future benefits from noise reduction:

- The largest portion of welfare losses result from air quality impacts. In any given year, NO_x, SO_x, and CO2 emissions compose ~85% of total damages. Noise is a relatively small and declining portion of total estimated damages, accounting for less than 10% in 1991, and a declining contribution through 2003.
- The trends suggested by the historical analysis show emissions impacts are growing while those due to noise are declining. Yearly trends indicate that climate impacts are the fastest growing vector and, thus, CO2 is the fastest growing impact agent. Estimated median annual climate damages increase at a compounded annual growth rate of 4.1%, 4 times the estimated growth in fuel consumption (0.95%). Comparatively, air quality damages increased at 1.8%, and noise damages declined at -1.3%.
- In the context of cost-benefit analysis, comparative marginal damage results suggest a much stricter efficacy constraint on the cost of noise abatement options. In comparison to the marginal damages of NO_x, SO_x, HC, PMnv, and CO2 calculated on a per-flight basis, noise marginal damages are O(1e3)-O(1e6) smaller.
- Though noise, air quality, and climate impact vectors trend in directions of increasing marginal damage costs, the rate of increase for emissions vectors is faster than for noise over the historical

period, indicating that the efficacy constraints imposed by marginal damages will not alleviate in the near-term.

• As the ANCA reassessment presented earlier in this chapter indicates, technological approaches to noise mitigation may be much less efficient than conventional wisdom suggests.

Considering that: (1) an estimated \$10 in damages are sourced to emissions for every \$1 sourced to noise from commercial operations in the US; (2) damages from both climate and air quality impacts are driven primarily by the activities of sources outside the air transport industry; (3) further reductions in noise are expected through retirement of Stage 3 aircraft, both through economic and regulatory incentives; and (4) noise and air quality continue to be addressed through regulatory standards while an approach to controlling climate impacts has not been established, we can speculate that a significant realignment in resources away from noise reduction and toward emissions mitigation is on the horizon. Decisions like the halting of Qantas flight procedure tests discussed in chapter 1 may favor the fuel efficiency objective, and if tradeoffs are made, ground may be lost in reducing noise impacts.

With this in mind, the results in this chapter recommend a thoughtful reconsideration of the steps best suited to reduce noise impacts while attending to a growing environmental stress from emissions. In particular, these findings suggest the importance of a reexamination of the fundamental mechanisms of how people value reductions in environmental noise, with the goal of expanding opportunities to address aircraft noise impacts. The next section discusses this approach from the perspective of structural uncertainty in the noise model previously.

6.6. Structural uncertainties in noise damage estimates

We turn to the question of accuracy in the noise damage estimates by examining the results in the context of conclusions using other valuation techniques; in particular, we ask whether damages are fully captured by differences among house prices. The emerging literature on this subject suggests that hedonic estimates are a lower bound. The full welfare impact of noise (or emissions) changes consists of: (1) out-of-pocket costs and opportunity costs (e.g. depreciation in property values and relocation costs for households that move), which value use attributes; and (2) welfare changes due to utility impacts (including the loss of place-specific surplus for households that move, cf. Walters (1975)). We would

expect annoyance to impact the last of this list, which is where revealed preference approaches to noise valuation may fall short.

6.6.1. Caution on use of surrogates

It is useful to compare these annual values to commonly cited noise costs, which are sometimes proposed as surrogates for the estimation of damages but often confuse external and internal costs. In particular, while costs to market participants should be accounted in a benefit-cost analysis, they are not external to current markets. For example, the costs of capacity limitations are sometimes used as surrogates for noise damage costs. Congestion costs estimated by DRI-WEFA (2002), which include induced (macroeconomic) costs related to the propagated economic effects of airline growth constraints, total \$9.9B (17% induced); however, these congestion costs are reflected in ticket prices insofar as they limit supply.

Additional surrogates can be proposed that are similarly accounted for within the market, such as payment of noise landing fees or payment of taxes that are then redistributed for noise mitigation purposes, but none of these are necessarily measures of welfare. A tally of government outlays for noise mitigation is essentially a non-preference method of valuing noise in that it uses actual expenditures as a substitute for determining, via observation or elicitation, resident preferences for quiet. Based on annual compensations to near-airport communities in the United States (ref AIP and PFC funding streams), this method of valuation determines a \$0.27-0.53B annual social cost. However, government outlays are tied to noise only in the manner in which they are distributed (e.g. for households in the DNL 65 contour), not in the way they are collected. Since they are politically determined, they could be either higher or lower than

actual damages; these compensations amount to about half of the property capital loss estimated via MAIPA.⁴

6.6.2. Capturing noise damages through property values

Transaction costs are high in the housing market. Bartik (1988) argues that the marginal damage curve derived from second-stage analyses ignores important adjustment costs and thus underestimates benefits. Evaluation of residual costs examines the effects of relaxing assumptions in the hedonic price method, such as non-equilibrium effects, which can increase noise damages. Estimating residual noise shadow costs using happiness measures for communities around Amsterdam Schipol, Van Praag and Baarsma (2001) finds that house prices are not dependent on noise, such that the residual cost accounts for the welfare loss, a result attributed to disequilibrium in the housing market. The residual shadow cost is a declining portion of income as noise level rises (cf. Van Praag and Baarsma 2004). This indication of decreasing marginal costs with level of noise disturbance coincides with a similar conclusion in IWW/ Infras (2000) who, in reviewing the broader noise valuation literature, survey marginal costs lower than average costs (30-60% of average costs).

6.6.3. Noise damages estimated using contingent valuation techniques

Stated preference valuation techniques, such as contingent valuation, recognize the importance of quality of life issues in determining willingness-to-pay for environmental amenities (e.g. non-use attributes) and hold promise for capturing the total value of a change in environmental quality. However, these techniques are underdeveloped in application to noise and the distinction between the physical and

⁴ This is perhaps most correctly compared to an averting behavior approach to welfare evaluation, where a good that is complementary to a particular impact (such as soundproofing to noise) is identified and demand for the environmental quality of interest inferred from its consumption. Averting behavior expenditures are underestimates of willingness to pay for pollution reduction because they do not account for changes in personal utility as a result of the expenditure (i.e. there is some extra monetary compensation that would be required to restore them to their original point before the expenditure was necessary, a supplement to income). Kolstad (2000) gives a useful example related to noise that differentiates between an expenditure as an averting behavior and one as a resultant cost. As Kolstad (2000) states, "by observing expenditures on the complementary private good, we obtain a lower bound on the value of the environmental good or bad. The outside noise must cause at least as much damage as expenditures on soundproofing." There is a difference between the types of expenditures that fall into the category of travel cost or averting behavior and the category of non-preference valuations that result from a political process. For example, expenditures for soundproofing of homes is an averting cost behavior when a homeowner pays out of his own pocket. However, when the government allocates a certain amount for soundproofing of homes there is often little evidence to support connection to a welfare measure. If soundproofing or other such expenditures were categorized as an averting cost behavior, then the amounts will typically understate the true WTP for noise reduction (Kolstad 2000). Averting behavior methods have been applied to the valuation of noise reduction, but underestimate the true costs since the expenditure surrogates they employ do not represent a removal of the noise. The origins of such applications can be traced to Pearce (1991), who used owner expenditures on soundproofing to determine a cost estimate for neighborhoods around Heathrow Airport.

psychological effects of environmental change remains vague. Whereas for an increase in noise the compensating variation would be higher than the rent loss (in the economic sense), the opposite is true of a decrease in noise (Brookshire et al. 1982)(Feitelson et al. 1996). This is a subtle observation; stated preference methods estimate use and non-use values for improvements in environmental quality, but comparison with actual damages depends on the direction of quality change.

Another perspective considers that prices may be increasing or decreasing over time; in the former case, the hedonic estimate of the amenity value is an underestimate when a deterioration in environmental quality is contemplated since valuation will tend to include some time delay in adjustment. A contingent valuation methodology conducted in Tel Aviv (Feitelson et al. 1996) estimated that damages calculated using the hedonic price method may underestimate WTP to maintain quiet by a factor ~5.⁵ This issue is unsettled, as broader analyses have found mixed results for transportation noise (cf. Nelson 2007 see Kish) and lower values from stated preference studies for broader applications among environmental goods (Carson et al. 1996, see Kish). (cf. chapter 5 for further discussion of contingent valuation approach in the context of air quality.)

6.6.4. Presence of wage-rent trades

The use of housing prices as a basis for valuation relies on the assumption that wage-rent trades, such that increases in pollution are reflected in land prices as well as wages, do not exist locally. Recall that the use of an hedonic price estimate of marginal damage cost assumes that disutility arising from extra noise (or lowered air quality) is reflected in property valuations as opposed to wages, implying that pollution is not a productive quantity for the airport. A group of studies applying alternative methods indicate that this may be a real difficulty in measurement. Feitelson et al. (1996) finds that WTP declines with noise level, suggesting this is because the number of people willing to buy a home decreases with noise level, thus

⁵ The accuracy of an HP result as an estimate of welfare gain requires that no compensation has been provided to resident (e.g. soundproofing). If compensation has been provided, method would tend to overestimate welfare loss due to property value depreciation to the homeowner, but still relates to a potential economic gain resulting from a reduction in noise for society as a whole. As a matter of determining social cost, the concern that the valuation estimate does not properly account for compensation provided to residents is related to equity issues, not efficiency. A program instituted to reduce noise will still result in appreciation of housing values and additional utility to residents, regardless of whether they have been compensated or not. There is net economic gain to be had, provided a sufficiently low-cost program can be designed. Thus, the question of compensation should not come into play when evaluating a decision to implement a noise reduction program, but when considering questions of equity. Compensation is a transfer of economic flows.

selecting for more noise tolerant residents rather than an explicit income effect. However, these trends are connected. For example, Palmquist finds income elasticities of willingness to pay for quiet of between 1.5-1.6, which indicate a luxury good such that higher incomes will pay disproportionately more for quiet.

Three studies have examined whether hedonic estimates are statistically similar, given differences in locational characteristics, functional model form, and time of estimation (Nelson 2003, Shipper et al. 1998, Johnson and Button 1997). Shipper et al. (1998) reports a meta-analysis for hedonic studies for airports in the US and Canada that finds an important explanatory variable is the relative mean sample house price, equal to the reported mean property value divided by the per capita income; this is a measure of real wages adjusted for housing costs (Nordhaus 1996, Nelson 2003). The coefficient on this variable is positive, suggesting that as wages increase, people will tend to increase expenditures on noise. Further, with a negative constant in the regression, it indicates that at some low income level, willingness to pay would drop to zero. Thus, there appears to be an equity issue with the selection of low income residents for high noise areas and subsequent depression of WTP.

6.6.5. Developing a more accurate picture of endpoints of noise impact

In sum, alternative approaches to estimating noise damages suggest that with the influence of annoyance trends as included in the hedonic price function (marginal annoyance and other noise measures, such as awakenings, increase with DNL exponentially), hedonic price studies may not capture the full welfare loss (disutility not captured). And in the absence of noise, the marginal damage curve may shift as the market for homes near airports expands (higher income residents enter), leading to changes on a macroeconomic level. Consider also that preferences cannot be expressed if people do not have the relevant information; Pope (2007) finds that providing information about noise to potential buyers reduced prices by an additional ~35% compared to a hedonic estimate without disclosure for Ldn of 60-70 dB areas around Raleigh-Durham. At the moment, HP studies are the available economic benchmark for this study, but their assumptions as they apply to locations in the United States are yet to be thoroughly tested. Asking the question of whether we are fully addressing the sources of noise damages may usefully expand our options for reducing these impacts.

7. Summary and conclusions

Planning technology investments to reduce the environmental impacts of aircraft operations has become increasingly complex, particularly due to increased emphasis on the multi-criteria objectives of an integrated environmental policy. The objectives of this thesis were to evaluate metrics to compare the influence of aircraft performance characteristics on environmental change and methods to incorporate integrated analysis in assessment tools. This work employs estimates of the environmental damages of emissions and noise to compare impacts of changes in climate, air quality, and community noise.

This chapter first summarizes the five primary contributions discussed in chapters 2–6. It then presents estimates for environmental trade-offs implicit in policy or design decisions for the US commercial fleet from 1991–2003. The results presented in this chapter reference a discount rate of 3% for climate damage estimates, and a discount rate of 7% to annualize noise-related capital losses over a 30-year term, with damages given in 2003-\$. Given the retrospective nature of the analysis and the changing environmental costs, the estimates are not applicable to future scenarios, but they are illustrative of the kinds of analyses that should be considered for future decision-making.

7.1. Integrated approach to air transport environmental impact assessment Developed an integrated assessment approach to prototype the FAA Aviation-environmental Portfolio Management Tool (APMT).

A probabilistic multi-attribute impact pathway analysis (MAIPA) was developed to model climate, air quality, and community noise damages. MAIPA was developed as a prototype assessment capability in a pathfinding effort that identified requirements for and contributed feasibility demonstrations to APMT. APMT is currently under development for application to regulatory decision-making in the United States.

MAIPA was used to make an historical assessment of the environmental impacts of commercial aircraft operations in the United States between 1991–2003. These impacts are characterized by inventory, environmental, risk, and economic metrics, and, ultimately, estimates of environmental damages in terms of aircraft performance parameters. The resolution of results is national and yearly, with the exception of inventories, where results are quarterly.

7.1.1. Fidelity

MAIPA models operational data, technological parameterizations, and environmental and socioeconomic conditions. In this thesis, historical performance and operational data limit scope to US commercial aircraft operations. All inputs are specified probabilistically and uncertainties are propagated using Monte Carlo methods. The analysis adheres to the observational and theoretical fidelity of the data and knowledge underlying the estimation of damages.

7.1.2. Inventories

Emissions, noise, and fuel consumption inventories were estimated using a representation of the technological and operational features of US commercial aircraft in-service between 1991–2003, with parametric inputs defined by open-source data for 19 representative aircraft types. Quarterly estimates are provided for 10 inventories: fuel consumption, gaseous emissions CO₂, H₂O, SO_x, NO_x, HC (as VOC), CO, noise (as SEL dBA), and PM (nonvolatile and volatile). This set of inventories is the first detailed characterization of pollution trends for US commercial aircraft operations for the period studied.

7.1.3. Environmental models

The scope and resolution of parametric inputs, and the goal of providing timely decision analyses, encouraged the development of reduced-order inventory and environmental models for MAIPA. Consistent with the analysis scope and resolution, this study employs models of environmental change that are reduced-order evaluations of the physical processes contained in the higher-fidelity models typically used in the regulatory context. Order reductions are possible because air transport impact agents are either, (1) a small contribution compared to other sources (emissions), or (2) the dominant environmental perturbation of its type (noise).

Models address change in climate, air quality, and noise. For climate, we use an impulse-response approach to calculate probabilistic estimates of marginal, present-value climate change metrics inclusive of radiatively-active species with different atmospheric lifetimes (cf. Joos et al. 1996). The model has been implemented in APMT. For air quality, we use a parametric approach to estimate changes in the atmospheric concentrations of the criteria pollutants (NO₂, CO, SO₂, O₃, and PM2.5). Changes in pollutant exposure patterns are established using scaling arguments that draw on measurement data to

represent geographic patterns as locational variability. For noise, MAIPA uses a statistical model to estimate noise-exposed populations, based on a relationship between exposure areas (DNL contours) and airport noise inventories. MAIPA environmental models capture large-scale uncertainties, interdependencies, and dynamics that collectively provide an integrated characterization of impacts mechanisms and a description of limitations in application to policy development.

7.2. Particulate matter impacts of aircraft emissions

Introduced a treatment of air transport particulate matter emissions, environmental fate, and health impacts of particulate matter.

MAIPA shifts focus from pollution generation to the consequent risks, as contrasted with current assessment mechanisms. One important addition was to extend the scope of impact assessment with a comprehensive treatment of particulate matter emissions. To estimate particulate matter impacts, it was necessary address the absence of data and methods to construct PM inventories in mass units, the basis for epidemiological correlations with disease and mortality incidence as well as climate model estimates of radiative forcing. Estimated particulate emissions indices were applied to evaluate the first mass-based PM inventories specific to the operational performance of US commercial aircraft. This work identifies precursor emissions (NO_x, SO_x, and HC) as primary sources of environmental damages through their impact on ambient concentrations of PM2.5 and resultant mortality risks.

7.3. Uncertainties in impact assessments

Identified that the major source of reducible uncertainty in emissions damages stems from the assumed extent of ozone and particulate matter production in the engine exhaust plume.

The role of the engine exhaust plume chemistry and microphysics was found to be a primary uncertainty in estimating the change in ambient ozone and particulate matter concentrations due to aircraft operations. This uncertainty derives from our limited understanding of how engine exhaust plumes evolve in the lower troposphere and interact with other emissions sources.

Currently, large scale complex air quality models such as the EPA CMAQ do not include plume production of ozone and volatile PM. Recent analyses using CMAQ, including an air transport study

mandated by the 2007 Energy Policy Act, report <1% of estimated mortalities are from changes in ambient ozone concentrations. Changes in ambient PM2.5 account for all other mortalities.

The air quality model developed for MAIPA specifies an uncertain ozone productivity that is a factor of 0.7 to 5 times the ozone productivity of the CMAQ analyses. Assuming a similar difference in PM precursor production, MAIPA-estimated damages using CMAQ assumptions are reduced by approximately 60%, equivalent to one-third of the sum air quality, climate, and noise damages. This is the largest reducible uncertainty in estimated damages.

7.3.1. Reducing uncertainties

Analyses conducted for each of climate, air quality, and noise impacts uniformly highlight that parametric uncertainty in physical inputs and uncertainties in societal preferences for environmental quality lead to uncertainties in damage estimates that are similar in magnitude. For example, the analysis suggests that managing the climate impacts of aircraft emissions is as much dependent on normative decisions underlying the specification of intergenerational wealth distribution (e.g. discount rate) as on the (a) scientific understanding of carbon-cycle and climate processes, or (b) propagated parametric uncertainties. For air quality, the value of a statistical life has the largest estimated influence on meanshift. For noise, the uncertainty in specifying the rate and term assumed to annualize damages is of the same scale as propagated uncertainty in the specification of exposure area, the dominant component of parametric uncertainties. Potential biases due to uncertainties in environmental physics, the physiologic responses and socioeconomic conditions that regulate health and livelihood risks, and the preferences of societies are the largest determinants of the magnitude and change in air transport environmental impacts.

7.4. Damages due to US aircraft operations from 1991–2003

The historical analysis suggests that, together, increases in ambient PM2.5 concentrations and surface temperature resulting from aircraft emissions were the primary components of environmental damages during 1991–2003. In any given year from 1991–2003, emissions of NO_x , SO_x , CO_2 , and HC together

account for ~90% of median annual damages. Of these, only hydrocarbon inventories showed a decline. Noise accounts for the remaining 10% with a declining share over the historical period.

The efficacy of climate mitigation options depends on knowing the value of reducing CO_2 emissions versus non- CO_2 emissions in the context of climate change. To do this, the assessment must account for different timescales among types of perturbation to the atmosphere to distinguish between the longerlived direct impacts of CO_2 emissions and the indirect impacts of other short-lived microphysical and chemical processes, such as the production of ozone or the decrease in methane residence time associated with the emission of NO_x .

The analysis indicates CO_2 and H_2O emissions are the primary source factors controlling climate damages. Results show CO_2 accounts for ~90% of annual climate costs at a 3% discount rate. At a 7% rate, non- CO_2 contributions increase to ~60% of damages with an increased emphasis on short-lived atmospheric effects; over 95% is accounted by increased cloudiness, attributed to H_2O in this study.

Where results indicate that primary combustion products (CO₂ and H₂O) are the predominant agents of climate damages, the estimated damages due to secondary combustion products (SO_x, NO_x, VOC, and PM) are primarily through changes in air quality. While secondary products are also involved in climate effects, their air quality impacts are estimated to be 2–3 orders of magnitude larger than their contributions through climate vectors.

7.4.1. Factors affecting changes in damages with time

Identified that the most important factor determining changes in damages over time is the dependence of impacts on the background environmental sensitivity.

The results of this study show that emissions reductions influence neither the magnitudes nor trends in marginal damages because emissions impacts of US commercial aircraft are dictated by the progress in controlling emissions from other sources. The attribution of trends to parametric inputs shows that air transport emissions impacts are predominantly determined by the background environmental sensitivity. Results show estimated changes in environmental metrics of ~1% due to commercial aircraft emissions. Environmental sensitivities to emissions inputs in any one year are altered by an amount insignificant compared to the change in responses over time. As a result, the economic and regulatory factors controlling non-aircraft sources dictate marginal costs.

The explanation of trends in emissions damages provides another important finding. From 1991–2003, estimated annual climate damages grew at a median rate of 4% per year, twice the rate of annual air quality damages and four times that of fuel consumption. These observations are explained by the dependence of sum damages on the relative growth rates of air transport versus other source emissions. Air transport emissions affecting both climate and air quality grow faster than non-aircraft sources, resulting in growth in damages disproportionate to fuel consumption. Higher functional sensitivity on the difference in growth rates accounts for the faster growth in climate as compared to air quality damages.

7.4.2. Policy choices

Because environmental interactions among CO_2/H_2O , the group of secondary products, and noise are at most second-order to their respective damages, trade-offs are a direct function of interdependencies in the aircraft system design. As a result, policy choices take on a broader context, involving trade-offs between the large-scale performance of the air transport system toward mitigating global, long-term impacts (e.g. climate), versus the smaller-scale, component-level metrics traditionally used to address short-lived (i.e. air quality and noise) environmental impacts.

As CO₂ and H₂O emissions are proxies for fuel consumption, these results are strongly suggestive of the long-term value of improvements in fuel efficiency and reductions in carbon intensity (relative to per-unit energy). This does not imply that there is no value in mitigating short-lived effects, only that such action exerts limited leverage against long-term climate change. Unlike noise impacts, the marginal costs of air transport emissions impacts cannot be completely controlled through endogenous technological or operational change. Without the ability to control the growth of marginal emissions damage costs, decisions may be best served by identifying the most efficient combination of mitigation options. For example, some control over cloud effects may be had in the near-term with the present fleet by altering flight paths to avoid adverse weather conditions. The immediate benefits so obtained might justify the costs.

204

7.5. Integrated approach to impact mitigation

Reassessed the environmental benefits of the aircraft retirements mandated by the 1990 Aircraft Noise and Capacity Act.

From December 31, 1994 through December 31, 1999, FAA mandated a scheduled phase-out of portions of the commercial fleet identified by their failure to meet a limit on noise levels (14CFR91.801–877 Subpart I: Operating noise limits). A reassessment of the environmental benefits derived from that mandated phase-out of noisy aircraft during the 1990's has been conducted, showing a different result. Previous studies estimated a ~80% reduction in population exposure. In contrast, the reassessment estimates a ~2% reduction, providing benefits 17–20 times lower than published estimates of abatement costs. The difference is due to accounting for trends in both air quality and noise damages from 1991–2000 indicates emissions mitigation benefits of Stage 2 phase-outs exceeded benefits from noise reduction by a ratio of 2:1.

7.6. Trade-offs

Quantified the environmental trade-offs in decisions specifying aircraft performance for the technology in the US commercial fleet from 1991–2003.

There are many trade-offs weighed during design of a new aircraft. Looking forward to the next generation of aircraft designs, the central environmental dilemma is in determining an effective balance in technology development that achieves benefits in environmental quality comprehensive of all impact vectors. In short, we desire a clear design objective.

The traditional objectives of design toward regulatory standards are marked minimum NO_x or minimum noise. A more comprehensive perspective recognizes that different sets of environmental performance characteristics can provide equivalent levels of welfare. This thesis estimates a damage function to describe sensitivities to performance changes in the US commercial fleet from 1991–2003. The damage function suggests a set of equivalencies that define a damage-neutral change to the air transport system affecting any of the fuel consumption, fuel composition, emissions, and noise characteristics of the commercial fleet. Tables 4.1, 5.5, and 6.1 show medians and interquartiles for the 28 marginal damage cost estimators as evaluated through MAIPA; emissions marginal damage costs are provided in the denominations used for the damage equation \$/EI.

7.6.1. Elasticities of performance

Trade-offs are specified with comparisons among estimated marginal damage costs of emissions indices, per-flight noise level, and fuel consumption. Figure 7.1(a) shows the trade-offs among fuel consumption and emissions as elasticities—the percent change in fuel consumption that is equivalent to a percent change in the emissions index. Figure 1.1(b) similarly plots the change in efficiency equivalent to a 1 dBA SEL change noise. Damage-neutral trade-offs between noise and fuel consumption vary by a factor of 10 dependent on the policy definition of quiet—0.35 dBA SEL per 1%- η referencing the 55+ DNL contour exposure area versus 0.038 dBA SEL per 1%- η referencing 65+ DNL exposure.





Trade-offs quantified in this thesis are a set of probabilistic constraints on the direction of technological change intended to increase expected benefits. Trade-offs help focus opportunities for research, design, or

policy to reduce these constraints. One way to avoid trade-off complexities is to identify options that bundle benefits. As example, nonvolatile PM inventories show the sharpest decline among all emissions inventories, the result of a -1.6% annual rate of change in the estimated nonvolatile PM emissions index from 1991–2003. The cause of this decline was found to be the retirements of aircraft through the phaseout mandates of the Airport Noise and Capacity Act of 1990. The technological correlation between noise, and nonvolatile PM and VOC emissions that underlies this finding still exists in the fleet today; bundling mitigation options into a portfolio-based policy can take advantage of these characteristics.

7.7. Next steps

Environmental law in the United States provides for a regulatory process designed to minimize uncertainty in the objectives of these investments. To accomplish this, rule-making is coordinated with developmental milestones to establish expectations for achievable emissions and noise mitigations. Standards are negotiated periodically in reference to these plans, favoring stringency options that provide the largest reduction in fleet emissions or noise per dollar technology cost. These procedures reduce the risk that investments will fail to achieve compliance with standards. They are successful in this respect because the requirements are controlled. Trade-offs challenge the certainty provided by this process.

Balanced technology goals will be realized by negotiating among mitigation objectives that are established from a range of perspectives. Environmental, as well as infrastructure, safety, security, and global technology leadership objectives place demands on available resources for air transport development. The traditional regulatory process is not equipped to decide the proper balance for planning. New technology development has found ways to make progress, but breaking these trade-offs remains a stubborn impediment. There has been little attempt to evaluate environmental performance characteristics specified by trade-offs. Working from an understanding of trade-offs, one branch of future work is to characterize policy designs that best encourage improvements in overall environmental quality. Findings in this thesis also emphasize the importance of understanding how such policies can be made most robust to uncertainties that are only partially reducible, and what such methods recommend for technical investigations.

207

In this context, it is important to continue to ask the questions: (1) with what fidelity can we provide assessment conclusions based on existing scientific understanding?; and (2) what capabilities are important to expanding the contributions of assessments to decision-making? The highest priority recommendations for future work are: (1) improving the characterization of air quality impacts, particularly to clarify the role of exhaust plume production of precursors to PM2.5 and ozone, and the apportionment of PM2.5 production among precursors; (2) evaluating the importance of extending assessment capabilities to capture spatially-variable impacts, such as heterogeneity in the distribution of radiative forcings, e.g. extend climate impulse response g(t) to g(x,t); and (3) determining the scale and locations of macroeconomic shifts that may result in the presence of air transport environmental damages.

There are many possible approaches to mitigation. For example: (1) attending to the ozone versus PM2.5 impacts of NO_x; versus (2) decisions to control NO_x, SO_x, HC, or PM_{nv} emissions to reduce air quality impacts; versus (3) the broader objectives for reductions in climate and noise as well as air quality; versus (4) decisions that allocate resources towards emissions versus noise issues. National policy acts at the broader end of this spectrum, while technology investment decisions are served by a higher resolution specification of design requirements. This thesis demonstrates a means to achieve consistency across these different levels of decision-making. There remains, however, the need evaluate constraints imposed by policy-making, institutional or otherwise, in order to determine where increased resolution of impacts would be most useful for decision-making.

Appendix

1. Computation and analysis conventions

This appendix details the approaches to the specification of parametric, scenario, and structural uncertainties, the computational implementation of uncertainty propagation, and the validation of results where measurements may or may not be available.

All quantitative results are presented with two (2) significant digits cf. Notation (at beginning of the document)

The Notation section at the beginning of this document defines symbolisms for ranges, intervals, and sets, as well as all statistical parameters used in the thesis.

1.1. Specification of probability and distribution functions

To address parametric uncertainty and variability, each input variable is represented by a probability or distribution function to describe the likely assignment of values. The important qualification for these specifications is representativeness, meaning that we want to specify input distributions faithful to the manner in which uncertainty (i.e. incomplete understanding, reducible) and variability (i.e. true heterogeneity, not reducible) arise, with consideration of physical limits on parameter values (EPA 1997, 1999b).

The functional forms specified for input parameters are described throughout the text as they arise in the discussion. All of these specifications following a common set of guidelines:

Little or no information about originating processes

• Where no phenomenological information is available and where data are few, a uniform or triangular probability function suffices, the latter in cases where a likely central value can be identified.

Parametric functions

- Parametric probability functions apply where variance results from physical phenomena (e.g. normal probability functions for additive process, lognormal functions for multiplicative process, etc.).
- Physical limits can restrict variable specification to a known range of values, for which alternative

parametric functions can apply. However, such applications are limited; often we understand a process, such as random noise, but application of an unconstrained distribution in the context of a simulation will result in non-physical values.

• A decision has to be made whether to truncate or to apply a flexible parametric function that can approximate with limits on tail extremes. This is a case-specific decision and is noted as applicable.

Nonparametric functions

- Nonparametric functions are employed where data are available to characterize variability or where uncertainty results from extensive convolution of underlying physical processes.
- Statistical models (e.g. regression) are in some places employed as an alternative approach to representing trend and variability.
- Complex social processes are the primary area where goodness-of-fit parameter estimates provide a model for describing the data.

1.2. Simulation technique

With simulation, it is possible to address uncertainties through both linear and nonlinear models in a nonparametric fashion, if required. To determine the relationships between inputs and output, fewer assumptions are made about the nature of the random variables than with analytical methods. Input distributions can be of mixed character, which is a requirement for the impact pathway analysis.

Parametric uncertainties and variability propagate through the impact pathway via Monte Carlo simulation, a technique using statistical sampling to determine the distribution of model realizations resulting from random inputs.¹ A sampling procedure is chosen and exercised to select, for successive iterations, a set of inputs to run through the model. In the context of simulation, pseudo-random number generators set an input matrix drawn from object probability or distribution functions. Several iterations are accomplished using the pseudo-random draw, generating a probability distribution for the model output.

¹ Relative to analytical methods, Monte Carlo simulation is advantageous in evaluating complex systems such as the impact pathway. Analytic methods typically require linearity assumptions to handle the propagation of uncertainties. It may be not be possible to validate such an approximation beyond a small range around a particular result. Analytical methods also require that the underlying model be differentiable near the point of interest.

For this analysis, the extent of convergence is characterized by the standard error of the mean (SE) of the output. The rate of approach is proportional to $1/\sqrt{n}$.²

1.3. Assumptions of Monte Carlo simulation

Assumptions underlie the Monte Carlo technique that are similar to those of linear regression. First, probability and distribution functions specified for input variables are assumed to faithfully represent the generating process. Second, inputs are assumed independent.

Strict enforcement of the independence assumption is limited by the quality of data used to specify the inputs. For example, in specifying aircraft performance, thrust and speed settings are governed and connected by a set of control rules. However, without full knowledge of those control rules, the manner of dependence cannot be specified.

In their absence, the assumption of independence is made, which introduces additional variability due to the presence of unlikely or impossible combinations of inputs. The presence of such multicollinearity is the most consequential in assessing the relationship between independent and dependent variables using either a conditional or linear technique for inferring mean-shift and variance contributions (cf. section A1.5 et seq.).

1.4. Choice of statistical descriptions of results

With a mixture of functional forms used to specify input parameters and other characterizations of variability, the sample mean and standard deviation are poor characterizations of central tendency and spread, primarily because all output parameter distributions are skewed and nonparametric. In this thesis, the median and interquartile range are the preferred statistical characterizations. The exception is in comparisons to data reported without statistical characterization or comparisons to deterministic model results. In such cases, there is an underlying arithmetic average inherent or assumed; the mean and standard deviation are more appropriate bases for comparison.

² More efficient sampling procedures can be implemented to quicken the rate of convergence; for example, Latin hypercube sampling.

1.5. Estimation of variance and mean-shift contributions

An important benefit of the distributional output is that we can find where reducing parametric uncertainties provides the most benefit towards reducing decision risk. Uncertainty in some inputs may be more costly to minimize than in others. Simulation allows the relative efficiencies of input variance reduction to be ranked to a degree limited by convergence error.

1.5.1. Difficulties with conditional expectation approach

Contributions to variance and mean-shift in output variables are most thoroughly explored using a conditional expectation approach. In a simulation framework, this involves observing the change in an output probability function resulting from restrictions on the uncertainty in particular inputs in random sampling. With this information, the influence of an input can be mapped over a range of model computations to determine impact on the output.

The conditional expectation approach is a large computational burden; to be complete, all conditional variations need to be evaluated, but only a finite number of simulations for a selected group of variables is practicable. However, this is largely unnecessary in MAIPA, particularly with respect to damage estimates. There is often one primary influence and in those cases where there are several, their effect on marginal damage estimates is washed out by the introduction of downstream uncertainty and variability.

1.5.2. Application of linear regression to identify important sources

Given the number of independent variables in the analysis and attendant computational limitations, MAIPA uses linear regression to assess sources of variance var $\langle y | x \rangle$ and mean-shift $\Delta \mu \langle y \rangle$ in key output metrics. The mean-shift due to a change in xi is $\Delta \mu \langle y | x_i \rangle = \beta_x \cdot \mu_x / \mu_y$ where the beta parameters are estimated using the regression coefficients (see footnote 3 for derivation). The ability of the linearized model to capture these relationships is assessed via goodness-of-fit statistics. Confidence intervals are specified for contributions to variance and mean-shift to show uncertainties in rank.

1.6. Conventions for estimating errors and differences

Quantification of the distance between compared results (ε) are calculated relative to the reference datum or model result with the general definition as given in equation A1.1.

(A1.1)
$$(\dots \varepsilon_{q_f} = \left(\hat{\mu}_{q_f} - \mu_{q_f}^{F41} \right) / \mu_{q_f}^{F41} \dots$$

Equation A1.1 translates as, '... the mean estimated per-flight fuel consumption differs from the per-flight fuel consumption calculated using U.S. DOT Form 41 reported fuel use data by $(\varepsilon \cdot 100)\%$ '

$$y - \mu_{y} = \sum_{i} \frac{\partial y}{\partial x_{i}} (x_{i} - \mu_{i})$$

$$\sigma_{y}^{2} = \int (y - \mu_{y})^{2} p(y) dy$$

$$\sigma_{y}^{2} = \int \sum_{i} \left(\frac{\partial y}{\partial x_{i}}\right)^{2} (x_{i} - \mu_{i})^{2} p(y) dy + \int \sum_{i} p(y) dy + [cross - terms]$$

$$\sigma_{y}^{2} = \int \sum_{i} \left(\frac{\partial y}{\partial x_{i}}\right)^{2} \sigma_{x}^{2} p(y) dy + [cross - terms]$$

$$\sigma_{y}^{2} = \left(\sum_{i} \left(\frac{\partial y}{\partial x_{i}}\right)^{2} \sigma_{x}^{2}\right) + [cross - terms]$$

(A1.3)

The cross-term for the case of two independent variables x1 and x2 is $2 \cdot \rho(x_1, x_2) \cdot \sigma_{x_1} \cdot \sigma_{x_2}$ where ϱ is the coefficient of correlation. For the general case, the cross terms are $2 \cdot corr(x_i, x_j) \cdot \sigma_i \cdot \sigma_j$ for i not equal to j. If the correlations among variables is weak (i.e., the coefficients of correlation are small or identically zero on the correlation matrix off diagonals), then the cross-terms are zero and we can approximate the variance by the first term in equations A1.3.

The derivative $\partial y/\partial x_i$ is estimated by a linear multivariate regression model as $y = f(x_i)$ cognizant of its attendant assumptions (i.e., representativeness, linear independence — no multicollinearity, homoscedasticity, uncorrelated normal errors, no systematic error). Ignoring higher-order terms means that the linearized technique $var \langle y = f(x_i) \rangle$ does not maintain all relationships among input variables as in the conditional expectation approach, which looks to probe effects based on $var \langle y | x_i \rangle$.

The error in the variance model is the same as the error in $\partial y/\partial x_i$, the error in the regression. coupling through the impact pathway model, which, even if all variables are independent, can lead to nonlinearity. The linearized method reflects this in the cross-terms via covariance, and this could be either positive or negative.

³ Referring to equations A1.3, assuming random inputs xi are independent and the output y is well behaved in the area of $y = f(x_i)$, we take a Taylor series approximation for the function $y = f(x_i)$ around means μ of the random variables xi. Keeping only the first-order terms, with the residual error less than or equal to the sum of the next higher-order terms, and using the definition of variance, a linearized model results.

Comparisons between results are typically presented as normalized variables to emphasize where the comparative datum or model result falls within an estimated distribution. The normalized variable most often used is written in equation A1.2 as a comparative datum or model result and the superscript *ref* indicates the reference source (e.g. ref = F41).

(A1.2)
$$(\hat{\mu} - \mu^{ref})/\hat{\sigma}$$
, where μ^{ref} i

Using this variable, a value of zero means the reference datum or model result equals the calculated mean estimate $\hat{\mu}$ while values of 1 and -1 demarcate the single standard deviations above and below the mean, $|\hat{\mu} - \mu^{ref}| = \hat{\sigma}$.

1.7. Descriptions and analysis of trends

- compound annual rate of growth (CAGR) for a specified period
- relative contributions of mean trends \overline{x} versus residual x' accounts for the influence of propagated uncertainty
- nonparametric K-W hypothesis tests that are significant (p=0.05) indicate a cross-sectional resolution that allows us determine trends

Appendix

2. Benefit assessment in cost-benefit analysis

While the analysis and findings elaborated by this thesis derive from a formal evaluation of the welfare consequences of air travel, this study is not a cost-benefit analysis. To reiterate, this thesis employs welfare metrics to make primarily comparative conclusions to elucidate trade-offs and identify improvements to current assessment practice, including where further scientific understanding is most needed. This information is beneficial to decision makers independent of the framework chosen to conduct policy discussions. However, a comprehensive cost-benefit analysis (CBA) capability is envisioned as the next step in the expansion of AT-EIA capabilities and it is important to understand how benefit assessments are applied in the context of CBA that derive from the considerations presented in this chapter.

The damage function described in the previous section represents the opportunity costs resulting from aviation emissions and noise impacts on people and their resource systems. Cost-benefit analysis entails weighing environmental quality improvements, as expressed through the damage function, against the costs of achieving changes. An account of environmental costs, such as provided in this thesis, is thus a central element in any CBA conducted to assess research needs, design options, or to evaluate regulatory approaches to internalizing aviation environmental costs. Traditional CBA implies a certain conception of how we value decisions in the social aggregate. Social welfare is measured here by the value of consumption, and to the extent that well-being can be represented in terms of utility, this metric helps define the comparative desirability of decision options. CBA further implies that if total benefits exceed costs, we should pursue a given option regardless of whether some individuals are worse off than before (the Kaldor-Hicks compensation principle). This is Pareto-optimal in the sense that transfers could be made such that everyone would be better off after the option is exercised (Kolstad 2000), but practically such transfers do not necessarily occur. Nonetheless, CBA does identify distributional issues that have significant implications for policy design.

To see the damage function and its relationship to CBA, refer to figure A2.1. There are many producers (i.e. airlines) and many consumers (e.g. airport-local communities) of aviation noise and emissions.

215

Figure A2.1(a) shows a notional marginal damage cost curve, relating a metric of environmental pollution p and the marginal cost of an incremental change in environmental quality c.

Figure A2.1. Supply and demand for environmental resources

(a) an environmental good (e.g. quiet, clean air), and (b) a polluting good (e.g. air transportation services)



The marginal damage curve generally increases with pollution, as shown here, but other shapes are possible. Also shown is a marginal abatement cost curve, relating p and the cost of reducing emissions or noise by an incremental amount (ca). The marginal abatement curve declines with increasing p since it represents the savings to the firm by being able to pollute. For an airline, these savings may be in the form of reduced capital (Ccap) and operating expenditures (Cop).¹

A fundamental difference between c and ca is that the marginal abatement cost addresses a marketed good for which prices are available. For example, there is a market for pollution abatement services that is enabled by the ability to divide (excludable goods) and restrict access (rival goods) to such services. Thus, the cost to reduce noise and emissions is associated with prices in the market. Comparatively, c represents non-excludable and non-rival environmental goods for which there is no market because the medium of

¹ Uncertainties, existing economic distortions, and the non-competitive market structures evident in the air transport industry can undermine an incentive policy. The availability of abatement options, technological, operational, or otherwise determines the intersection between cmdc and cmac. The impact of an emissions restriction that pushes beyond the availability of abatement options could be inefficient in the short-term. Depending on the nature of the restriction, a revenue stream could arise, for which a use would need to be determined (e.g supporting innovation), or there could be a straight economic loss. It is uncertain whether long-term options will become available (although there is an incentive to find options to be able to increase supply). These market shifts need to be accounted if abatement costs are increased and environmental benefits realized. Thus, the analysis in this thesis is necessary for policy design, but not sufficient.
impact, air for example, cannot be divided or restricted in the same manner. However, we can derive value for environmental goods by evaluating the trade-offs a consumer necessarily makes between these goods and other ordinary goods in the presence of limited resources; this is the focus of consumer demand theory. In the absence of a market, c(p) is constructed by asking consumers what they would be willing to pay for environmental quality, or by statistically inferring that amount via their actions in other markets. Thus, the marginal demand curve plots quality against marginal willingness-to-pay (MWTP), congruent with price for market goods. In contrast to ca(p), we are interested in the aggregate MWTP for a given quantity of the non-rival environmental good. The integral under the aggregate c curve represents WTP.²

In the air transport context, marginal damages represent externalities to the extent that they are not considered by producers (e.g. airlines) in making their supply decisions. The resulting market clearance is thus not Pareto optimal and an economic inefficiency arises. This market failure generally occurs because rights to quiet, clean air, or other environmental goods are defined poorly or not at all. This is often the impetus for government intervention. Figure A2.1(b) shows an idealized picture of this situation (cf. Schipper 2001). In figure A2.1(b), the supply curve represents the private cost of providing air transportation services at various levels (measured by revenue passenger-km, RPK, in the figure). The marginal damage cost in figure A2.1(a) is the external cost of transport services which when summed with the private cost produces the marginal social cost curve $c_3(p)$. This is the total social cost of providing services. In a perfect market, reflecting the marginal social cost in actual transactions, say via a tax or charge, would change supply and price. However, *c* is uncertain, which leads to impreciseness or inaccuracy in our determination of the efficient tax or charge to set. As suggested by figure A2.1, we are concerned here with the costs related directly to production in the industry, not from manufacture or disposal, and not from the presence of transport infrastructure.

In the cost-benefit framework, a public policy decision made to obtain a given change in emissions or noise would be evaluated against the minimum sum of the change in environmental costs, C—the sum of the shaded areas in figure A2.1(a)—and any costs incurred in achieving that change C_a —the dark shading

² This is akin to consumer surplus if the demand curve estimated is ordinary. This is a measure of welfare, although not necessarily the preferred measure. Generally, however, the valuation methods for non-market goods employed in this thesis use observed data that would result in ordinary demand and do not take steps to extend this to compensated demand where utility is constant. For a more detailed theoretical development (cf. Braden and Kolstad 1991; Kolstad 2000; Haab and McConnell 2002; Freeman 2003). To arrive at an aggregate ca(p) for the industry as a whole, we sum the abatement each producer is willing to provide at a given price. The aggregate c(p) is the sum of individual marginal damage curves at a given quantity.

in figure A2.1(*a*). This summation is minimized where the marginal damage cost is equal to the marginal abatement cost, which, to ensure efficiency, should be equated across producers as described by equation A2.1. The minimum is shown in figure A2.1(*a*) by the change *p* to p^* .

(A2.1)
$$\min\{C+C_a\} \quad \text{or} \quad c=c_a$$

This decision criteria, as well as the process developed in this thesis to estimate environmental costs, are compatible with policy guidelines in the United States, Canada, and Europe (TC 1994; OMB 1996; EAtHLG 1999; EPA 1999a, 2000; OMB 2003; FAA 2004). Note, however, that this formulation, maximizing net present value of surplus, assumes an underlying measure of welfare that is utilitarian and not necessarily in congruence with notions of sustainability (Chichilnisky 1996; Fankhauser *et al.* 1997; Pezzy and Toman 2002). In particular, the criterion in equation A2.1 does not say how costs will be distributed through society. In separating economic efficiency (or Pareto-optimality) from other desirable social objectives, such as equity, we are restricting ourselves to one framework for social choice. Other useful decision frameworks exist, but none can be perfect (Arrow 1951; Arrow 1977).³

For a given policy option k, the value of c_a for a firm depends intimately on its technological and operational position. Under the neoclassical assumptions, an airline will ordinarily favor proposals that maximize profit, which for pollution abatement expenditures would likely be at the lowest cost possible. On the economic balance sheet, c_a can be approximated to first order as \overline{c}_a , as in equation A2.1, for a change in environmental quality or impact, measured by p, but only for the case where C_a is linear. Where C_a is nonlinear, $C_a \neq \overline{c}_a$ and we must instead use the definition of marginal cost as in equation A2.3. These costs affect the supply of air transportation services and may have multiplicative effects through the broader economy, resulting from changes in resources committed to providing such mobility.

³ We are also making the assumption that costs and benefits are finite in the formulation (i.e. not divergent with time; that is, something can be done to stem impacts (cf. Tol 2003)).

Figure A2.2. Roles of environmental decision-making and economic feedback



Figure A2.2 depicts MAIPA within the broad context of a comprehensive cost-benefit analysis (CBA) that considers the consequences of environmental policy decisions across a wide economic scope, showing the physical, economic, and social flows of information that constitute the interactions we seek to influence. Following the outlined paths, air transport activity (n), represented as operations or revenue passenger-km (RPK), produces emissions and noise (q), changing environmental quality (e), affecting the economic well-being of people through health and other impacts (w), such as those on ecosystems, which can be expressed economically as damage costs c(w). Policy-makers, manufacturers, airlines, and citizens may take various actions in response to these costs, considering the costs of pollution reduction, c(n). These decisions affect the economy either directly through the primary markets associated with air transportation (e.g. changing ticket prices), or indirectly through other avenues in the economy to impact supply and demand for mobility by air (e.g. changing household production so that less income is available for leisure).

These valuations must be distinguished from abatement and mitigation expenditures. Foremost, abatement costs remain to be understood; technology options remain expensive, and the low marginal costs attributed to noise and most emissions suggest a long wait between technology introductions under a

traditional, cost-benefit analysis focused on Pareto optimality. Examining the comparative uncertainty in c_i , c_n , and c_a is a useful perspective from which to examine decision risks entailed in comparing policy or design options; the expected value of reducing uncertainty in the welfare value of noise and emissions impacts can be directly referenced to improved policy efficiency, enabling prioritization of research agendas. Depending on the extent of risk aversion, likely high given the magnitude of abatement costs, certainty equivalents are potentially much higher than expected benefits. Market approaches may find better use, but work in this area is limited. In the US, estimates place the total value of abatement and mitigation expenditures (for all environmental impacts) at approximately 1-2% of US GDP, similar to other industrialized countries.

Appendix

3. Low complexity models of environmental performance

This appendix looks at the application of low complexity parametric models of flight performance in the context of assessment practice. A performance model based on the Breguet equation highlights the importance of flight distance specification to model error.

3.1. Aircraft performance and the Breguet equation

Aircraft performance can be generally described with the power balance shown in equation A3.1, which relates the rate of work done by thrust (F) and drag (D) on the aircraft with the rate of change in potential energy (i.e. due to altitude change) and kinetic energy (i.e. due to speed change). This is a constructive form in the MAIPA context since it relates directly to energy change along the flight path, and thus qf. In equation A3.1, W is weight, equal to $m \cdot g$ (mass times the gravitational constant), h is altitude, and uo is the flight speed.

(A3.1)
$$Fu_o = W \frac{dh}{dt} + \frac{W}{g} \frac{d}{dx} \left(\frac{u_o^2}{2}\right) + Du_o$$

To first order, required F is set by aircraft size. The efficiency (η) with which F is achieved is dependent on engine thermodynamic cycle and component design. The basic relationships among fuel use, F, and η can be seen in equation A3.2, where F is specified for an engine with a single, core flow stream (e.g. a turbojet engine). The approximate equivalence is achieved for conditions where \dot{m}_f is a small part of total mass flow through the engine, and where exit pressure, pe is equal to ambient pressure, po.¹

(A3.2)
$$F = m_e u_e - m_o u_o + A_e \left(p_e - p_o \right) \cong m_o \left(u_e - u_o \right)$$

Propulsive performance is defined by specific fuel consumption (SFC, e.g. mg/N-s). SFC can be related to engine efficiency (η_0) as in equation A3.3, where LHV is the lower heating value of the fuel (e.g. MJ/kg).

¹ Thrust is produced when air moving through the engine is pushed out the exhaust at a higher speed than it entered (i.e. at the flight speed); Newton's second law, F=ma.

(A3.3)
$$SFC = \frac{m_f}{F} = \frac{u_o}{LHV \cdot \eta_o}$$

Engine efficiency is the product of propulsive (ηp) and thermal (ηt) efficiencies. Propulsive efficiency measures conversion of mechanical power (e.g. change in kinetic energy) to propulsive power (F·uo) and increases as a smaller impulse is provided to a larger mass flow. Thus, for a given F, increasing engine mass flow relative to intra-engine velocity change will increase ηp and decrease SFC. Where equal F can be produced through a large impulse to a small mass flow or a small impulse to a large mass flow, the latter option is the choice of civil applications for reasons of efficiency and typically involves the use of a second, bypass flow stream. This can be represented in equation A3.2 by replacing ue with an exit velocity equal to the appropriate average of the core and bypass flow streams. Thermal efficiency measures conversion of fuel chemical energy to mechanical energy. Higher engine overall pressure ratio and, for imperfect (i.e. non-isentropic) components, higher turbine entry temperature increase ηt . Ideally, for a given F required, u0, h, and limitation on peak temperature of the engine (e.g. by material constraints), SFC is a function of the compressor and fan pressure ratios, and the bypass ratio of the engine design.

The Breguet range equation shown in equation A3.4 is an important simplification of the aircraft performance equations, characterizing the role of technology in fulfilling flight goals.

(A3.4)
$$R = \frac{u_o(L/D)}{g \cdot \text{SFC}} \ln \left(1 + \frac{W_{fuel}}{W_{payload} + W_{structure} + W_{reserve}} \right)$$

The Breguet equation describes an aircraft in steady, level flight where lift (L) just equals weight (W), and thrust (F) just equals drag (D). Its typical use is to determine the maximum range (R) achievable for an aircraft design represented by parameters describing propulsive, aerodynamic, and structural performance. The specific fuel consumption (SFC) characterizes propulsive performance, u0 is the flight velocity (here true airspeed), aerodynamic performance is described by the lift-to-drag ratio (L/D), a non-dimensional parameter, and structural efficiency is described by the weight of the structure (Wstructure) relative to the weight it can carry (i.e. payload, Wpayload; fuel used during operation, Wfuel; fuel reserve,

Wreserve; and the structure itself, Wstructure).² The resulting estimate for range using equation A3.4 is a maximum because several flight segments are not accounted (i.e. idle, taxi, take-off and climb, and descent and landing).

3.2. Breguet-based low complexity estimation of aircraft fuel consumption

A low complexity approach to estimating aircraft fuel consumption can be drawn directly from the basic Breguet formulation of the aircraft performance equations. With a slight reorganization of equation A3.4, a model equation for fuel efficiency can be derived from the Breguet equation; from fuel efficiency, an estimate for per-flight fuel consumption can be obtained. The Breguet-based specification is the least complex performance formulation that can capture the influence of both technology and service use. Considering the MAIPA approach in the context of the Breguet formulation highlights the minimum performance representation sought in its development for this thesis. Equation A3.5 shows per-flight fuel consumption as the product of fuel efficiency (nf) and a nominal flight distance (dsl) where fuel efficiency is defined in units of fuel mass per unit distance. In the equation, nseats is the number of seats, approximated as Wpayload / Wpsgr, nft is the flight time efficiency, an empirical operational parameter that is the ratio of minimum flight hours (related to R) to total operational hours.³ The flight time efficiency corrects for the influence of inaccurate utilization specification, due to ground and flight delays, and non-cruise operation, but does not account for inaccuracies in fuel reserve amounts, non-reported weight elements, and variability in performance parameters during the flight. Fuel consumption inventories are then calculated with the summation of per-flight fuel consumption over all operations.

(A3.5)
$$q_{f} = d_{sl} \cdot \eta_{f}$$

$$q_{f} = d_{sl} \cdot W_{fuel} \cdot \frac{g \cdot \text{SFC}}{u_{o}(L/D)} \cdot \frac{1}{\ln\left[1 + \left(W_{fuel}/W_{payload} + W_{structure} + W_{reserve}\right)\right] \cdot \eta_{ft}}$$

$$Q_{f} = n_{ops} \cdot q_{f}$$

² The flight velocity can be alternatively represented by the Mach number (M), which is a more useful parameter since cruise operation is typically specified with constant M.

³ Fuel efficiency defined in units of energy per unit available seat-distance are typically 1-2 MJ/ASK. For regional aircraft, the range is 1.5-3 MJ/ASK. Historical trends are given in Lee et al. (2001) and Babikian et al. (2002) for large commercial and regional aircraft.

Using a database of technology parameters for 23 large aircraft types flown by U.S. airlines during the period 1991-1998, Lee et al. (2001) estimate a fleet fuel consumption accuracy of +/- 20% against the the same parameter calculated from F41 data. Babikian et al. (2002) find similar results for regional aircraft. Breguet approximations are valuable as technology trending and forecasting metrics, and can be applied to a large portion of the historical record to assess the technological and operational changes in the air transport system.⁴ However, the Breguet approach lacks a flight profile definition and is thus too low resolution for ATEA practice; a distinction must be made among near-airport operations (terminal area and the landing-takeoff cycle, LTO) in order to correctly address emissions and noise impacting local communities via changes to air quality and those resulting in climate perturbations.

3.3. Importance of flight distance specifications in low complexity models

The important lesson from experience with the Breguet approach is that the specification of flight distance is crucially important to accuracy; without the flight time efficiency correction applied, equation A3.5 is highly inaccurate for short-haul flights. The flight rules selected for design evaluation using a proprietary model are often dependent on the launch customer for a new product and thus specific to a particular market application. Once introduced by an airline, an aircraft may be frequently operated off the design evaluation optimum, both with respect to stage length (or market application) as well as speed and trajectory selection. Thus, flight distance needs to be relevant to market application and the performance specification must be flexible enough to account for the changes in performance resulting in off-specification use. For MAIPA, these findings are applied in the choice of aircraft model aggregations into representative aircraft types, first specified by matching flight distance among types, then further divided within these groupings so that the spread in technology performance is minimized, constrained by the performance model fidelity (cf. next section). This second step reduces the elasticity required in the aircraft performance model and thus improves chances for reducing complexity toward the objectives discussed in chapter 2.

⁴ Lee et al. (2001) specifically assess equation A3.5 as a predictor of reported flight distance through a comparison with F41 data. Using technology parameter values gleaned from public sources (and verified by manufacturers), dSL estimates without the flight time efficiency correction were greater than reported by 10-30% for long-haul types and as much as 120% for short-haul types. Correcting for flight time efficiency, remaining deviations were reduced to ~10% over all aircraft. Babikian et al. (2002) find the uncorrected fuel efficiency results, on average, in 1.6 times higher error for regional jets compared to large types; however, applying the flight time efficiency reduces errors to similar levels.

Appendix

4. Historical operations data and representative aircraft types

This appendix describes the activity data available through DOT Form 41 and Form 298C and its use as a source characterization input to MAIPA. It also details the approach to aggregating certificated aircraft types into representative aircraft type groupings to characterize the technology operating in the historical aircraft fleet.

4.1. Operational statistics for US commercial air transportation

This study uses historical operations data collected by the U.S. Department of Transportation (DOT) Bureau of Transportation Statistics (BTS) under Parts 241 and 298 of Title 14 (Aeronautics and Space) of the U.S. Code of Federal Regulations (14 CFR 241 and 14 CFR 298), otherwise known as Form 41 and Form 298C data, respectively. Large certificated air carriers report traffic statistics via Form 41. Certificated carriers that do not meet this classification (small certificated air carriers) and passenger air taxi operators (commuter air carriers) are required to report via Form 298C; these carriers operate regionally.

Each form is divided into schedules. Of relevance to this thesis are Form 41 Schedule T-2 (F41T2), which summarizes data reported in Schedule T-100 by aircraft type, and Form 298C Schedule A-1 (F98A1). The analysis accounts for scheduled and nonscheduled domestic and international operations with at least one point of service in the United States or its territories for revenue passenger and revenue cargo service. Both F41T2 and F98A1 are reported quarterly. Military operations, as well as general aviation activity for business, recreational, or personal use, are not included. The revenue focus additionally excludes piston-powered aircraft.

Although traffic data for large certificated air carriers are available monthly via Form 41 Schedule T-100, quarterly data is used to maintain internal consistency of resolution with other data sources. Data components used in the analysis are listed in table A4.1. Only revenue aircraft-miles flown and revenue aircraft departures performed contribute to estimated costs. Fuel use and the additional data listed are employed for validation purposes only.

Table A4.1. Operational statistics provided by DOT Forms 41-T2 and 298C-A1

F41T2 U.S. Air Carrier Traffic and Capacity by Aircraft Type
921: AIRCRAFT_FUELS — Aircraft Fuels (gallons) The amount of aircraft fuels issued, in U.S. gallons, during the reporting period for both revenue and nonrevenue flights.
410: REV_AIR_MILES — All Services, Revenue Aircraft Miles Flown Revenue aircraft miles flown are computed in accordance with the airport pairs between which service is actually performed; miles are generated from the data for scheduled aircraft departures (Code 520) times the interairport distances (Code 501)
510: REV_DEP_PERFORMED — All Services, Revenue Aircraft Departures Performed The number of revenue aircraft departures performed.
650: AIR_HOURS — Total Aircraft Hours Flown (Airborne) The elapsed time, computed from the moment the aircraft leaves the ground until it touches down at the next landing. This includes flight training, testing, and ferry flights.
630 :AIR_HOURS_RAMP — Aircraft Hours, Ramp-to-Ramp The elapsed time, computed from the moment the aircraft first moves under its own power from the boarding ramp at one airport to the time it comes to rest at the ramp for the next point of landing. This data element is also referred to as 'block' and block-to-block aircraft hours.
140: REV_PAX_MILES — All Services, Revenue Passenger Miles (000), Total Computed by multiplying the interairport distance of each flight stage by the number of passengers transported on that flight stage.
240: REV_TON_MILES — All Services, Revenue Ton Miles, Total Ton miles are computed by multiplying the revenue aircraft miles flown (410) on each flight stage by the number of tons transported on that stage. (Note: sums RTM_PAX,, RTM_FREIGHT, and RTM_MAIL)
247: RTM_FREIGHT — All Services, Freight Revenue Ton Miles Equals the volume of freight in whole tons times the interaiport distance
249: RTM_MAIL — All Services, Mail Revenue Ton Miles Equals the volume of mail in whole tons times the interairport distance
320: AVAIL_SEAT_MILES — All Services, Available Seat Miles (000), Total
The aircraft miles flown on each flight stage multiplied by the seat capacity available for sale
Definition of seats available: installed seats in an aircraft (including seats in lounges) exclusive of any seats not offered for sale to the public by the carrier; provided that in no instance shall any seat sold be excluded for the count of available seats
Definition of seat-miles available: revenue: the aircraft miles flown on each flight stage multiplied by the number of seats available for revenue use on that stage
410: AVAIL_TON_MILES — All Services, Available Ton Miles, Total
The aircraft miles flown on each flight stage multiplied by the available capacity on the aircraft in tons
F98A1 Report of Flight and Traffic Statistics in Scheduled Passenger Operations
AIRCRAFT_HOURS — Aircraft Hours
AIRCRAFT_MILES — Aircraft Miles
AVAIL_SEAT_MILES — Available Seat Miles
AVAIL_TON_MILES – Available Ton Miles
DEP_PERFORMED — Aircraft Departures
REV_PAX_MILES — Revenue Passenger Miles
REV_TON_MILES — Revenue Ton Miles

There are important limitations to highlight. Complete fleet coverage, defined by airline data reporting of better than 99.995%, is available only for 1991 to present. Prior to 1991, activity and fuels-issued data are incomplete or missing for some air carriers. This, and BTS restrictions on data release, limit the analysis to the 13-year period 1991 through 2003. Additionally, only scheduled service is reported on F98A1, with no categorization by aircraft type and no record of fuel use. Since most of this activity is conducted using regional aircraft, and given the coarse representation of such technology in this study, assumptions are required to attribute emissions and noise performance parameters to these data; later sections provide details.

4.2. Representative aircraft types

This thesis constructs aggregations of certificated aircraft types to account for fleet technology based on fidelity considerations. A certificated aircraft type is a logical fundamental unit of technology with respect to environmental impact. For a commercial aircraft, the primary mission is driven by the business of efficiently moving people and goods between locations in a safe manner. This determines the design characteristics of an airframe-engine combination.

Major product features critical to this objective are fuel economy, reliability, maintainability, and environmental performance. These are offered at a cost, are to some degree correlated, and are variously traded to determine the final form of an airframe-engine combination that will satisfy demand in a particular market segment. The A380 case discussed in chapter 1 is an example of such trades as they pertain to environmental performance. Over the five decades of modern air transport, product requirements have led to a measure of design and operational standardization exemplified by the limited variability in aircraft planform and assignment of mission rules.

4.3. Construction of representative aircraft types

MAIPA represents technological performance in the fleet at a resolution suitable for comparing the magnitude of environmental costs across fleet segments. We wish to differentiate aircraft by market application—as defined by mobility, not equipment configuration (e.g. number of seats, aisles, engines)—with as complete coverage of fleet activity practicable, here measured by number of departures and kilometers-flown for the relevance of these metrics as environmental drivers. Flight distance relates

227

directly to divisions among mobility markets; equipment decisions correlate longer flights with larger aircraft, which tend to have more engines and aisles. Larger differences among aircraft with regards to energy use are attributable to operational rather than technological differences; further discussion of this point is found in appendix A5.

Through average stage length, each representative aircraft type describes a particular market use, which may correspond to many different city-pairs. Policy and design choices are made using distinctions among technologies and categories are limited by the fidelity of input data, including activity and performance. This also makes it possible to selectively substitute for individual aircraft types in prospective analyses of changes in damage costs resulting from technology introduction.

Each individual airframe-engine combination cannot be specified uniquely. To arrive at distinct categorizations, identified by non-overlapping activity, fuel use, emissions, and noise specifications, aircraft models are aggregated. Generally, this means that the differences between representative types are characterized by significant technology advancement relevant to environmental performance in comparison to market predecessors. Specification of types at the resolution of city-pair markets is not consistent with the resolution of the input data.

To represent technology in the historical fleet, representative aircraft types were constructed from inservice technology as summarized for large types in table A4.2 and regionals in table A4.3. Other categorizations have been used for environmental analyses or other analyses pertaining to the air transport markets. Equivalencies are shown in tables A4.2 and A4.3 for commonly cited sources, including the type certification sheet designations and categorizations used by the Forecasting and Economic Sub-Group (FESG) of the ICAO Committee on Aviation Environmental Protection (CAEP).

Table A4.2. Representative aircraft type assignments for large DOT aircraft model identifiers with type certification and FESG equivalents

gray-shaded entries indicate out-of-production models

Name	F41 code / name	Certification Name	Certification Date	Equivalencies
b727	715 / Boeing 727-200/231a	B727-200	1967	FESG: 100-150
(1)	none	B727-200F	1983	
	710 / Boeing 727-100	B727/-100	1963	
	711 / Boeing 727-100c/Qc	B727C/-100C	1966	
b737	619 / Boeing 737-300	B737-300	1984	FESG: 100-150
(2)	616 / Boeing 737-500	B737-500	1990	
	617 / Boeing 737-400	B737-400	1988	
	618 / Boeing 737-300lr	n/a	n/a	
md80	655 / McDonnell-Douglas DC9	DC9-80	-81 1980; -82 1981	FESG: 100-150
	Super 80 /MD81/2/3/8		-83 1985; -88 1987	
	645 / McDonnell-Douglas DC9 Super 87		-87 1987	
b747o	816 / Boeing 747-100	B747-100 types	-100 1969; -100B 1979	FESG: 301-400
(3)			-100B SUD 1986; SR 1973	
	817 / Boeing 747-200/300	B747-200 types	-200B 1970; -200C 1973	A DECKS
		B747-300	1983	
	822 / Boeing 747sp	B747-SP	1976	
b747	819 / Boeing 747-400	B747-400_types	-400 1989; -400D 1991	FESG: 301-400
(3)	820 / Boeing 747f	B747-200F	-200F 1972	
		B747-400F	-400F 1993	
b757	622 / Boeing 757-200	B757-200	1982	FESG: 151-210
	623 / Boeing 757-300	B757-300	1999	
b767	626 / Boeing 767-300/300er	B767-300	1986	FESG: 151-210
	625 / Boeing 767-200/200er	B767-200	1982	
	624 / Boeing 767-400	B767-400ER	2000	
dc10	730 / McDonnell Douglas Dc-10-10	DC-10-10	1971	FESG: 211-300
(8,9)	732 / McDonnell Douglas Dc-10-30	DC-10-30	1972	
	733 / McDonnell Douglas Dc-10-40	DC-10-40	1972	
	735 / McDonnell Douglas Dc-10-30cf	DC-10-30F	1973	的意思是是教育
2、注户。	731 / McDonnell Douglas Dc-10-20	n/a	n/a	
	none	DC-10-10F	1974	
	none	DC-10-15	1981	
	none	DC-10-40F	1976	N. S. S. S. S.
dc9	640 / McDonnell Douglas Dc-9-30	DC9-30 types	-31 1966; -32 1967, -34 1976	FESG: 100-150
(4)	650 / McDonnell Douglas Dc-9-50	DC9-50	-51 1975	and all the design
	630 / McDonnell Douglas Dc-9-10	DC9-10 types	-11/2/3/4 1965; -15 1966;	the second second
	645 / McDonnell Douglas Dc-9-40	DC9-40	-41 1968	
	635 / McDonnell Douglas Dc-9-15f	DC9-15f	1967	
	none	DC9-20	-21 1968	

Name	F41 code / name	Certification Name	Certification Date	Equivalencies
a320	694 / Airbus Industrie A320-100/200	A320-100/200 series	-111/211 1988; -231 1989	FESG: 100-150
****			-212 1990; -232 1993	
****			-233 1995; -214 1996	
****	698 / Airbus Industrie A319	A319-100 series	-112 1996	
			-111/113/114/131/132 1997	
	699 / Airbus Industrie A321	A321-100/200	-111/112/131 1995	
			-211/231 1997	
11011	760 / Lockheed L-1011-1/100/200	L-1011-385-1 types	-1 1972	FESG: 211-300
			-1-14 (-100) 1975	
			-1-15 (-200) 1975	
	765 / Lockheed L-1011-500 Tristar	L-1011-385-3	1979	
md11	740 / McDonnell Douglas Md-11	MD-11	1990	FESG: 151-210
(10)	none	MD-11F	1990	
b777	627 / Boeing 777	B777-200	-200 1995; -200ER 1997	FESG: 211-300
		B777-300	1998	
		B777-300ER	2004	
b737n	614 / Boeing 737-800	B737-800	1998	FESG: 100-150
(5,6,7)	612 / Boeing 737-700/700lr	B737-700	1998	
	none	B737-700C	2000	FESG: 151-210
	634 / Boeing 737-900	B737-900	2001	
	615 / Boeing 737-5/600ir	n/a	n/a	FESG: 151-210
	633 / Boeing 737-600	B737-600	1998	
b717	608 / Boeing 717	B717-200	1999	FESG: 100-150

Table notes:

(1) no -200F F41 designation

(2) not a separate Boeing or type cert designation for B737-300Ir

(3) -400 is similar to -300; -300 is similar to -200 with a stretched upper deck; -sp is essentially a long-range version of -100

(4) no -20 F41 designation, No activity reported for DC-9-15f over period considered.

(5) -600/700/800 all under same type cert

(6) no separate certification or Boeing designation, assumed same as -600

(7) no -700C F41 designation

(8) no -20 Boeing or type cert designation

(9) no -10F, -40F, or -15 F41 designation

(10) no -11F F41 designation

Table A4.3. Representative aircraft type assignments for regional DOT aircraft model identifiers with type certification and FESG equivalents

gray-shaded entries indicate out-of-production models

Regional types specified as groups	
turbofans (tfan): F41 code / name	turboprops (tprp): F41 code / name
629 / Canadair Rj-200er	456 / Saab-Fairchild 340/B
603 / Fokker 100	461 / Embraer Emb-120 Brasilia
674 / Embraer-135	441 / Aerospatiale/Aeritalia Atr-42
868 / British Aerospace Bae-146-100	416 / Cessna 208 Caravan
628 / Canadair Rj-100/Rj-100er	483 / Dehavilland Dhc8-100 Dash-8
835 / Avroliner Rj85	442 / Aerospatiale/Aeritalia Atr-72
602 / Fokker F28-4000/6000 Fellowship	469 / British Aerospace Jetstream 31
867 / British Aerospace Bae-146-200	445 / Convair CV-660
601 / Fokker F28-1000 Fellowship	405 / Beech 1900 A/B/C
866 / British Aerospace Bae-146-300	467 / Swearingen Metro lii
	471 / British Aerospace Jetstream 41
	449 / Dornier 328
	489 / Shorts 360
	484 / Dehavilland Dhc8-300 Dash-8
	408 / British Aerospace Bae-Atp
	450 / Fokker Friendship F-27/Fairchild F-27/A/B/F/J
	550 / Lockheed L-188a/C Electra
	430 / Convair Cv-580
	435 / Convair Cv-600
turbofans (tfan): Equivalencies	turboprops (tprp): Equivalencies
FESG: 50-99	FESG:20-49

Regional types specified individually						
Name	F41 code / name	Certification Name	Certification Date	Equivalencies		
e145	675 / Embraer 145	EMB-145 series	-145 1996; -145ER 1996	FESG: 50-99		
			-145MR 1998; -145LR 1998			
			-145XR 2002; -145MP 2003			
			-145EP 2003			

4.4. Coverage of US commercial aircraft operations 1991-2003

There are 19 designations, 16 for large aircraft operations, 3 for regionals, with one additional generic specification. Only designations with adequate data to describe performance were considered. In addition,

based on experience with computational overhead, only F41T2 designations for which revenue aircraft departures performed or revenue aircraft kilometers (RAK) flown represented >0.3% of fleet totals individually, or >0.3% as a group with other F41T2 designations, were used to construct representative aircraft types. For each representative aircraft type, there is typically a dominant aircraft model (i.e. the model that accounts for most departures or aircraft kilometers), denoted by underscore.

Collectively, representative aircraft types account for ~95% of departures performed, RAK flown, and aircraft fuels issued as reported on F41T2 for the period 1991 through 2003. The remaining 5% is specified as a fleet average, generic representative aircraft type. Data reported on F98A1 increase total departures by 25% and RAK by 7%. A summary of cumulative activity coverage is given in table A4.4; an extended tabulation of data concerning activity coverage is contained in table A4.5.

Table A4.4. Representative aircraft type coverage of US commercial aircraft activity 1991-2003

Accounted activity	F41 dep	F41 RAK	F41 fuel
large aircraft types	72%	91%	86%
regional aircraft types	22%	3%	8%
tprp portion of regionals	15%	1%	4%
tfan portion of regionals	7%	2%	4%
Total coverage	94%	94%	94%

Additional regional data added via F98A1 as % of F41T2 data

25% not available

1. 6. 1. 7	1.1.1.1.1.1		1	1 43	10-11-1
1.385.95		1000	10000		1.1
1.1.1	- 1 L - 7	a 2 minut	2. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1.	- 11 A	2-11-
 Contract Card Land	and the second		Annaha Barrison	a standa basis	and the second second

Unaccounted activity	F41 dep	F41 RAK	F41 fuel
piston / rotor aircraft types	1%	0%	0%
other tprp types	1%	0%	0%
other tfan types	2%	1%	1%
other large types	2%	5%	4%

 Table A4.5. Detailed statistics for representative aircraft type coverage of US commercial aircraft activity 1991-2003

Name F41 code / name		F41 DEP (10 ⁸) and % contribution		F41 RAK (10 ⁶) and % contribution		F41 fue and %	F41 fuel (10 ³ metric tons) and % contribution	
b727	Total contribution to cumulative	11156	10%	12334	10%	83575	12%	
	715 / Boeing 727-200/231a	9825	88%	11120	90%	76181	91%	
	710 / Boeing 727-100	1124	10%	1045	8%	6287	8%	
	711 / Boeing 727-100c/Qc	206	2%	169	1%	1107	1%	
b737	Total	19012	17%	18323	15%	77597	11%	
	619 / Boeing 737-300	13835	73%	13251	72%	56093	72%	
	616 / Boeing 737-500	3064	16%	2877	16%	11891	5%	
	617 / Boeing 737-400	2082	11%	2188	12%	9566	12%	
	618 / Boeing 737-300lr	30	0.16%	7	0.04%	48	0.06%	
md80	Total	12818	11%	15649	12%	77910	11%	
	655 / McDonnell-Douglas DC9 Super 80 /MD81/2/3/8	12759	99.5%	15599	99.7%	77659	99.7%	
	645 / McDonnell-Douglas DC9 Super 87	59	0.5%	50	0.3%	251	0.3%	
b757	Total	7471	6.7%	14091	11%	70334	9.8%	
	622 / Boeing 757-200	7427	99.4%	13994	99.3%	69862	99.3%	
	623 / Boeing 757-300	44	0.6%	97	0.7%	471	0.7%	
b767	Total	2715	2.4%	9365	7.4%	59461	8.3%	
	626 / Boeing 767-300/300er	1672	62%	5884	63%	37983	64%	
	625 / Boeing 767-200/200er	949	35%	3223	34%	19637	33%	
	624 / Boeing 767-400	95	3%	258	3%	1840	3%	
dc10	Total	1694	1.5%	5143	4.1%	52926	7.4%	
(1)	730 / McDonnell Douglas Dc-10-10	887	52%	2096	41%	20059	38%	
	732 / McDonnell Douglas Dc-10-30	592	35%	2422	47%	25883	49%	
	733 / McDonnell Douglas Dc-10-40	211	12%	615	12%	6896	13%	
	735 / McDonnell Douglas Dc-10-30cf			1-2-2		1	AN PRACTICE	
	731 / McDonnell Douglas Dc-10-20							
b747o	Total	703	0.6%	3372	2.7%	46158	6.4%	
	816 / Boeing 747-100	455	65%	2123	63%	28501	62%	
	817 / Boeing 747-200/300	230	33%	1132	34%	16274	35%	
	822 / Boeing 747sp	19	3%	118	3%	1383	3%	
dc9	Total	8593	7.7%	6157	4.9%	31485	4.4%	
(2)	640 / McDonnell Douglas Dc-9-30	5976	70%	4540	74%	22550	72%	
	650 / McDonnell Douglas Dc-9-50	1498	17%	804	13%	4947	16%	
	630 / McDonnell Douglas Dc-9-10	771	9%	535	9%	2652	8%	
	645 / McDonnell Douglas Dc-9-40	349	4%	278	5%	1336	4%	
	635 / McDonnell Douglas Dc-9-15f							
b747	Total	397	0.4%	5816	1.9%	30996	4.3%	
	819 / Boeing 747-400	283	71%	2002	82%	24864	80%	
	820 / Boeing 747f	115	29%	442	18%	6132	20%	

Name	F41 code / name % contribution		EP (10 ⁶) and tribution	F41 RAK (10 ⁶) and % contribution		F41 fuel (10 ³ metric tons) and % contribution		
b737o	Total	8298	7.4%	5938	4.7%	29470	4.1%	
	620 / Boeing 737-100/200	7447	90%	5413	91%	26738	91%	
	621 / Boeing 737-200c	852	10%	526	9%	2732	9%	
a320	Total	3806	3.4%	6523	5.2%	24674	3.4%	
	694 / Airbus Industrie A320-100/200	2604	68%	4613	71%	17672	72%	
****	698 / Airbus Industrie A319	1105	29%	1719	26%	6171	25%	
	699 / Airbus Industrie A321	97	3%	190	3%	831	3%	
11011	Total	758	0.7%	2013	1.6%	21022	2.9%	
	760 / Lockheed L-1011-1/100/200	578	76%	1350	67%	14369	68%	
	765 / Lockheed L-1011-500 Tristar	180	24%	663	33%	6653	32%	
md11	740 / Mcdonnell Douglas Md-11	406	0.4%	1927	1.5%	18147	2.5%	
b777	627 / Boeing 777	372	0.3%	2029	1.6%	16874	2.3%	
b737n	Total	2002	1.8%	3190	2.5%	11913	1.7%	
(3)	614 / Boeing 737-800	1072	54%	1844	58%	7140	60%	
	612 / Boeing 737-700/700lr	905	45%	1301	41%	4620	39%	
	634 / Boeing 737-900	25	1%	46	1%	153	1%	
	615 / Boeing 737-5/600lr							
	633 / Boeing 737-600							
b717	608 / Boeing 717	1817	1.6%	1285	1.0%	2486	0.3%	

Region	al types specified individually		计算机中国法	No al			(1) 化合体 (1) 本 (1)
Name	F41 code / name	F41 D	EP (10 ⁶) and	F41 RA	K (10 ⁶) and	F41 fue	l (10 ³ metric tons)
1		% cor	ntribution	% cont	ribution	and %	contribution
e145	675 / Embraer 145	311	0.3%	237	0.2%	921	0.1%

Region	nal types specified as groups	教训编辑	计计算机				国际和国家和国
Name	F41 code / name	F41 DEP (10 ⁶) and % contribution		F41 RAK (10 ⁶) and % contribution		F41 fuel (10 ³ metric tons and % contribution	
tfan	Total	5338	4.8%	3501	2.8%	10071	1.4%
	629 / Canadair Rj-200er	1968	37%	1402	40%	2750	27%
	603 / Fokker 100	1047	20%	804	23%	3627	36%
	674 / Embraer-135	498	9%	305	9%	671	7%
	868 / British Aerospace Bae-146-100	497	9%	213	6%	1008	10%
	628 / Canadair Rj-100/Rj-100er	441	8%	325	9%	200	2%
****	835 / Avroliner Rj85	340	6%	185	5%	672	7%
	602 / Fokker F28-4000/6000 Fellowship	340	6%	167	5%	724	7%
	867 / British Aerospace Bae-146-200	123	2%	59	2%	250	2%
	601 / Fokker F28-1000 Fellowship	74	1%	36	1%	158	2%
****	866 / British Aerospace Bae-146-300	11	0.2%	6	0.2%	12	0.1%

Name	F41 code / name	F41 DE % cont	P (10 ⁶) and ribution	F41 RA % cont	K (10°) and tribution	F41 fue and %	el (10 ³ metric tons) contribution
tprp	Total	17139	15%	5318	4.2%	7244	1%
	456 / Saab-Fairchild 340/B	3205	19%	1048	20%	1515	21%
	461 / Embraer Emb-120 Brasilia	2285	13%	870	16%	1149	16%
	441 / Aerospatiale/Aeritalia Atr-42	1706	10%	523	10%	983	14%
	416 / Cessna 208 Caravan	1705	10%	394	7%	28	0.4%
	483 / Dehavilland Dhc8-100 Dash-8	1641	10%	449	8%	594	8%
	442 / Aerospatiale/Aeritalia Atr-72	1284	7%	466	9%	948	13%
	469 / British Aerospace Jetstream 31	1141	7%	277	5%	281	4%
	445 / Convair CV-660	890	5%	243	5%	312	4%
	405 / Beech 1900 A/B/C	848	5%	236	4%	130	2%
	467 / Swearingen Metro Iii	764	4%	224	4%	185	3%
	471 / British Aerospace Jetstream 41	506	3%	179	3%	249	3%
	449 / Dornier 328	462	3%	198	4%	281	4%
	489 / Shorts 360	260	2%	43	1%	87	1%
	484 / Dehavilland Dhc8-300 Dash-8	118	1%	37	1%	56	1%
	408 / British Aerospace Bae-Atp	116	1%	27	1%	65	1%
	450 / Fokker Friendship F-27	80	0.5%	21	0%	41	1%
	550 / Lockheed L-188a/C Electra	64	0.4%	55	1%	263	3.6%
	430 / Convair Cv-580	27	0.2%	14	0.3%	36	0.5%
	435 / Convair Cv-600	24	0.1%	10	0.2%	32	0.4%

Notes:

(1) <<1% of DC-10 activity reported for DC-10-30cf and DC-10-20 over period considered.

(2) <<1% of DC-9 activity reported for DC-9-15f over period considered.

(3) no activity reported for Boeing 737-5/600lr, 737-600 over period considered.

Absent from these lists are DC-8, A300/A310, and MD-90 models, each of which are older and/or discontinued models fading from the U.S. fleet. In addition, newer large aircraft models entering the U.S. fleet, for which limited or no activity data exists, include new A380, A330/A340, B737, and B777 models, several of which have completed certification within the last few years. There is a bias error introduced due to the lack of full fleet coverage, downward in terms of inventories and environmental costs aggregated at the national or airport level, but the sign of bias is ambiguous for fleet emission indices or marginal cost estimates.

As shown in table A4.4, most missing contributions fall into the large transport category. To account for this error, an estimated correction to inventories is introduced before deriving average or marginal quantities based on averaged emissions and noise characteristics for the portion of the fleet specified by

representative aircraft types. This process provides a generic large transport representative aircraft type in a manner similar to regional turbofans and turboprops.

4.5. Treatment of regional aircraft

Data are not available to fully characterize the regional fleet, particularly where noise and emissions performance for many smaller engines have not been publicly reported. Even where such data are found, measurement techniques have been inconsistently applied across engine models, and comparisons are suspect. Also, a large portion of regional activity is reported without attribution to an aircraft model via F98A1. Some of these data issues have been addressed by Babikian et al. (2002), but only for the purpose of examining fuel use.

As identified in table A4.3, only the Embraer 145, a turbofan-powered aircraft, is treated similarly to its larger counterparts. The Embraer 145 is well-characterized by existing data using emissions and noise measurement techniques similar to those standardized for large commercial aircraft. Other regional types are represented by summary categories, one for turbofans and another for turboprops, but no piston-powered models.

MAIPA treats all regional activity reported via F41T2 as distinct from the E145, and all activity reported on F98A1 with weighted average specifications for emissions and noise performance based on these categories. Noise and emissions inventories calculated in this manner are for comparison only to determine the relative magnitude of contribution to overall damage costs. No specific policy or design decisions should be made on the basis of results for the generic category.

4.6. Aircraft categorizations by service application

4.6.1. Basic types by flight distance

For inventory calculation, types were assigned to one of three categories organized by reported mean flight distance. The categorization derives directly from the population of F41T2 quarterly reports. Table 3.1 in chapter 3 summarizes fleet categorization and assignment; the shading again designates types no longer in production. The number of departures or kilometers-traveled was used as an activity weighting to develop parameter distributions in the probabilistic analysis. When distributions for emissions are

generated for a representative aircraft type, the contributions of sub-types are determined by cumulative kilometers-traveled over the period considered. This is a relevant weighting since inventory emissions depend on total fuel burn, which is a strong function of kilometers-traveled. Similarly, a departures weighting is used for determining aggregated noise characteristics. These distributions are also shown in table A4.5; the listing order is by fuels-issued.

4.6.2. Apportionment of operational activity to freight service

Freight is separated in this analysis from passenger service. F41T2 and F98A1 specify freight activity by revenue ton-miles; departures are not called out specifically. Table A4.6 estimates the portion of activity accounted by freight relative to passenger service. In calculating the ratio of freight to total mass flown, the mass of a passenger (including baggage) is assumed to be 90.7 kg (200 lbs). The portion of fuel expended in freighter operations trends downward at $r_g^{lh} = -0.27\%$ and a declining fraction of large aircraft fuel use, from 21% to 16%.

Table A4.6. Estimated apportionment of US commercial operations to freight service 1991-2003

Name	F41 code/name	Estimated fraction of cumulative activity in freight
b727	715 / Boeing 727-200/231a	18%
	710 / Boeing 727-100	78%
	711 / Boeing 727-100c/Qc	98%
b737	619 / Boeing 737-300	4%
	616 / Boeing 737-500	4%
	617 / Boeing 737-400	4%
	618 / Boeing 737-300lr	33%
md80	655 / McDonnell-Douglas DC9	4%
	Super 80 /MD81/2/3/8	
	645 / McDonnell-Douglas DC9 Super 87	4%
b757	622 / Boeing 757-200	14%
	623 / Boeing 757-300	2%
b767	626 / Boeing 767-300/300er	36%
	625 / Boeing 767-200/200er	26%
	624 / Boeing 767-400	22%
dc10	730 / McDonnell Douglas Dc-10-10	42%
	732 / McDonnell Douglas Dc-10-30	57%
	733 / McDonnell Douglas Dc-10-40	23%
b747o	816 / Boeing 747-100	57%
	817 / Boeing 747-200/300	51%
CREAK!	822 / Boeing 747sp	34%
dc9	640 / McDonnell Douglas Dc-9-30	6%
	650 / McDonnell Douglas Dc-9-50	5%
	630 / McDonnell Douglas Dc-9-10	7%
	645 / McDonnell Douglas Dc-9-40	12%
b747	819 / Boeing 747-400	38%
	820 / Boeing 747f	100%
b737o	620 / Boeing 737-100/200	4%
	621 / Boeing 737-200c	38%
a320	694 / Airbus Industrie A320-100/200	5%
	698 / Airbus Industrie A319	4%
	699 / Airbus Industrie A321	4%
11011	760 / Lockheed L-1011-1/100/200	18%
	765 / Lockheed L-1011-500 Tristar	17%
md11	740 / Mcdonnell Douglas Md-11	76%
b777	627 / Boeing 777	32%
b737n	614 / Boeing 737-800	3%
	612 / Boeing 737-700/700ir	4%
	634 / Boeing 737-900	3%
b717	608 / Boeing 717	1%

Name	F41 code/name	Estimated fraction of cumulative activity in freight
e145	675 / Embraer 145	0%
tfan	629 / Canadair Rj-200er	2%
	603 / Fokker 100	3%
	674 / Embraer-135	0%
	868 / British Aerospace Bae-146-100	1%
	628 / Canadair Rj-100/Rj-100er	8%
	835 / Avroliner Rj85	0%
0	602 / Fokker F28-4000/6000 Fellowship	3%
	867 / British Aerospace Bae-146-200	8%
	601 / Fokker F28-1000 Fellowship	3%
6 000000000000000000000000000000000000	866 / British Aerospace Bae-146-300	0%
tprp	456 / Saab-Fairchild 340/B	4%
0 +	461 / Embraer Emb-120 Brasilia	1%
	441 / Aerospatiale/Aeritalia Atr-42	0%
	416 / Cessna 208 Caravan	98%
	483 / Dehavilland Dhc8-100 Dash-8	2%
	442 / Aerospatiale/Aeritalia Atr-72	0%
	469 / British Aerospace Jetstream 31	0%
	445 / Convair CV-660	5%
	405 / Beech 1900 A/B/C	7%
	467 / Swearingen Metro lii	35%
	471 / British Aerospace Jetstream 41	0%
	449 / Dornier 328	1%
	489 / Shorts 360	4%
	484 / Dehavilland Dhc8-300 Dash-8	0%
	408 / British Aerospace Bae-Atp	0%
0	450 / Fokker Friendship F-27	32%
	550 / Lockheed L-188a/C Electra	89%
	430 / Convair Cv-580	86%
	435 / Convair Cv-600	100%

4.7. Use of airport-specific operational data

In the absence of geographic specificity for local and regional effects, airport-specific operational and demographic data are aggregated probabilistically using a sample of airports. The resulting probability function conveys geographic variability to the damage function. A unified source of airport-specific operations data does not exist for the US that differentiates by aircraft. These data are necessary for the consistent evaluation of local effects, both air quality and noise-related. Total historical airport operations since 1976 are available from issues of the FAA Terminal Area Forecast (TAF), but not at the resolution

of representative aircraft types.¹ As a compromise, operations were disaggregated among major airports, and thus counties, using a distribution of operations developed for use in the FAA Model for Assessing Global Exposure to the Noise of Transport Aircraft or MAGENTA (CAEP 2001b, 2001a).

In application to MAIPA, this database is applied to partition operations reported via F41T2 and F98A1 among major airports in the US and makes it possible to localize the evaluation of changes in environmental variables. Only the 96 airports in the US (out of 1724 civil airports worldwide) for which detailed operational and route data are available are used in this analysis. Operations at these airports are categorized by aircraft type using the descriptive conventions of INM version 5.2a and derive from the scheduled passenger, cargo, and charter operations reported in the Official Airline Guide (OAG ref). Using the OAG in combination with tower operations records obtained directly from each airport, the MAGENTA database specifies the average daily number of operations for each INM-type aircraft.

One difficulty in applying the MAGENTA database is that its total operations counts are inconsistent with DOT reported data. The OAG is a near-term forecast based on expected schedules reported by airlines. This is qualitatively different from the F41T2 and F98A1 data, which are historical. At the time this analysis was completed, an aircraft-type differentiated activity database was available for 2002 only. The 96 MAGENTA airports do not cover all operations reported on F41T2 and F98A; there are 22% fewer operations reported for 2002 than for MAIPA representative aircraft types.² By government agreement, airports in the MAGENTA database must remain anonymous, designated only by an index, so it is not possible to fully explain these differences. This is an impetus for a generalized model of noise exposure, treating this 96 airport set as a sample for the purposes of determining marginal damages.

To associate demographic data with each of these airports, it is necessary to designate a specific location for each of the 96 indices. It is likely that the 96 airports correspond to one of the 134 large, medium, and small hubs reported in the TAF for 2002. To attribute demographic and air quality data, airports were matched to counties based on a likelihood indicator composed of the root mean square of population

¹ The TAF designates airports in the US as either large, medium, small, or non-hubs, based on the number of enplanements handled. Large hub airports each process >1% of total enplanements; medium hubs, small hubs, and non-hubs process 0.25-0.99%, 0.05-0.24% and <0.05% respectively. There were 32 large hubs, 35 medium hubs, 67 small hubs, and 340 non-hubs in 2002.

² Comparing total MAGENTA operations (including military and general aviation) with operations at the 134 TAF airports suggests that the MAGENTA airports account for approximately 62% of reported movements.

density and number of operations. Table A4.7 lists representative aircraft type assignments for MAGENTA aircraft model identifiers using this procedure. To represent the uncertainty in using this method to identify airports, data for the three airports most closely matching the MAGENTA indicator value were carried through the analysis, combined through Monte Carlo sampling to derive demographic, air quality, and operations parameters for each airport location. To estimate costs associated with changes in noise (and air quality) in a manner consistent with the DOT activity data, total MAGENTA operations were summed over all airports and scaled by a factor equal to the ratio of these operations to total F41T2/F98A1 operations for the associated representative aircraft type. This reconciliation preserves the ratio of movements among all airports for a specific representative aircraft type, and changes the ratio of movements among representative aircraft types at a specific airport by < 5%.

Table A4.7. Representative aircraft type assignments for MAGENTA aircraft model identifiers

- aircraft models are listed by their DOT Form 41 identifiers
- gray-shaded entries indicate out-of-production models

Name	MAGENTA equivalents	MAGENTA substitutions
b727	727D17 727EM1 727EM2 727QF 707QN 720 720B	707C56
b737	7373B2 737300 737400 737500	none
md80	MD81 MD83 MD83	none
b747o	747100 747200 74710Q 74720A 74720B 747SP	7473G2
b747	747400	none
b757	757PW 757RR	757300
b767	767300 767400 767CF6 767JT9	none
dc10	DC1010 DC1030 DC1040	none
dc9	DC93LW DC950 DC95HW DC9Q9 DC3 DC6 DC850 DC870 DC8QN	DC9Q7 DC86BT
b737o	737N17 737N9 737	73717A
a320	A319 A320 A32023	A321 A32123
11011	L1011 L10115	L188
md11	MD11GE MD11PW MD9025	none
b777	777200 777300	none
b737n	737700	737800
b717	717200	none
e145	EMB145 EMB14L	none
tfan	BAE146 F10062 F10065 F28MK2 F28MK4	none
tprp	CVR580 DHC830 EMB120 SF340 DHC8 BAC111 BEC300 DHC6 DHC7 HS748A SD330	ATR42 BEC200 DO328 FK70 SAMER2 SAMER4

Appendix

5. Flight performance model

This section describes the definition of the nominal representative aircraft types flight profile in reference to flight procedures, and the parametric model of aircraft performance used to estimate flight operation and time-in-mode.

5.1. Flight distance specification

Distributions for flight distance are determined using quarterly F41T2 data from 1991-2003. Flight distance is calculated as total RAK divided by total revenue departures performed (RAD) for the F41 identifying codes corresponding to the aircraft models specified in tables A4.2 and A4.3.¹ Given the limited number of values (n = 52), it is not possible to specify a form for the long-term distribution that characterizes distance data. Thus, the probability distribution is specified based on this data as:

(A5.1)
$$P(d_n) = P(\operatorname{unif}, \operatorname{min}(d_n), \operatorname{max}(d_n))$$

This restricts MAIPA to estimation of fleet-averaged performance for any representative aircraft type. This distribution applies to the average flight over time, not the flight-to-flight variability within a particular time period.

5.1.1. Corrections for deviations from great circle flight distance

Reported distance data are based on city-pair great circle stage lengths. In service, dsl will be longer as a result of air traffic controller or pilot decisions to deviate. A distribution for deviation in latitude and

¹Scheduled rather than actual departures should be used because RAK in F41T2 is determined based on scheduled departures as detailed in table A4.1 (cf. appendix 4). However, scheduled departures are not available from the U.S. Bureau of Transportation Statistics, thus the use of actual departures. This introduces a upward distance bias into the analysis of an unknown amount.

longitude ($\Delta \hat{d}_{sl}$) is derived from an analysis of actual trajectory displacements calculated as the difference between FAA ETMS radar-tracked flight positions and great circle routes (FAA 2003b).²

Deviations $\hat{\delta}\langle d_{fl}\rangle$ are input as perpendicular great circle distances from the halfway point of the flight using the experimental distribution $\hat{\delta}\langle d_{fl}\rangle = \text{Pex}[\text{midpoint deviation}]$; the deviation increases with flight distance. The revised distance is calculated as the sum of two great circle routes to and from the newly located halfway point. Because the Pex[midpoint deviation] is derived from individual flight statistics, it overestimates the deviation contribution to variance by an unknown amount.

5.2. Flight profile segmentation for performance schedules

There are several options for setting flight rules given the description in equation A3.1 (appendix A3). Using aircraft control inputs, any pair of flight speed, throttle (F), and rate of climb/descent (dh/dt) can be specified to set performance, given a description of aircraft drag and weight. Flight rules are also significantly influenced by safety regulations, air traffic control, and navigational requirements.³ These restrict possible sets of performance characteristics, particularly at altitudes below ~3 km where airspace hazards increase. From the perspective of MAIPA performance modeling, this is advantageous since it reduces variation among model types.

5.2.1. Flight profile segmentation by performance mode

For MAIPA, vertical flight profiles, h(t), are described in nine segments (nseg = 9). Four operational modes below the nominal mixing height (h<bl) are set for the landing-takeoff (LTO) cycle: idle/taxi, take-off, climb, and approach. For the LTO cycle, trajectories are specified through standardized methods reported in the Society of Automotive Engineers (SAE) Aerospace Information Report 1845 (AIR, see SAE 1986) for the FAA Integrated Noise Model (INM, see Bishop and Mills 1992; FAA 1999).

(E5.1)
$$\lambda_{SL} = \sqrt{\left(\frac{\hat{a}_{SL}}{4} + \Delta \hat{d}_{SL}\right)/\hat{d}_{SL}}$$

² A simplified implementation of the FAA dispersion correction, which is specified as a function of distance, is used. For MAIPA, a distribution of lateral deviations is specified at only the midpoint of the flight, from which a randomized deviation is selected. The factor (λ sl) is then determined using a geometric argument in equation E5.1.

³ Within the boundaries of flight rules and physics, there is variability in flight profiles among aircraft types dependent upon market application, which correlates with aircraft size. For design and market evaluation, manufacturers conventionally use speed and throttle schedules to specify standardized flight profiles over a great circle route. Performance objectives center around achieving best fuel economy.

An additional five operational modes above the nominal mixing height (h<bl) approximate the en route portion of the flight (h>bl); two additional climb segments, cruise, and two additional approach segments. En route profile and performance follow Eurocontrol Base of Aircraft Data (BADA) schedules (cf. Eurocontrol 2003).⁴

5.2.2. Application of FAA INM and Eurocontrol BADA flight procedures

Trajectories below and above the nominal mixing height are equated, respectively, to the FAA INM and the BADA standard procedures closest to the constituent F41 models specified for each representative aircraft type. Where there are several designations that fit a constituent aircraft model, only designations referencing models flying in the analysis period are selected, using data provided by Wyle Laboratories that specific airframe-engine combinations to flight frequencies (see table A4.7 in appendix A4). If more than one model exists, a particular profile is chosen at random among the options for each simulation iteration.

Table A5.1 lists the INM and BADA identifier equivalents to F41-coded models for representative aircraft types. Figure A5.1 illustrates MAIPA flight profile definitions referenced in the following discussions of performance specification.

⁴INM version 6.0c and BADA version 3.5 are used for this analysis.

Name	F41 code/name	BADA equivalent	INM equivalent(s)
tprp	456 / Saab-Fairchild 340/B	SF34	SF340
	461 / Embraer Emb-120 Brasilia	E120	EMB120
	441 / Aerospatiale/Aeritalia Atr-42	AT43	SF340, EMB120, DHC8, CVR580, DHC830, L188
	416 / Cessna 208 Caravan	JS31	SF340, EMB120, DHC8, CVR580, DHC830, L188
	483 / Dehavilland Dhc8-100 Dash-8	DH8C	DHC8
	442 / Aerospatiale/Aeritalia Atr-72	AT72	SF340, EMB120, DHC8, CVR580, DHC830, L188
	469 / British Aerospace Jetstream 31	JS31	SF340, EMB120, DHC8, CVR580, DHC830, L188
	445 / Convair CV-660	AT43	CVR580
	405 / Beech 1900 A/B/C	JS31	SF340, EMB120, DHC8, CVR580, DHC830, L188
	467 / Swearingen Metro Iii	JS31	SF340, EMB120, DHC8, CVR580, DHC830, L188
	471 / British Aerospace Jetstream 41	JS41	SF340, EMB120, DHC8, CVR580, DHC830, L188
	449 / Dornier 328	D328	SF340, EMB120, DHC8, CVR580, DHC830, L188
	489 / Shorts 360	SH36	SF340, EMB120, DHC8, CVR580, DHC830, L188
	484 / Dehavilland Dhc8-300 Dash-8	DH8C	DHC830
	408 / British Aerospace Bae-Atp	ATP	SF340, EMB120, DHC8, CVR580, DHC830, L188
	450 / Fokker Friendship F-27	F27	SF340, EMB120, DHC8, CVR580, DHC830, L188
	550 / Lockheed L-188a/C Electra	ATP	L188
	430 / Convair Cv-580	AT43	CVR580
	435 / Convair Cv-600	AT43	CVR580

Table A5.1. Representative aircraft type assignments for INM and BADA aircraft model identifiers

Name	F41 code/name	BADA equivalent	INM equivalent(s)
b727	715 / Boeing 727-200/231a	B722	727200, 727Q15, 727Q9, 727D15, 727D17
	710 / Boeing 727-100	B722	727100, 727Q7
	711 / Boeing 727-100c/Qc	B722	727EM1, 727EM2, 727QF
b737	619 / Boeing 737-300	B733	737300, 7373B2
	616 / Boeing 737-500	B735	737400
	617 / Boeing 737-400	B734	737500
	618 / Boeing 737-300lr	B733	737300, 7373B2
md80	655 / McDonnell-Douglas DC9 Super 80 /MD81/2/3/8	MD80	MD81, MD82, MD83
	645 / McDonnell-Douglas DC9 Super 87	MD80	MD83
b747o	816 / Boeing 747-100	B742	747100, 74710Q
	817 / Boeing 747-200/300	B743	747200, 74720A, 74720B
	822 / Boeing 747sp	B742	747SP
b747	819 / Boeing 747-400	B744	747400
	820 / Boeing 747f	B744	747100, 74710Q, 747400
b757	622 / Boeing 757-200	B752	757PW, 757RR
	623 / Boeing 757-300	B753	757PW, 757RR
b767	626 / Boeing 767-300/300er	B763	767300
	625 / Boeing 767-200/200er	B762	767CF6, 767JT9
	624 / Boeing 767-400	B763	767400
dc10	730 / McDonnell Douglas Dc-10-10	DC10	DC1010
	732 / McDonnell Douglas Dc-10-30	DC10	DC1030
	733 / McDonnell Douglas Dc-10-40	DC10	DC1040
dc9	640 / McDonnell Douglas Dc-9-30	DC9	DC910, DC93LW
	650 / McDonnell Douglas Dc-9-50	DC9	DC950, DC95HW
	630 / McDonnell Douglas Dc-9-10	DC9	DC910, DC9Q9
	645 / McDonnell Douglas Dc-9-40	DC9	DC930, DC93LW
b737o	620 / Boeing 737-100/200	B732	737, 737N9, 737QN, 737D17, 737N17
	621 / Boeing 737-200c	B732	737D17, 737N17
a320	694 / Airbus Industrie A320-100/200	A320	A320, A32023
	698 / Airbus Industrie A319	A319	A319
-	699 / Airbus Industrie A321	A321	A320, A32023
11011	760 / Lockheed L-1011-1/100/200	L101	L1011
	765 / Lockheed L-1011-500 Tristar	L101	L10115
md11	740 / McDonnell Douglas Md-11	MD11	MD11GE, MD11PW
b777	627 / Boeing 777	B772	777200, 777300
b737n	614 / Boeing 737-800	B738	737700
	612 / Boeing 737-700/700Ir	B737	737700
-	634 / Boeing 737-900	B738	737700
b717	608 / Boeing 717	B712	717200
e145	675 / Embraer 145	E145	EMB145, EMB14L





5.2.3. Specification of mixing height

Although ISA conditions are assumed for aircraft performance purposes, MAIPA accounts for weather variability and geography (airport altitudes) in the estimation of fuel burn and emissions. The extent to which aircraft emissions may contribute to changes in air quality is dependent on the mixing height.

The mixing height, or inversion height, is the altitude at which the near-surface temperature slope switches sign and temperature begins to increase with altitude. This inversion defines the extent to which pollutants can rise; atmospheric turbulence can transport pollutants through this layer quickly. It is important to distinguish this physical parameter from the nominal mixing height h_{bl}^{ref} ; the latter is a convenience for aircraft performance specification (cf. next section).

MAIPA uses twice daily (morning and afternoon) mixing height estimates calculated using the methods in Holzworth (1972) based on radiosonde measurements taken across the United States (ref NCDC). These data are weighted in each year 1991-2003 by relative airport operations to derive equation A5.2.

(A5.2)
$$\hat{h}_{mix} = P_{expr} [mixing height]$$

5.3. Flight performance schedule within the atmospheric boundary layer

MAIPA defines performance within the atmospheric boundary layer with four segments. The four-mode LTO-cycle is often employed in regulatory emissions analyses. EPA (1985) initially suggested generic time-in-mode specifications for commercial aircraft operating out of large, congested metropolitan airports based on aircraft data from February 1980. However, these specifications are out of date and do not address expected variability among aircraft types. Times-in-mode derived using SAE AIR 1845 supersede this guidance.

In its entirety, SAE AIR 1845 describes a method for estimating noise around airports. Only its aircraft performance elements are applied to parameterize representative aircraft type flight operation. SAE 1845 procedures reflect manufacturer, operator, and regulatory standards of practice, in addition to the aerodynamic and engine performance of the aircraft for a specified weight. These are contained in unique thrust schedules from ground to heights up to \sim 3 km for each INM aircraft type.

5.3.1. Departure performance

Departure performance depends on the take-off gross weight (WTO) which is determined in MAIPA as a function of \hat{d}_{sl} using the equivalency in Bishop and Mills (1992). Only one approach specification is available. For all representative aircraft types, takeoff weight is based on the flight-by-flight comparison in Lee (2005) against proprietary data from a major carrier, accounting for potential bias due to fuel tankering.

(A5.3)
$$\hat{W}_{TO} = P_{norm} \left[\mu_{W_{TO}} (\hat{d}_{SL}), \sigma_{W_{TO}} = 10\% \right]$$

This is a coarse description; variability in the average across flights is likely less and 10% should be considered an upper bound. For comparison, $\mu_{W_{TO}}(\hat{d}_{sl})$ can be estimated to within $\sigma = 1\%$ with a complete flight description, an accuracy available to operators in estimating fuel required for a particular flight.⁵

⁵ M. Schofield, Rolls-Royce, plc., personal communication.

5.3.2. Specification of altitude triggers for changes in operational mode

In emissions estimation over the LTO-cycle, the FAA Emissions and Dispersion Modeling System (EDMS) designates the portion of the profile between start of take-off roll and the attainment of ~300 m altitude (nominal transition height, h_{rhr}^{ref}) as in the take-off mode. Operation between the nominal mixing and transition heights is attributed to climb. Nominal transition height is chosen as a conservative estimate of the lowest height above ground at which a pilot might throttle back on a typical takeoff (EPA 1992).

5.3.3. Approach performance

For landing in EDMS, the approach mode is the full segment between the h_{bl}^{ref} and landing stop. A different approach is used for MAIPA to better represent procedural variability. A more liberal estimate might place the h_{bl}^{ref} at a lower altitude, perhaps ~150 m. Given this uncertainty, the transition height is specified with equation A5.4 for all representative aircraft types.

(A5.4)
$$\hat{h}_{trht} = P_{beta} \left[h_{low}, h_{high}^{EDMS}, \alpha = 6, \beta = 6 \right]$$

The shape parameters in equation A5.4 are set to approximate a truncated normal distribution and the reference ground altitude is an operations-weighted, annually-specified distribution of airport altitudes as in equation A5.5.

(A5.5)
$$\hat{h}_{grnd} = P_{expr} [airport altitude]$$

5.3.4. Reconciliation of flight profile and SAE AIR 1845 performance schedule resolutions

INM schedules are provided at finer resolution than suggested by MAIPA profile segment divisions. This detail is maintained only insofar as to calculate time-in-mode, after which the resolution is reduced to correspond to the fidelity of certification fuel use and emissions data. These data, reported to the International Civil Aviation Organization (ICAO), are given for institutionally determined thrust settings, including an idle point. Assuming these settings apply to the LTO-cycle, uncertainty in the fuel consumption rate are quantified directly for each of the four LTO segments. Subsequent sections return to this calculation upon introducing the underlying fuel and emissions data.

5.3.5. Application of DOT ASQP ground time data

The SAE AIR 1845 standard does not address idle/taxi; DOT Airline Service Quality Performance (ASQP) reported taxi time data specifies the distribution in equation A5.6.

(A5.6)
$$\hat{t}_{id/tx} = P_{expr} \left[ASQP \text{ taxi time} \right]$$

The value of $t_{id/tx}$ is the sum total of all ground movement prior to take-off roll and after landing stop. An empirical distribution of delay times is used based on algorithms described in Carr et al. (2002) for 1995 operations. Only domestic operations by the US majors are covered by ASQP. It is implicitly assumed that these data characterize regional and international operations as well. There are no alternative sources of publicly-available information reporting position for ground movements.

5.4. Flight performance schedule above the atmospheric boundary layer

MAIPA defines performance above the atmospheric boundary layer with five en route segments bounded by the mixing height, an intermediate height triggering a change in climb and descent rules, and the flight altitude. Figure 5.1 illustrates these segments: climb-to-intermediate, CTI; climb-to-altitude, CTA; cruise, CRU, decent-from-altitude, DFA, descent-from-intermediate, DFI.

5.4.1. Climb and descent performance

Commercial airlines usually employ procedures specifying climbs and descents at a constant calibrated air speed (CAS) and thrust setting. Below a height of ~3000 m (10000 ft), CAS is limited to ~460 km/hr (250 knots) as a safety precaution against increased airspace hazards. This height is referred to here as the intermediate height (hinter) and marks the MAIPA transition between the en route pairs of climb (CTI-CTA) and approach segments (DFI-DFA).

Below hinter, INM performance schedules are extended from the climb and approach segments below the mixing height. CTI is conducted at the time-weighted average dh/dt and pitch of the INM climb segment. Similarly, DFI is specified using the time-weighted average dh/dt and pitch of the INM approach segment. Based on comparisons with typical flight profiles supplied by a manufacturer, the accuracy of this extrapolation over the CTI and DFI segments is better than the uncertainty in the time-weighted speeds and pitches derived from the INM profile.

Above hinter, a constant climb or descent is continued at an increased CAS and thus higher thrust. This CAS, typically ~550 km/hr (300 knots), is set to correspond to the desired performance objective, usually to maximize time at cruise altitude in order to increase overall fuel economy.⁶ Nominal rates of climb and descent, as well as speeds, are specified for representative aircraft types using BADA-estimated performance. Flight rules underlying BADA profile and performance specifications are derived from inspection of airline flight manuals and represent the nominal settings for a particular aircraft type. Speeds are tabulated as performance tables, at altitude intervals of ~2000 m; climb speeds are a function of takeoff weight.

For CTA and DFA, speed tables are integrated between hinter and halt to determine time-in-mode. For CTA, climb rates are a function of weight. Where TAS needs to be derived from CAS, equation A6.6 (see following appendix 6) provides atmospheric conditions.⁷ As with the performance specification below h_{bl}^{ref} , BADA profiles are reconciled to match the lower performance resolution of the MAIPA five mode en route schedule.

5.4.2. Cruise performance

For all representative aircraft type at cruise, a constant M rule is set at a constant altitude. Cruise tn is defined for constant M at a prescribed altitude over the net of dSL and all climb or descent segments. Mach number and service ceiling (hceil) are set in accordance with the BADA characterization. The probability function for M is specified with equation A5.7; this is an engineering guess and assumed to account for different performance optimization objectives as well as weather conditions.

$$(A5.7) P_{expr} = \left[M_{BADA}^{ref}, 2.5\% \right]$$

5.4.3. Specification of flight altitude

Flight altitude is specified as a deviation below hceil ($\Delta \varepsilon_{h_{ab}}$) derived from the FAA analysis of ETMS-recorded flights (FAA 2003b) (equation A5.8).

⁶ At higher altitudes, past the tropopause, the governing climb and descent rules may be replaced by a constant M such that the greatest speed per unit of fuel use is obtained (thus minimizing total expenditure).

⁷ Descent is practically restricted by passenger comfort and limits on the cabin depressurization rate.

(A5.8)
$$\Delta \varepsilon_{h_{att}} \left(P_{expr} = \left[f\left(\hat{d}_{st} \right) < v \ge 925 \mathrm{m} \right] \right)$$

In this thesis, which uses F41 operations data, the latter applies only to calculations involving regional flights.⁸ In cases where the randomly chosen flight altitude is not achievable because the flight distance is too short (i.e. no cruise, truncated climb and descent profiles), \hat{h}_{alt} is adjusted incrementally until climb is just completed and descent just starts.

5.5. Performance model uncertainties

5.5.1. Parametric uncertainties in flight performance schedule

Performance model uncertainties are implemented through: (1) the choice of the appropriate performance schedule based on uncertainties \hat{d}_{sl} ; (2) uncertainty in the location of the reference altitudes dividing operational segments; and (3) uncertainties in the parameters of the particular schedule selected for the Monte Carlo iteration.

Equation A5.8 does not specify the uncertainty in the ICAO and BADA characterization of typical flight operations. Based on comparisons with published SFC data, Lee (2005) estimates a σ =10% uncertainty in the BADA specification applied to a particular flight. Similarly, measurements recently taken for a large commercial engine suggest flight-to-flight variability would be within an absolute range of 15-20% over all power settings. While these characterizations over-specify the uncertainty in the average quarterly operation and are not comprehensive for all aircraft types, they are currently the only public sources available.

The parametric uncertainties of the third element listed are introduced in the computation of times-inmode with normal distribution. Its standard deviation is specified from comparisons of computed flight profiles with proprietary carrier data for departure and approach segments respectively (Lee 2005). As indicated in equations A5.9 and A5.10, the value of the standard deviation below the mixing height is different from its value above the mixing height.

(A5.9)
$$\left[\hat{t}_{ivo} \parallel \hat{t}_{cvo} \parallel \hat{t}_{cti} \parallel \hat{t}_{cta}\right] = P_{norm} \left[\hat{\mu} = t_{SAEIIBADA}^{ref}, \hat{\sigma} = 10\%\right]$$

⁸ In their original form, the distribution functions are used to specify cruise altitude directly for SAGE OAG flights.
(A5.10)
$$\left[\hat{t}_{ap} \parallel \hat{t}_{dfi} \parallel \hat{t}_{dfa}\right] = P_{norm} \left[\hat{\mu} = t_{SAE \parallel BADA}^{ref}, \hat{\sigma} = 25\%\right]$$

For LTO, times-in-mode \hat{t}_{uo} , \hat{t}_{co} , and \hat{t}_{ap} are determined by integrating the position (h and d) and speed schedule of the relevant INM profile at its original resolution. As calculated, \hat{t}_n during take-off roll, which occurs at ground, is included in the summation for the take-off segment. Similarly, landing stop is included in the approach segment.

5.5.2. Structural uncertainty in SAE 1845 performance specifications

A limited validation of SAE AIR 1845 procedures was undertaken in a study of LTO profiles at Seattle-Tacoma airport (Flathers 1982), which formed the basis of profile updates included in the INM database used here (Bishop and Mills 1992). Using terminal area radar data, it is possible to make an assessment of the extent to which these flight profiles characterize the actual two-dimensional profile. There is also an issue with route dispersion as indicated previously. However, there has been no published assessment of these two sources of uncertainty.

SAE AIR 1845 references sea-level (ISA) conditions for a standard-day at 298 K (59°F) with WTO at 85% of maximum and landing gross weight at 90% of maximum. Other influential assumptions in SAE AIR 1845 include specification of 100% rated thrust and an 8 knot headwind on take-off, resulting in a potential overestimate of fuel use (and emissions) over LTO segments, particularly if the pilot elects not to depart at full throttle (or at least an unknown variability if weather conditions differ).

For example, the FAA and CSSI Inc. have estimated that cutback would typically result in a ~5-15% reduction in total NO_x emissions over the LTO-cycle for a range of aircraft types. Procedures have been developed for the FAA where noise minimization is a key driver and thrust is cutback during take-off (Bishop and Mills 1992). Cutback is often used in actual procedures, requiring additional take-off roll but lower fuel use. However, apart from representative aircraft types associated with hush-kitted INM equivalents, operational noise techniques such as cutback are not currently accommodated by MAIPA. In addition, no thrust reverse is modeled on landing.

5.5.3. Structural uncertainty in Eurocontrol BADA performance specifications

Lee (2005) determined a less than 5% absolute difference between fuel use derived using BADA

performance descriptions over a profile designated using SAE 1845, versus actual fuel use as recorded by a flight computer. This is provided that weight is specified correctly and that the profile corresponds to the actual procedure. These are structural uncertainties and relate to the assumptions underlying the performance specifications.

The definition of the five en route segments is based on the availability of a reasonable mechanism through which to estimate uncertainty in performance specifications along these trajectories; roughly, en route segments are characterized by similar flight rules. MAIPA ignores step transitions, where, for example, the aircraft may change speed at a constant altitude to move to another climb point. Profile simplification in MAIPA leads to a negative bias error in the rate of fuel consumption.

Based on comparisons with data and higher fidelity models using radar position information, presented in chapter 3, these inaccuracies have a significantly lower effect on per-flight fuel consumption and emissions than their overall uncertainties. A simplified flight performance model has the advantage of reducing the complexity of performance specification where additional fidelity would represent only a marginal improvement in the estimation of costs. However, further refinement represents a benefit where the objective is an accurate and precise flight-by-flight fuel consumption estimate.

Appendix

6. Estimation of fuel consumption rate

This appendix details the application of engine measurement data to estimate fuel consumption rates based on representative aircraft type performance parameters.

6.1. Representative aircraft type assignments for engine types

Engines are matched to each aircraft model of a representative aircraft type based on the relevant FAA type certification sheet using the closest equivalents from the ICAO Engine Exhaust Emissions Data Bank (ICAO 1995), the same data source used to specify emission indices for NO_x , HC, and CO, as well as the smoke number. At every simulation iteration, one of these engines is selected randomly with equal probability. Table A6.1 shows these equivalencies.

Table A6.1. Representative aircraft type assignments for ICAO engine model identifiers

Gray-shaded entries indicate out-of-production models

Name	F41 code/name	ICAO equivalent(s)
b727	715 / Boeing 727-200/231a	1PW004=JT8D-7series(smoke fix); 1PW005-JT8D-7series(reduced emissions)
		1PW006=JT8D-9series(smoke fix); 1PW007=JT8D-9series(reduced emissions)
		1PW008=JT8D-11; 1PW009=JT8D-15(smoke fix)
		1PW010=JT8D-15(reduced emissions); 1PW011=JT8D-15A
	he a share a share a share a share a	1PW012=JT8D-17(smoke fix); 1PW013=JT8D-17(reduced emissions),
		1PW014=JT8D-17A; 1PW015=JT8D-17AR; 1PW016=JT8D-17R
		1PW018=JT8D-217series; 4PW070=JT8D-217C
	A subscraption to the second state	1PW019=JT8D-219; 4PW071=JT8D-219(enviro.kit)
	710 / Boeing 727-100, and 711 / Boeing 727-100c/Qc	1PW004=JT8D-7series(smoke fix); 1PW005-JT8D-7series(reduced emissions)
		1PW006=JT8D-9series(smoke fix); 1PW007=JT8D-9series(reduced emissions)
		1PW008=JT8D-11; 1PW009=JT8D-15(smoke fix)
		1PW010=JT8D-15(reduced emissions); 1PW011=JT8D-15A
		1PW012=JT8D-17(smoke fix); 1PW013=JT8D-17(reduced emissions)
	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	1PW018=JT8D-217series; 4PW070 JT8D-217C
		1PW019=JT8D-219; 4PW071 JT8D-219(enviro.kit)
	·····································	3RR033=TAY651(Transply); 3RR032= TAY651(Pedhead)
b737	619 / Boeing 737-300, and	1CM004=CFM56-3-B1; 1CM005=CFM56-3B-2
	616 / Boeing 737-500, and	1CM006=CFM56-3C-1(rerated); 1CM007=CFM56-3C-1
	617 / Boeing 737-400, and	
	618 / Boeing 737-300lr	
md80	655 / McDonnell-Douglas DC9 Super 80 /MD81/2/3/8	1PW017=JT8D-209; 1PW018=JT8D-217series; 4PW068=JT8D-217(enviro.kit)
		4PW069=JT8D-217A; 4PW070=JT8D-217C
		1PW019=JT8D-219; 4PW071=JT8D-219(enviro.kit)
	645 / McDonnell-Douglas DC9 Super 87	1PW018=JT8D-217series; 4PW069=JT8D-217A; 4PW070=JT8D-217C 1PW019=JT8D-219; 4PW071=JT8D-219(enviro.kit)

Name	F41 code/name	ICAO equivalent(s)				
b747o	816 / Boeing 747-100	1PW020=JT9D-7; 1PW021=JT9D-7A; 1PW022=JT9D-7F(ModV)				
		1PW023=JT9D-7F(ModVI); 1PW024=JT9D-7J; 1PW029=JT9D-7R4G2				
		1RR004=RB211-524Bseries(Package1)				
		1RR005=RB211-524Bseries(Phase2); 1RR006=RB211-524C2				
		1RR007=RB211-524D4series(Package1)				
		1RR008=RB211-524D4series(Phase2)				
	自然的 化合物 化合物 化合物 化合物	1GE005=CF6-45A2; 3GE068=CF6-45A2(low emis fuel noz)				
	817 / Boeing 747-200/300	1PW020=JT9D-7; 1PW021=JT9D-7A; 1PW022=JT9D-7F(ModV)				
		1PW023=JT9D-7F(ModVI); 1PW024=JT9D-7J; 1PW035=JT9D-70A				
		1PW025=JT9D-7Q; 1PW029JT9D-7R4G2				
		3GE075=CF6-50E; 3GE076=CF6-50E1; 1GE009=CF6-50E2				
		3GE077=CF6-50E2(low emis fuel noz)				
		1GE022=CF6-80C2B1(#1); 2GE041=CF6-80C2B1(#2)				
		1RR004=RB211-524Bseries(Package1)				
		1RR005=RB211-524Bseries(Phase2)				
		1RR006=RB211-524C2; 1RR007=RB211-524D4series(Package1)				
		1RR008=RB211-524D4series(Phase2)				
	822 / Boeing 747sp	1PW020=JT9D-7; 1PW021=JT9D-7A; 1PW022=JT9D-7F(ModV)				
		1PW023=JT9D-7F(ModVI); 1PW024=JT9D-7J; 1PW029= JT9D-7R4G2				
		1RR004=RB211-524Bseries(Package1); 1RR005RB211-524Bseries(Phase2) 1RR006=RB211-524C2; 1RR007=RB211-524D4series(Package1)				
		1RR008=RB211-524D4series(Phase2)				
		1GE005=CF6-45A2; 3GE068CF6-45A2(low emis fuel noz)				
b747	819 / Boeing 747-400	1PW041=PW4056; 1PW042=PW4056(reduced smoke)				
		1GE023=CF6-80C2B1F(#1); 1GE024=CF6-80C2B1F(#2)				
		2GE045=CF6-80C2B1F(#3); 3GE057=CF6-80C2B5F				
		1RR009=RB211-524G(#1); 1RR010=RB211-524G(#2),				
		1RR011=RB211-524H; 4RR037=RB211-524H-T				
	820 / Boeing 747f	1PW041=PW4056; 1PW042=PW4056(reduced smoke)				
		1GE023=CF6-80C2B1F(#1); 1GE024=CF6-80C2B1F(#2) 2GE045=CF6-80C2B1F(#3); 3GE057=CF6-80C2B5F				
		1RR009=RB211-524G(#1); 1RR010=RB211-524G(#2) 1RR011=RB211-524H; 4RR037=RB211-524H-T				
		1PW020=JT9D-7; 1PW021=JT9D-7A; 1PW022=JT9D-7F(ModV); 1PW023=JT9D-7F(ModVI); 1PW024=JT9D-7J; 1PW035=JT9D-70A 1PW025=JT9D-7Q; 1PW029=JT9D-7R4G2; 3GE075=CF6-50E				
		3GE076=CF6-50E1; 1GE009=CF6-50E2; 3GE077=CF6-50E2(low emis fuel noz),				
		1GE022=CF6-80C2B1(#1); 2GE041=CF6-80C2B1(#2)				
		1RR004=RB211-524Bseries(Package1); 1RR005=RB211-524Bseries(Phase2)				
		1RR006= RB211-524C2; 1RR007=RB211-524D4series(Package1) 1RR008=RB211-524D4series(Phase2)				

Name	F41 code/name	ICAO equivalent(s)
b757	622 / Boeing 757-200	757PW, 757RR
	623 / Boeing 757-300	757PW, 757RR
b767	626 / Boeing 767-300/300er	767300
	625 / Boeing 767-200/200er	767CF6, 767JT9
	624 / Boeing 767-400	767400
dc10	730 / McDonnell Douglas Dc-10-10	DC1010
	732 / McDonnell Douglas Dc-10-30	DC1030
	733 / McDonnell Douglas Dc-10-40	DC1040
dc9	640 / McDonnell Douglas Dc-9-30	DC910, DC93LW
	650 / McDonnell Douglas Dc-9-50	DC950, DC95HW
	630 / McDonnell Douglas Dc-9-10	DC910, DC9Q9
	645 / McDonnell Douglas Dc-9-40	DC930, DC93LW
b737o	620 / Boeing 737-100/200	737, 737N9, 737QN, 737D17, 737N17
	621 / Boeing 737-200c	737D17, 737N17
a320	694 / Airbus Industrie A320-100/200	A320, A32023
	698 / Airbus Industrie A319	A319
	699 / Airbus Industrie A321	A320, A32023
11011	760 / Lockheed L-1011-1/100/200	L1011
	765 / Lockheed L-1011-500 Tristar	L10115
md11	740 / McDonnell Douglas Md-11	MD11GE, MD11PW
b777	627 / Boeing 777	777200, 777300
b737n	614 / Boeing 737-800	737700
	612 / Boeing 737-700/700lr	737700
	634 / Boeing 737-900	737700
b717	608 / Boeing 717	717200
e145	675 / Embraer 145	EMB145, EMB14L
tfan	629 / Canadair Rj-200er	CL600, CL601
	603 / Fokker 100	F10062, F10065
	674 / Embraer-135	EMB145
	868 / British Aerospace Bae-146-100	BAE146
	628 / Canadair Rj-100/Rj-100er	CL600, CL601
	835 / Avroliner Rj85	BAE146
	602 / Fokker F28-4000/6000 Fellowship	F28MK4
	867 / British Aerospace Bae-146-200	BAE146
	601 / Fokker F28-1000 Fellowship	F28MK2
	866 / British Aerospace Bae-146-300	BAE300

Name	F41 code/name	ICAO equivalent(s)
tprp	456 / Saab-Fairchild 340/B	SF340
	461 / Embraer Emb-120 Brasilia	EMB120
	441 / Aerospatiale/Aeritalia Atr-42	SF340, EMB120, DHC8, CVR580, DHC830, L188
	416 / Cessna 208 Caravan	SF340, EMB120, DHC8, CVR580, DHC830, L188
	483 / Dehavilland Dhc8-100 Dash-8	DHC8
	442 / Aerospatiale/Aeritalia Atr-72	SF340, EMB120, DHC8, CVR580, DHC830, L188
	469 / British Aerospace Jetstream 31	SF340, EMB120, DHC8, CVR580, DHC830, L188
	445 / Convair CV-660	CVR580
	405 / Beech 1900 A/B/C	SF340, EMB120, DHC8, CVR580, DHC830, L188
	467 / Swearingen Metro lii	SF340, EMB120, DHC8, CVR580, DHC830, L188
	471 / British Aerospace Jetstream 41	SF340, EMB120, DHC8, CVR580, DHC830, L188
	449 / Dornier 328	SF340, EMB120, DHC8, CVR580, DHC830, L188
	489 / Shorts 360	SF340, EMB120, DHC8, CVR580, DHC830, L188
	484 / Dehavilland Dhc8-300 Dash-8	DHC830
	408 / British Aerospace Bae-Atp	SF340, EMB120, DHC8, CVR580, DHC830, L188
	450 / Fokker Friendship F-27	SF340, EMB120, DHC8, CVR580, DHC830, L188
	550 / Lockheed L-188a/C Electra	L188
	430 / Convair Cv-580	CVR580
	435 / Convair Cv-600	CVR580

6.2. Specification of fuel consumption rate through performance schedules

ICAO fuel flow data are reported for sea-level static (SLS) conditions at power settings of 100%, 85%, 30%, and 7% rated output (ICAO 1995).¹ Measurement uncertainty in the reported ICAO \dot{m}_f value is characterized as equation A6.1.

(A6.1)
$$P_{norm} = \left[\hat{m}_f^{\text{ICAO}}, 1\%\right]$$

6.2.1. Fuel consumption rates within the atmospheric boundary layer

Over the LTO procedure, \dot{m}_f for each representative aircraft type is determined based on comparison of the time-weighted average F over each segment to the certification setting using a piecewise linear interpolation to the F versus \dot{m}_f relationship from the ICAO database. For MAIPA, F determined via the SAE AIR 1845 procedure is used directly rather than assuming the certification F represents actual use. This approximation is of a finer resolution than current regulatory practice for inventory development,

¹In-service idle F and \dot{m}_f may be up to 50% less in actual operation as compared to the certification setting. The impact of this variation was not examined for this thesis.

which applies the certification \dot{m}_f without correction for thrust level (i.e. SAE AIR 1845 procedures are used only to calculate tn, after which certification \dot{m}_f are applied). Uncertainty in F is specified by equation A6.2 based on comparisons with air carrier data (Lee 2005).

$$(A6.2) P_{norm} = \left[F_{\text{SAEvBADA}}^{ref}, 10\% \right]$$

Comparison to a detailed proprietary specification of B777 flight performance indicates a range of \dot{m}_f within 3% for en route segments, within 6% for take-off and climb, and within 20% for approach and idle/taxi. Based on these three analyses, \dot{m}_f is specified as in equation A6.3 to account for interpolation error in the F versus \dot{m}_f relationship.

(A6.3)
$$P_{norm} \left[\dot{m}_{f}^{ref}, 15\% \right]$$

6.2.2. Fuel consumption rates above the atmospheric boundary layer

Fuel flow above h_{mix}^{ref} is derived from the relevant BADA performance tabulation in a manner corresponding to the specification of speeds discussed in the previous section. BADA \dot{m}_f references one engine type. For other engine types, an equivalent rated output is determined using the ICAO F versus \dot{m}_f specification for the reference engine; \dot{m}_f was determined using this rated output for the alternative engine. Fuel flow was integrated at the resolution of the BADA tabulation for the defined en route segments.

6.2.3. Propagated variability from performance schedule selection

Propagated variability in take-off F related to aircraft representative type and weight (WTO = [f(dSL)] is included through the choice of \dot{m}_f for the particular LTO profile segment. Cruise \dot{m}_f was also determined as a function of WTO. To the extent that aircraft take-off and climb at reduced power, resulting \dot{m}_f will overestimate the actual. Without access to flight data records, it was not possible to assess the extent of this bias.

6.2.4. Correction to altitude conditions

With no change in flight speed, change in the required \dot{m}_f for a given F is strongly correlated with

ambient conditions. Sea level reference conditions can be corrected to equivalent altitude conditions at a given F. This is done by mapping changes in combustor inlet temperature (T3) as a function of h. T3 is a primary correlation parameter for emissions variability with engine conditions, but is typically proprietary. Thus, correlations are provided using \dot{m}_f as the primary parameter, since data is available from the manufacturer that relates T3 and \dot{m}_f from an emissions test.

This is the conceptual basis for Boeing Method 1, or BM1 (Baughcum et al. 1996), applied to correct \dot{m}_f for h, M, and engine installation effects. Equation A6.4 shows the correlation and equation A6.5, the installation corrections.

(A6.4)
$$\dot{m}_{f}^{ref} = \frac{\dot{m}_{f}^{alt}}{\delta} \theta^{3.8} e^{0.2M^2}$$
 where: $\delta = \frac{P_{amb}}{101325}, \ \theta = \frac{T_{amb}}{288.15}$

(A6.5)
$$\dot{m}_{f}^{n'} = c_{n}\dot{m}_{f}^{n}$$
 where: $c_{t/o} = 1.010, c_{cl} = 1.013, c_{ap} = 1.020, c_{id/tx} = 1.100$

The Boeing method, in its entirety, addresses the prediction of altitude emissions rates. Boeing Method 2, or BM2, is the more commonly employed version; the only difference with BM1 is that BM2 accounts impact of changes in M on T3. The error in using this method is unclear. The appropriate F for each engine application cannot be verified without further data. Error in using BM2 has been estimated for its this purpose and is discussed in the next appendix.

6.2.5. Atmospheric temperature and pressure

The 1976 U.S. standard atmosphere outlined in equation A6.6 specifies the variation of temperature and pressure (and humidity, see appendix A5.2) with altitude. In equation A6.6, R is the gas constant and γ is the specific heat ratio.

(A6.6)

$$\begin{bmatrix}
 T_{amb}^{ref} = 288.15 - 0.0065h \\
 P_{amb}^{ref} = 101325 \cdot \left(T_{amb}^{ref}/288.15\right)^{5.2579} \\
 F_{amb}^{ref} = 216.65 \\
 P_{amb}^{ref} = 22619 \cdot e^{-\left(\gamma/R \cdot T_{amb}^{ref}\right)(h-22619)}
 }
 above tropopause (>11000 m)$$

The tropopause marks the boundary between the troposphere and stratosphere; atmospheric conditions, such as the ambient temperature lapse rate, and chemical constituency change across this boundary. Like the boundary layer height, the tropopause altitude is not constant geographically or temporally; in this study, the tropopause is set at a constant height of 11000 m only to mark the change in atmospheric conditions. The ambient temperature profile is an uncertain parameter, defined by a systematic variability around the nominal profile as in equation A6.7. Thus, the profile shifts uniformly with the random variability.

(A6.7)
$$\hat{T}_{amb} = T_{amb}^{ref} \pm P_{unif} \left[\Delta T_{amb} \right]_{1\%}^{99\%}$$

6.2.6. Corrections to account for engine deterioration

The estimation methods described in this section for \dot{m}_f are based on new production performance. To account for in-service deterioration effects, a bias error correction is applied, increasing \dot{m}_f . An increase in installed SFC of between 2-4% due to deterioration may be tolerated by an airline before an overhaul is contemplated. Part of this deterioration is unrecoverable. Based on the review in Lukachko and Waitz (1997), SFC is permanently degraded (i.e. unrecoverable via maintenance) by 1% upon engine use. Propagating this error through the equation for EU would lead to a 2-4% bias. It is not known to what extent the actual, in-service fleet is operating away from new aircraft performance. Lukachko and Waitz (1997) propagate this correction to an estimated change in emissions performance. Thus, this correction is applied at a later point, in the emissions inventory estimate (cf. appendix A7).

Appendix

7. Estimation of gaseous emissions indices

The following sections review MAIPA specification of emission indices (EI) as a function of flight performance. Section A7.1 addresses the estimation of EIs for species emitted in simple ratio with fuel use, CO2, H2O, and SO2. Section A7.2 presents the same for the regulated gaseous pollutants, NO_x, CO, and HC. Section A7.3 considers particulate emissions.

7.1. Emissions indices for species emitted in simple ratio to fuel flow

For species emitted in a simple ratio to fuel flow—carbon dioxide (CO2), water vapor (H2O), and sulfur oxides (SOx)—EIs were specified using fuel composition standards with corrections for engine performance, accounting for uncertainties in fuel specifications. EICO2 and EIH2O derive from typical fuel hydrogen/carbon (H/C) ratios with adjustments for combustion inefficiencies. Estimates of total sulfur emissions, EISOx as SO2, reference typical fuel sulfur levels.

7.1.1. Carbon dioxide and water vapor

For CO2 and H2O, calculation of per-flight emissions requires specification of the combustion efficiency (η c) and the fuel hydrogen to carbon (H/C) ratio. The H/C ratio is a property of aviation fuel, standardized for certification but not in general fuel specifications.¹ ICAO specifies the H/C ratio (as % hydrogen by mass) for the purposes of aircraft emissions certification to be between 13.4-14.1% (ICAO 1993). This range is characteristic of actual aviation fuels in the U.S. and the U.K. (IPCC 1999). Since the distribution of the H/C ratio in fuel used in the fleet is unknown, calculations assume that any H/C ratio in the fuel specification range is equally possible, giving the probability functions in equations A7.1 and A7.2.

(A7.1)
$$\widehat{El}_{CO_2} = P_{unif} [3150, 3168] g-CO2/kg-fuel$$

¹Two specifications govern civil aviation fuels in the market: the American Society of Testing and Materials (ASTM) D1655 standard (DSTAN 2004); and the U.K. Defence Standardization Organization (DSTAN) 91-91 standard. The ASTM specification contains two relevant fuel designations (Jet A and Jet A-1), which differ only in their freezing points. The DSTAN specification addresses only Jet A-1.

(A7.2)
$$\widehat{El}_{H_2O} = P_{unif} [1206, 1269] g-H2O/kg-fuel$$

The error term represents the bias of the probability functions which assume a combustion efficiency (ηc) of 1. Adjusting for actual combustion efficiencies corrects these ranges for upward bias. Combustion efficiencies are estimated by the heating value of CO, HC, and PMnv emissions, footnote 2 steps through the computation of combustion efficiencies. For most operational conditions, the correction is << 0.1% for CO2 and H2O, small relative to the spread of their functional specifications. Over all operational conditions, the correction is less than 1% except for idle where the bias error can be up to 2% for recent designs and up to 7% for the oldest engines in the fleet.

To calculate EICO2 and EIH2O, a random EI is sampled from equations A7.1 and A7.2, and then decreased by a multiplicative factor $(1 - \hat{\eta}_c)$. Where data was not available, such as for en route segments, $\hat{\eta}_c$ is assumed at 99.9%, constant over all engine types. Section A7.2, following, describes estimated uncertainties in EICO and EIHC. Appendix 8 reviews the method for estimating EIPMnv. Uncertainties in EICO and EIHC are accounted prior to the calculation of the combustion efficiency. Thus, EICO2 and EIH2O are functions of operational condition only insofar as combustion efficiency changes.

7.1.2. Sulfur oxides

Total sulfur emissions are also dependent on fuel composition, but standards are less specific, limiting sulfur content to values below 0.3% by mass [EI(S) = %mass / 1000]. Fuel composition analyses suggest sulfur content is fairly constant worldwide from year-to-year at about 0.05% for commercial jet fuel, with a range of 0.035-0.07% since 1986 (EPA 1992; IPCC 1999). MAIPA implements this as in equation A7.3. Appendix 8 describes the method for estimating conversion of SO2 to volatile particulate matter (PMv).

(E7.1)
$$\hat{\eta}_{c} = \left[\widehat{\text{El}}_{\text{CO}} \cdot \text{LHV}_{\text{CO}} + \widehat{\text{El}}_{\text{HC}} \cdot \widehat{\text{LHV}}_{\text{HC}} + \widehat{\text{El}}_{\text{PM}_{av}} \cdot \text{LHV}_{\text{PM}_{av}}\right] / (1000 \cdot \widehat{\text{LHV}}_{\text{fuel}})$$

²Note on estimation of combustion efficiencies: CO, HC, and PMnv emissions result from combustion inefficiency, collectively representing the incomplete conversion of fuel hydrocarbons to their primary products of CO2 and H2O. Data for EICO and EIHC are available as a function of fuel consumption rate for the four, sea-level static (SLS) certification operating points (7%, 30%, 85%, and 100% rated thrust output) as specified in ICAO (1995). These data enable calculation of an approximate η_c at the four points using ratios of lower heating values (LHV) as shown in equation E7.1.

Values for LHV are set at 10.1 MJ/kg for CO, 33 MJ/kg for soot assuming pure carbon, $\widehat{LHV}_{HC} = P_{unif}[48,50]$ based on current understanding regarding the constituency of HC emissions (Spicer et al. 1994; Slemr et al. 1998; KurteNBach et al. 2003), and $\widehat{LHV}_{fuel} = P_{unif}[42.9,48.2]$ MJ/kg for kerosene fuel, dependent on the H/C ratio, based on the ICAO, ASTM, and DSTAN fuel specifications (ICAO 1993; ASTM 2004; DSTAN 2004). In practice, it is likely that the LHV for kerosene is on the low end of the range specified.

(A7.3)
$$EI_{SO_x} = P_{unif} [0.7, 1.4] g/kg-fuel$$

7.2. Regulated gaseous emissions

For the regulated gaseous emissions, nitrogen oxides (NO_x), unburned hydrocarbons (HC), and carbon monoxide (CO), EIs source to public certification data reported as a function of engine ground power setting. Boeing Method 2 (BM2), introduced in appendix A7, corrects these data to altitude conditions. Emissions data are specific to each engine model randomly selected for each simulation iteration. The estimation of EIs accounts for certification measurement uncertainty, and uncertainties in interpolating or extrapolating data to flight conditions different from the original tests. The following sections detail modeling choices and provide relevant background. The first considers the quality and breadth of available EI data. These data are often summarized in the form of statistical models to estimate values over the aircraft operating envelope. The second describes how these data and related statistical models were used to specify \widehat{EI}_{NO_4} , \widehat{EI}_{LCO} , \widehat{EI}_{HC} .

7.2.1. Data and modeling considerations

As a result of regulatory attention, there is a broad basis of theoretical and empirical knowledge regarding the origins and technological factors controlling gaseous emissions of nitrogen oxides, carbon monoxide, and hydrocarbons. Nitrogen oxide emissions are produced primarily during the high-temperature oxidation of air nitrogen.³ These processes are influenced in bulk by engine cycle temperatures and pressures, and depend to some extent on the details of combustor fluid mechanics, which determine variability in composition and the time history of temperatures through the combustor. Generally, EI_{NO_x} increases with overall pressure ratio and fuel-air ratio. NO_x emission indices are greatest at high power settings. In contrast, for current era engines, CO and HC emission indices are greatest at low engine power conditions where mixing of fuel and air in the combustor is less complete.⁴ Further details on the chemistry of NO_x, CO, and HC, technological influences, and methods of control are available from numerous sources (e.g. Mellor 1990; Lefebvre 1999; Kuo 2005).

³ To a much lesser extent for aviation kerosene combustion, NO is also produced through the oxidation of fuel-bound nitrogen.

⁴ Equilibrium levels of CO and HC increase with higher engine temperatures such that improving engine efficiency through higher TET and OPR may ultimately lead to increases in CO and HC. However, engine temperatures in commercial applications available currently and envisioned for the next 20 years are far below the levels at which thermodynamic limitations would influence emissions of CO and HC (Lukachko et al. 2003).

Detailed NO_x, CO, and HC emissions data for individual engines are generally proprietary, but a few open sources exist. Stationary test data at ground and altitude are available for specific engines (Frings 1908; Becker et al. 1980; Wulf 1980; Lyon and Bahr 1981; Schumann 1995; Howard et al. 1996). Comparability among these sources prohibits their integration into a unified data set due to differences in measurement technique and engine operational conditions. A consistent characterization of emissions for engines flying with the current fleet is found in the ICAO Engine Exhaust Emissions Data Bank, which records measurements required by certification (ICAO 1995). Data for EI_{NO_x} , EI_{CO} , EI_{HC} , and smoke number (SN) are available at four SLS operational points for new, uninstalled engines. In situ data is also available for a broader range of species, including PMnv and PMv, and their precursors. A more complete discussion of these data and of the use of smoke number in MAIPA analysis is given in appendix A8. The basis and quality of SN certification data are discussed in this section.

Full-scale engine tests at a range of altitude conditions are the most relevant emissions measures because of the closer simulation of flight conditions. However, measurements, including those reported in the ICAO certification database, are typically conducted at ground level. As a result, scaling laws must be employed to derive altitude emissions performance. These are usually presented as statistical correlations between emissions data and engine operating conditions. Combustor designers have historically used model parameters derived from theoretical considerations of the governing physical processes. Empirical correlations between emissions rate and engine operation reference uninstalled combustor-only and full-scale engine tests. Detailed chemical and computational flow models of the combustion process can provide more insightful descriptions of pollutant formation than empirical approaches alone, but they generally have limited predictive application due to the flow complexities of modern gas turbines. Semi-analytical statistical models represent a compromise between the full predictive capability of measurements over all temperature, pressure, and atmospheric conditions, and the still immature capability represented by full numerical reacting flow simulations.

Model equations and parameters are often related to a combustor Damköhler number (Da), the nondimensional ratio of an appropriately defined flow residence time to a characteristic time that describes the rate of pollutant formation, $Da = \tau_{flow} / \tau_{chemistry}$. For NO_x, a useful ratio of this type is between residence time in the combustor primary zone as τ flow, where temperatures are highest in the cycle, to a

time scale for NO_x formation as τ chemistry, which, from the law of mass action, increases exponentially with temperature and to a power of pressure. Power or exponential dependencies on compressor exit temperature (T3) and combustor exit temperature (T4), and a power dependence on the combustor pressure (P3 = P4) variously appear in the definition of these characteristic times. To construct the correlations, emissions data is obtained at sea level conditions along the engine operating line (specified by thrust, for example) to determine model constants. Additional data obtained at altitude conditions along the operating line defines performance over the aircraft operational envelope. Data needs (and expense) can be reduced if the model variables are incorporated as ratios to reference conditions, for example as the ratio of altitude to SLS conditions. Correlations can also be presented as ratios to standard atmospheric conditions for dimensional and informational convenience.⁵

Correlations have been published for specific aircraft engines and variants (e.g. Platt and Norster 1979; Prather et al. 1992; Schumann 1995). Equation A7.4 shows an example of a direct correlation for NO_x, where model parameters are specified as ratios referenced to test conditions, for the General Electric CF6-50C. In equation A7.4, Ho is the ambient specific humidity, calculated as shown, based on the saturation vapor pressure Pv, which is a function of temperature. A correction for humidity is often applied directly to the data used for correlation equations, although some, as in equation A7.4, include this explicitly in the correlation. The humidity correction is important; high humidity at the same altitude and temperature conditions suppresses NO_x formation relative to a low humidity condition. There is a significant change in specific humidity between ground and cruise altitude, leading to an increase of ~12.5% in EI_{NO_x} at 10 km for the same combustor operating conditions as sea level. Thus, it is important to specify relative humidity accurately at ground for a NO_x correlation (Madden and Park 2003).

⁵ A reference formulation also removes the volumetric term, which is combustor specific and appears in the specification of residence time, from the regression analysis.

$$1.35 \cdot 0.986 \cdot \left(\frac{P_3}{1 \text{ atm}}\right)^{0.4} \exp\left(\frac{T_3}{194.4 \text{ K}} - \frac{H_0}{53.2 \text{ g-H}_2\text{O}/\text{kg-dry-air}}\right)$$
$$\hat{H}_0 = -19\left(\frac{0.37318\hat{P}_v}{\hat{P}_{amb} - 0.6\hat{P}_v} - 0.00634\right)$$
$$(A7.4) \qquad \hat{P}_v = 6895 \cdot 0.014504 \cdot 10^{\hat{\beta}}$$
$$\beta = 7.90298\left(1 - \frac{373.16}{\hat{T}_{amb} - 0.01}\right) + 3.00571 + 5.02808 \log\left(\frac{373.16}{\hat{T}_{amb} - 0.01}\right) + 1.3816\text{E-07}\left[1 - 10^{11.344\left(1 - \frac{\hat{T}_{amb} - 0.01}{373.16}\right)}\right] + 8.1328\text{E-03}\left[10^{3.49149\left(1 - \frac{373.16}{\hat{T}_{amb} - 0.01\right)} - 1\right]$$

As part of the New Emissions Parameter Covering the Whole Aircraft Operation (NEPAIR) program work effort, Madden and Park (2003) suggest the models in equation A7.5 for NO_x emissions performance at altitude, depending on the type of combustor. For some concepts, such as lean burn configurations, a FAR correction may be required as in equation A7.5(b). In these cases, the correlation is combustor specific, and exponents m and n are determined uniquely.⁶

$$\mathrm{EI}_{\mathrm{NO}_{x}}^{alt} = \mathrm{EI}_{\mathrm{NO}_{x}}^{ref} \cdot \left(\frac{P_{31}^{alt}}{P_{31}^{ref}}\right)^{0.4} e^{19(0.00634 - H_{0})} \tag{a}$$

(A7.5)

$$\mathrm{EI}_{\mathrm{NO}_{x}}^{alt} = \mathrm{EI}_{\mathrm{NO}_{x}}^{ref} \cdot \left(\frac{P_{31}^{alt}}{P_{31}^{ref}}\right)^{m} \left(\frac{\mathrm{FAR}^{alt}}{\mathrm{FAR}^{ref}}\right)^{n} e^{19(0.00634 - H_{0})} \tag{b}$$

Similar to NO_x , EI correlations for CO and HC can be related to Da. The preferred form based on theoretical considerations is a ratio of the combustor bulk residence time to the time-scale of kerosene consumption in the combustor (hydrocarbon combustion). The inverse of this ratio is commonly referred to as the combustor loading parameter (LP), presented in terms of power per unit volume. The LP has been used primarily as a correlating parameter for combustion efficiency; by definition, LP is related to

⁶ For equation A7.4, thermal NO_x formation kinetics suggest a pressure ratio exponent of 0.5, but the presence of uncorrelated prompt NO_x formation (which has no pressure dependence), mixing, and primary zone temperature changes (related to combustor FAR distribution) will generally lower this value. In the NEPAIR study, 0.4 was found to minimize error over a range of rig and engine test results.

 EI_{co} and EI_{HC} .⁷ The characteristic time for hydrocarbon combustion is the sum time for droplets of liquid fuel sprayed into the combustor to evaporate, mix with oxidizer (air), and combust. Several model formulations can be posited, including plug flow based comparison of flame velocity and a combustor reference velocity (related to mass flow), stirred reactor assumptions (well-mixed assumption), and various perturbations based on the presence of evaporation and/or mixing limitations (Lefebvre 1983). Concentrations of CO and HC correlate with (1- η c), and thus (1-LP), or more generally (1/LP), can usefully serve as the basis of EI_{co} and EI_{HC} regressions with engine parameters. In this light, the model equations and parameters suggested for EI_{NO_x} are only minimally different. To first order, differences are constituted primarily of changes in the assumed exponential dependence on temperature, which is expected due to the different reaction mechanisms considered. Developing correlations with LP based on gaseous kerosene consumption implies no important dependence on droplet evaporation (e.g. evaporation time << combustion time). Dopelheuer and Lecht (1998) suggest that at altitude, the evaporation time becomes important, and propose correlating EI data with a quadratic form equation based on (1/LP) corrected by a parameter that accounts for the change in droplet evaporation time with altitude. This is shown in equation A7.6.

(A7.6)
$$\operatorname{EI}_{\mathrm{CO}} \vee \operatorname{EI}_{\mathrm{HC}} = f\left(\frac{\dot{m}}{P_{3}^{1.8} \cdot e^{(T_{3}/300)}}\right) \cdot \left[\frac{T_{3}}{T_{3_{ref}}} \frac{P_{3_{ref}}}{P_{3}}\right]^{0.4}$$

Problematically, equation A7.6 requires knowledge of T3 and P3. For constant component efficiency, these can be estimated by changes in ambient conditions, but estimation of combustor inlet conditions generally requires an often-proprietary engine deck. As a result, correlations of this type are only available publicly for either older technology or for experimental combustion systems.

To reduce reliance on proprietary information, methods which correlate fuel flow with the emissions index have been proposed that are built to use certification data, for which fuel flow and EI is available at four operating points. Boeing Method 2 (BM2) is the most widely implemented formulation of this

⁷CO, HC, and particulate (soot) emissions are related to the combustion efficiency. At the most basic, EI estimation for these emissions can proceed from an assumption for the combustion efficiency at a particular operating condition and an assumption as to how the inefficiency is split among these species. This approach requires, at a minimum, information on burner efficiency (η c), both at ground and altitude. Only the former can be estimated with certification data.

approach. For NO_x estimation. BM2 uses certification data to establish EI_{NO_x} , EI_{CO} , and EI_{HC} as a function of fuel flow, corrected for installation effects. Fuel flow at altitude is corrected to an SLS reference function relating EI to fuel flow based on changes in ambient pressure and temperature, and Mach number. Changes in P3 and T3 relate to these parameters and thus to the kinetic influences on NO_x, CO, and HC formation. In this vein, the corresponding reference is obtained, which is then corrected back to altitude. Equation A7.7 summarizes altitude corrections for EI_{NO_x} , EI_{CO} , and EI_{HC} using BM2. BM2 does not completely get away from the use of proprietary information; correction exponents were derived from undisclosed Boeing data.

$$\begin{aligned} \mathrm{EI}_{\mathrm{NO}_{x}} &= \mathrm{EI}_{\mathrm{NO}_{x}}^{ref} \cdot e^{19(0.00634 - H_{0})} \left(\frac{\delta^{1.02}}{\theta^{3.3}}\right)^{0.5} \\ \mathrm{EI}_{\mathrm{CO}} &= \mathrm{EI}_{\mathrm{CO}}^{ref} \left(\frac{\theta^{3.3}}{\delta^{1.02}}\right) \\ \mathrm{EI}_{\mathrm{HC}} &= \mathrm{EI}_{\mathrm{HC}}^{ref} \left(\frac{\theta^{3.3}}{\delta^{1.02}}\right) \end{aligned}$$

7.2.2. Estimating NO_x, HC, and CO emissions indices

MAIPA estimators \widehat{El}_{NO_x} , \widehat{El}_{CO} , \widehat{El}_{HC} are based on engine emissions certification data⁸; probabilistic simulation for EI distributions depends on characterizing uncertainty in this data. There are several uncertainties accounted for EIs along the LTO portion of the flight profile: measurement error, uncertainty due to performance variability among new engines of a specific type, aging bias accounting for in-service operation, and error sourced to fits of the LTO EI data to obtain EIs at thrust settings different from the certification values. The effects of uncertainty in LTO flight profile are carried through the EI calculation as variance in aircraft performance parameters. Each representative aircraft type consists of several airframe-engine combinations; EIs are calculated for N randomly selected combinations, where N is the number of simulation iterations.

Most engines are reported using measurements from 1 to 3 engines (ICAO 1995); the minimum requirement is a single engine measured three times. Based on historical experience with engine

⁸ Emissions for turboprop engines are unavailable; in MAIPA, turboprop EIs uniformly specified using the values provided in Boeing (1992) in the construction of inventories for the IPCC (1999) report.

variability, averaged certification measurements are divided by a compliance factor, β , to ensure a 90% confidence in meeting regulatory limits for untested engines placed into service. Values for β are listed in table A7.1 (FAA 2003a). These factors quantify engine-to-engine variability. For example, based on a single engine sampled three times, 90% confidence intervals for EI_{NO_x}, EI_{co}, EI_{Hc}, and SN for any engine picked out of a fleet are ±16%, ±23%, ±54%, and ±29%, respectively (e.g. $(1/\beta) - 1$, where the value for β is taken from the first line of table A7.1.

Number of engines tested (i)	β CO	βΗC	βΝΟΧ	βSN
1	0.8147	0.6493	0.8627	0.7769
2	0.8777	0.7685	0.9094	0.8527
3	0.9246	0.8572	0.9441	0.9091
4	0.9347	0.8764	0.9516	0.9213
5	0.9416	0.8894	0.9567	0.9296
6	0.9467	0.899	0.9605	0.9358
7	0.9506	0.9065	0.9634	0.9405
8	0.9538	0.9126	0.9658	0.9444
9	0.9565	0.9176	0.9677	0.9476
10	0.9587	0.9218	0.9694	0.9502
More than 10	1 - (0.13059/i)	1 - (0.24724/i)	1 - (0.09678/i)	1-(0.15736/i)

Table A7.1. Emissions of the second	certification of	compliance	factors
---	------------------	------------	---------

(FAA 2003a)

These intervals define an upper bound standard deviation characterizing variability. To specify the engine-to-engine variability, MAIPA assumes the minimum testing requirement to calculate a coefficient of variation, $\hat{\sigma}/\hat{\mu}$ using the definition in equation A7.8. In equation A7.8, $\hat{\sigma}$ is the sample standard deviation, n is the number of samples, t is the t-distribution value with n-1 degrees of freedom, and $\hat{\mu}$ is the sample mean.

(A7.8)
$$\frac{\hat{\sigma}}{\hat{\mu}} = \frac{(1/\beta) - 1}{t_{\alpha/2}^{n-1}/\sqrt{n}}$$

Using β , and recognizing that pollutant formation is at least a multiplicative process, \widehat{EI}_{NO_x} , \widehat{EI}_{LO} , \widehat{EI}_{HC} , and SN are specified as $P_{\log n} \left[\mu_g = f(\hat{\mu}), \sigma_g = f(\hat{\sigma}) \right]$ where $\hat{\sigma}$ is 9%, 14%, 32%, and 17% respectively. As a check on the interpretation of equation A7.8, data on engine-to-engine EI_{NO_x} variability compiled in Lukachko and Waitz (1997) show reported standard deviations for a range of engine types and operating points that are within the standard deviations derived from certification data. Table A7.2 reproduces a portion of the data presented.

tests *	% rated output	σ
6	30%	6.5-6.9%
12	30%	4.8-4.9%
7	30%	4.0-4.2%
6	85%	1.4-2.6%
12	85%	5.7-6.2%
7	85%	2.5-3.3%
corrected for co	mpressor exit pressure and	temperature, humidity
	6 12 7 6 12 7 corrected for co	6 30% 12 30% 7 30% 6 85% 12 85% 7 85% 7 85% 6 85%

Table A7.2. Variability in the NO_x emission index of new, post-checkout engines

These results employ a larger number of tests than typically conducted for certification and thus the smaller estimate for standard deviation. These standard deviations are not indicative of the precision error in the measurement of a particular engine, which is typically less than 1% for all certification points.⁹ For MAIPA, measurement error in the reported EI is characterized by $P_{norm} \left[\widehat{EI}, 1\%\right]$.

Because engine aging alters performance, emissions can also change. (Lukachko and Waitz 1997) found a maximum, but partially recoverable change in average EI_{NO_x} with aging of between -1% and +4% for typical utilization scenarios. For MAIPA, this bias is represented as $P_{beta}[6,6,-1\%,4\%]$. For NO_x emissions, studies indicate that variability in EI_{NO_x} among new or old engines does not appear to change (AEMTG 2004). Sensitivities of SFC and combustor flow parameters to component aging are enhanced by increases in cycle temperatures and pressures. This ultimately results in a higher sensitivity of NO_x emissions to engine degradation for cycles representative of more advanced technology. Similar analyses

⁹ P. Madden, personal communication.

for other species such as CO and HC are not available and no correction is applied. Transient operation also has a similar biasing impact on emissions performance. It has been observed qualitatively that transient engine operation (e.g. engine start-up, power change, etc.) can temporarily increase CO, HC, and particulate emissions far beyond levels suggested by steady-state measurements. These biases have not yet been fully characterized and are not included in the \widehat{EI} evaluation.

EI is adjusted for the time-weighted average thrust setting calculated from the SAE AIR 1845 performance specification. This adjustment uses the same factor specified for fuel flow to account for departures from certification settings. For BM2, there is the question of how to interpolate between points for the ground level reference. To fit empirical data taken over several more points than reported in certification, the accepted practice is to use a bilinear fit on a log-log scale, connecting the lowest two certification power settings with one line, and then a second line using a best-fit curve for the two highest settings (AEMTG 2004). The intersection of the first and second lines creates a kink in the case of CO and HC and could cause some difficulties in the region of the kink and perhaps an overestimate in EI for low power. This is not the case for NO_x where a single best fit line is used on the log-log scale. (AEMTG 2004) has estimated that these curve fit methods predict actual values to within 10% for EI_{NO} . Most results for EI_{co} and EI_{HC} also fall within this error bound. MAIPA assumes the AEMTG value to be $2 \hat{\sigma}$, and applies $\varepsilon_{fit}^{\text{El}(\dot{m}_f)} = P_{norm} [0, 5\%]$ to define fit uncertainty. Larger deviations are reported for dual-annular combustor (DAC) designs. In such staged combustion systems, different regimes of operation (pilot-only, pilot + main burner, etc.) result in data discontinuities that are difficult to capture using curve fits as described. Published estimates of correlation uncertainties do not consider the effect of changing technology. These systems are, however, relatively less frequent in the historical fleet.

All \widehat{El} are corrected for altitude effects using BM2. Altitude fuel flows estimated using the performance model are corrected to SLS conditions; these corrected fuel flows are equated to an EI using linear fit models, and then corrected back to altitude using the factors summarized in equation A7.7. Relative humidity is a function of \hat{T}_{amb} . Uncertainties in correlations used for altitude corrections are not well defined; more often, precision rather than accuracy is addressed, and reports address NO_x almost to the exclusion of CO and HC. Lister et al. (1995) considered the applicability of nine possible \widehat{El}_{NO_x} correlation equations of the types described in the previous section, derived for four different turbofan engine types. Using a straight average, they find variability across correlations referencing ground level certification data is 18%. In MAIPA, the median variability of 15% defines accuracy in \widehat{El}_{NO_x} correlation model $\varepsilon_{alt.corr}^{EI} = P_{norm} \left[\widehat{El}, 15\% \right]$ (another model form chosen for the BM2 could result in a different correction). Less information is available to gauge the equivalent variability in \widehat{El}_{CO} and \widehat{El}_{HC} . Based on CO altitude chamber measurement data from a Pratt & Whitney PW305 engine, Dopelheuer and Lecht (2001) suggest a larger variability sourced to model choice, finding that without a correction factor for evaporation, prediction errors could be as much as ~50%. Dopelheuer (2001), comparing the correlation against altitude chamber measurement data from a military engine, suggests that such a correction can lower prediction error to below ~25%. Given the relatively greater variability in HC measurements, correlations of this type for \widehat{El}_{HC} would be at best equal to these comparisons. Based on these reports, uncertainty in the altitude EICO or EIHC is $\varepsilon_{alt.corr}^{EICOVEIHC} = P_{norm} \left[\widehat{El}_{CO} \vee \widehat{El}_{HC}, 25\% \right]$.

The precision of fuel-flow based correlations (e.g. BM2) has not been directly assessed. Activities undertaken by ICAO (see IPCC 1999) found agreement between EI_{NO.} correlations referencing engine parameters and fuel flow correlations within $\sigma = 6\%$ and a maximum error of 13%. Correlations referencing engine parameters directly as in equation A7.4, are typically the most precise model for estimating emissions performance. The EI_{NO,} test data in table A7.2, which is based on performance variability among new engines, provides an indirect measure of such correlations as a representation of any particular engine in the fleet; a limiting precision of $\sigma < 5-7\%$ is inferred, if models are based on adequate operating data. Madden and Park (2003) address the accuracy of ground referenced correlations that employ engine parameters finding a similar predictive uncertainty (to within 11%) via the model described in equation 7.5. For MAIPA, these uncertainties are stacked to define BM2 \widehat{EI}_{NO_x} precision as $\varepsilon_{BM2}^{EI} = P_{norm} \left[\widehat{EI}, 6\% \right] \cdot P_{norm} \left[\widehat{EI}, 6\% \right]$, first applying an error to account for the difference in BM2 and engine parameter based correlations, and then applying a second error to account for the uncertainty in applying direct correlations to a fleet of engines (the resolution of MAIPA). It is important to recognize that prediction errors are rooted in model formulation and thus structural uncertainty; the correlations models described capture a single dominant spatial or time scale. Thus, despite success in deriving statistical models for NO_x, CO, and HC, test parameters do not accurately account for changes in combustor flow mixedness and correlation attempts suffer losses of accuracy since global pollutant kinetics are employed. This is an important question in determining whether precision errors described for

 \widehat{EI}_{NO_x} extend to \widehat{EI}_{CO} and \widehat{EI}_{HC} . However, lacking information to make such an assessment, MAIPA assumes the same uncertainty for \widehat{EI}_{CO} and \widehat{EI}_{HC} model precision as for \widehat{EI}_{NO_x} .

Appendix

8. Estimation of particulate matter emissions indices

A comprehensive particulate matter emissions inventory requires an account of emitted non-volatile particulate matter (PMnv, primarily soot), as well as volatile particulate matter (PMv) sourced to chemical conversion processes originating with gaseous precursor emissions formed within and immediately downstream of the engine (i.e. sulfate, nitrate, and organics). This section describes procedures for estimating near-field PMnv (section A8.1) and PMv (section A8.2) emissions indices. Characterizing particulate matter with a mass-based metric is a limited account of the properties consequential to environmental assessments. A more detailed account of PM in the near-field includes descriptions of particle phase, multi-species particle composition (e.g. volatile coatings on soot, sulfate-nitrate-organic-water constituency), electronic state, and morphology. Specification of these attributes is more appropriate for a physical model of plume dynamics, microphysics, and chemistry.

8.1. Non-volatile particulate matter emissions indices

This section is specific to the MAIPA approach towards characterizing PM emissions using the massbased EI metric. It does not present an exhaustive survey of previous estimation methodologies. See (Wayson et al. 2003) for additional review of historical developments in data acquisition and their application to PMnv specification for commercial aircraft.

Soot PMnv emissions are generally a function of fuel properties (types of hydrocarbons present), equivalence ratio, liner pressure drop (mixing), and combustor inlet pressure and temperature (Lefebvre 1999). While empirical correlations have been successfully developed for NO_x, CO, and HC to predict emissions as a function of engine performance, their plausibility is uncertain in application to aerosol precursors and soot, particularly because easily measured cycle parameters are less influential in comparison to the phenomenological details of combustor design. Thus, historically, PM emissions from commercial aircraft have been crudely estimated using, at various times, diesel emission factors, data from a small sample of older commercial engines, or limited tests undertaken for older military aircraft. Results discussed in chapter 3 demonstrate that these estimation methods can lead to inaccurate PMnv characterization for commercial aircraft operating during the last decade. Note that condensed matter can further increase through heterogeneous nucleation of sulfuric acid on soot and metal surfaces, activated by adsorption of oxidized sulfur, in the presence of water vapor (Zhao and Turco 1995; Karcher et al. 1998). This analysis does not address such interactions between non-volatile PM and aerosol precursors.

To reiterate, particulate measurements are not a viable basis for EI estimation. For PMnv, smoke number (SN) measurements mandated for certification comprise the only comprehensive and methodologically consistent characterization of carbonaceous particulate emissions from aircraft (DuBois 2001). These data are the basis for the estimation method introduced in this section. The MAIPA estimation procedure estimates ground-level concentration (Cnv) over the aircraft operating envelope through correlations with SN, corrects for altitude, and then converts to an emission index. Smoke number is a visibility metric, and as such, has no direct physical relationship to a measurement of non-volatile particulate mass.¹ Uncertainty in correlating SN to Cnv is not trivial; the fundamental difficulty is that they express the tendency of sampling technique to capture particles as a function of particle size and measurement test time. The smoke number is a complex function of the pattern of collection on the paper and soot morphology. The particles obtained in a smoke measurement tend to be on the high end of the emitted size distribution. As a result, soot concentration characteristics can be expected to change from engine to engine.

Thus, the form of a statistical relationship between SN and Cnv cannot be easily posited a priori based on physical understanding. Attempts to date have exclusively used simple polynomial or power fits derived from simultaneous measurements of SN and Cnv. To relate engine performance to SN, DeChamplain et al. (1995; 1997) developed a physics-based correlation between Cnv and engine parameters, and then employed a polynomial model proposed by Odgers and Magnan (1988) to correlate Cnv and SN.² DeChamplain et al. estimate a 40% standard deviation in prediction of SN from engine performance. Correlating parameters relating engine performance to Cnv derive from a soot production model using

¹ The smoke number is derived from an optical measurement initiated by passing exhaust gas through a white paper filter. Soot is collected on the paper, changing its optical characteristics. Light is then passed through the filter paper and the intensity of reflection is determined. This intensity is compared to a pristine filter and the resulting ratio recorded. SN is presented on a scale of 0 to 100, with the lowest value equivalent to an unsoiled filter. The accuracy of this measurement is +/-3 on the SN scale as specified by the SAE Aerospace Recommended Practice (ARP) 1179 (SAE 1997).

² The correlation reported by Odgers and Magnan was derived from a different source of emissions than that analyzed by DeChamplain et al.

fundamental time scale ratios of the type discussed previously for CO, HC, and NO_x . The formulation is complex and dependent on specific knowledge of the studied engine and combustor, information which is partially lacking for MAIPA representative aircraft types. DeChamplain et al. conclude that the sensitivity of PMnv emissions to small changes in combustor design or operation make it unlikely that a universally applicable correlation not referenced to ambient or test conditions can be developed, at least for the rich primary zone combustion systems that dominate the current fleet.

Citing the same concerns, Dopelheuer and Lecht (1999) and Dopelheuer (2001) suggest a similar method to relate engine parameters to Cnv employing the less information-intensive, reference-type correlation in equation A8.1 to estimate PMnv emissions over the entire operating envelope from cycle-derived engine parameters at sea-level static. In equation A8.1, model coefficients were estimated using PMnv measurements from laboratory flames and combustor tests. Reference values refer to the SLS condition at the same T3 and P3 of the aircraft operating condition in flight (e.g. at altitude). Tfl is the combustor flame temperature. Cnv is in units of mg/m3.

(A8.1)
$$C_{nv} = C_{nv}^{ref} \left(\frac{\phi}{\phi_{ref}}\right)^{2.5} \left(\frac{p_3}{p_{ref}}\right)^{1.35} \frac{e^{\left(-20000/T_{fl}\right)}}{e^{\left(-20000/T_{fl,ref}\right)}}$$

To relate SN and Cnv, Dopelheuer et al. combine three statistical correlations—equation A8.2 parts (a), (c), and (f) in units of mg/m3—to derive sea-level static concentrations from SN certification data. Comparisons to four in situ PMnv measurements—one helicopter, two commercial aircraft, and one supersonic engine (Pueschel et al. 1998; Petzold et al. 1999)—were in agreement to predictions within absolute bounds of +/- 30% where an engine model was available to estimate parameters. This estimate does not account for the variability among SN-Cnv correlations; a single relationship was derived from averaging the three aforementioned equations.

$$C_{nv} = 3.25 \text{E}-06 \cdot \text{SN}^4 - 1.27 \text{E}-04 \cdot \text{SN}^3 + 3.22 \text{E}-03 \cdot \text{SN}^2 + 8.76 \text{E}-02 \cdot \text{SN} + 0.14$$
(a)

$$C_{nv} = 4.05 \text{E}-06 \cdot \text{SN}^4 - 3.01 \text{E}-04 \cdot \text{SN}^3 + 8.17 \text{E}-03 \cdot \text{SN}^2 + 6.32 \text{E}-02 \cdot \text{SN} + 0.0944$$
 (b)

$$C_{nv} = 0.001 \cdot \left| \frac{0.177 \cdot \text{SN}}{(100 - \text{SN})^{0.472}} \right|$$
 (c)

$$C_{nv} = 1.63\text{E}-04 \cdot \text{SN}^3 - 5.03\text{E}-03 \cdot \text{SN}^2 + 0.134 \cdot \text{SN} - 0.055$$
 (d)

(A8.2)

$$C_{nv} = \begin{cases} 3.232 \cdot \left[1 - \sqrt{\frac{\text{SN}}{19.58}} \right] & \text{for SN} \le 18.7 \\ 0.002751 \cdot \text{SN}^{2.319} & \text{for SN} > 18.7 \end{cases}$$
(e)

$$C_{nv} = \begin{cases} 0.0694 \cdot \text{SN}^{1.23357} & \text{for SN} \le 30\\ 0.0297 \cdot \text{SN}^2 - 1.802 \cdot \text{SN} + 31.94 & \text{for SN} > 30 \end{cases}$$
(f)

The MAIPA estimation method extends the works of DeChamplain et al. (1995; 1997), Dopelheuer and Lecht (1999), and Dopelheuer (2001). Importantly, where previous work has dealt with deterministic results, MAIPA outputs probabilistic estimates that account for technological variability and uncertainties in both data and models. MAIPA applies the reference correlation in equation A8.1 to correct for altitude, with uncertainty as estimated by DeChamplain et al. (here interpreted as $\varepsilon_{alt.corr}^{EI} = P_{norm} \left[\widehat{EI}, 30\% \right]$), and employing engine parameters derived from a new set of cycle analyses chosen to match a wide range of existing models in the commercial aircraft fleet Han (2003). Table A8.1 categorizes the cycles developed and summarizes parameters important for MAIPA. Table A8.1 also summarizes MAIPA matches of representative aircraft types with engine cycles. Engine parameters are deterministic.

Table A8.1 Cycle parameter specifications

Class (kN)	<100		100-200		200-400		>400	
Thrust (kN)	60	65	100	170	205	230	250	420
Case #		2	3	4	5	6	7	8
Take-off								
P3 (atm)	16	15	23	25	20	27	27	37
T4 (K)	1350	1200	1520	1510	1400	1560	1540	1940
EINOx (g/kg-fuel)	35	19	55	17	36	30	27	20
Climb								
P3 (atm)	14	12	19	22	17	24	23	31
T4 (K)	1300	1140	1440	1450	1340	1510	1480	1840
EINOx (g/kg-fuel)	29	16	42	14	27	24	22	16
Cruise								
P3 (atm)	6	5.7	8	9	7.1	7.3	9.7	13
T4 (K)	1170	1030	1340	1340	1270	1210	1370	1710
EINOx (g/kg-fuel)	5.1	7.1	7.1	6.3	8.2	7.6	9.4	5.9
Approach								
P3 (atm)	6	5.7	7.1	9.2	7.6	10	9.8	13
T4 (K)	960	870	1010	1080	1010	1140	1110	1440
EINOx (g/kg-fuel)	9.3	8.4	10	6	7.3	10	11	5.5
Idle								
P3 (atm)	2.6	2.6	3.3	3.7	3.3	4.4	4	5.3
T4 (K)	750	710	840	870	830	940	900	1220
EINOx (g/kg)-fuel	3.7	8.4	6	4	2.9	4.2	4.7	2.4
Notes: EINOx as NO2 a condition. Common ini H2. Note combustion e	and EIS = 0 tial species officiency co	.5 g/kg-fi condition	uel. EICO ns are: (a) with EIC(and OFA NO/NO> D.	R differe (= 1; (b)	nt for eac SO/SOx :	ch cycle a = 0; (c) no	nd HC or

The MAIPA approach employs statistical correlations to relate Cnv and SN, but with the intention of capturing the variability in estimates of SLS Cnv from SN certification data by randomly selecting, with equal probability, from the six published correlations relating SN and Cnv shown in equation A8.2 [(a) Champagne 1971; (b) AGARD 1982; (c) Odgers and Magnan 1988; (d) Hurley 1993; (e) Colket et al. 2004; (f) Hurley 2005]. Random selection among the published correlations in equation A8.2 is done in order to represent the space over which SN and C might be related in the fleet, understanding that each correlation is specific to the soot generating apparatus on which it is based. Care is taken to limit the application of a correlation to the range of SN used in its derivation. Dopelheuer and Lecht (1999) and Dopelheuer (2001) estimate typical uncertainty in these correlations of +/- 7% individually, which is applied in MAIPA specifying $\varepsilon_{di.corr}^{C(SN)} = P_{norm} \left[\hat{C}, 7\% \right]$.

MAIPA implements a hierarchical approach to the selection of SN data from the certification database. Certification in reported data for SN is sparse for many engines. MAIPA applies the maximum available data available from using rule protocol, applying SN data reported for individual certification points when available, averaging when the SN data is incomplete, and employing reported bounds when individual specifications or averages are not possible. Error in SN measurement is specified using $\varepsilon_{SN} = P_{unif} [-3,3]$. SN uncertainties attributed to typical variability in new engine performance in the fleet around the certification value were described previously in this appendix. No aircraft degradation due to use is included in the estimation of PM emissions.

Soot concentration can be equated to an EI using equation A2.9 where R is the gas constant. Ambient conditions (subscript amb) are specified relative to the flight profile and the fuel-air ratio (FAR) is derived from the aforementioned engine cycles. Corrections to Cnv for SN measurements made on mixed flow turbofan engines apply as needed.

(A8.3)
$$\widehat{\mathrm{EI}} = \left(\hat{C}_{nv}/1000\right) \cdot R \cdot \left(\hat{T}_{amb}/\hat{P}_{amb}\right) \cdot \left(1/\mathrm{FAR} + 1\right)$$

MAIPA parameters are specified for steady-state conditions; the analysis does not account for transients. Engine start-up and changes in operational condition may change the combustion efficiency and emissions performance temporarily during transients. Typically, an increase in both fuel flow and emissions index results.

8.2. Near-field volatile particulate matter emissions indices

Aircraft emissions of trace sulfur and nitrogen oxides contribute to the generation of fine volatile particulate matter. Resultant changes to ambient PM concentrations and radiative properties of the atmosphere may be important sources of aviation-related environmental impacts. Fine particles are emitted and generated in aircraft engine exhaust in size ranges constituting the nucleation, Aitken, and accumulation modes of a typical PM size distribution. Direct and indirect atmospheric effects from aviation-sourced PM constitute environmental risks of an uncertain magnitude (EPA 1996; Brasseur et al. 1998; IPCC 1999).

Sulfate and nitrate production is initiated by gas phase oxidation of SO2 and NO that begins in the postcombustion intra-engine flow. This gives a unique role to trace species chemical processing through the

combustor dilution zone, turbine, and exhaust nozzle that is as important to the formation of volatile PM emissions as is the influence of combustor fluid mechanics on total NO_x (NO + NO₂), CO, and HC emissions. Precursor emissions of trace nitrogen and sulfur oxides are formed within the engine over time scales on the order of 10 ms. These emissions contribute to the generation of volatile fine PM formed in the engine plume at longer time scales (10 ms to < 1 s) compared to soot formation in the combustor.

Various mechanisms lead to the production of particulate precursors within the engine. Oxidized nitrogen species originate primarily from the high temperature oxidation of atmospheric nitrogen in the combustor. Total sulfur emissions are predictable functions of fuel composition and emerge from the primary zone as SO2 in lean conditions. Sulfur emissions are thus controlled by fuel consumption to a greater extent than NO_x. Formation of precursors to volatile PM, including SO3 and HONO, initiates within the combustor and continues downstream through the turbine and exhaust nozzle (Brown et al. 1996a; Lukachko et al. 1998; Tremmel and Schumann 1999; Starik et al. 2002). The response of trace chemistry to the temporal and spatial evolution of temperature and pressure through the turbine is complex and presents both computational and experimental challenges. Total emissions are related to the technological characteristics of the aircraft (weight, aerodynamic efficiency, and engine overall efficiency), its operational use, and details of the combustor, turbine, and nozzle design.

Experimental and modeling studies have highlighted the role of trace emissions of SO3 in the formation of high number densities of fine aerosol particles observed in the exhaust streams of several aircraft (Hofmann and Rosen 1978; Hofmann 1991; Reiner and Arnold 1993; Miake-Lye et al. 1994; Fahey et al. 1995a; Zhao and Turco 1995; Brown et al. 1996b; Karcher 1996; Schumann et al. 1996; Brown et al. 1997; Karcher and Fahey 1997; Petzold et al. 1997; Anderson et al. 1998a; Anderson et al. 1998b; Karcher et al. 1998; Miake-Lye et al. 1998; Schröder et al. 1998; Yu and Turco 1998; Schröder et al. 2000a; Schumann et al. 2002). Particle concentrations are correlated with the level of oxidized fuel sulfur in the exhaust (Busen and Schumann 1995; Schumann et al. 1996; Miake-Lye et al. 1998). At exhaust temperatures and lower temperatures, SO3 converts to H2SO4 in the presence of exhaust water vapor (Kolb et al. 1994; Reiner and Arnold 1994). In the plume, new volatile sulfate particles can be formed by binary homogeneous nucleation of H2SO4 with emitted water vapor (Karcher et al. 1995), accentuated by concomitant chemiion emissions (Freznel and Arnold 1994; Yu and Turco 1997; Arnold et al. 1998;

Sorokin and Mirabel 2001). Nucleated sulfate particles grow via coagulation and uptake of water vapor (Brown et al. 1996c; Karcher 1998).

Because nitrous and nitric acids have high saturation vapor pressures relative to sulfuric acid, they have a lesser tendency to nucleate new particles and thus contribute to PM primarily via uptake on existing particles. Hydrocarbons can also contribute via uptake, and may additionally nucleate as an independent PM source (Karcher 1997, 1999), but thermodynamic conditions are not favorable for this process at the HC levels typically emitted (Dakhel et al. 2005). Both HNO3 and H2SO4 are emitted in concentrations orders of magnitude smaller than SO3 and HONO, thus evaluation of volatile aviation PM should focus on the latter species.

The results of our analysis show that production of H2SO4 from emitted SO3 is greater in magnitude than new sulfuric acid production in the plume.

Because nucleation rates are high for H2SO4 given typical fuel sulfur levels, modeling investigations of the microphysical processes that lead to the formation of volatile aerosols emphasize the development of oxidized sulfur through the aircraft plume and wake. These investigations find that known gaseous pathways yield only 1-2% oxidation within the near-field plume (< 1 s after emission) for a range of aircraft engine configurations, physical approximations, and chemical assumptions (Miake-Lye et al. 1993; Quackenbush et al. 1993; Miake-Lye et al. 1994; Anderson et al. 1996; Brown et al. 1996c; Karcher et al. 1996; Hanisco et al. 1997). Modeling investigations have also shown that compared to the plume, sulfur oxidation can be more vigorous within the aircraft engine as a result of gaseous chemical processes through the combustor dilution zone, turbine, and exhaust nozzle. Upper bound chemical kinetic analyses indicate that SO3 formation via atomic oxygen is less than 6% of SOx within the combustors used in aircraft (Brown et al. 1996a) and industrial applications (Hunter 1982). Previous studies have also suggested SO3 formation via OH and O may result in an upper limit 10% oxidation through the turbine and nozzle (Brown et al. 1996a; Lukachko et al. 1998; Tremmel and Schumann 1999; Starik et al. 2002; Wilson et al. 2004).

Lukachko et al. (2005) is the technical basis for estimating PMv emission indices for representative aircraft types. This paper addresses aircraft engine design and operational impacts on aerosol precursor

emissions of sulfur (SOx) and nitrogen (NOy) species; estimates for El_{PM_v} in the near-field exhaust of current, in-service commercial aircraft are presented as a function of operational mode. Volatile particulate mass is specified using the conversion efficiencies determined by Lukachko et al. (2005). For the LTO cycle, conversions are assigned as identified in Lukachko et al. (2005) for the certification power settings. En route climb and approach settings are set at the corresponding value determined for the relevant portion of the LTO cycle. Efficiencies were determined independently for the cruise condition.

Aerosol precursors form through the combustor dilution zone, turbine, and exhaust nozzle of gas turbine engines. The intra-engine environment is more important to the production of condensable volatile PM in the area near an aircraft than emissions processing in the engine plume. However, due to an inefficient combination of thermodynamic and kinetic factors, there is overall little opportunity for the production of SO3, the most likely of the precursors to result in volatile PM. Comparing combustor ϵ SO3 to conversion magnitudes through the post-combustor gas path suggests that SO3 production in older technology engines would tend to be located in the combustor whereas for more recent cycle designs, the turbine and exhaust nozzle have a more prominent role. Since the combustor is likely the dominant source of precursors for most power conditions, further research should focus on a more detailed investigation of the combustor. Best estimates for aerosol precursor production from in-service commercial engines are summarized in figure A8.1 The figure shows the conversion efficiencies for each of the 8 cycles examined at each of the 5 operating modes simulated (table A8.1). The values shown result from a Monte Carlo simulation sampling from distributions based on the results of this analysis. Uncertainties in the specification of conversion efficiencies are specified by a random multiplier, chosen from a uniform distribution bound by factors of 2 above and below the central value (Whitefield et al. 2001).

Figure A8.1 Intra-engine and near-field plume conversion efficiencies

SO3, HONO, and NO2 as a function of technology and operating mode (Lukachko et al. 2007)



The mean results are consistent with measurements of sulfur and nitrogen precursors. Although HONO and NO₂ oxidation can be on the order of 10%, particularly at low power conditions, we would not expect nitrate contributions to particulate mass until well after the plume mixes with the atmosphere. In contrast to NOy species, SOx chemistry is active over the entire operational range of aircraft currently in the fleet. The trends suggest that mean ϵ SO3 is limited to the range 2.8% to 6.5%. This reflects technological differences within the fleet, the variation in oxidative activity with operating mode, and modeling uncertainty. Note an additional 1-2% conversion to SO3, and up to 1% for HONO (and NOy) may be realised in the plume. Since fuel flow increases with power setting, the SO3, NO₂, and HONO emissions rates (e.g. kg/s) will be higher at take-off and climb than that suggested by the conversion efficiencies in figure A8.1. Subsequently, for the landing take-off cycle, higher levels of sulfate in the near-field plume can be expected along the departure portion of a flight profile as opposed to landing.

Sulfate production is initiated by gas phase oxidation of SO2 that begins in the post-combustion intraengine flow. Precursor emissions of trace sulfur oxides are formed within the engine over time-scales on the order of 10 ms. These emissions contribute to the generation of volatile fine PM formed in the engine plume at longer time-scales (10 ms to < 1 s) compared to soot formation in the combustor. Experimental data characterizing sulfur species in engine exhaust consist primarily of concentrations inferred from in situ plume measurements at altitude [Anderson et al. 1998a, 1998b; Miake-Lye et al. 1998; Schumann et al. 2002] and a relatively fewer direct measurements at and downstream of the engine exit plane [Arnold et al. 1998; Curtius et al. 2002; Katragkou et al. 2004], mostly at higher power conditions for older inservice commercial and military aircraft. Inferred concentrations from measurements indicate an apparently broad range of SO2 to H2SO4 oxidation; however, a detailed analysis of the instrument responses and age of the sampled air has refined the estimates of oxidative conversion to 0.5-5% of the fuel sulfur [Kärcher et al. 2000]. In-flight trends and ground measurements suggest oxidation efficiency is dependent on engine technology and operating point (Schumann et al. 2002; Katragkou et al. 2004).

Although production of HNO3 occurs at rates about an order of magnitude lower than for H2SO4 at exhaust and ambient conditions (Miake-Lye et al. 1994), HNO3 can play a role in plume PM processing (Gleitsmann and Zellner 1999). We thus also examine intra-engine production of NO₂, the chemical precursor to nitric acid. Measurements of NO and NO₂ are routine in engine development and certification, but there are few measurements of their oxidation products, HONO and HNO3. Model estimates of N(IV) species (Lukachko et al. 1998; Tremmel and Schumann 1999) and measurements of HNO3 and HONO (Arnold et al. 1992; Fahey et al. 1995b; Whitefield et al. 2002; Miller et al. 2003) indicate that conversion of NO to HONO and NO₂ to HNO3 at the engine exit plane amounts to a few percent or less at higher power conditions. Intra-engine conversion of NO to NO₂ has been estimated from measurements at much higher levels, up to ~25% (Haschberger and Lindermeir 1997; Schulte et al. 1997).

Current sampling programs are now examining volatile organic particulates in the exhaust plume. Indications of their presence were reported several years ago [Yu et al. 1999, Schumann et al. 2002]. Recent ground measurements confirm that condensible organics exist in aircraft engine exhaust and that a portion of PMv is attributable to organics [Wey et al. 2006; Knighton et al. 2007; Lobo et al. 2007; Yelvington et al. 2007]. Given the emerging nature of measurements that resolve organic speciation in the

gaseous and condensed phases, empirical data does not currently provide a basis to define a parametric specification for organic PMv emissions.

Compared to PMnv and sulfate PMv, heterogeneous microphysical processes have a more significant role in determining condensed organic mass. The question of speciation is important for organics given the significant range of vapor pressure at altitude and the identification of a number of condensible species in the exhaust. There is a diversity of organic species, many of which have only recently been identified by measurements. More organics in the exhaust, however, may not be correlated with an increase in aerosol mass. This relationship depends to some extent on the exhaust concentrations of low vapor pressure species, such as polyaromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs), oxygenated hydrocarbon species, and engine lubrication oil. Thermodynamic conditions in the exhaust plume severely limit hydrocarbon condensation.

Appendix

9. Noise characterization

Because myriad characteristics contribute to noise response, it is difficult to propose a single metric that describes a community's reaction to changes in the noise environment. Correlations have developed primarily around integrative measures that sum total sound levels over a given period. The most widespread measure of adverse reactions to living in noisy environments is annoyance, a generalized and subjective descriptor that underpins current noise policy and by definition overlaps with other, more precise descriptions of noise impact, such as sleep disturbance or speech interference. In the context of exposure-response relationships, the day-night noise level (DNL), calculated as the A-weighted sound level (i.e. accounting for unequal loudness perception across different frequencies) averaged over a 24-hour period, has been the central noise metric since its adoption in response to the 1979 Aviation Safety and Noise Abatement Act (ASNA) (see also American National Standards Institute (ANSI) standard S3.23-1980 and again in S12.40-1990)(EPA 1974. FAA 1985; FICAN 1992; FAA order 1050.1E).¹

Use of the DNL metric originates in its correlation with annoyance $-W(E_{annoy}) \propto e^{DNL}$ [e->exp(-)] (cf. section 2.3.2 for other noise endpoints not evaluated in this analysis). With the estimation of costs in mind - assessments of noise damages use DNL (or a proportional equivalent) almost exclusively as the dependent variable representing noise levels—we are compelled to use less than comprehensively descriptive metrics. To emphasize, the choice of metrics is not exclusive to individual evaluation steps in MAIPA; metrics must be linkable over the entire estimation process. Thus, even if an effect metric that more precisely and accurately tracks a particular environmental change is on hand, it cannot be used here unless there is a process to attribute economic value to its change. Many of the ongoing arguments surrounding the application of a richer set of noise metrics are moot for this study, but this should not be perceived to preclude their use for other decision-making protocols (cf. Fields 1993 in WHO 1999

¹The DNL integration includes a 10 dB penalty added for nighttime events, assuming that night operations are twice as annoying as those occurring at other times of the day because of the potential for sleep disturbance and because background noise is lower.
FICUN, Albee, supp. Metrics).² Less established metrics may provide a more precise interpretation for specific endpoints (NRC 1981, FAA 1985, WHO 1999); reducing annoyance into more specific metrics of health and welfare impacts is an area of active research. A more complete synopsis of noise metrics and their applicability to environmental analyses can be found in (FAA Measures of Sound doc, Smith text, FICON 1992, 1050E.1, ANSI S3.23-1980, ISO 1982).

9.1. Choice of a noise metric

Before examining the consequences of the exposure trends on damages, we turn to an important assumption in their evaluation—the selection of a lower threshold that defines the absence of aircraft-related noise effects. In this thesis, effects extend as far as noise has a discernible impact on the health or well-being of populations around airports. This study uses an uncertain range P_{unif}^{quiet} [50:55] for this threshold, referencing regulatory context and the effects literature. This section provides a rationale for this choice.

Noise impacts on airport-local communities are manifest strongly as quality of life issues.³ Risk-based evaluations explicitly embrace quality of life factors in their definition of health, and as reviewed in the next section, emerging methods that seek to directly assess quality of life, interpreted as happiness or other qualitative measures, hold promise as alternatives for damage estimation. Risk-based evaluations suggest 50-55 DNL as a goal for the protection of public health and welfare. EPA (1973, 1974) conducted its first comprehensive assessment in response to a mandate in the Noise Control Act of 1972 and identified noise levels of 55 DNL and 45 DNL to minimize interference with outdoor and indoor activities, respectively, for all populations without regard to cost or feasibility and including a discretionary 5 dBA margin of safety. A more recent review considering a broader range of health endpoints by the World Health Organization (WHO 1999) suggests an outdoor target of 50-55 dBA

² Characteristics determining annoyance can include descriptors beyond physical noise levels and controlling factors can be similar to those controlling perception of risk. Consider the effective perceived noise level (EPNL), which is the event metric underlying certification standards set under the 1972 Noise Control Act (NCA) and subsequent amendments (REF). While the DNL metric is based on dBA, a loudness weighting, EPNL uses the tone-corrected, perceived noise level (PNL), a subjective measure of relative noisiness; this is an annoyance weighting. The essential connection between PNL and correlations between A-weighted sound level and magnitude of annoyance is displayed in the additive relationship between DNL and the cumulative measure it replaced, the Noise Exposure Forecast (NEF), which uses EPNL as the single event metric. Thus, there is a basic connection between MAIPA and certification, even though we do not use certification data in the evaluation of noise effects.

³ Typical noise levels in near-airport communities are not high enough to cause acute hearing loss, but chronic exposure poses a long-term health risk for auditory effects.

integrated over 16 hours, and a target of 30-35 dBA integrated over 8-16 hours for indoor activity. The WHO guidelines are qualitatively different from the perspective of EPA (1974) in that they are presented in the context of sustainability. Considering annoyance in particular, the exposure-response correlation developed by Schultz (1978) and updated by various authors since (cf. Fidell 1990, Miedema and Vos 1998) enjoys acceptance as the most well-defined description of community response to aviation noise, commonly with citation of the percent of the population highly annoyed (%HA) as a function of DNL (NRC 1977, EPA 1982, FAA 1985); %HA is not significantly different from zero in the 50-55 DNL range. Annoyance analyses also find a significantly non-zero percentage of the population that is moderatelyannoved at levels where $\%HA \approx 0$. FAA references the number of people living within the 65 DNL contour as its primary measure of noise impact and progress in its mitigation, reflecting an interpretation of the noise – annoyance relationship. This does not, however, define the extent of welfare effects resulting from aviation noise, although this is often used as a definition of quiet. The 65 DNL contour is a land use guideline, the threshold of acceptability for activities with consideration of cost and feasibility (FICUN 1980); 14 CFR Part 150, established in response to the Aircraft Safety and Noise Abatement Act of 1979, describes FAA policy on fund disbursement for remedial noise mitigation. This policy continues to be debated-airport-local communities in Cleveland, Minneapolis, and Orlando, for example, have developed local actions that look to mitigate out to 60 or 55 DNL based on their own internal benefit-cost assessments (Albee Wyle Supplemental analysis 2002). FAA policy recognizes the need to attend to noise levels less than 65 DNL if actions alter noise levels significantly (FAA order 1050.1E, proposed noise policy 00).4

Noise impacts can be measured in a microeconomic sense by declines in utility, under which people adjust their consumption patterns to accommodate the shift. The corollary to this is that there is some amount people would be willing to pay to return to their original level of utility. Statistical investigations of price impacts on housing around airports resulting from aviation noise—a component of welfare loss which is addressed in more detail in the next section—find a significantly positive depreciation at levels between 55-60 DNL. However, uncertainty in DNL contour estimates at these levels (the primary source of uncertainty in MAIPA damage estimates) and the presence of other noise sources that may mask the

⁴ An additional argument can be made that because certain land areas around airports are restricted from development because of incompatible noise levels, macroeconomic effects result, and regional economies are also impacted, increasing the number of people impacted to populations not necessarily near the airport.

impact of aircraft noise confound these results. Most airports are located near urban or suburban areas where the aviation noise signature is decreasing relative to other sources. EPA (1974) suggests the median outdoor exposure to noise in urban areas is 59 dB DNL with a range of 58 to 72 dB; corresponding ranges for suburban and wilderness areas are 48 to 57 dB and 20 to 30 dB, respectively (cf. EPA 1982). FICAN (1992) concludes that noise analyses do not provide a basis for determining the contribution of ambient levels to annovance, including auditory masking for which there is no clear method to determine the extension of such a concept to long time scale integrations of noise level such as DNL. Aircraft noise, which varies with time, is not always fully masked, as some portion of the signature may exceed the ambient and thus the effect of the background may play as strong a role in comparison to constant level noise (cf. Gjestland et al. 1990 and Fields 1998 re: WHO 1999). However, auditory masking plays a role in determining whether aircraft contribution can be discerned, and suburban and urban noise levels are considered in selecting the noise effect threshold. FICON (1992) recommends that a 5 dBA difference in contours resulting from a change in airport operations warrants further analysis between the 55-60 DNL contours, 3 dBA for the 60-65 DNL contours, and 1.5 dBA above 65 DNL, each change resulting in a similar change in annoyance; these recommendations partly reference the ±3-5 dBA threshold for which an individual can discern a difference in noise level.

10. Linear response models of the climate

The identification problem with respect to AOGCM simulations is more complex than that solved to determine the carbon-cycle impulse response; signal-to-noise ratios generally limit the number of significant modes. To evaluate the magnitude of cold start errors in climate modeling, Hasselmann et al. (1993) presents the model in equation A10.1 derived from the response of the ECHAM1/LSG coupled AOGCM to radiative forcing resulting from the IPCC IS92a emissions scenario.¹ In this case, one mode was found to simulate the response to a rms error of 0.06 K.

(A10.1)
$$[T-\text{Ha93}] \quad g(t) = \sum_{i=1}^{5} \alpha_i e^{t/\tau_i} \qquad \begin{bmatrix} \alpha_i \\ \tau_i \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} 0.0679 \\ 36.8 \end{bmatrix} \quad \begin{array}{c} K / yr \\ years \end{array}$$

Additional models have been proposed based on different climate model experiments. Equation A10.2 shows the impulse response function from Hasselmann et al. (1997) based on a long timescale, 800-yr calculation of the response to a small step function input. Both this function and that shown in equation A10.2 are calibrated to an equilibrium $2 \cdot X_{CO_2}$ response (climate sensitivity, λ) of 2.5 K. The additional modes used in the fit as compared to Hasselmann et al. (1993) are included to capture the long-term response.

(A10.2)
$$[T-\text{Ha97}] \quad g(t) = \sum_{i=1}^{5} \alpha_i e^{t/\tau_i} \quad \begin{bmatrix} \alpha_i \\ \tau_i \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} 0.00383 & 0.0632 & 0.576 \\ 138.6 & 12 & 2.1 \end{bmatrix} \quad \begin{array}{c} K/yr \\ years \end{array}$$

Equation A10.3 shows the impulse response function from Hooss et al. (2001) which is derived from a stronger 850-yr $4 \cdot X_{co_2}$ perturbation determined using the ECHAM3/LSG AOGCM (cf. DKRZ 1993; Voss et al. 1998; Voss and Mikolajewicz 2001) computation where the CO2 concentration rises exponentially to the 120th year and keeps constant thereafter. The model is calibrated to $\lambda = 2.39$ K.

¹ ECHAM is based on the spectral numerical weather forecasting model of the European Center for Medium Range Weather Forecasts Modified by Max Planck Institute (Hamburg), with added physical parameterizations to adjust for climate analysis (e.g. radiation, cloud formation, land-surface processes). ECHAM1 was coupled to Hamburg Large Scale Geostrophic (LSG) ocean general circulation model. Circulation fields derived from LSG underlie the derivation of impulse response functions using HAMMOC.

(A10.3)
$$[T-\text{Ho01}] \quad g(t) = \sum_{i=1}^{5} \alpha_i e^{i/\tau_i} \quad \begin{bmatrix} \alpha_i \\ \tau_i \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} 0.000725 & 0.0592 \\ 400 & 12 \end{bmatrix} \quad \begin{array}{c} K / yr \\ years \end{array}$$

Cumulative radiative forcing and temperature change computed using the impulse response functions of equations 4.11-4.13 agree with AOGCM computations of temperature change resulting from global aviation CO2 contribution as reported in the IPCC special report on aviation and the global atmosphere (IPCC 1999, cf. Marais et al. 2008 and Sausen and Schumann 2000). Note these linear response models indicate instantaneous surface temperature change at t = 0 and thus do not capture the transient increase in Ts.

As with the linearized carbon cycle models presented in the previous section, coefficient and characteristic timescale uncertainties have not been evaluated for MAIPA. Uncertainty associated with climate sensitivity is characterized using the analysis of Forest (2002) which is based on calculations performed with the MIT AOGCM (Sokolov and Stone 1998). For ensemble of 1000 runs, the distribution derived from this analysis has a median $\lambda = 2.38$ K and percentiles $F(\lambda)$ as shown in equation A10.4.

(A10.4)
$$\begin{bmatrix} F(\lambda) \\ \lambda \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} 0.025 & 0.05 & 0.25 & 0.5 & 0.75 & 0.95 & 0.975 \\ 1.3 & 1.4 & 1.95 & 2.38 & 2.96 & 4.2 & 4.7 \end{bmatrix} K$$

The uncertainty is implemented as a scaling on the temperature response predicted by equations A10.1-A10.4 relative to the climate sensitivity of the underlying AOGCM.² The shape of this distribution is characteristic of AOGCM results (cf. IPCC FAR 2007).

For the purposes of this study, we use the estimates for RF_{short}^{ref} in (Schumann 2003) (cf. Sausen et al. 2005), which update the IPCC special report (1999) based on a review of recent literature. The reported ranges are representative of the 67% confidence interval; for MAIPA, they are extended to represent a 3 σ confidence interval. Equation A10.5 gives these distributions for RF_{short}^{ref} . The RF values in equation 4.16 result from the whole of global aviation emissions. To maintain relevance to US emissions, RF_{short}^{ref} are

² The sum of coefficients α is such that RF* = 1 at the equilibrium T_s response to $2 \cdot X_{CO_2}$, e.g.: $\sum \left[\left(\alpha_i / \sum_{i=1}^{r} \alpha_i \cdot \lambda \right) / \tau_i \right] = 1$

⁽Marais et al. 2008) explore the effect of uncertainty in λ differently, using Punif=[1.5,4.5] K in an energy balance model proposed by Shine et al. (2005).

scaled by a factor α to account for the portion attributable to the inventories Q using the ratio shown in equation A10.5, where $Q_{co_2}^{slobal}$ is specified as reported in (Sausen and Schumann 2000).

Equation A10.5 also shows the distributions applied in MAIPA for the climate sensitivity ratio $\lambda^* = \lambda_{short} / \lambda_{co_2}$. The remainder of this section discusses the basis for the specifications in equation 4.16. Section 4.2.1 discusses ozone and methane effects related to nitrogen oxide emissions and section 4.2.2 reviews specifications for aerosol and cloud effects related to water, soot, and sulfur emissions. Values for RF^{ref}_{short} are specified independently from λ_{short} ; without computations to describe this dependency that explicitly consider the aviation case, there is currently no mechanistic basis to accurately capture the coupling in MAIPA.

11. Upper atmospheric effects of nitrogen oxide emissions

There are several sources of NO_x at altitude, including vertically transported surface emissions from biomass burning, industrial sources, vehicular traffic, and soil microbes, and in the free troposphere, lightning and subsidence of NO_x from the stratosphere. Aviation is unique among anthropogenic sources in that emissions occur at altitude. Significant chemical and dynamical processes differentiate the troposphere and stratosphere. Aircraft emissions injected into the troposphere generally lead to the production of O3 through the processes that lead to ozone formation at ground level and related air quality impacts. Despite deficiencies in understanding source magnitudes, it is understood that NO_x emissions at altitude have a more potent effect on O3 than equivalent emissions at ground level, primarily due to the relatively clean background concentrations in the upper atmosphere, but also because of longer residence times and the large radiative efficiency near the tropopause as compared to the surface, the latter resulting from low temperatures and thus low reemission to space.¹

In contrast, pollutants emitted into the middle stratosphere can reduce O3 levels through catalytic chemical cycles directly involving NO_x emissions, but also indirectly through nonlinear interactions among NO_x, hydroxy (HOx), and halogen (e.g. bromine oxides, BrOx, and chlorine oxides, ClOx) catalytic O3 chemistry. Baughcum et al. (ref) estimate that ~20% of aircraft emissions are injected into the stratosphere. The loss of O3 at this altitude is most often associated with the emission of chlorofluorocarbons and other halogen compounds. Thus, one difficulty in discerning the climatic effects of aircraft is that increases in O3 in the middle and upper stratosphere lead to decreased forcing whereas increases in ozone in UT/LS lead to increased forcing. The crossover point between these differing influences is in the lower stratosphere at around 15 km altitude, varying with season and latitude;

¹ Models suggest that $OPE_{alt} \sim 20 \cdot OPE_{round}$ and that $RF_{alt}^{f(NO_{s})} \sim 20 \cdot RF_{ground}^{f(NO_{s})}$ (Wahner and Geller 1995; Johnson et al. 1992)

subsonic aircraft fly at altitudes spanning this crossover. The net effect is estimated to be an increase in O3 and thus a positive RF_{0} (IPCC 1999).²

With this heterogeneous distribution of ozone perturbations and forcings that manifest in different ways depending on location and the manner of impact (e.g. different parts of the spectrum impacted by different mechanisms), climate sensitivity estimated with specific reference to aircraft NO_x emissions is most consistent with application to MAIPA. (Ponater et al. 1999) explicitly calculates λ_{o_3} based on computations focusing on aircraft-induced O3 perturbations, using the ECHAM3-LSG model (the basis for several of the impulse response functions discussed in the previous section). Their results find $\lambda_{o_3} = [1.52 \ 2.48]$ at the 95% CI with $\overline{\lambda}_{o_3} = 2.01$ compared to a sensitivity for CO2 (and other well-mixed species) of $\lambda_{co_2} = [0.67 \ 1.10]$ at the 95% CI with $\overline{\lambda}_{co_2} = 0.88$, giving $\tilde{\lambda}_{o_3}^* = 2.28$. These results are, however, singular in the literature. To specify the climate sensitivity ratio in equation 4.16, we additionally reference assessments not specific to aviation.

Comparatively, analyses of O3 response in the atmosphere suggest a smaller climate sensitivity. (Hansen et al. 1997) conducted computational experiments in which ozone was increased by 100 Dobson units at various altitudes and latitudes, finding $\lambda_{O_3} = [0.43 \ 2.27]$ with negative forcing at the lowest altitudes $(\lambda_{O_3} = -2.05 \text{ at} < 100 \text{ m})$. For these computations, $\lambda_{O_3}^* = [0.47 \ 2.46]$ ($\lambda_{CO_2} = 0.92$ for a $2 \cdot X_{CO_2}$ computation using the climate model described in Hansen 1997b). An updated assessment in (Hansen et al. 2005) suggests a net $\lambda_{O_3}^* = 0.80 \pm 0.16$ from computations examining uniform tropospheric increases in in O3. (Stuber et al. 2001) reports similar results in an analysis examining O3 impacts using the same GCM as in (Ponater et al. 1999), finding a mean $\lambda_{O_3}^* = [0.72 \ 1.81]$. In equation 4.16, $\lambda_{O_3}^*$ is specified to encompass these results.³ Note that while the trend of NO_x impact on O3 is explicitly treated, the impact of emitted CO and HC on O3 is not; as in the air quality analysis described in the previous section, this

² Soot and sulfate can enhance the destruction of ozone (Weisenstein et al., 1995; Danilin et al., 1997; Bekki, S., 1997), but these impacts have been assumed to be small relative to the NO_x impact on ozone (IPCC 1999). Recent analysis suggests that the role of heterogeneous chemistry in the troposphere involving volatile particles in the engine plume can increase the rate of NO_x to nitrate conversion, thereby reducing or reversing NO_x effects on ozone (increasing) and methane (decreasing) concentrations. The question of heterogeneous effects on NO_x conversion is not resolved and RF estimates published to date have not included the detailed treatment of heterogeneous chemistry required to capture the conversion rate. Regardless of the role of heterogeneous chemistry, both of these processes will be affected similarly (even if reversed), reducing the importance of NO_x conversion to climate processes.

³ The (Ponater *et al.* 1999) results indicate that some weight should be given to the upper end of this distribution, but instead of formally implementing a correction in MAIPA, this is left as a point for further investigation.

chemistry modifies ozone chemistry leading to additional formation but with an impact much less than the that of NO_x since CO and HC perturbations are much smaller than the background CO and HC.

12. Aerosol and cloud effects of water, soot, and sulfur emissions

There is comparatively less understanding of climate sensitivities to aviation aerosols and cloud effects. Particle emissions perturb the mass and size distribution of the background atmospheric aerosol if scavenged, alter the chemical makeup of the upper atmosphere through heterogeneous chemistry, and may freeze, persisting as contrail particles. Microphysical processes involving emitted and generated particles also lead to changes in contrail optical properties, but have minimal apparent impact on formation tendency (Schumann et al. 2002). However, the incidence of persistent contrails is expected to increase as aircraft engines become more efficient (Schumann 2000; Schumann et al. 2002).

Measurements suggest the presence of radiative impacts from aviation contrails and related cirrus (Travis et al. 2002), but the impact of aerosols on clouds is not well understood (Changnon 1981; Liou et al. 1990; Boucher 1999). Scattering of radiation by sulfate and absorption by soot are estimated to result in negative and positive forcings, respectively (IPCC 1999). (Taylor and Penner 1994) find that sensitivity to sulfate is less than to CO2, estimating $\lambda_{so_4^*}^* = 0.59$; similarly, (Rotstayn and Penner 2001) results estimate $\lambda_{so_4^*}^* = 0.69$. (Hansen et al. 2005) finds a large range of values— $\lambda_{so_4^2}^* = [0.6 \ 1.1]$ and $\lambda_c^* = [0.4 \ 0.8]$ — using a series of computations varying altitude, spatial distribution, and albedo, that implies great sensitivity to the character of the soot and sulfate. Given the uncertainty in the application of these results to the aviation case, the specifications in equation 4.16 are inclusive.

Particles also play a part in cirrus formation near flight tracks, via contrail evolution into cirrus for example, and as a result of the more extensive spatial coverage that results, aviation-induced cirrus impacts are expected to be larger than contrail impacts (Anderson et al. 1999; Schröder et al. 2000). (IPCC 1999) place $RF_{clouds} = [5:60] \text{ mW/m2}$ with $\overline{RF}_{clouds} = 0.020 \text{ mW/m2}$ (based on the results of Minnis et al. 2004) and suggest an uncertain range for the impact of aerosols on cirrus clouds of [0:40] mW/m2. Subsequent analyses suggest a lower contrail forcing; (Marquart and Mayer 2002) estimate a contrail impact of 3.2 mW/m2 and (Marquart et al. 2003) estimate 3.5 mW/m2. Mannstein and Schumann (2003) extrapolate from contrail forcing estimates and observations of cloud cover over Europe to suggest

that the cirrus impact related to contrail aging is 10 times the contrail forcing, giving $RF_{clouds} = [30 \ 80]$ mW/m2. The mechanism and magnitude of contrail/cirrus forcings are unsettled questions. For MAIPA, a range that encompasses existing studies is specified in equation 4.16.

At the altitudes of cirrus formation where aircraft are expected to fly at cruise, (Hansen et al. 1997) finds climate sensitivities of $\lambda_{clouds} = [0.59 \ 0.61]$ through a computation increasing cloud cover by 5% in each of the model's gridded layers. This places $\lambda_{clouds}^* = [0.64 \ 0.66]$, rounded in MAIPA to specify equation 4.16. Based on the relationship between RF and fuel consumption estimated in (Marquart et al. 2003), the scaling in equation 4.15 is assumed to apply over the period 1991-2003, with the EI ratio at unity. Since water vapor is the main component of cloud impacts, MAIPA attributes cloud and contrail impacts to water emissions; the potential for operational approaches to reduce contrail formation by rerouting around water saturated regions of the atmosphere is included in the damage function as multiplier set to 1 for MAIPA.

Apart from its role in clouds, water vapor is also a radiatively active gas; but while it is a major quantitative component of aircraft emissions, these emissions are much smaller than the flux of the hydrological cycle in the troposphere and thus, water vapor affects a relatively small positive forcing— approximately the same as for soot. Emissions into the stratosphere may lead to a larger impact due to the relatively dry conditions and longer lifetimes, but this effect has not been fully assessed. Water emissions also contribute to an enhanced catalytic HOx destructiveness and interfere with NO_x and halogen catalysis. However, this occurs to a lesser extent than the similar effect of NO_x emissions described above because of the small H2O perturbation to the background level (Schumann, 1996). For water vapor, $\lambda_{H_2O}^* = 1$ is assumed in the absence of additional understanding.

13. Tropospheric ozone production

The formation of tropospheric ozone strongly depends on ambient NO_x concentrations. In the troposphere, NO₂ is converted to O3 through a fast, photochemically-initiated catalytic cycle. This cycle leads to a steady O3 concentration balanced as a result of the interaction of NO and NO₂ with oxygen in the presence of sunlight. In this chemistry, NO₂ photodissociates to NO, producing an oxygen atom which combines with ambient oxygen to form ozone. The ozone is then recycled through reaction with NO into NO₂, leading to what is commonly referred to as the photostationary state. In the lower troposphere, carbon monoxide and hydrocarbons are plentiful enough to spur the formation of more atomic oxygen through further recycling of NO_x, producing O3 without the subsequent destruction implied by the photostationary state. In the presence of CO and HC oxidation via atmospheric OH, NO is converted to NO₂ by reaction with peroxy radicals and then converted back to NO in the presence of sunlight. This chemistry releases atomic oxygen which reacts with ambient O2 to form O3. The oxidation of NO by HO2 leads to the production of OH which contributes to further CO and HC oxidation.

The ratio of reactive organic gases (ROG) to NO_x is a useful parameter for describing the evolution of emitted precursors (cf. NRC 1991), but not a sufficient marker of O3 sensitivity (Lu et al. 1998). For example, investigating four episodic scenarios—along the east coast from Boston to Miami, in the northeast, in the Los Angeles air basin, and in the Chicago-Lake Michigan air basin—Milford et al (1994) find that downwind of source areas, sensitivity to ROG decreases with distance. While NO_x levels are plentiful and ROG/NO_x is still low, maximum ozone production is limited by the availability of ROG. In this condition—termed ROG-sensitive or NO_x-saturated—the addition of CO and HC enhances the ozone production efficiency of NO_x emissions; additional NO_x has the opposite effect. Milford et al (1989) show that aging urban plumes evolve through dilution and chemistry towards a condition where O3 sensitivity to NO_x is positive and changes in CO and HC emissions are much less influential—termed NO_x-limited or NO_x-sensitive—due to the relatively higher rate of NO_x consumption compared to ROG consumption; at the extreme, O3 production varies directly with NO_x input.

There are numerous sensitivities in this chemistry, including availability of solar radiation for photolysis

and air temperature, as well as the availability of precursors. Consistent with this picture of lower tropospheric ozone, rural and suburban areas, where ROG sources are relatively abundant (e.g isoprene from forests in the eastern US) tend towards the NO_x-limited end of this spectrum while urban areas, where NO_x sources are numerous, are typically NO_x-saturated (Sillman et al. 1990; Lu et al. 1989; Sillman 1999).

13.1. Plume ozone production

In the earliest of these measurement campaigns, Trainer et al. (1993) report a series of seven sampling efforts in rural areas of the eastern U.S. and Canada in which measured O3, NO_x, and NOy are correlated to estimate the OPE as dO3/d(NOz), where $NOz = NO_x$ -NOy, essentially a measure of HNO3 and thus the extent of NO_x oxidation. They set a requirement, generally followed by subsequent analyses, that only samples where plume oxidation is >= 60% (i.e. the plume is photochemically aged) are applied to the correlation, thus avoiding any region of NO_x titration. Trainer et al. (1993) find consistent values for dO3/d(NOz) across four sites with differences in emissions factors, background concentrations, relative rates of O3 formation and NO_x oxidation, and transport process, reflecting a regional homogeneity along the interior of the eastern U.S. For one site (Scotia, PA), the OPE \sim = 8.5 against day averages (R² = 0.99). Using a similar method, Olszyna et al. (1994) examine another rural site (Giles County, TN) estimating OPE~=10, integrating between a plume age of $1-NO_x/NOy = 0.2$ to the extent of ozone production at 1-NO_x/NO_y = 0.7 (cf. Kleinman et al. 1994 for additional rural measurements). Subsequent studies using this assessment approach estimate OPE~=7 for the Birmingham urban plume (Trainer et al. 1995) and OPE = 4-10 for the Atlanta urban plume (Imhoff et al. 1995). These initial reports tend towards higher OPE than subsequent analyses. This is largely a result of missing loss processes; in using NOz as the correlating species for ozone formation, only the photochemical portion of the processes that influence the rate of ozone change are accounted. If a longer-lived species is correlated instead, such as CO, with additional information as to source NOx/CO emissions ratio, lower OPE estimates are obtained. Using this approach, Trainer et al. (2000) reassess the Scotia PA result and find instead an OPE = 1.5-2.8 compared to the previously reported OPE = 8.5 (cf. Trainer et al. 1993).

A large portion of the work to date on measurement-based estimates of OPE originates with the Southern Oxidant Study (SOS) of photochemistry in the southeastern US (Hübler et al., 1998; Meagher et al., 1998;

Goldan et al., 2000). Nunnermaker et al. (1998) estimate OPE from 2.5-4 from measurements of the Nashville urban plume (which includes several large power plant contributions). In a companion modeling effort, Sillman et al. (1998) estimate that using a O3-NOz correlation would result in a 50-60% higher value for OPE. Nunnermaker et al. (1998) further observe the variation of OPE across the plume, finding a factor of 2 decrease from boundary to center.

Again in Tennessee, Ryerson et al. (1998) specifically measured power plant plumes at ages up to 10 hours using two methods to estimate net OPE that account for loss rates of soluble NOz species: first pinning loss rates to longer-lived species co-emitted in the plume (a mass balance approach) and second estimating NO_x lifetimes based on concentration measurements, using SO2 as a tracer of the plume. They report OPE = 1-3 using mass balance approach, a lower limit, and 2-7 using the concentration approach, an upper limit. Ryerson et al. (1998) also note the dependence of O3 on mdot NO_x, finding a decreasing trend in OPE with increasing NO_x emission rate (cf. Milford et al. 1989, 1994); in a subsequent analysis of power plant plumes in the area, Ryerson et al. (2001) infer from their measurements that, for similar meteorological and geographic conditions, a factor of 8 reduction in NO_x emissions from these sources would result in a in factor of 2.3 difference in net ozone production, another reflection of the nonlinearity in the ozone chemistry and an indication of a larger OPE for the smaller sources.

Ryerson et al. (2001) also conclude that power plant plumes in the east, where biogenic sources of ROG are prevalent, will tend to have higher OPE than similar power plants in midwest agricultural areas (i.e. where biogenic sources dominate, the chemistry tends towards NO_x -limitation). Additional measurement and model analyses of urban plumes appearing since the SOS are consistent in their estimates of OPE, ranging from 1-7 for major cities in the eastern and western U.S. (cf. Kleinman et al. (2000) NYC urban plume with OPE=2.2-4.2; Kleinman et al. (2002) Phoenix urban plume with OPE=1.5-7; Kleinman et al. (2002); Griffin et al. (2004) CA South Coast air basin modeled OPE=4.7-6.4; Frost et al. (2006) eastern U.S. power plants modeled OPE=1-5).

An aircraft plume is definitively NO_x-saturated early in its evolution. Upon emission, aircraft CO and HC emissions constitute the ROG available to the ozone chemistry (ROG/NO_x = O(1), NO_x-exit >> NO_x- ambient, and ROG-exit <= ROG-ambient). With no initial O3 content in the plume, entrained lower tropospheric ozone can be destroyed rapidly via NO reaction with O3—termed NO titration—leading to a

302

depression in ozone concentrations relative to the ambient average. Similar depressions can be found near streets in downtown areas and in power plant plumes, the latter can be of a scale causing the depression to persist for O(10) km.

Atmospheric mixing affects ozone chemistry by changing the ROG/NO_x ratio as well as the absolute concentrations of ROG and NO_x. Eventually, NO titration is superseded by ozone production, spurred by the photolysis and/or ROG-initiated generation of a radical pool. This evolution pushes the ozone chemistry towards the NO_x-limited condition; Milford et al (1994) demonstrate that for a given ROG/NO_x ratio, a deficit of NO_x is encountered faster for low absolute emissions levels. It is for this reason that the emphasis of emissions control varies with location; VOC controls in urban areas successfully reduce O3 peaks, but in rural areas, biogenic sources contribute to a large background ROG concentration where NO_x controls may be the more effective strategy.

Competing influences determine the OPE realized in aircraft plumes; aircraft engines are relatively small sources compared to power plant or urban plumes—higher OPE values characterize smaller NO_x sources and the diameter of a stack compared to that of an engine exhaust nozzle is ~ O(10)—but are emitted predominantly in urban areas where the availability of anthropogenic NO_x is high and biogenic VOC sources are low, both of which may depress sensitivity to NO_x inputs. There is also the potential difference in that ground emissions evolve against the background of a larger regional plume (e.g from a city) where aircraft emit at higher tropospheric altitudes, perhaps interacting less with ground emissions and moving through an atmosphere that has a lower ROG/NO_x ratio than on the airport property.

13.2. Tropospheric and plume ozone production

The formation of tropospheric ozone strongly depends on ambient NO_x concentrations. In the troposphere, NO₂ is converted to O3 in through a fast, photochemically-initiated catalytic cycle. This cycle leads to a steady O3 concentration balanced as a result of the interaction of NO and NO₂ with oxygen in the presence of sunlight. In this chemistry, NO₂ photodissociates to NO, producing an oxygen atom which combines with ambient oxygen to form ozone. The ozone is then recycled through reaction with NO into NO₂, leading to what is commonly referred to as the photostationary state. In the lower troposphere, carbon monoxide and hydrocarbons are plentiful enough to spur the formation of more

atomic oxygen through further recycling of NO_x , producing O3 without the subsequent destruction implied by the photostationary state. In the presence of CO and HC oxidation via atmospheric OH, NO is converted to NO_2 by reaction with peroxy radicals and then converted back to NO in the presence of sunlight. This chemistry releases atomic oxygen which reacts with ambient O2 to form O3. The oxidation of NO by HO2 leads to the production of OH which contributes to further CO and HC oxidation.

The ratio of reactive organic gases (ROG) to NO_x is a useful parameter for describing the evolution of emitted precursors (cf. NRC 1991), but not a sufficient marker of O3 sensitivity (Lu et al. 1998). For example, investigating four episodic scenarios—along the east coast from Boston to Miami, in the northeast, in the Los Angeles air basin, and in the Chicago-Lake Michigan air basin—Milford et al (1994) find that downwind of source areas, sensitivity to ROG decreases with distance. While NO_x levels are plentiful and ROG/NO_x is still low, maximum ozone production is limited by the availability of ROG. In this condition—termed ROG-sensitive or NO_x-saturated—the addition of CO and HC enhances the ozone production efficiency of NO_x emissions; additional NO_x has the opposite effect. Milford et al (1989) show that aging urban plumes evolve through dilution and chemistry towards a condition where O3 sensitivity to NO_x is positive and changes in CO and HC emissions are much less influential—termed NO_x-limited or NO_x-sensitive—due to the relatively higher rate of NO_x consumption compared to ROG consumption; at the extreme, O3 production varies directly with NO_x input.

There are numerous sensitivities in this chemistry, including availability of solar radiation for photolysis and air temperature, as well as the availability of precursors. Consistent with this picture of lower tropospheric ozone, rural and suburban areas, where ROG sources are relatively abundant (e.g isoprene from forests in the eastern US) tend towards the NO_x-limited end of this spectrum while urban areas, where NO_x sources are numerous, are typically NO_x-saturated (Sillman et al. 1990; Lu et al. 1989; Sillman 1999).

Aircraft comprise smaller NO_x sources and the diameter of a stack compared to that of an engine exhaust nozzle is ~ O(10)—but are emitted predominantly in urban areas where the availability of anthropogenic NO_x is high and biogenic VOC sources are low, both of which may depress sensitivity to NO_x inputs. There is also the potential difference in that ground emissions evolve against the background of a larger regional plume (e.g from a city) where aircraft emit at higher tropospheric altitudes, perhaps interacting

304

less with ground emissions and moving through an atmosphere that has a lower ROG/NO_x ratio than on the airport property.

13.2.1. Indications of NO_x processing age from precursor measurements

Modeling and measurement investigations of aircraft exhaust plume chemistry indicate that formation of NO₂ is substantially underway in the near-field (t~1s). The constituency of aircraft NO_x emissions leans predominantly to NO upon exhaust; median estimates of intra-engine conversion efficiencies place the ratio of NO₂/NOy between 5-40% over the range of engine cycles applied to this study, the low end relevant to high power conditions and the high for low power (Lukachko et al 2007). For comparison, Herndon et al. (2004) measure conversion efficiencies in an aged plume (t~100s) of 28-35% over a power range from idle to takeoff at Kennedy International Airport; a companion modeling exercise shows no evidence of NO titration at this age. Wormhoudt et al. (2007) measure an upper-end conversion efficiency of 80% at low powers near the engine exit for a CFM56 engine installed on a B757, indicating that ozone production is underway within the airport boundaries. Field studies have recently focused on the identification of aircraft source signatures outside the airport boundary. Herndon et al (2004, 2005, 2006) report measurable NO_x, VOC, and PM plumes at the airport boundary, and Westerdahl (2007) find aircraft emission signatures up to 1 km from the airport at monitoring locations around Los Angeles. Craslaw et al. (2006), using statistical methods that take advantage of the larger buoyancy of aircraft plumes compared to other nearby combustion sources, find a NOx source signature at distances up to 3 km outside London Heathrow airport, accounting for a maximum 15% of the total contribution. These studies indicate that aircraft emissions retain a local influence that is differentiable from other sources.

14. Concentration-response functions

Concentration-response functions in MAIPA address premature and sudden mortality, chronic respiratory illness (e.g. chronic bronchitis), hospital admissions and emergency room visits for respiratory (e.g. asthma, pneumonia) and cardiovascular diseases (e.g. chronic obstructive pulmonary disease, congestive heart failure, dysrhythmia, ischemic heart disease), and minor symptomatic illness as well as reduced activity that may be associated with illness. These categories aggregate the more specific health endpoints addressed by individual concentration-response functions; category assignments are listed in tables A14.1-A14.6.

Table A14.1 Selecting concentration-response functions for air quality benefits analyses

reproduced from EPA 1999 Table D-1

Consideration	Comments
Peer reviewed research process	Peer reviewed research is preferred to research that has not undergone the peer review
Study type	Among studies that consider chronic exposure (e.g., over a year or longer) prospective cohort studies are preferred over cross-sectional studies (a.k.a. "ecological studies") because they control for important confounding variables that cannot be controlled for in cross-sectional studies. If the chronic effects of a pollutant are considered more important than its acute effects, prospective cohort studies may also be preferable to longitudinal time series studies because the latter type of study is typically designed to detect the effects of short-term (e.g. daily) exposures, rather than chronic exposures.
Study period	Studies examining a relatively longer period of time (and therefore having more data) are preferred, because they have greater statistical power to detect effects. More recent studies are also preferred because of possible changes in pollution mixes, medical care, and life style over time.
Study population	Studies examining a relatively large sample are preferred. Studies of narrow population groups are generally disfavored, although this does not exclude the possibility of studying populations that are potentially more sensitive to pollutants (e.g., asthmatics, children, elderly). However, there are tradeoffs to comprehensiveness of study population. Selecting a C-R function from a study that considered all ages will avoid omitting the benefits associated with any population age category. However, if the age distribution of a study population from an "all population" study is different from the age distribution in the assessment population, and if pollutant effects vary by age, then bias can be introduced into the benefits analysis.
Study location	U.S. studies are more desirable than non-U.S. studies because of potential differences in pollution characteristics, exposure patterns, medical care system, and life style.
Pollutants included in model	Models with more pollutants are generally preferred to models with fewer pollutants, though careful attention must be paid to potential collinearity between pollutants. Because PM has been acknowledged to be an important and pervasive pollutant, models that include some measure of PM are highly preferred to those that do not.
Measure of PM	PM2.5 and PM10 are preferred to other measures of particulate matter, such as total suspended particulate matter (TSP), coefficient of haze (COH), or black smoke (BS) based on evidence that PM2.5 and PM10 are more directly correlated with adverse health effects than are these more general measures of PM.
Economically valuable	Some health effects, such as forced expiratory volume and other technical valuable health measurements of lung functioning, are difficult to value in monetary terms. These health effects effects are not quantified in this analysis.
Non- overlapping endpoints	Although the benefits associated with each individual health endpoint may be analyzed separately, care must be exercised in selecting health endpoints to include in the overall benefits analysis because of the possibility of double counting of benefits. Including emergency room visits in a benefits analysis that already considers hospital admissions, for example, will result in double counting of some benefits if the category "hospital admissions" includes emergency room visits.

source	effect	MAIPA pool	ages	model	yo / alpha	beta	sigma	averaging
Burnett et al. (1999)	asthma hospitalization	respiratory hospitalization	all	log-linear	4.75E-06	0.0332	0.00861	daily mean
Sheppard 1989	asthma hospitalization	respiratory hospitalization	<65	log-linear	4.52E-06	0.0528	0.0185	daily mean
Burnett et al. (1999)	lung disease hospitalization	respiratory hospitalization	all	log-linear	5.76E-06	0.025	0.0165	daily mean
Moolgavkar et al. (1997)	chronic lung disease hospitalization	respiratory hospitalization	65+	log-linear	3.75E-05	0.0573	0.0329	daily mean
Schwartz 1999	all cardiovascular hospitalization	cardiovascular hospitalization	65+	log-linear	2.23E-04	0.0127	0.00255	daily 1-hr max
Schwartz 1997	all cardiovascular hospitalization	cardiovascular hospitalization	65+	log-linear	2.23E-04	0.0139	0.00715	daily 1-hr max
Burnett et al. (1999)	dysrhythmia hospitalization	cardiovascular hospitalization	all	log-linear	6.46E-06	0.0573	0.0229	daily mean
Burnett et al. (1999)	congestive heart failure hospitalization	cardiovascular hospitalization	all	log-linear	9.33E-06	0.034	0.0163	daily mean
Schwartz and Morris 1995	congestive heart failure hospitalization	cardiovascular hospitalization	65+	log-linear	5.82E-05	0.017	0.00468	daily 1-hr max
Schwartz and Morris 1995	ischemic heart disease hospitalization	cardiovascular hospitalization	65+	log-linear	9.96E-05	0.000467	0.000435	daily 1-hr max
Notes	 % NAAQS CO linear (1): 35 ppm linear (1)-hr average, log-linear (2): 9 ppm 24-hr average unit equivalencies assumed: % 8hr CO for [daily.mean,daily.1hr.max] 							

Table A14.2 Concentration-response functions for carbon monoxide morbidity

source	effect	MAIPA pool	ages	model	yo / alpha	beta	sigma	averaging
Burnett et al. (1997b)	all respiratory hospitalization	respiratory hospitalization	all	log-linear	2.58E-05	0.00378	0.00221	daily 12-hr mean
Burnett et al. (1999)	respiratory infection hospitalization	respiratory hospitalization	all	log-linear	1.56E-05	0.00172	0.000521	daily mean
Moolgavkar et al. (1997)	pneumonia hospitalization	respiratory hospitalization	65+	log-linear	5.30E-05	0.00169	0.00125	daily mean
Burnett et al. (1999)	congestive heart failure hospitalization	cardiovascular hospitalization	all	log-linear	9.33E-06	0.00264	0.000769	daily mean
Burnett et al. (1999)	ischemic heart disease hospitalization	cardiovascular hospitalization	all	log-linear	2.23E-05	0.00318	0.000521	daily mean
Hasselblad et al. 1992	respiratory symptoms	respiratory illness	5-9	log-linear	-5.36E-01	0.0275	0.0132	annual mean
Notes	% NAAQS NC unit equivalencies a % NO2 arith mean % logistic (3) pop eq % for Hasselblad92 % 4 for Hasselblad9 based on Mella et al -0.0295, then female	0x linear (1): 0.05 ssumed: for [daily.12hr.me uivalencies assu 2, 5-9 for 6-7 2, alpha & gende . (1980) for summ s with gamma =	53 ppm ean,daily med: er coef (- nation o 0	linear (1)-yr y.mean,ann. -0.0295 for f incidences	average mean] males) obtai s, males first	ned via per with gende	s comm by er coefficien	Abt Assoc., eqn t, gamma, =

Table A14.3 Concentration-response functions for nitrogen dioxide morbidity

Table A14.4 Concentration-response functions for sulfur dioxide morbidity

source	effect	MAIPA pool	ages	model	yo / alpha	beta	sigma	averaging
Burnett et al. (1997b)	all respiratory hospitalization	respiratory hospitalization	all	log-linear	2.58E-05	0.00446	0.00293	daily 1-hr max
Moolgavkar et al. (1997)	pneumonia hospitalization	respiratory hospitalization	65+	log-linear	5.30E-05	0.00143	0.0029	daily mean
Burnett et al. (1999)	ischemic heart disease hospitalization	cardiovascular hospitalization	all	log-linear	2.23E-05	0.00177	0.000854	daily mean
Linn et al. (1987, 1988, 1999); Roger et al. (1995)	respiratory symptoms	respiratory illness	all	log-linear	-5.65	0.00589	0.00247	peak 5-min concentration in an hour
Notes	% NAAQS SO2 linear (1): 0.14 ppm 24-hr average, log-linear (2): 0.03 ppm linear (1)-yr average unit equivalencies assumed: 24hr SO2 for [daily.1hr.max,daily.mean,peak.5min.in.hr] % for chest tightness etc., results of four chamber studies were combined % to develop the cr function; for calculation, 1.7% are exercising % asthmatics, one-third of whom are moderate asthmatics, two-thirds of % whom are mild asthmatics (see Adams et al 1995 Table 57, and US EPA % 1997 pD-39; assuming this represents a daily incidence gamma = [0,1.10]; % gamma, illness coeff for use in eqn type 5 popfrac = [0.67,0.33]; % pop frac of mild and moderate asthmatics							

source	effect	MAIPA pool	ages	model	yo/	beta	sigma	averaging
		1 - 1 - 1 - 1 - 1 - 1 - 1 - 1 - 1 - 1 -	- 11	1	alpna	0.000000	0.000000	delle O. F.
Fairley (2003)	short-term mortality	mortality	all	log-linear	0.0079	0.002828	0.002668	dally 8-hr max
Samet et al. (1997)	short-term mortality	mortality	all	log-linear	0.0079	0.000936	0.000312	daily mean
lto and Thurston (1996)	short-term mortality	mortality	all	log-linear	0.0079	0.000634	0.000251	daily 1-hr max
Kinney et al. (1995)	short-term mortality	mortality	all	log-linear	0.0079	0	0.000214	daily 1-hr max
Moolgavkar et al. (1995)	short-term mortality	mortality	all	log-linear	0.0079	0.000611	0.000216	daily mean
McDonnell et al. (1999)	chronic asthma	chronic respiratory disease	<65	log-linear	0.00219	0.0277	0.0135	annual 8-hr mean
Burnett et al. (1997)	all respiratory hospitalization	respiratory hospitalization	all	log-linear	2.58E-05	0.004985	0.001093	daily mean
Thurston et al. (1994)	all respiratory hospitalization	respiratory hospitalization	all	linear	0.00E+00	1.68E-08	9.71E-09	daily mean
Schwartz (1995)	all respiratory hospitalization	respiratory hospitalization	65+	log-linear	1.19E-04	0.002652	0.001398	daily mean
Schwartz (1995)	all respiratory hospitalization	respiratory hospitalization	65+	log-linear	1.19E-04	0.007147	0.002565	daily 12-hr mean
Burnett et al. (1999)	asthma hospitalization	respiratory hospitalization	all	log-linear	4.75E-06	0.002497	0.000718	daily mean
Burnett et al. (1999)	chronic lung disease hospitalization	respiratory hospitalization	all	log-linear	5.76E-06	0.003027	0.001105	daily mean
Moolgavkar et al. (1997)	chronic lung disease hospitalization	respiratory hospitalization	65+	log-linear	3.75E-05	0.002743	0.001699	daily mean
Schwartz (1994) Minneapolis	chronic lung disease hospitalization	respiratory hospitalization	65+	log-linear	3.05E-05	0.00549	0.00205	daily mean
Burnett et al. (1999)	pneumonia hospitalization	respiratory hospitalization	all	log-linear	1.56E-05	0.001977	0.00052	daily mean
Moolgavkar et al. (1997)	pneumonia hospitalization	respiratory hospitalization	65+	log-linear	5.30E-05	0.00397	0.00103	daily mean
Schwartz (1994) Detroit	pneumonia hospitalization	respiratory hospitalization	65+	log-linear	5.30E-05	0.003977	0.01865	daily mean
Schwartz (1994) Detroit	pneumonia hospitalization	respiratory hospitalization	65+	log-linear	5.18E-05	0.00521	0.0013	daily mean

Table A14.5 Concentration-response functions for ozone mortality and morbidity

source	effect	MAIPA pool	ages	model	yo / alpha	beta	sigma	averaging
Burnett et al. (1997)	all cardiovascular hospitalization	cardiovascular hospitalization	all	log-linear	3.81E-05	0.005313	0.00142	daily 8-hr mean
Burnett et al. (1999)	dysrhythmia hospitalization	cardiovascular hospitalization	all	log-linear	6.46E-06	0.001685	0.001034	daily mean
Cody et al. (1992)	asthma emergency room visits	chronic respiratory emergency	all	linear	0.00E+00	0.0203	0. 00717	daily 5-hr mean
Weisel et al. (1995)	asthma emergency room visits	chronic respiratory emergency	all	linear	0.00E+00	0.0443	0. 00723	daily 5-hr mean
Stieb et al (1996)	asthma emergency room visits	chronic respiratory emergency	20- 65	linear	0.00E+00	0.0035	0.0018	daily 1-hr max
Krupnick (1990)	any of 19 respiratory symptoms	respiratory illness	<65	linear	0.00E+00	0.000137	6. 97E-0 5	daily 1-hr max
Whittemore and Korn (1980)	self-reported asthma attacks	respiratory illness	20- 65	logistic	2.70E-02	0.00184	0.000714	daily 1-hr max
Ostro and Rothschild (1989)	respiratory or non- respiratory symptoms resulting in a minor restricted activity day	restricted activity	18- 65	log-linear	2.14E-02	0.0022	0.000658	2-wk mean 1-hr max
Notes	 Fairley (2003) is a reanalysis of Fairley (1999) MAIPA assumptions: hr mean substituted for [daily.1hr.max,log-linear (2)-wk.mean.1hr.max] hr mean substituted for [daily.mean,ann.8hr.mean,daily.12hr.mean,daily.5hr.mean] EPA (1999) assumptions carried through to MAIPA: McDonnell99 study applies to non-asthmatic males 27+, here used male population 30+ with multiplier in popmlt to account for nonasthmatics of (linear (1)-0.0561) where factor of 0.0561 taken from Whittemore and Korn study, = population of asthmatics of all ages, assumed to apply to males 27+ in same proportion as entire population assuming Thurston et al. study is change in daily incidence for emergency room visit studies, Cody92, Weisel95, Stieb96, 63% of estimate used to avoid double-counting hospital emissions for asthma as suggested by EPA 99; for Cody92 and Weisel95, baseline population in northern NJ = 4,436,976; for Steib, baseline population in Saint John, New Brunswick = 125,000							

Table A14.6 Concentration-re	esponse functions for particulate matter (PM2.5) mortality and
morbidity		

source	effect	MAIPA pool	ages	model	yo / alpha	beta	sigma	averaging
Krewski et al. 2000	long-term mortality	mortality	30+	log-linear	0.0084	0.005348	0.001464	annual median
Krewski et al. 2000	long-term mortality	mortality	25+	log-linear	0.0084	0.013272	0.00407	annual mean
Pope et al. 2002	long-term mortality	mortality	30+	log-linear	0.0084	0.006015	0.002257	annual mean
Fairley 2003	short-term mortality	mortality	all	log-linear	0.0079	0.003404	0.0013	annual mean
Ito 2003	short-term mortality	mortality	all	log-linear	0.0079	0.00074	0.000752	annual mean
Klemm and Mason 2003	short-term mortality	mortality	all	log-linear	0.0079	0.001193	0.000202	annual mean
Moolgavkar 2003	short-term mortality	mortality	all	log-linear	0.0079	0.000588	0.0003	annual mean
Schwartz 2003	short-term mortality	mortality	all	log-linear	0.0079	0.00137	0.0002	annual mean
Abbey et al. 1995	chronic bronchitis	chronic respiratory disease	27+	log-linear	0.00378	0.09132	0.0068	annual mean
Dockery et al. 1996	acute bronchitis	respiratory illness	8-12	logistic	0.044	0.0272	0.0171	daily mean
Thurston et al. 1994	all respiratory hospitalization	respiratory hospitalization	all	linear	0.00E+00	1.81E-08	1.79E-08	daily mean
Sheppard et al. 2003	asthma hospitalization	respiratory hospitalization	<65	log-linear	4.52E-06	0.003324	0.001045	daily mean
Burnett et al. (1999)	pneumonia hospitalization	respiratory hospitalization	all	log-linear	1.56E-05	0.003279	0.000735	daily mean
Burnett et al. (1999)	dysrhythmia hospitalization	cardiovascular hospitalization	all	log-linear	6.46E-06	0.001356	0.00091	daily mean
Schwartz and Neas 2000	lower respiratory symptoms	respiratory illness	7-14	logistic	0.0012	0.016976	0.00668	daily mean
Ostro et al. 1991	asthma exacerbation moderate or worse	respiratory illness	all	linear	0.00E+00	0.0006	0.0003	daily mean
Ostro 1987	restricted activity days	restricted activity	18- 64	log-linear	0.0177	0.0177	0.00475	daily mean
Ostro and Rothschild	minor restricted activity days	restricted activity	18- 64	log-linear	0.02137	0.00741	0.0007	daily mean
Ostro 1987	work-loss days	restricted activity	18- 64	log-linear	0.00648	0.0046	0.00036	daily mean
Notes	unit equivalencies assumed: % 24hr PM2.5 for [daily.mean.PM2.5] % wtd ann mean PM2.5 for [ann.medi.PM2.5,ann.mean.PM2.5] pop equivalencies assumed: % for Dockery96, 10-14 for 8-12 % for Schwartz94, 10-14 for 7-14 % 5 for Pope95, yo = county-level annual non-accidental deaths of persons ages % 30+ per person; given yo derived from CDC mortality rate data NEW: all causes death yo updated % 6 for Dockery93, yo = county-level annual non-accidental deaths of persons ages % 25+ per person; given yo derived from CDC mortality rate data NEW: all causes death yo updated % Dockery93, yo = county-level annual non-accidental deaths of persons ages % 25+ per person; given yo derived from CDC mortality rate data NEW: all causes death yo updated							

Bibliography

- Abbey, D.E., N. Nishino, W.F. McDonnell, R.J. Burchette, S.F. Knutsen, W.L. Beeson, and J.X. Yang. 1999. "Long-term inhalable particles and other air pollutants related to mortality in nonsmokers." American Journal of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine. 159(2). pp. 373-382.
- Abbey, D.E., B.E. Ostro, F. Petersen, and R.J. Burchette. 1995. "Chronic Respiratory Symptoms Associated with Estimated Long-Term Ambient Concentrations of Fine Particulates Less-Than 2.5 Microns in Aerodynamic Diameter (Pm2.5) and Other Air-Pollutants." Journal of Exposure Analysis and Environmental Epidemiology. 5(2). pp. 137-159.
- Abbey, D.E., F. Petersen, P.K. Mills, and W.L. Beeson. 1993. "Long-Term Ambient Concentrations of Total Suspended Particulates, Ozone, and Sulfur-Dioxide and Respiratory Symptoms in a Nonsmoking Population." Archives of Environmental Health. 48(1). pp. 33-46.
- Abeyratne, R. 2003. "Air Transport and Sustainable Development." Environmental Policy and Law. 33(3). pp. 138-143.
- ACI. 2002. "The Economic Impact of U.S. Airports." Washington, D.C. ACI-North America. 30 pgs.
- ACI. 2004. "The social and economic impact of airports in Europe." Brussels. January 2004. Prepared for ACI Europe by York Aviation, Cheshire, U.K. 84 pgs.
- Adamowicz, W. 1994. "Combining Revealed and Stated Preference Methods for Valuing Environmental Amenities." Journal of Environmental Economics and Management. 26(3). pp. 271-292.
- Adamowicz, W. and J. Deshazo. 2006. "Frontiers in stated preferences methods: An introduction." Environmental and Resource Economics. 34(1). pp. 1-6.
- AEMTG. 2004. "Guidance on the use of LTO emissions certification data for the assessment of operational impacts." CAEP/6-IP/
 5. Presented at Committee on Aviation Environmental Protection (CAEP) Sixth Meeting. Montreal. February 2-12. Working Group 3 (WG3), International Civil Aviation Organization (ICAO).
- AGARD. 1982. "Alternative Jet Engine Fuels." AGARD Advisory Report No. 181. R.B. Whyte., ed. Neuilly sur Seine, France. Propulsion and Energetics Panel, Working Group 13, North Atlantic Treaty Organization.
- Agency, U.S.E.P., EPA04. 2004. "Air Quality Criteria for Particulate Matter."
- Airports, H.C.o.t.N.C.o.t.H.I.o.L., Public health impact of large airports, H.C.o.t. Netherlands, Editor. 1999.
- Albee, W. 2002. "Why we must supplement DNL noise analysis." Wyle White Paper series. May 2002. Wyle Laboratories Acoustics Group. 6 pgs.
- Aldy, J. and K. Viscusi. 2007. "Age Differences in the Value of Statistical Life: Revealed Preference Evidence." Review of Environmental Economics and Policy. 1(2). pp. 241-260.
- Alexandre, A., J.P. Barde, and D.W. Pearce. 1980. "The practical determination of a charge for noise pollution." Journal of Transport Economics and Policy. 14(2). pp. 205-220.
- Allen, M.R., P.A. Stott, J.F.B. Mitchell, R. Schnur, and T.L. Delworth. 2000. "Quantifying the uncertainty in forecasts of anthropogenic climate change." Nature. 407(6804). pp. 617-620.
- Amar, P., R. Bornstein, H. Feldman, H. Jeffries, D. Steyn, R. Yamartino, and Y. Zhang. 2004. "Final Report Summary: December 2003 Peer Review of the CMAQ Model." August 2004.
- Amar, P., D. Chock, A. Hansen, M. Moran, A. Russell, D. Steyn, and W. Stockwell. 2004. "Final Report: Second Peer Review of the CMAQ Model." University of North Carolina.
- Anderson, B.E., W.R. Cofer, D.R. Bagwell, J.W. Barrick, C.H. Hudgins, and K.E. Brunke. 1998. "Airborne observations of aircraft aerosol emissions I: Total nonvolatile particle emission indices." Geophysical Research Letters. 25(10). pp. 1689-1692.
- Anderson, B.E., W.R. Cofer, J.D. Barrick, D.R. Bagwell, and C.H. Hudgins. 1998. "Airborne observations of aircraft aerosol emissions II: Factors controlling volatile particle production." Geophysical Research Letters. 25(10). pp. 1693-1696.
- Anderson, B.E., W.R. Cofer, J. Crawford, G.L. Gregory, S.A. Vay, K.E. Brunke, Y. Kondo, M. Koike, H. Schlager, S.L. Baughcum, E. Jensen, Y.J. Zhao, and K. Kita. 1999. "An assessment of aircraft as a source of particles to the upper troposphere." Geophysical Research Letters. 26(20). pp. 3069-3072.
- Anderson, G.S. and N.P. Miller. 2007. "Alternative analysis of sleep-awakening data." Noise Control Engineering Journal. 55(2). pp. 224-245.
- Anderson, G.S. and N.P. Miller. 2007. "Alternative Analysis of Sleep-Awakening Data." Noise Control Engineering Journal. 55(2). pp. 224-245.

- Anderson, M.R., R.C. MiakeLye, R.C. Brown, and C.E. Kolb. 1996. "Calculation of exhaust plume structure and emissions of the ER 2 aircraft in the stratosphere." Journal of Geophysical Research-Atmospheres. 101(D2). pp. 4025-4032.
- Andrea L. Kaszewski, W.R.S. 2004. "Enhancing the sustainability of airport developments." Sustainable Development. 12(4). pp. 183-199.
- Andres, R.J., D.J. Fielding, G. Marland, T.A. Boden, N. Kumar, and A.T. Kearney. 1999. "Carbon dioxide emissions from fossilfuel use, 1751-1950." Tellus Series B-Chemical and Physical Meteorology. 51(4). pp. 759-765.
- Andrew D. Basiago. 1995. "Methods of defining lsquosustainabilityrsquo." Sustainable Development. 3(3). pp. 109-119.
- Andronache, C. and W.L. Chameides. 1997. "Interactions between sulfur and soot emissions from aircraft and their role in contrail formation .1. Nucleation." Journal of Geophysical Research-Atmospheres. 102(D17). pp. 21443-21451.
- Andronache, C. and W.L. Chameides. 1998. "Interactions between sulfur and soot emissions from aircraft and their role in contrail formation 2. Development." Journal of Geophysical Research-Atmospheres. 103(D9). pp. 10787-10802.
- Angel, S., 2000, Housing policy matters: A global analysis, Oxford University Press, New York, NY.
- ANR, Airport Noise Report. "Airport Noise Outlook: 2005 will be interesting year in courts, Congress, new technology, research." 17(1). January 31, 2005. p. 4.
- ANSI. 1980. "American national standard sound level descriptors for determination of compatible land use." ANSI S3.23-1980. New York, NY. 1980. American National Standards Institute, Standards Secretariat, Acoustical Society of America.
- Antoine, N.E. and I.M. Kroo. 2004. "Aircraft optimization for minimal environmental impact." Journal of Aircraft. 41(4). pp. 790-797.
- Appleman, H. 1953. "The formation of exhaust condensation trails by jet aircraft." Bulletin of the American Meteorological Society. 34. pp. 14-20.
- Arnell, N., R. Warren, and R. Nicholls. 2007. "Response to 'The Stern Review: A Dual Critique'." World Economics. 8(1). pp. 229-231.
- Arnold, F., A. Kiendler, V. Wiedemer, S. Aberle, T. Stilp, and R. Busen. 2000. "Chemiion concentration measurements in jet engine exhaust at the ground: Implications for ion chemistry and aerosol formation in the wake of a jet aircraft." Geophysical Research Letters. 27(12). pp. 1723-1726.
- Arnold, F., J. Schneider, M.W. Klemm, J. Scheid, T. Stilp, H. Schlager, P. Schulte, and M.E. Reinhardt. 1994. Mass spectrometer measurements of SO2 and reactive nitrogen gases in exhaust plumes of commercial jet airliners at cruise altitude. Impact of Emissions from Aircraft and Spacecraft Upon the Atmosphere, Proceedings. Koln, Germany. April 18-20
- Arnold, F., T. Stilp, R. Busen, and U. Schumann. 1998. "Jet engine exhaust chemiion measurements: Implications for gaseous SO3 and H2SO4." Atmospheric Environment. 32(18). pp. 3073-3077.
- Arnold, F., K.H. Wohlfrom, M.W. Klemm, J. Schneider, K. Gollinger, U. Schumann, and R. Busen. 1998. "First gaseous ion composition measurements in the exhaust plume of a jet aircraft in flight: Implications for gaseous sulfuric acid, aerosols, and chemiions." Geophysical Research Letters. 25(12). pp. 2137-2140.
- Arrow, K. 1977. "Current developments in the theory of social choice." Social Research. 44(4). pp. 607-622.
- Arrow, K.J., 1951, Social choice and individual values, Monograph: Yale University Cowles Foundation for Research in Economics, Wiley, New York, New York.
- Ashley, K. and I. Savage. "Pricing congestion for arriving flights at Chicago O'Hare Airport." Journal of Air Transport Management. In Press, Corrected Proof.
- Astholz, D.C., K. Gl\"anzer, and J. Troe. 1979. "The spin-forbidden dissociation--recombination reaction SO[sub 3]?SO[sub 2]+O." The Journal of Chemical Physics. 70(5). pp. 2409-2413.
- ASTM. 2004. "Standard Specification for Aviation Turbine Fuels." D1655-04a. West Conshohocken, Pennsylvania. Committee D02 on Petroleum Products and Lubricants, Subcommittee D02 J0 on Aviation Fuels. 13 pgs.
- ATA. 2004. Annual Revenue and Earnings, U.S. Airlines, All Services. Data available online at: http://www.airlines.org/econ/ d.aspx?nid=1034. Last updated November 17, 2004. Air Transport Association of America, Inc. Washington, D.C. [cited December 15, 2004].
- Atkinson, R., D.L. Baulch, R.A. Cox, R.F. Hampson, J.A. Kerr, M.J. Rossi, and J. Troe. 1997. "Evaluated kinetic, photochemical and heterogeneous data for atmospheric chemistry .5. IUPAC Subcommittee on Gas Kinetic Data Evaluation for Atmospheric Chemistry." Journal of Physical and Chemical Reference Data. 26(3). pp. 521-1011.
- BAA. 2004. "Conditions of use including airport charges from 1 April 2004." COU1/V1a. London, U.K. April 6, 2004. BAA Heathrow, BAA Gatwick, BAA Stansted. 19 pgs.

- Babikian, R. 2001. "The historical fuel efficiency characteristics of regional aircraft from technological, operational, and cost perspectives." Master of Science in Aeronautics and Astronautics. Massachusetts Institute of Technology. Cambridge, MA.
- Babikian, R., S.P. Lukachko, and I.A. Waitz. 2002. "The historical fuel efficiency characteristics of regional aircraft from technological, operational, and cost perspectives." Journal of Air Transport Management. 8(6). pp. 389-400.
- Babisch, W. 2006. "Transportation noise and cardiovascular risk: updated review and synthesis of epidemiological studies indicate that the evidence has increased." Noise Health. 8(30). pp. 1-29.
- Babisch, W. 2006. "Transportation Noise and Cardiovascular Risk: Updated Review and Synthesis of Epidemiological Studies Indicate that the Evidence has Increased." Noise & Health. 8.
- Babisch, W. 2008. "State of the Evidence of an Association Between Environmental Noise and Cardiovascular Diseases." Epidemiology. 19(6). pp. S70-S70.
- Backlund, P., A. Janetos, and D. Schimel. 2008. "Effects of Climate Change on Agriculture, Land Resources, Water Resources, and Biodiversity in the United States." United States. 275p pgs.
- Bader, D.C., Covey, C., Gutowski, WJ., Held, I.M., Kunkel, K.E., Miller, R.L, Tokmakian, R.T., Zhang, M.H. 2008. "Climate Models: An Assessment of Strengths and Limitations." Final Report, Synthesis and Assessment Product 3.1. Presented at Final Report, Synthesis and Assessment Product 3.1. Washington, DC, USA. July. A report by the U.S. Climate Change Science Program and the Subcommittee on Global Change Research: U.S. Department of Energy (lead agency) Office of Biological and Environmental Research. 124 pgs.
- Ball, R.T. and J.B. Howard. 1971. Electric charge of carbon particles in flames. Thirteenth International Symposium on Combustion. Combustion Institute. Pittsburg, Pennsylvania. pp. 353-362.
- Banfi, S., C. Doll, M. Maibach, W. Rothengatter, N. Siebe, and J. Zuber. 2000. "External costs of transport: Accident, environmental, and congestion costs in Western Europe." Zürich and Karlsruhe, Germany. March 2000. Prepared by INFRAS and the Institut für Wirtschaftspolitik und Wirtschaftsforschung (IWW) Universitaet Karlsruhe.
- Baranzini, A., J. Ramirez, C. Schaerer, and P. Thalmann, eds. Hedonic methods in housing markets: pricing environmental amenities and segregation. 2008, Springer: New York. 278.
- Barrett, M. 1991. "Aircraft pollution: Environmental impacts and future solutions." ISBN-10: 2880850827
- ISBN-13: 978-2880850821. Gland, Switzerland. August 1991. Energy Resources Research for WWF International. 34 pgs.
- Bartik, T.J. 1988. "Measuring the benefits of amenity improvements in hedonic price models." Land Economics. 64(2). pp. 172-183.
- Basu, R., W.Y. Feng, and B.D. Ostro. 2008. "Characterizing temperature and mortality in nine California counties." Epidemiology. 19(1). pp. 138-145.
- Bateman, I. and K.G. Willis, 1999, Valuing environmental preferences : theory and practice of the contingent valuation method in the US, EU, and developing countries, Oxford University Press, Oxford [England]; New York.
- Bates, D.V., M. Bakeranderson, and R. Sizto. 1990. "Asthma Attack Periodicity a Study of Hospital Emergency Visits in Vancouver." Environmental Research. 51(1). pp. 51-70.
- Baughcum, S.L., S.C. Henderson, and T.G. Tritz. 1996. "Scheduled civil aircraft emission inventories for 1976 and 1984: Database development and analysis" NASA-CR-4722. Washington, D.C. June 1996. The Boeing Commercial Airplane Group, Seattle, WA. 157 pgs.
- Baughcum, S.L., D.J. Sutkus Jr., and S.C. Henderson. 1998. "Year 2015 aircraft emission scenario for scheduled air traffic." NASA CR-1998-207638 Prepared for the NASA Langley Research Center. Langley, VA. April 1996. The Boeing Commercial Airplane Group, Seattle, WA. 216 pgs.
- Baughcum, S.L., T.G. Tritz, S.C. Henderson, and D.C. Pickett. 1996. "Scheduled civil aircraft emission inventories for 1992: Database development and analysis "NASA/CR-4700, Prepared for the NASA Langley Research Center. Langley, VA. April 1996. The Boeing Commercial Airplane Group, Seattle, WA. 216 pgs.
- Bayer, P., N. Keohane, and C. Timmins. 2009. "Migration and hedonic valuation: The case of air quality." Journal of Environmental Economics and Management. In Press, Corrected Proof.
- BEA. 2003. 2003 Comprehensive Revision of the National Income and Product Accounts. In: National Income and Produce Accounts Tables, U.S. Department of Commerce. Tables available online at: http://www.bea.gov/bea/dn/nipaweb/index.asp. Last updated October 29, 2004. Washington, DC [cited November 28, 2004].
- Becker, E.E., G. Frings, and W.C. Cavage. 1980. "Exhaust emissions characteristics and variability for Pratt and Whitney JT8D-7A gas turbine engines subjected to major overhaul and repair, Final report." FAA-CT-79-53. Washington, D.C. 1980. Federal Aviation Administration. 50 pgs.

- Becker, N.I.R. and D. Lavee. 2003. "The benefits and costs of noise reduction." Journal of Environmental Planning and Management. 46(1). pp. 97-111.
- Bekki, S. 1997. "The possible role of aircraft-generated soot in the middle latitude ozone depletion." Journal of Geophysical Research-Atmospheres. 102(D9). pp. 10751-10758.
- Bekki, S. and J.A. Pyle. 1992. "2-DIMENSIONAL ASSESSMENT OF THE IMPACT OF AIRCRAFT SULFUR EMISSIONS ON THE STRATOSPHERIC SULFATE AEROSOL LAYER." Journal of Geophysical Research-Atmospheres. 97(D14). pp. 15839-15847.
- Bekki, S. and J.A. Pyle. 1993. "POTENTIAL IMPACT OF COMBINED NOX AND SOX EMISSIONS FROM FUTURE HIGH-SPEED CIVIL TRANSPORT AIRCRAFT ON STRATOSPHERIC AEROSOLS AND OZONE." Geophysical Research Letters. 20(8). pp. 723-726.
- Bekki, S., R. Toumi, J.A. Pyle, and A.E. Jones. 1991. "FUTURE AIRCRAFT AND GLOBAL OZONE." Nature. 354(6350). pp. 193-194.
- Bell, M., F. Dominici, and J.M. Samet. 2005. "A Meta-Analysis of Time-Series Studies of Ozone and Mortality with Comparison to the National Morbidity Mortality Air Pollution Study." Epidemiology with Discussion. 16(436-445).
- Bell, M.L., J.Y. Kim, and F. Dominici. 2007. "Potential confounding of particulate matter on the short-term association between ozone and mortality in multisite time-series studies." Environmental Health Perspectives. 115(11). pp. 1591-1595.
- Bell, M.L., A. McDermott, S.L. Zeger, J.M. Samet, and F. Dominici. 2004. "Ozone and short-term mortality in 95 US urban communities, 1987-2000." Jama-Journal of the American Medical Association. 292(19). pp. 2372-2378.
- Bell, M.L., J.M. Samet, and F. Dominici. 2004. "Ozone and Mortality: A Meta-Analysis of Time-Series Studies and Comparison to a Multi-City Study (The National Morbidity, Mortality, and Air Pollution Study." Johns Hopkins University, Dept. of Biostatistics Working Papers.
- Bennett, D.H., T.E. McKone, J.S. Evans, W.M. Nazaroff, M.D. Margni, O. Jolliet, and K.R. Smith. 2002. "Defining Intake Fraction." Environmental Science & Technology. 36. pp. 206A-211A.
- Bergin, M.S. and J.B. Milford. 2000. "Application of Bayesian Monte Carlo analysis to a Lagrangian photochemical air quality model." Atmospheric Environment. 34(5). pp. 781-792.
- Berkowitz, C.M., T. Jobson, G.F. Jiang, C.W. Spicer, and P.V. Doskey. 2004. "Chemical and meteorological characteristics associated with rapid increases of O-3 in Houston, Texas." Journal of Geophysical Research-Atmospheres. 109(D10). pp. 12.
- Bernard, S.M. and K.L. Ebi. 2001. "Comments on the process and product of the health impacts assessment component of the national assessment of the potential consequences of climate variability and change for the United States." Environmental Health Perspectives. 109. pp. 177-184.
- Bernard, S.M., J.M. Samet, A. Grambsch, K.L. Ebi, and I. Romieu. 2001. "The potential impacts of climate variability and change on air pollution-related health effects in the United States." Environmental Health Perspectives. 109. pp. 199-209.
- Berntsen, T.K., J.S. Fuglestvedt, M.M. Joshi, K.P. Shine, N. Stuber, M. Ponater, R. Sausen, D.A. Hauglustaine, and L. Li. 2005. "Response of climate to regional emissions of ozone precursors: sensitivities and warming potentials." Tellus Series B-Chemical and Physical Meteorology. 57(4). pp. 283-304.
- Bickel, P. and S. Schmid. 1999. "Marginal costs case study 9F: Air transport case study." Deliverable 11: Environmental marginal cost case studies. Stuttgart, Germany. August 19, 2002. UNITE, UNIfication of accounts and marginal costs for Transport Efficiency, Commissioned by the European Commission, Funded by the 5th Framework RTD Programme. 21 pgs.
- Bishop, D.E. and J.F. Mills. 1992. "Update of aircraft profile data for the integrated noise model computer program, Volume 1, Final Report." FAA-EE-91-02 and DOT-VNTSC-AA-91-4. Cambridge, MA. March 1992. Prepared for the U.S. Department of Transportation, Research and Special Programs Administration, Volpe National Transportation Systems Center by Acoustical Analysis Associates, Inc., Canoga Park, CA. 48 pgs.
- Bishop, D.E. and J.F. Mills. 1992. "Update of Aircraft Profile Data for the Integrated Noise Model Computer Program. Volume 3.
 Appendix B: Aircraft Performance Coefficients." FAA-EE-91-02 and DOT-VNTSC-AA-91-4. Cambridge, MA. March 1992.
 Prepared for the U.S. Department of Transportation, Research and Special Programs Administration, Volpe National Transportation Systems Center by Acoustical Analysis Associates, Inc., Canoga Park, CA. 50 pgs.
- Bishop, D.E. and J.F. Mills. 1992. "Update of Aircraft Profile Data for the Integrated Noise Model Computer Program. Volume 2. Appendix A: Aircraft Takeoff and Landing Profiles." FAA-EE-91-02 and DOT-VNTSC-AA-91-4. Cambridge, MA. March 1992. Prepared for the U.S. Department of Transportation, Research and Special Programs Administration, Volpe National Transportation Systems Center by Acoustical Analysis Associates, Inc., Canoga Park, CA. 759 pgs.
- Bittlinger, G. and N. Brehm. 1999. "High pressure combustion test of lean premixed prevaporized (LPP) modules in an axially staged combustor using a multisector rig." International Society for Air Breathing Engines ISOABE, ISABE International

Symposium on Air Breathing Engines, 14th, Florence, Italy; INTERNATIONAL ORGANIZATION; 5-10 Sept. 1999. ISABE Paper 99-7008.

- Bjørner, T., J. Kronbak, and T. Lundhede. 2003. "Valuation of noise reduction: Comparing results from hedonic pricing and contingent valuation." Amsterdam and Rotterdam. November 2003. AKF (Danish Institute of Governmental Research) Forlaget, 152 pgs.
- Blasing, T.J., G. Marland, and C. Broniak. 2004. Estimates of Annual Fossil-Fuel CO2 Emitted for Each State in the U.S.A. and the District of Columbia for Each Year from 1960 through 2001. In: Trends: A Compendium of Data on Global Change, Carbon Dioxide Information Analysis Center. Data available online at: http://cdiac.esd.ornl.gov/ftp/trends/emis_mon/ stateemis/percapbystate.csv. Last updated September 2004. Oak Ridge National Laboratory, U.S. Department of Energy. Oak Ridge, TN [cited November 28, 2004].
- Blitz, M.A., K.J. Hughes, and M.J. Pilling. 2003. "Determination of the high-pressure limiting rate coefficient and the enthalpy of reaction for OH+SO2." Journal of Physical Chemistry A. 107(12). pp. 1971-1978.
- Boeing, Boeing Commercial Airplanes, New Airplane Development. 1989. "High-Speed Civil Transport Study." NASA CR-4233. United States. September 1, 1989 Prepared for Langley Research Center, National Aeronautics and Space Administration. 126p pgs.
- Boeing, Boeing Commercial Airplanes, New Airplane Development. 1989. "High-Speed Civil Transport Study, Summary." NASA-CR-4234. United States. September 1, 1989 Prepared for Langley Research Center, National Aeronautics and Space Administration. 41p pgs.
- Boeing. 2005. Noise and emissions charges and operating restrictions. In: Airport noise regulation information,, Boeing Commercial Airplanes. Data available in at http://www.boeing.com/commercial/noise/flash.html. Last updated February 3. The Boeing Company. Seattle, Washington [cited February 4, 2005].
- Borins, S. 1981. "Mieszkowski and Saper's estimate of the effects of airport noise on property values: A comment." Journal of Urban Economics. 9(1). pp. 125-128.
- Boucher, O. 1999. "Air traffic may increase cirrus cloudiness." Nature. 397(6714). pp. 30-31.
- Boyle, K.J. and S. Ozdemir. 2009. "Convergent validity of attribute-based, choice questions in stated preference studies." Environmental & Resource Economics. 42(2). pp. 247-264.
- Boyle, M.A. and K.A. Kiel. 2001. "A survey of house price hedonic studies of the impact of environmental externalities." Journal of Real Estate Literature. 9(2). pp. 117-144.
- Braden, J.B. and C.D. Kolstad, eds. Measuring the demand for environmental quality. Contributions to economic analysis, ed. E.S.P. Company. Vol. 198. 1991, North-Holland: New York. 370.
- Brainard, J.S., A.P. Jones, I.J. Bateman, and A.A. Lovett. 2004. "Exposure to Environmental Urban Noise Pollution in Birmingham, UK." Urban Studies. 41(13). pp. 2581-2600.
- Brasseur, G.P., R.A. Cox, D. Hauglustaine, I. Isaksen, J. Lelieveld, D.H. Lister, R. Sausen, U. Schumann, A. Wahner, and P. Wiesen. 1998. "European scientific assessment of the atmospheric effects of aircraft emissions." Atmospheric Environment. 32(13). pp. 2329-2418.
- Brikowski, T.H., Y. Lotan, and M.S. Pearle. 2008. "Climate-related increase in the prevalence of urolithiasis in the United States." Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America. 105(28). pp. 9841-9846.
- Bristow, A.L. and M. Wardman. 2006. "Valuation of aircraft noise by time of day: A comparison of two approaches." Transport Reviews. 26(4). pp. 417-433.
- Brons, M., E. Pels, P. Nijkamp, and P. Rietveld. 2001. "Price elasticities of demand for passenger air travel: a meta-analysis." Tinbergen Institute Discussion Paper TI 2001-047/3. Amsterdam. 2001. Department of Spatial Economics, Faculty of Economics and Business Administration, Vrije Universiteit Amsterdam. 24 pgs.
- Brons, M., E. Pels, P. Nijkamp, and P. Rietveld. 2002. "Price elasticities of demand for passenger air travel: a meta-analysis." Journal of Air Transport Management. 8(3). pp. 165-175.
- Brookshire, D.S., M.A. Thayer, W.D. Schulze, and R.C. Darge. 1982. "Valuing public goods: A comparison of survey and hedonic approaches." American Economic Review. 72(1). pp. 165-177.
- Brouwer, R. 2006. "Do stated preference methods stand the test of time? A test of the stability of contingent values and models for health risks when facing an extreme event." Ecological Economics. 60(2). pp. 399-406.
- Brouwer, R., L. Brander, and P. Van Beukering. 2008. ""A convenient truth" [] [] [] air travel passengers [] [] willingness to pay to offset their CO2 emissions." Climatic Change. 90(3). pp. 299-313.

- Brouwer, R., N. Powe, R.K. Turner, I.J. Bateman, and I.H. Langford. 1999. "Public attitudes to contingent valuation and public consultation." Environmental Values. pp. 325-347.
- Brown, P.N., G.D. Byrne, and A.C. Hindmarsh. 1989. "Vode a Variable-Coefficient Ode Solver." Siam Journal on Scientific and Statistical Computing. 10(5). pp. 1038-1051.
- Brown, R.C., M.R. Anderson, R.C. MiakeLye, C.E. Kolb, A.A. Sorokin, and Y.Y. Buriko. 1996. "Aircraft exhaust sulfur emissions." Geophysical Research Letters. 23(24). pp. 3603-3606.
- Brown, R.C., R.C. Miake-Lye, M.R. Anderson, and C.E. Kolb. 1996. "Aircraft Sulfur Emissions and the Formation of Visible Contrails." Geophys. Res. Lett. 24(4). pp. 385-388.
- Brown, R.C., R.C. Miake-Lye, C.E. Kolb, S. Lukachko, I. Waitz, H. Sookhyun, and C.K. Yam. 2002. "Organic emissions and aerosol formation in aircraft wakes." Abstracts of Papers of the American Chemical Society. 224. pp. U324-U324.
- Brown, R.C., R.C. Miake-Lye, S.P. Lukachko, and I.A. Waitz. 2002. "Heterogeneous reactions in aircraft gas turbine engines." Geophysical Research Letters. 29(10).
- Brown, R.C., R.C. MiakeLye, M.R. Anderson, and C.E. Kolb. 1996. "Effect of aircraft exhaust sulfur emissions on near field plume aerosols." Geophysical Research Letters. 23(24). pp. 3607-3610.
- Brown, R.C., R.C. MiakeLye, M.R. Anderson, and C.E. Kolb. 1997. "Aircraft sulfur emissions and the formation of visible contrails." Geophysical Research Letters. 24(4). pp. 385-388.
- Brown, R.C., R.C. MiakeLye, M.R. Anderson, C.E. Kolb, and T.J. Resch. 1996. "Aerosol dynamics in near-field aircraft plumes." Journal of Geophysical Research-Atmospheres. 101(D17). pp. 22939-22953.
- Brueckner, J.K. and R. Girvin. 2008. "Airport noise regulation, airline service quality, and social welfare." Transportation Research Part B: Methodological. 42(1). pp. 19-37.
- Brundish, K.D., A.R. Clague, C.W. Wilson, R.C. Miake-Lye, R.C. Brown, J. Wormhoudt, S.P. Lukachko, A.T. Chobot, C.K. Yam, I.A. Waitz, D.E. Hagen, O. Schmid, and P.D. Whitefield. 2007. "Evolution of Carbonaceous aerosol and aerosol precursor emissions through a jet engine." Journal of Propulsion and Power. 23(5). pp. 959-970.
- Bullen, R. and A. Hede. 1983. "Time-of-day corrections in measures of aircraft noise exposure." The Journal of the Acoustical Society of America. 73(5). pp. 1624-1630.
- Bullinger, M., S. Hygge, G.W. Evans, M. Meis, and S. Von Mackensen. 1999. "The psychological cost of aircraft noise for children." Zentralblatt Fur Hygiene Und Umweltmedizin. 202(2-4). pp. 127-138.
- Burkholder, J.B., A. Mellouki, R. Talukdar, and A.R. Ravishankara. 1992. "Rate Coefficients for the Reaction of Oh with Hono between 298-K and 373-K." International Journal of Chemical Kinetics. 24(8), pp. 711-725.
- Burnett, R.T., S. Cakmak, J.R. Brook, and D. Krewski. 1997. "The role of particulate size and chemistry in the association between summertime ambient air pollution and hospitalization for cardiorespiratory diseases." Environmental Health Perspectives. 105(6). pp. 614-620.
- Burnett, R.T., M. Smith-Doiron, D. Stieb, S. Cakmak, and J.R. Brook. 1999. "Effects of particulate and gaseous air pollution on cardiorespiratory hospitalizations." Archives of Environmental Health. 54(2). pp. 130-139.
- Burnett, R.T., M. Smith-Doiron, D. Stieb, M.E. Raizenne, J.R. Brook, R.E. Dales, J.A. Leech, S. Cakmak, and D. Krewski. 2001. "Association between ozone and hospitalization for acute respiratory diseases in children less than 2 years of age." American Journal of Epidemiology. 153(5). pp. 444-452.
- Burnett, R.T., M. Smith-Doiron, D. Stieb, M.E. Raizenne, J.R. Brook, R.E. Dales, J.A. Leech, S. Cakmak, and D. Krewski. 2001. "Association between Ozone and Hospitalization for Acute Respiratory Disease in Children less than 2 Years of Age." American Journal of Epidemiology. 153. pp. 444-452.
- Busen, R. and U. Schumann. 1995. "Visible Contrail Formation from Fuels with Different Sulfur Contents." Geophysical Research Letters. 22(11). pp. 1357-1360.
- Bushnell, D.M. 1998. "The 1998 AIAA Dryden Lecture: Frontiers of the 'responsible imaginable' in (civilian) aeronautics." AIAA Paper 1998-0001. Presented at 36th Aerospace Sciences Meeting and Exhibit. Reno, NV. January 12-15, 1998. American Institute of Aeronautics and Astronautics. 20 pgs.
- Button, K., Aviation and the environment: A general perspective, in Appendix 1 in Environmental research beyond 2000: Findings workshop report, F.A.A. Office of Environment and Energy, Editor. 1998: Washington, D.C. p. 14.
- Button, K. 2003. "The potential of meta-analysis and value transfers as part of airport environmental appraisal." Journal of Air Transport Management. 9(3). pp. 167-176.

- Button, K.J. and P. Nijkamp. 1998. "The realities of using 'benefit transfers' in transportation decision-making." Tinbergen Institute Discussion Paper 98-062/3. June 1988. 18 pp pgs.
- Byrne, G.D. and A.M. Dean. 1993. "The Numerical-Solution of Some Kinetics Models with Vode and Chemkin-li." Computers & Chemistry. 17(3). pp. 297-302.
- Byun, D.W. and J.K.S. Ching. eds. Science Algorithms of the EPA Models-3 Community Multiscale Air Quality (CMAQ) Modeling System. 1999, National Exposure Research Laboratory: Research Triangle Park, NC.
- CAB. 1982. "Area Equivalent Method: A quick procedure for determining noise impact at civilian airports." Washington, D.C. 1982. Civil Aeronautics Board. 92p pgs.
- CAEP, Agenda Item 3, Review of proposals relating to noise, including the amendment of Annex 16, Volume 1: MAGENTA, Description and application to the assessment of noise policy scenarios, in CAEP Fifth Meeting. 2001, CAEP/5-IP/21, Presented by the MAGENTA Focal Point, Committee on Aviation Environmental Protection: Montreal. p. 38.
- CAEP. 2004. "Agenda Item 5. Operations, Working Group 2: Progress developing analytical tools to address interdependencies among environmental impacts." CAEP-SG20041-WP/7. Presented at CAEP Steering Group Meeting. Bonn. November 15-19, 2004. Presented by the CAEP Member from the United States. 4 pgs.
- CAEP. 2004. "Agenda Item 5. Operations, Working Group 2: CAEP7 modelling and analysis requirements." CAEP-SG20041_WP/11. Presented at CAEP Steering Group Meeting. Bonn. Nobember 15-19, 2004. Presented by the Working Group 2 Rapporteurs. 9 pgs.
- Calvert, J.W. 2006. "Revisions to smoke number data in emissions databank." Presented at Gas Turbine Technologies. February 2006. QinetiQ.
- Cameron, T. 1994. "Estimation using contingent valuation data from a "dichotomous choice with follow-up" questionnaire." Journal of Environmental Economics and Management. 27(3). pp. 218-234.
- Cameron, T.A. and M.D. James. 1987. "Efficient estimation methods for "closed-ended" contingent valuation surveys." The Review of Economics and Statistics. 69(2). pp. 269-276.
- Cantillo, V., B. Heydecker, and J.d.D. Ortúzar. 2006. "A discrete choice model incorporating thresholds for perception in attribute values." Transportation Research Part B: Methodological. 40(9). pp. 807-825.
- Carlsson, F. 2002. "Environmental charges in airline markets." Transportation Research Part D: Transport and Environment. 7(2). pp. 137-153.
- Carlsson, F. 2003. "Airport marginal cost pricing: Discussion and application to Swedish Airports." International Journal of Transport Economics. 30. Also published as Working Paper No. 85, Scandinavian Working Papers in Economics, December 20, 2002.
- Carlsson, F. and H. Hammar. 2002. "Incentive-based regulation of CO2 emissions from international aviation." Journal of Air Transport Management. 8(6). pp. 365-372.
- Carlsson, F. and P. Martinsson. 2008. "How much is too much? An investigation of the effect of the number of choice sets, context dependence and the choice of bid vectors in choice experiments." Environmental and Resource Economics. 40(2). pp. 165-176.
- Carr, F., A. Evans, E. Feron, and J.-P. Clarke. 2002. "Software tools to support research on airport departure planning." Presented at Digital Avionics Systems Conference. Irvine, CA.
- Carslaw, D.C., S.D. Beevers, K. Ropkins, and M.C. Bell. 2006. "Detecting and quantifying aircraft and other on-airport contributions to ambient nitrogen oxides in the vicinity of a large international airport." Atmospheric Environment. 40(28). pp. 5424-5434.
- Carson, R., N. Flores, and N. Meade. 2001. "Contingent valuation: Controversies and evidence." Environmental and Resource Economics. 19(2). pp. 173-210.
- Carson, R.T., 2007, The stated preference approach to environmental valuation, The international library of environmental economics and policy, Ashgate, Aldershot.
- Carson, R.T., N.E. Flores, K.M. Martin, and J.L. Wright. 1996. "Contingent valuation and revealed preference methodologies: Comparing the estimates for quasi-public goods." Land Economics. 72(1). pp. 80-99.
- CCSP. 2009. "Atmospheric Aerosol Properties and Impacts on Climate." Final Report, Synthesis and Assessment Product 2.3. R.A.K. Mian Chin, and Stephen E. Schwartz, ed. Presented at Final Report, Synthesis and Assessment Product 2.3. Washington, DC, USA. January. A report by the U.S. Climate Change Science Program and the Subcommittee on Global Change Research: National Aeronautics and Space Administration (lead agency). 149 pgs.

- Celikel, A., J.-C. Hustache, I. De Lepiany, K. Martin, and A. Melrose. 2005. "Environmental tradeoffs assessment around airports." Presented at 6th USA/Europe ATM 2005 R&D Seminar. Baltimore, MD. June 27-30, 2005. U.S. Federal Aviation Administration and EUROCONTROL. 11 pgs.
- Champ, P.A., K.J. Boyle, and T.C. Brown, eds. A primer on nonmarket valuation. Economics of non-market goods and resources ; v. 3. 2003, Kluwer Academic Publishers: Dordrecht ; Boston. 576.
- Champagne, D.L. 1971. "Standard measurement of aircraft gas turbine engine exhaust smoke." ASME 71-GT-88. New York, New York. 1971. American Society of Mechanical Engineers. 11 pgs.
- Changnon, S.A. 1981. "Midwestern Cloud, Sunshine and Temperature Trends since 1901 Possible Evidence of Jet Contrail Effects." Journal of Applied Meteorology. 20(5). pp. 496-508.
- Charalampidis, A., K. Katsouyanni, E. Cadum, G. Pershagen, W. Babisch, and L. Jarup. 2008. Can exposure to noise affect the 24 hour blood pressure profile? Results from the Hyena project. pp. ISEE-858.
- Chattopadhyay, S. 1999. "Estimating the Demand for Air Quality: New Evidence Based on the Chicago Housing Market." Land Economics. 75(1). pp. 22-38.
- Chay, K.Y. and M. Greenstone. 2005. "Does Air Quality Matter? Evidence from the Housing Market." Journal of Political Economy. 113(2). pp. 376-424.
- Chen, C. and P.L. Mokhtarian. 1999. "A review and discussion of literature on travel time and money expenditures." UCD-ITS-RR-99-25. Institute of Transportation Studies, ed. Davis, CA. November 1999. University of California Davis. 64 pgs.
- Chen, C. and T. Wu. 2009. "Exploring passenger preferences in airline service attributes: A note." Journal of Air Transport Management. 15(1). pp. 52-53.
- Chen, L., B.L. Jennison, W. Yang, and S.T. Omaye. 2000. "Elementary school absenteeism and air pollution." Inhalation Toxicology. 12(11). pp. 997-1016.
- Chiappetta, L. and M.B. Colket, III. 1984. "DESIGN CONSIDERATIONS FOR AERODYNAMICALLY QUENCHING GAS SAMPLING PROBES." Journal of Heat Transfer, Transactions ASME. 106(2). pp. 460-466.

Chichilnisky, G. 1996. "An axiomatic approach to sustainable development." Social Choice and Welfare. 13(2), pp. 231-257.

- Chobot, A.T. 2000. "Modeling the evolution of trace species in the post-combustor flow path of gas turbine engines." Master of Science in Mechanical Engineering. Massachusetts Institute of Technology. Cambridge, MA.
- Chris, H. 2006. "The marginal impact of CO2 from PAGE2002: An integrated assessment model incorporating the IPCC's five reasons for concern." Integrated Assessment; Vol 6, No 1 (2006).
- Cifuentes, L.A. and L.B. Lave. 1993. "Economic Valuation of Air-Pollution Abatement Benefits from Health-Effects." Annual Review of Energy and the Environment. 18. pp. 319-342.
- Cipra, B. 2000. "STATISTICS: Revealing Uncertainties in Computer Models." Science. 287(5455). pp. 960-961.

Clapp, J. 2004. "A semiparametric method for estimating local house price indices." Real Estate Economics. 32(1). pp. 127-160.

- Clapp, J. 2004. "A semiparametric method for estimating local house price indices." Real Estate Economics. 32(1). pp. 127-160.
- Clark, C., R. Martin, E. van Kempen, T. Alfred, J. Head, H.W. Davies, M.M. Haines, I.L. Barrio, M. Matheson, and S.A. Stansfeld. 2006. "Exposure-effect relations between aircraft and road traffic noise exposure at school and reading comprehension The RANCH project." American Journal of Epidemiology. 163(1). pp. 27-37.
- Clark, C., R. Martin, E. van Kempen, T. Alfred, J. Head, H.W. Davies, M.M. Haines, I.L. Barrio, M. Matheson, and S.A. Stansfeld. 2006. "Exposure-Effect Relations between Aircraft and Road Traffic Noise Exposure at School and Reading Comprehension: The RANCH Project." American Journal of Epidemiology. 163(1). pp. 27-37.
- Clark, D. 2006. "Externality effects on residential property values: The example of noise disamenities." Growth and change. 37(3). pp. 460-488.
- Clement, C. 1999. "Gas-to-particle conversion in the atmosphere: I. Evidence from empirical atmospheric aerosols." Atmospheric Environment. 33(3). pp. 475-487.
- Cline, W.R., 1992, The economics of global warming, Institute for International Economics, Washington, D.C.
- Cody, R.P., C.P. Weisel, G. Birnbaum, and P.J. Lioy. 1992. "The Effect of Ozone Associated with Summertime Photochemical Smog on the Frequency of Asthma Visits to Hospital Emergency Departments." Environmental Research. 58(2). pp. 184-194.
- Cohen, J. and C. Coughlin. 2005. "Airport-related noise, proximity, and housing prices in Atlanta." Social Science Research Network Working Paper Series.

- Cohen, J.P. and C.M. Paul. 2007. "The impacts of transportation infrastructure on property values: A higher-order spatial econometrics approach." Journal of Regional Science. 47(3). pp. 457-478.
- Colket Iii, M.B., L. Chiappetta, R.N. Guile, M.F. Zabielski, and D.J. Seery. 1982. "Internal aerodynamics of gas sampling probes." Combustion and Flame. 44(1-3). pp. 3-14.
- Colket, M.B., R.J. Hall, and S.D. Stouffer. 2004. "Modeling soot formation in a stirred reactor." ASME GT2004-54001. Presented at ASME Turbo Expo 2004. Vienna, Austria. June 14-17, 2004. American Society of Mechanical Engineers. 6 pgs.
- Comstock, J., R.-F. Lin, D. Starr, and P. Yang. 2008. "Understanding ice supersaturation, particle growth, and number concentration in cirrus clouds." Journal of Geophysical Research. 113(D23).
- Connor, T.L. and D.N. Fortescue. 1984. "Area Equivalent Method VISICALC (trade name)." FAA-EE-84-8. Washington, D.C. . February 1984. Office of Environment and Energy, Federal Aviation Administration, U.S. Department of Transportation. 34 pgs.
- Considine, D.B., A.R. Douglass, and C.H. Jackman. 1995. "SENSITIVITY OF 2-DIMENSIONAL MODEL PREDICTIONS OF OZONE RESPONSE TO STRATOSPHERIC AIRCRAFT - AN UPDATE." Journal of Geophysical Research-Atmospheres. 100(D2). pp. 3075-3090.
- Cousineau, J.M., R. Lacroix, and A.M. Girard. 1992. "OCCUPATIONAL HAZARD AND WAGE COMPENSATING DIFFERENTIALS." Review of Economics and Statistics. 74(1). pp. 166-169.
- Cox, S.J., W.C. Wang, and S.E. Schwartz. 1995. "Climate Response to Radiative Forcings by Sulfate Aerosols and Greenhouse Gases." Geophysical Research Letters. 22(18). pp. 2509-2512.
- Crecine, J.P. and M. Association for Public Policy Analysis and, 1981, Policy and applied research, Research in public policy analysis and management ; v. 2, JAI Press, Greenwich, Conn.
- Crocker, T.D. and R.L. Horst. 1981. "Hours of Work, Labor Productivity, and Environmental-Conditions a Case-Study." Review of Economics and Statistics. 63(3). pp. 361-368.
- Cropper, M.L. and A.J. Krupnick. 1990. "The Social Costs of Chronic Heart and Lung Disease." Discussion Paper QE 89-16-REV. Presented at Resources for the Future. Washington, DC.
- Cubasch, U., K. Hasselmann, H. Hock, E. Maierreimer, U. Mikolajewicz, B.D. Santer, and R. Sausen. 1992. "Time-Dependent Greenhouse Warming Computations with a Coupled Ocean-Atmosphere Model." Climate Dynamics. 8(2). pp. 55-69.
- Cullis, C.F. and M.F.R. Mulcahy. 1972. "The kinetics of combustion of gaseous sulphur compounds." Combustion and Flame. 18(2). pp. 225-292.
- Cunhaesa, M. and M. Duclasoares. 1999. "Specification tests for mixed demand systems with an emphasis on combining contingent valuation and revealed data." Journal of Environmental Economics and Management. 38(2). pp. 215-233.
- Curtius, J., F. Arnold, and P. Schulte. 2002. "Sulfuric acid measurements in the exhaust plume of a jet aircraft in flight: Implications for the sulfuric acid formation efficiency." Geophysical Research Letters. 29(7).
- Curtius, J., B. Sierau, F. Arnold, R. Baumann, R. Busen, P. Schulte, and U. Schumann. 1998. "First direct sulfuric acid detection in the exhaust plume of a jet aircraft in flight." Geophysical Research Letters. 25(6). pp. 923-926.
- Dab, W., S. Medina, P. Quenel, Y. LeMoullec, A. LeTertre, B. Thelot, C. Monteil, P. Lameloise, P. Pirard, I. Momas, R. Ferry, and B. Festy. 1996. "Short term respiratory health effects of ambient air pollution: Results of the APHEA project in Paris." Journal of Epidemiology and Community Health. 50. pp. S42-S46.
- Dakhel, P.M., S.P. Lukachko, I.A. Waitz, R.C. Brown, and R.C. Miake-Lye. 2005. "Post-combustion evolution of soot properties in an aircraft engine." GT2005-69113. Presented at ASME Turbo Expo 2005. Reno-Tahoe, Nevada. June 6-9, 2005. American Society of Mechanical Engineers.
- Dakhel, P.M., S.P. Lukachko, I.A. Waitz, R.C. Miake-Lye, and R.C. Brown. 2007. "Postcombustion evolution of soot properties in an aircraft engine." Journal of Propulsion and Power. 23(5). pp. 942-948.
- Daley, B. 2008. "Is air transport an effective tool for sustainable development?" Sustainable Development. early view, not yet released.
- Dalton III, W.N. 2001. "Impact of noise reduction technology from the advanced subsonic technology program on the certification noise levels of a business jet." EDR 19677. Indianapolis, Indiana. September 2001. Prepared by the Rolls-Royce Corporation for the National Aeronautics and Space Administration. 35 pgs.
- Daly, H. 2003. Ecological Economics: The Concept of Scale and Its Relation to Allocation, Distribution, and Uneconomic Growth. Canadian Society for Ecological Economics (CANSEE) Conference. Article reproduced in Articles about environment, consumption, economy and poverty for the Global Conscience Conference, May 23-24, 2004. Edited by The Danish Ecological Council, May 2004. Jasper, Alberta, Canada. October 16-19. pp. 23-34.

- Dameris, M., V. Grewe, I. Kohler, R. Sausen, C. Bruhl, J.U. Grooss, and B. Steil. 1998. "Impact of aircraft NOx emissions on tropospheric and stratospheric ozone. Part II: 3-D model results." Atmospheric Environment. 32(18). pp. 3185-3199.
- Daniels, M.J., F. Dominici, S.L. Zeger, and J.M. Samet. 2004. "The National Morbidity, Mortality, and Air Pollution Study, Part 3: PM10 Concentration-Response Curves and Thresholds for the 20 Largest US Cities." Research Report Number 94, Part III. Cambridge, MA. May 2004. Health Effects Institute. 40 pgs.
- Danilin, M.Y., D.W. Fahey, U. Schumann, M.J. Prather, J.E. Penner, M.K.W. Ko, D.K. Weisenstein, C.H. Jackman, G. Pitari, I. Kohler, R. Sausen, C.J. Weaver, A.R. Douglass, P.S. Connell, D.E. Kinnison, F.J. Dentener, E.L. Fleming, T.K. Berntsen, I.S.A. Isaksen, J.M. Haywood, and B. Karcher. 1998. "Aviation fuel tracer simulation: Model intercomparison and implications." Geophysical Research Letters. 25(21). pp. 3947-3950.
- Danilin, M.Y., M.K.W. Ko, and D.K. Weisenstein. 2001. "Global implications of ozone loss in a space shuttle wake." Journal of Geophysical Research-Atmospheres. 106(D4). pp. 3591-3601.
- Danilin, M.Y., J.M. Rodriguez, M.K.W. Ko, D.K. Weisenstein, R.C. Brown, R.C. MiakeLye, and M.R. Anderson. 1997. "Aerosol particle evolution in an aircraft wake: Implications for the high-speed civil transport fleet impact on ozone." Journal of Geophysical Research-Atmospheres. 102(D17). pp. 21453-21463.
- Danilin, M.Y., R.L. Shia, M.K.W. Ko, D.K. Weisenstein, N.D. Sze, J.J. Lamb, T.W. Smith, P.D. Lohn, and M.J. Prather. 2001. "Global stratospheric effects of the alumina emissions by solid-fueled rocket motors." Journal of Geophysical Research-Atmospheres. 106(D12). pp. 12727-12738.
- Davidson, K., Endpoints and Studies Used to Calculate Total Monetized Health Benefits, I. Waitz, Editor. 2007.
- Dawes, W.N. 1992. "The practical application of solution-adaptation to the numerical simulation of complex turbomachinery problems." Progress in Aerospace Sciences. 29(3). pp. 193-269.
- Dawes, W.N. 1992. "The Simulation of 3-Dimensional Viscous-Flow in Turbomachinery Geometries Using a Solution-Adaptive Unstructured Mesh Methodology." Journal of Turbomachinery-Transactions of the Asme. 114(3). pp. 528-537.
- De Champlain, A., D. Krestchmer, J. Tsogo, and G.F. Pearce. 1995. "Prediction of Soot Emissions in Gas Turbine Combustors, ISABE 95-7115." ISABE 95-7115.
- DeChamplain, A., D. Kretschmer, J. Tsogo, and G.F. Pearce. 1997. "Prediction of soot emissions in gas-turbine combustors." Journal of Propulsion and Power. 13(1). pp. 117-122.
- DeGrand, J.Q., A.M. Carleton, D.J. Travis, and P.J. Lamb. 2000. "A satellite-based climatic description of jet aircraft contrails and associations with atmospheric conditions, 1977-79." Journal of Applied Meteorology. 39(9). pp. 1434-1459.
- Dekkers, J. and W. van der Straaten. 2008. "Monetary valuation of aircraft noise: A hedonic analysis around Amsterdam airport." Tinbergen Insitute Discussion Paper TI 2008-064/3. Amsterdam and Rotterdam. 2008. Tinbergen Insitute. 41 pgs.
- deLeon, A.P., H.R. Anderson, J.M. Bland, D.P. Strachan, and J. Bower. 1996. "Effects of air pollution on daily hospital admissions for respiratory disease in London between 1987-88 and 1991-92." Journal of Epidemiology and Community Health. 50. pp. S63-S70.
- Delucchi, M.A., J.J. Murphy, and D.R. McCubbin. 2002. "The health and visibility cost of air pollution: a comparison of estimation methods." Journal of Environmental Management. 64(2). pp. 139-152.
- Derwent, R.G., W.J. Collins, C.E. Johnson, and D.S. Stevenson. 2001. "Transient behaviour of tropospheric ozone precursors in a global 3-D CTM and their indirect greenhouse effects." Climatic Change. 49(4). pp. 463-487.
- Derwent, R.G., WJ. Collins, C.E. Johnson, and D.S. Stevenson. 2001. "Transient Behaviour of Tropospheric Ozone in a Global 3-D CTM and Their Direct Greenhouse Effects." Climatic Change. 49. pp. 463â [A]" 487.
- Deshazo, J. 2002. "Designing choice sets for stated preference methods: The effects of complexity on choice consistency." Journal of Environmental Economics and Management. 44(1). pp. 123-143.
- DeShazo, J., T. Cameron, and M. Saenz. 2009. "The effect of consumers' real-world choice sets on inferences from stated preference surveys." Environmental and Resource Economics. 42(3). pp. 319-343.
- Detwiler, A.G. and A. Jackson. 2002. "Contrail formation and propulsion efficiency." Journal of Aircraft. 39(4). pp. 638-644.
- DfT. 1998. "A new deal for transport: Better for everyone." London, U.K. U.K. government White Paper on the future of transport, Originally published by U.K. Department for Environment, Transport, and the Regions. 152 pgs.
- DfT. 2000. "Valuing the external costs of aviation." London. December 12, 2000. 6 pgs.
- DfT. 2003. "The future of air transport." White Paper. London. December 2003. Presented to Parliament by the Secretary of State for Transport by command of Her Majesty. 180 pgs.
- DfT and HMT. 2003. "Aviation and the environment: using economic instruments." London. March 14, 2003. 34 pgs.

- Dickie, M. and S. Gerking. 1991. "Willingness to Pay for ozone control: Inferences from the demand for medical care." Journal of Environmental Economics and Management. 21(1). pp. 1-16.
- Dietz, S., C. Hope, N. Sterv, and D. Zevghelis. 2007. "Reflections on the Stern Review (1): a robust case for strong action to reduce the risks of climate change." World Economics. 8(1). pp. 121-168.
- Dietz, S. and N. Stern. 2008. "Why Economic Analysis Supports Strong Action on Climate Change: A Response to the Stern Review's Critics." Review of environmental economics and policy. 2(1). pp. 94-113.
- Dietz, S. and N. Stern. 2008. "Why Economic Analysis Supports Strong Action on Climate Change: A Response to the Stern Review's Critics." Review of Environmental Economics and Policy. 2(1). pp. 94-113.
- Dillingham, A.E. 1985. "THE INFLUENCE OF RISK VARIABLE DEFINITION ON VALUE-OF-LIFE ESTIMATES." Economic Inquiry. 24(2). pp. 277-294.
- Dimakopoulou, K., A. Charalampidis, F. Vigna-Taglianti, G. Bluhm, D. Houthuijs, and M. Dudley. 2008. Acute effects of night time noise exposure on blood pressure in populations living near airports. ISEE 19th Annual Conference. Mexico City, Mexico. September 5-9, 2007. ISEE-857
- Dings, J.M.W., W.J. Dijkestra, and R.C.N. Wit. 1997. "European aviation emissions; trends and attainable reductions." Delft, The Netherlands. December 1997. Report of the background study prepared by CE Delft under the commission of the Netherlands Society for Nature and Environment in close cooperation with the European Federation for Transport and Environment. 41 pp pgs.
- Dings, J.M.W., R.C.N. Wit, B.A. Leurs, M.D. Davidson, and W. Fransen. 2002. "External costs of aviation: Background report." 02.7700.04. Delft, The Netherlands. February 2000. Prepared by CE Delft for the German Umweltbundesamt. 91 pgs.
- Dings, J.M.W., R.C.N. Wit, B.A. Leurs, M.D. Davidson, and W. Fransen. 2002. "External costs of aviation: Main report." 02,7700.04. Delft, The Netherlands. February 2000. Prepared by CE Delft for the German Umweltbundesamt. 15 pgs.
- DKRZ. 1993. "The ECHAM3 Atmospheric General Circulation Model." Report No. 6, Revision 2. DKRZ Modellbetreuungsgruppe, ed. Hamburg. September 1993. 195 pgs.
- Dockery, D.W., J. Cunningham, A.I. Damokosh, L.M. Neas, J.D. Spengler, P. Koutrakis, J.H. Ware, M. Raizenne, and F.E. Speizer. 1996. "Health effects of acid aerosols on North American children: Respiratory symptoms." Environmental Health Perspectives. 104(5). pp. 500-505.
- Dockery, D.W., C.A. Pope, X.P. Xu, J.D. Spengler, J.H. Ware, M.E. Fay, B.G. Ferris, and F.E. Speizer. 1993. "An Association between Air-Pollution and Mortality in 6 United-States Cities." New England Journal of Medicine. 329(24). pp. 1753-1759.
- Dockery, D.W., F.E. Speizer, D.O. Stram, J.H. Ware, J.D. Spengler, and B.G. Ferris. 1989. "Effects of Inhalable Particles on Respiratory Health of Children." American Review of Respiratory Disease. 139(3). pp. 587-594.
- Dodge, M.C. 2000. "Chemical oxidant mechanisms for air quality modeling: critical review." Atmospheric Environment. 34(12-14). pp. 2103-2130.
- Dodgson, J.S. and N. Topham. 1990. "Valuing residential properties with the hedonic method: A comparison with the results of professional valuations." Housing Studies. 5(3). pp. 209-213.
- Dolan, P., R. Metcalfe, V. Munro, and M.C. Christensen. 2008. "Valuing lives and life years: Anomalies, implications, and an alternative." Health Economics, Policy and Law. 3(3). pp. 277-300.
- Dominici, F., A. Zanobetti, S.L. Zeger, J. Schwartz, and J.M. Samet. 2005. "The National Morbidity, Mortality, and Air Pollution Study, Part 4: Hierarchical Bivariate Time-Series Models—A Combined Analysis of PM10 Effects on Hospitalization and Mortality." Research Report Number 94, Part IV. Cambridge, MA. September 2005. Health Effects Institute. 36 pgs.
- Dompere, K. 1997. "Cost-benefit analysis, benefit accounting and fuzzy decisions. (I) Theory." Fuzzy Sets and Systems. 92(3). pp. 275-287.
- Dopelheuer, A. 1997. "Berechnung der Produkte unvollstandinger Verbrennung aus Luftfahrttriebwerken."
- Döpelheuer, A. 2001. "Quantities, characteristics and reduction potentials of aircraft engine emissions." SAE 2001-01-3008. Presented at World Aviation Congress & Exposition. Seattle, WA. September 2001. Society of Automotive Engineers. 10 pgs.
- Dopelheuer, A. and M. Lecht. 1999. Influence of Engine Performance on Emission Characteristics. Symposium on Gas Turbine Engine Combustion, Emissions and Alternative Fuels. Lisbon, Portugal. October 12-16, 1998
- Döpelheuer, A. and M. Lecht. 1999. Influence of engine performance on emission characteristics, Paper 20 in Gas Turbine Engine Combustion, Emissions and Alternative Fuels. Applied Vehicle Technology Panel (AVT) Symposium. NATO Research and Technology Organization. Lisbon, Portugal. October 16-19,1998. RTO Meeting Proceedings 14

- Douglass, A.R., M.A. Carroll, W.B. Demore, J.R. Holton, and I.S.A. Isaksen. 1991. "Atmospheric Effects of Stratospheric Aircraft: A Current Consensus." NASA-RP-1251. Washington, D.C. 1991. National Aeronautics and Space Administration. 46 pgs.
- DRI•WEFA, Inc., 2002. "The National Economic Impact of Civil Aviation." In collaboration with the Campbell-Hill Aviation Group, Inc. Waltham, MA. July 2002. Global Insight. 63 pgs.
- DSTAN. 2004. "Turbine Fuel, Aviation Kerosine Type, Jet A-1." Defence Standard (DEF STAN) 91-91 Issue 4, also NATO Code F-35 and Joint Service Designation AVTUR. Glasgow. January 30, 2004, Reprinted from June 14, 2002 to incorporate Amendement 1. Procurement Development Group (PDG), Defence Procurement Agency (DPA), U.K. Ministry of Defence. 26 pgs.
- Duarte, C. 2008. "The noise perception impact on residential property values: An analysis for Barcelona." Revista de la Construccion. 7(1). pp. 4-19.
- DuBois, D. 2001. "Completeness of the smoke number data in the ICAO aircraft engine exhaust emissions data bank, Discussion Paper." Seattle, WA. November 5. The Boeing Company.
- DuBois, D. and e. al., DuBois06. 2006. "Fuel Flow Method for Estimating Aircraft Emissions." Presented at SAE Technical Papers. Warrendale, Pa. Society of Automotive Engineers, Inc.
- Dusseldorp, A., H. Kruize, B. Brunekreef, P. Hofschreuder, G. Demeer, and A.B. Vanoudvorst. 1995. "Associations of Pm10 and Airborne Iron with Respiratory Health of Adults Living near a Steel Factory." American Journal of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine. 152(6). pp. 1932-1939.
- EAC-HC. 2004. "Pre-Budget Report 2003: Aviation Follow-up, Third Report Session of 2003-04, Volume 1." HC 233-1. London. Ordered by the House of Commons to be printed Wednesday 10 March 2004. 36 pgs.
- Eagan, M.E. 2007. "Using supplemental metrics to communicate aircraft noise effects (in the special issue Environmental Issues 2007)." Transportation Research Record. 2011(1). pp. 175-183.
- Earnhart, D. 2001. "Combining revealed and stated preference methods to value environmental amenities at residential locations." Land Economics. 77(1). pp. 12-29.
- EAtHLG. 1999. "Calculating transport environmental costs." Final Report, Prepared by A. Ricci and R. Friedrich. Brussels. April 30, 1999. Directorate General for Energy and Transport, European Commission. 29 pgs.
- EC. 1996. "Future noise policy: European Commission Green Paper." COM(96) 540. Brussels. April 11, 1996. European Commission. 35 pgs.
- EC. 1998. "Fair payment for infrastructure use: a phased approach to a common infrastructure charging network in the EU." White Paper, COM (1998) 466 final. Brussels. July 22, 1998. 51 pgs.
- EC. 1999. "Air transport and the environment: towards meeting the challenges of sustainable development." COM (1999) 640 final. Brussels. December 1, 1999. Communication from the Commission to the Council, the European Parliment, the Economic and Social Committee, and the Committee of the Regions. 43 pgs.
- EC. 2001. "European transport policy for 2010: time to decide." Brussels. 2001. 119 pgs.
- EC. 2003. "External costs: Research results on socio-environmental damages due to electricity and transport." European Commission, Community Research, EUR 20198. Brussels, Belgium. 2003. European Commission, Directorate J-Energy, Directorate-General for Research. 28 pgs.
- Eckaus, R.S. 1992. "Comparing the effects of greenhouse gas emissions on global warming." Energy Journal. 13(1). pp. 25-36.
- EEA. 2004. "Air pollution and climate change policies in Europe: exploring linkages and the added value of an integrated approach." EEA Technical Report No. 5/2004. Copenhagen. 2004. Prepared by the European Topic Centre for Air and Climate Change (ETC/ACC), EEA, in cooperation with the Joint Research Centre (JRC), Ispra, Italy. 93 pgs.
- Enda McGovern. 1998. "Controlling the environmental impact of transport: Traffic management schemes and their influence on consumer behaviour." Sustainable Development. 6(1). pp. 23-30.
- Englund, P. 1997. "House price dynamics: An international empirical perspective." Journal of Housing Economics. 6(2). pp. 119-136.
- Eom, Y. and D. Larson. 2006. "Improving environmental valuation estimates through consistent use of revealed and stated preference information." Journal of Environmental Economics and Management. 52(1). pp. 501-516.
- EPA. 1973. "Public Health and Welfare Criteria for Noise." EPA/550/9-73-002. Arlington, VA. July 27, 1973. Office of Noise Abatement and Control, U.S. Environmental Protection Agency. 204 pgs.
- EPA. 1974. "Information on levels of environmental noise requisite to protect public health and welfare with an adequate margin of safety." EPA-550/9-74-004. Washington, D.C. March 1974. Office of Noise Abatement and Control. 44 pgs.
- EPA. 1977. "The urban noise survey." EPA-550/9-77-100. Washington, D.C. August 1977. Office of Noise Abatement and Control, U.S. Environmental Protection Agency. 201 pgs.
- EPA. 1985. "Compilation of Air Pollutant Emission Factors, Volume II: Mobile Sources, AP-42." Ann Arbor, Michigan. September 1985. Environmental Protection Agency.
- EPA. 1992. "Procedures for Emission Inventory Preparation, Volume IV: Mobile Sources." EPA420-R-92-009. Washington, D.C. December 1992. Emission Planning and Strategies Division, Office of Mobile Sources, and Technical Support Division, Office of Air Quality Planning and Standards. 240 pgs.
- EPA. 1993. "Air Quality Criteria for Oxides of Nitrogen, Volumes 1-3." EPA600/8-91/049aF. Research Triangle Park, N.C. August 1993. Environmental Criteria and Assessment Office, Office of Health and Environmental Assessment, Office of Research and Development. 1722 pgs.
- EPA. 1996. "Air Quality Criteria for Particulate Matter, EPA/600/P-95/001cF." EPA/600/P-95/001cF. Washington, D.C. 1996. U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, Office of Research and Development.
- EPA. 1997. "The Benefits and Costs of the Clean Air Act, 1970-1990." Prepared for U.S. Congress. Washington, D.C. October 1997. 372 pgs.
- EPA. 1997. "Guiding principles for Monte Carlo analysis." EPA/630/R-97/001. Washington, D.C. March 1997. Risk Assessment Forum. 39 pgs.
- EPA. 1999. "The Benefits and Costs of the Clean Air Act, 1990 to 2010." EPA-410-R-99-001, EPA Report to Congress. Washington, D.C. November 1999. Office of Policy, Office of Air and Radiation. 654 pgs.
- EPA. 1999. "OAQPS Economic Analysis Resource Document." Research Trangle Park, NC. April 1999. Innovative Strategies and Economics Group, Office of Air Quality Planning and Standards. 223 pgs.
- EPA. 1999. "Report of the workshop on selecting input distributions for probabilistic assessments." EPA/630/R-98/004. New York, NY. January 1999. Review of the Risk Assessment Forum, April 21-22, 1998. 51 pgs.
- EPA. 2000. "Guidelines for preparing economic analyses." EPA 240-R-00-003. Washington, D.C. September 2000. Office of the Administrator. 227 pgs.
- EPA. 2001. "The United States experience with economic incentives for protecting the environment." EPA-240-R-01-001. Washington, D.C. January 2001. National Center for Environmental Economics, Office of Policy, Economics, and Innovation, Office of the Administrator. 254 pgs.
- EPA. 2001. "National Air Quality and Emissions Trends Report, 1999." EPA 454/R-01-004. Research Triangle Park, NC. March 2001. Air Quality Trends Analysis Group, Emissions Monitoring and Analysis Division, Office of Air Quality Planning and Standards. 245 pgs.
- EPA. 2001. "Human Health Effects of Ozone Depletion From Stratospheric Aircraft." NASA/CR-2001-211160. Washington, D.C. September 2001. U.S. Environmental Protection Agency for the National Aeronautics and Space Administration. 138 pgs.
- EPA. 2004. "Air Quality Criteria for Particulate Matter, Volumes 1 and 2." EPA/600/P-99/002bF. Research Triangle Park, N.C. October 2004. National Center for Environmental Assessment-RTP Office, Office of Research and Development. 900 pgs.
- Epple, D. 1987. "Hedonic prices and implicit markets: Estimating demand and supply functions for differentiated products." Journal of Political Economy. 95(1). pp. 59-80.
- Eriksson, C., M. Rosenlund, G. Pershagen, A. Hilding, C.G. Ostenson, and G. Bluhm. 2007. "Aircraft Noise and Incidence of Hypertension." Epidemiology. 18(6). pp. 716-721.
- Espey, M. and H. Lopez. 2000. "The impact of airport noise and proximity on residential property values." Growth and Change. 31(3). pp. 408-419.
- Eurocontrol. 2003. "User Manual for the Base of Aircraft Data (BADA), Revision 3.5." EEC Note No. 11/3. Brétigny-sur-Orge, France. July 2003. Eurocontrol Experimental Centre. 103 pgs.
- Evans, M. and Kerry. 2008. "Complementarity and the Measurement of Individual Risk Tradeoffs: Accounting for Quantity and Quality of Life Effects." Environmental and Resource Economics. 41(3). pp. 381-400.
- Eyers, C. 2005. Improving the First Order Approximation (FOA) for Characterizing Particulate Matter Emissions from Aircraft Jet Engines. Alternative Emissions Methodology Task Group (AEMTG) Meeting. Rio De Janeiro, Brazil

- FAA. 1977. "Impact of noise on people." FAA-EQ-78-12. Washington, D.C. May 1977. Federal Aviation Administration, U.S. Department of Transportation. 41p pgs.
- FAA. 1980s "Unknown: This is a introductory on sound measurement, perception, levels, and history." Reference purposes only. Likely published between 1981-1985. Federal Aviation Administration, U.S. Department of Transportation. 28 pgs.
- FAA. 63 FR 18608. 1998. "Emissions and Dispersion Modeling System Policy for Airport Air Quality Analysis: Interm Guidance to FAA Orders 1050.1D and 5050.4A." Federal Register. April 13, 1998. pp. 2.
- FAA. 2001. "Noise levels for U.S. certificated and foreign aircraft." AC 36-1H. Washington, D.C. November 15, 2001. Federal Aviation Administration.
- FAA. 2002. "Estimated airplane noise levels in A-weighted decibels, AC 36-3H." AC 36-3H. Washington, D.C. March 25, 2002. Federal Aviation Administration. 127 pgs.
- FAA. 2003. "System for assessing aviation's global emissions: Version 1 validation assessment and model assumptions." FAA/ OEE, ed. Washington, D.C. June. Volpe National Transportation Systems Center, Massachusetts Institute of Technology, and Logistics Management Institute. 43 pgs.
- FAA. 2003. "Fuel venting and exhaust emission requirements for turbine engine powered airplanes." Advisory Circular 34-1B. Washington, D.C. June 27, 2003. AEE-300. 133 pgs.
- FAA. 2003. "Select resource materials and annotated bibliography on the topic of hazardous air pollutants (HAPs) associated with aircraft, airports, and aviation." Washington, D.C. July 1, 2003. Federal Aviation Administration, Office of Environment and Energy, Prepared by URS Corporation. 98 pgs.
- FAA. 2004. "Flight Plan 2005-2009." Washington, D.C. November 2004. 44 pgs.
- FAA. 2004. "Economic values for FAA investment and regulatory decisions, A guide." Prepared by GRA, Incorporated, with the Aviation Specialists Group, Inc. and Data Base Products. Washington, D.C. May 28, 2004. Prepared for the Office of Aviation Policy and Plans. 135 pgs.
- FAA. 2004. "FAA Aerospace Forecasts, Fiscal Years 2004-2015." FAA-APO-04-1. Washington, D.C. March 2004. Office of Aviation Policy and Plans, FAA, U.S. Department of Transportation. 298 pgs.
- FAA. 2004. "National Plan of Integrated Airport Systems (NPIAS) 2005-2009." Report of the Secretary of Transportation to the United States Congress pursuant to Section 47103 of Title 49, United States Code. Washington, D.C. September 30, 2005. The NPIAS 2005-2009 report is available online at: http://www.faa.gov/arp/planning/npias. 69 pgs.
- FAA. 2004. "National Airspace System Operational Evolution Plan 2004-2014." Executive Summary, Version 6.0. Washington, D.C. January 2004. See full plan at http://www.faa.gov/programs/oep. 22 pgs.
- FAA. 2008. "AEM, Area Equivalent Method version 7.0." Washington, D.C. January 1999. Federal Aviation Administration, Office of Environment and Energy. 14 pgs.
- FAA. data. INM v.6.0c noise-power-distance (NPD) curves [cited
- FAA and EPA. 2002. "General conformity guidance for airports: questions and answers." September 25, 2002. Federal Aviation Administration, Office of Airport Planning and Programming, Community and Environmental Needs Division, and Environmental Protection Agency, Office of Air Quality Planning and Standards, Air Quality Strategies and Standards Division. 31 pgs.
- Fagre, D., C. Charles, C. Allen, C. Birkeland, F. Chapin III, P. Groffman, G. Guntenspergen, A. Knapp, A. McGuire, P. Mulholland, D. Peters, D. Roby, and G. Sugihara. 2009. "Thresholds of climate change in ecosystems." Final Report, Synthesis and Assessment Product 4.2. Presented at Final Report, Synthesis and Assessment Product 4.2. Reston, VA. January. A report by the U.S. Climate Change Science Program and the Subcommittee on Global Change Research: U.S. Geological Survey (lead agency). 156 pgs.
- Fahey, D.W., E.R. Keim, K.A. Boering, C.A. Brook, J.C. Wilson, H.H. Jonsson, S. Anthony, T.F. Hanisco, P.O. Wennberg, R.C. Miakelye, R.J. Salawitch, N. Louisnard, E.L. Woodbridge, R.S. Gao, S.G. Donnelly, R.C. Wamsley, L.A. Delnegro, S. Solomon, B.C. Daube, S.C. Wofsy, C.R. Webster, R.D. May, K.K. Kelly, M. Loewenstein, J.R. Podolske, and K.R. Chan. 1995. "Emission Measurements of the Concorde Supersonic Aircraft in the Lower Stratosphere." Science. 270(5233). pp. 70-74.
- Fairley, D. 2003. "Mortality and air pollution for Santa Clara County, California, 1989-1996." Revised analyses of the National Morbidity, Mortality, and Air Pollution Study, Part II: Revised analyses of selected time-series studies. Presented at In Revised analyses of time-series studies of air pollution and health. Boston, MA. May2003. Health Effects Institute. 97-106 pgs.
- Falzone, K.L. 1999. "Airport noise pollution: Is there a solution in sight?" Boston College Environmental Affairs Law Review. 26(4). pp. 769-807.

- Fankhauser, S. 1994. "The social costs of greenhouse gas emissions: An expected value approach." Energy Journal. 15(2). pp. 157.
- Fankhauser, S., 1995, Valuing climate change: The economics of the greenhouse effect, Earthscan, London, U.K.
- Fankhauser, S., R.S.J. Tol, and D.W. Pearce. 1997. "The aggregation of climate change damages: A welfare theoretic approach." Environmental and Resource Economics. 10. pp. 249-266.
- Farias, F. and H. ApSimon. 2006. "Relative contributions from traffic and aircraft NOx emissions to exposure in West London." Environmental Modelling & Software. 21(4). pp. 477-485.
- Febvre, G., J.-F. Gayet, ois, A. Minikin, H. Schlager, V. Shcherbakov, ry, O. Jourdan, R. Busen, M. Fiebig, B. rcher, and U. Schumann. 2009. "On optical and microphysical characteristics of contrails and cirrus." Journal of Geophysical Research Atmospheres. 114(D2). pp. D02204.
- Feitelberg, A.S. and S.M. Correa. 2000. The role of carbon monoxide in NO2 plume formation. pp. 287-292.
- Feitelson, E.I., R.E. Hurd, and R.R. Mudge. 1996. "The impact of airport noise on willingness to pay for residences." Transportation Research Part D-Transport and Environment. 1(1). pp. 1-14.
- Feldman, D.L., R.A. Hanahan, and R. Perhac. 1999. "Environmental priority-setting through comparative risk assessment." Environmental Management. 23(4). pp. 483-493.
- Fialkov, A.B. 1997. "Investigations on ions in flames." Progress in Energy and Combustion Science. 23(5). pp. 399-528.
- FICAN. 1992. "Federal agency review of selected airport noise analysis issues." August 1992. Federal Interagency Committee on Noise. 119 pgs.
- Fichter, C., S. Marquart, R. Sausen, and D.S. Lee. 2005. "The impact of cruise altitude on contrails and related radiative forcing." Meteorologische Zeitschrift. 14(4). pp. 563-572.
- FICUN. 1980. "Guidelines for considering noise in land use planning and control." June. Federal Interagency Committee on Urban Noise. 52 pgs.
- Fidell, S., D. Barber, and T. Schultz. 1991. "Updating a dosage--effect relationship for the prevalence of annoyance due to general transportation noise." The Journal of the Acoustical Society of America. 89(1). pp. 221-233.
- Fidell, S., D.S. Barber, and T.J. Schultz. 1991. "Updating a dosage--effect relationship for the prevalence of annoyance due to general transportation noise." The Journal of the Acoustical Society of America. 89(1). pp. 221-233.
- Fidell, S., K. Pearsons, B.G. Tabachnick, and R. Howe. 2000. "Effects on sleep disturbance of changes in aircraft noise near three airports." Journal of the Acoustical Society of America. 107(5). pp. 2535-2547.
- Fidell, S. and L. Silvati. 2004. "Parsimonious Alternative to Regression Analysis for Characterizing Prevalence Rates of Aircraft Noise Annoyance." Noise Control Engineering Journal. 52(2). pp. 56-68.
- Fidell, S., L. Silvati, and E. Haboly. 2002. "Social survey of community response to a step change in aircraft noise exposure." The Journal of the Acoustical Society of America. 111(1). pp. 200-209.
- Fields, J.M. 1993. "Community annoyance by aircraft noise." The Journal of the Acoustical Society of America. 94(3). pp. 1807-1807.
- Fields, J.M. 1998. "Reactions to environmental noise in an ambient noise context in residential areas." The Journal of the Acoustical Society of America. 104(4). pp. 2245-2260.
- Fine, J., L. Vuilleumier, S. Reynolds, P. Roth, and N. Brown. 2003. "EVALUATING UNCERTAINTIES IN REGIONAL PHOTOCHEMICAL AIR QUALITY MODELING*." Annual Review of Environment and Resources. 28(1). pp. 59-106.
- Finegold, L.S., C.S. Harris, and H.E. Von Gierke. 1994. "Community Annoyance and Sleep Disturbance: Updated Criteria for Assessing the Impacts of General Transportation Noise on People." Noise Control Engineering Journal. 42(1).
- Finegold, L.S., C.S. Harris, and H.E. Vongierke. 1994. "COMMUNITY ANNOYANCE AND SLEEP DISTURBANCE -UPDATED CRITERIA FOR ASSESSING THE IMPACTS OF GENERAL TRANSPORTATION NOISE ON PEOPLE." Noise Control Engineering Journal. 42(1). pp. 25-30.
- Flathers, G.W. 1981. "A comparison of FAA integrated noise flight profiles with profiles observed at Seattle-Tacoma Airport: Final report." FAA-EE-82-10, MTR-81W288 Washington, D.C. December 1981. Prepared by the MITRE Corporation, METREK Division for the Federal Aviation Administration, Office of Environment and Energy. 61 pgs.
- Flathers, G.W. 1982. "FAA Integrated Noise Model validation, Analysis of carrier flyovers at Seattle-Tacoma Airport." FAA-EE-82-19, MTR-82W162. Washington, D.C. November 1982. Prepared by the MITRE Corporation, METREK Division for the Federal Aviation Administration, Office of Environment and Energy. 73 pgs.

- Forest, C.E., P.H. Stone, A.P. Sokolov, M.R. Allen, and M.D. Webster. 2002. "Quantifying uncertainties in climate system properties with the use of recent climate observations." Science. 295(5552). pp. 113-117.
- Forster, P.M., M. Blackburn, R. Glover, and K.P. Shine. 2000. "An examination of climate sensitivity for idealised climate change experiments in an intermediate general circulation model." Climate Dynamics. 16(10-11). pp. 833-849.
- Forster, P.M.D., K.P. Shine, and N. Stuber. 2006. "It is premature to include non-CO2 effects of aviation in emission trading schemes." Atmospheric Environment. 40(6). pp. 1117-1121.
- Fortuin, J.P.F., R. Vandorland, W.M.F. Wauben, and H. Kelder. 1995. "GREENHOUSE EFFECTS OF AIRCRAFT EMISSIONS AS CALCULATED BY A RADIATIVE-TRANSFER MODEL." Annales Geophysicae-Atmospheres Hydrospheres and Space Sciences. 13(4). pp. 413-418.
- Fosgerau, M. and T. Bjorner. 2006. "Joint models for noise annoyance and willingness to pay for road noise reduction." Transportation Research Part B - Methodological. 40(2). pp. 164-178.
- Frank, N. 2005. Composition of FRM PM2.5 for Modeling & NAAQS Implementation. 3rd Particulate Matter/Regional Haze/ Ozone Modeling Workshop. New Orleans, LA. May 18-20, 2005
- Frankel, M. 1991. "Aircraft noise and residential property values: Results." Appraisal Journal. 59(1). pp. 96.
- Franssen, E.A.M., B.A.M. Staatsen, and E. Lebret. 2002. "Assessing health consequences in an environmental impact assessment: The case of Amsterdam Airport Schiphol." Environmental Impact Assessment Review. 22(6). pp. 633-653.
- Freeman, A.M., 2003, The measurement of environmental and resource values : theory and methods. 2nd ed, Resources for the Future, Washington, DC.
- Freznel, A. and F. Arnold. 1994. Sulfuric acid cluster ion formation by jet engines: implications for sulfur acid formation and nucleation. Impact of Emissions from Aircraft and Spacecraft Upon the Atmosphere. Koln, Germany. April 18-20, 1994
- Frings, G. 1908. "Exhaust emission characteristics and variability for maintained General Electric CF6-50 turbofan engines." FAA-CT-80-36. Washington, D.C. 1980. Federal Aviation Administration.
- Frost, G.J., S.A. McKeen, M. Trainer, T.B. Ryerson, J.A. Neuman, J.M. Roberts, A. Swanson, J.S. Holloway, D.T. Sueper, T. Fortin, D.D. Parrish, F.C. Fehsenfeld, F. Flocke, S.E. Peckham, G.A. Grell, D. Kowal, J. Cartwright, N. Auerbach, and T. Habermann. 2006. "Effects of changing power plant NOx emissions on ozone in the eastern United States: Proof of concept." Journal of Geophysical Research-Atmospheres. 111(D12). pp. 19.
- Fuchs, N., 1964, The mechanics of aerosols, Dover, Mineola, New York.
- Fuglestvedt, J., T. Berntsen, G. Myhre, K. Rypdal, and R. Skeie. 2008. "Climate forcing from the transport sectors." Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences. pp. 0702958104.
- Fuglestvedt, J.S., T.K. Berntsen, O. Godal, R. Sausen, K.P. Shine, and T. Skodvin. 2003. "Metrics of Climate Change: Assessing Radiative Forcing and Emission Indices." Climatic Change. 58(3). pp. 267-331.
- Fuglestvedt, J.S., T.K. Berntsen, O. Godal, R. Sausen, K.P. Shine, and T. Skodvin. 2003. "Metrics of Climate Change: Assessing Radiative Forcing and Emission Indices." Climatic Change. 58(3). pp. 267 - 331.
- Fulle, D., H.F. Hamann, and H. Hippler. 1999. "The pressure and temperature dependence of the recombination reaction HO center dot+SO2+M -> HOSO2 center dot+M." Physical Chemistry Chemical Physics. 1(11). pp. 2695-2702.
- Fulle, D., H.F. Hamann, H. Hippler, and J. Troe. 1998. "Temperature and pressure dependence of the addition reactions of HO to NO and to NO2. IV. Saturated laser-induced fluorescence measurements up to 1400 bar." Journal of Chemical Physics. 108(13). pp. 5391-5397.
- Fung, I., J. John, J. Lerner, E. Matthews, M. Prather, L.P. Steele, and P.J. Fraser. 1991. "3-Dimensional Model Synthesis of the Global Methane Cycle." Journal of Geophysical Research-Atmospheres. 96(D7). pp. 13033-13065.
- Gaier, E.M., A. Edlich, T.S. Santmire, and E.R. Wingrove, Logistics Management Institute. 1999. "Aviation System Analysis Capability Air Carrier Cost-Benefit Model." NASA CR 1990-208983. McLean, Virginia. January 1999. Prepared for Langely Research Center, National Aeronautics and Space Administration. 55p pgs.
- Gamble, J.L., K.L. Ebi, A.E. Grambsch, F.G. Sussman, and T.J. Wilbanks. 2008. "Analyses of the Effects of Global Change on Human Health and Welfare and Human Systems. Final Report, Synthesis and Assessment Product 4.6." United States. 283p pgs.
- GAO. 1998. "FAA complying with requirement for local involvement in noise mitigation projects, Report to the Honorable Adam Smith, House of Representatives." GAO/RCED-99-41. Washington, D.C. December 1998. U.S. General Accounting Office. 12 pgs.

- GAO. 2000. "Airport operations and future growth present environmental challenges, Report to the Ranking Democratic Member, Committee on Transportation and Infrastructure, House of Representatives." GAO/RCED-00-153. Washington, D.C. August 2000. 105 pp pgs.
- GAO. 2000. "Results from a survey of the nation's 50 busiest commercial service airports, Report to Representative James L. Oberstar, Ranking Democratic Member, Committee on Transportation and Infrastructure, House of Representatives." GAO/ RCED-00-222. Washington, D.C. August 2000. 78 pp pgs.
- GAO. 2000. "FAA's role in major airport noise programs, Report to Congressional Requesters." GAO/RCED-00-98. Washington, D.C. April 2000. U.S. General Accounting Office. 108 pgs.
- GAO. 2001. "Transition to quieter aircraft occurred as planned, but concerns about noise persist. Report to the Ranking Democratic Member, Committee on Transportation and Infrastructure, House of Representatives." GAO-01-1053. Washington, D.C. September 2001 46 pp pgs.
- Gao, R.S., B. Karcher, E.R. Keim, and D.W. Fahey. 1998. "Constraining the Heterogeneous Loss of O3 on Soot Particles With Observations in Jet Engine Exhaust Plumes." Geophysical Research Letters. 25(17). pp. 3323-3326.
- Gardner, R., J. Adams, T. Cook, L. Lason, R. Falk, E. Fleuti, W. Förtsch, M. Lecht, D. Lee, M. Leech, D. Lister, B. Masse, K. Morris, P.J. Newton, A. Owen, E. Parker, A. Schmitt, H. ten Have, and C. Vandenberghe. 1998. "ANCAT/EC2 Global aircraft emissions inventories for 1991/92 and 2015." Eur No. 18179. 1998. Report by ECAC/ANCAT and EC Working Group. 84 + appendices pgs.
- Gardner, R.M., K. Adams, T. Cook, F. Deidewig, S. Ernedal, R. Falk, E. Fleuti, E. Herms, C.E. Johnson, M. Lecht, D.S. Lee, M. Leech, D. Lister, B. Masse, M. Metcalfe, P. Newton, A. Schmitt, C. Vandenbergh, and R. VanDrimmelen. 1997. "The ANCAT/EC global inventory of NOx emissions from aircraft." Atmospheric Environment. 31(12). pp. 1751-1766.
- Garen, J. 1988. "COMPENSATING WAGE DIFFERENTIALS AND THE ENDOGENEITY OF JOB RISKINESS." Review of Economics and Statistics. 70(1). pp. 9-16.
- Gautrin, J.-F. 1975. "An evaluation of the impact of aircraft noise on property values with a simple model of urban land rent." Land Economics. 51(1). pp. 80-86.
- Gegax, D., G. Shelby, and W. Schulze. 1991. "Perceived Risk and the Marginal Value of Safety." The Review of Economics and Statistics. 73(4). pp. 589-596.
- Gerking, S., M. De Haan, and W. Schulze. 1988. "The Marginal Value of Job Safety: A Contingent Valuation Study." Journal of Risk & Uncertainty. 1(2). pp. 185-199.
- Gierens, K. and U. Schumann. 1996. "Colors of contrails from fuels with different sulfur contents." Journal of Geophysical Research-Atmospheres. 101(D11). pp. 16731-16736.
- Gillani, N.V., J.F. Meagher, R.J. Valente, R.E. Imhoff, R.L. Tanner, and M. Luria. 1998. "Relative production of ozone and nitrates in urban and rural power plant plumes 1. Composite results based on data from 10 field measurement days." Journal of Geophysical Research-Atmospheres. 103(D17). pp. 22593-22615.
- Gilliland, F.D., K. Berhane, E.B. Rapaport, D.C. Thomas, E. Avol, W.J. Gauderman, S.J. London, H.G. Margolis, R. McConnell, K.T. Islam, and J.M. Peters. 2001. "The effects of ambient air pollution on school absenteeism due to respiratory illnesses." Epidemiology. 12(1). pp. 43-54.
- Girvin, R. 2009. "Aircraft noise-abatement and mitigation strategies." Journal of Air Transport Management. 15(1). pp. 14-22.
- Glarborg, P., D. Kubel, K. DamJohansen, H.M. Chiang, and J.W. Bozzelli. 1996. "Impact of SO2 and NO on CO oxidation under post-flame conditions." International Journal of Chemical Kinetics. 28(10). pp. 773-790.
- Gleitsmann, G. and R. Zellner. 1999. "The aerosol dynamics of H2O-H2SO4-HNO3 mixtures in aircraft wakes. A modeling study." Physical Chemistry Chemical Physics. 1(24). pp. 5503-5509.
- Goebel, S.G., N. Abuaf, J.A. Lovett, and C.-P. Lee. 1993. Measurement of combustor velocity and turbulence profiles, ASME 93-GT-228. Twelfth International Symposium on Combustion. Pittsburg, Pennsylvania
- Goetz, A. and B. Graham. 2004. "Air transport globalization, liberalization and sustainability: post-2001 policy dynamics in the United States and Europe." Journal of Transport Geography. 12(4). pp. 265-276.
- Goetz, A.R. and J.S. Szyliowicz. 1997. "Revisiting transportation planning and decision making theory: The case of Denver International Airport." Transportation Research Part A: Policy and Practice. 31(4). pp. 263-280.
- Graham, B. and C. Guyer. 1999. "Environmental sustainability, airport capacity and European air transport liberalization: irreconcilable goals?" Journal of Transport Geography. 7(3). pp. 165-180.
- Graham, J.D. 2007. "The Evolving Regulatory Role of the U.S. Office of Management and Budget." Rev Environ Econ Policy. 1(2). pp. 171-191.

- Greaves, S. and A. Collins. 2007. "Disaggregate spatio-temporal assessments of population exposure to aircraft noise." Journal of Air Transport Management. 13(6). pp. 338-347.
- Greco, S.L., A.M. Wilson, J.D. Spengler, and J.I. Levy. 2007. "Spatial patterns of mobile source particulate matter emissions-toexposure relationships across the United States." Atmospheric Environment. 41(5). pp. 1011-1025.
- Greco, S.L., A.M. Wilson, J.D. Spengler, and J.I. Levy. 2007. "Spatial patterns of mobile source particulate matter emissions-toexposure relationships across the United States." Atmospheric Environment. 41(5). pp. 1011-1025.
- Greenough, G., M. McGeehin, S.M. Bernard, J. Trtanj, J. Riad, and D. Engelberg. 2001. "The potential impacts of climate variability and change on health impacts of extreme weather events in the United States." Environmental Health Perspectives. 109. pp. 191-198.
- Gregory, J.M. and P.M. Forster. 2008. "Transient climate response estimated from radiative forcing and observed temperature change." Journal of Geophysical Research. 113(D23).
- Grell, G., J. Dudhia, and D. Stauffer. 1994. "A Description of the Fifth Generation Penn State/NCA Mesoscale Model (MM5)." NCAR/TN-389+STR. National Center for Atmospheric Research.
- Griffin, R.J., C.A. Johnson, R.W. Talbot, H.T. Mao, R.S. Russo, Y. Zhou, and B.C. Sive. 2004. "Quantification of ozone formation metrics at Thompson Farm during the New England Air Quality Study (NEAQS) 2002." Journal of Geophysical Research-Atmospheres. 109(D24). pp. 14.
- Griffin, R.J., M.K. Revelle, and D. Dabdub. 2004. "Modeling the oxidative capacity of the atmosphere of the south coast air basin of California. 1. Ozone formation metrics." Environmental Science & Technology. 38(3). pp. 746-752.
- Groom, B., C. Hepburn, P. Koundouri, and D. Pearce. 2005. "Declining discount rates: The long and the short of it." Environmental & Resource Economics. 32(4). pp. 445-493.
- Gross, E.M.A. 2004. "Internalisation of transport noise externalities: Activity disturbance pricing And implementation." Working Paper 2004-1. Sydney, NSW, Australia. 2004. Macquarie Graduate School of Management, Macquarie University. 18 pgs.
- Gubler, D.J., P. Reiter, K.L. Ebi, W. Yap, R. Nasci, and J.A. Patz. 2001. "Climate variability and change in the United States: Potential impacts on vector- and rodent-borne diseases." Environmental Health Perspectives. 109. pp. 223-233.
- Gulding, J., G. Fleming, J. D'Aprile, P. Gerbi, J. Olmstead, R. Bryan, and B. Mirsky. 1999. "Integrated Noise Model (INM) version 6.0 User's Guide." FAA-AEE-99-03. Cambridge, MA. September 1999. Prepared for the Federal Aviation Administration, Office of Environment and Energy (AEE-100) by ATAC Corportation, Sunnyvale, CA, and the Department of Transportation Volpe National Transportation Center, Cambridge, MA. 314 pgs.
- Guo, J.H., J.H. Cameron, R.S.J. Tol, and D. Anthoff. 2006. "Discounting and the social cost of carbon: a closer look at uncertainty." Environmental Science & Policy. 9(3). pp. 205-216.
- Haab, T.C. and K.E. McConnell, 2002, Valuing environmental and natural resources: The econometrics of non-market valuation, New horizons in environmental economics, Edward Elgar Publishing, Cheltenham, U.K. and Northampton, MA.
- Hagen, D.E., P.D. Whitefield, and H. Schlager. 1998. "Particulate emissions in the exhaust plume from commercial jet aircraft under cruise conditions." J. Geophys. Res. 101(D14). pp. 19551-19557.
- Hahn, R.W. and P.M. Dudley. 2007. "How Well Does the U.S. Government Do Benefit-Cost Analysis?" Rev Environ Econ Policy. 1(2). pp. 192-211.
- Haines, M.M., S.A. Stansfeld, S. Brentnall, J. Head, B. Berry, M. Jiggins, and S. Hygge. 2001. "The West London Schools Study: the effects of chronic aircraft noise exposure on child health." Psychological Medicine. 31(8). pp. 1385-1396.
- Hakfoort, J., T. Poot, and P. Rietveld. 2001. "The Regional Economic Impact of an Airport: The Case of Amsterdam Schiphol Airport." Regional Studies. 35(7). pp. 595 604.
- Hall, R., J., S. Stouffer, and M. Colket. 2004. Modeling Soot Formation in a Stirred Reactor. ASME Turbo Expo 2004. Vienna, Austria. June 14-17, 2004
- Hamid, L., N. Stern, and C. Taylor. 2007. "Reflections on stern review 2: Growing international opportunity to move strongly on climate change." World Economics. 8(1). pp. 169-186.
- Hammitt, J.K. 2007. "Valuing Changes in Mortality Risk: Lives Saved Versus Life Years Saved." Rev Environ Econ Policy. 1(2). pp. 228-240.
- Hammitt, J.K., A.T. Jain, J.L. Adams, and D.J. Wuebbles. 1996. "A welfare-based index for assessing environmental effects of greenhouse-gas emissions." Nature. 381. pp. 301-303.
- Han, S. 2003. "Reduced-order modeling for trace species in the post-combustion flow path and effects of technology trends on emissions." Master of Science in Aeronautics and Astronautics. Massachusetts Institute of Technology. Cambridge, MA.

- Hanemann, W.M. 1991. "Willingness to pay and willingness to accept: How much can they differ?" American Economic Review. 81(3). pp. 635-647.
- Hanemann, W.M. 1994. "Valuing the environment through contingent valuation." The Journal of Economic Perspectives. 8(4). pp. 19-43.
- Hanisco, T.F., P.O. Wennberg, R.C. Cohen, J.G. Anderson, D.W. Fahey, E.R. Keim, R.S. Gao, R.C. Wamsley, S.G. Donnelly, L.A. DelNegro, R.J. Salawitch, K.K. Kelly, and M.H. Proffitt. 1997. "The role of HOx in super- and subsonic aircraft exhaust plumes." Geophysical Research Letters. 24(1). pp. 65-68.
- Hanna, A., S. Arunachalam, Z. Adelman, B. Baek, and A. Holland. 2006. "Project Report: A Methodology to Relate Changes in Airport Emissions to County-wide Air Pollution Levels." November 27, 2006. University of North Carolina, Carolina Environmental Program.
- Hansen, J., M. Sato, and R. Ruedy. 1997. "Radiative forcing and climate response." Journal of Geophysical Research-Atmospheres. 102(D6). pp. 6831-6864.
- Hansen, J., M. Sato, R. Ruedy, and e. al. 2005. "Efficacy of climate forcings." Journal of Geophysical Research Atmospheres. 110(D18).
- Hansen, J., M. Sato, R. Ruedy, L. Nazarenko, A. Lacis, G.A. Schmidt, G. Russell, I. Aleinov, M. Bauer, S. Bauer, N. Bell, B. Cairns, V. Canuto, M. Chandler, Y. Cheng, A. Del Genio, G. Faluvegi, E. Fleming, A. Friend, T. Hall, C. Jackman, M. Kelley, N. Kiang, D. Koch, J. Lean, J. Lerner, K. Lo, S. Menon, R. Miller, P. Minnis, T. Novakov, V. Oinas, J. Perlwitz, J. Perlwitz, D. Rind, A. Romanou, D. Shindell, P. Stone, S. Sun, N. Tausnev, D. Thresher, B. Wielicki, T. Wong, M. Yao, and S. Zhang. 2005. "Efficacy of climate forcings." Journal of Geophysical Research-Atmospheres. 110(D18). pp. 45.
- Hansen, M.M. 1982. "National Ambient Noise Survey." EPA-550/9-82-410. Washington, D.C. January 1982. Office of Noise Abatement and Control, U.S. Environmental Protection Agency. 180 pgs.
- Hanson, H.M. and D.M. Hanson. 1995. "A Reexamination of the Formation of Exhaust Condensation Trails by Jet Aircraft." Journal of Applied Meteorology. 34(11). pp. 2400-2405.
- Hanson, H.M. and D.M. Hanson. 1998. "The Application of the Revised Algorithm for the Prediction of the Formation of Exhaust Condensation Trails by Jet Aircraft." Journal of Applied Meteorology. 37(4). pp. 436-440.
- Haralabidis, A.S., K. Dimakopoulou, F. Vigna-Taglianti, M. Giampaolo, A. Borgini, M.L. Dudley, G. Pershagen, G. Bluhm, D. Houthuijs, W. Babisch, M. Velonakis, K. Katsouyanni, L. Jarup, and H. Consortium. 2008. "Acute effects of night-time noise exposure on blood pressure in populations living near airports." European Heart Journal. 29(5). pp. 658-664.
- Harris, B.W. 1990. "Conversion of Sulfur-Dioxide to Sulfur-Trioxide in Gas-Turbine Exhaust." Journal of Engineering for Gas Turbines and Power-Transactions of the Asme. 112(4). pp. 585-589.
- Harrison, D. and D.L. Rubinfeld. 1978. "Hedonic Housing Prices and Demand for Clean-Air." Journal of Environmental Economics and Management. 5(1). pp. 81-102.
- Harvey, W.D. and B. Foreman, Langley Research Center, National Aeronautics and Space Administration. 1992. "Future Regional Transport Aircraft Market, Constraints, and Technology Stimuli." NASA TM 107669. October 1992. 89p pgs.
- Hasselmann, K., S. Hasselmann, R. Giering, V. Ocana, and H.V. Storch. 1997. "Sensitivity Study of Optimal CO2 Emission Paths Using a Simplified Structural Integrated Assessment Model (SIAM)." Climatic Change. 37(2). pp. 345 386.
- Hasselmann, K., S. Hasselmann, R. Giering, V. Ocana, and H. VonStorch. 1997. "Sensitivity study of optimal CO2 emission paths using a simplified structural integrated assessment model (SIAM)." Climatic Change. 37(2). pp. 345-386.
- Hasselmann, K., R. Sausen, E. Maierreimer, and R. Voss. 1993. "On the Cold Start Problem in Transient Simulations with Coupled Atmosphere-Ocean Models." Climate Dynamics. 9(2). pp. 53-61.
- Haverkamp, H., S. Wilhelm, A. Sorokin, and F. Arnold. 2004. "Positive and negative ion measurements in jet aircraft engine exhaust: concentrations, sizes and implications for aerosol formation." Atmospheric Environment. 38(18). pp. 2879-2884.
- Heal, G. 1997. "Discounting and climate change: An editorial comment." Climatic Change. 37(2). pp. 335-343.
- Hedges, L.V. 1992. "Meta-Analysis." Journal of Educational Statistics. 17(4). pp. 279-296.
- Heland, J. and K. Sch‰fer. 1998. "Determination of major combustion products in aircraft exhausts by FTIR emission spectroscopy." Atmospheric Environment. 32(18). pp. 3067-3072.
- Hensher, D. 1998. "Combining sources of preference data." Journal of Econometrics. 89(1-2). pp. 197-221.
- Hensher, D.A. 2008. "Climate change, enhanced greenhouse gas emissions and passenger transport What can we do to make a difference?" Transportation Research Part D: Transport and Environment. 13(2). pp. 95-111.

- Herndon, S.C., T.B. Onasch, B.P. Frank, L.C. Marr, J.T. Jayne, M.R. Canagaratna, J. Grygas, T. Lanni, B.E. Anderson, D. Worsnop, and R.C. Miake-Lye. 2005. "Particulate emissions from in-use commercial aircraft." Aerosol Science and Technology. 39(8). pp. 799-809.
- Herndon, S.C., T. Rogers, E.J. Dunlea, J.T. Jayne, R. Miake-Lye, and B. Knighton. 2006. "Hydrocarbon emissions from in-use commercial aircraft during airport operations." Environmental Science & Technology. 40(14). pp. 4406-4413.
- Herndon, S.C., J.H. Shorter, M.S. Zahniser, D.D. Nelson, J. Jayne, R.C. Brown, R.C. Miake-Lye, I. Waitz, P. Silva, T. Lanni, K. Demerjian, and C.E. Kolb. 2004. "NO and NO2 emission ratios measured from in-use commercial aircraft during taxi and takeoff." Environmental Science & Technology. 38(22). pp. 6078-6084.
- Herriges, J.A. and C.L. Kling, 2008, Revealed preference approaches to environmental valuation, The International library of environmental economics and policy, Ashgate, Aldershot ; Burlington, VT.
- Herzog, H.W., Jr. and A.M. Schlottmann. 1990. "Valuing Risk in the Workplace: Market Price, Willingness to Pay, and the Optimal Provision of Safety." The Review of Economics and Statistics. 72(3). pp. 463-470.
- Hippler, H., M. Siefke, H. Stark, and J. Troe. 1999. "New studies of the unimolecular reaction NO2 reversible arrow O+NO. Part 1. High pressure range of the O+NO recombination between 200 and 400 K." Physical Chemistry Chemical Physics. 1(1). pp. 57-61.
- Hite, D. 2009. "Factors influencing differences between survey and market-based environmental value measures." Urban Studies. 46(1). pp. 117-138.
- HLP. 1999. "Options for charging users directly for transport infrastructure operating costs." Final Report. Brussels. September 9, 1999. Directorate General for Energy and Transport, European Commission. 27 pgs.
- Hofmann, D.J. 1991. "Aircraft sulphur emissions." Nature. 349(6311). pp. 659-659.
- Hofmann, D.J. and J.M. Rosen. 1978. "Balloon Observations of a Particle Layer Injected by a Stratospheric Aircraft at 23 km." Geophys. Res. Lett. 5(6). pp. 511-514.
- Hofmann, D.J., R.S. Stone, M.E. Wood, T. Deshler, and J.M. Harris. 1998. "An analysis of 25 years of balloonborne aerosol data in search of a signature of the subsonic commercial aircraft fleet." Geophysical Research Letters. 25(13). pp. 2433-2436.
- Hofstetter, P., J.C. Bare, J.K. Hammitt, P.A. Murphy, and G.E. Rice. 2002. "Tools for comparative analysis of alternatives: Competing or complementary perspectives?" Risk Analysis. 22(5). pp. 833-851.
- Hofstetter, P. and J.K. Hammitt. 2002. "Selecting human health metrics for environmental decision-support tools." Risk Analysis. 22(5). pp. 965-983.
- Hogrefe, C., S.T. Rao, P. Kasibhatla, W. Hao, G. Sistla, R. Mathur, and J. McHenry. 2001. "Evaluating the performance of regional-scale photochemical modeling systems: Part II--ozone predictions." Atmospheric Environment. 35(24). pp. 4175-4188.
- Hogrefe, C., S.T. Rao, P. Kasibhatla, G. Kallos, C.J. Tremback, W. Hao, D. Olerud, A. Xiu, J. McHenry, and K. Alapaty. 2001. "Evaluating the performance of regional-scale photochemical modeling systems: Part I--meteorological predictions." Atmospheric Environment. 35(24). pp. 4159-4174.
- Holzworth, G.C. 1972. "Mixing heights, wind speeds, and potential for urban air pollution throughout the contiguous United States." Office of Air Publication AP-101, NTIS Report Number PB 207103. Research Triangle Park, North Carolina. Office of Air Programs, U.S. Environmental Protection Agency. 104 pgs.
- Hong, G., P. Yang, P. Minnis, Y. Hu, and G. North. 2008. "Do contrails significantly reduce daily temperature range?" Geophysical Research Letters. 35(23).
- Hooss, G., R. Voss, K. Hasselmann, E. Maier-Reimer, and F. Joos. 2001. "A nonlinear impulse response model of the coupled carbon cycle-climate system (NICCS)." Climate Dynamics. 18(3-4). pp. 189-202.
- Hope, C. 2006. "The marginal impact of CO2 from PAGE2002: An integrated assessment model incorporating the IPCC's five reasons for concern." Integrated Assessment. 6(1).
- Hope, C. 2008. "Discount rates, equity weights and the social cost of carbon." Energy Economics. 30(3). pp. 1011-1019.
- Hope, C. and P. Maul. 1996. "Valuing the impact of CO2 emissions." Energy Policy. 24(3). pp. 211-219.
- Hope, C.W. 2006. "The marginal impacts of CO2, CH4 and SF6 emissions." Climate Policy. 6(5). pp. 537-544.
- Hope, C.W. 2006. "The social cost of carbon: what does it actually depend on?" Climate Policy. 6(5). pp. 565-572.
- Hoppel, W.A. and G.M. Frick. 1986. "Ion-aerosol attachment coefficient and the steady-sate charge distribution on aerosol in bipolar ion environment." Aerosol Science and Technology. 5. pp. 1-21.

- Houghton, J.T., B.A. Callander, S.K. Varney, and C. Intergovernmental Panel on Climate, 1992, Climate change 1992 : the supplementary report to the IPCC scientific assessment, ed. Anonymous, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge ; New York, NY, USA.
- Houghton, J.T. and I. Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. Working Group, 2001, Climate change 2001 : the scientific basis, Published for the Intergovernmental Panel of Climate Change by Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, U.K.; New York.
- Houghton, J.T., I. Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. Working Group, and G. Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. Working, III, 1995, Climate change, 1994 : radiative forcing of climate change and an evaluation of the IPCC IS92 emission scenarios, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge England ; New York.
- Houghton, R.A. 1999. "The annual net flux of carbon to the atmosphere from changes in land use 1850-1990." Tellus Series B-Chemical and Physical Meteorology. 51(2). pp. 298-313.
- Houghton, R.A. 2003. "Revised estimates of the annual net flux of carbon to the atmosphere from changes in land use and land management 1850-2000." Tellus Series B-Chemical and Physical Meteorology. 55(2). pp. 378-390.
- Houghton, R.A. and J.L. Hackler. 2002. Carbon flux to the atmosphere from land-use changes. In: Trends: A Compendium of Data on Global Change, Carbon Dioxide Information Analysis Center. Prepared by R.M. Cushman. Data available online at http://cdiac.esd.ornl.gov/ftp/ndp050. Last updated October 2002. Oak Ridge National Laboratory, U.S. Department of Energy. Oak Ridge, TN [cited February 20, 2005].
- Houghton, R.A., J.E. Hobbie, J.M. Melillo, B. Moore, B.J. Peterson, G.R. Shaver, and G.M. Woodwell. 1983. "Changes in the Carbon Content of Terrestrial Biota and Soils between 1860 and 1980 - a Net Release of Co2 to the Atmosphere." Ecological Monographs. 53(3). pp. 235-262.
- Howard, J.B. 1969. On the Mechanism of Carbon Formation in Flames. Twelfth international symposium on combustion. Combustion Institute. Pittsburg, PA. pp. 877-887.
- Howard, J.B., B.C. Wersborg, and G.C. Williams. 1973. Coagulation of Carbon Particles in Premixed Flame. Faraday Symposium of the Chemical Society. Chemical Society. pp. 109-119.
- Howard, R.P., J.C. Wormhoudt, and P.D. Whitefield. 1996. "Experimental Characterization of Gas Turbine Emissions at Simulated Flight Altitude Conditions." NASA-TM-112751 and AEDC-TR-96-3. Arnold Air Force Base, TN. September 1996. National Aeronautics and Space Administration, Conducted at the Arnold Engineering Development Center. 158 pgs.
- Hsu, C.-I. and P.-H. Lin. 2005. "Performance assessment for airport noise charge policies and airline network adjustment response." Transportation Research Part D: Transport and Environment. 10(4). pp. 281-304.
- Huang, J. and R. Palmquist. 2001. "Environmental conditions, reservation prices, and time on the market for housing." Journal of real estate finance and economics. 22(2-3). pp. 203-219.
- Huang, Y., F. Dominici, and M. Bell. 2005. "Bayesian Hierarchical Distributed Lag Models for Summer Ozone Exposure and Cardio-Respiratory Mortality." Environmetrics. 16. pp. 547-562.
- Hubler, G., R. Alvarez, P. Daum, R. Dennis, N. Gillani, L. Kleinman, W. Luke, J. Meagher, D. Rider, M. Trainer, and R. Valente. 1998. "An overview of the airborne activities during the Southern Oxidants Study (SOS) 1995 Nashville Middle Tennessee Ozone Study." Journal of Geophysical Research-Atmospheres. 103(D17). pp. 22245-22259.
- Hui, E., C. Chau, L. Pun, and M. Law. 2007. "Measuring the neighboring and environmental effects on residential property value: Using spatial weighting matrix." Building and Environment. 42(6). pp. 2333-2343.
- Hunter, S.C. 1982. "Formation of So3 in Gas-Turbines." Journal of Engineering for Power-Transactions of the Asme. 104(1). pp. 44-51.
- Hunton, D.E., J.O. Ballenthin, J.F. Borghetti, G.S. Federico, T.M. Miller, W.F. Thorn, A.A. Viggiano, B.E. Anderson, W.R. Cofer, III, D.S. McDougal, and C.C. Wey. 2000. "Chemical ionization mass spectrometric measurements of SO2 emissions from jet engines in flight and test chamber operations." J. Geophys. Res. 105(D22). pp. 26841–26855.
- Hurley, C.D. 1993. "Smoke measurements inside a gas turbine combustor." AIAA 93-2070. Presented at 29th Joint Propulsion Conference and Exhibit. Monterey, California. 1993. American Institute of Aeronautics and Astronautics.
- Hustache, J.-C. 2003. "Air transport and environmental economics: stakes, current situatioon, and possible options." EEC/SEE/ 2003/006. Bretigny sur Orge, France. Eurocontrol Experimental Centre, Society, Environment, and Economy Research Area. 31 pgs.
- Hygge, S., G.W. Evans, and M. Bullinger. 1996. "Cognitive noise-effects on children from the changeover of airports in Munich." International Journal of Psychology. 31(3-4). pp. 5178-5178.

- Hygge, S., G.W. Evans, and M. Bullinger. 2002. "A prospective study of some effects of aircraft noise on cognitive performance in schoolchildren." Psychological Science. 13(5). pp. 469-474.
- Hygge, S., G.W. Evans, and M. Bullinger. 2003. "A Prospective Study of Some Effects of Aircraft Noise on Cognitive Performance in Schoolchildren." Psychological Science. 13(5). pp. 469-474.
- ICAO. 1981. "Assessment of Technological Progress Made in Reduction of Noise from Subsonic and Supersonic Jet Aeroplanes." ICAO Circular 157-AN/101. Montreal. International Civil Aviation Organization. 108 pgs.
- ICAO. 1988. "Recommended method for computing noise contours around airports." ICAO Circular 205-AN/1/25. Montreal. International Civil Aviation Organization. 32 pgs.
- ICAO. 1989. "Economic implications of future noise restrictions on subsonic jet aircraft." ICAO Circular 218-AN/86. Montreal. International Civil Aviation Organization. 58 pgs.
- ICAO. 1993. "International standards and recommended practices, Environmental protection, Annex 16, Volume II: Aircraft engine emissions." Second edition, with amendments (Amendment 3, March 20, 1997; Amendment 4, November 4 1999). Montreal. July 1993.
- ICAO. 1995. "Engine exhaust emissions data bank, 1st edition with amendments." ICAO-9646-AN/943. Montreal, Canada. International Civil Aviation Organization.
- ICAO. 2004. "Resolution A35-5: Consolidated statement of continuing ICAO policies and practices related to environmental protection." Resolutions adopted by the 35th Session of the Assembly, Provisional Edition. Montreal, Canada. October 2004.
- IEc, I.E.I. 2006. "Final Report: Expanded Expert Judgment Assessment of the Concentration-Response Relationship between PM2.5 Exposure and Mortality." September 21, 2006. EPA Office of Air Quality Planning and Standards.
- Ignaccolo, M. 2000. "Environmental capacity: Noise pollution at Catania-Fontanarossa international airport." Journal of Air Transport Management. 6(4). pp. 191-199.
- Iman, R.L. and J.C. Helton. 1988. "An Investigation of Uncertainty and Sensitivity Analysis Techniques for Computer-Models." Risk Analysis. 8(1). pp. 71-90.
- Inc, A.A., Abt05. 2005. "BenMAP: Environmental Benefits Mapping and Analysis Program." US EPA Office of Air Quality Planning and Standards.
- Iovinelli, R., Memorandum: Use of the First Order Approximation (FOA) to Estimate Aircraft Engine Particulate Matter (PM) Emissions in NEPA Documents and Clean Air Act General Conformity Analyses, C.E.N.D. Manager, APP-600, Editor. 2005.
- Iovinelli, R., Personal Communication, G. Ratliff, Editor. 2007.
- IPCC, 1996, Climate Change 1995: The Science of Climate Change, Contribution of Working Group I (WGI) to the Second Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, ed. J.T. Houghton, L.G. Meira-Filho, B.A. Callender, N. Harris, A. Kattenberg, and K. Maskell, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, U.K.
- IPCC, 1996, Climate Change 1995: Impacts, Adaptations and Mitigation of Climate Change : Scientific-Technical Analyses, Contribution of Working Group II (WG2) to the Second Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, ed. R.T. Watson, M.C. Zinyowera, and R.H. Moss, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge.
- IPCC, 1996, Climate Change 1995: Economic and Social Dimensions of Climate Change, Contribution of Working Group III (WG3) to the Second Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, ed. J.P. Bruce, H. Lee, and E.F. Haites, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge.
- IPCC. 1999. "Aviation and the global atmosphere: A special report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change." J.E. Penner, D.H. Lister, D.J. Griggs, D.J. Dokken, and M. McFarland, eds. Cambridge, UK. 1999. Cambridge University Press.
- Irby, R., Time limit on Qantas noise, in The Cairns Post (Australia). 2007, Nationwide News Pty Limited: Cairns. p. pg 2.
- Irby, R., Ire decibels up over flight path, in The Cairns Post (Australia). 2007, Nationwide News Pty Limited: Cairns. p. pg 5.
- ISO. 1982. "Acoustics-Description and measurement of environmental noise-Part 1: Basic quantities and procedures, ISO 1996/1-1982." 1982. International Organization for Standardization.
- ISO. 2005. "Acoustics—Unattended monitoring of aircraft sound in the vicinity of airports." Sixth ISO/CD 20906, Document 43/1 N 1561. Berlin, Germany. February 16, 2005. ISO Technical Committee 43, Subcommittee 1. 42 pgs.
- Ito, K. 2003. "Associations of particulate matter components with daily mortality and morbidity in Detroit Michigan." Revised analyses of the National Morbidity, Mortality, and Air Pollution Study, Part II: Revised analyses of selected time-series studies. Presented at In Revised analyses of time-series studies of air pollution and health. Boston, MA. May 2003. Health Effects Institute. 143-156 pgs.

- Ito, K., S.F. De Leon, and M. Lippmann. 2005. "Associations between Ozone and Daily Mortality: Analysis and Meta-Analysis." Epidemiology. 16(4). pp. 446-457.
- Ito, K. and G.D. Thurston. 1996. "Daily PM(10)/mortality associations: An investigation of at-risk subpopulations." Journal of Exposure Analysis and Environmental Epidemiology. 6(1). pp. 79-95.
- Ivehammar, P. 2008. "Valuing in actual travel time environmental encroachment caused by transport infrastructure." Transportation Research Part D: Transport and Environment. 13(7). pp. 455-461.
- Jacob, D.J., J.A. Logan, G.M. Gardner, R.M. Yevich, C.M. Spivakovsky, S.C. Wofsy, S. Sillman, and M.J. Prather. 1993. "FACTORS REGULATING OZONE OVER THE UNITED-STATES AND ITS EXPORT TO THE GLOBAL ATMOSPHERE." Journal of Geophysical Research-Atmospheres. 98(D8). pp. 14817-14826.
- Jacobson, M.Z. 1997. "Development and application of a new air pollution modeling system--II. Aerosol module structure and design." Atmospheric Environment. 31(2). pp. 131-144.
- Jacobson, M.Z. 2008. "On the causal link between carbon dioxide and air pollution mortality." Geophysical Research Letters. 35(3). pp. 5.
- Jacobson, M.Z., R. Lu, R.P. Turco, and O.B. Toon. 1996. "Development and application of a new air pollution modeling systempart I: Gas-phase simulations." Atmospheric Environment. 30(12). pp. 1939-1963.
- Jacoby, H.D. 2004. "Informing climate policy given incommensurable benefits estimates." Global Environmental Change Part A. 14(3). pp. 287-297.
- Jacoby, H.D., J.M. Reilly, J.R. McFarland, and S. Paltsev. 2006. "Technology and technical change in the MIT EPPA model." Energy Economics. 28(5-6). pp. 610-631.
- Jaffe, D.H., M.E. Singer, and A.A. Rimm. 2003. "Air pollution and emergency department visits for asthma among Ohio Medicaid recipients, 1991-1996." Environmental Research. 91(1). pp. 21-28.
- Jamin, S., A. Schafer, M.E. Ben-Akiva, and I.A. Waitz. 2004. "Aviation emissions and abatement policies in the United States: a city-pair analysis." Transportation Research Part D-Transport and Environment. 9(4). pp. 295-317.
- Janic, M. 1999. "Aviation and externalities: the accomplishments and problems." Transportation Research Part D: Transport and Environment. 4(3). pp. 159-180.
- Janic, M. 2000. "An assessment of risk and safety in civil aviation." Journal of Air Transport Management. 6(1). pp. 43-50.
- Janic, M. 2003. "Modelling operational, economic and environmental performance of an air transport network." Transportation Research Part D: Transport and Environment. 8(6). pp. 415-432.
- Jarup, L., W. Babisch, D. Houthuijs, G. Pershagen, K. Katsouyanni, E. Cadum, M.-L. Dudley, P. Savigny, I. Seiffert, W. Swart, O. Breugelmans, G. Bluhm, J. Selander, A. Haralabidis, K. Dimakopoulou, P. Sourtzi, M. Velonakis, F. Vigna-Taglianti, and o.b.o.t.H.s. team. 2008. "Hypertension and Exposure to Noise near Airports the HYENA study." Environ Health Perspectives. 116. pp. 329-33.
- Jarup, L., W. Babisch, D. Houthuijs, G. Pershagen, K. Katsouyanni, E. Cadum, M.L. Dudley, P. Savigny, I. Seiffert, W. Swart, O. Breugelmans, G. Bluhm, J. Selander, A. Haralabidis, K. Dimakopoujou, P. Sourtzi, M. Velonakis, and F. Vigna-Taglianti. 2008. "Hypertension and exposure to noise near airports: the HYENA study." Environmental Health Perspectives. 116(3). pp. 329-333.
- Jarup, L., M.L. Dudley, W. Babisch, D. Houthuijs, W. Swart, G. Pershagen, G. Bluhm, K. Katsouyanni, M. Velonakis, E. Cadum, and F. Vigna-Taglianti. 2005. "Hypertension and exposure to noise near airports (HYENA): Study design and noise exposure assessment." Environmental Health Perspectives. 113(11). pp. 1473-1478.
- Jessurun, X., B. Albee, B. Sharp, and M. Burn. 2004. "Land use planning guidelines for new non-urban airports, Executive summary." Wyle Report 03-13 (J/N 47871). Arlington, VA. June 2004. Prepared for the Greater Toronto Airports Authority by the Wyle Acoustics Group, Whle Laboratories. 20 pgs.
- Jim, C. and W. Chen. 2006. "Impacts of urban environmental elements on residential housing prices in Guangzhou (China)." Landscape and Urban Planning. 78(4). pp. 422-434.
- Job, R., J. Hatfield, N. Carter, P. Peploe, R. Taylor, and S. Morrell. 2001. "General scales of community reaction to noise (dissatisfaction and perceived affectedness) are more reliable than scales of annoyance." JOURNAL OF THE ACOUSTICAL SOCIETY OF AMERICA. 110(2). pp. 939-946.
- Johnson, K. and K. Button. 1997. "Benefit transfers: Are they a satisfactory input to benefit cost analysis? An airport noise nuisance case study." Transportation Research Part D Transport and Environment. 2(4). pp. 223-231.
- Johnston, H.S., M.J. Prather, and R.T. Watson. 1991. "Atmospheric effects of stratospheric aircraft: A topical review." NASA-RP-1250. Washington, D.C. 1991. National Aeronautics and Space Administration. 32 pgs.

- Jones, A.E., S. Bekki, and J.A. Pyle. 1995. "ON THE ATMOSPHERIC IMPACT OF LAUNCHING THE ARIANE-5 ROCKET." Journal of Geophysical Research-Atmospheres. 100(D8). pp. 16651-16660.
- Joos, F. and M. Bruno. 1996. "Pulse response functions are cost-efficient tools to model the link between carbon emissions, atmospheric CO2 and global warming." Physics and Chemistry of The Earth. 21(5-6). pp. 471-476.
- Joos, F., M. Bruno, R. Fink, U. Siegenthaler, T.F. Stocker, and C. LeQuere. 1996. "An efficient and accurate representation of complex oceanic and biospheric models of anthropogenic carbon uptake." Tellus Series B-Chemical and Physical Meteorology. 48(3). pp. 397-417.
- JPDO. 2004. "Next Generation Air Transportation System: Integrated Plan." Washington, D.C. December 2004. 40 pgs.
- Jud, G. and D. Winkler. 2006. "The announcement effect of an airport expansion on housing prices." The Journal of Real Estate Finance and Economics. 33(2). pp. 91-103.
- Kandlikar, M. 1996. "Indices for comparing greenhouse gas emissions: Integrating science and economics." Energy Economics. 18(4). pp. 265-281.
- Karcher, B. 1994. "Transport of exhaust products in the near trail of a jet engine under atmospheric conditions." J. Geophys. Res. 99.
- Karcher, B. 1996. "Aircraft-generated aerosols and visible contrails." Geophysical Research Letters. 23(15). pp. 1933-1936.
- Karcher, B. 1997. "Heterogeneous chemistry in aircraft wakes: Constraints for uptake coefficients." Journal of Geophysical Research-Atmospheres. 102(D15). pp. 19119-19135.
- Karcher, B. 1998. "Physicochemistry of aircraft-generated liquid aerosols, soot, and ice particles 1. Model description." Journal of Geophysical Research-Atmospheres. 103(D14). pp. 17111-17128.
- Karcher, B. 1999. "Aviation-produced aerosols and contrails." Surveys in Geophysics. 20(2). pp. 113-167.
- Karcher, B., R. Busen, A. Petzold, F.P. Schroder, U. Schumann, and E.J. Jensen. 1998. "Physicochemistry of aircraft-generated liquid aerosols, soot, and ice particles - 2. Comparison with observations and sensitivity studies." Journal of Geophysical Research-Atmospheres. 103(D14). pp. 17129-17147.
- Karcher, B. and D.W. Fahey. 1997. "The role of sulfur emission in volatile particle formation in jet aircraft exhaust plumes." Geophysical Research Letters. 24(4). pp. 389-392.
- Karcher, B., M.M. Hirschberg, and P. Fabian. 1996. "Small-scale chemical evolution of aircraft exhaust species at cruising altitudes." Journal of Geophysical Research-Atmospheres. 101(D10). pp. 15169-15190.
- Karcher, B., T. Peter, U.M. Biermann, and U. Schumann. 1996. "The Initial Composition of Jet Condensation Trails." Journal of the Atmospheric Sciences. 53(21). pp. 3066-3083.
- Karcher, B., T. Peter, and R. Ottmann. 1995. "Contrail Formation Homogeneous Nucleation of H2so4/H2o Droplets." Geophysical Research Letters. 22(12). pp. 1501-1504.
- Karcher, B., R.P. Turco, F. Yu, M.Y. Danilin, D.K. Weisenstein, R.C. Miake-Lye, and R. Busen. 2000. "A unified model for ultrafine aircraft particle emissions." Journal of Geophysical Research-Atmospheres. 105(D24). pp. 29379-29386.
- Karcher, B., F. Yu, F.P. Schroder, and R.P. Turco. 1998. "Ultrafine aerosol particles in aircraft plumes: Analysis of growth mechanisms." Geophysical Research Letters. 25(15). pp. 2793-2796.
- Kasibhatla, P., W.L. Chameides, R.D. Saylor, and D. Olerud. 1998. "Relationships between regional ozone pollution and emissions of nitrogen oxides in the eastern United States." Journal of Geophysical Research-Atmospheres. 103(D17). pp. 22663-22669.
- Kawa, S.R., J.G. Anderson, S.L. Baughcum, C.A. Brock, W.H. Brune, R.C. Cohen, D.E. Kinnison, P.A. Newman, J.M. Rodriquez, R.S. Stolarski, D. Waugh, M. Ko, D. Weisenstein, M. Danilin, C. Scott, and R.L. Shia. 1998. "Assessment of the effects of high-speed aircraft in the stratosphere: 1998" NASA/TM-1999-209237 Greenbelt, MD. June 1999. Goddard Space Flight Center, National Aeronautics and Space Administration. 232 pgs.
- Kee, R.J., F.M. Rupley, and J.A. Miller. 1991. "CHEMKIN-II: A FORTAN chemical kinetics package for the analysis of gasphase chemical kinetics, SAND89-8009." SAND89-8009. March 1991. Sandia National Laboratories.
- Keeling, C.D. and T.P. Whorf. 2004. Atmospheric CO2 records from sites in the SIO air sampling network. In: Trends: A Compendium of Data on Global Change, Carbon Dioxide Information Analysis Center. Data available online at: http:// cdiac.esd.ornl.gov/ftp/trends/co2/maunaloa.co2. Last updated June 2004. Oak Ridge National Laboratory, U.S. Department of Energy. Oak Ridge, TN [cited June 9, 2004].
- Kennedy, N. and P. Anderson. 1994. "Household saving and real house prices: an international perspective." BIS Working Paper 20. Basel, Switzerland. January. Monetary and Economic Department, Bank for International Settlements. 74 pgs.

- Kerrebrock, J.L. and A.A. Mikolajczak. 1970. "Intra-stator transport of rotor wakes and its effects on compressor performance." Journal of Engineering for Power. 92. pp. 359-369.
- Kesgin, U. 2006. "Aircraft emissions at Turkish airports." Energy. 31(2-3). pp. 372-384.
- Khoder, M. 2002. "Atmospheric conversion of sulfur dioxide to particulate sulfate and nitrogen dioxide to particulate nitrate and gaseous nitric acid in an urban area." Chemosphere. 49(6). pp. 675-684.
- Kicklighter, D.W., M. Bruno, S. Donges, G. Esser, M. Heimann, J. Helfrich, F. Ift, F. Joos, J. Kaduk, G.H. Kohlmaier, A.D.
 McGuire, J.M. Melillo, R. Meyer, B. Moore, A. Nadler, I.C. Prentice, W. Sauf, A.L. Schloss, S. Sitch, U. Wittenberg, and G.
 Wurth. 1999. "A first-order analysis of the potential role of CO2 fertilization to affect the global carbon budget: a comparison of four terrestrial biosphere models." Tellus Series B-Chemical and Physical Meteorology. 51(2). pp. 343-366.
- Kim, K., S. Park, and Y. Kweon. 2007. "Highway traffic noise effects on land price in an urban area." Transportation Research Part D - Transport and Environment. 12(4). pp. 275-280.
- Kinney, P.L., K. Ito, and G.D. Thurston. 1995. "A Sensitivity Analysis of Mortality Pm-10 Associations in Los-Angeles." Inhalation Toxicology. 7(1). pp. 59-69.
- Kish, C. 2008. "An estimate of the global impact of commercial aviation noise." M.S. thesis. Department of Aeronautics and Astronautics. Massachusetts Institute of Technology. Cambridge, MA.
- Kish, C. 2008. "An Estimate of the Global Impact of Commercial Aviation Noise." Massachusetts Institute of Technology. Cambridge, MA.
- Kivekã¤s, N., V.-M. Kerminen, T. Anttila, H. Korhonen, H. Lihavainen, M. Komppula, and M. Kulmala. 2008. "Parameterization of cloud droplet activation using a simplified treatment of the aerosol number size distribution." Journal of Geophysical Research. 113(D15).
- Kjellstrom, T., L. van Kerkhoff, G. Bammer, and T. McMichael. 2003. "Comparative assessment of transport risks how it can contribute to health impact assessment of transport policies." Bulletin of the World Health Organization. 81(6). pp. 451-457.
- Kleinman, L.I., P.H. Daum, D.G. Imre, J.H. Lee, Y.N. Lee, L.J. Nunnermacker, S.R. Springston, J. Weinstein-Lloyd, and L. Newman. 2000. "Ozone production in the New York City urban plume." Journal of Geophysical Research-Atmospheres. 105(D11). pp. 14495-14511.
- Kleinman, L.I., P.H. Daum, Y.N. Lee, L.J. Nunnermacker, S.R. Springston, J. Weinstein-Lloyd, and J. Rudolph. 2002. "Ozone production efficiency in an urban area." Journal of Geophysical Research-Atmospheres. 107(D23). pp. 12.
- Klemm, R.J. and R. Mason. 2003. "Is daily mortality associated specifically with fine particles." Revised analyses of the National Morbidity, Mortality, and Air Pollution Study, Part II: Revised analyses of selected time-series studies. Presented at In Revised analyses of time-series studies of air pollution and health. Boston, MA. 2003. Health Effects Institute. 165-172 pgs.
- Klima, K. 2005. "Assessment of a global contrail modeling method and operational strategies for contrail mitigation." Dissertation/Thesis. Massachusetts Institute of Technology, Dept. of Aeronautics and Astronautics
- Kniesner, T.J. and J.D. Leeth. 1991. "COMPENSATING WAGE DIFFERENTIALS FOR FATAL INJURY RISK IN AUSTRALIA, JAPAN, AND THE UNITED-STATES." Journal of Risk and Uncertainty. 4(1). pp. 75-90.
- Knighton, W.B., T.M. Rogers, B.E. Anderson, S.C. Herndon, P.E. Yelvington, and R.C. Miake-Lye. 2007. "Quantification of aircraft engine hydrocarbon emissions using proton transfer reaction mass spectrometry." Journal of Propulsion and Power. 23(5). pp. 949-958.
- Ko, M., D. Weisenstein, M. Danilin, C. Scott, and R.L. Shia. 2000. "Model assessment of the impact on ozone of subsonic and supersonic aircraft." Final Report. United States. June 19, 2000 Atmospheric and Environmental Research, Inc. for the Goddard Space Flight Center, National Aeronautics and Space Administration. 82 pgs.
- Ko, T. and A. Fontijn. 1991. "High-Temperature Photochemistry Kinetics Study of the Reaction H + No2- Oh + No from 296-K to 760-K." Journal of Physical Chemistry. 95(10). pp. 3984-3987.
- Koch, T., Qantas eases noise, but at what cost?, in The Australian. 2007, News Limited: Sydney.
- Kohler, I., R. Sausen, and R. Reinberger. 1997. "Contributions of aircraft emissions to the atmospheric NOx content." Atmospheric Environment. 31(12). pp. 1801-1818.
- Kolb, C.E., J.T. Jayne, D.R. Worsnop, M.J. Molina, R.F. Meads, and A.A. Viggiano. 1994. "Gas-Phase Reaction of Sulfur-Trioxide with Water-Vapor." Journal of the American Chemical Society. 116(22). pp. 10314-10315.
- Kolstad, C.D., 2000, Environmental economics, Oxford University Press, New York, New York.
- Kopp, R.J., A.J. Krupnick, and M. Toman, Kopp97. 1997. "Cost-Benefit Analysis and Regulatory Reform: An Assessment of the Science and the Art." Presented at Resources for the Future Discussion Paper, No. 97-19.

- Kraabol, A.G., F. Flatoy, and F. Stordal. 2000. "Impact of NOx emissions from subsonic aircraft: Inclusion of plume processes in a three-dimensional model covering Europe, North America, and the North Atlantic." Journal of Geophysical Research-Atmospheres. 105(D3). pp. 3573-3581.
- Kraabol, A.G., P. Konopka, F. Stordal, and H. Schlager. 2000. "Modelling chemistry in aircraft plumes 1: comparison with observations and evaluation of a layered approach." Atmospheric Environment. 34(23). pp. 3939-3950.
- Krewitt, W. 2002. "External costs of energy: Do the answers match the questions?: Looking back at 10 years of ExternE." Energy Policy. 30(10). pp. 839-848.
- Kruger, J. and W.A. Pizer. 2004. "The EU emissions trading directive: opportunties and potential pitfalls, Discussion Paper 04-24." Washington, D.C. April. Resources for the Future. 60 pgs.
- Kruize, H., P.P.J. Driessen, P. Glasbergen, K.V. Egmond, and T. Dassen. 2007. "Environmental equity in the vicinity of Amsterdam Airport: The interplay between market forces and government policy." Journal of Environmental Planning and Management. 50(6). pp. 699 - 726.
- Krupnick, A. 2007. "Mortality-risk Valuation and Age: Stated Preference Evidence." Rev Environ Econ Policy. 1(2). pp. 261-282.
- Krupnick, A., B. Ostro, and K. Bull, Krup04. 2004. "Peer Review of the Methodology of Cost- Benefit Analysis of the Clean Air for Europe Programme." Presented at Paper prepared for European Commission Environment Directorate General.
- Krupnick, A.J. and M.L. Cropper. 1992. "The Effect of Information on Health Risk." Journal of Risk and Uncertainty. 5(2). pp. 29-48.
- Krupnick, A.J., W. Harrington, and B. Ostro. 1990. "Ambient Ozone and Acute Health-Effects Evidence from Daily Data." Journal of Environmental Economics and Management. 18(1). pp. 1-18.
- Kugele, A., F. Jelinek, and R. Gaffal. 2005. "Aircraft Particulate Matter Emission Estimates through all Phases of Flight." EEC/ SEE/2005/0014. EUROCONTROL.
- Kunzli, N., R. Kaiser, S. Medina, M. Studnicka, O. Chanel, P. Filliger, M. Herry, F. Horak, V. Puybonnieux-Texier, P. Quenel, J. Schneider, R. Seethaler, J.C. Vergnaud, and H. Sommer. 2000. "Public-health impact of outdoor and traffic-related air pollution: a European assessment." Lancet. 356(9232). pp. 795-801.
- Kuo, K.K., 2005, Principles of combustion. 2nd ed, John Wiley, Hoboken, NJ.
- Kurtenbach, R., J.C. Lörzer, A. Niedojadlo, M. Petrea, P. Weisen, M. Kapernaum, and C. Wahl. 2003. Emission of non-methane volatile organic compounds (NMVOCs) from a jet engine combustor and a hot end simulator (HES) during the PartEmis project. European Conference on Aviation, Atmosphere and Climate (AAC). European Commission. Friedrichshafen, Germany. June 30 to July 3, 2003. pp. 367.
- Laden, F., J. Schwartz, F.E. Speizer, and D.W. Dockery. 2006. "Reduction of Fine Particulate Air Pollution and Mortality." American Journal of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine. 173. pp. 667-672.
- Lake, I., A. Lovett, I. Bateman, and B. Day. 2000. "Improving land compensation procedures via GIS and hedonic pricing." Environment And Planning C - Government And Policy. 18(6). pp. 681-696.
- Lake, I., A. Lovett, I. Bateman, and I. Langford. 1998. "Modelling environmental influences on property prices in an urban environment." Computers, Environment and Urban Systems. 22(2). pp. 121-136.
- Landau, Z.H., M. Metwally, R. Vanalstyne, and C.A. Ward. 1994. "Jet Aircraft Engine Exhaust Emissions Database Development: Year 1990 and 2015 Scenarios." NASA-CR-4613 Hampton, VA. July 1994. McDonnell Douglas Aerospace, Transport Aircraft Division. Prepared for the Langley Research Center, National Aeronautics and Space Administration. 88 pgs.
- Landry, C. and H. Liu. 2008. "A semi-parametric estimator for revealed and stated preference data: An application to recreational beach visitation." Journal of Environmental Economics and Management. 57(2). pp. 205-218.
- Lashof, D.A. and D.R. Ahuja. 1990. "Relative Contributions of Greenhouse Gas Emissions to Global Warming." Nature. 344(6266). pp. 529-531.
- Lawrence, P. 2009. "Meeting the challenge of aviation emissions: an aircraft industry perspective." Technology Analysis & Strategic Management. 21(1). pp. 79-92.
- Lee, D.S. and R. Sausen. 2003. Climate responses to aviation NO_x and CO₂ emissions scenarios. European Conference on Aviation, Atmosphere and Climate (AAC), Proceedings of an International Conference. European Commission. Friedrichshafen, Germany. June 30 July 3, 2003. pp. 343-348.
- Lee, J.J. 2005. "Modeling aviation's global emissions, uncertainty analysis, and applications to policy." Doctor of Philosophy. Massachusetts Institute of Technology. Cambridge, MA.

- Lee, J.J., S.P. Lukachko, I.A. Waitz, and A. Schafer. 2001. "Historical and future trends in aircraft performance, cost, and emissions." Annual Review of Energy and the Environment. 26. pp. 167-200.
- Lee, S., L. Donner, V. Phillips, and Y. Ming. 2008. "The dependence of aerosol effects on clouds and precipitation on cloudsystem organization, shear and stability." Journal of Geophysical Research. 113(D16).
- Lefebvre, A.H., 1999, Gas turbine combustion. 2nd ed, Taylor & Francis, Philadelphia, PA.
- Leggett, J.A., WJ. Pepper, and R.J. Swart. 1992. Emissions scnearios for the IPCC: An update. In: Climate Change 1992: The Supplementary Report to the IPCC Scientific Assessment, Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, J.T. Houghton, B.A. Callander, and S.K. Varney. Scenarios available online at: http://ipcc-ddc.cru.uea.ac.uk/cru_data/examine/emissions/ is92_new_home.html. Cambridge University Press via the IPCC Data Distribution Centre. Cambridge, UK [cited November 28, 2004].
- Leigh, J.P. 1987. "GENDER, FIRM SIZE, INDUSTRY, AND ESTIMATES OF THE VALUE-OF-LIFE." Journal of Health Economics. 6(3). pp. 255-273.
- Leigh, J.P. and R.N. Folsom. 1984. "ESTIMATES OF THE VALUE OF ACCIDENT AVOIDANCE AT THE JOB DEPEND ON THE CONCAVITY OF THE EQUALIZING DIFFERENCES CURVE." Quarterly Review of Economics and Business. 24(1). pp. 56-66.
- Lelieveld, J., P.J. Crutzen, and F.J. Dentener. 1998. "Changing concentration, lifetime and climate forcing of atmospheric methane." Tellus Series B-Chemical and Physical Meteorology. 50(2). pp. 128-150.
- Lenzen, M., S.A. Murray, B. Korte, and C.J. Dey. 2003. "Environmental impact assessment including indirect effects--a case study using input-output analysis." Environmental Impact Assessment Review. 23(3). pp. 263-282.
- Levesque, T.J. 1994. "Modeling the effects of airport noise on residential housing markets: A case-study of Winnipeg International Airport." Journal of Transport Economics and Policy. 28(2). pp. 199-210.
- Levinson, D., D. Gillen, and A. Kanafani. 1998. "The social costs of intercity transportation: A review and comparison of air and highway." Transport Reviews. 18(3). pp. 215-240.
- Levy, J.I., S.M. Chemerynski, and J.A. Sarnat. 2005. "Ozone Exposure and Mortality Risk: An Empirical Bayes Meta-Regression Analysis." Epidemiology.
- Levy, J.I., J.K. Hammitt, Y. Yanagisawa, and J.D. Spengler. 1999. "Development of a new damage function model for power plants: Methodology and applications." Environmental Science & Technology. 33(24). pp. 4364-4372.
- Li, G., Y. Wang, and R. Zhang. 2008. "Implementation of a two-moment bulk microphysics scheme to the WRF model to investigate aerosol-cloud interaction." Journal of Geophysical Research. 113(D15).
- Liao, K.J., E. Tagaris, S.L. Napelenok, K. Manomaiphiboon, J.H. Woo, P. Amar, S. He, and A.G. Russell. 2008. "Current and future linked responses of ozone and PM2.5 to emission controls." Environmental Science & Technology. 42(13). pp. 4670-4675.
- Liebeck, R.H., D.A. Andrastek, J. Chau, R. Girvin, and R. Lyon, McDonnell Douglas Aerospace. 1995. "Advanced Subsonic Airplane Design and Economic Studies." NASA CR 195443. Long Beach, CA. April 1995. Prepared for Lewis Research Center, National Aeronautics and Space Administration. 38p pgs.
- Lin, M., Y. Chen, R.T. Burnett, P.J. Villeneuve, and D. Krewski. 2002. "The influence of ambient coarse particulate matter on asthma hospitalization in children: Case-crossover and time-series analyses." Environmental Health Perspectives. 110(6). pp. 575-581.
- Lin, S.A.Y. and Southern Illinois University at Edwardsville., 1976, Theory and measurement of economic externalities, Economic theory and mathematical economics, Academic Press, New York.
- Linn, W.S., E.L. Avol, R.C. Peng, D.A. Shamoo, and J.D. Hackney. 1987. "Replicated Dose-Response Study of Sulfur-Dioxide Effects in Normal, Atopic, and Asthmatic Volunteers." American Review of Respiratory Disease. 136(5). pp. 1127-1134.
- Linn, W.S., E.L. Avol, D.A. Shamoo, R.C. Peng, C.E. Spier, M.N. Smith, and J.D. Hackney. 1988. "Effect of Metaproterenol Sulfate on Mild Asthmatics Response to Sulfur-Dioxide Exposure and Exercise." Archives of Environmental Health. 43(6). pp. 399-406.
- Linn, W.S., D.A. Shamoo, R.C. Peng, K.W. Clark, E.L. Avol, and J.D. Hackney. 1990. "Responses to Sulfur-Dioxide and Exercise by Medication-Dependent Asthmatics - Effect of Varying Medication Levels." Archives of Environmental Health. 45(1). pp. 24-30.
- Liou, K.N., S.C. Ou, and K. Koenig, An investigation of the climatic effects of contrail cirrus, in Air Traffic and the Environment, U. Schumann, Editor. 1990, Springer-Verlag: Berlin. p. 154-169.

- Lippmann, M., K. Ito, A. Nadas, and R.T. Burnett. 2000. "Association of particulate matter components with daily mortality and morbidity in urban populations." Research Report Number 95, Final Version. Boston, MA. August 2000. Health Effects Institute. 92 pgs.
- Liu, N.-S. 2001. "On the comprehensive modeling and simulation of combustion systems." AIAA, Aerospace Sciences Meeting and Exhibit, 39th, Reno, NV; UNITED STATES; 8-11 Jan. 2001. AIAA Paper 2001-0805.
- Liu, X. and J. Polak. 2007. "Nonlinearity and Specification of Attitudes Toward Risk in Discrete Choice Models." Transportation Research Record. 2014(1). pp. 27-31.
- Lobo, P., D. Hagen, and P. Whitefield. 2006. Aircraft PM Emissions from the APEX2 Measurement Campaign. Cambridge Particle Meeting. Cambridge, UK. May 22, 2006
- Lobo, P., D.E. Hagen, P.D. Whitefield, and D.J. Alofs. 2007. "Physical characterization of aerosol emissions from a commercial gas turbine engine." Journal of Propulsion and Power. 23(5). pp. 919-929.
- Loomis, J. and B. Allen. 2008. "Using Non Market Valuation to Inform the Choice Between Permits and Fees in Environmental Regulation." Environmental and Resource Economics. 40(3). pp. 329-337.
- Lopez, A.D. and P. Disease Control Priorities, 2006, Global burden of disease and risk factors, Oxford University Press; World Bank, New York; Washington, DC.
- Lopez, B., OTAG ISI Task Group: Criteria for Modeling & Strategy Refinement regarding NOX Disbenefits, E.O.I.I.a.S.W.a.t.C.E. Mini-workgroup, Editor. 1996.
- Lu, C. 2001. "Evaluation and implications of environmental charges on commercial flights." TRANSPORT REVIEWS. 21(3). pp. 377-395.
- Lu, C. and P. Morrell. 2006. "Determination and applications of environmental costs at different sized airports: Aircraft noise and engine emissions." Transportation. 33(1). pp. 45-61.
- Lu, C.H. and J.S. Chang. 1998. "On the indicator-based approach to assess ozone sensitivities and emissions features." Journal of Geophysical Research-Atmospheres. 103(D3). pp. 3453-3462.
- Lukachko, S.P. 1997. "Research on the science and politics of the atmospheric effects of avaition debate." Master of Science in Aeronautics and Astronautics and Master of Science in Technology and Policy. Massachusetts Institute of Technology. Cambridge, MA.
- Lukachko, S.P. 2008 forthcoming. "The environmental costs of commercial aircraft noise and emissions in the United States (tentative title)." Doctor of Philosophy in Aeronautics and Astronautics. Massachusetts Institute of Technology. Cambridge, MA.
- Lukachko, S.P. and I.A. Waitz. 1997. "Effects of engine aging on aircraft NO_x emissions." 97-GT-386. Presented at International Gas Turbine and Aeroengine Congress and Exhibition (ASME Turbo Expo 1997). Orlando, Florida. June 2-5, 1997. American Society of Mechanical Engineers. 15 pgs.
- Lukachko, S.P., I.A. Waitz, R.C. Miake-Lye, and R.C. Brown. 2008. "Engine design and operational impacts on particulate matter precursor emissions." Journal of Engineering for Gas Turbines and Power 130(2). pp. 021505:1-15.
- Lukachko, S.P., I.A. Waitz, R.C. Miake-Lye, R.C. Brown, and M.R. Anderson. 1998. "Production of sulfate aerosol precursors in the turbine and exhaust nozzle of an aircraft engine." Journal of Geophysical Research-Atmospheres. 103(D13). pp. 16159-16174.
- Lyon, T.F. and D.W. Bahr. 1981. "CF6-50 engine emissions testing with traverse probe, Final Report." FAA-CT-81-81. Cincinnati, NY. January 1981. Federal Aviation Administration, Conducted by the General Electric Company, Aircraft Engine Business Group. 81 pgs.
- Lyon, T.F., W. Dodds, and D.W. Bahr. 1980. "Determination of pollutant emissions characteristics of General Electric CF6-6 and CF6-50 model engines, Final report." FAA-EE-80-27. Cincinnati, NY. 1980. Federal Aviation Administration, Conducted by the General Electric Company, Aircraft Engine Business Group.

Maddison, D. 1995. "A cost-benefit analysis of clowing climate change." Energy Policy. 23(4-5). pp. 337-346.

Maier-Reimer, E. 1993. "The biological pump in the greenhouse." Global and Planetary Change. 8(1-2). pp. 13-15.

Maier-Reimer, E. 1993. "GEOCHEMICAL CYCLES IN AN OCEAN GENERAL-CIRCULATION MODEL -

PREINDUSTRIAL TRACER DISTRIBUTIONS." Global Biogeochemical Cycles. 7(3). pp. 645-677.

Maier-Reimer, E. and K. Hasselmann. 1987. "Transport and storage of CO₂ in the ocean—an inorganic ocean-circulation carbon cycle model." Climate Dynamics. 2(1). pp. 63-90.

- Maier-Reimer, E. and U. Mikolajewicz. 1992. "The Hamburg Large Scale Geostrophic Ocean General Circulation Model Cycle 1." Report No. 2. Max-Plank-Institut für Meteorologie Modellberatungsgruppe ed. Hamburg. February 1992, Revision 1. 38 pgs.
- Maniscalco, D. and J. Gustetic. 2007.
- Manne, A. and R. Richels. 1995. "The greenhouse debate: Economic efficiency, burden sharing and hedging strategies." Energy Journal. 16(4). pp. 1-37.
- Manne, A.S. and R.G. Richels. 2001. "An alternative approach to establishing trade-offs among greenhouse gases." Nature. 410. pp. 675-677.
- Marais, K., S.P. Lukachko, M. Jun, A. Mahashabde, and I.A. Waitz. 2008. "Assessing the impact of aviation on climate." Meteorologische Zeitschrift. 17(2). pp. 157-172.
- Marais, K., S.P. Lukachko, M. Jun, A. Mahashabde, and I.A. Waitz. 2008. "Assessing the impact of aviation on climate." Meteorologische Zeitschrift. 17. pp. 157-172.
- Marin, A. and G. Psacharopoulos. 1982. "THE REWARD FOR RISK IN THE LABOR-MARKET EVIDENCE FROM THE UNITED-KINGDOM AND A RECONCILIATION WITH OTHER STUDIES." Journal of Political Economy. 90(4). pp. 827-853.
- Marland, G., T.A. Boden, and R.J. Andres. 2003. Global, Regional, and National CO2 Emissions. In: Trends: A Compendium of Data on Global Change, Carbon Dioxide Information Analysis Center. Data available online at http://cdiac.esd.ornl.gov/ftp/ ndp030/CSV-FILES/global.1751_2000.csv. Last updated August 2003. Oak Ridge National Laboratory, U.S. Department of Energy. Oak Ridge, TN [cited June 9, 2004].
- Marland, G. and R.M. Rotty. 1984. "Carbon-Dioxide Emissions from Fossil-Fuels a Procedure for Estimation and Results for 1950-1982." Tellus Series B-Chemical and Physical Meteorology. 36(4). pp. 232-261.
- Marquart, S. and B. Mayer. 2002. "Towards a reliable GCM estimation of contrail radiative forcing." Geophysical Research Letters. 29(8).
- Marquart, S., M. Ponater, F. Mager, and R. Sausen. 2003. "Future development of contrail cover, optical depth, and radiative forcing: Impacts of increasing air traffic and climate change." Journal of Climate. 16(17). pp. 2890-2904.
- Masek, T. 2008. "A Response Surface Model of the Air Quality Impacts of Aviation." Massachusetts Institute of Technology. Cambridge, MA.
- Mato, R.R.A.M. and T.S. Mufuruki. 1999. "Noise pollution associated with the operation of the Dar es Salaam International Airport." Transportation Research Part D: Transport and Environment. 4(2). pp. 81-89.
- Matthews, H.S. and L.B. Lave. 2000. "Applications of environmental valuation for determining externality costs." Environmental Science & Technology. 34(8). pp. 1390-1395.
- Maurice, L.Q. 2007. "Introduction: Understanding aviation particulate matter emissions." Journal of Propulsion and Power. 23(5). pp. 897-897.
- Maxwell, J.C., 1954, A treatise on electricity and magnetism, Dover, New York, New York.
- Mayeres, I., S. Ochelen, and S. Proost. 1996. "The marginal external costs of urban transport." Transportation Research Part D -Transport and Environment. 1(2). pp. 111-130.
- Mayor, K. and R.S.J. Tol. "Aviation and the environment in the context of the EU-US Open Skies agreement." Journal of Air Transport Management. In Press, Corrected Proof.
- McCarthy, J.J. and G. Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. Working, II, 2001, Climate change 2001 : impacts, adaptation, and vulnerability : contribution of Working Group II to the third assessment report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, ed. Anonymous, Published for the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change by Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, UK ; New York.
- McCartney, M.A., B.F. Chatterjee, E.C. McCoy, E.A. Mortimer, and H.S. Rosenkranz. 1986. "Airplane emissions: A source of mutagenic nitrated polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons." Mutation Research/Genetic Toxicology. 171(2-3). pp. 99-104.
- McConnell, R., K. Berhane, F. Gilliland, H. Vora, E. Avol, S.J. London, W.J. Gauderman, F. Lurmann, D.C. Thomas, and J.M. Peters. 1999. "Air pollution and bronchitis in Southern California children with asthma." American Journal of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine. 159(3). pp. A771-A771.
- McCubbin, D.R. and M.A. Delucchi. 1999. "The health costs of motor-vehicle-related air pollution." Journal of Transport Economics and Policy. 33. pp. 253-286.

- McDonnell, W.F., D.E. Abbey, N. Nishino, and M.D. Lebowitz. 1999. "Long-term ambient ozone concentration and the incidence of asthma in nonsmoking adults: The ahsmog study." Environmental Research. 80(2). pp. 110-121.
- McGeehin, M.A. and M. Mirabelli. 2001. "The potential impacts of climate variability and change on temperature-related morbidity and mortality in the United States." Environmental Health Perspectives. 109. pp. 185-189.
- McMillen, D. 2004. "Airport expansions and property values: The case of Chicago O'Hare Airport." Journal of Urban Economics. 55(3). pp. 627-640.
- McMillen, D. 2008. "Changes in the distribution of house prices over time: Structural characteristics, neighborhood, or coefficients?" Journal of Urban Economics. 64(3). pp. 573-589.
- Meagher, J.F., E.B. Cowling, F.C. Fehsenfeld, and W.J. Parkhurst. 1998. "Ozone formation and transport in southeastern United States: Overview of the SOS Nashville Middle Tennessee Ozone Study." Journal of Geophysical Research-Atmospheres. 103(D17). pp. 22213-22223.
- Mellor, A.M., 1990, Design of modern turbine combustors, Combustion treatise, Academic Press, San Diego, CA.
- Mendelsohn, R. 2008. "Is the Stern Review an Economic Analysis?" Rev Environ Econ Policy. 2(1). pp. 45-60.
- Mendelsohn, R. 2008. "Is the Stern Review an Economic Analysis?" Review of Environmental Economics and Policy. 2(1). pp. 45-60.
- Mendelsohn, R., W. Morrison, M.E. Schlesinger, and N.G. Andronova. 2000. "Country-Specific Market Impacts of Climate Change." Climatic Change. 45(3). pp. 553-569.
- Merryman, E.L. and A. Levy. 1971. "Sulfur trioxide flame chemistry--H2S and cos flames." Symposium (International) on Combustion. 13(1). pp. 427-436.
- Metwally, M. 1995. "Jet Aircraft Engine Emissions Database Development: 1992 Military, Charter, and Nonscheduled Traffic." NASA CR 4684. Hampton, VA. November 1995. McDonnell Douglas Aerospace, Transport Aircraft Division. Prepared for the Langley Research Center, National Aeronautics and Space Administration. 61p pgs.
- Metz, B., I.P.o.C. Change., and I.P.o.C.C.W.G. III., 2007, Climate change 2007 : mitigation of climate change : contribution of Working Group III to the Fourth Assessment Report of the IIntergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge ; New York.
- Metz, B., C. Intergovernmental Panel on Climate, and G. Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. Working, III, 2007, Climate change 2007 : mitigation of climate change : contribution of Working Group III to the Fourth Assessment Report of the IIntergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, ed. Anonymous, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge ; New York.
- Metz, B. and G. Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. Working, III, 2001, Climate change 2001 : mitigation, Published for the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change by Cambridge University Press, Cambridge ; New York.
- Meyer, R., F. Joos, G. Esser, M. Heimann, G. Hooss, G. Kohlmaier, W. Sauf, R. Voss, and U. Wittenberg. 1999. "The substitution of high-resolution terrestrial biosphere models and carbon sequestration in response to changing CO2 and climate." Global Biogeochemical Cycles. 13(3). pp. 785-802.
- Meyer, R., H. Mannstein, R. Meerkotter, U. Schumann, and P. Wendling. 2002. "Regional radiative forcing by line-shaped contrails derived from satellite data." Journal of Geophysical Research-Atmospheres. 107(D10).
- Miake-Lye, R. 2002. "Approaches for representing aircraft volatile particle emissions in an emissions scenario database." Project report under NASA contract C-79849-N. Billerica, MA. 2004. Aerodyne Research, Inc. 12 pgs.
- Miake-Lye, R. 2002. "Approaches for representing aircraft non-voolatile particle emissions in an emissions scenario database." Project report under NASA contract C-79849-N. Billerica, MA. 2002. Aerodyne Research, Inc. 12 pgs.
- Miake-Lye, R. 2004. "Particle parameter trends in recent particle measurements." ARI-RR1383. Billerica, MA. 2004. Aerodyne Research, Inc. 22 pgs.
- Miake-Lye, R., I. Waitz, D. Fahey, H. Wesoky, and C. Wey. 2000. "Aviation and the changing climate." Aerospace America. 38(9). pp. 35-39.
- Miake-Lye, R.C., R.C. Brown, M.R. Anderson, and C.E. Kolb. 1994. Calculations of condensation and chemistry in an aircraft contrial. Impact of Emissions from Aircraft and Spacecraft Upon the Atmosphere. Koln, Germany. April 18-20, 1994
- Miake-Lye, R.C., M. Martinez-Sanchez, R.C. Brown, and C.E. Kolb. 1993. "Plume and Wake Dynamics, Mixing, and Chemistry Behind a High-Speed Civil Transport Aircraft." Journal of Aircraft. 30(4). pp. 467-479.
- Michaud, D., S. Fidell, K. Pearsons, K. Campbell, and S. Keith. 2007. "Review of field studies of aircraft noise-induced sleep disturbance." The Journal of the Acoustical Society of America. 121(1). pp. 32-41.

- Mick, H.J., A. Hospital, and P. Roth. 1991. "Computer simulation of soot particle coagulation in low pressure flames." Journal of Aerosol Science. 22(7). pp. 831-841.
- Miedema, H.M.E. 2007. "Annoyance caused by environmental noise: Elements for evidence-based noise policies." Journal of Social Issues. 63(1). pp. 41-57.
- Miedema, H.M.E. and C.G.M. Oudshoorn. 2001. "Annoyance from transportation noise: Relationships with exposure metrics DNL and DENL and their confidence intervals." Environmental Health Perspectives. 109(4). pp. 409-416.
- Miedema, H.M.E. and C.G.M. Oudshoorn. 2001. "Annoyance from Transportation Noise: Relationships with Exposure Metrics DNL and DENL and Their Confidence Intervals." Environmental Health Perspectives. 109(4). pp. 409-416.
- Miedema, H.M.E. and H. Vos. 1998. "Exposure-response relationships for transportation noise." Journal of the Acoustical Society of America. 104(6). pp. 3432-3445.
- Miedema, H.M.E. and H. Vos. 1998. "Exposure-response relationships for transportation noise." The Journal of the Acoustical Society of America. 104(6). pp. 3432-3445.
- Mieszkowski, P. and A.M. Saper. 1978. "An estimate of the effects of airport noise on property values." Journal of Urban Economics. 5(4). pp. 425-440.
- Milford, J.B., D.F. Gao, S. Sillman, P. Blossey, and A.G. Russell. 1994. "Total Reactive Nitrogen (No(Y)) as an Indicator of the Sensitivity of Ozone to Reductions in Hydrocarbon and Nox Emissions." Journal of Geophysical Research-Atmospheres. 99(D2). pp. 3533-3542.
- Milford, J.B., D.F. Gao, A. Zafirakou, and T.E. Pierce. 1994. "Ozone Precursor Levels and Responses to Emissions Reductions -Analysis of Regional Oxidant Model Results." Atmospheric Environment. 28(12). pp. 2093-2104.
- Milford, J.B., A.G. Russell, and G.J. McRae. 1989. "A NEW APPROACH TO PHOTOCHEMICAL POLLUTION-CONTROL -IMPLICATIONS OF SPATIAL PATTERNS IN POLLUTANT RESPONSES TO REDUCTIONS IN NITROGEN-OXIDES AND REACTIVE ORGANIC GAS EMISSIONS." Environmental Science & Technology. 23(10). pp. 1290-1301.
- Miller, H. 1997. "Civil Aircraft Emissions and International Treaty Law." Journal of Air Law and Commerce. 63. pp. 697.
- Miller, J.D. 1971. "Effects of Noise on People." Washington, D.C. 165 pgs.
- Miller, T. 1990. "The plausible range for the value of life: red herrings among the mackerel." Journal of Forensic Economics. 3(3). pp. 17-39.
- Miller, T., J.C. Guria, and D. New Zealand. Land Transport, 1991, The value of statistical life in New Zealand : market research on road safety, Land Transport Division, Ministry of Transport, Wellington [N.Z.].
- Miller, T.M., J.O. Ballenthin, A.A. Viggiano, B.E. Anderson, and C.C. Wey. 2005. "Mass distribution and concentrations of negative chemiions in the exhaust of a jet engine: Sulfuric acid concentrations and observation of particle growth." Atmospheric Environment. 39(17). pp. 3069-3079.
- Minnis, P., J.K. Ayers, M.L. Nordeen, and S.P. Weaver. 2003. "Contrail frequency over the United States from surface observations." Journal of Climate. 16(21). pp. 3447-3462.
- Minnis, P., J.K. Ayers, R. Palikonda, and D. Phan. 2004. "Contrails, cirrus trends, and climate." Journal of Climate. 17(8). pp. 1671-1685.
- Minnis, P., U. Schumann, D.R. Doelling, K.M. Gierens, and D.W. Fahey. 1999. "Global distribution of contrail radiative forcing." Geophysical Research Letters. 26(13). pp. 1853-1856.
- Miraflor, R.M.C. 2002. Integrating a noise modeling capability with simulation environments, AIAA 2002-5871. AIAA Aircraft Technology, Integration, and Operations (ATIO) 2002 Technical. AIAA. Los Angeles, CA. pp. 7.
- Mishkin, F.S. and R. National Bureau of Economic, 2007, Housing and the monetary transmission mechanism, National Bureau of Economic Research, Cambridge, Mass.
- Mitchell, R.C. and R.T. Carson, 1989, Using surveys to value public goods : the contingent valuation method, Resources for the Future. Distributed worldwide by the Johns Hopkins University Press, Washington, D.C. [Baltimore].
- Mongia, H. 2003. TAPS A Fourth Generation Propulsion Combustor Technology for Low Emissions. 2003 AIAA/ICAS International Air and Space Symposium and Exposition: The Next 100 Years; Dayton, OH; July 14-17, 2003. American Institute of Aeronautics and Astronautics, Inc. Reston, VA, 20191-4344, United States. AIAA Paper 2003-2657
- Moolgavkar, S.H. 2000. "Air pollution and hospital admissions for chronic obstructive pulmonary disease in three metropolitan areas in the United States." Inhalation Toxicology. 12. pp. 75-90.
- Moolgavkar, S.H. 2000. "Air pollution and daily mortality in three US counties." Environmental Health Perspectives. 108(8). pp. 777-784.

- Moolgavkar, S.H. 2000. "Air pollution and hospital admissions for diseases of the circulatory system in three US metropolitan areas." Journal of the Air & Waste Management Association. 50(7). pp. 1199-1206.
- Moolgavkar, S.H. 2003. "Air pollution and daily deaths and hospital emissions in Los Angeles and Cook Counties." Revised analyses of the National Morbidity, Mortality, and Air Pollution Study, Part II: Revised analyses of selected time-series studies. Boston, MA. May 2003. In Revised analyses of time-series studies of air pollution and health. 183-198 pgs.
- Moolgavkar, S.H., E.G. Luebeck, and E.L. Anderson. 1997. "Air pollution and hospital admissions for respiratory causes in Minneapolis St. Paul and Birmingham." Epidemiology. 8(4). pp. 364-370.
- Moolgavkar, S.H., E.G. Luebeck, T.A. Hall, and E.L. Anderson. 1995. "Air-Pollution and Daily Mortality in Philadelphia." Epidemiology. 6(5). pp. 476-484.
- Moore, M.J. and W.K. Viscusi. 1988. "DOUBLING THE ESTIMATED VALUE OF LIFE RESULTS USING NEW OCCUPATIONAL FATALITY DATA." Journal of Policy Analysis and Management. 7(3). pp. 476-490.
- Morgan, M.G. and H. Dowlatabadi. 1996. "Learning from integrated assessment of climate change." Climatic Change. 34(3-4). pp. 337-368.
- Morgan, M.G. and M. Herion, 1990, Uncertainty: A guide to dealing with uncertainty in quantitative risk and policy analysis, Cambridge University Press, New York, New York.
- Morgan, M.G. and D.W. Keith. 1995. "Climate-Change Subjective Judgments by Climate Experts." Environmental Science & Technology. 29(10). pp. A468-A476.
- Morimoto, R. and C. Hope. 2005. "Making the case for developing a silent aircraft." Transport Policy. 12(2). pp. 165-174.
- Morrell, P. 2007. "An evaluation of possible EU air transport emissions trading scheme allocation methods." Energy Policy. 35(11). pp. 5562-5570.
- Morrell, P. and C. Lu. 2007. "The environmental cost implication of hub-hub versus hub by-pass flight networks." Transportation Research Part D: Transport and Environment. 12(3). pp. 143-157.
- Morrell, P. and C.H.Y. Lu. 1999. "Current environmental management measures in air transport." Aerogram (Cranfield College of Aeronautics). 9(3). pp. 9-14.
- Morrell, P. and C.H.Y. Lu, Social costs of aircraft noise and engine emissions: Case study of Amsterdam's Schiphol Airport, in Issues, Problems, and Performance Measures in Airports and Airspace. 2000, Transportation Research Board, National Research Council: Washington. p. 31-38.
- Morrell, P. and C.H.Y. Lu. 2000. "Aircraft noise social cost and charge mechanisms: A case study of Amsterdam Airport Schiphol." Transportation Research Part D - Transport and Environment. 5(4), pp. 305-320.
- Morrison, S.A., C. Winston, and T. Watson. 1999. "Fundamental flaws of social regulation: The case of airplane noise." Journal of Law & Economics. 42(2). pp. 723-743.
- Morrissette, S.E. 1996. "A survey of environmental issues in the civilian aviation industry." Journal of Air Transportation World Wide. 1(1). pp. 17.
- Moss, M.T. and H.M. Segal. 1994. "THE EMISSIONS AND DISPERSION MODELING SYSTEM (EDMS) ITS DEVELOPMENT AND APPLICATION AT AIRPORTS AND AIRBASES." Journal of the Air & Waste Management Association. 44(6). pp. 787-790.
- Moussiopoulos, N., P. Sahm, K. Karatzas, S. Papalexiou, and A. Karagiannidis. 1997. "Analysis of the impact of the new Athens airport on urban air quality with contemporary air pollution models." International Journal of Environment and Pollution. 8(3-6). pp. 427-435.
- Mrozek, J.R. and L.O. Taylor. 2002. "What Determines a Value of Life? A Meta-Analysis." Journal of Policy Analysis and Management. 21(2). pp. 253-270.
- Mueller, M.A., R.A. Yetter, and F.L. Dryer. 2000. "Kinetic modeling of the CO/H2O/O-2/NO/SO2 system: Implications for high pressure fall-off in the SO2+O(+M)=SO3(+M) reaction." International Journal of Chemical Kinetics. 32(6). pp. 317-339.
- Murtagh, C., Public voice drowns noise; Qantas will stop its flight path trials over Esplanade, in The Cairns Post. 2007, Nationwide News Pty Limited: Cairns. p. pg 7.
- Myhre, G., E.J. Highwood, K.P. Shine, and F. Stordal. 1998. "New estimates of radiative forcing due to well mixed greenhouse gases." Geophysical Research Letters. 25(14). pp. 2715-2718.
- Nash, C. 2003. "UNITE, UNIfication of accounts and marginal costs for Transport Efficiency." Final report for publication. Leeds, U.K. November 2003. Funded by the 5th Framework RTD Programme, European Commission. 63 pgs.

- National Research Council (U.S.). Committee on Environmental Epidemiology., 1991, Environmental epidemiology, National Academy Press, Washington, D.C.
- National Research Council (U.S.). Committee on Risk Assessment Methodology. and National Research Council (U.S.). Board on Environmental Studies and Toxicology., 1993, Issues in risk assessment, National Academy Press, Washington, DC.
- Navrud, S. 2002. "The state-of-the-art on economic valuation of noise." Final report to European Commission DG Environment. Ås, Norway. April 14, 2002. Department of Economics and Social Sciences, Agricultural University of Norway. 68 pgs.
- Neftel, A., H. Friedli, E. Moor, H. Lötscher, H. Oeschger, U. Siegenthaler, and B. Stauffer. 1994. Historical CO2 record from the Siple Station ice core. In: Trends: A Compendium of Data on Global Change, Carbon Dioxide Information Analysis Center. Data available online at: http://cdiac.esd.ornl.gov/ftp/trends/co2/siple2.013. Last updated July 7, 1997. Oak Ridge National Laboratory, U.S. Department of Energy. Oak Ridge, TN [cited June 9, 2004].
- Neftel, A., E. Moor, H. Oeschger, and B. Stauffer. 1985. "EVIDENCE FROM POLAR ICE CORES FOR THE INCREASE IN ATMOSPHERIC CO2 IN THE PAST 2 CENTURIES." Nature. 315(6014). pp. 45-47.
- Nellthorp, J., A. Bristow, and B. Day. 2007. "Introducing willingness-to-pay for noise changes into transport appraisal: An application of benefit transfer." Transport Reviews. 27(3). pp. 327-353.
- Nelson, J.P., 1978, Economic analysis of transportation noise abatement, Ballinger Publishing Company, Cambridge, Massachusetts.
- Nelson, J.P. 1980. "Airports and property values: A survey of recent evidence." Journal of Transport Economics and Policy. 14(1), pp. 37-52.
- Nelson, J.P., Measuring benefits of environmental improvements: Aircraft noise and hedonic prices, in Advances in Applied Microeconomics, V.K. Smith, Editor. 1981, JAI Press: Greenwich.
- Nelson, J.P. 2004. "Meta-Analysis of Airport Noise and Hedonic Property Values." Journal of Transport Economics and Policy. 38. pp. 1-27.
- Nelson, J.P., Hedonic property value studies of transportation noise: Aircraft and road traffic (Chapter 3), in Hedonic methods in housing markets: pricing environmental amenities and segregation, A. Baranzini, J. Ramirez, C. Schaerer, and P. Thalmann, Editors. 2008, Springer: New York. p. 56-82.
- Nelson, P. 2004. "Meta-analysis of airport noise and hedonic property values: Problems and prospects." Journal of Transport Economics and Policy. 38. pp. 1-27.
- Nerhagen, L., B. Forsberg, C. Johansson, and B. Lövenheim. 2005. "The external costs of traffic air pollution: proposal of a method for cost calculations based on an examination of ExternE-calculations for Stockholm and Sweden." VTI rapport 517. Linköping, Sweden. 2005. Swedish Road Administration and Swedish Institute for Transport and Communications Analysis, Prepared by VTI. 90 pgs.
- Nero, G. and J.A. Black. 1998. "Hub-and-spoke networks and the inclusion of environmental costs on airport pricing." Transportation Research Part D-Transport and Environment. 3(5). pp. 275-296.
- Nero, G. and J.A. Black. 2000. "A critical examination of an airport noise mitigation scheme and an aircraft noise charge: the case of capacity expansion and externalities at Sydney (Kingsford Smith) airport." Transportation Research Part D-Transport and Environment. 5(6). pp. 433-461.
- Neumann, J.E., M.T. Dickie, and R.E. Unsworth, Linkage Between Health Effects Estimation and Morbidity Valuation in the Section 812 Analysis-Draft Valuation Document, O.o.A.a.R. Jim DeMocker, Office of Policy Analysis and Review, U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, Editor. 1994, Industrial Economics Incorporates (IEC).
- Newell, R.G. and W.A. Pizer. 2003. "Discounting the distant future: how much do uncertain rates increase valuations?" Journal of Environmental Economics and Management. 46(1). pp. 52-71.
- Newman, J.S. and K.R. Beattie. 1985. "Aviation nosie effects." FAA-EE-85-2, Second printing. Washington, D.C. March 1985. Office of Environment and Energy, Federal Aviation Administration, U.S. Department of Transportation. 105 pgs.
- NIST. 2003. NIST Chemistry WebBook: NIST Standard Reference Database Number 69W.G. Mallard. Data available online at http://webbook.nist.gov/chemistry. Last updated March 2003. U.S. Department of Commerce [cited 2004].
- Noise, F.I.C.o., FICON92. 1992. "Federal Agency Review Of Selected Airport Noise Analysis Issues."
- Nordhaus, W. 2007. "Critical Assumptions in the Stern Review on Climate Change." Science. 317(5835). pp. 201-202.
- Nordhaus, W., Nordnotes07. 2007. "Accompanying Notes and Documentation on Development of DICE-2007 Model: Notes on DICE-2007.delta.v8."

Nordhaus, W.D. 1991. "To Slow or Not to Slow - the Economics of the Greenhouse-Effect." Economic Journal. 101(407). pp. 920-937.

Nordhaus, W.D. 1991. "A Sketch of the Economics of the Greenhouse-Effect." American Economic Review. 81(2). pp. 146-150.

- Nordhaus, W.D. 1993. "Rolling the dice: An optimal transition path for controlling greenhouse gases." Resource and Energy Economics. 15(1). pp. 27-50.
- Nordhaus, W.D. 1997. "Discounting in economics and climate change: An editorial comment." Climatic Change. 37(2). pp. 315-328.
- Nordhaus, W.D. 2007. "A Review of the Stern Review on the Economics of Climate Change." Journal of Economic Literature. 45(3). pp. 686-702.
- Nordhaus, W.D. and J. Boyer, 2000, Warming the world: economic models of global warming, MIT Press, Cambridge, Massachusetts.

Nordhaus, W.D. and J. Boyer, 2000, Warming the world : economic models of global warming, MIT Press, Cambridge, Mass.

- Nordhaus, W.D. and D. Popp. 1997. "What is the value of scientific knowledge? An application to global warming using the price model." Energy Journal. 18(1). pp. 1.
- Nordhaus, W.D. and Z. Yang. 1996. "A Regional Dynamic General-Equilibrium Model of Alternative Climate-Change Strategies." American Economic Review. 86(4). pp. 741-765.

Norris, A.T. 1997. "Automated Simplification of Full Chemical Mechanisms." United States. 14p pgs.

Norris, A.T. 1997. "Application of Low Dimensional Manifolds in NO(x) Prediction." United States. 15p pgs.

Norris, G., S.N. YoungPong, J.Q. Koenig, T.V. Larson, L. Sheppard, and J.W. Stout. 1999. "An association between fine particles and asthma emergency department visits for children in Seattle." Environmental Health Perspectives. 107(6). pp. 489-493.

NRC, 1998, Research priorities for airborne particulate matter, National Academy Press, Washington, D.C.

- NRC. 2002. "For Greener Skies: Reducing Environmental Impacts of Aviation." National Academy Press. Washington, D.C. 2002. Committee on Aeronautics Research and Technology for Environmental Compatibility, Aeronautics and Space Engineering Board, Division on Engineering and Physical Sciences, NRC. 70 pgs.
- NRC, 2004, Air quality management in the United States, National Academics Press, Washington, D.C.
- NRC, 2007, Models in environmental regulatory decision making, National Academies Press, Washington, D.C.
- NSTC. 1995. "Goals for a National Partnership in Aeronautics Research and Technology." Washington, D.C. September 11, 1995. White House Office of Science and Technology Policy, Executive Office of the President.
- NSTC. 1999. "National Research and Development Plan for Aviation Safety, Security, Efficiency, and Environmental Compatibility." Prepared by the Transportation Strategic Planning and Analysis Office, John A. Volpe National Transportation Center, Research and Special Programs Administration, U.S. Department of Transportation for the NSTC Committee on Technology, Subcommittee on Transportation Research and Development. Washington, D.C. November 1999. White House Office of Science and Technology Policy, Executive Office of the President. 79 pgs.
- Nunnermacker, L.J., D. Imre, P.H. Daum, L. Kleinman, Y.N. Lee, J.H. Lee, S.R. Springston, L. Newman, J. Weinstein-Lloyd, W.T. Luke, R. Banta, R. Alvarez, C. Senff, S. Sillman, M. Holdren, G.W. Keigley, and X. Zhou. 1998. "Characterization of the Nashville urban plume on July 3 and July 18, 1995." Journal of Geophysical Research-Atmospheres. 103(D21). pp. 28129-28148.
- Nunnermacker, L.J., L.I. Kleinman, D. Imre, P.H. Daum, Y.N. Lee, J.H. Lee, S.R. Springston, L. Newman, and N. Gillani. 2000. "NOy lifetimes and O-3 production efficiencies in urban and power plant plumes: Analysis of field data." Journal of Geophysical Research-Atmospheres. 105(D7). pp. 9165-9176.
- Oates, W.E., P.R. Portney, and A.M. McGartland. 1989. "The Net Benefits of Incentive-Based Regulation: a Case-Study of Environmental Standard Setting." American Economic Review. 79(5). pp. 1233-1242.
- Oberhuber, J.M. 1993. "The OPYC Ocean General Circulation Model: The Description of a Coupled Snow, Sea-Ice, Mixed Layer and Isopycnal Ocean Model." Report No. 7. Deutches Klimarechenzentrum GmbH Modellbetreuungsgruppe, ed. Hamburg. October 1993, Revision 1. 148 pgs.
- Odgers, J. and E.R. Magnan. 1988. "Notes on the occurrence and determination of carbon within gas turbine combustors." 88-GT-164. Presented at ASME Turbo Expo 1988. Amsterdam, The Netherlands. June 6-9, 1988. American Society of Mechanical Engineers.
- OEF. 1999. "The contribution of the aviation industry to the UK economy: Final report." Oxford. November 1999. 98 pgs.

- Ohsfeldt, M., T. Thrasher, I. Waitz, G. Ratliff, C. Sequeira, T. Thompson, M. Graham, R. Cointin, W. Gillette, and M. Gupta. 2007. "Quantifying the Relationship between Air Traffic Management Inefficiency, Fuel Burn, and Air Pollutant Emissions." Air Traffic Management Seminar.
- Olmstead, J., G. Fleming, J. Gulding, C. Roof, P. Gerbi, and A. Repoza. 2002. "Integrated Noise Model (INM) version 6.0 Technical Manual." FAA-AEE-02-01. Cambridge, MA. January 2002. Prepared for the Federal Aviation Administration, Office of Environment and Energy (AEE-100) by ATAC Corportation, Sunnyvale, CA, and the Department of Transportation Volpe National Transportation Center, Cambridge, MA. 110 pgs.
- Olson, C.A. 1981. "AN ANALYSIS OF WAGE DIFFERENTIALS RECEIVED BY WORKERS ON DANGEROUS JOBS." Journal of Human Resources. 16(2). pp. 167-185.
- Olsthoorn, X. 2001. "Carbon dioxide emissions from international aviation: 1950-2050." Journal of Air Transport Management. 7(2). pp. 87-93.
- Olszyna, K.J., E.M. Bailey, R. Simonaitis, and J.F. Meagher. 1994. "O3 AND NOY RELATIONSHIPS AT A RURAL SITE." Journal of Geophysical Research-Atmospheres. 99(D7). pp. 14557-14563.
- OMB. 1996. "Economic Analysis of Federal Regulations Under Executive Order 12866." Washington, D.C. January 11, 1996. Office of Information and Regulatory Affairs, Executive Office of the President. 16 pgs.
- OMB. 2003. "Circular A-4." Washington, D.C. September 17, 2003. Exective Office of the President. 48 pgs.
- Onat, E. and G.W. Klees, Boeing Military Airplane Development. 1979. "A Method to Estimate Weight and Dimensions of Large and Small Gas Turbine Engines." NASA CR 159481. January 1979. Prepared for Lewis Research Center, National Aeronautics and Space Administration. 136p pgs.
- Onno, K., B. Barbara, C. Michaela, G. Alessandra, K. Etem, and T. Richard. 2008. "Methodological aspects of recent climate change damage cost studies." Integrated Assessment; Vol 8, No 1 (2008).
- Organization., I.C.A., 1981, International standards and recommended practices, environmental protection : annex 16 to the Convention on International Civil Aviation, International Civil Aviation Organization, Montreal, Quebec, Canada.
- Ostro, B., M. Lipsett, J. Mann, H. Braxton-Owens, and M. White. 2001. "Air pollution and exacerbation of asthma in African-American children in Los Angeles." Epidemiology. 12(2). pp. 200-208.
- Ostro, B.D. 1987. "Air-Pollution and Morbidity Revisited a Specification Test." Journal of Environmental Economics and Management. 14(1). pp. 87-98.
- Ostro, B.D., M.J. Lipsett, J.K. Mann, H. Braxtonowens, and M.C. White. 1995. "Air-Pollution and Asthma Exacerbations among African-American Children in Los-Angeles." Inhalation Toxicology. 7(5). pp. 711-722.
- Ostro, B.D., M.J. Lipsett, M.B. Wiener, and J.C. Selner. 1991. "Asthmatic Responses to Airborne Acid Aerosols." American Journal of Public Health. 81(6). pp. 694-702.
- Ostro, B.D. and S. Rothschild. 1989. "Air-Pollution and Acute Respiratory Morbidity an Observational Study of Multiple Pollutants." Environmental Research. 50(2). pp. 238-247.
- Otterström, T., K. Hämekoski, and P. Anton. 2003. "Estimation of environmental costs of aircraft LTO emissions." Pilot study, 60K04237-Q090-002d. Zurich, Switzerland. June 9, 2003. Prepared for the Sweedish Civil Aviation Administration and the Sweedish Institute for Transportation and Communication Analysis by the Energy Business Group, Electrowatt-Ekono Ltd., Jaakko Pöyry Group. 42 pgs.
- Oum, T.H., A. Zhang, and Y. Zhang. 1996. "A note on optimal airport pricing in a hub-and-spoke system." Transportation Research Part B: Methodological. 30(1). pp. 11-18.
- Paladino, J., P. Whitefield, D. Hagen, A.R. Hopkins, and M. Trueblood. 1998. "Particle concentration characterization for jet engine emissions under cruise conditions." Geophysical Research Letters. 25(10). pp. 1697-1700.
- Paladino, J.D., D.E. Hagen, P.D. Whitefield, A.R. Hopkins, O. Schmid, M.R. Wilson, H. Schlager, and P. Schulte. 2000.
 "Observations of particulates within the North Atlantic Flight Corridor: POLINAT 2, September-October 1997." Journal of Geophysical Research-Atmospheres. 105(D3). pp. 3719-3726.
- Palmquist, R.B. 1984. "Estimating the demand for the characteristics of housing." The Review of Economics and Statistics. 66(3). pp. 394-404.
- Palmquist, R.B. 1992. "Valuing localized externalities." Journal of Urban Economics. 31(1). pp. 59-68.
- PAOLI, R., Eacute, J. LIE, and T. POINSOT. 2004. "Contrail formation in aircraft wakes." Journal of Fluid Mechanics. 502(-1). pp. 361-373.

- Parry, M.L. and G. Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. Working, II, 2007, Climate Change 2007 : impacts, adaptation and vulnerability : contribution of Working Group II to the fourth assessment report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, ed. Anonymous, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, U.K. ; New York.
- PARTNER. 2004. "Aviation and the Environment: A National Vision Statement, Goals and Recommended Actions, Report to Congress." Prepared by Ian Waitz, Jessica Townsend, Joel Cutcher-Gershenfeld, Edward Greitzer, and Jack Kerrebrock. Washington, D.C. December 2004. 45 pgs.
- Passchier-Vermeer, W. 2003. "Night-time noise events and awakening." TNO Inro report 2003-32. Delft. July 2003. TNO Intro, Institute for Traffic and Transport, Logistics and Spatial Deveopment. 59 pgs.
- Passchier-Vermeer, W., Passchier03. 2003. "Night-Time Noise Events and Awakening." Presented at TNO Inro report 2003-32.
- Passchier-Vermeer, W. and W.F. Passchier. 2000. "Noise exposure and public health." Environmental Health Perspectives. 108. pp. 123-131.
- Passchier-Vermeer, W. and W.F. Passchier. 2005. "Environmental noise, annoyance and sleep disturbance." Environmental Health Impacts of Transport and Mobility. 21. pp. 25-38.
- Patz, J.A., M.A. McGeehin, S.M. Bernard, K.L. Ebi, P.R. Epstein, A. Grambsch, D.J. Gubler, P. Reiter, I. Romieu, J.B. Rose, J.M. Samet, and J. Trtanj. 2000. "The potential health impacts of climate variability and change for the United States: Executive summary of the report of the health sector of the US National Assessment." Environmental Health Perspectives. 108(4). pp. 367-376.
- Patz, J.A., M.A. McGeehin, S.M. Bernard, K.L. Ebi, P.R. Epstein, A. Grambsch, D.J. Gubler, P. Reiter, I. Romieu, J.B. Rose, J.M. Samet, and J. Trtanj. 2001. "The potential health impacts of climate variability and change for the United States Executive summary of the report of the health sector of the US National Assessment." Journal of Environmental Health. 64(2). pp. 20-28.
- Peace, H., J. Maughan, B. Owen, and D. Raper. 2006. "Identifying the contribution of different airport related sources to local urban air quality." Environmental Modelling & Software. 21(4). pp. 532-538.
- Pearce, B. and D. Pearce. 2000. "Setting environmental taxes for aircraft: A case study of the UK." CSERGE Working Paper GEC 2000-26. London, U.K. 2000. Center for Social and Economic Research on the Global Environment (CSERGE). 34 pgs.
- Pearce, D. 2003. "The Social Cost of Carbon and its Policy Implications." Oxf Rev Econ Policy. 19(3). pp. 362-384.
- Pearce, D.W., G. Atkinson, S. Mourato, C.-o. Organisation for Economic, and Development, 2006, Cost-benefit analysis and the environment : recent developments, Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development, Paris.
- Peck, S.C. and T.J. Teisberg. 1993. "CO2 EMISSIONS CONTROL COMPARING POLICY INSTRUMENTS." Energy Policy. 21(3). pp. 222-230.
- Pejovic, T., R. Noland, V. Williams, and R. Toumi. 2008. "Estimates of UK CO2 emissions from aviation using air traffic data." Climatic Change. 88(3). pp. 367-384.
- Penner, J.E., I.P.o.C.C.W.G. I., I.P.o.C.C.W.G. III., and V.C.f.t.P.o.t.O.L.S.A. Panel., 1999, Aviation and the global atmosphere : a special report of IPCC Working Groups I and III in collaboration with the Scientific Assessment Panel to the Montreal Protocol on Substances that Deplete the Ozone Layer, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge ; New York.
- Pennington, G., N. Topham, and R. Ward. 1990. "Aircraft noise and residential property values adjacent to Manchester International Airport." Journal of Transport Economics and Policy. 24(1). pp. 49-59.
- Perl, A., J. Patterson, and M. Perez. 1997. "Pricing aircraft emissions at Lyon-Satolas airport." Transportation Research Part D: Transport and Environment. 2(2). pp. 89-105.
- Perl, A., J. Patterson, and M. Perez. 2001. "Erratum to "Pricing aircraft emissions at Lyon-Satolas Airport" [Transportation Research D 2 (2) 89-105]." Transportation Research Part D: Transport and Environment. 6(2). pp. 147-152.
- Peters, A., D.W. Dockery, J.E. Muller, and M.A. Mittleman. 2001. "Increased particulate air pollution and the triggering of myocardial infarction." Circulation. 103(23). pp. 2810-2815.
- Peterson, R.M., R.H. Bittel, C.A. Forgie, W.H. Lee, and J.J. Nestor. 2007. "Using USCAP's Analytical Models, the Transportation Security Administration Balances the Impacts of Aviation Security Policies on Passengers and Airlines." INTERFACES. 37(1). pp. 52-67.
- Petzold, A., R. Busen, F.P. Schroder, R. Baumann, M. Kuhn, J. Strom, D.E. Hagen, P.D. Whitefield, D. Baumgardner, F. Arnold, S. Borrmann, and U. Schumann. 1997. "Near-field measurements on contrail properties from fuels with different sulfur content." Journal of Geophysical Research-Atmospheres. 102(D25). pp. 29867-29880.

- Petzold, A. and A. Dopelheuer. 1998. "Reexamination of black carbon mass emission indices of a jet engine." Aerosol Science and Technology. 29(4). pp. 355-356.
- Petzold, A., M. Fiebig, L. Fritzsche, C. Stein, U. Schumann, C.W. Wilson, C.D. Hurley, F. Arnold, E. Katragkou, U. Baltensperger, M. Gysel, S. Nyeki, R. Hitzenberger, H. Giebl, K.J. Hughes, R. Kurtenbach, P. Weisen, P. Madden, H. Puxbaum, S. Vrchoticky, and C. Wahl. 2003. Particle emissions from aircraft engines, An overview of the European project PartEmis. European Conference on Aviation, Atmosphere, and Climate (AAC), Proceedings of an International Conference. European Commission. Friedrichshafen, Germany. June 30 -July 3, 2003. pp. 41-51.
- Petzold, A. and F.P. Schroder. 1998. "Jet engine exhaust aerosol characterization." Aerosol Science and Technology. 28(1). pp. 62-76.
- Petzold, A., J. Strom, F.P. Schroder, and B. Karcher. 1999. "Carbonaceous aerosol in jet engine exhaust: emission characteristics and implications for heterogeneous chemical reactions." Atmospheric Environment. 33(17). pp. 2689-2698.
- Pezzy, J.C.V. and M.A. Toman. 2002. "The economics of sustainability: A review of journal articles." Dsicussion Paper 02-03. January 2002. Resources for the Future. 36 pgs.
- Pison, I. and L. Menut. 2004. "Quantification of the impact of aircraft traffic emissions on tropospheric ozone over Paris area." Atmospheric Environment. 38(7). pp. 971-983.
- Pitt, M. and M. Jones. 2000. "Modelling the effect of airport noise on residential property values: An examination of the Manchester Airport second runway." Facilities. pp. 497-501.
- Plambeck, E.L. and C. Hope. 1996. "PAGE95 An updated valuation of the impacts of global warming." Energy Policy. 24(9). pp. 783-793.
- Platt, M. and E.R. Norster. 1979. "Time degradation factors for turbine engine exhaust emissions, Volume 1: Program description and results, Final report." FAA-RD-79-8. Washington, D.C. 1979. Federal Aviation Administration.
- Ponater, M., R. Sausen, B. Feneberg, and E. Roeckner. 1999. "Climate effect of ozone changes caused by present and future air traffic." Climate Dynamics. 15(9). pp. 631-642.
- Pope, C.A., R.T. Burnett, G.D. Thurston, M.J. Thun, E.E. Calle, D. Krewski, and J.J. Godleski. 2004. "Cardiovascular Mortality and Long-term Exposure to Particulate Air Pollution." Circulation. 109. pp. 71-77.
- Pope, C.A. and D.W. Dockery. 1992. "Acute Health-Effects of Pm10 Pollution on Symptomatic and Asymptomatic Children." American Review of Respiratory Disease. 145(5). pp. 1123-1128.
- Pope, C.A., D.W. Dockery, J.D. Spengler, and M.E. Raizenne. 1991. "Respiratory Health and Pm10 Pollution a Daily Time-Series Analysis." American Review of Respiratory Disease. 144(3). pp. 668-674.
- Pope, C.A., M.J. Thun, M.M. Namboodiri, D.W. Dockery, J.S. Evans, F.E. Speizer, and C.W. Heath. 1995. "Particulate Air-Pollution as a Predictor of Mortality in a Prospective-Study of US Adults." American Journal of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine. 151(3). pp. 669-674.
- Pope, C.A.I., R.T. Burnett, M.J. Thun, E.E. Calle, D. Krewski, K. Ito, and G.D. Thurston. 2002. "Lung Cancer, Cardiopulmonary Mortality, and Long-term Exposure to Fine Particulate Air Pollution." Journal of the American Medical Association. 287. pp. 1132-1141.
- Pope, J.C. 2008. "Buyer information and the hedonic: The impact of a seller disclosure on the implicit price for airport noise." Journal of Urban Economics. 63(2). pp. 498-516.
- Poudyal, N., D. Hodges, and C. Merrett. 2009. "A hedonic analysis of the demand for and benefits of urban recreation parks." Land Use Policy. In Press, Corrected Proof.
- Prasad, S. and E. Zipf. 2008. "Atmospheric production of nitrous oxide from excited ozone and its potentially important implications for global change studies." Journal of Geophysical Research. 113(D15).
- Prather, M.J. 1996. "Time scales in atmospheric chemistry: Theory, GWPs for CH4 and CO, and runaway growth." Geophysical Research Letters. 23(19). pp. 2597-2600.
- Prather, M.J. 2002. "Lifetimes of atmospheric species: Integrating environmental impacts." Geophysical Research Letters. 29(22).
- Prather, M.J., H.L. Wesoky, R.C. Miake-Lye, A.R. Douglass, R.P. Turco, D.J. Wuebbles, M.K.W. Ko, and A.L. Shchmeltekopf. 1992. "The atmospheric effects of stratospheric aircraft: A first program report." NASA-RP-1272. Washington, D.C. January 1, 1992. National Aeronautics and Space Administration. 231 pgs.
- Price, D., R. Birnbaum, R. Batiuk, M. McCullough, R. Smith, and D. Grano. 1997. "Nitrogen Oxides: Impacts on Public Health and the Environment." EPA/452/R-97/002. United States. August 1997. Office of Air and Radiation, U.S. Environmental Protection Agency. 170 pgs.

Prinn, R.G. 1994. "The Interactive Atmosphere: Global Atmospheric-Biospheric Chemistry." Ambio. 23(1). pp. 50-61.

- Pruppacher, H.R. and J.D. Klett, 1978, Microphysics of clouds and precipitation, D. Reidel Publishing Company, Dordrecht, Holland.
- Pueschel, R.F., S. Verma, G.V. Ferry, S.D. Howard, S. Vay, S.A. Kinne, J. Goodman, and A.W. Strawa. 1998. "Sulfuric acid and soot particle formation in aircraft exhaust." Geophysical Research Letters. 25(10). pp. 1685-1688.
- Quackenbush, T.R., M.E. Teske, and A J. Bilanin. 1993. Computation of wake/exhaust mixing downstream of advanced transport aircraft, AIAA-93-2944. AIAA 24th Fluid Dynamics Conference. American Institute of Aeronautics and Astronautics. Orlando, Florida. July 6-9, 1993
- Quinet, E. 2001. "Transport noise disturbances and public decision-making." Comptes Rendus De L Academie Des Sciences Serie Iii-Sciences De La Vie-Life Sciences. 324(9). pp. 829-837.
- Quinet, E. 2004. "A meta-analysis of Western European external costs estimates." Transportation Research Part D: Transport and Environment. 9(6). pp. 465-476.
- Rabl, A. and M. Holland. 2008. "Environmental Assessment Framework for Policy Applications: Life Cycle Assessment, External Costs and Multi-criteria Analysis." Journal of Environmental Planning and Management. 51(1). pp. 81 - 105.
- Ramaswamy, V. and C.T. Chen. 1997. "Climate forcing-response relationships for greenhouse and shortwave radiative perturbations." Geophysical Research Letters. 24(6). pp. 667-670.
- Ramsey, F.P. 1928. "A Mathematical Theory of Saving." The Economic Journal. 38(152). pp. 543-559.
- Ransom, M.R. and C.A. Pope. 1992. "Elementary-School Absences and Pm(10) Pollution in Utah Valley." Environmental Research. 58(2). pp. 204-219.
- Raterman, T. "On the Role of Preferences and Values in Public Decisions." Social Theory and Practice. 33(2). pp. 251-276.
- Ratliff, G., C. Sequeira, I. Waitz, M. Ohsfeld, T. Thrasher, M. Graham, T. Thompson, W. Gillette, M. Gupta, R. Iovinelli, C. Holsclaw, B. Manning, P. Dolwick, and K. Davidson, Ratliff08. "Aircraft Impacts on Local and Regional Air Quality in the United States: A Response to Section 753 of the Energy Policy Act of 2005." Cambridge, MA. Massachusetts Institute of Technology.
- Ratliff, G.L. 2007. "Preliminary Assessment of the Impact of Commercial Aircraft on Local Air Quality in the U.S." Massachusetts Institute of Technology. Cambridge, MA.
- RCEP. 2002. "The Environmental Effects of Civil Aircraft in Flight, Special Report." London. November 29, 2002. 48 pgs.
- Ready, R., A. Fisher, D. Guignet, R. Stedman, and J. Wang. 2006. "A pilot test of a new stated preference valuation method: Continuous attribute-based stated choice." Ecological Economics. 59(3). pp. 247-255.
- Reilly, J.M., H.D. Jacoby, and R.G. Prinn. 2003. "Multi-gas contributors to global climate change: Climate impacts and mitigation costs of non-CO₂ gases." Prepared for the Pew Center on Global Climate Change. Cambridge, Massachusetts. February 2003. 60 pgs.
- Reilly, J.M. and K.R. Richards. 1993. "Climate change damage and the trace gas index issue." Environmental and Resource Economics. 3(1). pp. 41-61.
- Reiner, T. and F. Arnold. 1993. "Laboratory Flow Reactor Measurements of the Reaction So3+H2o+M- H2so4+M Implications for Gaseous H2so4 and Aerosol Formation in the Plumes of Jet Aircraft." Geophysical Research Letters. 20(23). pp. 2659-2662.
- Reiner, T. and F. Arnold. 1994. "Laboratory Investigations of Gaseous Sulfuric-Acid Formation Via So3+H2o+M- H2so4+M -Measurement of the Rate-Constant and Product Identification." Journal of Chemical Physics. 101(9). pp. 7399-7407.
- Revesz, R. and M. Livermore, 2007, Retaking Rationality: How Cost Benefit Analysis Can Better Protect the Environment and Our Health, Oxford University Press, Oxford; New York:.
- Reynolds, T.G., S. Barrett, L.M. Dray, A.D. Evans, M.O. KÄJhler, M. M.V., A. SchĤefer, Z. Wadud, R. Britter, H. Hallum, and R. Hunsley, Modelling Environmental & Economic Impacts of Aviation: Introducing the Aviation Integrated Modelling Project, in AIAA Aviation Technology, Integration and Operations Conference. 2007: Belfast.
- Rickey, J.E. 1995. "Effect of altitude conditions on the particle emissions of a J85-GE-5L turbojet engine." Washington, DC, USA. NASA. 52 pgs.
- Roberts, D., T. Boyer, and J. Lusk. 2008. "Preferences for environmental quality under uncertainty." Ecological Economics. 66(4). pp. 584-593.
- Robinson, L.A. 2007. "Policy Monitor * How US Government Agencies Value Mortality Risk Reductions." Rev Environ Econ Policy. 1(2). pp. 283-299.

- Rodriguez, J.M., R.L. Shia, M.K.W. Ko, C.W. Heisey, D.K. Weistenstein, R.C. Miake-Lye, and C.E. Kolb. 1994. "Subsidence of Aircraft Engine Exhaust in the Stratosphere: Implications for Calculated Ozone Depletions." Geophys. Res. Lett. 21(1). pp. 69-72.
- Roemer, W., G. Hoek, and B. Brunekreef. 1993. "Effect of Ambient Winter Air-Pollution on Respiratory Health of Children with Chronic Respiratory Symptoms." American Review of Respiratory Disease. 147(1). pp. 118-124.
- Roger, L.J., H.R. Kehrl, M. Hazucha, and D.H. Horstman. 1985. "Bronchoconstriction in Asthmatics Exposed to Sulfur-Dioxide During Repeated Exercise." Journal of Applied Physiology. 59(3). pp. 784-791.
- Rogers, H.L., M.P. Chipperfield, S. Bekki, and J.A. Pyle. 2000. "The effects of future supersonic aircraft on stratospheric chemistry modeled with varying meteorology." Journal of Geophysical Research-Atmospheres. 105(D24). pp. 29359-29367.
- Rogers, H.L., D.S. Lee, D.W. Raper, P.M.D. Foster, C.W. Wilson, and P.J. Newton. 2002. "The impact of aviation on the atmosphere." Aeronautical Journal. 106(1064). pp. 521-546.
- Rojo, J.J. 2007. "Future trends in local air quality impacts of aviation." Master of Science in Aeronautics and Astronautics. Massachusetts Institute of Technology. Cambridge, MA.
- Rojo, J.J., M.I.o.T.D.o. Aeronautics, and Astronautics. 2007. "Future trends in local air quality impacts of aviation." Thesis S.M. --Massachusetts Institute of Technology Dept. of Aeronautics and Astronautics 2007.
- Rosamond, W., G. Broda, E. Kawalec, S. Rywik, A. Pajak, L. Cooper, and L. Chambless. 1999. "Comparison of Medical Care and Survival of Hospitalized Patients with Acute Myocardial Infarction in Poland and the United States." American Journal of Cardiology. 83. pp. 1180-1185.
- Rose, J.B., P.R. Epstein, E.K. Lipp, B.H. Sherman, S.M. Bernard, and J.A. Patz. 2001. "Climate variability and change in the United States: Potential impacts on water- and foodborne diseases caused by microbiologic agents." Environmental Health Perspectives. 109. pp. 211-221.
- Rosen, S. 1974. "Hedonic Prices and Implicit Markets Product Differentiation in Pure Competition." Journal of Political Economy. 82(1). pp. 34-55.
- Ross, M., S. Mathias, H. Richmond, J. Langstaff, V. Sandiford, R. Damberg, and K. Martin. 2003. "Review of the National Ambient Air Quality Standards for Particulate Matter: Policy Assessment of Scientific and Technical Information, EPA-452/ D-03-001." EPA-452/D-03-001. Research Triangle Park, North Carolina. August 2003. Health and Ecosystems Effect Group, Office of Air Quality Planning and Standards, U.S. Environmental Protection Agency. 442 pgs.
- Rotstayn, L.D. and J.E. Penner. 2001. "Indirect aerosol forcing, quasi forcing, and climate response." Journal of Climate. 14(13). pp. 2960-2975.
- Roughgarden, T. 1999. "Climate change policy: quantifying uncertainties for damages and optimal carbon taxes." Energy Policy. 27(7). pp. 415-429.
- Rowe, R.D. and L.G. Chestnut. 1986. "Report to the US Environmental Protection Agency, Office of Policy Analysis: Oxidants and Asthmatics in Los Angeles: A Benefit Analysis-Executive Summary." EPA-230-09-86-018. Washington D.C. Energy and Resources Consultants, Inc.
- Russell, A. and R. Dennis. 2000. "NARSTO critical review of photochemical models and modeling." Atmospheric Environment. 34(12-14). pp. 2283-2324.
- Russell, M.W., D.M. Huses, S. Drowns, E.C. Hamel, and S.C. Hartz. 1998. "Direct Medical Costs of Coronary Artery Disease in the United States." American Journal of Cardiology. 81(9). pp. 1110-1115.
- Ryerson, T.B., M.P. Buhr, G.J. Frost, P.D. Goldan, J.S. Holloway, G. Hubler, B.T. Jobson, W.C. Kuster, S.A. McKeen, D.D. Parrish, J.M. Roberts, D.T. Sueper, M. Trainer, J. Williams, and F.C. Fehsenfeld. 1998. "Emissions lifetimes and ozone formation in power plant plumes." Journal of Geophysical Research-Atmospheres. 103(D17). pp. 22569-22583.
- Ryerson, T.B., M. Trainer, J.S. Holloway, D.D. Parrish, L.G. Huey, D.T. Sueper, G.J. Frost, S.G. Donnelly, S. Schauffler, E.L. Atlas, W.C. Kuster, P.D. Goldan, G. Hubler, J.F. Meagher, and F.C. Fehsenfeld. 2001. "Observations of ozone formation in power plant plumes and implications for ozone control strategies." Science. 292(5517). pp. 719-723.
- S., S.D., R.M. Doherty, M.G. Sanderson, W.J. Collins, C.E. Johnson, and R.G. Derwent. 2004. "Radiative forcing from aircraft NOx emissions: Mechanisms and seasonal dependence." Journal of Geophysical Research. 109(D17307).
- SAE. 1975. "Standard values of atmospheric absorption as a function of temperature and humidity, SAE ARP 866A." SAE ARP 866A. Warrendale, PA. August 1964, revised March 1975. Society of Automotive Engineers.
- SAE. 1986. "Procedure for the calculation of airplane noise in the vicinity of airports." SAE AIR 1845. Warrendale, PA. March 1986. Society of Aerospace Engineers, Committee A-21, Aircraft Noise. 84 pgs.

- SAE. 1991. "Prediction method for lateral attenuation of airplane noise during takeoff and landing, SAE AIR 1751." SAE AIR 1751. Warrendale, PA. March 1981, reaffirmed March 1991. Society of Automotive Engineers.
- SAE. 1997. "Aircraft Gas Turbine Engine Exhaust Smoke Measurement, ARP1179 Revision C." ARP1179. A.E.E.M. Committee, ed. October.
- Saelensminde, K. 1999. "Stated choice valuation of urban traffic air pollution and noise." Transportation Research Part D -Transport and Environment. 4(1). pp. 13-27.
- Saffman, P.G. and J.S. Turner. 1955. "On the collision of drops in turbulent clouds." Journal of Fluid Mechanics. 1.
- Salvi, M. 2007. "Spatial estimation of the impact of airport noise on residential housing prices." July 2007. Working Paper Series, Cantonal Bank of Zurich. 32 pgs.
- Samet, J.M., D.M. DeMarini, and H.V. Malling. 2004. "Do airborne particles induce heritable mutations?" Science. 304(5673). pp. 971-972.
- Samet, J.M., F. Dominici, S.L. Zeger, J. Schwartz, and D.W. Dockery. 2000. "The National Morbidity, Mortality, and Air Pollution Study, Part 1: Methods and Methodologic Issues, Final Version." Research Report Number 94, Part 1. Cambridge, MA. June 2000. Health Effects Institute. 91 pgs.
- Samet, J.M., S.L. Zeger, F. Dominici, F. Curriero, I. Coursac, D.W. Dockery, J. Schwartz, and A. Zanobetti. 2000. "The National Morbidity, Mortality, and Air Pollution Study, Part 2: Morbidity and Mortality from Air Pollution in the United States, Final Version." Research Report Number 94, Part II. Cambridge, MA. June 2000. Health Effects Institute. 89 pgs.
- Sander, H. and S. Polasky. 2008. "The value of views and open space: Estimates from a hedonic pricing model for Ramsey County, Minnesota, USA." Land Use Policy.
- Sarmiento, J.L., T.M.C. Hughes, R.J. Stouffer, and S. Manabe. 1998. "Simulated response of the ocean carbon cycle to anthropogenic climate warming." Nature. 393(6682). pp. 245-249.
- SASC. 2005. "Sustainable aviation, A strategy towards sustainable development of UK aviation." United Kingdom. June 2005. 29 pgs.
- Sausen, R., I. Isaksen, V. Grewe, D. Hauglustaine, D.S. Lee, G. Myhre, M.O. hler, G. Pitari, U. Schumann, F. Stordal, and C. Zerefos. 2005. "Aviation radiative forcing in 2000: An update on IPCC (1999)." Meteorologische Zeitschrift. 14. pp. 555-561.
- Sausen, R., I. Isaksen, V. Grewe, D. Hauglustaine, D.S. Lee, G. Myhre, M.O. Kohler, G. Pitari, U. Schumann, F. Stordal, and C. Zerefos. 2005. "Aviation radiative forcing in 2000: An update on IPCC (1999)." Meteorologische Zeitschrift. 14(4). pp. 555-561.
- Sausen, R. and U. Schumann. 2000. "Estimates of the climate response to aircraft CO2 and NOx emissions scenarios." Climatic Change. 44(1-2). pp. 27-58.
- Sausen, R. and U. Schumann. 2000. "Estimates of the Climate Response to Aircraft CO2 and NOx Emissions Scenarios." Climatic Change. 44(1-2). pp. 27-58.
- Scarborough, H. and J. Bennett. 2008. "Estimating intergenerational distribution preferences." Ecological Economics. 66(4). pp. 575-583.
- Schafer, A. 2000. "Regularities in travel demand: An international perspective." Journal of Transportation and Statistics. 3(3). pp. 1-33.
- Schafer, A. and D. Victor. 1997. "The past and future of global mobility." Scientific American. 277(4). pp. 58-61.
- Schafer, A. and D.G. Victor. 1999. "Global passenger travel: implications for carbon dioxide emissions." Energy. 24(8). pp. 657-679.
- Schafer, A. and D.G. Victor. 2000. "The future mobility of the world population." Transportation Research Part a-Policy and Practice. 34(3). pp. 171-205.
- Schank, J.L. 2005. "Solving airside airport congestion: Why peak runway pricing is not working." Journal of Air Transport Management. 11(6). pp. 417-425.
- Scheraga, J.D. 2001. "Human health consequences of climate variability and change for the United States Preface." Environmental Health Perspectives. 109. pp. 175-176.
- Schipper, Y. 1998. "Why do aircraft noise value estimates differ? A meta-analysis." Journal of Air Transport Management. 4(2). pp. 117-124.
- Schipper, Y. 2001. "Environmental externalities in air transport markets." Journal of Air Transport Management. 7(3). pp. 169-179.

Schipper, Y. 2004. "Environmental costs in European aviation." Transport Policy. 11(2). pp. 141-154.

- Schipper, Y., P. Rietveld, and P. Nijkamp. 2003. "Airline deregulation and external costs: a welfare analysis." Transportation Research Part B-Methodological. 37(8). pp. 699-718.
- Schipper, Y., P. Rietveld, and P. Nijkamp. 2007. "Frequency competition and environmental costs: An application to European air transport liberalization." Socio-Economic Planning Sciences. 41(3). pp. 208-223.
- Schlapfer, F. 2008. "Contingent valuation: A new perspective." Ecological Economics. 64(4). pp. 729-740.
- Schmalensee, R. 1993. "Comparing greenhouse gases for policy purposes." Energy Journal. 14(1). pp. 245-256.
- Schneider, S. and J. Lane. 2005. "Integrated Assessment Modeling of Global Climate Change: Much Has Been Learnedâ^A"Still a Long and Bumpy Road Ahead." Integrated Assessment. 5(1). pp. 41â^A"75.
- Schrader, M.L., W.D. Meyer, and C.L. Weaver. 1997. "Comments on " A Reexamination of the Formation of Exhaust Condensation Trails by Jet Aircraft”." Journal of Applied Meteorology. 36(5). pp. 623-626.
- Schreyer, C., C. Schneider, M. Maibach, W. Rothengatter, C. Doll, and D. Schmedding. 2004. "External costs of transport: Update study." Zürich and Karlsruhe, Germany. 2004. Prepared by INFRAS and the Institut für Wirtschaftspolitik und Wirtschaftsforschung (IWW) Universitaet Karlsruhe.
- Schröder, F., C.A. Brock, R. Baumann, A. Petzold, R. Busen, P. Schulte, and M. Fiebig. 2000. "In situ studies on volatile jet exhaust particle emissions: Impact of fuel sulfur content and environmental conditions on nuclei mode aerosols." Journal of Geophysical Research-Atmospheres. 105(D15). pp. 19941-19954.
- Schroder, F., B. Karcher, C. Duroure, J. Strom, A. Petzold, J.F. Gayet, B. Strauss, P. Wendling, and S. Borrmann. 2000. "On the transition of contrails into cirrus clouds." Journal of the Atmospheric Sciences. 57(4). pp. 464-480.
- Schröder, F.P., B. Karcher, A. Petzold, R. Baumann, R. Busen, C. Hoell, and U. Schumann. 1998. "Ultrafine aerosol particles in aircraft plumes: In situ observations." Geophysical Research Letters. 25(15). pp. 2789-2792.
- Schultz, T.J. 1978. "Synthesis of social surveys on noise annoyance." The Journal of the Acoustical Society of America. 64(2). pp. 377-405.
- Schumann, U. 1995. "AERONOX: The impact of NOx emissions from aircraft upon the atmosphere at flight altitudes 8-15 km, Final Report to teh Commission of European Communities." Brussels, Belgium. 1995. EC-DLR.
- Schumann, U. 1996. "Comments on " A Reexamination of the Formation of Exhaust Condensation Trails by Jet Aircraft”." Journal of Applied Meteorology. 35(12). pp. 2283-2284.
- Schumann, U. 2000. "Influence of propulsion efficiency on contrail formation." Aerospace Science and Technology. 4(6). pp. 391-401.
- Schumann, U. 2003. Aviation, Atmosphere, and Climate What has been learned. European Conference on Aviation, Atmosphere and Climate (AAC), Proceedings of an International Conference. European Commission. Friedrichshafen, Germany. June 30 - July 3, 2003. pp. 349-351.
- Schumann, U., F. Arnold, R. Busen, J. Curtius, B. Karcher, A. Kiendler, A. Petzold, H. Schlager, F. Schroder, and K.H. Wohlfrom. 2002. "Influence of fuel sulfur on the composition of aircraft exhaust plumes: The experiments SULFUR 1-7." Journal of Geophysical Research-Atmospheres. 107(D15). pp. Paper no. 4247.
- Schumann, U., R. Busen, and M. Plohr. 2000. "Experimental test of the influence of propulsion efficiency on contrail formation." Journal of Aircraft. 37(6). pp. 1083-1087.
- Schumann, U., H. Schlager, F. Arnold, R. Baumann, P. Haschberger, and O. Klemm. 1998. "Dilution of aircraft exhaust plumes at cruise altitudes." Atmospheric Environment. 32(18). pp. 3097-3103.
- Schumann, U., J. Strom, R. Busen, R. Baumann, K. Gierens, M. Krautstrunk, F.P. Schroder, and J. Stingl. 1996. "In situ observations of particles in jet aircraft exhausts and contrails for different sulfur-containing fuels." Journal of Geophysical Research-Atmospheres. 101(D3). pp. 6853-6869.
- Schumann, U. and D. Wurzel. 1994. "Impact of Emissions from Aircraft and Spacecraft Upon the Atmosphere: Proceedings of an International Scientific Colloquium, Koln , 18-20 April 1994." 94-06. 496 pgs.
- Schürmann, G., K. Schäfer, C. Jahn, H. Hoffmann, M. Bauerfeind, E. Fleuti, and B. Rappenglück. 2007. "The impact of NOx, CO and VOC emissions on the air quality of Zurich airport." Atmospheric Environment. 41(1). pp. 103-118.
- Schwartz, J. 1993. "Particulate Air-Pollution and Chronic Respiratory-Disease." Environmental Research. 62(1). pp. 7-13.
- Schwartz, J. 1994. "Pm(10) Ozone, and Hospital Admissions for the Elderly in Minneapolis St-Paul, Minnesota." Archives of Environmental Health. 49(5). pp. 366-374.

- Schwartz, J. 1994. "Air-Pollution and Hospital Admissions for the Elderly in Detroit, Michigan." American Journal of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine. 150(3). pp. 648-655.
- Schwartz, J. 1994. "Air-Pollution and Hospital Admissions for the Elderly in Birmingham, Alabama." American Journal of Epidemiology. 139(6). pp. 589-598.

Schwartz, J. 1994. "What Are People Dying of on High Air-Pollution Days." Environmental Research. 64(1). pp. 26-35.

- Schwartz, J. 1995. "Short Term Fluctuations in Air Pollution and Hospital Admissions of the Elderly for Respiratory Disease." Thorax. 50(5). pp. 531-538.
- Schwartz, J. 1996. "Air pollution and hospital admissions for respiratory disease." Epidemiology. 7(1). pp. 20-28.
- Schwartz, J. 1997. "Air pollution and hospital admissions for cardiovascular disease in Tucson." Epidemiology. 8(4). pp. 371-377.
- Schwartz, J. 1999. "Air pollution and hospital admissions for heart disease in eight US counties." Epidemiology. 10(1). pp. 17-22.
- Schwartz, J. 2003. "Daily deaths associated with air pollution in six U.S. cities and short-term mortality displacement in Boston." Revised analyses of the National Morbidity, Mortality, and Air Pollution Study, Part II: Revised analyses of selected timeseries studies. Presented at In Revised analyses of time-series studies of air pollution and health. Boston, MA. May 2003. Health Effects Institute. 219-226 pgs.
- Schwartz, J., D.W. Dockery, and L.M. Neas. 1996. "Is daily mortality associated specifically with fine particles?" Journal of the Air & Waste Management Association. 46(10). pp. 927-939.
- Schwartz, J., D.W. Dockery, L.M. Neas, D. Wypij, J.H. Ware, J.D. Spengler, P. Koutrakis, F.E. Speizer, and B.G. Ferris. 1994. "Acute Effects of Summer Air-Pollution on Respiratory Symptom Reporting in Children." American Journal of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine. 150(5). pp. 1234-1242.
- Schwartz, J. and R. Morris. 1995. "Air-Pollution and Hospital Admissions for Cardiovascular-Disease in Detroit, Michigan." American Journal of Epidemiology. 142(1). pp. 23-35.
- Schwartz, J. and L.M. Neas. 2000. "Fine particles are more strongly associated than coarse particles with acute respiratory health effects in schoolchildren." Epidemiology. 11(1). pp. 6-10.
- Schwartz, J., D. Slater, T.V. Larson, W.E. Pierson, and J.Q. Koenig. 1993. "Particulate Air-Pollution and Hospital Emergency Room Visits for Asthma in Seattle." American Review of Respiratory Disease. 147(4). pp. 826-831.
- Schwartz, J., C. Spix, H.E. Wichmann, and E. Malin. 1991. "Air-Pollution and Acute Respiratory Illness in 5 German Communities." Environmental Research. 56(1). pp. 1-14.
- Segerson, K. 2001. "Real Estate and the Environment: An Introduction." The Journal of Real Estate Finance and Economics. 22(2). pp. 135-139.
- Seinfeld, J.H. 2004. "Air pollution: A half century of progress." Aiche Journal. 50(6). pp. 1096-1108.
- Seinfeld, J.H. and S.N. Pandis, 1997, Atmospheric chemistry and physics, Wiley-Interscience.
- Shabman, L. and K. Stephenson. 1996. "Searching for the correct benefit estimate: Empirical evidence for an alternative perspective." Land Economics. 72(4). pp. 433-449.
- Sharp, L.F., J.F. Swiney, M.R. Dansby, S.C. Hyatt, and D.E. Schimmel. 1977. "Behavioral and physiological correlates of varying noise environments."

Shepherd, K.P., D.W. Forsyth, J. Gulding, and J. DiPardo. 2003. "Review of Integrated Noise Model (INM) equations and processes." NASA/CR-2003-212414. Langely, VA. May 2003. NASA Langley Research Center. 55 pgs.

- Sheppard, L. 2003. "Ambient air pollution and nonelderly asthma hospital admissions in Seattle, Washington, 1987-1994." Revised analyses of the National Morbidity, Mortality, and Air Pollution Study, Part II: Revised analyses of selected timeseries studies. Boston, MA. May 2003. Health Effects Institute. 227-230 pgs.
- Sheppard, L., D. Levy, G. Norris, T.V. Larson, and J.Q. Koenig. 1999. "Effects of ambient air pollution on nonelderly asthma hospital admissions in Seattle, Washington, 1987-1994." Epidemiology. 10(1). pp. 23-30.
- Shiell, A. and B. Rush. 2003. "Can willingness to pay capture the value of altruism? An exploration of Sen's notion of commitment." Journal of Socio-Economics. 32(6). pp. 647-660.
- Shiftan, Y., K.J. Button, and P. Nijkamp, 2007, Transportation planning, Classics in planning, 7, Edward Elgar, Cheltenham.
- Shindell, D., G. Faluvegi, A. Lacis, J. Hansen, R. Ruedy, and E. Aguilar. 2006. "Role of tropospheric ozone increases in 20thcentury climate change." J. Geophys. Res. 111.

- Shindell, D., A. Gilliland, L.W. Horowitz, M.D. Schwarzkopf, and H. Levy. 2008. "Climate Projections Based on Emissions Scenarios for Long-Lived and Short-Lived Radiatively Active Gases and Aerosols: Synthesis and Assessment Product 3.2." United States. 116p pgs.
- Shindell, D., J.F. Lamarque, N. Unger, D. Koch, G. Faluvegi, S. Bauer, M. Ammann, J. Cofala, and H. Teich. 2008. "Climate forcing and air quality change due to regional emissions reductions by economic sector." Atmos. Chem. Phys. 8(23). pp. 7101-7113.
- Shindell, D.T., G. Faluvegi, N. Bell, and G.A. Schmidt. 2005. "An emissions-based view of climate forcing by methane and tropospheric ozone." Geophys. Res. Lett. 32. pp. L04803.
- Shine, K., J. Fuglestvedt, K. Hailemariam, and N. Stuber. 2005. "Alternatives to the Global Warming Potential for Comparing Climate Impacts of Emissions of Greenhouse Gases." Climatic Change. 68(3). pp. 281-302.
- Shine, K.P. 2005. "Comments on 'Contrails, Cirrus Trends, and Climate'." Journal of Climate. 18(14). pp. 2781-2782.
- Shine, K.P., T.K. Berntsen, J.S. Fuglestvedt, and R. Sausen. 2005. "Scientific issues in the design of metrics for inclusion of oxides of nitrogen in global climate agreements." Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America. 102(44). pp. 15768-15773.
- Shine, K.P., J.S. Fuglestvedt, K. Hailemariam, and N. Stuber. 2005. "Alternatives to the Global Warming Potential for Comparing Climate Impacts of Emissions of Greenhouse Gases." Climatic Change. 68(3). pp. 281 302.
- Shogren, J. and L. Taylor. 2008. "On Behavioral-Environmental Economics." Review of environmental economics and policy. 2(1). pp. 26-44.
- Shogren, J.F. and T. Stamland. 2002. "Skill and the Value of Life." Journal of Political Economy. 110(1168-1173).
- Siegenthaler, U. and H. Oeschger. 1978. "Predicting Future Atmospheric Carbon-Dioxide Levels." Science. 199(4327). pp. 388-395.
- Sillano, M. and J.d.D. Ortúzar. 2005. "Willingness-to-pay estimation with mixed logit models: Some new evidence." Environment and Planning A. 37. pp. 525-550.
- Sillman, S. 1993. "TROPOSPHERIC OZONE THE DEBATE OVER CONTROL STRATEGIES." Annual Review of Energy and the Environment. 18. pp. 31-56.
- Sillman, S. 1999. "The relation between ozone, NOx and hydrocarbons in urban and polluted rural environments." Atmospheric Environment. 33(12). pp. 1821-1845.
- Sillman, S. 2000. "Ozone production efficiency and loss of NOx in power plant plumes: Photochemical model and interpretation of measurements in Tennessee." Journal of Geophysical Research-Atmospheres. 105(D7). pp. 9189-9202.
- Sillman, S. and D.Y. He. 2002. "Some theoretical results concerning O-3-NOx-VOC chemistry and NOx-VOC indicators." Journal of Geophysical Research-Atmospheres. 107(D22). pp. 15.
- Sillman, S., D.Y. He, M.R. Pippin, P.H. Daum, D.G. Imre, L.I. Kleinman, J.H. Lee, and J. Weinstein-Lloyd. 1998. "Model correlations for ozone, reactive nitrogen, and peroxides for Nashville in comparison with measurements: Implications for O-3-NOx-hydrocarbon chemistry." Journal of Geophysical Research-Atmospheres. 103(D17). pp. 22629-22644.
- Sillman, S., J.A. Logan, and S.C. Wofsy. 1990. "THE SENSITIVITY OF OZONE TO NITROGEN-OXIDES AND HYDROCARBONS IN REGIONAL OZONE EPISODES." Journal of Geophysical Research-Atmospheres. 95(D2). pp. 1837-1851.
- Simmonds, I. and W. Steffen. 2007. "Response to 'The Stern Review: A Dual Critique-Part I: The Science'." WORLD ECONOMICS-HENLEY ON THAMES-. 8(2). pp. 133.
- Slemr, F., H. Giehl, J. Slemr, R. Busen, P. Schulte, and P. Haschberger. 1998. "In-flight measurement of aircraft non-methane hydrocarbon emission indices." Geophysical Research Letters. 25(3). pp. 321-324.
- Slovic, P. 1987. "Perception of Risk." Science. 236(4799). pp. 280-285.
- Slovic, P., B. Fischhoff, and S. Lichtenstein. 1979. "Rating the Risks." Environment. 21(3). pp. 14-&.
- Small, K. and S. Steimetz, Spatial hedonics and the willingness to pay for residential amenities. 2006, University of California-Irvine, Department of Economics, Working Papers: 050631. p. 16 pages.
- Small, K.A. and C. Kazimi. 1995. "On the Costs of Air-Pollution from Motor-Vehicles." Journal of Transport Economics and Policy. 29(1). pp. 7-32.
- Smith, D.H., D.C. Malone, K.A. Lawson, L.J. Okamoto, C. Battista, and W.B. Saunders. 1997. "A National Estimate of the Economic Costs of Asthma." American Journal of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine. 156(3Pt.1). pp. 787-793.

Smith, MJ.T., 1989, Aircraft noise, Cambridge Aerospace Series, ed. C.U. Press, Press Syndicate of the University of Cambridge, Cambridge, U.K.

Smith, M.J.T. 1991. "Impact of Aircraft Noise Control Technology." United Kingdom. 9p pgs.

Smith, O.I., S.N. Wang, S. Tseregounis, and C.K. Westbrook. 1983. "The Sulfur Catalyzed Recombination of Atomic Oxygen in a Co/O2/Ar Flame." Combustion Science and Technology. 30(1-6). pp. 241-271.

- Smith, R. 2007. "The role of reference goods in contingent valuation: Should we help respondents to construct their willingness to pay?" Health Economics. 16(12). pp. 1319-1332.
- Smith, R.S. 1974. "The Feasibility of an "Injury Tax" Approach to Occupational Safety." Law and Contemporary Problems. 38(4). pp. 730-744.
- Smith, V.K. 2007. "Reflections on the Literature." Rev Environ Econ Policy. 1(2). pp. 300-318.
- Smith, V.K. 2008. "Reflections on the Literature." Rev Environ Econ Policy. 2(1). pp. 130-145.
- Smith, V.K. and C.C.S. Gilbert. 1984. "THE IMPLICIT VALUATION OF RISKS TO LIFE A COMPARATIVE-ANALYSIS." Economics Letters. 16(3-4). pp. 393-399.
- Smith, V.K. and J.C. Huang. 1995. "Can Markets Value Air-Quality a Metaanalysis of Hedonic Property Value Models." Journal of Political Economy. 103(1). pp. 209-227.
- Sobol, I.M., 1994, A primer for the Monte Carlo method, CRC Press, Boca Raton.
- Sokolov, A.P. and P.H. Stone. 1998. "A flexible climate model for use in integrated assessments." Climate Dynamics. 14(4). pp. 291-303.
- Solomon, S., I.P.o.C. Change., and I.P.o.C.C.W.G. I., 2007, Climate Change 2007 : the physical science basis : contribution of Working Group I to the Fourth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge ; New York.
- Solomon, S., C. Intergovernmental Panel on Climate, and I. Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. Working Group, 2007, Climate Change 2007 : the physical science basis : contribution of Working Group I to the Fourth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, ed. Anonymous, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge ; New York.
- Solomon, S., G.-K. Plattner, R. Knutti, and P. Friedlingstein. 2009. "Irreversible climate change due to carbon dioxide emissions." Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences. published online before print January 28, 2009.
- Solow, R. 1993. "An Almost Practical Step toward Sustainability." Resources Policy. 19(3). pp. 162-172.
- Somers, C.M., B.E. McCarry, F. Malek, and J.S. Quinn. 2004. "Reduction of particulate air pollution lowers the risk of heritable mutations in mice." Science. 304(5673). pp. 1008-1010.
- Somnitz, H., G. Gleitsmann, G. tz, and R. Zellner. 2005. "Novel rates of OH induced sulfur oxidation. Implications to the plume chemistry of jet aircraft." Meteorologische Zeitschrift. 14(4). pp. 459-464.
- Sorokin, A. and F. Arnold. 2004. "Electrically charged small soot particles in the exhaust of an aircraft gas-turbine engine combustor: comparison of model and experiment." Atmospheric Environment. 38(17). pp. 2611-2618.
- Sorokin, A., E. Katragkou, F. Arnold, R. Busen, and U. Schumann. 2004. "Gaseous SO3 and H2SO4 in the exhaust of an aircraft gas turbine engine: measurements by CIMS and implications for fuel sulfur conversion to sulfur (VI) and conversion of SO3 to H2SO4." Atmospheric Environment. 38(3). pp. 449-456.
- Sorokin, A. and P. Mirabel. 2001. "Ion recombination in aircraft exhaust plumes." Geophysical Research Letters. 28(6). pp. 955-958.
- Spicer, C.W., M.W. Holdren, R.M. Riggin, and T.F. Lyon. 1994. "Chemical-Composition and Photochemical Reactivity of Exhaust from Aircraft Turbine-Engines." Annales Geophysicae-Atmospheres Hydrospheres and Space Sciences. 12(10-11). pp. 944-955.
- Spicer, C.W., M.W. Holdren, D.L. Smith, D.P. Hughes, and M.D. Smith. 1992. "Chemical-Composition of Exhaust from Aircraft Turbine-Engines." Journal of Engineering for Gas Turbines and Power-Transactions of the Asme. 114(1). pp. 111-117.
- Spix, C. and H.E. Wichmann. 1996. "Daily mortality and air pollutants: Findings from Koln, Germany." Journal of Epidemiology and Community Health. 50. pp. S52-S58.
- Stahl, C.H., A.J. Cimorelli, and A.H. Chow. 2002. "A New Approach to Environmental Decision Analysis: Multi-Criteria Integrated Resource Assessment (MIRA)." Bulletin of Science Technology Society. 22(6). pp. 443-459.
- Stanford, R., T. McLaughlin, and L.J. Okamoto. 1999. "The Cost of Asthma in the Emergency Department and Hospital." American Jounal of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine. 160(1). pp. 211-215.

- Stansfeld, S.A., B. Berglund, C. Clark, I. Lopez-Barrio, P. Fischer, E. AAhrstrAJm, M.M. Haines, J. Head, S. Hygge, I. van Kamp, and B.F. Berry. 2005. "Aircraft and road traffic noise and children's cognition and health: a cross-national study." The Lancet. 365(9475). pp. 1942-1949.
- Stansfeld, S.A., B. Berglund, C. Clark, I. Lopez-Barrio, P. Fischer, E. Ohrstrom, M.M. Haines, J. Head, S. Hygge, I. van Kamp, and B.F. Berry. 2005. "Aircraft and road traffic noise and children"s cognition and health: a cross-national study." Lancet. 365(9475). pp. 1942-1949.
- Stansfeld, S.A. and M.P. Matheson. 2003. "Noise pollution: non-auditory effects on health." British Medical Bulletin. 68(1). pp. 243-257.
- Starik, A.M., A.M. Savel'ev, N.S. Titova, and U. Schumann. 2002. "Modeling of sulfur gases and chemiions in aircraft engines." Aerospace Science and Technology. 6(1). pp. 63-81.
- Stern, N. and C. Taylor. 2007. "Climate Change: Risk, Ethics, and the Stern Review." Science. 317(5835). pp. 203-204.
- Stern, N. and C. Taylor. 2007. "ECONOMICS: Climate Change: Risk, Ethics, and the Stern Review." Science. 317(5835). pp. 203-204.
- Stern, N.H., 2007, The economics of climate change : the Stern review, ed. T. Great Britain, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, UK ; New York.
- Sterner, T. and U.M. Persson. 2008. "An Even Sterner Review: Introducing Relative Prices into the Discounting Debate." Rev Environ Econ Policy. 2(1). pp. 61-76.
- Sterner, T. and U.M. Persson. 2008. "An Even Sterner Review: Introducing Relative Prices into the Discounting Debate." Review of Environmental Economics and Policy. 2(1). pp. 61-76.
- Stevenson, D.S., R.M. Doherty, M.G. Sanderson, W.J. Collins, C.E. Johnson, and R.G. Derwent. 2004. "Radiative forcing from aircraft NOx emissions: Mechanisms and seasonal dependence." Journal of Geophysical Research-Atmospheres. 109(D17). pp. 17.
- Stieb, D.M., R.T. Burnett, R.C. Beveridge, and J.R. Brook. 1996. "Association between ozone and asthma emergency department visits in Saint John, New Brunswick, Canada." Environmental Health Perspectives. 104(12). pp. 1354-1360.
- Stockwell, W. 2000. "The ammonium nitrate particle equivalent of NOx emissions for wintertime conditions in Central California's San Joaquin Valley." Atmospheric Environment. 34(27). pp. 4711-4717.
- Stokey, E. and R. Zeckhauser, 1978, A primer for policy analysis, W. W. Norton, New York.
- Stolarski, R.S., S.L. Baughcum, W.H. Brune, A.R. Douglass, and D.W. Fahey. 1995. "1995 Scientific assessment of the atmospheric effects of stratospheric aircraft." NASA-RP-1381. Washington D.C. November 1995. National Aeronautics and Space Administration. 106 pgs.
- Stolarski, R.S. and W.S. C., eds. Atmospheric Effects of Stratospheric Aircraft: A Fourth Program Report. 1995, Scientific and Technical Information Program, Office of Management, National Aeronautics and Space Administration: Washington, D.C. 234.
- Stolarski, R.S. and H.L. Wesoky, eds. Atmospheric Effects of Stratospheric Aircraft: A Third Program Report. 1993, Scientific and Technical Information Program, Office of Management, National Aeronautics and Space Administration: Washington, D.C. 405.
- Stuber, N., M. Ponater, and R. Sausen. 2001. "Is the climate sensitivity to ozone perturbations enhanced by stratospheric water vapor feedback?" Geophysical Research Letters. 28(15). pp. 2887-2890.
- Sugden, R. 2005. "Anomalies and stated preference techniques: A framework for a discussion of coping srategies." Environmental and Resource Economics. 32(1). pp. 1-12.
- Sunyer, J., J. Castellsague, M. Saez, A. Tobias, and J.M. Anto. 1996. "Air pollution and mortality in Barcelona." Journal of Epidemiology and Community Health. 50. pp. S76-S80.
- Sunyer, J., M. Saez, C. Murillo, J. Castellsague, F. Martinez, and J.M. Anto. 1993. "Air-Pollution and Emergency Room Admissions for Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary-Disease - a 5-Year Study." American Journal of Epidemiology. 137(7). pp. 701-705.
- Sutkus, D.J., S.L. Baughcum, and D.P. DuBois. 2001. "Scheduled civil aircraft emission inventories for 1999: Database development and analysis" NASA/CR-2001-211216. Langley, VA. October 2001. The Boeing Commercial Airplane Group, Seattle, WA. 142 pgs.
- Takeda, K., A. Takeda, J. Bryant, and A. Clegg. 2007. "Systematic review of the impact of emissions from aviation on current and future climate."

- Talukdar, R.K., E.E. Loukhovitskaya, O.B. Popovicheva, and A.R. Ravishankara. 2006. "Uptake of HNO3 on Hexane and Aviation Kerosene Soots." The Journal of Physical Chemistry A. 110(31). pp. 9643-9653.
- Tarrason, L., J.E. Jonson, T.K. Berntsen, and K. Rypdal. 2004. "Study on Air Quality Impacts of Non-LTO Emissions from Aviation." 3. Oslo. September 1, 2004. Norwegian Meteorological Institute.
- Taylor, K.E. and J.E. Penner. 1994. "Response of the Climate System to Atmospheric Aerosols and Greenhouse Gases." Nature. 369(6483). pp. 734-737.
- TC. 1994. "Guide to benefit-cost analysis in Transport Canada." TP11875E. Ottawa. September 1994. Economic Evaluation Branch, Transport Canada. 111 pgs.
- Tesseraux, I. 2004. "Risk factors of jet fuel combustion products." Toxicology Letters. 149(1-3). pp. 295-300.
- Tesseraux, I., B. Mach, and G. Koss. 1998. "Aviation fuels and aircraft emissions risk characterisation based on data of the Hamburg Airport." Zentralblatt Fur Hygiene Und Umweltmedizin. 201(2). pp. 135-151.
- Theebe, M. 2004. "Planes, trains, and automobiles: The impact of traffic noise on house prices." Journal of Real Estate Finance and Economics. 28(2-3). pp. 209-234.
- Thompson, A.M., R.R. Friedl, and H.L. Wesoky, eds. Atmospheric effects of aviation: First report of the subsonic assessment project. 1996, Goddard Space Flight Center, National Aeronautics and Space Administration: Washington, D.C. 332.
- Thompson, M.V. and J.T. Randerson. 1999. "Impulse response functions of terrestrial carbon cycle models: method and application." Global Change Biology. 5(4). pp. 371-394.
- Thurston, G.D., K. Ito, C.G. Hayes, D.V. Bates, and M. Lippmann. 1994. "Respiratory Hospital Admissions and Summertime Haze Air-Pollution in Toronto, Ontario - Consideration of the Role of Acid Aerosols." Environmental Research. 65(2). pp. 271-290.
- TIA and U.S. DoC. 2004. Economic Impact of Travel and Tourism. Data available online at: http://www.tia.org/Travel/ econimpact.asp. Last updated July 2004. Travel Industry Association of America and the Office of Travel and Tourism Industries, U.S. DoC. Washington, D.C. [cited December 15, 2004].
- Tie, X.X., G. Brasseur, X. Lin, P. Friedlingstein, C. Granier, and P. Rasch. 1994. "THE IMPACT OF HIGH-ALTITUDE AIRCRAFT ON THE OZONE-LAYER IN THE STRATOSPHERE." Journal of Atmospheric Chemistry. 18(2). pp. 103-128.
- Timin, B. 2005. Speciated Modeled Attainment Test (SMAT): What is it and why do we need it? 3rd Particulate Matter/Regional Haze/Ozone Modeling Workshop. New Orleans, LA. May 18-20, 2005
- Titus, J.G., The costs of climate change to the United States (Chapter 27), in Global Climate Change, Implications, Challenges, and Mitigation Measures, S.K. Majundar, L.S. Kalkstein, B. Yarnal, E.W. Miller, and I.M. Rosenfeld, Editors. 1992, Pensylvania Academy of Sciences: Easton, Pennsylvania. p. 384-409.
- Tol, R. 2008. "The social cost of carbon: trends, outliers and catastrophes." Economics: The Open-Access, Open-Assessment E-Journal. 2(2008-25). Originally appeard for comment as discussion paper 2007-44 published August 9, 2007. Prior to comment period, published as Working Paper FNU-144, Research Unit Sustainability and Global Change, Hamburg University and Centre for Marine and Atmospheric Science, Hamburg, Germany.
- Tol, R., S. Fankhauser, R. Richels, and J. Smith. 2000. "How Much Damage Will Climate Change Do? Recent estimates." World Economics. 1(4). pp. 179-206.
- Tol, R.S.J. 1995. "The damage costs of climate change: Toward more comprehensive calculations." Environmental and Resource Economics. 5(4). pp. 353-374.
- Tol, R.S.J. 1996. "The damage costs of climate change towards a dynamic representation." Ecological Economics. 19(1). pp. 67-90.
- Tol, R.S.J. 1999. "The marginal costs of greenhouse gas emissions." Energy Journal. 20(1). pp. 61-81.
- Tol, R.S.J. 2002. "The impact of climate change on the United States economy." Environment and Development Economics. 7. pp. 600-601.
- Tol, R.S.J. 2002. "Estimates of the damage costs of climate change. Part 1: Benchmark estimates." Environmental & Resource Economics. 21(1). pp. 47-73.
- Tol, R.S.J. 2002. "Estimates of the damage costs of climate change Part II. Dynamic estimates." Environmental & Resource Economics. 21(2). pp. 135-160.
- Tol, R.S.J. 2003. "Is the uncertainty about climate change too large for expected cost-benefit analysis?" Climatic Change. 56(3). pp. 265-289.

- Tol. R.S.J. 2005. "The marginal damage costs of carbon dioxide emissions: an assessment of the uncertainties." Energy Policy. 33(16). pp. 2064-2074.
- Tol. R.S.J. 2007. "The impact of a carbon tax on international tourism." Transportation Research Part D: Transport and Environment. 12(2). pp. 129-142.
- Tolley, G.S. and et.al. 1986. "Final Report to the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency: Valuation and Reductions in Human Health Symptoms and Risk." University of Chicago.
- Tomkins, J., N. Topham, J. Twomey, and R. Ward. 1998. "Noise versus access: The impact of an airport in an urban property market." Urban Studies. 35(2). pp. 243-258.
- Tonnessen, G., Z. Wang, M. Omary, C.-J. Chien, Y. Wang, R. Morris, S. Kemball-Cook, Y. Jia, S. Lau, B. Koo, Z. Adelman, A. Holland, and J. Wallace. 2006. "Final Report Prepared for the Western Regional Air Partnership (WRAP) 2002 Visibility Model Performance Evaluation." University of California at Riverside, Environ International Corporation, University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill.
- Toon, O.B. and R.C. Miake-Lye. 1998. "Subsonic aircraft: Contrail and cloud effects special study (SUCCESS)." Geophysical Research Letters. 25(8). pp. 1109-1112.
- Touloumi, G., E. Samoli, and K. Katsouyanni. 1996. "Daily mortality and "winter type" air pollution in Athens, Greece A time series analysis within the APHEA project." Journal of Epidemiology and Community Health. 50. pp. S47-S51.
- TPWS. 2004. "Transport-related health effects with a particular focus on children: Towards an integrated assessment of their costs and benefits. State of the art knowledge, methodological aspects and policy directions." Synthesis report. A.L. Davis, M. Fruianu, M. Herry, F. Racioppi, H. Schöbel, D. Sethi, and R. Thaler, eds. 2004. Contribution to the UNECE-WHO Transport, Health and Environment Pan-European Programme (THE PEP) and to the Children's Environment and Health Action Plan for Europe (CEHAPE) via the Transnational Project and Workshop Series of Austria, France, Malta, the Netherlands, Sweden and Switzerland. 89 pgs.
- Trainer, M., D.D. Parrish, M.P. Buhr, R.B. Norton, F.C. Fehsenfeld, K.G. Anlauf, J.W. Bottenheim, Y.Z. Tang, H.A. Wiebe, J.M. Roberts, R.L. Tanner, L. Newman, V.C. Bowersox, J.F. Meagher, K.J. Olszyna, M.O. Rodgers, T. Wang, H. Berresheim, K.L. Demerjian, and U.K. Roychowdhury. 1993. "CORRELATION OF OZONE WITH NOY IN PHOTOCHEMICALLY AGED AIR." Journal of Geophysical Research-Atmospheres. 98(D2). pp. 2917-2925.
- Trainer, M., D.D. Parrish, P.D. Goldan, J. Roberts, and F.C. Fehsenfeld. 2000. "Review of observation-based analysis of the regional factors influencing ozone concentrations." Atmospheric Environment. 34(12-14). pp. 2045-2061.
- Trainer, M., B.A. Ridley, M.P. Buhr, G. Kok, J. Walega, G. Hubler, D.D. Parrish, and F.C. Fehsenfeld. 1995. "REGIONAL OZONE AND URBAN PLUMES IN THE SOUTHEASTERN UNITED-STATES - BIRMINGHAM, A CASE-STUDY." Journal of Geophysical Research-Atmospheres. 100(D9). pp. 18823-18834.
- Travis, D.J., A.M. Carleton, and R.G. Lauritsen. 2002. "Climatology: Contrails reduce daily temperature range A brief interval when the skies were clear of jets unmasked an effect on climate." Nature. 418(6898). pp. 601-601.
- TRB. 2004. "Critical Issues in Aviation and the Environment." Transportation Research E-Circular No. E-C069. Washington, D.C. August 2004. Environmental Impacts of Aviation Committee (AV030). 30 pgs.
- Tremmel, H.G., H. Schlager, P. Konopka, P. Schulte, F. Arnold, M. Klemm, and B. Droste-Franke. 1998. "Observations and model calculations of jet aircraft exhaust products at cruise altitude and inferred initial OH emissions." Journal of Geophysical Research - Atmospheres. 103(D9). pp. 10803-10816.
- Tremmel, H.G. and U. Schumann. 1999. "Model simulations of fuel sulfur conversion efficiencies in an aircraft engine: Dependence on reaction rate constants and initial species mixing ratios." Aerospace Science and Technology. 3(7). pp. 417-430.
- Troe, J. 1978. "Atom and Radical Recombination Reactions." Annual Review of Physical Chemistry. 29. pp. 223-250.
- Tsang, W. and J.T. Herron. 1991. "Chemical Kinetic Data-Base for Propellant Combustion .1. Reactions Involving No, No2, Hno, Hno2, Hcn and N2o." Journal of Physical and Chemical Reference Data. 20(4). pp. 609-663.
- Turco, R.P. and F.Q. Yu. 1999. "Particle size distributions in an expanding plume undergoing simultaneous coagulation and condensation." Journal of Geophysical Research-Atmospheres. 104(D16). pp. 19227-19241.
- Turner, R.K., ed. Sustainable environmental economics and management: principles and practice. 1993, Belhaven Press, copublished in the Americas by Halsted Press: London. 389.
- Unal, A., Y. Hu, M.E. Chang, M. Talat Odman, and A.G. Russell. 2005. "Airport related emissions and impacts on air quality: Application to the Atlanta International Airport." Atmospheric Environment. 39(32). pp. 5787-5798.

- United States. Environmental Protection Agency. Science Advisory, B. and C. United States. Environmental Protection Agency. Science Advisory Board. Relative Risk Reduction Strategies, 1990, Reducing risk : setting priorities and strategies for environmental protection : report of the Science Advisory Board, Relative Risk Reduction Strategies Committee to William K. Reilly, Administrator, United States Environmental Protection Agency, Science Advisory Board, U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, Washington, D.C.
- Upham, P. 2001. "Environmental Capacity of Aviation: Theoretical Issues and Basic Research Directions." Journal of Environmental Planning and Management. 44(5). pp. 721-734.
- Uyeno, D., S.W. Hamilton, and A.J.G. Biggs. 1993. "Density of residential land-use and the impact of airport noise." Journal of Transport Economics and Policy. 27(1). pp. 3-18.
- van Praag, B. and B. Baarsma. 2001. "The shadow price of aircraft noise nusiance: A new approach to the internalization of externalities." Tinbergen Insitute Discussion Paper TI 2001-010/3. Amsterdam and Rotterdam. December 2000. Tinbergen Insitute. 41 pgs.
- van Praag, B. and B. Baarsma. 2004. "Using happiness surveys to value intangibles: The case of airport noise." IZA Paper No. 1096 Bonn. March 2004. Forschungsinstitut zur Zukunft der Arbeit (Institute for the Study of Labor) 32 pgs.
- van Praag, B. and B. Baarsma. 2005. "Using happiness surveys to value intangibles: The case of airport noise." Economic Journal. 115(500). pp. 224-246.
- Vedal, S., J. Petkau, R. White, and J. Blair. 1998. "Acute effects of ambient inhalable particles in asthmatic and nonasthmatic children." American Journal of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine. 157(4). pp. 1034-1043.
- Veisten, K. 2007. "Contingent valuation controversies: Philosophic debates about economic theory." Journal of Socio-Economics. 36(2). pp. 204-232.
- Venkatachalam, L. 2004. "The contingent valuation method: A review." Environmental Impact Assessment Review. 24(1). pp. 89-124.
- Verhoef, E. 1994. "External effects and social costs of road transport." Transportation Research Part A: Policy and Practice. 28(4). pp. 273-287.
- Verhoeff, A.P., G. Hoek, J. Schwartz, and J.H. vanWijnen. 1996. "Air pollution and daily mortality in Amsterdam." Epidemiology. 7(3). pp. 225-230.
- Viscusi, V.K., W.A. Magat, and J. Huber. 1991. "Pricing Environmental Health Risks: Survey Assessments of Risk-Risk and Risk-Dollar Trade-Offs for Chronic Bronchitis." Journal of Environmental Economics and Management. 21(32-51).
- Viscusi, W.K. 1978. "LABOR-MARKET VALUATIONS OF LIFE AND LIMB EMPIRICAL-EVIDENCE AND POLICY IMPLICATIONS." Public Policy. 26(3). pp. 359-386.
- Viscusi, W.K., 1979, *Employment hazards : an investigation of market performance*, Harvard economic studies ; v. 148, ed. Anonymous, Harvard University Press, Cambridge.
- Viscusi, W.K. 1993. "The Value of Risks to Life and Health." Journal of Economic Literature. 31(4). pp. 1912-1946.
- Viscusi, W.K. and J.E. Aldy. 2003. "The value of a statistical life: A critical review of market estimates throughout the world." Journal of Risk and Uncertainty. 27(1). pp. 5-76.
- Viscusi, W.K., W.A. Magat, and J. Huber. 1991. "COMMUNICATION OF AMBIGUOUS RISK INFORMATION." Theory and Decision. 31(2-3). pp. 159-173.
- Vohralik, P.F., L.K. Randeniya, I.C. Plumb, and S.L. Baughcum. 2008. "Effect of plume processes on aircraft impact." Journal of Geophysical Research-Atmospheres. 113(D5).
- Voss, R. and U. Mikolajewicz. 2001. "Long-term climate changes due to increased CO2 concentration in the coupled atmosphere-ocean general circulation model ECHAM3/LSG." Climate Dynamics. 17(1). pp. 45-60.
- Voss, R., R. Sausen, and U. Cubasch. 1998. "Periodically synchronously coupled integrations with the atmosphere-ocean general circulation model ECHAM3/LSG." Climate Dynamics. 14(4). pp. 249-266.
- Vreeker, R., P. Nijkamp, and C. Ter Welle. 2001. "A multicriteria decision support methodology for evaluating airport expansion plans." Tinbergen Institute Discussion Paper TI 2001-005/3. Amsterdam and Rotterdam. September 2001. Tinbergen Institute. 26 pgs.
- Vreeker, R., P. Nijkamp, and C. Ter Welle. 2002. "A multicriteria decision support methodology for evaluating airport expansion plans." Transportation Research Part D: Transport and Environment. 7(1). pp. 27-47.
- Wadud, Z. 2009. "A systematic review of literature on the valuation of local environmental externalities of aviation." Omega Mitigation Policies series. Manchester, England, UK. Cambridge University via the Omega program, Manchester Metropolitan University.
- Wahba, M. and C. Hope. 2006. "The marginal impact of carbon dioxide under two scenarios of future emissions." Energy Policy. 34(17). pp. 3305-3316.
- Waitz, I., S. Lukachko, Y. Go, P. Hollingsworth, K. Harback, and F. Morser, Waitz06. 2006. "Requirements Document for the Aviation Environmental Portfolio Management Tool." Presented at Report No. PARTNER-COE-2006-001. Partnership for AiR Transportation Noise and Emissions Reduction (PARTNER).
- Waitz, I., S. Lukachko, K. Willcox, P. Belobaba, E. Garcia, P. Hollingsworth, D. Mavris, K. Harback, F. Morser, and M. Steinbach. 2006. "Requirements Study for the Aviation Environmental Portfolio Management Tool." PARTNER-COE 2006-001. Cambridge, Massachusetts. June. Partnership for AiR Transportation Noise and Emissions Reduction, An FAA / NASA / Transport Canada sponsored Center of Excellence. 63 pgs.
- Waitz, I., S. Lukachko, K. Willcox, P. Belobaba, E. Garcia, P. Hollingsworth, D. Mavris, K. Harback, F. Morser, and M. Steinbach. 2006. "Architecture Study for the Aviation Environmental Portfolio Management Tool." PARTNER-COE-2006-002. Cambridge, Massachusetts. June. Partnership for AiR Transportation Noise and Emissions Reduction, An FAA / NASA / Transport Canada sponsored Center of Excellence. 86 pgs.
- Waitz, I., J. Townsend, J. Cutcher-Gershenfeld, E. Greitzer, and J. Kerrebrock. 2004. "Report to the United States Congress: Aviation and the Environment: A National Vision Statement, Framework for Goals and Recommended Actions." December 2004.
- Waitz, I., J. Townsend, J. Cutcher-Gershenfeld, E. Greitzer, and J. Kerrebrock, Waitz04. 2004. "Aviation and the Environment: A National Vision Statement, Framework for Goals and Recommended Actions." Presented at Report to the United States Congress, on behalf of the U.S. DOT, FAA and NASA.
- Waitz, I.A., S.P. Lukachko, and J.J. Lee. 2005. "Military aviation and the environment: Historical trends and comparison to civil aviation." Journal of Aircraft (in press). Originally presented at the 2003 AIAA/ICAS International Air and Space Symposium and Exposition. Dayton, Ohio. AIAA-2003-2620.
- Walters, A.A., 1975, Noise and prices, Clarendon Press, London.
- Walton, M.A. and t.M.I.T.L.c.h.I.m.e.b. Massachusetts Institute of Technology. Dept. of Aeronautics and Astronautics. Thanks for using Barton. 2002. "Managing uncertainty in space systems conceptual design using portfolio theory." Dissertation/Thesis. Massachusetts Institute of Technology, Dept. of Aeronautics and Astronautics
- Wardman, M. and A. Bristow. 2008. "Valuations of aircraft noise: Experiments in stated preference." Environmental and Resource Economics. 39(4). pp. 459-480.
- Wardman, M., A. Bristow, J. Toner, and G. Tweddle. 2002. "Review of research relevant to rail competition for short haul air routes." EEC/ENV/2002/003. Brétigny-sur-Orge, France. May 2002. Prepared for the Eurocontrol Experimental Centre, European Organization for the Safety of Air Navigation by the Institute of Transport Studies, University of Leeds, U.K. 197 pgs.
- Warren, D.G. 1984. "Area Equivalent Method on LOTUS 1-2-3TM." FAA-EE-84-12. Washington, D.C. July 1984. Office of Environment and Energy, Federal Aviation Administration, U.S. Department of Transportation. 32 pgs.
- Watkiss, P., S. Pye, and M. Holland, Watkiss05. 2005. "Baseline Scenarios for Service Contract for carrying out cost-benefits analysis of air quality related issues, in particular in the clean air for Europe (CAFE) program." AEA Technology Environment.
- Watson, R.T., D.L. Albritton, I. Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. Working Group, G. Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. Working, II, and G. Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. Working, III, 2001, Climate change 2001 : synthesis report, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge ; New York.
- Watson, R.T., M.C. Zinyowera, R.H. Moss, and G. Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. Working, II, 1996, Climate change 1995 : impacts, adaptations and mitigation of climate change : scientific-technical analyses, ed. Anonymous, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge ; New York.
- Wauben, W., P. Velthoven, and H. Kelder. 1997. "A 3D chemistry transport model study of changes in atmospheric ozone due to aircraft NOx emissions." Atmospheric Environment. 31(12). pp. 1819-1836.
- Wayson, R.L. and G.G. Fleming. 2000. "Consideration of air quality impacts by airplane operations at or above 3000 feet AGL." FAA-AEE-00-01, DTS-34. F.A.A. Office of Environment and Energy, ed. Washington, D.C. September 2000. John A. Volpe National Transportation Systems Center, Safety and Environmental Technology Division, U.S. Department of Transportation. 13 pgs.

- Wayson, R.L., G.G. Fleming, and B. Kim. 2003. "Particulate matter emissions from aircraft: A review of available literature and application of this information to a first-order approximation prediction methodology." DTS-34-FA22A-LR1. Washington, D.C. August. Federal Aviation Administration. Office of Environment and Energy. 98 pgs.
- Wayson, R.L., G.G. Fleming, and B. Kim. 2003. "Status report on proposed methodology to characterize jet/gas turbine engine particulate matter emissions." Progress report FAA-AEE-03-01. Cambridge. May 2003. Air Quality Facility, Volpe National Transportation Systems Center, U.S. Department of Transportation. 17 pgs.
- Wayson, R.L., G.G. Fleming, B. Kim, and J. Draper. "Derivation of a First Order Approximation of Particulate Matter from Aircraft." 69970.
- Webster, M., C. Forest, J. Reilly, M. Babiker, D. Kicklighter, M. Mayer, R. Prinn, M. Sarofim, A. Sokolov, P. Stone, and C. Wang. 2003. "Uncertainty analysis of climate change and policy response." Climatic Change. 61(3). pp. 295-320.
- Webster, M.D. 1996. "Analysis of uncertainty in large models with application to climate policy." Dissertation/Thesis. -Massachusetts Institute of Technology, Dept. of Electrical Engineering and Computer Science, 1996.
- Webster, M.D. 2000. "Uncertainty and learning in sequential decision-making : the case of climate policy." Ph.D. thesis. Technology, Management, and Policy Program. Sloan School of Management. Massachusetts Institute of Technology. Cambridge, MA.
- Weisbach, D. and C.R. Sunstein. 2008. "Climate change and discounting the future: A guide for the perplexed." Working Paper 08-19. Washington, D.C. August 2008. AEI Center for Regulatory and Market Studies. 38 pgs.
- Weisel, C.P., R.P. Cody, and P.J. Lioy. 1995. "Relationship between Summertime Ambient Ozone Levels and Emergency Department Visits for Asthma in Central New Jersey." Environmental Health Perspectives. 103(2), pp. 97-102.
- Weisenstein, D.K., M.K.W. Ko, I.G. Dyominov, G. Pitari, L. Ricciardulli, G. Visconti, and S. Bekki. 1998. "The effects of sulfur emissions from HSCT aircraft: A 2-D model intercomparison." Journal of Geophysical Research-Atmospheres. 103(D1). pp. 1527-1547.
- Weisenstein, D.K., M.K.W. Ko, J.M. Rodriguez, and N.D. Sze. 1991. "IMPACT OF HETEROGENEOUS CHEMISTRY ON MODEL-CALCULATED OZONE CHANGE DUE TO HIGH-SPEED CIVIL TRANSPORT AIRCRAFT." Geophysical Research Letters. 18(11). pp. 1991-1994.
- Weisenstein, D.K., M.K.W. Ko, J.M. Rodriguez, and N.D. Sze. 1993. "EFFECTS ON STRATOSPHERIC OZONE FROM HIGH-SPEED CIVIL TRANSPORT - SENSITIVITY TO STRATOSPHERIC AEROSOL LOADING." Journal of Geophysical Research-Atmospheres. 98(D12), pp. 23133-23140.
- Weisenstein, D.K., M.K.W. Ko, N.D. Sze, and J.M. Rodriguez. 1996. "Potential impact of SO2 emissions from stratospheric aircraft on ozone." Geophysical Research Letters. 23(2). pp. 161-164.
- Weitzman, M.L. 1994. "On the Environmental Discount Rate." Journal of Environmental Economics and Management. 26(2). pp. 200-209.
- Weitzman, M.L. 2001. "Gamma discounting." American Economic Review. 91(1). pp. 260-271.
- Weitzman, M.L. 2007. "A Review of the Stern Review on the Economics of Climate Change." Journal of Economic Literature. 45(3). pp. 703-724.
- Westerdahl. 2007. "The Los Angeles International Airport as a source of ultrafine particles and other pollutant to nearby communities." Atmospheric Environment. Accepted manuscript release.
- Wey, C.C., B.E. Anderson, C. Hudgins, C. Wey, X. Li-Jones, E. Winstead, L.K. Thornhill, P. Lobo, D. Hagen, P. Whitefield, P.E. Yelvington, S.C. Herndon, T.B. Onasch, R.C. Miake-Lye, J. Wormhoudt, W.B. Knighton, R. Howard, D. Bryant, E. Corporan, C. Moses, D. Holve, and W. Dodds. 2006. "Aircraft Particle Emissions eXperiment (APEX)." NASA/ TM-2006-214382 and ARL-TR-3903. Cleveland, Ohio. 2006. NASA Glenn Research Center and U.S. Army Research Laboratory. 531 pgs.
- Wey, C.C., B.E. Anderson, C. Wey, R.C. Miake-Lye, P. Whitefield, and R. Howard. 2007. "Overview on the aircraft particle emissions experiment." Journal of Propulsion and Power. 23(5). pp. 898-905.
- Wey, C.C., C. Wey, D.J. Dicki, K.H. Loos, D.E. Noss, D.E. Hagen, P.D. Whitefield, M.B. Trueblood, M.E. Wilson, D. Olson, J.O. Ballenthin, T.M. Miller, A.A. Viggiano, J. Wormhoudt, T. Berkoff, and R.C. Miake-Lye. 1998. "Engine gaseous, aerosol precursor and particulate at simulated flight altitude conditions." 176 pgs.
- Wey, T. and N.S. Liu. 2007. "Modeling jet engine aerosols in the postcombustor flow path and sampling system." Journal of Propulsion and Power. 23(5). pp. 930-941.
- Weyant, J.P. 2008. "A Critique of the Stern Review's Mitigation Cost Analyses and Integrated Assessment." Rev Environ Econ Policy. 2(1). pp. 77-93.

- Weyant, J.P. 2008. "A Critique of the Stern Review's Mitigation Cost Analyses and Integrated Assessment." Review of Environmental Economics and Policy. 2(1). pp. 77-93.
- WG-HSEA. Working Group on Health and Socio-economic Aspects, Part of the European Union Noise Expert Network 2003.
 "Valuation of noise." Brüssels, Belgium. December 4, 2003. Prepared for the Environment Directorate-General, European Comission, under the EC Directive on Environmental Noise (Directive 2002/49/EC). 9 pgs.
- Whitefield, P.D., D.E. Hagen, G. Siple, and J. Phearson. 2001. Estimation of particulate emissions indexes as a function of size for the LTO cycle for commercial jet engines. Air & Waste Management Association Annual Meeting. Orlando, Florida. June
- Whittemore, A.S. and E.L. Korn. 1980. "Asthma and Air-Pollution in the Los-Angeles Area." American Journal of Public Health. 70(7). pp. 687-696.
- WHO. 1999. "Guidelines for community noise." B. Berglund, R. Lindvall, and D.H. Schwela, eds. Geneva, Switzerland. April 1999. Cluster of Sustainable Development and Healthy Environment (SDE), Department of the Protection of the Human Environment (PHE), Occupational and Environmental Health (OEH). 160 pgs.
- WHO. 2003. "Health aspects of air pollution with particulate matter, ozone and nitrogen dioxide." Report on a WHO Working Group. Bonn, Germany. 13-15 January 2003. 98 pgs.
- Wiesen, P., J. Kleffmann, R. Kurtenbach, and K.H. Becker. 1994. "Nitrous-Oxide and Methane Emissions from Aero-Engines." Geophysical Research Letters. 21(18). pp. 2027-2030.
- Wild, O., M.J. Prather, and H. Akimoto. 2001. "Indirect long-term global radiative cooling from NOx emissions." Geophysical Research Letters. 28(9). pp. 1719-1722.
- Wild, O., M.J. Prather, and H. Akimoto. 2001. "Indirect long-term global radiative cooling from NOx emissions." Geophysical Research Letters. 28(9). pp. 1719¹/₄"1722.
- Wilhelmsson, M. 2002. "Household expenditure patterns for housing attributes: A linear expenditure system with hedonic prices." Journal of Housing Economics. 11(1). pp. 75-93.
- Willis, M. and A. Keller. 2007. "A framework for assessing the impact of land use policy on community exposure to air toxics." Journal of Environmental Management. 83(2). pp. 213-227.
- Wilson, C.W., A.R. Clague, M. Pourkashanian, and L. Ma. 2004. "Chemical kinetic modeling of the evolution of gaseous aerosol precursors within a gas turbine engine." GT2004-53704. Presented at ASME Turbo Expo 2004. Vienna, Austria. June 14-17, 2004. American Society of Mechanical Engineers.
- Wit, R.C.N., B.H. Boon, H. van Velzen, M. Cames, O. Deuber, and D. Lee. 2005. "Giving wings to emission trading: Inclusion of aviation under the European emission trading system (ETS): design and impacts." EC # ENV.C.2/ETU/2004/0074r CE # 05.7789.20. Delft, The Netherlands. July 2005. Prepared by CE Delft the European Commission, DG Environment. 251 pgs.
- Wit, R.C.N., B.H. Boon, H. van Velzen, M. Cames, O. Deuber, and D. Lee. 2005. "Giving wings to emission trading: Inclusion of aviation under the European emission trading system (ETS): design and impacts: Summary of the draft final report." Delft, The Netherlands. May 2005. 17 pgs.
- Wit, R.C.N., M. Davidson, and J.M.W. Dings. 2003. "Meeting exernal costs in the aviation industry." 03.7540.26. Delft, The Netherlands. August 25, 2003. Prepared by CE Delft for the U.K. Commission for Integrated Transport. 62 pgs.
- Wittels, E.H., J.W. Hay, and A.M.J. Gotto. 1990. "Medical Costs of Coronary Artery Disease in the United States." American Journal of Cardiology.
- Wong, H.W., P.E. Yelvington, M.T. Timko, T.B. Onasch, R.C. Miake-Lye, J.Y. Zhang, and I.A. Waitz. 2008. "Microphysical modeling of ground-level aircraft-emitted aerosol formation: Roles of sulfur-containing species." Journal of Propulsion and Power. 24(3). pp. 590-602.
- Woodruff, T.J., J. Grillo, and K.C. Schoendorf. 1997. "The relationship between selected causes of postneonatal infant mortality and particulate air pollution in the United States." Environmental Health Perspectives. 105(6). pp. 608-612.
- Wordley, J., S. Walters, and J.G. Ayres. 1997. "Short term variations in hospital admissions and mortality and particulate air pollution." Occupational and Environmental Medicine. 54(2). pp. 108-116.
- Wormhoudt, J., S.C. Herndon, P.E. Yelvington, R.C. Miake-Lye, and C. Wey. 2007. "Nitrogen oxide (NO/NO2/HONO) emissions measurements in aircraft exhausts." Journal of Propulsion and Power. 23(5). pp. 906-911.
- Wormhoudt, J.C., M.S. Zahniser, J.D.D. Nelson, J.B. McManus, R.C. Miake-Lye, and C.E. Kolb. 1994. Infrared tunable diode laser diagnostics for aircraft exhaust emissions characterization. *Laser Applications in Combustion and Combustion Diagnostics II*. SPIE. Los Angeles, CA, USA. 2122. pp. 49-60.
- Wu, J. and S. Menon. 2001. "Aerosol Dynamics in the Near Field of Engine Exhaust Plumes." Journal of Applied Meteorology. 40(4). pp. 795-809.

- Wulf, R.H. 1980. "Engine diagnostics program: CF6-50 engine performance deterioration." NASA-CR-159867. Cincinnati, NY. November 1, 1980. National Aeronautics and Space Administration, Conducted by the General Electric Company, Aircraft Engine Business Group. 206 pgs.
- Yam, C.K. 2003. "Validation of modeling methodology and investigation fo mass addition effects on evolution of trace species in post-combustor flow path." Master of Science in Aeronautics and Astronautics. Massachusetts Institute of Technology. Cambridge, MA.
- Yandle, B., M. Vijayaraghavan, and M. Bhattarai. 2002. "The Environmental Kuznets Curve: a primer." PERC Research Study 02-1. Bozeman, MT. May 2002. Property and Environmental Research Center (PERC). 24 pgs.
- Yandle, B., M. Vijayaraghavan, and M. Bhattarai. 2004. "Environmental Kuznets Curves: A review of findings, methods, and policy implications." PERC Research Study 02-1 Update. Bozeman, MT. April 2004. Property and Environmental Research Center (PERC). 38 pgs.
- Yang, T. 2004. "Economic and policy implications of urban air pollution in the United States, 1970 to 2000." S.M. Massachusetts Institute of Technology. Cambridge, MA.
- Yantosca, B. 2004. "GEOS-CHEM v6-02-05 User's Guide." Cambridge, MA. October 15, 2004. Harvard University Atmospheric Chemistry Modeling Group.
- Yelvington, P.E., S.C. Herndon, J.C. Wormhoudt, J.T. Jayne, R.C. Miake-Lye, W.B. Knighton, and C. Wey. 2007. "Chemical speciation of hydrocarbon emissions from a commercial aircraft engine." Journal of Propulsion and Power. 23(5). pp. 912-918.
- Yohe, G. 2002. "Warming the World: Economic Models of Global Warming (Book)." Journal of Economic Literature. 40(2). pp. 573-574.
- Yohe, G.W. and M.E. Schlesinger. 1998. "Sea-level change: The expected economic cost of protection or abandonment in the United States." Climatic Change. 38(4). pp. 447-472.
- Yohe, G.W. and M.E. Schlesinger. 1998. "Sea-Level Change: The Expected Economic Cost of Protection Or Abandonment in the United States." Climatic Change. 38(4). pp. 447-472.
- Yu, F.Q. and R.P. Turco. 1997. "The role of ions in the formation and evolution of particles in aircraft plumes." Geophysical Research Letters. 24(15). pp. 1927-1930.
- Yu, F.Q. and R.P. Turco. 1998. "The formation and evolution of aerosols in stratospheric aircraft plumes: Numerical simulations and comparisons with observations." Journal of Geophysical Research-Atmospheres. 103(D20). pp. 25915-25934.
- Yu, F.Q. and R.P. Turco. 1998. "Contrail formation and impacts on aerosol properties in aircraft plumes: Effects of fuel sulfur content." Geophysical Research Letters. 25(3). pp. 313-316.
- Yu, F.Q., R.P. Turco, and B. Karcher. 1999. "The possible role of organics in the formation and evolution of ultrafine aircraft particles." Journal of Geophysical Research-Atmospheres. 104(D4). pp. 4079-4087.
- Yu, F.Q., R.P. Turco, B. Karcher, and F.P. Schroder. 1998. "On the mechanisms controlling the formation and properties of volatile particles in aircraft wakes." Geophysical Research Letters. 25(20). pp. 3839-3842.
- Yu, O.C., L. Sheppard, T. Lumley, J.Q. Koenig, and G.G. Shapiro. 2000. "Effects of ambient air pollution on symptoms of asthma in Seattle-area children enrolled in the CAMP study." Environmental Health Perspectives. 108(12). pp. 1209-1214.
- ZAA. 1998. "Aircraft engine emission charges at Zurich Airport: Information brief." 4th Issue. Zurich, Switzerland. July 1998. ZAA Environmental Protection. 12 pgs.
- Zahavi, Y. 1981. "The UMOT-Urban Interactions." DOT-RSPA-DPB-10/7. Washington, D.C. 1981. U.S. Department of Transportation. NEED PAGES pgs.
- Zanobetti, A. and J. Schwartz. 2005. "The Effect of Particulate Air Pollution on Emergency Admissions for Myocardial Infarction: A Multicity Case-Crossover Analysis." Environmental Health Perspectives. 113. pp. 978-982.
- Zaveri, R.A., C.M. Berkowitz, L.I. Kleinman, S.R. Springston, P.V. Doskey, W.A. Lonneman, and C.W. Spicer. 2003. "Ozone production efficiency and NOx depletion in an urban plume: Interpretation of field observations and implications for evaluating O-3-NOx-VOC sensitivity." Journal of Geophysical Research-Atmospheres. 108(D19). pp. 23.
- Zhang, A., A.E. Boardman, D. Gillen, and W.G. Waters II. 2004. "Towards estimating the social and environmental costs of transportation in Canada." A report for Transport Canada. Vancouver, British Columbia, Canada. August 2004. Centre for Transportation Studies, Sauder School of Business, University of British Columbia. 458 pgs.
- Zhao, J. and R.P. Turco. 1995. "Nucleation Simulations in the Wake of a Jet Aircraft in Stratospheric Flight." Journal of Aerosol Science. 26(5). pp. 779-795.

Zheng, J., A.J. Weinheimer, B.A. Ridley, S.C. Liu, G.W. Sachse, B.E. Anderson, and J.E. Collins, Jr. 1994. "An Analysis of Aircraft Exhaust Plumes from Accidental Encounters." Geophys. Res. Lett. 21(23). pp. 2579-2582.